Hematologic Malignancies Series Editor: Martin Dreyling

Stefan H. Faderl Hagop M. Kantarjian Elihu Estey *Editors*

Acute Leukemias

Second Edition



Hematologic Malignancies

Series Editor

Martin Dreyling München, Germany This series of professional books provides in-depth information on all aspects of the diagnosis and treatment of different hematologic cancers, including clinical evaluation, imaging diagnosis, staging, current treatment strategies, novel targeted approaches, and evaluation of treatment response. Readers will also find coverage of methodological and research issues and factors that influence treatment outcome. Each volume is designed to serve both as a quick reference and as a comprehensive source of knowledge that will be invaluable in improving management of the malignancy under consideration. The volume editors and authors have been selected for their international reputations and acknowledged expertise. The series will appeal to hematologists and oncologists in hospitals or private practices, residents, and others with an interest in the field.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/5416

Stefan H. Faderl Hagop M. Kantarjian • Elihu Estey Editors

Acute Leukemias

Second Edition



Editors Stefan H. Faderl Reno NV USA

Elihu Estey Clinical Research Division Fred Hutch Seattle, WA USA Hagop M. Kantarjian Department of Leukemia MD Anderson Cancer Center, University of Texas Houston, TX USA

 ISSN 2197-9766
 ISSN 2197-9774
 (electronic)

 Hematologic Malignancies
 ISBN 978-3-030-53632-9
 ISBN 978-3-030-53633-6
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6
 ISBN 978-3-030-53633-6
 (eBook)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

Part I Acute Myeloid Leukemia

1	Acute Myeloid Leukemia: Epidemiology and Etiology 3 Kendra Sweet and Hannah Asghari	
2	Clinical Presentation, Diagnosis, and Classification of Acute Myeloid Leukemia	
3	Insights into the Pathobiology of Secondary AML	
4	Selection of Patients for Individual Acute MyeloidLeukemia TherapiesRoland B. Walter	
5	Therapy of Newly Diagnosed Acute Myeloid Leukemia(AML).77Anna B. Halpern and Elihu Estey	
6	Management of Relapsed/Refractory Acute MyeloidLeukemiaNadya Jammal, Serena Chew, Farhad Ravandi,Hagop M. Kantarjian, and Elias Jabbour	
7	The Role of Stem Cell Transplant in the Therapyof Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML)David Sanford, Mahmoud Elsawy, and Florian Kuchenbauer	
8	Novel and Investigational Therapies in Acute Myeloid Leukemia	
9	Immune-Based Approaches in AML	

Part II Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

10	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Clinical Presentation, Diagnosis, and Classification	
	Sandeep Gurbuxani, Joseph P. Wynne, and Richard A. Larson	
11	Frontline Therapy of Newly Diagnosed Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia	
12	Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL) in Children and Adolescents	
13	Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation (HCT) for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL)	
14	Minimal or Measurable Residual Disease in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia	
15	Management of Philadelphia Chromosome-Positive Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia	
16	Ph-Like ALL: Diagnosis and Management	
17	Adult Burkitt Leukemia/Lymphoma	
18	Management of Relapsed and Refractory ALL	

Part I

Acute Myeloid Leukemia

Department of Malignant Hematology, Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL, USA

e-mail: Kendra.Sweet@moffitt.org

Acute Myeloid Leukemia: Epidemiology and Etiology

Kendra Sweet and Hannah Asghari

1.1 Introduction

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is a heterogeneous hematologic malignancy characterized by abnormal differentiation of cells of the myeloid lineage, leading to clonal proliferation of leukemic blast cells in the bone marrow, peripheral blood, and potentially extramedullary tissue. This in turn leads to decreased production of normal hematopoietic cells and associated complications related to ineffective hematopoiesis.

AML is the most common type of acute leukemia diagnosed in adults and is associated with the lowest survival [1]. Although survival remains poor overall, outcomes have improved over the past few decades with the advent of new therapeutic approaches. With growing understanding of the molecular pathogenesis, multiple new therapies have been recently approved for AML, and there is an ongoing investigation of novel agents [2, 3].

1.2 Epidemiology

1.2.1 Prevalence

Acute myeloid leukemia comprises 1.1% of all new cancer diagnoses in the United States. It is estimated that 19,520 new cases of AML were diagnosed in the United States in 2018 [4, 5]. The overall incidence of acute myeloid leukemia in the United States is 4.3 cases per 100,000 and is higher in males, with an estimated 5.2 cases per 100,000 compared to 3.6 cases per 100,000 in females [4]. White individuals also have higher rates of AML compared to other ethnicities [4, 6]. The incidence of AML is generally higher in North America and Europe compared to other regions including countries in Asia and South America [1, 7].

The incidence of AML increases with age and is highest in adults aged 65 years and older (Fig. 1.1). The median age at diagnosis is 68 years. It is estimated that over half of new cases of AML are diagnosed in individuals 65 years and older, with approximately one-third of patients diagnosed at the age of 75 years or older [4].

Acute leukemia is the most common malignancy in children, accounting for approximately 30% of all pediatric cancers. AML is less common in children and adolescents compared to acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), comprising approximately 18% of childhood leukemias [8, 9].

K. Sweet (\boxtimes)



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_1

H. Asghari Department of Hematology/Oncology, Moffitt Cancer

Center/University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, USA



Fig. 1.2 Five-year relative survival from 1975 to 2010. (Reproduced from SEER Cancer Stat Facts: Acute Myeloid Leukemia [4])

1.2.2 Mortality

The estimated overall 5-year survival rate of individuals with AML is 27.4%, and in the United States, it is estimated that 10,670 patients died of AML in 2018 [4, 5]. Overall survival has steadily improved over the years (Fig. 1.2); however, survival and outcomes of older adults remain poor, and the estimated overall survival in AML decreases significantly with age [10]. A large population-based study in the United Kingdom from 2001 to 2006 estimated the 5-year relative survival rate for ages 15–24 years was 53% compared to 13% for ages 60–69 years, and 3% for ages 70–79 years [11].

1.3 Etiology

The process of leukemogenesis is not entirely understood; however, the pathogenesis of acute myeloid leukemia involves oncogenic transformation of a hematopoietic stem cell or progenitor cell to a leukemic clone that is capable of selfproliferation [12]. AML is a highly heterogeneous disease. Most cases develop de novo and are associated with acquired genetic abnormalities, including cytogenetic changes and somatic mutations. Secondary AML (s-AML) can arise in the setting of clonal evolution from an antecedent hematologic disorder or from prior exposure to cytotoxic therapy (therapy-related AML or t-AML) and is overall associated with worse prognosis compared to de novo AML [13].

Acquired chromosomal abnormalities are present in approximately 50–55% of cases of de novo AML and have higher incidence in secondary AML [14]. Cytogenetic abnormalities have been demonstrated to have prognostic significance in several studies and the European LeukemiaNet (ELN) classification incorporates cytogenetic and molecular abnormalities in risk stratification of AML [15–19].

Early somatic mutations are thought to confer selective advantage for clonal hematopoiesis and

may later evolve to AML [17, 20]. One large study found that approximately 10% of individuals over age 65 years have somatic mutations with associated clonal hematopoiesis, most commonly with mutations in *DNMT3A*, *ASXL1*, and *TET2* [21]. In patients without a known hematologic malignancy, this is referred to as clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential (CHIP) [22]. It has been demonstrated that the incidence of somatic mutations involved in clonal hematopoiesis increases with age and is associated with an increased risk of developing hematologic malignancies, cardiovascular disease, and allcause mortality [23].

On average, patients with de novo disease have 13 genomic mutations, with an average of five genes that are recurrently mutated in AML [24]. The most common recurrent mutations that play a role in the pathogenesis of AML (Fig. 1.3) include genes involved in DNA methylation (*DNMT3A*, *TET2*, *IDH1*, *IDH2*), tumor suppression (*TP53*, *WT1*, *PHF6*), spliceosome complex, modification of chromatin, cohesin complex, sig-



Fig. 1.3 Circos plot demonstrating functional categories of mutated genes involved in pathogenesis of AML. (Reproduced from Chen et al. [25])

nal transduction (*FLT3*, *KIT*, *KRAS*/*NRAS*), in addition to nucleophosmin (*NPM1*), myeloid transcription factors (*RUNX1*, *CEBPA*), and transcription factor fusion genes [24, 26, 27]. Targeted mutational analysis in one study noted that the presence of certain somatic mutations (*SRSF2*, *SF3B1*, *U2AF1*, *ZRSR2*, *ASXL1*, *EZH2*, *BCOR*, or *STAG2*) was highly specific for secondary AML [28].

1.3.1 Secondary AML

AML can develop from antecedent hematologic malignancies including myelodysplastic syndrome, myeloproliferative neoplasms (i.e., polycythemia vera, essential thrombocythemia, myelofibrosis), and myelodysplastic/myeloproliferative neoplasms (MDS/MPN like CMML, aCML) [29–33]. Paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria and aplastic anemia, which are nonmalignant hematologic conditions, have also been associated with increased risk of developing AML [34, 35]. In a large population-based Swedish study, AML from an antecedent hematologic disease and therapy-related AML were both associated with worse overall survival and were more likely to have high-risk cytogenetics and lower rates of complete remission (CR) compared to de novo AML [36]. Higher-risk AML is also more common in older adults (Fig. 1.4).

AML with myelodysplasia-related changes (AML-MRC) can arise from an antecedent myelodysplastic syndrome or MDS/MPN and can be associated with MDS-related cytogenetic abnormalities or multilineage dysplasia [13].



Fig. 1.4 Prevalence of AML in Germany and Austria as part of the AMLSG BiO registry. Prevalence stratified according to age and distribution of risk groups per 2010

European LeukemiaNet (ELN) classification. (Reproduced from Nagel et al. [37])

AML-MRC is associated with worse overall survival likely due to higher risk disease as affected individuals are more likely to be older and have unfavorable cytogenetics [38].

1.3.2 Therapy-Related AML

Treatment with cytotoxic therapy for a preceding primary malignancy is associated with predisposition to developing therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia (t-AML) [13]. Several agents have been implicated, including prior treatment with alkylating agents, topoisomerase inhibitors, and less commonly with exposure to other cytotoxic agents including taxanes or antimetabolites [32, 39]. Alkylating agents can have longer latency periods (5-7 years) prior to progression and can frequently be associated with myelodysplastic features as well as clonal cytogenetic abnormalities involving chromosome 5 and 7 (del(5q) or -7/del(7q)). Inhibitors of topoisomerase II can have a shorter latency period (2–3 years) prior to the development of therapy-related AML and have been more commonly associated with balanced cytogenetic translocations involving chromosome bands t(11q23.3) or t(21q22.1), as well as t(15;17) [29, 30, 40, 41].

1.3.3 Inherited Syndromes

There are also cases of inherited/familial syndromes associated with developing AML, including inherited bone marrow failure syndromes (i.e., Fanconi anemia, Shwachman-Diamond syndrome, dyskeratosis congenita) or telomere syndromes (associated with mutations in TERT and TERC) [42, 43]. Other inherited disorders associated with predisposition for AML or myelodysplastic syndrome include germline mutations in CEBPA, DDX41, RUNX1, GATA2, SRP72, ANKRD26, and ETV6 [2, 43–45]. Certain predisposition cancer syndromes, i.e., Li-Fraumeni syndrome and germline BRCA1/2 mutations are also associated with increased risk of developing AML as well as other hematologic malignancies [17].

Individuals with Down syndrome (trisomy 21) have a significantly increased risk of AML (10-to 20-fold increased risk), particularly the sub-type of acute megakaryocytic leukemia, and are associated with somatic mutations of the *GATA1* gene [46, 47].

1.3.4 Environmental Factors

Exposure to environmental agents, including radiation and certain chemicals, as well as lifestyle factors can cause DNA damage and associated genetic changes which have been associated with increased risk of developing acute myeloid leukemia. It is important to note that most patients with AML develop de novo disease without identifiable risk factors.

Historically, ionizing radiation was identified as a risk factor for AML in survivors of atomic bomb explosions in Japan [48]. Radiologists and technicians chronically exposed to high levels of radiation in the early twentieth century were also found to have increased risk of developing leukemia [49]. The use of ionizing radiation for the treatment of other primary malignancies have also been implicated in potential development of AML [50, 51]. Increased risks have also been identified with combined radiation and chemotherapy [52].

Occupational hazards may also play a contributing factor, including prolonged exposure to certain chemicals including organic solvents and pesticides [53]. Exposure to benzene also appears to be associated with increased risk of acute nonlymphocytic leukemia [54]. Other factors including cigarette smoking and obesity have also been associated with increased risk of developing AML [55–58].

References

- Yamamoto JF, Goodman MT. Patterns of leukemia incidence in the United States by subtype and demographic characteristics, 1997–2002. Cancer Causes Control. 2008;19(4):379–90.
- Dohner H, Weisdorf DJ, Bloomfield CD. Acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(12):1136–52.

- Perl AE. The role of targeted therapy in the management of patients with AML. Blood Adv. 2017;1(24):2281–94.
- Institute NC (2018) Cancer stat facts: leukemia acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Available from: https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/amyl.html
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2018. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68(1):7–30.
- Howlader NNA, Krapcho M, Miller D, Bishop K, Kosary CL, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Mariotto A, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA. Cancer statistics review, 1975–2014. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2017. Available from: https://seer. cancer.gov/csr/1975_2014/
- Miranda-Filho A, Pineros M, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Monnereau A, Bray F. Epidemiological patterns of leukaemia in 184 countries: a population-based study. Lancet Haematol. 2018;5(1):e14–24.
- Linabery AM, Ross JA. Trends in childhood cancer incidence in the U.S. (1992–2004). Cancer. 2008;112(2):416–32.
- Puumala SE, Ross JA, Aplenc R, Spector LG. Epidemiology of childhood acute myeloid leukemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(5):728–33.
- Oran B, Weisdorf DJ. Survival for older patients with acute myeloid leukemia: a population-based study. Haematologica. 2012;97(12):1916–24.
- Shah A, Andersson TM, Rachet B, Bjorkholm M, Lambert PC. Survival and cure of acute myeloid leukaemia in England, 1971–2006: a population-based study. Br J Haematol. 2013;162(4):509–16.
- Short NJ, Rytting ME, Cortes JE. Acute myeloid leukaemia. Lancet. 2018;392(10147):593–606.
- Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, Thiele J, Borowitz MJ, Le Beau MM, et al. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. 2016;127(20):2391–405.
- Schoch C, Haferlach T. Cytogenetics in acute myeloid leukemia. Curr Oncol Rep. 2002;4(5):390–7.
- Breems DA, Van Putten WL, De Greef GE, Van Zelderen-Bhola SL, Gerssen-Schoorl KB, Mellink CH, et al. Monosomal karyotype in acute myeloid leukemia: a better indicator of poor prognosis than a complex karyotype. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(29):4791–7.
- Byrd JC, Mrozek K, Dodge RK, Carroll AJ, Edwards CG, Arthur DC, et al. Pretreatment cytogenetic abnormalities are predictive of induction success, cumulative incidence of relapse, and overall survival in adult patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia: results from Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALGB 8461). Blood. 2002;100(13):4325–36.
- 17. Dohner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, Amadori S, Appelbaum FR, Buchner T, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129(4):424–47.
- Grimwade D, Walker H, Oliver F, Wheatley K, Harrison C, Harrison G, et al. The importance of diagnostic cytogenetics on outcome in AML: analy-

sis of 1,612 patients entered into the MRC AML 10 trial. The Medical Research Council Adult and Children's Leukaemia Working Parties. Blood. 1998;92(7):2322–33.

- Slovak ML, Kopecky KJ, Cassileth PA, Harrington DH, Theil KS, Mohamed A, et al. Karyotypic analysis predicts outcome of preremission and postremission therapy in adult acute myeloid leukemia: a Southwest Oncology Group/Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study. Blood. 2000;96(13):4075–83.
- Shlush LI, Zandi S, Mitchell A, Chen WC, Brandwein JM, Gupta V, et al. Identification of pre-leukaemic haematopoietic stem cells in acute leukaemia. Nature. 2014;506(7488):328–33.
- Genovese G, Kahler AK, Handsaker RE, Lindberg J, Rose SA, Bakhoum SF, et al. Clonal hematopoiesis and blood-cancer risk inferred from blood DNA sequence. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(26):2477–87.
- 22. Steensma DP, Bejar R, Jaiswal S, Lindsley RC, Sekeres MA, Hasserjian RP, et al. Clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential and its distinction from myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2015;126(1):9–16.
- Jaiswal S, Fontanillas P, Flannick J, Manning A, Grauman PV, Mar BG, et al. Age-related clonal hematopoiesis associated with adverse outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(26):2488–98.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research N, Ley TJ, Miller C, Ding L, Raphael BJ, Mungall AJ, et al. Genomic and epigenomic landscapes of adult de novo acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(22):2059–74.
- Chen SJ, Shen Y, Chen Z. A panoramic view of acute myeloid leukemia. Nat Genet. 2013;45(6):586–7.
- Ley TJ, Ding L, Walter MJ, McLellan MD, Lamprecht T, Larson DE, et al. DNMT3A mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(25):2424–33.
- Metzeler KH, Herold T, Rothenberg-Thurley M, Amler S, Sauerland MC, Gorlich D, et al. Spectrum and prognostic relevance of driver gene mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2016;128(5):686–98.
- Lindsley RC, Mar BG, Mazzola E, Grauman PV, Shareef S, Allen SL, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia ontogeny is defined by distinct somatic mutations. Blood. 2015;125(9):1367–76.
- Bhatia S. Therapy-related myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukemia. Semin Oncol. 2013;40(6):666–75.
- McNerney ME, Godley LA, Le Beau MM. Therapyrelated myeloid neoplasms: when genetics and environment collide. Nat Rev Cancer. 2017;17(9):513–27.
- Patnaik MM, Wassie EA, Lasho TL, Hanson CA, Ketterling R, Tefferi A. Blast transformation in chronic myelomonocytic leukemia: risk factors, genetic features, survival, and treatment outcome. Am J Hematol. 2015;90(5):411–6.
- 32. Smith SM, Le Beau MM, Huo D, Karrison T, Sobecks RM, Anastasi J, et al. Clinical-cytogenetic associations in 306 patients with therapy-related myelodysplasia and myeloid leukemia: the University of Chicago series. Blood. 2003;102(1):43–52.

- Wang SA, Hasserjian RP, Fox PS, Rogers HJ, Geyer JT, Chabot-Richards D, et al. Atypical chronic myeloid leukemia is clinically distinct from unclassifiable myelodysplastic/myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2014;123(17):2645–51.
- 34. Hirsch VJ, Neubach PA, Parker DM, Reese MH, Stone MJ. Paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. Termination in acute myelomonocytic leukemia and reappearance after leukemic remission. Arch Intern Med. 1981;141(4):525–7.
- Socie G, Rosenfeld S, Frickhofen N, Gluckman E, Tichelli A. Late clonal diseases of treated aplastic anemia. Semin Hematol. 2000;37(1):91–101.
- 36. Hulegardh E, Nilsson C, Lazarevic V, Garelius H, Antunovic P, Rangert Derolf A, et al. Characterization and prognostic features of secondary acute myeloid leukemia in a population-based setting: a report from the Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry. Am J Hematol. 2015;90(3):208–14.
- 37. Nagel G, Weber D, Fromm E, Erhardt S, Lubbert M, Fiedler W, et al. Epidemiological, genetic, and clinical characterization by age of newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia based on an academic populationbased registry study (AMLSG BiO). Ann Hematol. 2017;96(12):1993–2003.
- Weinberg OK, Seetharam M, Ren L, Seo K, Ma L, Merker JD, et al. Clinical characterization of acute myeloid leukemia with myelodysplasia-related changes as defined by the 2008 WHO classification system. Blood. 2009;113(9):1906–8.
- Godley LA, Larson RA. Therapy-related myeloid leukemia. Semin Oncol. 2008;35(4):418–29.
- 40. Kayser S, Dohner K, Krauter J, Kohne CH, Horst HA, Held G, et al. The impact of therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia (AML) on outcome in 2853 adult patients with newly diagnosed AML. Blood. 2011;117(7):2137–45.
- Pedersen-Bjergaard J, Philip P. Balanced translocations involving chromosome bands 11q23 and 21q22 are highly characteristic of myelodysplasia and leukemia following therapy with cytostatic agents targeting at DNA-topoisomerase II [Letter]. Blood. 1991;78(4):1147–8.
- 42. Kirwan M, Vulliamy T, Marrone A, Walne AJ, Beswick R, Hillmen P, et al. Defining the pathogenic role of telomerase mutations in myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. Hum Mutat. 2009;30(11):1567–73.
- Team TUoCHMCR. How I diagnose and manage individuals at risk for inherited myeloid malignancies. Blood. 2016;128(14):1800–13.
- 44. Cardoso SR, Ryan G, Walne AJ, Ellison A, Lowe R, Tummala H, et al. Germline heterozygous DDX41 variants in a subset of familial myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. 2016;30(10):2083–6.
- 45. West AH, Godley LA, Churpek JE. Familial myelodysplastic syndrome/acute leukemia syndromes: a review and utility for translational investigations. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2014;1310:111–8.

- 46. Lange BJ, Kobrinsky N, Barnard DR, Arthur DC, Buckley JD, Howells WB, et al. Distinctive demography, biology, and outcome of acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome in children with Down syndrome: Children's Cancer Group studies 2861 and 2891. Blood. 1998;91(2):608–15.
- 47. Wechsler J, Greene M, McDevitt MA, Anastasi J, Karp JE, Le Beau MM, et al. Acquired mutations in GATA1 in the megakaryoblastic leukemia of Down syndrome. Nat Genet. 2002;32:148.
- Preston DL, Kusumi S, Tomonaga M, Izumi S, Ron E, Kuramoto A, et al. Cancer incidence in atomic bomb survivors. Part III. Leukemia, lymphoma and multiple myeloma, 1950–1987. Radiat Res. 1994;137(2 Suppl):S68–97.
- Yoshinaga S, Mabuchi K, Sigurdson AJ, Doody MM, Ron E. Cancer risks among radiologists and radiologic technologists: review of epidemiologic studies. Radilogy. 2004;233(2):313–21.
- Shuryak I, Sachs RK, Hlatky L, Little MP, Hahnfeldt P, Brenner DJ. Radiation-induced leukemia at doses relevant to radiation therapy: modeling mechanisms and estimating risks. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006;98(24):1794–806.
- Travis LB, Ng AK, Allan JM, Pui C-H, Kennedy AR, Xu XG, et al. Second malignant neoplasms and cardiovascular disease following radiotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;104(5):357–70.
- 52. Curtis RE, Boice JD, Stovall M, Bernstein L, Greenberg RS, Flannery JT, et al. Risk of leukemia after chemotherapy and radiation treatment for breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 1992;326(26):1745–51.
- Mitelman F, Brandt L, Nilsson P. Relation among occupational exposure to potential mutagenic/carcinogenic agents, clinical findings, and bone marrow chromosomes in acute nonlymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 1978;52(6):1229–37.
- 54. Baan R, Grosse Y, Straif K, Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, Bouvard V, et al. A review of human carcinogens— Part F: Chemical agents and related occupations. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(12):1143–4.
- 55. Fircanis S, Merriam P, Khan N, Castillo JJ. The relation between cigarette smoking and risk of acute myeloid leukemia: an updated meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. Am J Hematol. 2014;89(8):E125–E32.
- 56. Pogoda JM, Preston-Martin S, Nichols PW, Ross RK. Smoking and risk of acute myeloid leukemia: results from a Los Angeles County case-control study. Am J Epidemiol. 2002;155(6):546–53.
- Poynter JN, Richardson M, Blair CK, Roesler MA, Hirsch BA, Nguyen P, et al. Obesity over the life course and risk of acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. Cancer Epidemiol. 2016;40:134–40.
- Reagan JL, Ingham RR, Dalia S, Furman M, Merhi B, Nemr S, et al. Association between obesity/overweight and leukemia: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Blood. 2011;118(21):3588.

2

Clinical Presentation, Diagnosis, and Classification of Acute Myeloid Leukemia

Ridas Juskevicius, Mary Ann Thompson, Aaron Shaver, and David Head

2.1 Introduction

The acute myeloid leukemias (AML) are a diverse set of phenotypically similar diseases characterized by increased myeloblasts replacing the normal bone marrow, with variable involvement of peripheral blood and occasional involvement of extramedullary sites. In some cases, proliferating blasts replace normal hematopoiesis resulting in failure of the marrow to produce normal peripheral blood cells, with tumor burden itself becoming life-threatening. In other cases, while blasts are increased as a percentage of marrow cells, the predominant problem is primary marrow failure (resembling MDS) rather than blast tumor burden. Classification of AML has undergone fundamental changes over the last two decades, in part due to recognition of these varying scenarios [1]. Although not without areas of controversy, the introduction of the World Health Organization (WHO) classification framework in 2001, updated in 2008 and revised in 2016 [2], represents the official international consensus classification of AML, combining these two sce-

Department of Pathology, Microbiology and Immunology, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, TN, USA

e-mail: ridas.juskevicius@vumc.org; maryann.thompson.arildsen@vumc.org;

maryann.thompson.arildsen@vumc.org; aaron.shaver@vumc.org; david.head@vumc.org

narios under the common heading of AML. The WHO classification of AML is based on clinical, phenotypic, and molecular genetic features with an attempt to define biologically and prognostically distinct entities which have uniform response to therapy. Although genetic heterogeneity of AML has been recognized for several decades, enormous molecular heterogeneity has become apparent only recently with the introduction of new molecular diagnostic methodologies including next-generation sequencing (NGS)based assays. The massive amount of data generated utilizing these techniques is contributing to improved understanding of the biologic heterogeneity of AML. Incorporation of the data into the classification framework of AML is inevitable, but is still at its early stages, as we are only now beginning to understand the biologic and clinical implications of these newly discovered molecular alterations. In this chapter, we discuss the clinical presentation, diagnosis, and classification of AML, including appropriate diagnostic laboratory studies necessary for diagnosis and subclassification of biologically and clinically relevant types of disease. Understanding the basis for the current WHO classification of AML requires additional knowledge of the myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) and their relationship to one subset of AML. Finally, we will address monitoring AML minimal residual disease during and after treatment.

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_2

Check for updates

R. Juskevicius (🖂) · M. A. Thompson

A. Shaver · D. Head

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

2.2 Clinical Presentation of AML

The classic onset of the symptoms of acute leukemia is rapid. The patient may have felt ill for only a few weeks prior to seeking medical attention. In other cases, the presentation may be more insidious, with prolonged symptoms related to cytopenias with or without prior diagnosis of underlying MDS. In either case, the most typical presentation is that of symptoms related to bone marrow failure. These include easy bruising and petechiae due to thrombocytopenia, frequent infections due to neutropenia, and/or symptoms related to anemia such as fatigue, pallor, or even cardiovascular effects of profound anemia. In this type of presentation, the primary care physician will typically obtain a complete blood count (CBC), which may show circulating blasts. The number of blasts in peripheral blood may be few or numerous. When blasts are present in the peripheral blood accompanied by anemia and thrombocytopenia in a newly presenting patient, the level of suspicion for acute leukemia is high and a bone marrow biopsy is typically obtained. When blasts are few in number, other morphologic clues on the peripheral smear that may increase the suspicion of marrow replacement by leukemia include leukoerythroblastosis (triad of immature myeloids, nucleated red blood cells, and teardrop red cells), dysplastic changes in neutrophils, and so-called leukemic hiatus where only blasts and few mature segmented neutrophils are present with the absence of other leftshifted myeloid cells that would typically be seen in reactive conditions. All these clues should serve as triggers to obtain a diagnostic bone marrow sample.

Since in the contemporary practice of medicine the initial examination of blood smear takes place in the clinical hematology laboratory, the ability of the hematology technologists to recognize blast morphology is crucial, as they serve as the frontline of diagnosis in patients where the diagnosis of AML may not be suspected. Laboratory quality control (QC) and continuing medical education (CME) activities to reinforce this ability are crucial. The morphologic characteristics of myeloid blasts on the Wright stained peripheral blood smear include immature chromatin ("ground-glass"), increased nuclear:cytoplasmic ratio, and variable granulation to the cytoplasm. The presence of Auer rods, needle-shaped cytoplasmic inclusions resulting from fusion of primary azurophilic granules, is pathognomonic for myeloblasts. In the more frequent absence of Auer rods, flow cytometry must be performed to determine unequivocally the lineage of blasts.

Several clinical manifestations of AML constitute medical emergencies, most notably (1) leukostasis due to hyperleukocytosis and (2) coagulopathy, typically associated with, but not restricted to, acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL). Hyperleukocytosis is usually defined as a white blood cell count greater than 100,000 per µL, but whether leukostasis occurs depends on many factors individual to the patient. Leukostasis is thought to be the result of increased blood viscosity due to the increased cellularity, reduced deformability of the blasts (versus mature cells), and direct and indirect blast-endothelium interaction, all causing occlusion of microvasculature [3]. Both the specific lineage of the increased cells and their rate of rise in the circulation are contributory factors, with monoblasts being the most problematic cell type. Leukostasis should be suspected if the patient has pulmonary, CNS, or cardiovascular symptoms that cannot be explained by other medical conditions: dyspnea, confusion, somnolence, headache, impaired vision, tinnitus, chest pain (myocardial ischemia/ infarction), limb ischemia, thrombosis, and priapism [3]. Treatment options include hydration, leukemia-directed chemotherapy, and leukapheresis. The role of the latter is controversial [3, 4]. Hyperleukocytosis may also result in disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), which should be considered if the peripheral blood smear demonstrates schistocytes and decreased platelets, and confirmed by checking for decreased fibrinogen, elevated D-dimers, prolonged prothrombin time (PT), and activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT). DIC occurs in 30-40% of patients with AML and hyperleukocytosis [4]. Finally, hyperleukocytosis may be associated with tumor lysis syndrome (TLS),

which occurs with treatment in approximately 10% of AML patients [4]. Chemistry laboratory values for potassium, phosphorus, calcium, and particularly uric acid should be monitored to detect TLS.

The clinical presentation of acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) bears particular discussion as the associated coagulopathy may result in lifethreatening hemorrhage or thrombosis. The risk of early death from hemorrhage in APL has been estimated at 17–29% in community studies [5], with most cases occurring before institution of treatment. At presentation, mucocutaneous bleeding is common, with immediate risk of hemorrhagic death due to intracranial or pulmonary bleeding. The characteristics of APL blasts on the peripheral blood smear will be described later in this chapter. The presence of low platelets is also obviously significant. Clinical signs are bleeding from gums, epistaxis, GI hemorrhage, and excessive ecchymoses and petechiae. When APL is suspected, coagulation studies including PT, aPTT, D-dimers, and fibrinogen should be obtained. The complex coagulopathy of APL is multifactorial but includes tissue factor (TF)induced DIC and primary hyperfibrinolysis [5]. APL blasts have increased TF on their surface, which activates factor VII. The resultant factor VIIa activates FIX and FX, leading to thrombin generation, ultimately resulting in fibrin formation. In addition, the promyelocytic blast surface contains Annexin II, which binds plasminogen and tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), promoting plasmin formation and thus fibrinolysis [5]. Immediate treatment with all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) is required when APL is suspected, before confirmation of the diagnosis with other studies. Treatment with ATRA causes blasts to mature and arrests the coagulopathy. This is essential prior to initiation of chemotherapy, when there will be massive lysis of the blasts. If diagnosis of APL is not subsequently confirmed, ATRA may be stopped with no compromise to other treatment options.

A rare presentation of AML is with myeloid sarcoma, which is defined as a tumor mass consisting of myeloid blasts in which tissue architecture is destroyed, to distinguish it from an area of simple leukemic infiltration [2]. The most common sites are skin, lymph nodes, gastrointestinal tract, bone, soft tissue, and testes. The presentation is usually as a solitary mass [2]. Myeloid sarcoma may be the first, and sometimes the only, early manifestation of AML. It may also be the first manifestation of blast crisis of an underlying myeloproliferative or myelodysplastic syndrome. Another common setting is at relapse, including post-hematopoietic stem cell transplant. Diagnosis depends on morphology (preferably including a Wright stained touch preparation) and immunophenotyping of the myeloid blasts using a combination of flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry. Cytogenetic analysis including FISH may be helpful, particularly if the lesion has monocytic differentiation which often lacks definitive immunologic markers of immaturity. Myeloid sarcoma is most often associated with monocytic differentiation. It has relatively high prevalence in children, which likely reflects a higher incidence of AML with core binding factor abnormalities (t(8;21)) and inv16) in this age group, since myeloid sarcomas are prevalent in AML with core binding factor abnormalities [6, 7]. In several series of adults with myeloid sarcoma, there were many cases with a complex karyotype, monosomies, trisomy 8, and translocations involving 11q23 (KMT2A) [8, 9]. For diagnostic purposes, the antigens expressed most often in myeloid sarcoma are CD43, CD68, lysozyme, MPO, and CD117 [10]. Immunohistochemistry which includes antibodies to CD4, CD56, CD123, and TCL-1 may be helpful to rule out the possibility of a blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasm (which typically is MPO negative, TCL-1 positive, and usually positive for both CD4 and CD56) [11, 12].

A very rare presentation of AML is CNS involvement with the first manifestation being blasts in the CSF, not the peripheral blood. CNS symptomatology suggesting a process involving cranial nerves, spinal cord, or meninges will trigger CSF cytologic examination of a Wright stained cytospin slide, showing blasts and requiring further testing such as flow cytometry to confirm diagnosis. In one study of 12,000 patients diagnosed with acute leukemia (ALL and AML), only nine patients presented in this way with blasts present in the CSF prior to presence in the peripheral blood [13].

In patients with myeloproliferative or myelodysplastic disease, exacerbation (often insidious) of symptoms (fatigue, bruising, dyspnea), or deterioration of laboratory values (cytopenias, increased peripheral blood blast count, elevation in uric acid or LDH) may be a harbinger of blast crisis with evolution to acute leukemia. In this setting, the blasts are likely to be myeloid. Morphologic review of the peripheral blood smear and a low threshold for obtaining a bone marrow sample are recommended. A caveat about making the diagnosis of AML in this setting is that a leukoerythroblastic smear due to profound hypercellularity or myelofibrosis may have a few blasts on the peripheral blood smear. Therefore, review of the peripheral blood smear should be followed by a bone marrow biopsy. In patients with CML, approximately two-thirds of blast crises are acute myeloid leukemia, whereas one-third are acute lymphoblastic leukemia [2].

2.3 Laboratory Studies for the Diagnosis and Monitoring of AML

2.3.1 Morphology

A good bone marrow aspirate and biopsy sample are essential and require good technique at the bedside in acquisition and in the laboratory in processing the sample. Squash preps are discouraged except in the hands of experienced technologists. Preferable are push preps, performed identically to preparation of peripheral smears, or coverslip preparations. Touch preps should also be performed routinely. If a biopsy is to be obtained, it should be large enough to properly assess marrow characteristics and should be redirected to avoid the preceding aspirate site.

Morphologic evaluation of biopsy samples is the cornerstone of pathologic evaluation and still remains important even with the advent of other ancillary modalities. Review of morphology can focus on low-power, large-scale patterns, or highpower, fine-scale details. Low-power evaluation of the bone marrow sample can help detect patterns of infiltration and assess for disease burden. However, high power examination of individual cell features, often called cytomorphology, is of particular importance in hematopathology and especially in evaluation of AML, since the differential diagnosis often depends on morphologic features present in individual cells, such as Auer rods, cytoplasmic granules, and nuclear features.

The need for both low- and high-power examination of bone marrow specimens helps to explain some of the sample collection strategies employed in the evaluation of leukemias. Taking both aspirate and core biopsy samples of bone marrow, for example, allows evaluation of individual cytomorphology on smeared specimens of aspirate material, as well as evaluation of low power architectural distortion and geographic patterns using the core biopsy specimen. While examination of these two different tissue types historically was performed by different groups of physicians-pathologists were responsible for reviewing core biopsy specimens, and hematologists often reviewed aspirate specimens-modern practice, particularly in the United States, has moved toward combining the review of both specimen types under the auspices of the pathologist, which allows better integration of all sources of diagnostic data into one process and one report.

2.3.2 Immunophenotype

In addition to assessment of light microscopic morphologic features, modern diagnosis requires interpretation of the set of proteins and other markers expressed by the cell, which is referred to as the immunophenotype. In particular, the WHO classification of AML requires correlation with immunophenotype both for excluding other categories of acute leukemia and in aiding in subclassification. Myeloid-specific markers such as myeloperoxidase, or markers of immaturity such as CD34, are important diagnostic adjuncts built directly into the WHO classification system.

Most methods for immunophenotyping employ targeted antibodies (or other molecules with high specificity of binding, such as nucleic acid sequences), whose specific regions react with the phenotypic target of interest. Laboratory techniques for immunophenotyping differ in the method for assaying the binding of these targeted antibodies. While a range of techniques are available, two categories of the most prevalent techniques in the clinical diagnostic setting are tissue-based techniques such as immunohistochemistry (IHC) and in situ hybridization (ISH) and cell-based techniques such as flow cytometry. These categories have overlapping strengths and limitations and are often used in a complementary strategy in the diagnostic setting.

Immunohistochemistry and other tissue-based methods leverage the diagnostic information present in morphologic features of the tumor to help correlate with the immunophenotypic data, particularly in tumor populations that are heterogeneous or mixed with a significant nonneoplastic background population. This is brought about by performing the antibody reaction and subsequent development for visualization in the setting of an intact tissue block, with a counterstain added so that morphologic features can be appreciated at the same time. IHC uses specific antibodies conjugated to a reporting molecule, whose presence is detected by a secondary reaction after the initial antibody binding step. The result is a color change (typically brown or red, depending on the developer) in the cells/ areas where the antibody has bound. The result is a pattern of color change on a tissue slide that correlates with the presence of the marker of interest. ISH is a similar technique that uses synthetic DNA/RNA sequences with attached reporter molecules to detect the distribution of complementary nucleic acid sequences, rather than proteins or other antibody targets.

Tissue-based methods like IHC have two primary areas of strength. IHC can be performed on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded material. Because of the longevity of this type of material and the lack of a need for viable, fresh specimen, this allows a range of studies to be performed both at the time of the initial acquisition of the

material and at any point in the future when rereview of the specimen is needed. For small samples, such as bone marrow biopsies, the small amount of tissue received can be used for both morphologic and immunophenotypic interpretation, without having to triage the sample between two diagnostic techniques. The second area of strength is that, because the IHC stain is performed on the tissue in situ, morphologic correlates can be drawn with areas of abnormal IHC staining. In the case of AML, IHC can be particularly helpful in a heterogeneous, mixed sample where the morphologic features of blasts are striking. This is particularly important for morphologically unusual subclassifications of AML, such as acute promyelocytic leukemia or AML with erythroid or megakaryocytic differentiation. In these cases, IHC allows direct correlation of the phenotypic data with the morphologic diagnostic features.

Immunohistochemistry does have significant drawbacks, which limit its utility in certain situations. The most prominent of these limitations is the necessity to use only one (or at most two) labeled antibodies in a single reaction, due to the relatively limited number of different reporter tags available for routine use. For a neoplastic process such as AML in which it is necessary to assay a complicated immunophenotype with many markers, this requires laborious and errorprone comparison between individual markers tested on different slides. Focal areas of abnormality may not be present on every slide, and scant tissues may be entirely consumed in the process of testing before the entire immunophenotype can be measured. Another limitation is that, in the clinical setting at least, IHC and ISH stains are typically reviewed by eye under the microscope, and therefore evaluation of the results is necessarily qualitative (positive/negative, dim/bright) rather than quantitative. This can be a limitation for some markers of diagnostic or therapeutic importance, such as CD38, where expression is almost ubiquitous, and it is the degree of intensity of expression that is the important clinical consideration [14]. A separate issue with tissue-based techniques like IHC and ISH is the time required to perform the testing.

These techniques require several hours for binding and developing of the specific target molecules, which limits the rate at which diagnostic information can be incorporated. One or two rounds of IHC stains can add 1–2 days to the time required to render a final diagnosis for a case, which can have a clinical impact, especially in settings such as initial diagnosis or initiation of targeted therapy.

The prevalence of flow cytometry in clinical hematolymphoid diagnostics, and in particular in the evaluation of acute leukemia, is due to its ability to address many of the limitations described above for tissue-based immunophenotyping. In turn, flow cytometry itself has many limitations that can be backed up with the use of IHC or ISH. As a technique, flow cytometry shares some similarities with IHC: specific antibodies are linked to reporter molecules, which in the case of the most common form of flow cytometry are fluorophores that emit light at specific wavelengths upon excitation by a laser. These antibodies are allowed to hybridize with the cells of interest, and then exposed to a reporter reaction (in this case, excitation by a laser) which allows for detection of specifically bound antibodies. The major distinction from tissue-based techniques is that flow cytometry is performed on disaggregated, individual cells in suspension in a buffer fluid, rather than on intact sections of tissue. Additionally, multiple different antibodies conjugated to different fluorophores are used at once, allowing the measurement of multiple markers simultaneously on the same cells.

Flow cytometry's differences from tissuebased techniques like IHC lead directly to its advantages and disadvantages. Whereas interpretation of IHC for multiple markers on the same tissue can lead to frustration and ambiguity as multiple slides have to be compared, flow cytometry is a natural system for looking at multiple markers on the same specimen. This is especially important for subclassification within broader categories or for distinction between closely related diseases, where assessment of a complicated set of overlapping immunophenotypes needs to be made using a large battery of specific antibodies. Another advantage of flow cytometry is its ability to reproducibly measure relative quantitative intensity of staining, rather than the crude strong/weak/negative categorization with IHC. An example of the utility of this approach in myeloid neoplasia is in assessment of CD56 on bone marrow myeloid precursors: dim, variable CD56 expression may be seen in a variety of reactive conditions, while uniform brighter expression of CD56 is a much more specific marker of neoplastic abnormality. Properly calibrated flow cytometry can also often detect much lower intensity of staining than IHC, allowing the diagnostician to detect dim aberrant expression of markers not associated with normal populations that help definitively establish the presence of a neoplasm [15]. In the setting of a new presentation of acute leukemia, the rapid turnaround time of flow cytometry is an additional advantage. Total time in the laboratory from processing to data acquisition to analysis can take less than an hour, allowing rapid triage of an unstable patient.

The limitations of flow cytometry primarily stem from the need for individual cells in suspension. The process of disaggregating the cells results in a complete loss of the low-power, geographic context, in contrast to IHC, where the ability to map staining pattern onto morphologic pattern can often be vital to interpreting a complicated sample. The same processing requirements also remove the ability to correlate the immunophenotypic features detected by flow cytometry with specific high-power cytomorphologic findings. As discussed above in the section on immunohistochemistry, this can be relevant in cases with relatively rare leukemic cells with striking morphologic features. Finally, the requirement for disaggregation and suspension means that paraffin-embedded tissue is unsuitable for flow cytometry; fresh aspirate or disaggregated biopsy material, or carefully frozen archival material is required. This limits the utility of flow cytometry for returning to previous cases or as an adjunct test in cases where appropriate material was not reserved at the time of biopsy.

This set of opposing and complementary strengths and limitations has led to the adoption of both IHC/ISH and flow cytometry as routine clinical tests in hematolymphoid disease, including myeloid neoplasms such as acute myeloid leukemia. Some diagnostic challenges are more suited to one modality over another. Fresh bone marrow aspirate material is an ideal specimen for flow cytometry, and in newly diagnosed disease, the abundant and often relatively homogeneous blast population makes correlation with specific morphologic patterns relatively unimportant. For these reasons, comprehensive flow cytometry panels are used as the first-line immunophenotypic assessment of new leukemia. On the other hand, tissues where disaggregation might be more difficult or not expected at the time of biopsy, such as cutaneous involvement by extramedullary deposits of acute leukemia, are less amenable to flow cytometry and the importance of IHC increases. Another area favoring overlapping use of the two modalities is in diseases such as myeloid leukemias with monocytic differentiation, where the flow cytometry immunophenotypic features are not always helpful for distinguishing between chronic and acute disease, and correlation of immunophenotypic abnormalities with morphologic features may be necessary to definitively establish the disease subtype.

Acute myeloid leukemia is well-studied and illustrative of how a careful analysis of immunophenotype can assist in the diagnostic process, while also serving as a reminder of the necessity of incorporating the immunophenotypic data into a broader context of morphologic and ancillary testing. Specific subtyping of AML can have a massive impact on prognosis and therapy for the patient, and specific subtypes often correlate with immunophenotypic differences. APL is a wellknown example: it has profound prognostic implications due to its association with DIC, and it is amenable to a very specialized targeted therapy using retinoic acid derivatives. APL has a striking immunophenotype, often lacking many of the markers generally associated with immature myeloid cells, including CD34 and HLA-DR, while strongly expressing other myeloid phenotypic markers such as CD117 and myeloperoxidase. Detection of a population of leukemic blasts with this immunophenotype can help raise or confirm clinical and morphologic suspicion for APL, leading to proper targeted and supportive management of the patient. Unfortunately, detection of this special phenotype is neither entirely specific nor sensitive for APL. The prominent granules in APL tend to autofluorescence when exposed to laser light, leading to a wellknown propensity for the leukemic blasts to show non-specific, non-antibody-mediated fluorescence for a wide range of markers [16], leading to false negatives in the sense that the immunophenotypic pattern of interest is not recognized. Relatively simple techniques exist to identify and account for this autofluorescence but neglecting to employ these techniques can lead to misdiagnosis on immunophenotypic grounds. On the other hand, even if the phenotype is correctly interpreted, it is not entirely specific for APL. Other leukemias may have a similar phenotypic pattern, with a prominent example being NPM1-mutated AML, a common category of AML with prognostic and therapeutic consequences much different than APL [17]. Thus, recognition of specific phenotypic patterns can be helpful in guiding the clinician onto the right track, but definitive diagnosis still generally relies on correlation with the entire suite of diagnostic testing, including morphology, cytogenetics, and molecular studies.

2.3.3 Cytogenetics

A frequent and recurrent abnormality in many hematologic neoplasms, including AML, is the presence of large-scale chromosomal abnormalities, including gain or loss of large sections or even entire chromosomes, as well as translocations involving transfer of millions of base pairs of genetic material from one chromosomal section to another. The analysis of chromosomal structure for these classes of large-scale abnormalities is referred to as cytogenetics. Some of the best-established diagnostic categories in AML depend on the detection of cytogenetic abnormalities, most particularly in looking for the presence of balanced translocations, exchange of two portions of chromosomes in a way that results in no net gain or loss of genetic material, or specific patterns of aneuploidy, gain or loss of chromosomal material in a non-balanced fashion that leads to a change in the total amount of genetic material. For this reason, cytogenetic diagnostic techniques are standard of care in AML. Three of the most common techniques, each with their own advantages and limitations, are conventional karyotyping, fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), and comparative genomic hybridization (CGH).

Conventional karyotyping is the oldest and perhaps the most straightforward of these techniques. In karyotyping, cells of interest are stimulated ex vivo with mitogens to induce chromosomal replication and then arrested at metaphase via treatment with cell cycle inhibitors such as colchicine. Cells treated in this fashion have their chromosomal material well organized into chromatids, and proper staining techniques lead to visualization of individual chromosomes, each with a recognizable and unique banding pattern due to alternating stretches of tightly and loosely packed DNA. With appropriate training, these banding patterns can be used to detect and enumerate chromosomes and even to detect whether chromosomal elements have been translocated, amplified, or deleted. This technique is very well suited for the detection of aneuploidy, since the presence or absence of major chromosomal segments is readily apparent. Translocations, duplications, or deletions involving large enough stretches of DNA can also be detected due to abnormalities in the banding pattern. Because the karyotype is analyzed in an untargeted, nonbiased fashion, conventional karyotyping is also an optimal technique for the detection of non-hotspot abnormalities, such as the wide range of aneuploidy that can be seen in AML with myelodysplasia-related changes.

The technique of conventional karyotyping leads to a set of trade-offs that limit its utility in certain areas. While manually enumerating every chromosome in the cell allows the technique to be broadly sensitive to a wide variety of changes, it makes the technique labor intensive and requires specialized training. Because of this, conventional karyotyping in clinical practice is usually limited to 20 or 30 cells from one sample; this is enough to reliably detect abnormalities in samples floridly involved by a neoplastic population but is extremely insensitive for trying to track low-level involvement by disease in the context of therapy or disease evolution. The reliance on banding patterns visible under the microscope also limits the resolution of the assay; changes involving chromosomal regions smaller than several megabases are generally invisible to this technique. Finally, the reliance on the experimental conditions necessary to induce and then arrest mitosis requires the collection of viable, unfixed cells that respond to ex vivo mitogen stimulation. This means that archival or other fixed specimens cannot be analyzed using this technique, limiting it to fresh sample only.

Some of these trade-offs are addressed by FISH, another cytogenetic technique. FISH is performed via base-pair hybridization between target DNA and long (several kilobase) fluorescently labeled nucleic acid probes. The probes and the target DNA are allowed to hybridize, and then fluorescence is assayed under the microscope. Depending on the way the probes are designed, different patterns of fluorescence can be observed which help detect gain or loss of chromosomal segments, as well as translocation or other chromosomal disruptions involving specifically targeted segments of DNA. For example, an increase in the number of signals observed in a single cell from two to three might indicate triploidy (acquisition of another chromosome) or simply focal amplification of the targeted DNA sequence. Translocations can be detected using probes aligned at either side of the common area of breakage; visualization of the probes distant from each other in the nucleus would indicate a translocation involving the targeted area. Due to the relative ease with which this kind of pattern can be interpreted compared to manual staining and karyotyping, a larger number of cells can be assayed with FISH; clinical assays typically assess between 200 and 500 cells per sample. This increases the clinical sensitivity of the test, allowing for better detection of relatively lowlevel disease involvement. The targeted probes

also allow for better resolution in FISH compared to conventional karyotyping; FISH can detect abnormalities at the level of tens to hundreds of kilobases, which is at least an order of magnitude more sensitive than the megabase-level resolution of conventional karyotyping. Finally, FISH can be performed on non-replicating cells and does not require ex vivo stimulation, meaning that it can be performed on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded archival material without the necessity for culturing viable cells.

The targeted nature of FISH's probe-based system leads to its disadvantages as well as its advantages. While conventional karyotyping can detect a wide range of abnormalities, including ones not suspected by the diagnostician before the test was performed, FISH can only detect abnormalities at areas covered by its target sequence, which represents a tiny fraction of the total cytogenetic material. Thus, FISH is poorly suited for detecting a non-specific karyotype and is liable to completely overlook unsuspected findings. FISH performs best when used in a small panel to test for abnormalities high on the pre-test differential diagnosis in new disease or to assess for the presence of a known abnormality in follow-up testing.

A newer technique that addresses some of the limitations of both conventional karyotyping and FISH, while introducing its own complications, is comparative genomic hybridization (CGH). This method can detect copy number alterations and map them to specific chromosomal locations with a relatively high resolution. The most widely available CGH technique in the clinical setting is array CGH, in which the target genome is fluorescently labeled (rather than the synthetic probes, as is the case in FISH) and hybridized to a standardized reference array. After hybridization, the degree of fluorescence is measured for each element of the standardized array, which gives a readout of relative abundance of chromosomal material mapped onto the array. The resolution of the technique is dependent on the number of elements used in the reference array and, with the current techniques, can be decreased to the order of tens or hundreds of kilobases. This allows for a mapping of chromosomal gains or

losses with a resolution many orders of magnitude finer than conventional karyotype, with high confidence in the mapping of the abnormal areas to specific chromosomal regions without the need for specialized training in reading banding patterns. Because the procedure requires only genomic DNA from the target sample, archival fixed material can be used as well as fresh material, circumventing one of the other major limitations of conventional karyotyping. And because targets from across the genome are included in the standardized array, the CGH technique lacks the highly targeted "tunnel vision" issues that plague FISH.

Given the importance of recurrent cytogenetic abnormalities in the WHO classification of AML, cytogenetics continues to play a central role in disease diagnosis and classification. Clinically validated targeted FISH panels are readily available for all of the recurrent translocations and inversions. Additionally, FISH probes can be used to track recurrent patterns of aneuploidy, particularly seen AML with those in myelodysplasia-related changes. Conventional karyotyping still plays an important role, particularly at diagnosis, in order to assess for nonstandard abnormalities that may not be picked up by targeted FISH probes. Given the greater clinical sensitivity of FISH relative to conventional cytogenetics, follow-up assessment of AML is best performed in conjunction with targeted FISH, while conventional karyotyping in this setting is reserved for the assessment of clonal evolution or, potentially, emergence of new therapy-associated dysplastic clones. Despite the cited advantages of CGH, its role in clinical practice is still evolving, and it is not yet in widespread clinical use for diagnosis or management of AML.

2.3.4 Molecular Genetics

Cytogenetic analysis is a powerful technique but is restricted in its scope to large-scale changes to chromosomal structure. An entirely different scale of genetic alterations occurs at the level of one or a few base pairs: point mutations, small insertions or deletions, and other fine-scale genetic abnormalities. Testing for these abnormalities requires an entirely different set of tools, one that has exploded in scope and utility in the last decade or two. The results of this kind of molecular genetic analysis are being rapidly assessed and incorporated in classification and prognostic guidelines, with AML serving as a prime example of a disease process for which the entire diagnostic approach has changed as a result of these new techniques. As expected in an emerging field, many techniques are coming to the fore and being incorporated into clinical practice, but they fall into a few major categories: sequence-specific amplification techniques, Sanger sequencing, and next-generation sequencing.

Amplification-based assays are targeted via synthetic nucleic acid probes to particular areas of the genome. They use polymerase chain reaction (PCR) or related techniques to amplify segments of DNA or RNA including the targeted area of interest. Once the target area is amplified, follow-up studies are employed to investigate these amplified fragments, by their size, their hybridization characteristics, their abundance, or their specific sequence. With some systems, the targeted probes can be made to hybridize at hotspots of frequent mutation, so that the mere presence or absence of a product from a test reaction can indicate whether a particular genetic alteration is present. Using techniques such as real-time PCR, quantitative results can be obtained, allowing the levels of specific abnormalities to be followed over time, a technique which has been directly incorporated into the therapeutic strategies for some subtypes of AML [18].

Because of their targeted nature and their relative maturity as some of the first molecular assays developed, amplification-based assays are widely employed in clinical laboratories both in oncologic testing and elsewhere. Only DNA (or RNA, depending on the test type), not intact cells, is required to perform these tests, so testing is usually amenable to validation on fixed and archived material. In addition, the amplification of the sample over many cycles using targeted probes allows sensitive and reliable measurement of abnormalities present only at a very low level in the sample tissue, often at a level several orders of magnitude lower than the most clinically sensitive cytogenetic techniques, and at a level roughly comparable or even more sensitive than flow cytometry [19].

Amplification-based assays share the same Achilles' heel as other targeted techniques like FISH, in that only those abnormalities for which targeted probes have been designed and validated can be assayed. For certain common abnormalities with well-defined hotspots, these techniques are very well-suited and can readily be employed; excellent examples of this type of lesion in AML includes mutations in the FLT3 and NPM1 genes, as well as other genes with frequently occurring hotspot mutations such as IDH1 or IDH2. However, the advent of other molecular techniques such as sequencing has revealed the breadth and diversity of non-hotspot molecular genetic changes in neoplastic populations, many of which have already been demonstrated to be clinically relevant. For these classes of mutations, there is no practical, efficient method to employ targeted amplification techniques. A separate issue with this class of assays is that, due to the necessity for binding of the targeted probes used to guide amplification, the tests rely on the presence of the complementary sequences to the probes in the diagnostic sample being assayed. If large-scale changes, such as deletion or extensive mutation, has removed the binding sites, the assay will fail with a false negative or equivocal result.

Sequencing methods directly read the genetic sequence in the area of interest. Sequencing may often be performed as a follow-on technique after of the amplification-based some systems described above, although in more modern, highthroughput incarnations, other systems for selecting areas for sequencing may also be used. Widely used sequencing assays in the previous generation relied on the well-known Sanger technique, named after its developer, which incorpofluorescent or rates radio-labeled tagged terminating nucleotides to create an entire array of differently size fragments, with the size and terminating label of each fragment spelling out the nucleotide present at that position. Sanger and other related previous-generation sequencing assays had the advantage of allowing direct review of the results to help with troubleshooting but were relatively laborious and expensive to scale up even to the level of coverage of a large gene such as *TP53*, much less an entire panel of genes relevant for one tumor type, and certainly were not feasible for projects such as whole exome sequencing.

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) is a blanket term for a family of related techniques which permit rapid upscaling of sequencing efforts to high-throughput environments, in which large, multigene panels and even whole exome or whole genome sequencing can be performed on a patient-by-patient basis in the clinical setting. In most NGS techniques, a large number of small sequencing reactions are typically carried out in parallel, allowing assessment of many targets (or of many samples for fewer targets) simultaneously. Selection of targets to sequence can be done via processing of whole exome or whole genome material, or by using targeted amplification-based or hybrid capture techniques. An important component of NGS techniques is an elaborate software "pipeline" to help filter the results for human review; the sequencing techniques employed are relatively error-prone, so testing errors need to be eliminated, along with the large number of benign variants identified that are unrelated to disease.

The advantages of sequencing in current practice center on the increased volume of data that the assays provide. With NGS techniques, the "tunnel vision" issue that smaller scale targeted techniques create can be minimized through sheer brute force, by sequencing more and more targets. At the current time, routine analysis of whole genome data is not economically or informatically practicable, but large panels (tens to hundreds) of clinically relevant genes can be tested at once, and not just at commonly mutated hotspots. This has led to increasing recognition of the clinical importance of large genes without significant targetable hotspots, such as *TP53*, both in AML and in other hematologic neoplasms. The high level of coverage provided by NGS leads to other benefits as well; in cases where fewer genetic regions need to be examined, the bandwidth of the assay can be used to provide deeper coverage of the smaller number of targets. This leads to better clinical sensitivity of the assay, where smaller abnormal populations can be detected due to the sequencing of many DNA segments from a mixed sample. Thus, NGS assays can be tweaked to provide some combination of broad coverage or high clinical sensitivity, based on the clinical needs.

This flexibility in assay design, as well as the sheer volume of data produced, leads to some of the most confounding challenges facing those who wish to use NGS in the clinical arena. Because the field is still in a state of active evolution, and because everything from the selection of the genes of interest to the method for filtering the resulting data is in a state of innovative flux without well-validated guidelines for standardization, comparison of data collected by different centers or using different techniques is less straightforward than it might appear by simply reviewing the final, synthesized reported information. Even with acceptably standardized and validated assays, the sheer volume of data produced by NGS studies can create its own problems. It can be difficult for clinicians and diagnosticians, either in the clinical trial setting or in the routine care of patients, to separate out genetic variants into clearly benign changes or polymorphisms, clearly disease-associated mutations, and potentially novel abnormalities that may be associated with the patient's disease.

Even for mutations that have been welldemonstrated to be definitively associated with disease, it can be surprisingly difficult to assign a particular diagnostic or therapy-guiding role. AML provides excellent examples of such challenges. Mutations in genes like *NPM1* and *FLT3* (particularly internal tandem duplications or ITDs) were thought to be well-understood on the basis of targeted amplification studies before the wide advent of NGS: *NPM1* mutations were associated with relatively good prognosis, and *FLT3* ITD mutations were associated with relatively poor prognosis, with the effects of *FLT3* to some degree trumping those of *NPM1* in leukemias where the mutations co-occurred [20, 21]. However, with more data derived from NGS studies, it appears that the picture is muddier, with the prognostic effect of these mutations likely dependent to some degree on the presence or absence of mutations in other genes, including *IDH1*, *IDH2*, and *DNMT3A*, as well as the prevalence of the *FLT3* ITD mutation in the clone [22– 24]. The importance of these genetic combinations is still in flux, owing to some degree to the problems of statistical power brought about by the need to measure so many different genetic combinations.

Current strategies for the diagnosis and follow-up of AML rely heavily on molecular genetic techniques. Given the increasing number of genetic targets that are relevant to the classification and prognostication of AML, new diagnosis is best done in conjunction with a multi-gene panel, typically performed via NGS, that assays for a wide range of genes. One potential issue with using a large NGS panel as an upfront diagnostic tool is the potentially long (5–10 days) turnaround time, particularly if the testing is performed at a reference laboratory. The mutational status of some AML-associated genes is playing an increasingly important role in initial therapy, both on clinical trials and in routine practice. For example, given the importance of FDA-approved inhibitors for AML with mutations in IDH1 [25], IDH2 [26], or FLT3 [27], rapid assessment of mutational status for these genes, all of which have mutations primarily focused in hotspots, is necessary. For this reason, faster-turnaround amplification-based methods may be performed in conjunction with more comprehensive NGS panels in order to provide timely access to critically important clinical data.

2.4 Clinical Diagnostic Testing in Residual Disease

The laboratory testing modalities described above have been used in various forms for decades in the assessment and categorization of newly diagnosed oncologic disease, including AML. Diseases could be classified, stratified for prognostic purposes, and triaged for consideration for targeted therapeutic intervention. This remains an important and rapidly growing area for clinical diagnostics, but many of the same testing modalities also present opportunities for analysis in subsequent examination of the patient for residual disease.

Of particular interest to clinicians in hematologic malignancies, including AML, is determining whether the neoplastic clone remains in the patient at various stages of therapy. Older descriptors for disease status like "complete remission" (CR) are relatively insensitive; in AML, CR is defined as a decrease in blasts below 5% of total marrow cells (along with recovery of peripheral counts, return of marrow cellularity and normal hematopoiesis, and absence of extramedullary disease), but without necessarily distinguishing between normal marrow myeloblasts and malignant leukemic blasts. While this classification approach was a reasonable one based on the diagnostic modalities available at the time-primarmorphologic review and some basic ily immunophenotypic assays such as cytochemistry, and remains in clinical use today, modern methods of disease detection have made it abundantly clear that residual levels of abnormal cells can be readily detected after therapy in some groups of patients. Furthermore, the presence or absence of this low-level involvement can be shown to play a major role in determining prognosis and frank relapse risk. In many cases, the best predictor of relapse is the persistence of abnormal cells after therapy, often at levels of detection below the threshold for classic CR and other categories; this low-level persistent disease is termed "minimal residual disease" (MRD).

The utility of MRD detection was first and most extensively demonstrated in B lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL), particularly in the pediatric setting, and flow cytometric assessment of MRD is currently a well-established tool for the prognosis, monitoring, and treatment of B-ALL [28, 29]. The role of MRD testing in AML is an area of active and maturing development, with roles being defined for testing both by flow cytometry and by targeted genetic studies.

In general, detection of MRD by flow cytometry is based on a set of important technical principles. It is critical to be able to distinguish the abnormal leukemic population from normal precursors by its immunophenotypic characteristics. While B-ALL MRD detection has become at least somewhat standardized, approaches to AML MRD detection by flow cytometry are currently somewhat more variable between different centers. Some centers have emphasized more of a holistic different-from-normal approach to analysis, looking at whole populations of maturing myeloid cells and looking for abnormalities in those patterns, while other centers have focused more on looking at specific early populations of cells and evaluating their expression of various combinations of abnormal markers [30]. Both of these approaches are made challenging by the nature of the AML blast populations. AML shows more variation in the "leukemia-associated immunophenotype" (LAIP) at the time of diagnosis than B-ALL does, with less ability to rely on a reproducible gating scheme to routinely isolate the neoplastic population. Additionally, AML blasts show an even greater propensity than B-ALL blasts to alter their LAIP over time, requiring greater vigilance on the part of those monitoring for MRD. For these reasons, many of the largest AML trials have validated a cutoff of 0.1% for MRD detection, rather than the 0.01% used in B-ALL [31].

While flow cytometry is a reliable technique for MRD detection, able to be used in the vast majority of cases, the difficulty and relative lack of reproducibility due to the heavy analytic requirements of the assay have led to the use of molecular genetic techniques for MRD detection. As described in the previous sections, amplification-based targeted genetic assays can detect extremely small abnormal populations in a mixed sample. For those patients who have genetic lesions at diagnosis amenable to this type of testing, molecular methods for MRD detection are of great utility. NPM1-mutated AML is a prime example of this approach in myeloid disease; the detection of NPM1 mutations by targeted amplification has been shown to be a powerful MRD detection tool [32]. Caveats apply

to this approach, however; NPM1-mutated AML may relapse as a NPM1-negative clone [33], leading to potential false-negative results for MRD assays based on tracking of a single genetic lesion. The same problem arises for many other genetic abnormalities that could be tracked in patients, meaning genetic techniques for MRD detection must often be complemented with other tools, such as flow cytometry. The presence of clonal rearrangements of the TCR and IGH loci in T- and B-lymphoblastic leukemias that are almost never lost during clonal evolution provides a powerful tool for MRD monitoring in those diseases using specialized NGS panels with high clinical sensitivity [34, 35], but a similar common and invariant abnormality in AML has not yet been identified.

These methods for developing tools for MRD detection have been applied to AML with significant success [19]. Flow cytometry and molecular genetic MRD detection at the end of induction chemotherapy have been shown to be important for prognosis of AML patients to a much greater degree than standard CR status, both in the setting of conventional therapy [36, 37] and in allogeneic stem cell transplant (SCT) [38]. In the specific setting of SCT, MRD detection at the time of transplant has been shown to be strongly associated with the risk of relapse after transplant [39], potentially helping to determine which patients should be eligible for transplant and which should be triaged for additional pretransplant therapy.

2.5 AML Classification

2.5.1 The WHO Classification Framework

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is a heterogeneous disease clinically, morphologically, and genetically. In the latter half of the twentieth century, the FAB classification was in general use for the classification of AML. This classification, a standardization of the historical approach to classification, used morphologic, cytochemical, and later flow cytometric features to classify AML based on how leukemic blasts recapitulate normal hematopoiesis (lineage of differentiation and level of maturation of blasts). While useful for laboratory description of leukemic blasts, by the end of the twentieth century, this approach had become obsolete for clinical practice and of limited utility for correlation with rapidly expanding cytogenetic, molecular genetics, and biologic knowledge.

An alternate approach was proposed in 1995 [1] which grouped most patients with AML into two broad biologically and clinically meaningful, although imprecisely defined, groups: de novo AML (DN-AML), meaning patients with no antecedent marrow abnormalities (not to be confused with the clinical usage of that term), and secondary AML (s-AML), meaning patients with antecedent hematopoietic disease, irrespective of whether it was recognized clinically (Fig. 2.1). DN-AML cases occur more frequently in younger patients, with a median age in the 30s and a relatively flat incidence curve for population at risk, implying a relatively simple pathogenesis.



Fig. 2.1 Approximate representation of the broad biologically and clinically relevant categories of AML as they map on to the WHO 2016 classification framework. These categories are currently imprecisely defined by clinical features and currently available diagnostic methods. The proportional distribution of the de novo and secondary AML cases depends on demographics of the population at risk (i.e., de novo AML is more common in children and young to middle-aged adults with an incidence rate that is relatively flat throughout life. On the other hand, secondary AML with most cases corresponding to AML-MRC in the WHO classification framework is most common in the elderly patients comprising most AML cases beyond 60 years of age with a median age in the 70s)

s-AML cases tend to occur in older patients, with a median age over 60 years and an exponential incidence curve implying a random multistep pathogenesis. This approach was adopted in the WHO classification of 2001, the third edition of the World Health Organization Classification of Tumours of Haematopoietic and Lymphoid Tissues, as "AML with recurrent genetic abnormalities" (AML-RGA) and "AML with myelodysplasia-related changes" (AML-MRC) respectively, with subsequent elaboration in the 4 th edition and in a revision (2017) (Table 2.1) [2, 40, 41]. This classification was designed to be

 Table 2.1 WHO classification of acute myeloid leukemia

AML with recurrent genetic abnormalities (mostly de				
novo AML)				
AML with t(8;21)(q22;q22.1); RUNX1-RUNX1T1				
AML with inv(16)(p13.1q22) or t(16;16)				
(p13.1;q22); CBFB-MYH11				
Acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) with t(15;17)				
(q22;q12); PML-RARA				
AML with t(9;11)(p21.3;q23.3); MLLT3-KMT2A				
AML with t(6;9)(p23;q34.1); DEK-NUP214				
AML with inv(3)(q21.3q26.2) or t(3;3)				
(q21.3;q26.2); GATA2, MECOM				
AML (megakaryoblastic) with t(1;22)(p13.3;q13.3);				
RBM15-MKL1				
Provisional entity: AML with BCR-ABL1				
AML with mutated NPM1				
AML with biallelic mutations of CEBPA				
Provisional entity: AML with mutated RUNX1				
AML with myelodysplasia-related changes (mostly				
secondary AML)				
Therapy-related myeloid neoplasms (mostly secondary				
AML)				
AML, NOS				
AML with minimal differentiation				
AML without maturation				
AML with maturation				
Acute myelomonocytic leukemia				
Acute monoblastic/monocytic leukemia				
Pure erythroid leukemia				
Acute megakaryoblastic leukemia				
Acute basophilic leukemia				
Acute panmyelosis with myelofibrosis				
Myeloid sarcoma				
Myeloid proliferations related to Down syndrome				
Transient abnormal myelopoiesis (TAM)				
Myeloid leukemia associated with Down syndrome				
in jerora realterina abboeratea mitin pomi bynaronie				

flexible to allow incorporation of new entities as they are recognized. It differs fundamentally from the historical (FAB) approach.

In the WHO classification, AML-RGA encompasses most cases of DN-AML, including cases with recurring balanced translocations. WHO AML-MRC encompasses most cases of s-AML, which are cases with often multiple genetic and mostly unbalanced chromosomal abnormalities, with background features frequently suggesting underlying myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS). Distinction between these pathogenetically different categories of AML is not always straightforward but is important clinically for therapeutic decisions. AML-RGA (DN-AML) usually has normal background hematopoiesis at presentation and in remission, with normalization of peripheral blood counts (complete remission). Patients with AML with recurrent genetic abnormalities tend to be younger and have relatively simple genomic aberrations. Most cytogenetically and molecularly defined subtypes under this category are recognized as distinct clinicopathologic entities and comprise approximately 65-70% of all AML cases [23, 42, 43] (Fig. 2.2). This is in contrast to AML-MRC (s-AML) which tends to occur in older patients, have MDS-like background hematopoiesis, with poor marrow reserve, the probability of reversion to clonal hematopoiesis (i.e., MDS), and persistent cytopenias during "remission" (sometimes called complete remission with incomplete recovery of counts [CRi]). AML-MRC also has a high frequency of resistance to conventional chemotherapy at presentation.

AML arising in the setting of prior cytotoxic therapy is classified under the WHO category as "Therapy-related myeloid neoplasms" [2]. The most common cause of therapy-related myeloid neoplasms is treatment that causes DNA interstrand crosslinks or DNA double-stranded breaks (alkylating agents, platinum derivatives, nitrosoureas, or ionizing radiation). AML cases in this group are typically associated with unbalanced chromosomal aberrations and major gains or losses of chromosomes and are an iatrogenic model of AML-MRC (Table 2.2). A second cause of therapy-related myeloid neoplasms is topoisomerase II inhibitor therapy, which is typically associated with balanced chromosomal translocations (especially involving the genes *KMT2A/ MLL* and *RUNX1*); this subset appears to be an iatrogenic model of AML with recurrent genetic abnormalities. An uncommon third type of therapy-related AML, seen in patients receiving any mix of complex chemotherapy and/or radiation, is a several log increase in the incidence of the common balanced translocations of AML-RGA [44].

The precise biology of DN-AML and s-AML has been the subject of recent genomic investigation [45]. Most AML with recurrent genetic abnormalities is characterized by a single balanced translocation and a low number of other gene mutations, most frequently activating mutations in the signaling genes including *NRAS*, *FLT3*, *KIT*, other tyrosine kinases, and protein tyrosine phosphatases. Also included in this group are cases with a normal karyotype and mutations in *NPM1* or (biallelic) *CEBPA* genes.

Whole-genome sequencing studies have shown that progression from MDS to s-AML involves sequential acquisition of mutations at the stem cell level resulting in survival and proliferation advantages [46, 47]. At the MDS stage most differentiated cells contain identical mutations, indicating marrow involvement by a clonal process. At the AML stage, several clones defined by acquisition of new sets of mutations are present, as well the original set of stem cell mutations, indicating clonal evolution. The new mutations tend to be in genes involved in adhesion, cell death, cell cycle regulation, differentiation. metabolism, motility, signaling, transcription, and transporter proteins [47, 48].

An investigation of the genetic basis of AML ontogeny comparing the spectrum of genetic lesions in well-defined s-AML patients (including therapy-related disease) and DN-AML identified three distinct mutually exclusive patterns of mutations [45]. First, three abnormalities significantly under-represented in AML-MRC (s-AML) are *NPM1* mutations, *KMT2A(MLL)/11q23* rearrangements, and core binding factor (CBF) rearrangements (so-called de novo-type alterations); it should be noted that by definition *NPM1*



Fig. 2.2 Proportional distribution of AML cases associated with specific genetic lesions including most cases of de novo AML due to gene fusions and mutations with class definitions based on the study by Pappaemmanuil et al. [23]. For each AML class indicated in the pie chart frequent co-occurring mutations are shown in associated

boxes. (Republished with permission of *Blood* from Döhner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. *Blood*. 129:424–447, 2017; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.)

	Alkylating agent	Topo II inhibitor
	class	class
Cytogenetics	Del(5q), -7/ del(7q), complex	Balanced translocations involving 11q23, 21q22, others
Frequency	~70%	~30%
Latency	Long (5–7 years)	Short (2–3 years)
Preceded by MDS phase	Typically, yes	No
Implicated medications	 Alkylating agents: bendamustine, busulfan, carmustine, chlorambucil, cyclo- phosphamide, dacarbazine, lomustine, melphalan, mitomycin C, nitrogen mustard, procarbazine, thiotepa Platinum-based agents: cisplatin, carboplatin Antimetabolite agents: azathioprine, fludarabine 	 Anthra- cyclines: dauno- rubicin, epirubicin, doxorubicin Other topoisome- rase II inhibitors: etoposide, teniposide, amsacrine, mitoxan- trone

Table 2.2 Two major classes of therapy-related AML

mutations are placed in AML-RGA in the WHO classification and that AML with PML/RARA was not included in the study. Second, mutations (referred to as "secondary-type") in eight genes mostly belonging to spliceosome and chromatin modifier functional classes (SRSF2, SF3B1, U2AF1, ZRSR2, ASXL1, EZH2, BCOR, and STAG2) appear to be highly specific (>95%) for AML-MRC (s-AML). The mutations in these genes are commonly seen in MDS, appear early in leukemogenesis, and persist in clonal remissions. Third, mutations in TP53 are associated with a distinct clinical phenotype including complex karyotype, therapy resistance, and very poor survival [45]. No distinct genomic patterns were specific for WHO defined therapy-related AML, perhaps because these cases appear to be comprised of several different entities, as discussed above. These cases were distributed throughout the three mutational patterns mentioned above. This information suggests a genetic framework for future classification of AML into biological, pathogenetic, and clinically relevant groups.

2.5.2 AML with Recurrent Genetic Abnormalities

Biologically, the flat incidence curve of most AML-RGA suggests a single rate-limiting pathogenetic step (not a single step, but a single ratelimiting step) in development of disease (Fig. 2.3). To the extent that the molecular pathogenesis of AML-RGA has been clarified, most cases are characterized by one of a series of recurring genetic abnormalities that block differentiation of hematopoietic precursors, and a superimposed additional molecular abnormality(-ies) that drives proliferation.

2.5.2.1 Acute Promyelocytic Leukemia with *PML-RARA* and Variant Translocations

Acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) with PML-RARA has a predominance of abnormal promyelocytes with characteristic nuclear morphology and cytoplasmic granulation. In AML it represents the best correlation of genetics with morphology. There is a spectrum from hypergranular to microgranular blast cell morphology in different patients. Recognition of the morphologic features of APL is extremely important for the early diagnosis and institution of targeted therapy with ATRA for this type of otherwise favorable prognosis AML, in order to prevent early and potentially serious complications of coagulopathy. The typical variant of APL has distinctive hypergranular blasts (abnormal promyelocytes) with prominent azurophilic granules which tend to obscure the boundary between the nucleus and the cytoplasm. They have distinctively shaped bilobed or grooved nuclei sometimes resembling an apple core. Some, but not all, cases have frequent Auer rods, and occasional cells with multiple Auer rods which sometimes are seen in bundles (so-



Fig. 2.3 Age-specific incidence rate of AML and MDS based on SEER data. MDS and secondary AML with most cases corresponding to AML-MRC in the WHO framework are most common in the elderly patients comprising most AML cases beyond 60 years of age with a median

age in the 70s. While AML-MRC does occur in children and young adults, its incidence for population at risk comprises an exponential curve with progressive age, accounting for this feature of the incidence curve of AML as a whole

Fig. 2.4 Microgranular (hypogranular) APL (peripheral blood smear stained with Wright's stain at 1000× original magnification). Abnormal promyelocytes in this variant have few obvious cytoplasmic granules on Romanowsky stain but retain the characteristic distinctively shaped bilobed or grooved nuclei sometimes resembling an apple core



called faggot cells). The hypergranular variant often has low WBC counts and a low number of circulating blasts. The microgranular (hypogranular) variant (Fig. 2.4) may be more difficult to recognize, especially by an inexperienced observer, as the abnormal promyelocytes in this variant have few obvious granules with Romanowsky staining; however, even in the microgranular variant, the abnormal promyelocytes have similar nuclear features to the typical variant and if carefully searched for, at least a few typical cells with dense cytoplasmic granulation can be found, especially in the region of the perinuclear hof. These blasts still have the capacity to release thrombogenic substances, as in the hypergranular variant. Patients with the microgranular variant tend to have a higher number of blasts in the peripheral blood.

By flow cytometry, there is a bright expression of myeloperoxidase and CD33 with variable expression of CD13 and CD117 and frequent expression of CD64 by the APL blast cells, which are typically negative for CD34 and HLA-DR. However, in the microgranular variant CD34 is frequently expressed, and there may be aberrant expression of CD2 [2]. Of note, as noted previously, APL blasts often display autofluorescence, complicating interpretation of data. An autofluorescence control should be run to correct for this problem [2, 49-51].

The successful treatment of APL with retinoic acid (RA) is a fascinating example of the potential power of targeted clinical application of molecular findings. As the association between t(15;17) (q22;q21) and APL was known, the near simultaneous reports [52] that oral all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) induced complete remission in APL and that the retinoic acid receptor alpha gene (*RARa*) was located at 17q21 [53] led quickly to the demonstration that t(15;17) involves *RARa* and a previously unrecognized partner, *PML* [50, 51, 54].

The t(15;17) fuses the 5' portion of the *PML* (ProMyelocytic Leukemia) gene at 15q24.1 and the 3' portion of the RARA gene at 17q21.2. The breakpoint in RARA is invariant in intron 2, incorporating in the fusion protein the C-terminal portion of RARA including its DNA-binding, ligand-binding, dimerization, and repression domains. There are three possible breakpoint regions in PML. The most common bcr-1 in intron 6 includes the first six exons of *PML* and is designated PML(L)- RARA [55]. The second bcr-3 in intron 3 generates a shorter transcript, PML(S)-RARA. The third bcr-2 occurs within exon 6. RT-PCR using a single 3' RARA primer and 2 PML primers to encompass the breakpoint sequences in introns 3 and 6 detects all three transcripts. FISH will also detect all PML-RARA fusion gene variants. These variant RARA breaks have no apparent clinical significance.

RARA is half (with retinoid X receptor or RXR) of a heterodimer ligand-dependent nuclear membrane receptor which mediates the cellular effects of RA. The heterodimer binds to RA response elements (RAREs) in the promoters of many genes important in myeloid differentiation. In the absence of RA, wild-type RARA/RXR on RAREs binds to the co-repressor proteins SMRT, N-CoR, mSin3, and histone deacetylases. Deacetylation of histone at the promoter, mediated by this complex, results in transcriptional repression, blocking cellular differentiation. Physiologic concentration of retinoic acid (10^{-8} M) causes a conformational change of the receptor, release of co-repressors, and recruitment of a co-activator complex (SRC-1) which associates with histone acetyltransferases [56]. This new complex mediates acetylation of histones at the promoter, relaxes chromatin conformation, and allows transcription to proceed (reviewed in [57]), resulting in cellular differentiation.

PML/RARA also heterodimerizes with RXR and binds to RAREs, competing with RARA/ RXR in a dominant negative manner. In the absence of ligand, PML/RARA (via its 3' RARA portion) binds co-repressor proteins similarly to RARA but requires pharmacologic concentration of retinoic acid, in the form of ATRA (10⁻⁶ M), to release them and bind to the co-activator complex. This is the mechanistic basis for the induction of differentiation of leukemic cells in APL with pharmacologic dosage of ATRA [56, 58].

Other translocations involving the RARA locus on 17q21.2 have been described. Studies of APL with variant RARA translocation t(11;17)(q23.2;q21.2); ZBTB16-RARA [58, 59] has furthered understanding of the mechanism of response of APL to ATRA. Patients with t(11;17) AML are resistant to treatment with pharmacologic dosage ATRA. The fusion partner gene ZBTB16 on chromosome 11q23 encodes the promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger (PLZF) protein, a transcriptional repressor that contributes a second co-repressor binding site to the fusion protein. Although pharmacologic dosage ATRA induces release of co-repressors from the RARA portion of the fusion protein, those binding to PLZF are unaffected [56, 57, 60]. Addition of

Trichostatin A, which inhibits the deacetylase activity of PLZF-associated co-repressors [58, 61], allows induction of differentiation to proceed. Leukemia with ZBTB16-RARA has some morphological differences from typical APL, with blasts showing more regular nuclei. In some cases, the "blasts" approach the appearance of myelocytes [59]. Typically, Auer rods are absent. There may be an increased proportion of neutrophils with pseudo Pelger-Huet appearance [2]. Another rare fusion partner with RARA is STAT5B at 17q21.2. Similar to APL with ZBTB16-RARA, APL with STAT5B-RARA appears to be resistant to ATRA [2].

Finally, two additional partners involved in variant translocations in APL, both of which are ATRA responsive, are *NPM1* in t(5;17)(q35;q21) [62] and *NUMA1* in t(11;17)(q13.4;q21.2) [63]. All translocation partners of *RARA* encode proteins with multimerization domains, and all appear to contribute a block of differentiation to leukemia pathogenesis.

Wild-type PML protein is normally localized in subnuclear PML oncogenic domains (PODs), also called nuclear bodies (NBs), in which other nuclear factors colocalize [64]. PML may act as a tumor suppressor protein and is involved in growth suppression as well as in induction of apoptosis (reviewed in Ref. [57]). Although it does not bind DNA directly, it influences transcription by interacting with both the transcriptional activator CBP [65] and transcriptional repressor HDACs, possibly within the NBs. The protein encoded by the *PML-RARA* fusion transcript resulting from the t(15;17) translocation is delocalized from the NBs to a multigranular nuclear pattern with nucleolar exclusion [66].

Whole genome sequencing of de novo and relapsed APL patients has demonstrated approximately 8 non-silent somatic mutations per exome [67]. In de novo APL cases, mutations in *FLT3*, *WT1*, *NRAS*, and *KRAS* were predominant. In relapsed APL, there were frequent mutations in *RARA* and *PML*, with *RARA* mutations predominating in cases with a history of ATRA treatment and *PML* mutations associated with arsenic trioxide treatment. In addition, in relapsed APL, there were mutations in *ARID1A* and *ARID1B*, mem-

bers of the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex [67].

Although by convention an arbitrary level of 20% blasts is required for diagnosis of AML, the presence of the recurrent translocation t(15;17) is diagnostic of APL even when present in a small percentage of cells. Of note if the clinical setting is post chemo/radiotherapy, diagnosis should be therapy-related myeloid neoplasm as the main classification of the patient's disease [2].

2.5.2.2 AML with Core Binding Factor Translocations

Core binding factor (CBF) AML refers to AML-RGA characterized by the recurring structural abnormalities t(8;21)(q22;q22), involving *RUNX1(CBFA1)* and *RUNX1T1*, and inv(16) (p13.1q22), involving *CBFB* and *MYH11*. Together, these comprise 30% of pediatric AML cases after infancy and 15% of adult AML cases [68]. The RUNX1 (Runt-related transcription factor 1, formerly called AML1) gene was cloned from the t(8;21)(q22;q22) breakpoint [69, 70]. In addition to involvement in this translocation, it is also mutated in another 3% of AML. The activity of the murine counterpart of RUNX1 was first described as part of the core binding factor complex (CBF), which binds to a core enhancer sequence of the Molony leukemia virus long terminal repeat (LTR) [71]. A second component of CBF, the non-DNA binding $CBF\beta$, was subsequently found to be involved in AML-RGA with inversion 16 [72]. Finally, the fusion partner of *RUNX1* in t(8;21), named *RUNX1T1*, formerly ETO (eight-twenty-one), also encodes a transcriptional regulator [73]. The wild-type CBF complex recruits additional transcription factors, regulates hematopoietic differentiation, and is essential for hematopoietic development. Gene deletion of either *Runx1* [74] or *Cbf* β [75] in mice results in fetal death at E11.5-12.5. These embryos lack all fetal hematopoiesis. Further transgenic experiments have demonstrated that RUNX1 is essential for the development of hematopoietic stem cells in the aorta/gonadal/ mesodermal (AGM) region, the source of definitive hematopoiesis [76]. The essential role of RUNX1 in hematopoietic development appears

to be through its function as a transcriptional activator. *RUNX1*, located at chromosome 21q22.3, is encoded by 12 exons over 260 kb of DNA. The N-terminal portion of the protein is the DNA binding domain. This region is mutated in familial platelet disorder (FPD) and in AML associated with *RUNX1* mutations [77, 78]. CBF β interacts via this domain and changes the conformation of RUNX1 to increase DNA binding affinity [79].

The blasts in AML with t(8;21) *RUNX1T1/ RUNX1* translocation display a degree of granulocytic differentiation, with salmon pink coloration associated with the perinuclear hof (Fig. 2.5), but exceptions are frequent (about 20% of cases).

In the t(8;21) translocation, the *RUNX1* gene is fused to the *RUNX1T1* gene on chromosome 8. The RUNX1-RUNX1T1 protein specifically binds to the same DNA binding site as RUNX1, heterodimerizes with CBF β [80] and acts as a dominant negative inhibitor of wild-type RUNX1. RUNX1-RUNX1T1 also functions as an active transcriptional repressor [81] by associating with class I histone deacetylases (HDACs) via RUNX1T1 [82]. Targets of RUNX1-RUNX1T1 repression are presumed to include genes important for granulocyte differentiation. In addition, RUNX1-RUNX1T1 represses the tumor suppressor genes *P14ARF* and *NF1* [83, 84]. P14ARF stabilizes TP53 by antagonizing MDM2, an inhibitor of TP53 [85]. Therefore, repression of *P14ARF* reduces the checkpoint control path of TP53 and may be a key event in t(8;21) leukemogenesis.

AML with inv(16) or t(16;16), the *CBFB/ MYH9* translocation, present in about 8% of AML cases, correlates frequently (50–60% of cases) with myelomonocytic differentiation and with dysplastic eosinophils containing immature basophilic as well as eosinophilic granules (basoeosinophils) (historic FAB category M4Eo) (Fig. 2.6) [86].

This cytogenetic abnormality fuses the first 165aa of *CBF* β to the C-terminal of *SMMHC* encoding its coiled-coil region [87]. The CBF β /SMMHC fusion protein associates with mSin3a and HDAC8 and interacts with RUNX1 to form a transcriptional repressor complex [88].

A number of experiments demonstrate that the CBF translocations are necessary but not sufficient for induction of leukemia. Support for the hypothesis that genetic mutations besides a mutant *RUNX1* locus are necessary for development of acute leukemia comes from the study of patients with familial platelet disorder with propensity to develop AML (FPD/AML). These patients have mutations in one allele of *RUNX1*

Fig. 2.5 AML with t(8;21);*RUNX1-RUNX1T1* (bone marrow aspirate smear stained with Wright's stain at 1000× original magnification). There is some degree of granulocytic maturation with characteristic salmon-coloration of the cytoplasm in perinuclear hof area


Fig. 2.6 AML with inv16 (bone marrow aspirate smear stained with Wright's stain at 1000× original magnification). There is myelomonocytic differentiation with dysplastic eosinophils containing immature basophilic as well as eosinophilic granules (baso-eosinophils)



[89]. They have defective platelets and progressive pancytopenia and develop myelodysplasia and a high incidence of AML with age. However, secondary mutations appear to be necessary before progression to AML occurs. Another set of studies also support this hypothesis. Guthrie spot studies (drop of blood obtained at birth and stored) have shown that many children up to age 10 years with AML with t(8;21) or inv(16) [and also t(15;17)] have identical translocations (including sequencing across intronic fusions) in their Guthrie spots and are asymptomatic for years before developing AML, again indicating that the translocations are necessary but not sufficient for induction of AML [90, 91].

The presence of additional mutations in CBF leukemia has been addressed directly by NGS experiments. In one experiment comparing patients with *RUNX1-RUNX1T1* and *CBFB-MYH11*, an average of 11.86 somatic mutations with functional consequences were present in *RUNX1-RUNX1T1* cases and 7.74 somatic mutations were present in *CBFB-MYH11* cases [68]. About 66% of mutations were in kinase pathway genes such as *NRAS*, *KIT*, *FLT3*, *KRAS*, *PTPN11*, *NF1*, and *CCND2*. *KIT* mutations were found in 45% of t(8;21) and 33% of inv(16) cases, with a mutant allelic ratio of 35% or greater required to confer a worse prognosis [68]. Similar findings were present in a subsequent study performing NGS on a series of 331 patients with t(8;21) [92]. Additional mutations in kinase pathway genes were detected in 63.4% of cases; additional mutations were also detected in genes encoding epigenetic regulators (45% of cases), as well as cohesion complex members, MYC-related regulators, and spliceosome complex proteins. Loss of a sex chromosome was the most common karyotypic abnormality, besides the defining t(8;21). A reduced complete remission (CR) rate was associated with del(7q), FLT3-ITD (high allele burden), and JAK2 mutations. The factors most strongly associated with poor prognosis were a cKIT mutation in >25% of cells (KIT^{high}) and JAK2 mutations. These results suggest that RTK inhibitors may be effective ancillary treatment alternatives for t(8;21) leukemia [92].

As with t(15;17) APL, although by convention an arbitrary level of 20% blasts is required for diagnosis of AML, the presence of the recurrent translocations t(8;21) and inv(16) or t(16;16) is diagnostic of acute myeloid leukemia even when present in a small percentage of cells. Of note, if the clinical setting is post chemo/radiotherapy, diagnosis should be therapy-related myeloid neoplasm as the main classification of the patient's disease [2].

2.5.2.3 AML with t(9;11)(p21.3;q23.3); KMT2A-MLLT3

KMT2A (previously named mixed lineage leukemia or MLL), which maps to chromosome 11q23.3, is a transcriptional regulator and chromatin remodeling gene frequently rearranged in AML-RGA (as well as in ALL) and characteristically rearranged in infant leukemia, epipodophyllotoxin therapy-related leukemia, and frequently in mixed phenotype leukemia [93]. KMT2A translocations are seen in leukemias of both myeloid and lymphoid origin, hence the older name (MLL). In AML, t(9;11) involving MLLT3 (AF9) is the most common translocation partner and appears to define a distinct disease entity. Unusually however, compared to other recurring translocations in AML, there are multiple variant KMT2A translocation partners, with more than 70 partner genes characterized. This type of AML can occur at any age. It comprises the large majority of AML in infants up to 18 months of age. Although KMT2A translocations involving some of the partner genes such as MLLT1 (ENL), MLLT10 (AF10), MLLT4 (AF6), or ELL predominantly occur in AML, they can also be seen in ALL. Cases have been described as switching from AML to ALL and vice versa with treatment.

The *KMT2A* gene is the mammalian homolog of trithorax, a Drosophila transcriptional regulator that encodes a methyltransferase and positively regulates homeobox (HOX) genes, a large family of genes involved in the regulation of development and essential for growth and differentiation [93, 94]. Wild-type KMT2A regulates *HOX* gene expression by methylation of histone H3 lysine (H3K4), resulting in transcriptional activation; this action requires the KMT2A SET domain, a domain shared by a number of transcriptional regulators with histone methyltransferase activity [95]. The multiplicity of fusion partners of KMT2A has been perplexing. Three of the most common fusion partners, MLLT3(AF9), AF10, and MLLT1(ENL), associate with DOT1L, a histone methyltransferase with different activity than wild-type KMT2A. DOT1L (in a comwhich consists of DOT1L, AF10, plex, MLLT6(AF17), and MLLT1(ENL)) methylates histone H3 lysine 79(H3K79) [96, 97], which is also associated with transcriptional activation [93, 98]. Thus, many of the fusion partners of KMT2A normally associate in complexes that regulate transcription through histone methylation. HOX genes are expressed highly during early development, but then are downregulated during hematopoiesis. The end result of the altered methylation of these transcriptional regulatory complexes by the KMT2A-fusion proteins is thought to be abnormally sustained HOX gene expression [93]. Small molecule inhibitors of DOT1L are under development, with success in mouse models of KMT2A leukemia. One such molecule, pinometostat (EPZ-5676), has been evaluated in a phase I clinical trial in adult patients with advanced acute leukemia with KMT2A rearrangements and has shown clinically meaningful responses and modest efficacy as a single agent [99, 100].

KMT2A rearrangements are associated with several unique types of leukemia. In infant acute leukemia (birth to 18 months, both AML and ALL), there is a 60-80% incidence of 11q23.3 rearrangements [101]. In secondary acute leukemias (both AML and ALL) developing after treatment with DNA topoisomerase II inhibitors (epipodophyllotoxins), there is a 70-90% incidence of KMT2A rearrangements, particularly t(4;11)(q21;q23.3) and t(9;11)(p21-22;q23.3)[102, 103]. Topoisomerase II is involved in unwinding of DNA during replication and transcription by producing double-stranded nicks in DNA, after which the ends are rejoined by a ligase activity of topoisomerase II. Topoisomerase II inhibitors block this ligase function, and DNAfree ends accumulate, triggering apoptotic events. There are 11 possible topoisomerase II consensus binding sites in KMT2A breakpoint cluster areas [104]. Incorrect religation of DNA-free ends in these areas due to inhibition of topoisomerase II religase activity may explain the association of topoisomerase II inhibitors and translocations involving KMT2A. Interestingly, infant leukemia with KMT2A translocations has a similar distribution of breakpoints to cases following epipodophyllotoxin treatment, whereas sporadic cases of *KMT2A* acute leukemia have more random breakpoints [105]. This observation has triggered speculation that in utero exposure to environmental topoisomerase II inhibitors such as flavonoids may have a role in the etiology of infant leukemia [106]. In addition, this hypothesis may be supported by the fact that in utero exposure to a common class of antibiotics with anti-bacterial topoisomerase II (gyrase) activity (fluoroquinolones), which have been shown to cross react with human topoisomerase II, results in an increased risk of leukemia development in infants and young children [107].

The latency of development of leukemia appears to be shorter for *KMT2A* rearrangements than for other leukemogenic rearrangements. Similarly, therapy-related leukemias based on *KMT2A* rearrangement occur sooner after therapy than those occurring after alkylating agents or radiation [103, 108]. This suggests that the oncogenic fusion protein produced by the *KMT2A* rearrangement can deregulate the cell without the accumulation of many secondary mutations.

Overexpression of *MECOM* (*EVI1*) is common in AMLs with *KMT2A* rearrangements, being seen in approximately 40% of cases with t(9;11). Secondary chromosomal abnormalities are commonly seen in AML with t(9;11) (p21.3;q23.3), with trisomy 8 most frequently observed in *MECOM* negative cases; the secondary translocations do not appear to influence prognosis.

AML with t(9;11) and other *KMT2A* fusions frequently has myelomonocytic and monoblastic morphology and immunophenotype including strong expression of CD33, CD65, CD4, and HLA-DR and low to variable expression of CD13, CD14, CD117, and CD34.

Controversial points in placing *KMT2A* rearranged AML cases in the WHO classification include occurrence of the same rearrangements in non-random settings, including MDS and therapy-related neoplasms discussed above. Diagnosis of AML-RGA with *KMT2A* translocations should be limited to de novo AML cases [2]. AML arising in the context of prior cytotoxic therapy should be classified as therapy-related disease with a *KMT2A* rearrangement. Likewise, AML with myelodysplasia-related changes and a *KMT2A* translocation should be diagnosed as AML with myelodysplasia-related changes. Furthermore, although t(9;11) cases with <20% blasts are not currently classified as AML, it is suggested that in the right clinical setting they should be treated as AML [2]. AML with t(9;11) has an intermediate survival which is superior to that of AML with other 11q23.3 translocations [109, 110]. Overexpression of *MECOM* associates with poor prognosis [111].

2.5.2.4 AML with Biallelic Mutation of CEBPA

CCAAT/enhancer binding protein-alpha (CEBPA) is a transcription factor that is required for granulocytic differentiation [112, 113] as demonstrated in Cebpa knockout mice lacking mature granulocytes [114]. CEBPA transactivates the genes for G-CSF and GM-CSF receptors and several granulocyte-specific proteins. Genetic aberrations in other myeloid leukemia-associated genes often lead to CEBPA down-regulation. Furthermore, the CEBPA promoter is methylated in half of AML cases [115]. Biallelic mutations in CEBPA have been identified in about 4-9% of children and young adult patients with AML [116, 117]. The biallelic mutation in CEBPA is associated with a specific gene expression pattern that is different from single mutations. It is now recognized that the favorable prognosis associated with CEBPA mutation in AML is related to biallelic mutations, a requirement to assign a case to this category [118, 119]. If biallelic CEBPA mutations are found in AML, especially in younger patients, an investigation should be undertaken of the possibility of a germline mutation, which would change the diagnosis to germline AML predisposition syndrome [120].

About 5–9% of AML cases with CEBPA mutations have *FLT3*-ITD mutations [121–123]. *GATA2* mutations are found in approximately 39% of cases [124]. Most cases (>70%) have a normal karyotype; of karyotypic abnormalities, del(9q) is commonly seen (similar to AML with

mutated NPM1); this does not appear to influence prognosis [122].

AML with biallelic mutation of *CEBPA* has no specific or distinguishing morphologic features and shows a myeloid phenotype with a possibly higher frequency of expression of HLA-DR, CD7 and CD15, and no expression of monocytic markers such as CD14 and CD64. Variable dysplasia is present in a significant minority of cases, similar to AML with mutated NPM1; it does not adversely influence prognosis [125].

2.5.2.5 AML with Mutated NPM1

AML with mutated *NPM1* occurs most commonly in adults and the elderly, typically without preceding abnormalities, and typically has a normal karyotype. *NPM1* mutation is one of the most common recurrent genetic aberrations in AML (35% of adult AML with a normal karyotype with lesser frequency in the pediatric population), and only rarely occurs in other myeloid neoplasms such as MDS or MDS/MPN [126] (Fig. 2.2). AML with mutated NPM1 requires other mutations prior to acquisition of the NPM1 mutation. While placed in AML-RGA in the WHO classification, these features share much in common with AML-MRC, rather than other types of AML-RGA.

NPM1 (nucleophosmin) is a molecular chaperone that shuttles between cytoplasm and nucleus [127]. It is essential for cell survival [128] with several major functions, including ribosome biogenesis, regulation of centrosome duplication during the cell cycle, chromatin remodeling, potentiating the p53 stress response, interaction with tumor suppressor proteins, and DNA repair functions (reviewed in [129–132]). *NPM1* mutations are stably expressed, being retained in leukemic blasts at relapse in the majority of cases [33, 133, 134]. By inspection of variant allele frequencies, it has been shown that *NPM1* mutations precede *FLT3* mutations that often co-occur in AML.

Wild-type NPM1 is composed of 294 amino acids and has two nuclear localization signals (NLS), two nuclear export signals (NES) that mediate the nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling of wild-type NPM1, and a nucleolar localization signal (NoLS) at the C-terminal end containing two tryptophan residues at positions 288 and 290 that are critical for retaining NPM1 in the nucleolus. NPM1 mutations occur in the portion of the gene previously known as exon 12, with over 50 mutations described and named alphabetically in the order of discovery (types A, B, C, D, etc.). All the subtypes share an identical biological consequence, leading to generation of a mutant NPM1 protein with four extra amino acids [132, 135, 136]. The mutant NPM1 appears to function in a dominant negative manner through heterodimerization with normal NPM1 to cause relocation of some normal NPM1, as well as the mutant NPM1, from its normal predominantly nucleolar location to the cytoplasm [137]. This can be detected in tissue sections by immunohistochemistry and is predictive of *NPM1* mutation [136]. The mutation is always heterozygous; homozygous mutation is embryonic lethal [128, 138].

NPM1 mutation was initially considered a founder event in leukemogenesis, because it usually is maintained at relapse. However, it is now thought that NPM1 mutation occurs later in AML development due to its absence in preleukemic hematopoietic stem cells, and the fact that in 10% of patients the NPM1 mutation is lost at relapse while further chromosomal and molecular changes are acquired [33, 134]. One of the mechanisms by which mutant NPM1 may promote leukemogenesis is by destabilization of proteins regulating the TP53 response. In addition, cytoplasmic NPM1c retains its ability to bind to cytoplasmic caspases 6 and 8, which may inhibit apoptosis, also enhancing leukemogenesis. Furthermore, NPM1 may interact with a protein that is part of the E3 ubiquitin ligase that degrades MYC protein; mutant cytoplasmic NPM1c disrupts this activity, thus indirectly increasing the levels of MYC protein [130]. It has also been reported recently that HOX overexpression is directly dependent on mutant NPM1 and maintains the leukemic state in NPM1 mutated AML. It has also been shown that relocalization or degradation of mutant NPM1 induces differentiation of AML cells, potentially providing the rationale for a novel therapeutic strategy [139].

NPM1 mutations occur most frequently in conjunction with FLT3-ITD and DNMT3A mutations, but mutations in TET2, IDH1, and IDH2 also commonly co-occur [22, 130, 131, 140]. Patients with NPM1 mutations in the absence of FLT3-ITD mutations with high variant allele frequency appear to have a favorable response to chemotherapy [136, 137]. This may be due to the role of wild-type NPM1 in DNA repair; if NPM1 is mutated there is less efficient repair of DNA damage induced by chemotherapy [131]. Younger patients with a normal karyotype and no concurrent FLT3-ITD mutation have prognosis comparable to that of CBF AMLs and may not benefit from allogeneic stem cell transplantation in first remission [141]. Co-occurrence of NPM1, FLT3-ITD, and DNMT3A mutations has been associated with very poor outcome [142].

AML with mutated *NPM1* strongly associates with myelomonocytic or monocytic morphology, but other morphologic types occur including AML without maturation and pure erythroid leukemia. Some cases have characteristic morphology with nuclei showing cup-shaped or thumb imprint-like indentations (Fig. 2.7). This morphology may raise the differential diagnosis of APL, especially in the presence of the similar immunophenotypic features to APL (lack of CD34 and HLA-DR expression on blasts). Blasts otherwise show an immature myeloid or monocytic profile (CD36+, CD64+, CD14+). Multilineage dysplasia is seen in up to 25% of cases but appears to have no prognostic significance [143, 144].

2.5.3 Rare Subtypes of AML-RGA

2.5.3.1 AML with t(6;9)(p23;q34.1); DEK-NUP214

The t(6;9)(p23;q34.1) occurs in 0.7-1.8% of AML cases and occurs both in later childhood and adults. The t(6;9) results in a fusion of *DEK* on chromosome 6 and *NUP214* on chromosome 9. This fusion protein acts aberrantly, altering nuclear transport by binding to soluble transport factors [145]. *FLT3*-ITD mutations are common in this entity [146–148]. There are no specific distinguishing morphologic features of blast cells in the AML with t(6;9)(p23;q34.1) but blood and marrow basophilia, generally uncommon in AML, is seen in more than half of cases [146,

Fig. 2.7 NPM1 mutated AML (peripheral blood smear stained with Wright's stain at 1000× original magnification). Some cases have characteristic morphology with nuclei showing cup-shaped or thumb imprint-like indentations. This morphology may raise the differential diagnosis of APL, especially in the presence of the similar immunophenotypic features to APL (lack of CD34 and HLA-DR expression on blasts)



149]. Some cases with t(6;9)(p23;q34.1) may have less than 20% blasts and are not currently classified as AML, but in an appropriate clinical setting, these patients may be treated as AML. The blasts cells have a non-specific myeloid phenotype, with co-expression of TdT seen in approximately 50% of cases. Basophils can be detected by flow cytometry as a separate population positive for CD123, CD33, and CD38 but negative for HLA-DR. The prognosis of AML with t(6;9) (p23;q34.1) is generally poor, with a high white cell count predictive of shorter overall survival [146, 148].

2.5.3.2 AML with inv(3)(q21.3q26.2) or t(3;3)(q21.3;q26.2); GATA2, MECOM

It is now recognized that inv(3)(q21.3q26.2) or t(3;3)(q21.3;q26.2) in this type of AML does not represent a fusion gene but results in repositioning a distal *GATA2* enhancer to activate the oncogene *MECOM* at 3q26.2 (also known as *EVI1*), simultaneously resulting in GATA2 haploinsufficiency [150, 151]. These cases tend to occur in older patients with a median age approximating 60 years, suggesting differences with other AML-RGA subtypes. Secondary chromosomal abnormalities are common, with monosomy 7, del 5q, and complex karyotypes frequently seen. Mutations in genes activating RAS tyrosine

kinase signaling pathways are present in most cases: NRAS (27% of cases), PTPN11 (20%), FLT3 (13%), KRAS (11%), NF1 (9%), CBL (7%), and KIT (2%). Other commonly mutated genes are GATA2, RUNX1, and SF3B1 [152]. This type of AML accounts for 1-2% of AMLs and is characterized by normal or elevated platelet counts and increased, dysplastic megakaryocytes typically with hypolobated or unilobed nuclei [153] (Fig. 2.8). Multilineage dysplasia in the non-blast marrow cells is also common, and marrow eosinophils and basophils may be increased [154, 155]. Bone marrow blasts have variable morphology with no specific characteristics. The blasts typically have a non-specific myeloid phenotype with aberrant expression of the T-associated marker CD7 and megakaryocytic markers CD41 and CD61 in a subset of cases. Cases with <20% blasts are not currently classified as AML; however, this is controversial since the outcome for patients with <20% or >20% blasts are equally poor in this very aggressive disease with very short survival [156].

2.5.3.3 AML with t(1;22)(p13.3;q13.1); RBM15-MKL1

AML with t(1;22)(p13.3;q13.1) is characterized by blasts with megakaryocytic differentiation by morphology and immunophenotype. This type of AML-RGA is rare (<1% of all AML cases). It



Fig. 2.8 AML with inv3/t(3;3) (bone marrow biopsy sections at 400× original magnification). H&E stained section showing numerous abnormal megakaryocytes with

small hypolobated or unilobed nuclei (a), which are highlighted with CD61 immunohistochemical stain (b)

occurs almost exclusively in infants without Down syndrome in the first 6 months of life, presenting with marked organomegaly (commonly hepatosplenomegaly) due to leukemic infiltrates [157, 158]. Typically, the bone marrow is inaspirable due to dense marrow fibrosis. Careful search of the peripheral smear for blasts may be helpful in this diagnosis. In sections of biopsies of the marrow or liver, the blast infiltration mimics metastatic small round cell tumor, with cohesive clusters of small round cells in tissue or vascular spaces [157, 158]. There may be micromegakaryocytes associated with the megakaryoblast infiltrate; dysplasia in other cell lines is uncommon. Megakaryoblasts may be present in small numbers in the peripheral smear, facilitating diagnosis if recognized. Phenotypically the megakaryoblasts are often negative for CD34, CD45, HLA-DR, MPO, and lymphoid markers by flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry, contributing to mistaken diagnosis as a small round cell tumor, NOS. The blasts may show variable expression of myeloid markers CD13 and CD33, and if tested, are positive for megakaryocyte markers (CD41, CD61, and CD42b).

2.5.3.4 Provisional Categories of AML-RGA (WHO 2016)

Two provisional categories of AML-RGA are recognized in the 2016 WHO classification [2]. These categories exclude cases that meet criteria for other recognized types of AML.

De novo AML with BCR-ABL1 cases may be difficult to distinguish from blast phase CML, especially without adequate clinical information, but the significance of this targetable fusion warrants the recognition of this entity [159, 160]. Preliminary data indicate that other molecular abnormalities may allow distinction of AML-RGA with BCR-ABL1 from blast phase CML.

AML with mutated RUNX1 appears to represent a biologically distinct group of AMLs with some studies reporting worse prognosis versus other types of AML. Similar to biallelic CEBPA mutations, a subset of these patients may have germline mutations of *RUNX1*, and germline and family studies should be performed when these mutations are detected [161–164].

2.5.4 Myelodysplastic Syndromes (MDS) in Relationship to AML-MRC

Myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) are a heterogeneous group of clonal stem cell disorders characterized by ineffective hematopoiesis manifesting with low blood counts, typically normo- or hypercellular BM, and a variable degree of morphologic dysplasia in hematopoietic elements. The diagnosis of MDS relies on identifying and quantifying morphologic dysplasia, quantifying the proportion of blast cells, and/ or demonstrating characteristic MDS-associated cytogenetic abnormalities [2]. This diagnosis can be challenging, especially in low-grade MDS (see below) with no increase in blasts, as the morphologic dysplasia may be subtle and subjective, and many patients (45-50%) lack characteristic cytogenetic abnormalities [2]. MDS is still a poorly understood set of diseases pathogenetically related to AML-MRC [2]. Distinction of MDS from AML is currently based, with exceptions, on an arbitrary marrow blast percentage, lowered from the historical $\geq 30\%$ to $\geq 20\%$ in the WHO classification; this is not based on an understanding of biological differences in the two sets of diseases [2]. For discussion of AML pathogenesis, the MDS subtypes in the WHO classification can be consolidated into two types: low-grade MDS (MDS with single lineage dysplasia, MDS with ring sideroblasts, MDS with multilineage dysplasia, MDS with isolated del(5q)), and high-grade MDS (MDS with excess blasts). High-grade MDS (see below) is usually fatal with or without progression to AML-MRC. Understanding the biology and pathogenesis of MDS remains elusive but would seem to be critical for improving the differential diagnosis of AML-MRC versus MDS and versus DN-AML and would possibly contribute to improved treatment strategies for AML-MRC and MDS, and possibly to prevention of progression of MDS to AML-MRC.

A variety of data (including progressive genetic damage, acquired structural and functional abnormalities in hematopoietic cells, and the high rate of transformation to AML) suggest that high-grade MDS is a mutator phenotype with inherent genetic instability. AML-MRC appears to require both a block of differentiation and a drive to proliferate, but it is doubtful either of these events is the biologic basis of MDS. A solitary drive to proliferate (with associated inhibition of programed cell death) is the apparent myelogenous leukemia cause of chronic (reviewed in [165]) and the other myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) [166–168]; these diseases differ from MDS in being proliferative, lacking MDS-type morphologic dysplasia, and lacking MDS-type cytogenetic abnormalities. A solitary block of differentiation in hematopoietic progenitors has no clinical phenotype, except a possible propensity to be transformed by acquisition of a second genetic event that drives proliferation [90]. Both clinical and transgenic examples of each of these possibilities lack the phenotype of MDS, although acquisition of both appears to be required for MDS to transform to AML-MRC. A plausible hypothesis is that subsets of high-grade MDS represent acquisition of one of these events superimposed on the underlying biology of lowgrade MDS. MDS with excess blasts (MDS-EB) is characterized by increased but relatively stable numbers of marrow blasts, with shortened survival of patients due to complications of MDS and with an increased propensity to progress to AML; hypothetically, MDS-EB may represent a block of myeloid differentiation superimposed on the underlying biology of low-grade MDS. The MDS/MPN diseases (CMML, JMML, and atypical CML) have mixed features of MDS (dysplasia, shared genetic abnormalities) and MPN (proliferation) [2]. A drive to proliferate through mutations leading to increased active RAS has been demonstrated in many MDS/MPN cases (inactivating ATM mutations; activating RAS, *PTPN1*, and *NF-1* mutations) [2], yet the cases also share morphology and cytogenetic abnormalities with MDS. In a possibly informative clinical scenario, septic patients with MDS may develop a reversible leukemoid reaction, often with monocytosis and mimicking CMML (apparently due to a physiologic proliferative drive superimposed on MDS); with successful treatment of sepsis patients revert to MDS. A second example of this possibility, patients with MDS with ring sideroblasts that progress to MDS/ MPN with thrombocytosis often have coincidental acquisition of an activating JAK2 mutation [2, 169]. Thus, while available data suggest that acquisition of both a drive to proliferate and a block of differentiation may contribute to MDS progression, and both are necessary for progression to AML-MRC, neither represents the underlying pathogenesis of MDS. The most tenable hypothesis is that the underlying pathogenic abnormality of high-grade MDS is its mutator phenotype, which causes random genetic damage, including in some cases acquisition of a drive to proliferate, with resultant progression to AML-MRC [46, 48].

While high-grade MDS is a mutator phenotype, at least some low-grade MDS is not. Both MDS with isolated del(5q) and MDS with ring sideroblasts (MDS-RS), especially cases with SF3B1 mutation, if defined stringently using WHO criteria, have very low rates of progression to AML with survival approaching agematched peers [169–171]. While 5q– is one of the most common cytogenetic abnormalities in MDS, in most cases secondary to an underlying mutator phenotype, the specific subtype of MDS with isolated del(5q) may represent emergence of a 5q- clone with an associated clonal survival advantage, but a stable biologic state with no underlying mutator phenotype. MDS-RS defined as mostly unilineage erythroid abnormalities and the presence of mutations in the spliceosome gene SF3B1, may have a similar pathogenesis with additional superimposed consequences of mitochondrial damage due to iron loading [171, 172].

Progression of MDS to AML-MRC does not represent a continuum, but rather stepwise acquisition of specific genetic events is required for transformation and should equate with a rapid rate of accumulation of primitive precursors (blasts) in the marrow, differing qualitatively from MDS [46, 48] (Fig. 2.9). Thus, separation of MDS and AML-MRC often requires clinical-pathological judgment; it should be based on evidence of transformation with a distinct change in the rate of accumulation and the percentage of blasts, not



just on a marrow blast % rising slowly above an arbitrary threshold (whether 20% or 30%). While it is safe to assume that a high marrow blast % (>40-50%) represents transformation to AML-MRC, lower levels require clinical interpretation as to whether the patient's disease has shifted from primary marrow failure to proliferating blasts. If initial data are inconclusive, a repeat marrow examination after an interval may clarify whether the basic disease process has changed from one of marrow failure (MDS) to a proliferative state (AML) (Fig. 2.9). As our knowledge of these diseases increases, separation of MDS and AML-MRC may eventually include demonstration of specific genetic events leading to transformation [46, 48]. Finally, this perspective should not be interpreted to mean that MDS with a high blast % is a favorable disease; it is lethal with short median survival, but lacking transformation is resistant to cytotoxic chemotherapy.

2.5.5 AML with Myelodysplasia-Related Changes

AML with myelodysplasia-related changes (AML-MRC) is diagnosed when AML is pre-

ceded by MDS or MDS/MPN, there is an MDSrelated cytogenetic abnormality, and/or there is otherwise unexplained multilineage morphologic dysplasia (Table 2.1). There should be no history of prior exposure to cytotoxic drugs or radiation therapy (which define therapy-related AML), and genetic abnormalities that define AML-RGA subtypes must be absent [2]. AML-MRC differs biologically and clinically from AML-RGA. Patients who fulfill criteria for AML-MRC can present clinically as "de novo" disease, in the sense of no prior diagnosed clinical abnormality, but with clinical, epidemiologic, genetic, treatment response, and prognosis data similar to other AML-MRC cases [45, 126]. It is reasonable to postulate that most clinically "de-novo" cases of AML-MRC have prior subclinical marrow disease only coming to medical attention at the time of progression to AML.

AML-MRC occurs most commonly in elderly patients, comprising the majority of AML cases beyond age of 60 years. It occurs at low frequency in children and young adults, with increasing incidence with age giving an exponential incidence curve for AML as a whole (Fig. 2.3). The exponential incidence curve of AML-MRC suggests several random events are required for transformation in this set of AML.

AML-MRC is characterized by a series of cytogenetic changes shared with MDS. Despite extended efforts, the genes affected and the biologic impact of these cytogenetic changes (e.g., -7, 5q-, +8, 20q-, +21) remain incompletely understood. In most cases, these cytogenetic changes appear to be related to progression of MDS, rather than its initiation, as they are absent in up to 60% of MDS cases at presentation. AML-MRC also shares a subset of gene mutations with MDS [173, 174]. Recent NGS studies have found that mutations in a subset of spliceosome and chromatin modification genes are highly specific for AML-MRC. Similar genetic analyses may allow more precise definition of these diseases in the future [45, 175]. TP53 mutations, which are also more frequent in secondary AML and MDS, usually associate with complex karyotypes and predict poor survival [176]. Some of these genetic abnormalities are now the target of specific treatment strategies (e.g. IDH1/2 mutations, FLT3-ITD, TP53 mutations) [43, 177].

Unlike AML-RGA, AML-MRC lacks clearly defined syndromes with specific morphologic, cytogenetic, or molecular genetic signatures. The genetic abnormalities cited above that have directed therapy lack specific morphologic or cytogenetic features to characterize them, short of molecular genetic identification. As discussed previously, some subtypes of AML currently placed debatably in WHO AML-RGA [AML with mutated NPM1, AML with inv(3) or t(3;3)] share features with AML-MRC.

2.5.6 AML, Not Otherwise Specified (the Historical Approach to AML Classification)

For much of the twentieth-century classification of AML was based on how leukemic blasts recapitulate normal hematopoiesis. Classification depended upon whether blasts in a given case had the appearance of myeloblasts, monoblasts, megakaryoblasts, promyelocytes, or erythro-

blasts and whether they appeared minimally, moderately, or well differentiated. This approach was formalized by the French-American-British (FAB) working group in a series of papers beginning in 1976, allowing analysis of its relevance. In the FAB classification, M0 designates AML with minimal morphologic or cytochemical differentiation, M1-2 AML with minimal or modergranulocytic differentiation, M3 acute ate promyelocytic leukemia (APL), M4 AML with mixed myelomonocytic differentiation, M5a and M5b monoblastic leukemia with minimal or moderate differentiation, M6a myeloid leukemia with dysplastic background erythropoiesis, M6b acute erythroblastic leukemia, and M7 acute megakaryoblastic leukemia. Unfortunately, subsequent analyses showed a general lack of clinical and biological relevance to this approach. Analysis of 5848 patients with newly diagnosed AML demonstrated that when data on NPM1 and CEBPA mutations was available, the FAB classification added no further prognostic information [178]. The approach remains a useful shorthand descriptor of myeloblast morphology. The FAB categories are substantially retained in the WHO classification under the heading of AML, NOS (Table 2.1). AML, NOS was originally included for use in cases where cytogenetic and molecular data are not available for classification, as in developing countries where access to laboratories performing these tests is limited. This was controversial as these categories lack clear biologic and clinical relevance, and there is an ever-diminishing number of newly diagnosed AML cases that cannot be subclassified in other categories (Fig. 2.2). Despite these limitations, it is useful to revisit several categories that have unique morphologic or clinical presentations.

AML with Monocytic Differentiation: AML with monocytic differentiation may arise as AML-RGA, AML-MRC, or from a precedent chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMML). In the latter case, there may be progressive variation in the percentages of monocytes, promonocytes, and monoblasts over time, creating difficulty in determining when to call progression to AML. Monocytic precursors may not have distinctive immaturity markers by flow cytometry, so morphologic review of the peripheral blood and bone marrow aspirate, and morphologic and immunohistochemical examination of the bone marrow biopsy/particle, are critical to the final designation of AML. In the peripheral blood and bone marrow aspirate, there may be a mixture of monocytes and monocytic precursors with varying maturity. Mature monocytes usually have irregular indented nuclei and abundant cytoplasm with pseudopods and cytoplasmic vacuoles. Promonocytes have delicate nuclear folds that one can see through, more immature chromatin, and blue cytoplasm which is more circumscribed than the mature monocyte (Fig. 2.10). These are considered "blast equivalents" in the calculation of the percentage of immature cells in the blood or bone marrow

aspirate [2]. Finally, monoblasts have immature "ground glass" chromatin, nucleoli, folded nuclei, and variable amounts of cytoplasm, but usually with an increased nuclear:cytoplasmic (N:C) ratio (Fig. 2.10). Monoblasts are often negative for the immaturity markers CD34 and CD117. On aspirate and peripheral smears, cytochemical stains are occasionally performed to identify blasts as monocytic; alpha naphthyl esterase staining will stain cytoplasmic granules in monocytic cells; this stain is markedly reduced with fluoride treatment. Immunohistochemistry performed on the bone marrow biopsy/particle may include antibodies to MPO (negative in most monoblasts) and lysozyme (positive in monocytic cells, but not specific to monoblasts).



Fig. 2.10 AML with monocytic differentiation (peripheral blood smear stained with Wright's stain at 1000x original magnification). Mature monocytes usually have irregular indented nuclei and abundant cytoplasm with cytoplasmic vacuoles (cells in the top right indicated with black arrowheads). Promonocytes have delicate nuclear folds that one can see through, more immature chromatin, and variable amount of pale blue cytoplasm (a row of cells in the middle-left indicated with black arrows). These are considered "blast equivalents" in the

calculation of the percentage of immature cells. Monoblasts (cells in the middle right and lower left indicated with red arrows) have immature "ground glass" chromatin, occasionally folded nuclei, variably prominent nucleoli, and an increased N:C ratio. Due to continuous morphologic spectrum of these monocytic cells, the recognition and enumeration of the promonocytes may be difficult and somewhat subjective especially in situations where smear and staining quality are less than optimal

Acute Erythroid Leukemia: Acute erythroid leukemia in the current WHO classification is limited to what was previously called "pure" erythroleukemia, FAB M6b, or Di Guglielmo's leukemia. It is rare and is defined as a neoplastic proliferation of immature precursors of the erythroid lineage where 80% of bone marrow cells are erythroid, with $\geq 30\%$ proerythroblasts and no myeloblast population [2]. Blasts have morphologic features of proerythroblasts: large round nuclei with multiple nucleoli, deep basophilic cytoplasm, and cytoplasmic vacuoles. Immature chromatin and the cytoplasmic vacuoles are the main features that distinguish neoplastic from normal proerythroblasts. The vacuoles are often positive on a PAS cytochemical stain performed on an aspirate smear. On bone marrow biopsy/ particle sections, immunohistochemistry using antibodies for E-cadherin and CD71 is recommended. Some morphologic features are shared with acute megakaryoblastic leukemia; however, the main differential to be aware of is similarity to benign conditions such as erythroid hyperplasia in response to erythroid growth factor or associated with megaloblastic anemia. A common clinical feature is profound anemia. Cytogenetic studies usually indicate a complex karyotype [2], which corresponds to the prevalence of TP53 mutations in this leukemia [179].

Acute Megakaryoblastic Leukemia: Acute megakaryoblastic leukemia, also rare, is defined as an acute leukemia with greater than 20% blasts, greater than 50% of which are megakaryocytic in lineage. This category excludes cases of AML with myelodysplasia-related changes or therapy-related AML and also does not include cases with the recurrent cytogenetic abnormalities t(1;22) (p13.3;q13.1) and inv3(q21.3q26.2), or t(3;3)(q21.3;q26.2). Each of these leukemias with recurrent cytogenetic abnormalities are listed separately in the WHO classification [2]. Here we will mention general characteristics of megakaryocytic blasts. Megakaryoblasts are medium to large blasts with a high N:C ratio and basophilic cytoplasm which often has characteristic cytoplasmic blebs. On the aspirate smear and tissue sections, megakaryoblasts may form cohesive clusters and therefore may easily be

mistaken for carcinoma, if marrow material is limited. Careful search of the peripheral smear for blasts may be helpful in this differential diagnosis. On the aspirate smear, alpha naphthyl acetate esterase stains megakaryoblasts and, in contrast to monocytic cells, is not quenched by fluoride. Immunohistochemistry with megakaryocyte-specific antibodies, including CD42b and CD61, is recommended, although these markers may be negative in poorly differentiated megakaryoblasts. Often the marrow is markedly fibrotic, resulting in hypocellular aspirate smears and compromising diagnosis.

A unique setting of acute megakaryoblastic leukemia is in the context of Down syndrome. Children with Down syndrome have a markedly increased incidence of acute myeloid leukemia, and over 50% of cases have megakaryoblastic differentiation (discussed in more detail below).

2.5.7 Therapy-Related AML

Therapy-related AML (t-AML) is classified within a distinct WHO category of therapyrelated myeloid neoplasms (t-MN) which also includes therapy-related MDS (t-MDS) [2]. This is a distinct and well-recognized clinical syndrome which occurs as a late complication of cytotoxic chemotherapy for a primary neoplastic or non-neoplastic process [180, 181]. The incidence of t-AML is approximately 7% but is currently rising due to an increasing number of cancer survivors at risk [182–184]. There are two major biologic classes of t-AML (Table 2.2) (reviewed in [185]). The more common class is associated with prior exposure to alkylating agents and/or radiation therapy and occurs typically after 5-7 years. This type is usually preceded by an MDS phase and is associated with MDS type cytogenetic changes including abnormalities of chromosomes 5 and 7, complex karyotype and high frequency of TP53 mutations. t-AML in general is associated with more adverse genetic lesions, and TP53 may be the most commonly mutated gene in t-MDS and t-AML [186]. t-AML after therapy with topoisomerase II inhibitors has a shorter latency,

occurring 1–3 years after the exposure, typically with no antecedent MDS, and is associated with balanced translocations frequently involving KMT2A (MLL) at 11q23, RUNX1 at 21q22 and other balanced translocations including PML/ *RARA*. The precise distinction between these two classes may not always be possible or practical due to the use of multi-agent chemotherapy often in combination with radiation therapy. Genetically and phenotypically, these two classes of t-AML resemble AML-MRC and AML-RGA, respectively, with no distinctive genomic patterns that are specific for t-AML [45, 185]. Some recent studies have identified increased prevalence of CHIP, including mutations in the TP53 pathway, in patients who eventually develop t-AML after treatment for other malignancy, suggesting that the hematopoietic progenitor cells with mutations in the TP53 pathway may undergo selective unrepaired damage by chemotherapy, eventually leading to t-AML [185, 187]. In addition, some cases of t-AML have been shown to be associated with germline mutations in cancer susceptibility genes involving DNA damage response pathways such as BRCA1, BRCA2, TP53, and CHEK2 [185, 188, 189]. The overall prognosis of patients with t-AML is poor, mainly due to consequences of prior therapy for the primary disease and to enrichment of this type of AML with adverse disease-related features.

2.5.8 Germline Predisposition to AML

The expanding availability of detailed molecular data in AML, and its integration with clinical and laboratory data, has led to recognition of predisposing germline mutations in a growing number of genes in patients with AML and other myeloid disorders [190]. Although these cases are currently considered to be rare, as more data accumulate, these neoplasms may be found to be more common than currently appreciated. As with myeloid disorders occurring in inherited syndromes associated with DNA damage (e.g., Fanconi anemia, dyskeratosis congenita), the recognition of these newly characterized autosomal dominant disorders arising from germline mutations will be essential for proper clinical management, long-term follow-up, and genetic counseling [191, 192]. Some of these patients may present with AML or MDS with no prior history of significant organ dysfunction or preexisting hematologic disorder, as seen in myeloid neoplasms associated with germline mutations in CEBPA or DDX41. Other patients may present with a pre-existing platelet disorder (e.g. mutations in RUNX1, ANKRD26 or ETV6) [2]. Still others may present with additional nonhematological phenotypic abnormalities (e.g., germline GATA2 mutation, inherited marrow failure disorders) [193]. Given the important clinical management considerations including donor selection for allogeneic stem cell transplantation, it is critical to distinguish diseases arising because of germline predisposition from those arising spontaneously or secondary to chemical or environmental exposures. Targeted myeloid gene sequencing panels are increasingly utilized as part of the routine diagnostic work up of AML and MDS cases. These panels include increasing numbers of known genes associated with germline predisposition syndromes. Types of mutations and mutant allele frequencies, in a context of a patient's clinical and family history, may raise suspicion of a germline predisposition, with a recommendation for confirmatory germline testing. An illustration of this is AML with germline CEBPA mutation. In these cases, the CEBPA mutation is biallelic with the germline mutation usually found in the 5' end of one allele and a somatic mutation at the 3' end of the other allele [120, 194]. Therefore, when a patient presents with a new diagnosis of AML with biallelic CEBPA mutations, testing should be undertaken to rule out a germline mutation, which if present would result in reclassification of the case, alter the clinical management of the patient, and lead to genetic counseling. A similar example is diagnosis of AML with mutation in RUNX1 at high variant allele frequency (close to 50%, implying a constitutional abnormality), with similar consequences to the discussion of CEBPA.

2.5.9 Myeloid Leukemia Associated with Down Syndrome [195]

An unusual form of AML and MDS occurs with high frequency in children with Down syndrome (DS) under 4 years of age. The two are lumped together in the WHO classification as myeloid leukemia associated with Down syndrome (DS AML) because of similar excellent responses to chemotherapy, differing markedly from AML and MDS in non-DS children. The incidence of this set of disease is approximately 300-400 times that of MDS and AML variants in non-DS children. There is no increase in the incidence of standard non-DS AML and MDS in DS patients. DS AML may be preceded by transient abnormal myelopoiesis (TAM) in the neonatal period. TAM and DS AML both have a high frequency of mutations of GATA1, of interest since GATA1 protein mediates differentiation of erythroid and megakaryocytic precursors. About one third of TAM patients later develop DS AML; these patients usually have the same GATA1 mutation as was present with TAM. Both MDS and AML in DS patients have unusual and characteristic features which appear to correspond to disruption of function of GATA1. Patients typically present with peripheral cytopenias and/or circulating or increased marrow blasts. Dysplasia is present and essentially restricted to erythroid and megakaryocytic precursors. Erythroids demonstrate megaloblastoid change and frequent hyperplasia. Megakaryocytes demonstrate hyperplasia, clustering, and hypolobate, often multiple nuclei, frequently including unusual morphology (peripherally displaced nuclei and a large central cytoplasmic inclusion giving the megakaryocyte the appearance of a Touton giant cell, or in smaller cells signet-like morphology) [195]. In AML cases, and if blasts are increased in MDS cases, blast lineage is most frequently megakaryoblastic, but erythroblastic, mixed erythroblastic/megakaryoblastic, and undifferentiated cases also occur [195]. Clinical evaluation is similar to that followed in non-DS cases, to include examination of peripheral blood and bone marrow samples, including blast characterization by IHC and flow cytometry. Blasts have a

characteristic antigen expression pattern, with a near 100% frequency of positivity for CD33, CD117, CD38, and CD7, lower frequencies for CD13 and CD34, and variable expression of sublineage antigens depending on blast differentiation (CD41, CD61, and CD42b for megakaryocytic differentiation; CD36, CD71, and glycophorin A for erythroid differentiation). In 10% of DS AML cases, blasts are undifferentiated, lacking sublineage differentiation markers. Cases demonstrating significant myeloid dysplasia or myeloid blast differentiation may represent infrequent cases of standard non-DS AML. Given the expected ratio of DS to non-DS AML in DS patients, such cases should be reviewed by an experienced hematopathologist. With cytogenetic testing patients by definition must have constitutional +21 or mosaic +21. Additional abnormalities such as +8 are seen, but do not appear to affect prognosis. Presence of translocations typical of childhood AML in non-DS patients are not seen; such karyotypes may indicate that standard non-DS type disease should be confirmed by FISH testing and should be reviewed by an expert cytogeneticist. MRD testing in follow-up samples may be beneficial for predicting outcome. While GATA1 mutations are usually present, such information is not required for clinical purposes, and comprehensive testing is difficult as mutations are not localized and require extensive sequencing not currently feasible in clinical laboratories. Other mutations have been demonstrated with advances in molecular testing, but no clinical significance has been shown. After 4 years of age, the incidence of MDS and AML in DS patients decreases markedly (to the approximate level of disease in non-DS children), patients lack GATA1 mutations, usual subtypes of childhood disease become prevalent, and prognosis reverts to that of standard non-DS disease.

2.6 Summary

An array of testing to include morphology, flow cytometric immunophenotyping, cytogenetics, and increasingly molecular genetics is necessary

Risk profile	Genetic abnormality	Other mutations
Favorable	t(8;21)(q22;q22.1); <i>RUNX1-RUNX1T1</i> inv(16)(p13.1;q22) <i>or</i> t(16;16)(p13.1;q22); <i>CBFB-MYH11</i> Mutated <i>NPM1</i> without <i>FLT3</i> -ITD or with <i>FLT3</i> - ITD ^{Iow b} Biallelic mutated <i>CEBPA</i>	Any mutation or combination thereof not classified as intermediate or adverse
Intermediate	Mutated <i>NPM1</i> and <i>FLT3</i> -ITD ^{high b} Wild-type <i>NPM1</i> without <i>FLT3</i> -ITD or with <i>FLT3</i> -ITD ^{low b} (without adverse-risk genetic lesions) t(9;11);(p21.3;q23.3); <i>MLLT3-KMT2A(MLL)</i> Cytogenetic abnormality not classified as favorable or adverse	Any mutation or combination thereof not classified as favorable or adverse
Adverse	t(6;9);(p23;q34.1); <i>DEK-NUP214</i> t(v;11q23.3); <i>KMT2A</i> (<i>MLL</i>) rearranged t(9;22)(q34.1;q11.2); <i>BCR-ABL1</i> inv(3)(q21.3q26.2 or t(3;3)(q21.3;q26.2); <i>GATA2,MECOM(EVI1)</i> -5 or del(5q); -7 ; $-17/abn(17p)Complex karyotype, monosomal karyotypeaWild-type NPM1 and FLT3-ITDhigh bMutated RUNX1Mutated ASXL1Mutated TP53$	Any mutation or combination thereof not classified as favorable or intermediate

Table 2.3 Risk groups in adult AML based on cytogenetic and molecular analysis

Adapted from Dohner, H., Estey, E., Grimwade, D. et al. (2017). "Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel." *Blood* 129(4): 424–447

^aComplex karyotype defined as three or more unrelated chromosome abnormalities in the absence of one of the WHOdesignated recurring translocations or inversions. Monosomal karyotype defined by the presence of one single monosomy (excluding loss of X or Y) in association with at least one additional monosomy or structural chromosome abnormality (excluding core-binding factor AML) [196]

^bLow, low allelic ratio (<0.5); high, high allelic ratio (>0.5); semiquantitative assessment of *FLT3*-ITD allelic ratio (using DNA fragment analysis) is determined as ratio of the area under the curve "*FLT3*-ITD" divided by area under the curve "*FLT3*-wild-type"; recent studies indicate that AML with *NPM1* mutation and *FLT3*-ITD low allelic ratio may also have a more favorable prognosis [197–199]

to diagnose and subclassify AML as well as assign the patients into clinically meaningful risk categories (Table 2.3). Careful attention is required to assure an adequate sample is obtained at diagnosis to accomplish this array of testing. Expanding knowledge of the genetic basis of AML will continue to complicate diagnostic requirements and classification, as increased understanding of biology progresses to therapy directed at specific genetic targets in AML. The most important diagnostic and classification issues are:

- Distinction of AML-RGA from AML-MRC (because of the fundamental biologic differences in the two sets of disease).
- Recognition of specific molecular/genetic subsets of disease amenable to targeted ther-

apy (e.g., currently AML with *PML-RARA*; AML with *IDH1/2*, *FLT3*-ITD, or *TP53* mutations).

- Recognition of specific molecular/genetic subsets of disease requiring specific prognostication-driven treatment strategies (CBF AML, AML with mutated NPM1, AML with biallelic CEBPA mutation, AML with TP53 mutation).
- Recognition of specific molecular/genetic subsets of disease requiring possible genetic counseling (AML with germline predisposition).

Accumulating molecular genetic data generated by NGS-based and other technologies will continue to refine our understanding of the biology of AML, provide novel insights into its pathogenesis, lead to new treatments for subsets of disease, and require an expanding array of laboratory testing. Incorporation of these developments into AML classification will be challenging and may eventually lead to fundamental revisions of AML classification [23, 45, 200-202]. The need for monitoring early response by MRD assessment with adjustment of treatment will require improvements in flow cytometry and/or application of molecular approaches such as NGS-based methods. A role for long-term monitoring of MRD remains to be established, except in APL. There remains a need for better understanding of the pathogenesis of MDS and AML-MRC, as we currently lack precise diagnostic methods and treatments for most patients with these entities outside of allogeneic stem cell transplantation.

References

- 1. Head DR. Revised classification of acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. 1996;10(11):1826–31.
- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, et al. In: Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, et al., editors. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Revised 4th edn. Lyon, France: IARC Press; 2017.
- Korkmaz S. The management of hyperleukocytosis in 2017: do we still need leukapheresis? Transfus Apher Sci. 2018;57(1):4–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.transci.2018.02.006.
- Rollig C, Ehninger G. How I treat hyperleukocytosis in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2015;125(21):3246–52. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2014-10-551507.
- Mantha S, Tallman MS, Soff GA. What's new in the pathogenesis of the coagulopathy in acute promyelocytic leukemia? Curr Opin Hematol. 2016;23(2):121–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MOH.00000000000221.
- Byrd JC, Weiss RB, Arthur DC, et al. Extramedullary leukemia adversely affects hematologic complete remission rate and overall survival in patients with t(8;21)(q22;q22): results from Cancer and Leukemia Group B 8461. J Clin Oncol. 1997; https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.1997.15.2.466.
- Rubnitz JE, Raimondi SC, Halbert AR, et al. Characteristics and outcome of t(8;21)-positive childhood acute myeloid leukemia: a single institution's experience. Leukemia. 2002;16(10):2072–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2402633.

- Pileri SA, Ascani S, Cox MC, et al. Myeloid sarcoma: clinico-pathologic, phenotypic and cytogenetic analysis of 92 adult patients. Leukemia. 2007;21(2):340–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.leu.2404491.
- Kawamoto K, Miyoshi H, Yoshida N, Takizawa J, Sone H, Ohshima K. Clinicopathological, cytogenetic, and prognostic analysis of 131 myeloid sarcoma patients. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(11):1473–83. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAS.000000000000727.
- Wilson CS, Medeiros LJ. Extramedullary manifestations of myeloid neoplasms. Am J Clin Pathol. 2015;144(2):219–39. https://doi.org/10.1309/ AJCPO58YWIBUBESX.
- Cronin DM, George TI, Reichard KK, Sundram UN. Immunophenotypic analysis of myeloperoxidase-negative leukemia cutis and blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasm. Am J Clin Pathol. 2012;137(3):367–76. https://doi. org/10.1309/AJCP9IS9KFSVWKGH.
- Sangle NA, Schmidt RL, Patel JL, et al. Optimized immunohistochemical panel to differentiate myeloid sarcoma from blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasm. Mod Pathol. 2014;27(8):1137–43. https:// doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2013.238.
- Cheng H, Yang Y, Dai W, et al. Acute leukemia presenting with blasts first found in the cerebrospinal fluid but not in the peripheral blood. J Clin Neurosci. 2010;17(10):1252–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jocn.2010.02.013.
- Keyhani A, Huh YO, Jendiroba D, et al. Increased CD38 expression is associated with favorable prognosis in adult acute leukemia. Leuk Res. 2000; https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-2126(99)00147-2.
- Dunphy CH. Applications of flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry to diagnostic hematopathology. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2004; https://doi. org/10.1043/1543-2165(2004)128<1004:AOFCAI> 2.0.CO;2.
- Hayden PJ, O'Connell NM, O'Brien DA, O'Rourke P, Lawlor E, Browne PV. The value of autofluorescence as a diagnostic feature of acute promyelocytic leukemia. Haematologica. 2006;91(3):417-418.
- Mason EF, Kuo FC, Hasserjian RP, Seegmiller AC, Pozdnyakova O. A distinct immunophenotype identifies a subset of NPM1-mutated AML with TET2 or IDH1/2 mutations and improved outcome. Am J Hematol. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.25018.
- Liu Yin JA, O'Brien MA, Hills RK, Daly SB, Wheatley K, Burnett AK. Minimal residual disease monitoring by quantitative RT-PCR in core binding factor AML allows risk stratification and predicts relapse: results of the United Kingdom MRC AML-15 trial. Blood. 2012; https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2012-06-435669.
- Ravandi F, Walter RB, Freeman SD. Evaluating measurable residual disease in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood Adv. 2018;2(11):1356–66. https://doi. org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2018016378.

- 20. Gale RE, Green C, Allen C, et al. The impact of FLT3 internal tandem duplication mutant level, number, size, and interaction with NPM1 mutations in a large cohort of young adult patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2008; https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2007-08-109090.
- Scholl S, Theuer C, Scheble V, et al. Clinical impact of nucleophosmin mutations and Flt3 internal tandem duplications in patients older than 60 yr with acute myeloid leukaemia. Eur J Haematol. 2008; https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0609.2007. 01019.x.
- Patel JP, Gonen M, Figueroa ME, et al. Prognostic relevance of integrated genetic profiling in acute myeloid leukemia. NEJM. 2012;366:1079–89.
- Papaemmanuil E, Gerstung M, Bullinger L, et al. Genomic classification and prognosis in acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(23):2209–21. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1516192.
- 24. et al. Tallman MS, Wang ES, Altman JK, Acute myeloid leukemia, version 3.2019, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2019; https://doi.org/10.6004/ jnccn.2019.0028.
- DiNardo CD, Stein EM, De Botton S, et al. Durable remissions with ivosidenib in IDH1-mutated relapsed or refractory AML. N Engl J Med. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1716984.
- Stein EM, DiNardo CD, Pollyea DA, et al. Enasidenib in mutant IDH2 relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017; https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2017-04-779405.
- 27. Perl AE, Martinelli G, Cortes JE et al. Gilteritinib significantly prolongs overall survival in patients with FLT3-mutated (FLT3mut+) relapsed/refractory (R/R) acute myeloid leukemia (AML): results from the Phase III ADMIRAL trial. In AACR annual meeting abstracts; abstract CTPL04. 2019.
- Theunissen P, Mejstrikova E, Sedek L, et al. Standardized flow cytometry for highly sensitive MRD measurements in B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2016-07-726307.
- Berry DA, Zhou S, Higley H, et al. Association of minimal residual disease with clinical outcome in pediatric and adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2017; https://doi. org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.0580.
- Paietta E. Consensus on MRD in AML? Blood. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2018-01-828145.
- Schuurhuis GJ, Heuser M, Freeman S, et al. Minimal/ measurable residual disease in AML: a consensus document from the European LeukemiaNet MRD Working Party. Blood. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2017-09-801498.
- Ivey A, Hills RK, Simpson MA, et al. Assessment of minimal residual disease in standard-risk AML. N Engl J Med. 2016; https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1507471.

- 33. Höllein A, Meggendorfer M, Dicker F, et al. NPM1 mutated AML can relapse with wild-type NPM1: persistent clonal hematopoiesis can drive relapse. Blood Adv. 2018;2(22):3118–25. https://doi. org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2018023432.
- 34. Herold T, Schneider S, Metzeler KH, et al. Adults with Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia frequently have IGH-CRLF2 and JAK2 mutations, persistence of minimal residual disease and poor prognosis. Haematologica. 2017;102(1):130–8. https://doi.org/10.3324/ haematol.2015.136366.
- 35. Wood B, Wu D, Crossley B, et al. Measurable residual disease detection by high-throughput sequencing improves risk stratification for pediatric B-ALL. Blood. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2017-09-806521.
- Jongen-Lavrencic M, Grob T, Hanekamp D, et al. Molecular minimal residual disease in acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(13):1189–99. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1716863.
- 37. Freeman SD, Hills RK, Virgo P, et al. Measurable residual disease at induction redefines partial response in acute myeloid leukemia and stratifies outcomes in patients at standard risk without NPM1 mutations. J Clin Oncol. 2018; https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2017.76.3425.
- 38. Balsat M, Renneville A, Thomas X, et al. Postinduction minimal residual disease predicts outcome and benefit from allogeneic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia with NPM1 mutation: a study by the acute leukemia French association group. J Clin Oncol. 2017; https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2016.67.1875.
- 39. Anthias C, Dignan FL, Morilla R, et al. Pre-transplant MRD predicts outcome following reduced-intensity and myeloablative allogeneic hemopoietic SCT in AML. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2014;49(5):679– 83. https://doi.org/10.1038/bmt.2014.9.
- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, et al. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. 4th ed. Lyon, France: IARC Press; 2008.
- 41. Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, et al. In: Jaffe ES, Harris NL, Stein H, Vardiman JW, editors. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Lyon, France: IARC Press; 2001.
- Grimwade D, Ivey A, Huntly BJP. Molecular landscape of acute myeloid leukemia in younger adults and its clinical relevance. Blood. 2016;127(1):29– 41. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-07-604496.
- 43. Dohner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129(4):424–47. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2016-08-733196.
- 44. Sandoval C, Pui CH, Bowman LC, et al. Secondary acute myeloid leukemia in children previously treated with alkylating agents, intercalating topoisomerase II inhibitors, and irradiation. J Clin Oncol.

1993;11(6):1039–45. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.1993.11.6.1039.

- 45. Lindsley RC, Mar BG, Mazzola E, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia ontogeny is defined by distinct somatic mutations. Blood. 2015;125(9):1367–76. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-11-610543.
- 46. Flach J, Dicker F, Schnittger S, et al. An accumulation of cytogenetic and molecular genetic events characterizes the progression from MDS to secondary AML: an analysis of 38 paired samples analyzed by cytogenetics, molecular mutation analysis and SNP microarray profiling. Leuk Off J Leuk Soc Am Leuk Res Fund UK. 2011;25(4):713–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2010.304.
- Walter MJ, Shen D, Ding L, Shao J, et al. Clonal architecture of secondary acute myeloid leukemia. NEJM. 2012;366:1090–8.
- Chen J, Kao YR, Sun D, et al. Myelodysplastic syndrome progression to acute myeloid leukemia at the stem cell level. Nat Med. 2019;25(1):103–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0267-4.
- 49. Borrow J, Shearman AM, Stanton VPJ, et al. The t(7;11)(p15;p15) translocation in acute myeloid leukaemia fuses the genes for nucleoporin NUP98 and class I homeoprotein HOXA9. Nat Genet. 1996;12:159.
- de The H, Chomienne C, Lanotte M, et al. The t(15;17) translocation of acute promyelocytic leukaemia fuses the retinoic acid receptor a gene to a novel transcribed locus. Nature. 1990;347:558–61.
- Longo L, Pandolfi PP, Biondi A, et al. Rearrangements and aberrant expression of the RARa gene in acute promyelocytic leukemia. J Exp Med. 1990;172:1571–5.
- Huang ME, Ye YC, Chen SR, et al. Use of all trans retinoic acid in the treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia. Blood. 1988;72:567–72.
- Giguere V, Ong ES, Segui P, Evans RM. Identification of a receptor for the morphogen retinoic acid. Nature. 1987;330(6149):624–9. https:// doi.org/10.1038/330624a0.
- Borrow J, Goddard AD, Sheer D, et al. Molecular analysis of acute promyelocytic leukemia breakpoint cluster region on chromosome 17. Science. 1990;249:1577–80.
- 55. Geng JP, Tong JH, Dong S, Wang ZY, Chen SJ, et al. Localization of the chromosome 15 breakpoints and expression of multiple PML-RAR alpha transcripts in acute promyelocytic leukemia: a study of 28 Chinese patients. Leukemia. 1993;7:20–6.
- Schulman IG, Juguilon H, Evans RM. Activation and repression by nuclear hormone receptors--hormone modulates an equilibrium between active and repressive states. Mol Cell Biol. 1996;16:3807.
- Melnick A, Licht JD. Deconstructing a disease: RARa, its fusion partners, and their roles in the pathogenesis of acute promyelocytic leukemia. Blood. 1999;93:3167–215.
- 58. Lin RJ, Nagy L, Inoue S, Shao W, Miller WHJ, Evans RM. Role of the histone deacetylase com-

plex in acute promyelocityic leukemia. Nature. 1998;391:811.

- Licht J, Chomienne C, Goy A, et al. Clinical and molecular characterization of a rare syndrome of acute promyelocytic leukemia associated with translocation (11;17). Blood. 1995;85:1083.
- Tsai S, Collins SJ. A dominant negative retinoic acid receptor blocks neutrophil differentiation at the promyelocyte stage. PNAS. 1993;90:7153.
- Guidez F, Ivins S, Zhu J, Soderstrom M, Waxman S, Zelent A. Reduced retinoic acid-sensitivities of nuclear receptor co-repressor binding to PML-and PLZF-RARa underlie molecular pathogenesis and treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia. Blood. 1998;91:2634.
- 62. Redner RL, Rush EA, Faas S, Rudert WA, Corey SJ. The t(5;17) variant of acute promyelocytic leukemia expresses a nucleophosmin-retinoic acid receptor fusion. Blood. 1996;87:882.
- Wells RA, Catzavelos C, Kamel-Reid S. Fusion of retinoic acid receptor alpha to NuMA, the mitotic apparatus protein, by a variant translocation in acute promyelocytic leukaemia. Nat Genet. 1997;17:109.
- Zhong S, Muller S, Ronchetti S, et al. Role of SUMO-1-modified PML in nuclear body foramtion. Blood. 2000;95:2748–52.
- 65. Doucas V, Tini M, Egan DA, et al. Modulation of CREB binding protein function by the promyelocytic (PML) oncoprotein suggests a role for nuclear bodies in hormone signaling. PNAS. 1999;96:2627–32.
- Weis K, et al. Retinoic acid regulates aberrant nuclear localization of PML-RARa in acute promyelocytic leukemia cells. Cell. 1994;76:345–56.
- 67. Madan V, Shyamsunder P, Han L, et al. Comprehensive mutational analysis of primary and relapse acute promyelocytic leukemia. Leukemia. 2016;30(8):1672–81. https://doi.org/10.1038/ leu.2016.69.
- Faber ZJ, Chen X, Gedman AL, et al. The genomic landscape of core-binding factor acute myeloid leukemias. Nat Genet. 2016;48(12):1551–6. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng.3709.
- 69. Erickson P, Gao J, Chang KS, et al. Identification of breakpoints in t(8;21) acute myelogenous leukemia and isolation of a fusion transcript, AML1/ETO, with similarity to Drosophila segmentation gene, runt. Blood. 1992;80:1825–31.
- Miyoshi H, Kozu T, Shimizu K, et al. The t(8;21) translocation in acute myeloid leukemia results in production of an AML1-MTG8 fusion transcript. EMBO J. 1993;12:2715–21.
- 71. Golemis EA, Speck NA, Hopkins N. Alignment of U3 region sequences of mammalian type C viruses: identification of highly conserved motifs and implications for enhancer design. J Virol. 1990;64(2):534–42. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dop t=Citation&list_uids=2153223.
- 72. Liu P, Tarle SA, Hajra A, et al. Fusion between transcription factor CBFbeta/PEBP2 beta and a myosin

heavy chain in acute myeloid leukemia. Science. 1993;261:1041-4.

- Frickson P, Robinson M, Owens G, Drabkin HA. The ETO portion of acute myeloid leukemia t(8;21) fusion transcript encodes a highly evolutionarily conserved, putative transcription factor. Cancer Res. 1994;54:1782–6.
- 74. Okuda T, van Deursen V, Hiebert SW, Grosveld G, Downing JR. AML1, the target of multiple chromosomal translocations in human leukemia, is essential for normal fetal liver hematopoiesis. Cell. 1996;84:321–30.
- Wang Q, Stacy T, Miller JD, et al. The CBFbeta subunit is essential for CBFalpha2 (AML1) function in vivo. Cell. 1996;87:697–708.
- North T, Gu TL, Stacdy T, et al. Cbfa2 is required for the formation of intra-aortic hematopoietic clusters. Development. 1999;126:2563–75.
- 77. Michaud J, Wu F, Osato M, et al. In vitro analyses of known and novel RUNX1/AML1 mutations in dominant familial platelet disorder with predisposition to acute myelogenous leukemia: implications for mechanisms of pathogenesis. Blood. 2002;99(4):1364–72. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dop t=Citation&list_uids=11830488.
- Osato M, et al. Biallelic and heterozygous point mutations in the runt domain of the AML1/ PEBP2alphaB gene associated with myeloblastic leukemias. Blood. 1999;93:1817–24.
- 79. Tahirov TH, Inoue-Bungo T, Morii H, et al. Structural analyses of DNA recognition by the AML1/Runx-1 Runt domain and its allosteric control by CBFbeta. Cell. 2001;104(5):755–67. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list_uids=11257229.
- 80. Meyers S, Downing JR, Hiebert SW. Identification of AML-1 and the (8;21) translocation protein (AML-1/ETO) as sequence-specific DNA-binding proteins: the runt homology domain is required for DNA binding and protein-protein interactions. Mol Cell Biol. 1993;13(10):6336–45. http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=P ubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=8413232.
- Frank R, Zhang J, Uchida H, Meyers S, Hiebert SW, Nimer SD. The AML1/ETO fusion protein blocks transactivation of the GM-CSF promoter by AML1B. Oncogene. 1995;11:2667–74.
- 82. Amann JM, Nip J, Strom D, et al. ETO, a target of t(8;21) in acute leukemia, makes distinct contacts with multiple histone deacetylases and binds mSin3A through its oligomerization domain. Mol Cell Biol. 2001;21:6470–83.
- 83. Linggi B, Muller-Tidow C, van de Locht L, Hu M, et al. The t(8;21) fusion protein, AML1-ETO, specifically represses the transcription of the p14ARF tumor suppressor in acute myeloid leukemia. Nat Med. 2002;8:743–50.
- Linggi BE, Brandt SJ, Sun ZW, Hiebert SW. Translating the histone code into leukemia. J

Cell Biochem. 2005;96(5):938–50. http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=P ubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=16167339.

- Zhang Y, Xiong Y, Yarbrough WG. ARF promotes MDM2 degradation and stabilizes p53: ARF-INK4a locus deletion impairs both the Rb and p53 tumor suppression pathways. Cell. 1998;92:725–34.
- Bain BJ, Bene MC. Morphological and Immunophenotypic clues to the WHO categories of acute myeloid Leukaemia. Acta Haematol. 2019;141(4):232–44. https://doi. org/10.1159/000496097.
- Durst KL, Lutterbach B, Kummalue T, Friedman AD, Hiebert SW. The inv(16) fusion protein associates with corepressors via a smooth muscle myosin heavy-chain domain. Mol Cell Biol. 2003;23:607–19.
- Song W-J, Sullivan MG, Legare RD, et al. Haploinsufficiency of CBFA2 causes familial thrombocytopenia with propensity to develop acute myelogenous leukaemia. Nat Genet. 1999;23:166–75.
- Duployez N, Marceau-Renaut A, Boissel N, et al. Comprehensive mutational profiling of core binding factor acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2016;127(20):2451–9. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2015-12-688705.
- Wiemels JL, Xiao Z, Buffler PA, et al. In utero origin of t(8;21) AML1-ETO translocations in childhood acute myeloid. Leukemia. 2002. www.bloodjournal. org. Accessed 22 July 2019.
- McHale CM. Prenatal origin of childhood acute myeloid leukemias harboring chromosomal rearrangements t(15;17) and inv(16). Blood. 2003;101(11):4640–1. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2003-01-0313.
- 92. Christen F, Hoyer K, Yoshida K, et al. Genomic landscape and clonal evolution of acute myeloid leukemia with t(8;21): an international study on 331 patients. Blood. 2019;133(10):1140–51. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2018-05-852822.
- Ingham PW. Trithroax and the regulation of homeotic gene expression in Drosophila: a historical perspective. Int J Dev Biol. 1998;42:423–9.
- Gehring WJ, Affolter M, Burglin T. Homeodomain proteins. Annu Rev Biochem. 1994;63:487–526.
- Krivtsov AV, Armstrong SA. MLL translocations, histone modifications and leukaemia stem-cell development. Nat Rev Cancer. 2007;7:823–33.
- Bernt KM, Zhu N, Sinha AU, et al. MLL-rearranged leukemia is dependent on aberrant H3K79 methylation by DOT1L. Cancer Cell. 2011;20:66–78.
- Chen C-W, Armstrong SA. Targeting DOT1L and HOX gene expression in MLL-rearranged leukemia and beyond. Exp Hematol. 2015;43(8):673–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EXPHEM.2015.05.012.
- Andersson AK, Ma J, Wang J, et al. The landscape of somatic mutations in infant MLL-rearranged acute lymphoblastic leukemias. Nat Genet. 2015;47(4):330–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3230.

- Mohan M, Lin C, Guest E, Shilatifard A. Licensed to elongate: a molecular mechanism for MLL-based leukaemogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2010;10:721–8.
- 100. Stein EM, Garcia-Manero G, Rizzieri DA, et al. The DOT1L inhibitor pinometostat reduces H3K79 methylation and has modest clinical activity in adult acute leukemia. Blood. 2018;131(24):2661–9. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-12-818948.
- Secker-Walker LM. General report on the European UnionConcerted Action Workshop on 11q23, U.K., May 1997. Leukemia. 1998;12:776–8.
- 102. Hunger SPO, Tkachuck DC, Amylon MD, et al. HRX involvement in de novo and secondary leukemias with diverse chromosome 11q23 abnormalities. Blood. 1993;81:3197–203.
- 103. Strissel PL, Strick R, Rowley JD, Zeleznik-Le NJ. An in vivo topoisomerase II cleavage site and a NDase I hypersensitive site colocalize near exon 9 in the MLL breakpoint cluster region. Blood. 1998;92:3793–803.
- 104. Cimino G, Rapanotti MC, Biondi A, et al. Infant acute leukemias show the smae biased distribution of ALL1 gene breaks as topoisomerase II related secondary leukemias. Cancer Res. 1997;57:2879–83.
- 105. Ross JA, Potter JD, Reaman GH, Pendergrass TW, Robison LL. Maternal exposure of potentail inhibitors of DNA topoisomerase II and infant leukemia (United States): a report from the Children's Cancer group. Cancer Causes Control. 1996;7:581–90.
- 106. Basecke J, Whelan JT, Griesinger F, Bertrand FE. The MLL partial tandem duplication in acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2006;135(4):438–49. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi? cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&l ist_uids=16965385.
- 107. Momen NC, Olsen J, Gissler M, Kieler H, Haglund B, Li J. Exposure to systemic antibacterial medications during pregnancy and risk of childhood cancer. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2015;24(8):821–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.3806.
- 108. Gill Super H, McCabe NR, Thirman MJ, et al. Rearrangements of the MLL gene in therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia in patients previously treated with agents targeting DNA-topoisomerase II. Blood. 1993;82:3705–11.
- 109. Mrózek K, Heinonen K, Lawrence D, et al. Adult patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia and t(9; 11)(p22; q23) have a superior outcome to patients with other translocations involving band 11q23: a cancer and leukemia group B study. Blood. 1997;90(11)
- 110. Rubnitz JE, Raimondi SC, Tong X, et al. Favorable impact of the t(9;11) in childhood acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(9):2302–9. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2002.08.023.
- 111. Gröschel S, Schlenk RF, Engelmann J, et al. Deregulated expression of EVI1 defines a poor prognostic subset of MLL-rearranged acute myeloid leukemias: a study of the German-Austrian Acute Myeloid Leukemia Study Group and the Dutch-

Belgian-Swiss HOVON/SAKK Cooperative Group. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(1):95–103. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2011.41.5505.

- 112. Avellino R, Delwel R. Expression and regulation of C/EBPα in normal myelopoiesis and in malignant transformation. Blood. 2017;129(15):2083–91. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-09-687822.
- 113. Zhang P, Iwasaki-Arai J, Iwasaki H, et al. Enhancement of hematopoietic stem cell repopulating capacity and self-renewal in the absence of the transcription factor C/EBPα. Immunity. 2004;21(6):853–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. IMMUNI.2004.11.006.
- 114. Zhang DE, Zhang P, Wang ND, Hetherington CJ, Darlington GJ, Tenen DG. Absence of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor signaling and neutrophil development in CCAAT enhancer binding protein alpha-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(2):569–74. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dop t=Citation&list_uids=9012825.
- 115. Radomska HS, Huettner CS, Zhang P, Cheng T, Scadden DT, Tenen DG. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein alpha is a regulatory switch sufficient for induction of granulocytic development from bipotential myeloid progenitors. Mol Cell Biol. 1998;18(7):4301–14. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dop t=Citation&list_uids=9632814.
- 116. Green CL, Koo KK, Hills RK, Burnett AK, Linch DC, Gale RE. Prognostic significance of CEBPA mutations in a large cohort of younger adult patients with acute myeloid leukemia: impact of double CEBPA mutations and the interaction with FLT3 and NPM1 mutations. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(16):2739–47. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.26. 2501.
- 117. Hollink IHIM, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, Arentsen-Peters STCJM, et al. Characterization of CEBPA mutations and promoter hypermethylation in pediatric acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica. 2011;96(3):384–92. https://doi.org/10.3324/ haematol.2010.031336.
- 118. Wouters BJ, Löwenberg B, Erpelinck-Verschueren CAJ, van Putten WLJ, Valk PJM, Delwel R. Double CEBPA mutations, but not single CEBPA mutations, define a subgroup of acute myeloid leukemia with a distinctive gene expression profile that is uniquely associated with a favorable outcome. Blood. 2009;113(13):3088–91. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2008-09-179895.
- 119. Pabst T, Eyholzer M, Fos J, Mueller BU. Heterogeneity within AML with CEBPA mutations; only CEBPA double mutations, but not single CEBPA mutations are associated with favourable prognosis. Br J Cancer. 2009;100(8):1343–6. https:// doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6604977.
- 120. Pabst T, Eyholzer M, Haefliger S, Schardt J, Mueller BU. Somatic CEBPA mutations are a frequent second event in families with germline CEBPA muta-

tions and familial acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:5088–93.

- 121. Dufour A, Schneider F, Metzeler KH, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia with biallelic CEBPA gene mutations and normal karyotype represents a distinct genetic entity associated with a favorable clinical outcome. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(4):570–7. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.21.6010.
- 122. Schlenk RF, Taskesen E, van Norden Y, et al. The value of allogeneic and autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in prognostically favorable acute myeloid leukemia with double mutant CEBPA. Blood. 2013;122(9):1576–82. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2013-05-503847.
- 123. Taskesen E, Bullinger L, Corbacioglu A, et al. Prognostic impact, concurrent genetic mutations, and gene expression features of AML with CEBPA mutations in a cohort of 1182 cytogenetically normal AML patients: further evidence for CEBPA double mutant AML as a distinctive disease entity. Blood. 2011;117(8):2469–75. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2010-09-307280.
- 124. Greif PA, Dufour A, Konstandin NP, et al. GATA2 zinc finger 1 mutations associated with biallelic CEBPA mutations define a unique genetic entity of acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2012;120(2):395– 403. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-01-403220.
- 125. Bacher U, Schnittger S, Macijewski K, et al. Multilineage dysplasia does not influence prognosis in CEBPA-mutated AML, supporting the WHO proposal to classify these patients as a unique entity. Blood. 2012;119(20):4719–22. https://doi. org/10.1182/BLOOD-2011-12-395574.
- 126. Döhner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129(4):424–48. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2016-08-733196.
- 127. Heath EM, Chan SM, Minden MD, Murphy T, Shlush LI, Schimmer AD. Biological and clinical consequences of NPM1 mutations in AML. Leukemia. 2017;31(4):798–807. https://doi.org/10.1038/ leu.2017.30.
- 128. Grisendi S, Bernardi R, Rossi M, et al. Role of nucleophosmin in embryonic development and tumorigenesis. Nature. 2005;437(7055):147–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03915.
- 129. Box JK, Paquet N, Adams MN, et al. Nucleophosmin: from structure and function to disease development. BMC Mol Biol. 2016;17(1):19. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12867-016-0073-9.
- 130. Boissel N, Renneville A, Biggio V, et al. Prevalence, clinical profile, and prognosis of NPM mutations in AML with normal karyotype. Blood. 2005;106(10):3618–20. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list_uids=16046528.
- 131. Falini B, Mecucci C, Tiacci E, et al. Cytoplasmic nucleophosmin in acute myelogenous leukemia with a normal karyotype. N Engl J Med.

2005;352(3):254–66. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dop t=Citation&list_uids=15659725.

- 132. Kunchala P, Kuravi S, Jensen R, McGuirk J, Balusu R. When the good go bad: mutant NPM1 in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood Rev. 2018;32(3):167–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.blre.2017.11.001.
- Krönke J, Bullinger L, Teleanu V, et al. Clonal evolution in relapsed NPM1-mutated acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2013;122(1):100–8. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2013-01-479188.
- 134. Cocciardi S, Dolnik A, Kapp-Schwoerer S, et al. Clonal evolution patterns in acute myeloid leukemia with NPM1 mutation. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):2031. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-019-09745-2.
- 135. Bolli N, De Marco MF, Martelli MP, et al. A dosedependent tug of war involving the NPM1 leukaemic mutant, nucleophosmin, and ARF. Leukemia. 2009; https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2008.326.
- 136. Falini B, Martelli MP, Bolli N, et al. Immunohistochemistry predicts nucleophosmin (NPM) mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2006;108(6):1999–2005. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list_uids=16720834.
- 137. Falini B, Nicoletti I, Martelli MF, Mecucci C. Acute myeloid leukemia carrying cytoplasmic/mutated nucleophosmin (NPMc+ AML): biological and clinical features. Blood. 2006. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list_uids=17008539.
- 138. Schlenk RF, Döhner K, Krauter J, et al. Mutations and treatment outcome in cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia A Bs t r Ac T, vol 358. 2008. www.nejm.org. Accessed 3 July 2019.
- 139. Brunetti L, Gundry MC, Sorcini D, et al. Mutant NPM1 maintains the leukemic state through HOX expression. Cancer Cell. 2018; https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.08.005.
- 140. Patel JL, Schumacher JA, Frizzell K, et al. Coexisting and cooperating mutations in NPM1 -mutated acute myeloid leukemia. Leuk Res. 2017;56:7–12. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2017.01.027.
- 141. Döhner K, Schlenk RF, Habdank M, et al. Mutant nucleophosmin (NPM1) predicts favorable prognosis in younger adults with acute myeloid leukemia and normal cytogenetics: interaction with other gene mutations. Blood. 2005;106(12):3740–6. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2005-05-2164.
- 142. Loghavi S, Zuo Z, Ravandi F, et al. Clinical features of de novo acute myeloid leukemia with concurrent DNMT3A, FLT3 and NPM1 mutations. J Hematol Oncol. 2014;7(1):74. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13045-014-0074-4.
- 143. Díaz-Beyá M, Rozman M, Pratcorona M, et al. The prognostic value of multilineage dysplasia in de novo acute myeloid leukemia patients with intermediaterisk cytogenetics is dependent on NPM1 mutational

status. Blood. 2010;116(26):6147–8. https://doi. org/10.1182/BLOOD-2010-09-307314.

- 144. Falini B, Macijewski K, Weiss T, et al. Multilineage dysplasia has no impact on biologic, clinicopathologic, and prognostic features of AML with mutated nucleophosmin (NPM1). Blood. 2010;115(18):3776–86. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2009-08-240457.
- 145. Scandura JM, Boccuni P, Cammenga J, Nimer SD. Transcription factor fusions in acute leukemia: variations on a theme. Oncogene. 2002;21(21):3422– 44. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205315.
- 146. Slovak ML, Gundacker H, Bloomfield CD, et al. A retrospective study of 69 patients with t(6;9) (p23;q34) AML emphasizes the need for a prospective, multicenter initiative for rare 'poor prognosis' myeloid malignancies. Leukemia. 2006;20(7):1295– 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2404233.
- 147. Oyarzo MP, Lin P, Glassman A, Bueso-Ramos CE, Luthra R, Medeiros LJ. Acute myeloid leukemia with t(6;9)(p23;q34) is associated with dysplasia and a high frequency of flt3 gene mutations. Am J Clin Pathol. 2004;122(3):348–58. https://doi. org/10.1309/5DGB-59KQ-A527-PD47.
- 148. Tarlock K, Alonzo TA, Moraleda PP, et al. Acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) with t(6;9)(p23;q34) is associated with poor outcome in childhood AML regardless of *FLT3* -ITD status: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Br J Haematol. 2014;166(2):254–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/ bjh.12852.
- 149. Pearson MG, Vardiman JW, Le Beau MM, et al. Increased numbers of marrow basophils may be associated with a t(6;9) in ANLL. Am J Hematol. 1985;18(4):393–403. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/3976650. Accessed 3 July 2019.
- 150. Gröschel S, Sanders MA, Hoogenboezem R, et al. A single oncogenic enhancer rearrangement causes concomitant EVI1 and GATA2 deregulation in leukemia. Cell. 2014;157(2):369–81. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.CELL.2014.02.019.
- 151. Yamazaki H, Suzuki M, Otsuki A, et al. A remote GATA2 hematopoietic enhancer drives Leukemogenesis in inv(3)(q21;q26) by activating EVI1 expression. Cancer Cell. 2014;25(4):415–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CCR.2014.02.008.
- 152. Gröschel S, Sanders MA, Hoogenboezem R, et al. Mutational spectrum of myeloid malignancies with inv(3)/t(3;3) reveals a predominant involvement of RAS/RTK signaling pathways. Blood. 2015;125(1):133–9. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2014-07-591461.
- 153. Jenkins RB, Tefferi A, Solberg LA, Dewald GW. Acute leukemia with abnormal thrombopoiesis and inversions of chromosome 3. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 1989; https://doi. org/10.1016/0165-4608(89)90182-9.
- 154. Fonatsch C, Gudat H, Lengfelder E, et al. Correlation of cytogenetic findings with clinical features in 18 patients with inv(3)(q21q26) or t(3;3)(q21;q26).

Leukemia. 1994;8(8):1318–26. http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8057667. Accessed 3 July 2019.

- 155. Secker-Walker LM, Mehta A, Bain B. Abnormalities of 3q21 and 3q26 in myeloid malignancy: a United Kingdom Cancer Cytogenetic Group study. Br J Haematol. 1995;91(2):490–501. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.1995.tb05329.x.
- 156. Lugthart S, Gröschel S, Beverloo HB, et al. Clinical, molecular, and prognostic significance of WHO type inv(3)(q21q26.2)/t(3;3)(q21;q26.2) and various other 3q abnormalities in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(24):3890–8. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2010.29.2771.
- 157. Bernstein J, Dastugue N, Haas OA, et al. Nineteen cases of the t(1;22)(p13;q13) acute megakaryblastic leukaemia of infants/children and a review of 39 cases: report from a t(1;22) study group. Leukemia. 2000;14(1):216–8. http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10637500. Accessed 3 July 2019.
- 158. Carroll A, Civin C, Schneider N, et al. The t(1;22) (p13;q13) is nonrandom and restricted to infants with acute megakaryoblastic leukemia: a Pediatric Oncology Group Study. *Blood.* 1991;78(3).
- 159. Soupir CP, Vergilio J-A, Cin PD, et al. Philadelphia chromosome–positive acute myeloid leukemia. Am J Clin Pathol. 2007;127(4):642–50. https://doi. org/10.1309/B4NVER1AJJ84CTUU.
- 160. Konoplev S, Yin CC, Kornblau SM, et al. Molecular characterization of *de novo* Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute myeloid leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013;54(1):138–44. https://doi.org/10.3 109/10428194.2012.701739.
- 161. Tang J-L, Hou H-A, Chen C-Y, et al. MYELOID NEOPLASIA AML1/RUNX1 mutations in 470 adult patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia: prognostic implication and interaction with other gene alterations; 2009. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2009-05-223784.
- 162. Mendler JH, Maharry K, Radmacher MD, et al. RUNX1 mutations are associated with poor outcome in younger and older patients with cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia and with distinct gene and MicroRNA expression signatures. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(25):3109–18. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2011.40.6652.
- 163. Schnittger S, Dicker F, Kern W, et al. RUNX1 mutations are frequent in de novo AML with noncomplex karyotype and confer an unfavorable prognosis; 2011. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.
- 164. Gaidzik VI, Bullinger L, Schlenk RF, et al. RUNX1 mutations in acute myeloid leukemia: results from a comprehensive genetic and clinical analysis from the AML study group. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(10):1364– 72. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.30.7926.
- 165. Ren R. Mechanisms of BCR–ABL in the pathogenesis of chronic myelogenous leukaemia. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005;5(3):172–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrc1567.

- 166. James C, Ugo V, Le Couédic J-P, et al. A unique clonal JAK2 mutation leading to constitutive signalling causes polycythaemia vera. Nature. 2005;434(7037):1144–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature03546.
- 167. Coombs CC, Zehir A, Devlin SM, et al. Therapy-Related Clonal Hematopoiesis in Patients with Nonhematologic Cancers Is Common and Associated with Adverse Clinical Outcomes. *Cell Stem Cell*. 2017;21(3):374–382.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. STEM.2017.07.010
- Lindsley RC. Ebert BL. The biology and clinical impact of genetic lesions in myeloid malignancies. 2013; https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-06.
- 169. Malcovati L, Karimi M, Papaemmanuil E, et al. SF3B1 mutation identifies a distinct subset of myelodysplastic syndrome with ring sideroblasts; 2015. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-03-633537.
- 170. Malcovati L, Porta MG. Della, Pascutto C, et al. prognostic factors and life expectancy in myelodysplastic syndromes classified according to WHO criteria: a basis for clinical decision making. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(30):7594–603. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2005.01.7038.
- 171. Malcovati L, Cazzola M. Recent advances in the understanding of myelodysplastic syndromes with ring sideroblasts. Br J Haematol. 2016;174(6):847– 58. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.14215.
- 172. Ambaglio I, Malcovati L, Papaemmanuil E, et al. Inappropriately low hepcidin levels in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome carrying a somatic mutation of SF3B1. Haematologica. 2013;98(3):420–3. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2012.077446.
- 173. Haferlach T, Nagata Y, Grossmann V, et al. Landscape of genetic lesions in 944 patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. Leukemia. 2014;28(2):241–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2013.336.
- 174. Ogawa S. Genetics of MDS. Blood. 2019;133(10):1049–59. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2018-10-844621.
- 175. Taskesen E, Havermans M, Van Lom K, et al. Two splice-factor mutant leukemia subgroups uncovered at the boundaries of MDS and AML using combined gene expression and DNA-methylation profiling. Blood. 2014;123(21):3327–35. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2013-07.
- 176. Bejar R, Stevenson KE, Caughey B, et al. Somatic mutations predict poor outcome in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome after hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(25):2691–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2013.52.3381.
- 177. Kayser S, Levis MJ. Clinical implications of molecular markers in acute myeloid leukemia. Eur J Haematol. 2019;102(1):20–35. https://doi. org/10.1111/ejh.13172.
- 178. Walter RB, Othus M, Burnett AK, et al. Significance of FAB subclassification of "acute myeloid leukemia, NOS" in the 2008 WHO classification: analysis of 5848 newly diagnosed patients. Blood.

2013;121(13):2424–31. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2012-10-462440.

- 179. Montalban-Bravo G, Benton CB, Wang SA, et al. More than 1 TP53 abnormality is a dominant characteristic of pure erythroid leukemia. Blood. 2017;129(18):2584–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2016-11-749903.
- Churpek JE, Larson RA. The evolving challenge of therapy-related myeloid neoplasms. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol. 2013; https://doi.org/10.1016/j. beha.2013.09.001.
- Bhatia S. Therapy-related myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukemia. Semin Oncol. 2013;40(6):666–75. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2013.09.013.
- 182. Granfeldt Østgård LS, Medeiros BC, Sengeløv H, et al. Epidemiology and clinical significance of secondary and therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia: a National Population-Based Cohort Study. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(31):3641–9. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2014.60.0890.
- 183. Morton LM, Dores GM, Tucker MA, et al. Evolving risk of therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia following cancer chemotherapy among adults in the United States, 1975-2008. Blood. 2013;121(15):2996–3004. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2012-08-448068.
- 184. Hulegårdh E, Nilsson C, Lazarevic V, et al. Characterization and prognostic features of secondary acute myeloid leukemia in a populationbased setting: a report from the Swedish acute leukemia registry. Am J Hematol. 2015; https://doi. org/10.1002/ajh.23908.
- Mcnerney ME, Godley LA. Le Beau MM. Therapyrelated myeloid neoplasms: when genetics and environment collide. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrc.2017.60.
- 186. Ok CY, Patel KP, Garcia-Manero G, et al. Mutational profiling of therapy-related myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia by next generation sequencing, a comparison with de novo diseases. Leuk Res. 2015;39:348–54. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.leukres.2014.12.006.
- 187. Takahashi K, Wang F, Kantarjian H, et al. Preleukaemic clonal haemopoiesis and risk of therapy-related myeloid neoplasms: a case-control study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(1):100–11. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30626-X.
- 188. Schulz E, Valentin A, Ulz P, et al. Germline mutations in the DNA damage response genes BRCA1, BRCA2, BARD1 and TP53 in patients with therapy related myeloid neoplasms. J Med Genet. 2012;49(7):422–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/ JMEDGENET-2011-100674.
- 189. Churpek JE, Marquez R, Neistadt B, et al. Inherited mutations in cancer susceptibility genes are common among survivors of breast cancer who develop therapy-related leukemia. Cancer. 2016;122(2):304– 11. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.29615.
- West AH, Godley LA, Churpek JE. Familial myelodysplastic syndrome/acute leukemia syndromes: a

review and utility for translational investigations. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2014;1310(1):111–8. https://doi. org/10.1111/nyas.12346.

- 191. Godley LA, Shimamura A. Genetic predisposition to hematologic malignancies: management and surveillance. Blood. 2017;130(4):424–32. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2017-02-735290.
- Furutani E, Shimamura A. Germline genetic predisposition to hematologic malignancy. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(9):1018–28. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.70.8644.
- 193. Feurstein S, Drazer MW, Godley LA. Genetic predisposition to leukemia and other hematologic malignancies. Semin Oncol. 2016;43(5):598–608. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2016.10.003.
- 194. Owen C, Barnett M, Fitzgibbon J. Familial myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukaemia—a review. Br J Haematol. 2007;140(2):123–32. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06909.x.
- 195. Mast KJ, Taub JW, Alonzo TA, et al. Pathologic Features of Down Syndrome Myelodysplastic Syndrome and Acute Myeloid Leukemia: A Report From the Children's Oncology Group Protocol AAML0431. Arch Pathol Lab Med. August 2019:arpa.2018–0526-OA. https://doi.org/10.5858/ arpa.2018-0526-OA
- 196. Breems DA, Van Putten WLJ, De Greef GE, et al. Monosomal karyotype in acute myeloid leukemia: a better indicator of poor prognosis than a complex karyotype. J Clin Oncol. 2008; https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2008.16.0259.

- 197. Pratcorona M, Brunet S, Nomdedeu J, et al. Favorable outcome of patients with acute myeloid leukemia harboring a low-allelic burden FLT3-ITD mutation and concomitant NPM1 mutation: relevance to postremission therapy. Blood. 2013;121(14):2734–8. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-06-431122.
- 198. Schlenk RF, Kayser S, Bullinger L, et al. Differential impact of allelic ratio and insertion site in FLT3-ITD-positive AML with respect to allogeneic transplantation. Blood. 2014;124(23):3441–9. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2014-05-578070.
- 199. Gale RE, Green C, Allen C, et al. The impact of FLT3 internal tandem duplication mutant level, number, size, and interaction with NPM1 mutations in a large cohort of young adult patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2008;111(5):2776–84. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-08-109090.
- 200. Grossmann V, Schnittger S, Kohlmann A, et al. A novel hierarchical prognostic model of AML solely based on molecular mutations. Blood. 2012;120(15):2963–72. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2012-03-419622.
- 201. Ley TJ, Miller C, Ding L, et al. Genomic and epigenomic landscapes of adult de novo acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(22):2059–74. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1301689.
- 202. Rose D, Haferlach T, Schnittger S, Perglerová K, Kern W, Haferlach C. Subtype-specific patterns of molecular mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. 2017;31(1):11–7. https://doi. org/10.1038/leu.2016.163.

Insights into the Pathobiology of Secondary AML

Tania Jain and Raajit K. Rampal

Abbreviations

AHD	Antecedent hematological disorder
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
CBF	Core binding factor
CIBMTR	Center for International Bone
	Marrow Transplant Research
EBMT	European Society for Blood and
	Bone Marrow Transplantation
HCT	Hematopoietic cell transplantation
JAK	Janus kinase
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndrome
MPN	Myeloproliferative neoplasm
SNP	Single-nucleotide polymorphism
TP	Tumor protein
WHO	World Health Organization

T. Jain (🖂)

Division of Hematological Malignancies and Stem Cell Transplantation, The Sidney Kimmel Comprehensive Cancer Center at Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: tjain2@jhmi.edu

R. K. Rampal Leukemia Service, Department of Medicine, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

3.1 Introduction: What Is Secondary AML?

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is the most common type of acute leukemia, the incidence of which increases with advancing age. The etiology remains elusive for the most part, but development following a prior cytotoxic agent or as a consequence of an antecedent myeloid disorder has been widely recognized. In the 1997 World Health Organization (WHO) classification of neoplastic disease of the hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues, AML with multilineage dysplasia, defined as dysplastic changes in two or more cell lines, and therapy-related AML were recognized as distinct entities due to morphological differences from de novo AML, characteristic cytogenetic abnormalities, and worse prognosis [1].

Secondary acute myeloid leukemia (s-AML) in the current era informally refers to the AML that evolves from an antecedent hematological disease (AML-AHD), usually a myeloid malignancy such as myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN), or aplastic anemia; has myelodysplasia-related changes (AML-MRC); or develops after exposure to a cytotoxic chemotherapy or radiation treatment for a prior neoplasm (t-AML) (Table 3.1). Per the 2016 WHO classification, AML with MRC is defined as AML meeting at least one of the following criteria: (a) presence of 50% of more dysplastic cells in at least two cell lines and in the

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_3

Check for updates

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

	Details
AML- AHD AML-	 Preceding MDS Preceding MPN Preceding MDS/MPN overlap syndromes Bone marrow failure syndrome Dysplasia in >50% cells in at least two
MRC	 cell lines and absence of favorable-risk mutations of <i>NPM1</i>, biallelic <i>CEBPA</i> or del(9q) MDS-related cytogenetic abnormality AML-AHD with preceding MDS or MDS/MPN
t-AML	 Type I Alkylating agents— cyclophosphamide, bendamustine, melphalan, busulfan, carmustine, chlorambucil, thiotepa Platinum agents—cisplatin, carboplatin Antimetabolites—azathioprine, fludarabine - 5–7 years after exposure Preceding MDS phase or MDS- related changes at diagnosis - Del(5q), del(7q), monosomy 7, complex karyotype, <i>TP53</i> mutations Type II - Topoisomerase II inhibitors— anthracyclines (daunorubicin, doxorubicin, epirubicin), etoposide, mitoxantrone

Table 3.1 What is included in secondary AML

AML-AHD acute myeloid leukemia with an antecedent hematological disorder, *AML-MRC* acute myeloid leukemia with myelodysplasia related changes, *MDS* myelodysplastic syndrome, *MPN* myeloproliferative neoplasm, *t-AML* therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia

absence of favorable-risk mutations of NPM1 or biallelic CEBPA or del(9q) [2]; (b) an antecedent hematologic disorder (MDS or MDS/MPN); or (c) presence of an MDS-related cytogenetic abnormality.

t-AML has been associated with prior chemotherapy, typically alkylating agents and DNA topoisomerase II inhibitors, as well as prior radiation therapy. Alkylating agents such as melphalan, cyclophosphamide, and nitrogen mustard may lead to dysplastic changes similar to MDS, bi- or tri-lineage cytopenias, abnormalities of chromosomes 5 and 7 or both, and complex karyotype, typically with a latency of over 5 years from exposure [3-6]. These karyotypes have been reported to comprise 76% of all abnormal karyotype in one series of patients with t-AML or therapy-related MDS [7]. t-AML associated with topoisomerase II inhibitors, for example, doxorubicin, etoposide, and mitoxantrone, is characterized by shorter interval (around 2-3 years) between exposure and diagnosis, absence of preceding MDS, and a genetic abnormality involving translocation of MLL gene on chromosome 11, band q23, and RUNX1/AML1 gene on chromosome 21, band q22 [7-10]. t-AML has also been described following the use of other chemoazathioprine, therapy agents such as 5-flourouracil, methotrexate, 6-mercaptopurine, and fludarabine [7, 11, 12]).

3.2 Why Does It Matter?

Two large population studies reported that s-AML constituted approximately one in every four cases of AML diagnosed between 1997–2006 and 2000–2013 in these respective studies [13, 14]). More specifically, AML-AHD has been reported in approximately 16–19% and t-AML in approximately 7% of all AML diagnoses in several studies [13–16]. This number may reasonably be expected to rise due to improved survival following chemotherapy for prior malignancies.

More importantly, numerous studies over the years have shown inferior survival in patients with s-AML compared to de novo AML, which makes it imperative to recognize this as a prognostic factor, and indeed an unmet need for treatment options [13–16]. Response to standard chemotherapy in patients with s-AML has also traditionally been reported to be lower than response rates seen with de novo AML. This is likely a result of a higher incidence of high-risk genetic and molecular features, genetic alterations, or selection of chemotherapy-resistant clones in cases of prior treatment of the AHD. The high-risk cytogenetic and mutational profile in

s-AML, such as mutations in tumor protein (TP53) and complex karyotype, may render leukemia cells less responsive to chemotherapy and a poorer overall survival [17]. Mechanism of resistance and resulting lower response to chemotherapy in s-AML have been attributed to an over-expression of multidrug resistance gene 1 (MDR1) which results in increase in efflux pumps such as p-glycoprotein leading to a decreased intracellular concentrations and overall exposure to anthracycline chemotherapy, hence rendering the resistance to drugs [18, 19]. Other plausible mechanisms of resistance include expression of proteins conferring multidrug resistance such as multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1) and lung resistance protein (LRP) [20, 21]. Of these, MDR1 expression and the resultant drug efflux has been reported to increase with increasing age from 17% in age <35 years while being 39% in age >50 years, which at least partly contributes to decreased responses to chemotherapy in s-AML which is commonly seen in older patients [19]. Additionally, patients with s-AML are older and may have been treated previously with cytotoxic agents, both of which can possibly limit the ability to utilize high dose or cytotoxic chemotherapy to treat s-AML [16, 22].

To summarize, understanding the biology as well as management strategies for s-AML is important in treatment planning and riskstratification as the incidence of this diagnosis is anticipated to rise, response as well as survival in these patients is inferior compared to de novo AML, and treatment options can be limited by age or other patient factors.

3.3 Biology and Genomics of Secondary AML: Are They Different and How?

Clonal hematopoiesis plays an important role in the development of s-AML from both an AHD and in t-AML [23, 24]. It is now being realized that clonal hematopoiesis exists early, likely even prior to exposure to cytotoxic therapy in t-AML. Subsequent exposure to chemotherapy results in selection of a drug resistant preleukemic clone. Mutant *TP53* clones have been found years prior to chemotherapy exposure or diagnosis of t-AML [25, 26]. Recent studies have also shown that both hematopoietic and stromal compartments of the bone marrow are involved in the malignant transformation of hematopoiesis and that mesenchymal stem cells undergo remodeling upon exposure to MDS cells [27].

3.3.1 AML-AHD from Preceding MDS

Transformation of MDS to AML (AML-MDS) is mediated by clonal evolution or increase in the number of mutations as well as expansion of existing mutant clones. A variety of cytogenetic abnormalities and mutations in genes affecting splicing machinery and chromatin modifiers have been reported more commonly in AML-MDS than in de novo AML, including SRSF2, SF3B1, U2AF1, ZRSR2, ASXL1, EZH2, BCOR, and STAG2 [28]. Paired sampling of MDS and AML-MDS bone marrow samples suggested that at least one new driver mutation occurs in most (59% in the study) patients in the process of transformation, except in patients with TP53 mutation [28]. Most of these mutations were in genes encoding myeloid transcription factors (RUNX1, CEBPA, GATA2) and signal transduction proteins (FLT3 or RAS). Another study comparing samples of patients with s-AML versus high-risk MDS showed enrichment of NRAS, FLT3, WT1, NPM1, IDH1/2, PTPN11 genes in s-AML [29]. Whole exome sequencing studies have demonstrated that mutations in signaling pathways (such as NRAS and PTPN11) occur or expand significantly during transformation of disease [30]. This was, however, not observed for mutations associated with DNA methylation or splicing machinery, which were noted to expand at the initial stages of MDS but not at the time of progression to s-AML. Another study using a comprehensive transcriptome sequencing in CD34+ bone marrow cells identified two subgroups of MDS by gene expression profiling: one with increased expression of

60

genes in the erythroid/megakaryocytic lineage and the second with upregulation of genes related to immature progenitor cells. The later demonstrated upregulation of various signaling pathways and downregulation of pathways related to metabolism and DNA repair and was exclusively associated with leukemic transformation and shorter survival [31].

Identification of the above-mentioned mutations in patients with MDS may herald emerging AML subclones and potentially identify patients at risk for transformation to s-AML.

3.3.2 AML-AHD from MPN

MPN are another set of myeloid disorders that can potentially transform into AML (AML-MPN) with a rather dismal prognosis [32]. In a single-center study of 91 patients, a clonal abnormality was identified in 91% patients including complex karyotype (54%), core binding factor (CBF) gene mutations (3%), and chromosome 5 or 7 abnormalities (32%) [32]. The three known driver mutations in myelofibrosis, JAK2V617F, CALR or MPL, also impact time to leukemia transformation. Mutations in CALR were associated with lesser risk of transformation when compared with "triple-negative" (absence of all three mutations) and JAK2V617F, but with no difference compared to mutations in MPL [33]. Subsequently, genomic profiling of samples from patients with AML-MPN has delineated differences from genetics patterns of de novo AML. Recurrent point mutations in TET2, ASXL1, SRSF2, TP53, and IDH1/2 have been reported to be more common in AML-MPN than in de novo AML [34-37]. Single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) array analysis of 88 chronic phase MPN and 71 MPN-blast phase samples showed three-times higher genomic changes in the latter [38]). Aberrations in chromosomes 3p (*FOXP1*), 4q (*TET2*), 7p (*IKZF1*), 7q (*CUX1*), 8q (MYC), 12p (ETV6), 17p (TP53), 21q (RUNX1) were seen more commonly in AML-MPN samples (MPN-blast phase) than in chronic phase

[38, 39]. Genomic profiling of AML-MPN samples demonstrated a higher frequency of somatic *TP53* mutations accompanying *JAK2V617F* mutations, in contrast to chronic phase MPN samples where *TP53* mutations were less frequent [40]. *TP53* loss in combination with *JAK2V617F* mutation led to expansion of blasts, in both the bone marrow and the peripheral blood, and fully penetrant AML in murine models, thus biologically validating these genomic observations.

Collectively, these data demonstrate that recurrent mutations in epigenetic regulators, transcription factors, spliceosome complex members as well as *TP53* have been associated with the leukemia transformation of MPNs. This mutational spectrum appears to differ from that observed in de novo AML, thus potentially explaining biological differences and clinical behavior of AML-MPN.

3.3.3 t-AML

t-AML has a high representation of high-risk or unfavorable cytogenetic abnormalities and somatic mutations. In a series of 306 patients with t-MDS/t-AML from a single center, over 70% patients had del(5q), del(7q), or monosomy 7 [7]. Of these, chromosome 7 abnormalities [del(7q) and monosomy 7] occur in almost half of these patients and is associated with mutations that activate the RAS pathway [41, 42]. TP53 mutations occur in up to 37% of patients with t-AML and can be associated with del(5q) as well as complex karyotype [28, 43]. Around one-third patients with t-AML can harbor mutations in SRSF2, SF3B1, U2AF1, ZRSR2, ASXL1, EZH2, BCOR, or STAG2 [28]. Additionally, association of MLL rearrangements and exposure to topoisomerase II has been described above.

Overall, the genetic composition of t-AML is notable for a higher frequency of unfavorable mutations that are associated with poor response to therapy and inferior outcomes.

3.4 Management of s-AML: How to Think of Treatment Options?

The overall prognosis of patients with s-AML remains poor whether they arise from an antecedent MDS, MPN, or t-AML; and treatment options have not changed significantly in over four decades. A proposed treatment schema with contemporary options is depicted in Fig. 3.1.

3.4.1 Induction and Chemotherapy: Past, Present, and Future

Anthracycline-based therapy, in combination with cytarabine, in the historic "7+3" regimen has remained the traditional therapy for s-AML, although response rates have been lower than that with de novo AML [13, 14, 44]. While both AML-AHD and t-AML show inferior outcomes compared to de novo AML, s-AML arising from AHD other than MDS was associated with an even lower survival in patients over 60 years of age with adverse karyotype [13].

CPX-351 is a novel agent, recently approved by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and European Medicine Agency (EMA), for treatment of newly diagnosed t-AML or AML-MRC. It is the dual-drug liposomal encapsulation of cytarabine and daunorubicin at a fixed 5:1 molar ratio at which maximal synergistic activity had been demonstrated in preclinical models [45–47]. The encapsulated liposomal formulation improves pharmacokinetic characteristics and allows for intracellular delivery which is enhanced in leukemia cells compared to normal cells. The particular benefit of CPX-351 in patients with s-AML was seen in a randomized phase 2 study conducted in patients with newly diagnosed AML of ages 60–75 years comparing CPX-351 with the standard 7+3 regimen [48]. While a statistical significant advantage in overall survival or event-free survival was not seen for the overall study population, a planned subgroup analysis in high-risk patients including those with s-AML showed a significantly superior overall survival in this subgroup (HR 0.46, p = 0.01). These findings were confirmed in a phase 3 trial of patients with ages 60-75 years with newly diagnosed t-AML or AML-MRC. The study showed significantly superior overall survival compared to 7+3 induction (9.56 vs 5.95 months, HR 0.69, p = 0.003) along with



FLAG, fludarabine, cytarabine, plus G-CSF; HCT, hematopoietic cell transplantation; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; HMA, hypomethylating agents; IDH, isocitrate dehydrogenase; LDAC, low dose cytosine arabinoside (cytarabine); s-AML, secondary acute myeloid leukemia; t-AML, therapy related AML; AML-MRC, AML with myelodysplasia related changes

Fig. 3.1 Treatment schema for secondary AML

higher remission rates (47.7% vs 33.3%, p = 0.016) and improved event-free survival (2.53 vs 1.31 months, HR 0.74, p = 0.021) [49]. An exploratory landmark analysis in patients who underwent allogeneic stem cell transplantation (HCT) after induction was notable for a significantly favorable overall survival with CPX-351 (median not reached vs 10.25 months, HR 0.46, p = 0.009). Although this analysis was influenced by confounding factors such as that the decision to undergo HCT was not randomized, these results do establish CPX-351 as a suitable treatment option as a bridge to HCT.

Azanucleosides are pyrimidine analogs which at lower doses have established themselves as potent inhibitors of DNA methylation and are commonly referred to as hypomethylating agents. Due to the noted significance of DNA methylation in transformation of MDS to AML, hypomethylating agents have an established role in treatment of patients with s-AML especially those who are not candidates for high dose chemotherapy [50, 51]. The two commonly used hypomethylating agents are 5-azacytadine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (or decitabine). Azacitidine was FDA approved for use in MDS based on data from the AZA-001 trial which included patients with up to 30% blasts, which would now be classified as AML for >20% blasts, and showed improved survival compared to best supportive care [52]. Subsequently, a phase 3 study (AZA-AML-001) was conducted in patients with AML, including AML-AHD and AML-MRC, who were ≥ 65 years old and continued to show improved overall survival with azacitidine versus best supportive therapy (median, 8.9 vs 4.9 months, HR 0.74) [53]. Similarly, decitabine was compared to conventional therapy in older patients with AML, resulting improved response rate (17.8% vs 7.8%, OR 2.5, p = 0.001) although no statistical improvement in survival was reported in the primary analysis (7.7 vs 5 months, p = 0.108) until an unplanned analysis a year later (HR 0.82, p = 0.037 [54]. Both azacitidine and decitabine have been reported to have responses in AML-MPN although most reports are relatively small series. Decitabine showed responses in 6/21

(29%) patients with AML-MPN, including one partial response, with the response lasting a median of 7 months [55]. Azacitidine therapy resulted in an overall response in 10 (38%) with complete response in 2 (8%) of the 26 patients with AML-MPN, with median duration of response of 9 months [56]. Ruxolitinib, a selective JAK1 and JAK2 inhibitor, as a single agent also has moderate activity with responses seen in 3/18 (17%) patients with AML-MPN, of which 2 were complete responses [57]. Given the individual activity with these agents and the synergistic activity demonstrated in murine models of JAK2V617-driven AML, a phase 1 trial was conducted using a combination of decitabine and ruxolitinib in patients with accelerated phase (10-19% blasts in peripheral blood or bone marrow) and blast phase (>20% blasts in peripheral blood and bone marrow) [58]. No dose-limiting toxicity was observed, and overall responses were seen in 5/13 (39%) patients with AML-MPN.

The more recent success story in the treatment paradigm of AML is venetoclax, an orally administered B-cell leukemia/lymphoma-2 (bcl-2) inhibitor, that has been studied in various combinations with hypomethylating agents as well as low-dose cytarabine in older patients with AML who are not candidates for intensive therapy. Approximately one quarter to half of the patients in these studies have s-AML and have shown responses ranging from 8% to 35% in these patients when utilized as upfront therapy [59– 61]. It should be noted though that in these studies with venetoclax/hypomethylating agent combinations, no patients with prior hypomethylating agent exposure were included (Table 3.2).

3.4.2 Transplantation or No Transplantation? The Perpetual Enigma

Prospective or randomized studies to compare outcomes with versus without HCT do not exist and are unlikely to be conducted. Studies to date show variable outcomes regarding this, which is likely the result of patient selection in these sin-

	Study	Number of patients	CR/CRi	Median OS	Clinical pearls
CPX-351 (cytarabine:daunorubicin 5:1)	Phase 2 study (compared to 7+3) [48]	Total <i>N</i> in CPX-351 arm = 85 s-AML = 33 (39%)	58% in s-AML	12.1 months	Prolonged cytopenias, neutropenic fever but without infection-related deaths
	Phase 3 study (compared to 7+3) [49]	Total N in CPX-351 arm = 153 t-AML = 30 (20%) AML-MDS = 71 (46%) AML with preceding CMML = 11 (7%) AML with MDS related cytogenetic abnormalities = 41 (27%)	48% in s-AML	9.5 months	
Hypomethylating agents (±V)	Aza, randomized [53]	Total <i>N</i> in Aza arm = 129 AML-MDS = 44 (34%) AML-MRC = 72 (56%) (overall s-AML = 100%)	24.8% in s-AML	8.9 months in s-AML	Cytopenias/myelosuppression
	Aza, retrospective [56]	<i>N</i> with AML-MPN in Aza arm = 26	12% in AML-MPN	8 months in AML-MPN	
	Dec, open label phase 3 [54]	Total N in Dec arm = 242 s-AML = $87 (36\%)$	26% overall	7.7 months	Myelosuppression/febrile neutropenia
	Dec, retrospective [55]	Total $N = 45$: AML-MPN = 21	24% in AML-MPN	6.9 month in AML-MPN(10.5 months in responders,4 months in non-responders)	
	V + Aza/ Dec, phase 1b [59]	Total $N = 145$ s-AML = 36 (25%)	67% in s-AML	Not reached (95% CI, 14.5 months—not reached)	Cytopenias; no tumor lysis observed; patients with prior HMA exposure excluded
	V + Dec10, phase 2 [60]	Total $N = 48$: s-AML = 7 (15%)	71% in s-AML	Not reached (95% CI, 1.8 months—not reached)	Neutropenia, febrile neutropenia, 4% patients had tumor lysis syndrome
					(continued)

Table 3.2 Broad therapeutic categories in secondary AML

	Study	Number of patients	CR/CRi	Median OS	Clinical pearls
$Rux \pm HMA$	Rux, phase 2	Total $N = 38$	17% in	1	Thrombocytopenia
	[57]	AML-MPN = 18 (47%)	AML-MPN		
	Dec + Rux,	Total $N = 21$	19% overall (in	7.2 months (95% CI, 2.2—	Myelosuppression, pneumonia
	phase 1 [58]	AML-MPN = 13 (62%)	AML-MPN and	not reached)	
			MPN-AP)		
Low dose cytarabine + V	V + LDAC,	Total $N = 82$	35% in s-AML	10.1 months for overall	Venetoclax dose interruptions between
	phase 1b/2 [61]	s-AML = 40 (49%)		cohort	subsequent cycles in 55% patients, due to
					delayed neutrophil (10%) and platelet
					(12%) recovery

Table 3.2 (continued)

AML acute myeloid leukemia, AML-MDS acute myeloid leukemia transformed from underlying myeloidysplastic syndrome, AML-MPN acute myeloid leukemia transformed from underlying myeloproliferative neoplasm, Aza azacitidine, CI confidence interval, CMML chronic myelomonocytic leukemia, Dec decitabine, Dec 10 decitabine 10 days, MDS myelodysplastic syndrome, MPN myeloproliferative neoplasm, MPN-AP MPN-accelerated phase, N number of patients, Rux ruxolitinib, s-AML secondary AML, t-AML therapy related \overline{AML} , V venetoclax gle institution or retrospective studies, but do favor improved outcomes in patients who undergo HCT after achieving a complete response [62– 67]. While HCT remains the only potential curative option, s-AML has been identified as an independent risk factor for poorer outcomes after HCT [68]. Hence, careful consideration to the various clinical and genetic factors that impact HCT outcomes is warranted to identify who would benefit most from an HCT. Data from the Center for International Bone Marrow Transplant Research (CIBMTR) using HCT data between 1990 and 2004 for t-AML or t-MDS and from European Society for Blood and Bone Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) of HCTs performed between 2000 and 2016 for s-AML have demonstrated inferior survival with advancing age at HCT, poor risk cytogenetics, active disease at HCT, and alternative donors (other than HLAidentical sibling or partially or well-matched unrelated donor) [69, 70]. Among genetic markers, a study from Japan Marrow Donor Program, that included 24% patients with s-AML showed that patients with mutations in NRAS (HR 1.64, p = 0.0075), TP53 (HR 1.49, p = 0.0096), CBL (HR 1.55, p = 0.024) as well as complex karyotype (HR 1.45, p = 0.046) had particularly inferior outcomes post-HCT [68].

Emergence of therapeutic options prior to HCT increases the optimism for ability to achieve deeper remissions and possibly improving the outcomes from HCT. The possibility of incorporation of the novel therapies as maintenance strategies after HCT and availability of these drugs for treatment of relapse post-HCT further pave the way to utilize the graft-versus-leukemia in combination with the targeted agents.

3.5 Future Directions

Conventional therapeutic options have demonstrated limited activity in s-AML. Identification of novel recurrent somatic mutations in MDS, MPN, as well as post-MPN AML have helped to improve our understanding of disease biology, as well as to elucidate novel therapeutic possibilities. An example is the presence of *IDH1/2* mutations that is seen in over 20% patients with AML-MPN (versus around 4% in chronic phase MPN) [71, 72]. Ivosidenib and enasidenib have shown promising activity in relapsed/ refractory AML with *IDH1* and *IDH2* mutations, respectively [73, 74]. Whether these agents can be used in combination with other active agents in patients with s-AML as front-line therapy is being actively studied with encouraging early results. As mentioned above, mutations in TP53 are also enriched in patients with progression to AML following MDS or MPN, which presents a particularly challenging problem. The role of investigational drugs such as APR-246, with the potential ability to restore the function of point mutant TP53 in tumor cells, is currently being explored in TP53 mutated myeloid malignancies in combination with azacitidine (NCT 03072043). Additionally, novel venetoclax-based or CPX-351-based combination studies with targeted therapies are in progress. Collectively, these recent biological and clinical insights have the potential to alter the historically poor clinical course of patients with s-AML, and hopefully yield better options and outcomes.

References

- Harris NL, Jaffe ES, Diebold J, et al. World Health Organization classification of neoplastic diseases of the hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues: report of the Clinical Advisory Committee meeting-Airlie House, Virginia, November 1997. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:3835–49.
- Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, et al. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. 2016;127:2391–405.
- Friedberg JW, Neuberg D, Stone RM, et al. Outcome in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome after autologous bone marrow transplantation for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:3128–35.
- Koontz MZ, Horning SJ, Balise R, et al. Risk of therapy-related secondary leukemia in Hodgkin lymphoma: the Stanford University experience over three generations of clinical trials. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:592–8.
- 5. Le Beau MM, Albain KS, Larson RA, et al. Clinical and cytogenetic correlations in 63 patients with therapy-related myelodysplastic syndromes and acute nonlymphocytic leukemia: further evidence for char-

acteristic abnormalities of chromosomes no. 5 and 7. J Clin Oncol. 1986;4:325–45.

- Travis LB, Holowaty EJ, Bergfeldt K, et al. Risk of leukemia after platinum-based chemotherapy for ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:351–7.
- Smith SM, Le Beau MM, Huo D, et al. Clinicalcytogenetic associations in 306 patients with therapyrelated myelodysplasia and myeloid leukemia: the University of Chicago series. Blood. 2003;102:43–52.
- Pedersen-Bjergaard J, Philip P. Balanced translocations involving chromosome bands 11q23 and 21q22 are highly characteristic of myelodysplasia and leukemia following therapy with cytostatic agents targeting at DNA-topoisomerase II. Blood. 1991;78:1147–8.
- Rowley JD, Olney HJ. International workshop on the relationship of prior therapy to balanced chromosome aberrations in therapy-related myelodysplastic syndromes and acute leukemia: overview report. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2002;33:331–45.
- Takeyama K, Seto M, Uike N, et al. Therapy-related leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome: a largescale Japanese study of clinical and cytogenetic features as well as prognostic factors. Int J Hematol. 2000;71:144–52.
- Ertz-Archambault N, Kosiorek H, Taylor GE, et al. Association of therapy for autoimmune disease with myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3:936–43.
- Offman J, Opelz G, Doehler B, et al. Defective DNA mismatch repair in acute myeloid leukemia/myelodysplastic syndrome after organ transplantation. Blood. 2004;104:822–8.
- Granfeldt Ostgard LS, Medeiros BC, Sengelov H, et al. Epidemiology and clinical significance of secondary and therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia: a national population-based cohort study. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:3641–9.
- 14. Hulegardh E, Nilsson C, Lazarevic V, et al. Characterization and prognostic features of secondary acute myeloid leukemia in a population-based setting: a report from the Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry. Am J Hematol. 2015;90:208–14.
- Boddu P, Kantarjian HM, Garcia-Manero G, et al. Treated secondary acute myeloid leukemia: a distinct high-risk subset of AML with adverse prognosis. Blood Adv. 2017a;1:1312–23.
- Kayser S, Dohner K, Krauter J, et al. The impact of therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia (AML) on outcome in 2853 adult patients with newly diagnosed AML. Blood. 2011;117:2137–45.
- 17. Christiansen DH, Andersen MK, Pedersen-Bjergaard J. Mutations with loss of heterozygosity of p53 are common in therapy-related myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukemia after exposure to alkylating agents and significantly associated with deletion or loss of 5q, a complex karyotype, and a poor prognosis. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:1405–13.
- Leith CP, Kopecky KJ, Godwin J, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia in the elderly: assessment of multidrug resistance (MDR1) and cytogenetics distinguishes bio-

logic subgroups with remarkably distinct responses to standard chemotherapy. A Southwest Oncology Group study. Blood. 1997;89:3323–9.

- Leith CP, Kopecky KJ, Chen IM, et al. Frequency and clinical significance of the expression of the multidrug resistance proteins MDR1/P-glycoprotein, MRP1, and LRP in acute myeloid leukemia: a Southwest Oncology Group Study. Blood. 1999;94:1086–99.
- Cole SP, Bhardwaj G, Gerlach JH, et al. Overexpression of a transporter gene in a multidrug-resistant human lung cancer cell line. Science. 1992;258:1650–4.
- Scheffer GL, Wijngaard PL, Flens MJ, et al. The drug resistance-related protein LRP is the human major vault protein. Nat Med. 1995;1:578–82.
- Head DR. Revised classification of acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. 1996;10:1826–31.
- Gillis NK, Ball M, Zhang Q, et al. Clonal haemopoiesis and therapy-related myeloid malignancies in elderly patients: a proof-of-concept, case-control study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:112–21.
- 24. Takahashi K, Wang F, Kantarjian H, et al. Preleukaemic clonal haemopoiesis and risk of therapy-related myeloid neoplasms: a case-control study. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:100–11.
- Schulz E, Kashofer K, Heitzer E, et al. Preexisting TP53 mutation in therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia. Ann Hematol. 2015;94:527–9.
- Wong TN, Ramsingh G, Young AL, et al. Role of TP53 mutations in the origin and evolution of therapy-related acute myeloid leukaemia. Nature. 2015;518:552–5.
- Medyouf H, Mossner M, Jann JC, et al. Myelodysplastic cells in patients reprogram mesenchymal stromal cells to establish a transplantable stem cell niche disease unit. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;14:824–37.
- Lindsley RC, Mar BG, Mazzola E, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia ontogeny is defined by distinct somatic mutations. Blood. 2015;125:1367–76.
- Makishima H, Yoshizato T, Yoshida K, et al. Dynamics of clonal evolution in myelodysplastic syndromes. Nat Genet. 2017;49:204–12.
- Kim T, Tyndel MS, Kim HJ, et al. The clonal origins of leukemic progression of myelodysplasia. Leukemia. 2017;31:1928–35.
- Shiozawa Y, Malcovati L, Galli A, et al. Gene expression and risk of leukemic transformation in myelodysplasia. Blood. 2017;130:2642–53.
- 32. Mesa RA, Li CY, Ketterling RP, Schroeder GS, Knudson RA, Tefferi A. Leukemic transformation in myelofibrosis with myeloid metaplasia: a single-institution experience with 91 cases. Blood. 2005;105:973–7.
- Tefferi A, Guglielmelli P, Larson DR, et al. Longterm survival and blast transformation in molecularly annotated essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera, and myelofibrosis. Blood. 2014;124:2507–13; quiz 615
- 34. Abdel-Wahab O, Manshouri T, Patel J, et al. Genetic analysis of transforming events that convert chronic

myeloproliferative neoplasms to leukemias. Cancer Res. 2010;70:447–52.

- Green A, Beer P. Somatic mutations of IDH1 and IDH2 in the leukemic transformation of myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:369–70.
- Harutyunyan A, Klampfl T, Cazzola M, Kralovics R. p53 lesions in leukemic transformation. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:488–90.
- 37. Zhang SJ, Rampal R, Manshouri T, et al. Genetic analysis of patients with leukemic transformation of myeloproliferative neoplasms shows recurrent SRSF2 mutations that are associated with adverse outcome. Blood. 2012;119:4480–5.
- Thoennissen NH, Krug UO, Lee DH, et al. Prevalence and prognostic impact of allelic imbalances associated with leukemic transformation of Philadelphia chromosome-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2010;115:2882–90.
- Klampfl T, Harutyunyan A, Berg T, et al. Genome integrity of myeloproliferative neoplasms in chronic phase and during disease progression. Blood. 2011;118:167–76.
- Rampal R, Ahn J, Abdel-Wahab O, et al. Genomic and functional analysis of leukemic transformation of myeloproliferative neoplasms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111:E5401–10.
- McNerney ME, Brown CD, Peterson AL, et al. The spectrum of somatic mutations in high-risk acute myeloid leukaemia with -7/del(7q). Br J Haematol. 2014;166:550–6.
- 42. Side LE, Curtiss NP, Teel K, et al. RAS, FLT3, and TP53 mutations in therapy-related myeloid malignancies with abnormalities of chromosomes 5 and 7. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2004;39:217–23.
- 43. Ok CY, Patel KP, Garcia-Manero G, et al. TP53 mutation characteristics in therapy-related myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia is similar to de novo diseases. J Hematol Oncol. 2015;8:45.
- 44. Schoch C, Kern W, Schnittger S, Hiddemann W, Haferlach T. Karyotype is an independent prognostic parameter in therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia (t-AML): an analysis of 93 patients with t-AML in comparison to 1091 patients with de novo AML. Leukemia. 2004;18:120–5.
- 45. Lim WS, Tardi PG, Dos Santos N, et al. Leukemiaselective uptake and cytotoxicity of CPX-351, a synergistic fixed-ratio cytarabine:daunorubicin formulation, in bone marrow xenografts. Leuk Res. 2010;34:1214–23.
- 46. Mayer LD, Harasym TO, Tardi PG, et al. Ratiometric dosing of anticancer drug combinations: controlling drug ratios after systemic administration regulates therapeutic activity in tumor-bearing mice. Mol Cancer Ther. 2006;5:1854–63.
- Tardi P, Johnstone S, Harasym N, et al. In vivo maintenance of synergistic cytarabine:daunorubicin ratios greatly enhances therapeutic efficacy. Leuk Res. 2009;33:129–39.
- Lancet JE, Cortes JE, Hogge DE, et al. Phase 2 trial of CPX-351, a fixed 5:1 molar ratio of cytarabine/dau-

norubicin, vs cytarabine/daunorubicin in older adults with untreated AML. Blood. 2014;123:3239–46.

- 49. Lancet JE, Uy GL, Cortes JE, et al. CPX-351 (cytarabine and daunorubicin) liposome for injection versus conventional cytarabine plus daunorubicin in older patients with newly diagnosed secondary acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:2684–92.
- Jiang Y, Dunbar A, Gondek LP, et al. Aberrant DNA methylation is a dominant mechanism in MDS progression to AML. Blood. 2009;113:1315–25.
- Ruter B, Wijermans PW, Lubbert M. DNA methylation as a therapeutic target in hematologic disorders: recent results in older patients with myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukemia. Int J Hematol. 2004;80:128–35.
- 52. Fenaux P, Mufti GJ, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, et al. Efficacy of azacitidine compared with that of conventional care regimens in the treatment of higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes: a randomised, openlabel, phase III study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10:223–32.
- 53. Seymour JF, Dohner H, Butrym A, et al. Azacitidine improves clinical outcomes in older patients with acute myeloid leukaemia with myelodysplasia-related changes compared with conventional care regimens. BMC Cancer. 2017;17:852.
- 54. Kantarjian HM, Thomas XG, Dmoszynska A, et al. Multicenter, randomized, open-label, phase III trial of decitabine versus patient choice, with physician advice, of either supportive care or low-dose cytarabine for the treatment of older patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2670–7.
- 55. Badar T, Kantarjian HM, Ravandi F, et al. Therapeutic benefit of decitabine, a hypomethylating agent, in patients with high-risk primary myelofibrosis and myeloproliferative neoplasm in accelerated or blastic/acute myeloid leukemia phase. Leuk Res. 2015;39:950–6.
- 56. Thepot S, Itzykson R, Seegers V, et al. Treatment of progression of Philadelphia-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms to myelodysplastic syndrome or acute myeloid leukemia by azacitidine: a report on 54 cases on the behalf of the Groupe Francophone des Myelodysplasies (GFM). Blood. 2010;116: 3735–42.
- 57. Eghtedar A, Verstovsek S, Estrov Z, et al. Phase 2 study of the JAK kinase inhibitor ruxolitinib in patients with refractory leukemias, including postmyeloproliferative neoplasm acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2012;119:4614–8.
- Rampal RK, Mascarenhas JO, Kosiorek HE, et al. Safety and efficacy of combined ruxolitinib and decitabine in accelerated and blast-phase myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood Adv. 2018;2:3572–80.
- DiNardo CD, Pratz K, Pullarkat V, et al. Venetoclax combined with decitabine or azacitidine in treatmentnaive, elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2019;133:7–17.
- 60. Maiti A, DiNardo CD, Cortes JE, et al. Interim analysis of phase II study of venetoclax with 10-day

decitabine (DEC10-VEN) in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. Blood. 2018;132:286.

- Wei AH, Strickland SA Jr, Hou JZ, et al. Venetoclax combined with low-dose cytarabine for previously untreated patients with acute myeloid leukemia: results from a phase Ib/II study. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37:1277–84.
- Boddu PC, Kantarjian HM, Ravandi F, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of older patients with secondary acute myeloid leukemia according to treatment approach. Cancer. 2017b;123:3050–60.
- 63. Cherington C, Slack JL, Leis J, et al. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for myeloproliferative neoplasm in blast phase. Leuk Res. 2012;36:1147–51.
- 64. Kennedy JA, Atenafu EG, Messner HA, et al. Treatment outcomes following leukemic transformation in Philadelphia-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2013;121:2725–33.
- 65. Oosterveld M, Muus P, Suciu S, et al. Chemotherapy only compared to chemotherapy followed by transplantation in high risk myelodysplastic syndrome and secondary acute myeloid leukemia; two parallel studies adjusted for various prognostic factors. Leukemia. 2002;16:1615–21.
- 66. Oosterveld M, Suciu S, Verhoef G, et al. The presence of an HLA-identical sibling donor has no impact on outcome of patients with high-risk MDS or secondary AML (sAML) treated with intensive chemotherapy followed by transplantation: results of a prospective study of the EORTC, EBMT, SAKK and GIMEMA Leukemia Groups (EORTC study 06921). Leukemia. 2003;17:859–68.
- 67. Shin SH, Yahng SA, Yoon JH, et al. Survival benefits with transplantation in secondary AML evolving

from myelodysplastic syndrome with hypomethylating treatment failure. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2013;48:678–83.

- Yoshizato T, Nannya Y, Atsuta Y, et al. Genetic abnormalities in myelodysplasia and secondary acute myeloid leukemia: impact on outcome of stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2017;129:2347–58.
- Litzow MR, Tarima S, Perez WS, et al. Allogeneic transplantation for therapy-related myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2010;115:1850–7.
- 70. Sengsayadeth S, Labopin M, Boumendil A, et al. Transplant outcomes for secondary acute myeloid leukemia: acute leukemia working party of the European Society for blood and bone marrow transplantation study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2018;24:1406–14.
- Pardanani A, Lasho TL, Finke CM, Mai M, McClure RF, Tefferi A. IDH1 and IDH2 mutation analysis in chronic- and blast-phase myeloproliferative neoplasms. Leukemia. 2010;24:1146–51.
- Tefferi A, Lasho TL, Abdel-Wahab O, et al. IDH1 and IDH2 mutation studies in 1473 patients with chronic-, fibrotic- or blast-phase essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera or myelofibrosis. Leukemia. 2010;24:1302–9.
- DiNardo CD, Stein EM, de Botton S, et al. Durable remissions with Ivosidenib in IDH1-mutated relapsed or refractory AML. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:2386–98.
- Stein EM, DiNardo CD, Pollyea DA, et al. Enasidenib in mutant IDH2 relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017;130:722–31.
Selection of Patients for Individual Acute Myeloid Leukemia Therapies

Roland B. Walter

4.1 Introduction

In 2019, an estimated 21,450 people developed acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in the United States alone [1]. Until recently, treatment options were relatively limited, and decision-making followed an algorithm that has been invariant for several decades [2, 3]. If the person was felt to be medically fit, cure was considered possible: some form of intensive chemotherapy would be offered followed by further courses of chemotherapy and/or allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) if a complete remission (CR) was obtained. On the other hand, if the person was felt to be medically unfit, cure was considered rare: in this situation, some form of nonintensive, "palliative" chemotherapy would be offered, most typically low-dose cytarabine or, more recently, single-agent treatment with an azanucleoside (e.g., azacytidine or decitabine) or AML-directed therapy is forgone altogether. Over the last few years, the U.S. Food and Drug

Administration (FDA) has approved eight new drugs for AML, most of them being "targeted" therapeutics: midostaurin, gemtuzumab, ozogamicin, enasidenib, CPX-351, ivosidenib, gilteritinib, glasdegib, and venetoclax [4]. With these, the treatment options have substantially increased, and the line between intensive and non-intensive therapies has become blurrier. Still, although outcomes have gradually improved, AML remains difficult to cure. Many affected individuals will die from consequences of leukemia or treatment-associated complications, and only a minority will be long-term survivors [2– 4]. There is thus ongoing need for new therapeutics in AML and need to identify patients most suitable for participation in a clinical trial. With an increasing number of available standard AML therapeutics and ongoing need for new drugs, treatment decision-making has become more complex: should my patient receive standard AML therapy, and if so, with what regimen? Or is my patient better served participating in the testing of an investigational drug? The ability to accurately predict the efficacy of individual treatments in individual patients would greatly improve clinical management as it could form the foundation for evidence-based decision-making regarding the most appropriate treatment. This review will summarize and appraise efforts taken so far to develop tools to predict the risks and benefits of AML therapies for individual patients, focusing on non-transplant treatments.

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_4

Check for updates

R. B. Walter (🖂)

Clinical Research Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA, USA

Division of Hematology, Department of Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

Department of Epidemiology, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA e-mail: rwalter@fredhutch.org

4.2 Outcomes of Interest with AML Therapy

Arguably, the most desirable AML therapy is the one that effectively eliminates leukemia cells and restores normal hematopoietic cell function without treatment-associated morbidity and mortality but with maintenance of a high quality of life (QOL). Also arguably, we are far away from having such a therapy available. In fact, even though the value of successful AML therapy was quickly recognized once the first chemotherapeutics for acute leukemia became available [5], the presumption that potential risks are not commensurate with potential benefits often leads physicians and/or patients to shy away from AML-directed therapy, at least for older people. This is indicated by recent estimates that less than half of Americans aged >65 years with newly diagnosed AML, and as few as 10-20% of those aged >80 years, receive specific chemotherapy, and only a minority does so in specialized cancer centers [6, 7].

At least in the era of non-targeted AML therapy, multiagent chemotherapy was felt to be a pivotal component of a curative treatment strategy [2-4]. Although cautious interpretation of findings is warranted, data from the U.S. and European population-based registry data suggest value of intensive chemotherapy not just for younger patients but also for older individuals up to age 80 years or perhaps beyond [7, 8]. Considering that AML primarily affects older people, many of whom will have comorbidities that could limit drug tolerance, it is therefore not surprising that most efforts have focused on developing models to estimate the fitness to tolerate intensive multiagent chemotherapy. With continued improvements in supportive care, however, our abilities to support patients throughout the periods of disease/treatment-related cytopenias have progressively increased and early deaths with intensive chemotherapy have significantly decreased [9–11]. Likewise, non-relapse mortality with allogeneic HCT has substantially declined over time [12]. Thus, intensive therapies can now be given more safely to treat AML, even in older adults. With this, primary failure of AML therapy or disease recurrence after a period of remission—the two outcomes that constitute "therapeutic resistance"—has become the principal life-limiting problem in AML.

4.3 Brief Statistical Considerations

When considering approaches to estimating outcomes with AML therapy, it is important to distinguish between association and prediction (or classification) models. Association models, as the name implies, aim to identify associations between covariates and patient outcomes. Common measures of association in clinical studies are odds ratios and hazard ratios, which are interpreted as an average effect in the study population [13]. In contrast, prediction models aim to evaluate the ability of one or more covariates to predict outcomes for individual patients. Common measures of prediction models are sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) [14]. A strong association is usually necessary but not sufficient for a model to be able to predict well [15]. For a binary outcome (e.g., early death/ no early death), the AUC measure can take values between 0.5 and 1.0, with an AUC of 0.5 being analogous to a coin flip and an AUC of 1.0 denoting perfect prediction. It is commonly accepted that AUCs of 0.6-0.7, 0.7-0.8, and 0.8-0.9 indicate poor, fair, and good predictive ability, respectively [16–18].

4.4 Predicting AML Therapy-Related Mortality

Most approaches to predict the toxicity of AML therapy have focused on deaths within 28–30 days (sometimes within 60 days) of beginning chemotherapy. A rationale behind this is the observation that weekly death rates sharply decline after 4 weeks, suggesting patients who die in this time frame are qualitatively different from those who do not [19]. However, considering early death to be equivalent to treatment-related mortality (TRM) is flawed because deaths may be related to disease-associated myelosuppression or organ dysfunction or-as recently shown in an institutional trial using reduced-intensity CPX-351 [20]—early progression of AML rather than be a direct consequence of the therapy given. Thus, in many patients, early deaths may occur despite rather than because of the AML therapy. A cleaner way to assess treatment-related toxicities might be to model early deaths with postremission therapy for patients who have attained full hematologic recovery with prior courses of treatment although the nature of the therapy given and the patients receiving it will limit the conclusions that could be drawn from such models.

Over the years, many factors have been associated with early death, including age and covariates such as albumin and creatinine that may serve as surrogates for biological (rather than chronological) age. Such factors allow building of multicomponent scores reflective of the probability of early death with AML therapy. Several scoring systems aimed at identifying patients at high early death risk after intensive chemotherapy have been developed [19, 21-27]. Some of these systems reach good predictive ability with AUC values above 0.8. While they differ in the details, they all indicate the accuracy of predicting early death is optimized when a combination of factors rather than just one factor (such as age or performance status) is considered. This observation underlies the recommendation by the European LeukemiaNet and the National Comprehensive Cancer Network to consider age in the context of other covariates when considering the appropriateness of intensive AML therapy [3, 28].

Although not perfect, existing models to predict early death offer an empiric approach of selecting patients who will not die early after receiving intensive chemotherapy. It is plausible that models could be improved by integrating additional covariates such as comorbidities not captured in current models, additional information on patient demographics (e.g., educational level), site of treatment, among others [4]. To what degree comprehensive geriatric assessments could improve early death predictions after AML therapy is currently unknown but important to determine. It is becoming more and more clear that geriatric assessments provide a framework for an individual patient's fitness for therapy and can help in personalized decision-making [29]. Several studies have demonstrated geriatric assessments provide information that, independently, is associated with survival in older patients with AML [30–32]. and it is possible such information could improve multicomponent early death prediction models. As a consequence of the progressively declining rates of early death with intensive AML therapy and increasing number of available treatments re-calibrating existing systems (to account for changes in the supportive care pattern) and developing new systems is becoming increasingly more challenging as larger and larger datasets of similarly-treated patients will be required to model early death mathematically.

4.5 Predicting Non-fatal Toxicities of AML Therapy

In contrast to the many efforts spent on trying to predict early death after intensive AML therapy, understanding the degree to which non-fatal toxicities can be predicted has not been of major interest, and it is not understood which patient characteristics are most strongly associated with occurrence of such toxicities. One recent study has examined these questions using data from 260 adults age 18-60 years with AML treated with 7+3 on a contemporary cooperative study group (SWOG) Phase 3 trial [33]. The following baseline covariates were assessed: age at study registration, gender, performance status, prestudy white blood cell (WBC) counts, pre-study platelets counts, pre-study hemoglobin (HGB), pre-study bone marrow blast percentage, secondary vs. de novo AML, cytogenetic risk, and NPM1 as well as FLT3-ITD mutation status. In univariate models, no individual covariate was a strong predictor of toxicity. Only three pairs of toxicity/covariate had an AUC >0.65: older age predicting increased risk of endocrine

abnormalities (AUC = 0.67), higher baseline WBC predicting increased risk for bleeding (AUC = 0.67), and higher baseline HGB predicting increased risk of neurologic toxicity (AUC = 0.69). As incidence allowed, multivariable models were evaluated which showed increased AUCs compared to univariate models, but no multivariable model had an AUC larger than 0.70. Within the limitation that not all covariates important to predict toxicities may be captured in cooperative group datasets and that patients with significant organ dysfunction were excluded from trial participation, these findings indicate that there is a poor ability to predict commonly occurring grade 3 and higher toxicities that occur with multiagent AML chemotherapy.

4.6 Predicting the Efficacy of AML Therapy

At the cohort level, many disease characteristics, in particular cytogenetic and molecular abnormalities, have been associated with measures of therapeutic efficacy, e.g., achievement of complete remission (CR), relapse rates, event/diseasefree survival, or overall survival [2-4].Forecasting efficacy of therapy for individual people with AML, on the other hand, has proved relatively difficult. Using data from over 4500 adults treated with conventional intensive AML chemotherapy, it was found that there was only a fair ability to predict failure to achieve CR with the initial 1-2 courses of chemotherapy or to have a short relapse-free survival if CR was obtained. Various models that included basic patient characteristics (age, performance status) and commonly available disease characteristics (white blood cell count, secondary disease, cytogenetic risk, and NPM1 as well as FLT3-ITD mutation status) had AUCs typically ranging from 0.71 to 0.78 [34]. This finding of only a fair ability to predict CR is consistent with a study by Krug et al. who observed AUCs of 0.72 and 0.68 with multivariable models in their study cohort [24]. These relatively low AUCs suggest caution to avoid overestimating our ability to predict resistance following standard therapy of AML, which is closer to a coin-flip than certainty in many instances when commonly utilized factors are considered.

To some degree, inclusion of additional disease characteristics can refine prediction of therapeutics. For example, data from a larger number of additional commonly occurring mutations improved the predictive accuracy of simpler models minimally (from AUCs of 0.70-0.76 to 0.72-0.80 in a cohort of 298 patients treated uniformly on a cooperative study trial) [35]. Moreover, a score derived from expression data from 17 genes associated with stemness of leukemia cells (17-gene LSC score, "LSC17")-yielding an AUC of 0.78 for the prediction of failure to achieve CR after initial induction therapyimproved a multicomponent prediction model for this endpoint from an AUC of 0.73 to an AUC of 0.82 [36]. However, it is likely that even highly sophisticated genetic models will come short of high accuracy. Data from a comprehensive genetic analysis of over 1500 patients suggested that genomic features-while being the most powerful predictors-accounted for only about two thirds of the observed variation in survival. One third of this variation was attributed to demographics, clinical, and treatment variables [37].

4.7 Predicting the QOL Impact of AML Therapy

QOL is severely reduced in people diagnosed with AML and is affected over time as a patient goes through AML-directed therapy successfully or unsuccessfully [38]. Current evidence indicates that different treatments will affect the QOL in different ways. For example, QOL may further decrease early after receiving intensive chemotherapy but then improve, whereas it may be stable initially with non-intensive treatment but worsen over time. QOL considerations therefore need to play an important role in the daily care of AML patients. Undoubtedly, QOL is linked to treatment toxicities and efficacy, but there will be some elements that are independent. For example, for two therapies that are equally toxic and effective, there might be strong preference to receive this treatment at home (e.g., as oral medication) or in the clinic rather than requiring administration in the hospital. To date, no efforts have been made to predict QOL (or, rather, changes in QOL) with different types of AML therapy. One barrier to modeling QOL endpoints in AML is the lack of a disease-specific QOL instrument that can efficiently capture the major QOL deficits in this population. Efforts to correct this deficiency are ongoing [39].

4.8 Outcome Prediction in the Era of Targeted AML Therapy and Rapidly Evolving Treatment Algorithms

With recent regulatory approval of several small molecule inhibitors and one antibody-drug conjugate, we have now entered the era of targeted therapy in AML. Unlike the treatments that target PML-RARA in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL), however, so far none of the existing targeted AML drugs has near-perfect efficacy even in patients selected by the presence of documented abnormalities in the drug target. In a disease as heterogeneous as AML where genetic abnormalities typically appear to work in concert rather than single handedly to drive the leukemic process, they never may. Thus, having good tools available that can help select individual therapies will remain as important as it is today. To what degree relevant outcomes with targeted AML therapies can be predicted is not known. It will take a considerable amount of time to gather large-enough datasets that allow development and validation of such models.

Since outcome prediction models are reflective of the time when they were developed, capturing not only the anti-AML therapy given but also the supportive care provided, they are—by default—outdated at the time they are introduced into clinical use. That is true even if the general therapeutic strategy does not substantially change. Fortunately, after many years of no change, we have now seen rapid introduction of several new drugs for AML. With every additional drug approved for clinical use, there will be more treatments and treatment combinations available to choose from. As seen today by the shift away from low-dose cytarabine or azanucleoside monotherapy to lower-intensity doublet (or triplet) therapies, some treatments may become quickly obsolete and replaced by others. Constant shifts in treatment paradigms pose a real challenge for physicians and patients interested in empiric approaches to help choose the most appropriate treatment given the time it takes to establish a validated treatment selection tool. Rather than estimating outcomes with the treatment of interest, they may be left with estimating outcomes with "older" treatments and, indirectly, have to use that information to decide whether it is worth pursuing an alternative treatment. Similar to how we might think about deciding between "standard" and investigational therapy.

4.9 Conclusion

There is no shortage in the scoring systems aimed to identify patients at high risk of either early death or treatment resistance after conventional intensive AML therapy. They offer an empiric approach of selecting patients who will do well with standard AML chemotherapy. However, there are important caveats physicians and patients need to be aware of when utilizing these tools. First and foremost, the accuracy of these prediction models is imperfect even at the time of their development, highlighting our limitations in comprehensively capturing and mathematically describing the factors relevant for outcomes of AML therapies. As the rather small improvements in accuracy between relatively simple and complex resistance models indicate, it is very unlikely that we will reach perfect (or nearperfect) prediction accuracy, at least not when trying to forecast the results with conventional AML therapy. Second, scoring systems are likely not agnostic to the type of AML therapy given. Especially at times when newly approved drugs become available for routine use and the standard

R. B. Walter

of care approach changes, existing models are no longer capturing the clinical reality. It will take great, concerted effort and large patient datasets to refine prediction models based on data derived from patients receiving new standard therapies. And finally, scoring systems are a reflection of factors that mattered at the time the patient received treatment that contributed to the models. Already imperfect at the time of development, the models' accuracy will likely decrease over time with changes in AML care. For example, the rate of early death following intensive induction chemotherapy has declined considerably over the last 20 years because of improvement in supportive care [9–11]. Thus, early death prediction tools-but also resistance prediction tools that are affected by non-leukemia-related deathsneed to be re-assessed and re-calibrated periodically to account for our increasing ability to keep AML patients alive. The task of updating mortality prediction models will become more and more difficult as death rates decline.

Conflict of Interest The author declares no competing financial interests.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin. 2019;69(1):7–34.
- Döhner H, Weisdorf DJ, Bloomfield CD. Acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(12):1136–52.
- Döhner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129(4):424–47.
- Estey EH. Acute myeloid leukemia: 2019 update on risk-stratification and management. Am J Hematol. 2018;93(10):1267–91.
- Freireich EJ, Gehan EA, Sulman D, Boggs DR, Frei E 3rd. The effect of chemotherapy on acute leukemia in the human. J Chronic Dis. 1961;14(6):593–608.
- Meyers J, Yu Y, Kaye JA, Davis KL. Medicare feefor-service enrollees with primary acute myeloid leukemia: an analysis of treatment patterns, survival, and healthcare resource utilization and costs. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2013;11(3):275–86.
- Oran B, Weisdorf DJ. Survival for older patients with acute myeloid leukemia: a population-based study. Haematologica. 2012;97(12):1916–24.

- Juliusson G, Antunovic P, Derolf Å, et al. Age and acute myeloid leukemia: real world data on decision to treat and outcomes from the Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry. Blood. 2009;113(18):4179–87.
- Halpern AB, Culakova E, Walter RB, Lyman GH. Association of risk factors, mortality, and care costs of adults with acute myeloid leukemia with admission to the intensive care unit. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(3):374–81.
- Othus M, Kantarjian H, Petersdorf S, et al. Declining rates of treatment-related mortality in patients with newly diagnosed AML given 'intense' induction regimens: a report from SWOG and MD Anderson. Leukemia. 2014;28(2):289–92.
- Percival ME, Tao L, Medeiros BC, Clarke CA. Improvements in the early death rate among 9380 patients with acute myeloid leukemia after initial therapy: a SEER database analysis. Cancer. 2015;121(12):2004–12.
- Gooley TA, Chien JW, Pergam SA, et al. Reduced mortality after allogeneic hematopoietic-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(22):2091–101.
- Harrell FE Jr. Regression modeling strategies: with applications to linear models, logistic regression, and survival analysis. New York, NY: Springer; 2001.
- Pepe MS. The statistical evaluation of medical tests for classification and prediction. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2004.
- Pepe MS, Janes H, Longton G, Leisenring W, Newcomb P. Limitations of the odds ratio in gauging the performance of a diagnostic, prognostic, or screening marker. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;159(9):882–90.
- 16. Ishihara R, Yamada T, Iishi H, et al. Quantitative analysis of the color change after iodine staining for diagnosing esophageal high-grade intraepithelial neoplasia and invasive cancer. Gastrointest Endosc. 2009;69(2):213–8.
- Muller MP, Tomlinson G, Marrie TJ, et al. Can routine laboratory tests discriminate between severe acute respiratory syndrome and other causes of community-acquired pneumonia? Clin Infect Dis. 2005;40(8):1079–86.
- Roelen CA, van Rhenen W, Groothoff JW, van der Klink JJ, Bultmann U, Heymans MW. The development and validation of two prediction models to identify employees at risk of high sickness absence. Eur J Pub Health. 2013;23(1):128–33.
- Walter RB, Othus M, Borthakur G, et al. Prediction of early death after induction therapy for newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia with pretreatment risk scores: a novel paradigm for treatment assignment. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(33):4417–23.
- Walter RB, Othus M, Orlowski KF, et al. Unsatisfactory efficacy in randomized study of reduced-dose CPX-351 for medically less fit adults with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia or other high-grade myeloid neoplasm. Haematologica. 2018;103(3):e106–9.
- 21. Giles FJ, Borthakur G, Ravandi F, et al. The haematopoietic cell transplantation comorbidity index

score is predictive of early death and survival in patients over 60 years of age receiving induction therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2007;136(4):624–7.

- 22. Kantarjian H, O'Brien S, Cortes J, et al. Results of intensive chemotherapy in 998 patients age 65 years or older with acute myeloid leukemia or high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome: predictive prognostic models for outcome. Cancer. 2006;106(5):1090–8.
- Kantarjian H, Ravandi F, O'Brien S, et al. Intensive chemotherapy does not benefit most older patients (age 70 years or older) with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2010;116(22):4422–9.
- 24. Krug U, Röllig C, Koschmieder A, et al. Complete remission and early death after intensive chemotherapy in patients aged 60 years or older with acute myeloid leukaemia: a web-based application for prediction of outcomes. Lancet. 2010;376(9757):2000–8.
- Malfuson JV, Etienne A, Turlure P, et al. Risk factors and decision criteria for intensive chemotherapy in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica. 2008;93(12):1806–13.
- 26. Savic A, Kvrgic V, Rajic N, et al. The hematopoietic cell transplantation comorbidity index is a predictor of early death and survival in adult acute myeloid leukemia patients. Leuk Res. 2012;36(4):479–82.
- 27. Valcárcel D, Montesinos P, Sánchez-Ortega I, et al. A scoring system to predict the risk of death during induction with anthracycline plus cytarabine-based chemotherapy in patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer. 2012;118(2):410–7.
- O'Donnell MR, Tallman MS, Abboud CN, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia, version 3.2017, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2017;15(7):926–57.
- Michaelis LC, Klepin HD, Walter RB. Advancements in the management of medically less-fit and older adults with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2018;19(8): 865–82.

- 30. Deschler B, Ihorst G, Platzbecker U, et al. Parameters detected by geriatric and quality of life assessment in 195 older patients with myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia are highly predictive for outcome. Haematologica. 2013;98(2):208–16.
- Klepin HD, Geiger AM, Tooze JA, et al. Geriatric assessment predicts survival for older adults receiving induction chemotherapy for acute myelogenous leukemia. Blood. 2013;121(21):4287–94.
- 32. Sherman AE, Motyckova G, Fega KR, et al. Geriatric assessment in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia: a retrospective study of associated treatment and outcomes. Leuk Res. 2013;37(9):998–1003.
- Othus M, Garcia-Manero G, Appelbaum FR, Erba HP, Walter RB. Predicting induction toxicity with 7+3: analysis of SWOG trial S1203 [abstract]. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):1403.
- Walter RB, Othus M, Burnett AK, et al. Resistance prediction in AML: analysis of 4601 patients from MRC/ NCRI, HOVON/SAKK, SWOG and MD Anderson Cancer Center. Leukemia. 2015a;29(2):312–20.
- 35. Walter RB, Othus M, Paietta EM, et al. Effect of genetic profiling on prediction of therapeutic resistance and survival in adult acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. 2015b;29(10):2104–7.
- Ng SW, Mitchell A, Kennedy JA, et al. A 17-gene stemness score for rapid determination of risk in acute leukaemia. Nature. 2016;540(7633):433–7.
- Papaemmanuil E, Gerstung M, Bullinger L, et al. Genomic classification and prognosis in acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(23):2209–21.
- Buckley SA, Kirtane K, Walter RB, Lee SJ, Lyman GH. Patient-reported outcomes in acute myeloid leukemia: where are we now? Blood Rev. 2018a;32(1):81–7.
- Buckley SA, Jimenez-Sahagun D, Othus M, Walter RB, Lee SJ. Quality of life from the perspective of the patient with acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer. 2018b;124(1):145–52.

(AML1-ETO) gene and inv (16)(p13.1;q22) or t(16;16)(p13.1;q22) which creates the CBFB/ MYH11 fusion gene. Patients with mutated NPM1 with wild-type FLT3-ITD or with FLT3 mutations with low allelic ratios (ratio of mutated to normal alleles <0.5) and those with biallelic mutations in CEBPA are also classified as favorable risk, regardless of other cytogenetic aberrations, although it now appears patients who have the NPM1+/FLT3-negative genotype but adverse cytogenetics have an adverse rather than a favorable prognosis. The intermediate risk category includes those with both a mutated NPM1 and FLT3-ITD with a high allelic ratio, those with wild-type NPM1 with a low-allelic ratio FLT-ITD, those with a t(9;11)(p21.3;q23.3) leading to the MLLT3-KMT2A fusion gene, and cytogenetic abnormalities not otherwise classified. Finally, the adverse-risk category encompasses those with TP53 mutations-perhaps the most dominant adverse-risk factor-the RUNX1 and ASXL1 mutations, along with complex and monosomal karyotypes and a few other gene specific cytogenetic abnormalities (e.g., monosomy 5 and 7). The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) also published risk stratification guidelines whose recent 2017 update [3] are largely similar to the ELN 2017 guidelines, with a few differences in the classification of various FLT3-ITD mutated patients and CBF leukemia with the KIT mutation, who are placed in the intermediate-risk group.

Pretreatment Disease Risk

Much progress has been made in identifying

genetic features of AML that may predict resis-

tance to classic cytotoxic therapy (and likely

newer "targeted" therapies as well) and thus

shape prognosis. These features encompass both

classical cytogenetics and the mutational status

of various genes. Further distinction is often

made between de novo and secondary AML due

to prior chemotherapy or following an antecedent

hematologic disorder, as discussed in Chap. 3,

although much of the prognostic relevance of

secondary disease is accounted for by genetic

risk [1]. The European LeukemiaNet (ELN)

guidelines, most recently updated in 2017, are

the most commonly used source for classifying

risk of resistance, which even in patients in their

70s is the main cause of death in AML [2]. These

guidelines group patients into "favorable," "inter-

mediate," and "adverse" categories. The favor-

able category encompasses the core binding

factor (CBF) leukemias, i.e., those with t(8;21)

(q22;q22) resulting in the RUNX1-RUNX1T1

Division of Hematology, Department of Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

Clinical Research Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center/University of Washington,

Stratification

Therapy of Newly Diagnosed Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML)

Anna B. Halpern and Elihu Estey

A. B. Halpern $(\boxtimes) \cdot E$. Estey

Seattle, WA, USA

e-mail: halpern2@uw.edu

5.1



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), Acute Leukemias, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_5

While the ELN 2017 guidelines are widely used, relatively easy to apply with currently available clinical genetic testing at most centers, and have been partially validated in subsequent studies (e.g., Japan Acute Leukemia Group Study patients [4]), there are some limitations. For example, age is not factored into these guidelines, although it does clearly play a role in prognosis, as Ostronoff et al. [5] found that patients aged >65 years with NPM1 mutations and wildtype FLT3-ITD (favorable risk) had poorer outcomes than younger adults in SWOG and MRC/ NCRI trials. In addition to age, co-occurring mutations found on next-generation sequencing (NGS) likely interact with mutations in NPM1 and FLT3, for example, thus modifying prognosis. Eisfeld et al. [6] evaluated outcomes of 423 patients aged >60 years treated on Alliance protocols and found that while ELN favorable-risk patients did have longer survival than intermediate/adverse-risk patients, the intermediate and adverse risk had an indistinguishable prognosis. However, when they used an 80-gene NGS panel to more specifically attempt risk stratification, they were better able to risk stratify their study cohort. Similarly, Patel et al. [7] reported that both higher NPM1 mutation burden (measured as variant allele frequency) and the co-occurrence of DNMT3A mutations with NPM1 were associated with shorter EFS and survival.

These findings of the importance of genegene interactions demonstrate the significance of incorporating more comprehensive genetic data than what is included in the ELN 2017 guidelines when creating risk categories that then drive treatment decisions. The downside, however, of these large NGS panels is that while initial treatment decisions for AML therapy are usually made within the first few days after diagnosis, and often in community settings, these panels are not yet widely available beyond academic settings and results can take weeks to come back. Notably, however, multiple studies have demonstrated that delay in AML therapy often does not have a deleterious effect on outcome [8, 9]. Finally, although there has been a recent surge of drug approvals for AML, the majority of leukemia-associated mutations that have been identified are not yet targetable by available drugs. Even in cases where drugs are available for single mutations, the duration of response is relatively short, suggesting the future will likely see the use of such drugs in combinations with each other or with chemotherapy.

5.2 Pretreatment Patient Risk Stratification

In addition to the disease-associated factors noted above, patient-specific factors also play an important role in initial therapeutic decisions, especially whether to give an "intensive" or "less-intensive" regimen. With a recently expanding list of approved options with which to treat patients with newly diagnosed AML, in addition to many investigational agents, it is useful to have an "objective" or quantifiable approach to risk prediction. As described more fully in Chap. 4, there are a variety of scoring systems that have been developed whose goal is to identify patients at high-risk for "treatment-related mortality" (TRM) or early mortality following induction chemotherapy [10-14]. Some of these tools focus solely on patient-related factors, with recurring important predictive factors across tools including age, performance status, baseline leukocyte count, serum creatine, and antecedent hematologic disorder, while others combine both patientspecific factors and diseased-specific factors such as cytogenetics, which are more likely a predictor of efficacy rather than short-term toxicity [12].

While age is indeed a common variable in many of these models—and in real-world practice, it often is the primary factor used in treatment determination—the accuracy of each of these models seems to be improved when other covariates are added, underscoring the recommendation by both the ELN and NCCN that age should be considered in the context of other variables when deciding whether to proceed with intensive therapy [2, 3]. Further, with improvements in supportive care, intensive therapies have become safer and the overall TRM rate for AML has decreased over time [15]. In practice, however, even fitter older patients are frequently offered less intensive therapy (commonly "hypomethylating agents" such as azacitidine or decitabine) rather than more intense therapy, based on the assumption that potential risks of intensive therapy are not commensurate with potential benefits. Indeed, records from large databases suggest that less than half of Americans aged >65 years with AML, and as few as 10-20% of those >80 years, receive intense chemotherapy [16, 17]. Data from population-based AML registries and one retrospective analysis from patients treated at five U.S. cancer centers support the use of intensive rather than low-intensity chemotherapy-in terms of disease-related and survival outcomes-in most AML patients up to age 80 years even with comorbidities [17, 18]. However, retrospective data should be interpreted cautiously since information on exact regimens is often not available and differences in supportive care and selection bias may confound the apparent benefit of intensive therapy. Further, although it is commonly assumed that quality of life (QOL) is better in recipients of non-intensive therapy rather than intensive therapy, recent data from a prospective observational study [19] in older AML patients comparing QOL measures between those treated with intensive vs. nonintensive therapy found QOL scores to be *higher* in the intensive group, supporting the notion that the benefits of better disease control can outweigh the detriment of treatment-related toxicities to QOL. There are data indicating that incorporation of formal geriatric assessment tools (such as the "Get-up and Go Test" and the timed 4-min walk test) into the evaluation of an older patient's health may provide a more nuanced picture of their medical fitness and tolerance of intensive chemotherapy [20, 21].

In sum the choice of therapy should take into account not only disease-specific cytogenetic and mutational data but also patient-specific features including (but not limited to) age, functional status, and organ function. These should ideally be quantified within a risk-prediction model. Taking these steps may help move us away from using age as our primary determinant of initial AML therapy.

5.3 Goal of Induction Chemotherapy

For younger and fitter patients (particularly those with intermediate and adverse risk disease), getting to allogeneic stem cell transplant (HCT), with as little disease and decline in functional status as possible, should be the goal; the intent being cure. For medically less fit, and potentially older patients, a more realistic goal is prolongation of life with the preservation of some measure of quality. But how to translate these goals into objective measures of drug efficacy for empiric evaluation in clinical trials is a challenge.

As in other malignancies, overall survival (OS) is likely the most relevant drug efficacy endpoint in AML. However, death is often delayed even when therapy is unsuccessful. This suggests the use of event-free survival (EFS) rather than OS as a measure of drug efficacy. Earlier-observed endpoints have also been suggested as a means to allow more efficient earlyphase drug testing [22]. For many years, complete remission (CR) was regarded as such an endpoint. However, while achieving a CR appears necessary for long-term survival in AML, CR in itself is not sufficient to prolong survival [23, 24]. One potential explanation is that morphologically defined CRs vary widely in quality, with only "high quality" CRs translating into a survival advantage. In particular, the presence of measurable (formerly "minimal") residual disease (MRD) at the time of CR, or CR with incomplete hematologic recovery (CRi)—the latter likely more prone to relapse than the former-is associated with higher relapse and shorter EFS/OS-likely because MRD indicates a poor-quality CR [25, 26]. Indeed, once account is made for response (CR vs CRi) and presence/absence of MRD at CR, pretreatment covariates conventionally predictive of relapse (adverse cytogenetics, secondary AML, newly diagnosed vs. relapsed disease) lose much of their significance. Consequently, the goal of induction therapy in medically fit patients with AML should be attainment of a CR without MRD (with MRD defined by multiparameter flow cytometry and potentially persistent cytogenetic abnormalities, with the contribution of mutational data to MRD evaluation remaining under investigation [27, 28]). The ability to demonstrate improved rates of MRDneg CR may be a more specific measure of efficacy when evaluating new induction regimens. Finally, speaking to the goal of induction therapy for medically less fit patients, there is some limited evidence that QOL is better for those who achieve a CR than those who do not (and thus are more likely to be transfusion dependent and at increased risk for infection and its sequelae); however, this is an area that requires further study.

5.4 Intensity of Induction Chemotherapy

Although 7+3 still remains the most commonly given induction regimen to newly diagnosed AML patients, many attempts have been made to "intensify" this backbone, both via increasing the dose of the anthracycline and the cytarabine, and via incorporation of a third agent—most commonly a nucleoside analog—into the regimen.

5.4.1 Anthracycline Dose and Intensity

There is no definitive evidence that higher doses of anthracycline (e.g., daunorubicin 90 mg/m² vs. 60 mg/m²) is more efficacious, nor more toxic, than lower doses of anthracycline, although 90 mg/m² does appear superior to 45 mg/m². On the one hand, two well-controlled studies have indicated that escalated doses of anthracyclines given during initial induction chemotherapy can improve response rates and survival [29, 30]. Fernandez et al. randomized 657 adults aged <60 years to daunorubicin 45 mg/m² vs. 90 mg/m² as part of standard 7+3 and found higher rates of CR and improved OS in the higher-dose group, with similar rates of serious adverse events [29]. Similar results were found by Löwenberg et al. [30] in an older

age group (age 60-83 years), although in this case higher remission rates in the higher-dose arm did not translate into a survival benefit. On the other hand, the UK NCRI AML17 trial randomizing 1206 patients treated with 7+3 to daunorubicin 90 mg/m² vs. 60 mg/m² found no difference in survival (except in the FLT3 ITDmutated subgroup which appeared to benefit from the higher-dose arm), although there was higher 60-day mortality in the 90 mg/m² arm, which may have attenuated long-term benefit [31]. Ultimately, the lack of conclusive data on the benefit of anthracycline dose intensification largely stems from differences in designs of studies (e.g., choice of anthracycline and dose and differences in controls arms and consolidation strategies) that limit clear comparisons between studies.

5.4.2 Cytarabine Dose and Intensity and the Addition of a Nucleoside Analog

There are a few randomized studies asking whether increasing the cytarabine dose in combination with an anthracycline can improve outcomes. A large German study randomized 3375 adults to 7+3 vs. high-dose cytarabine containing therapy and found no difference in 5-year event-free or relapse-free survival (EFS, RFS) [32]. In the SWOG12033 trial (full results not yet published), 739 adults aged <60 years were randomized to standard dose 7+3 (with daunorubicin 90 mg/m²) vs. idarubicin + high-dose cytarabine (IA; cytarabine dose 1.5 g/m² daily \times 4 days) and IA + vorinostat (IAV). Although rates of CR were higher in the IA arm after the first course, there were no differences seen in EFS, RFS, or OS. As a limitation, patients receiving IA and IAV received less cytarabine with post-remission therapy than those given 7+3. Further, patients with favorable-risk AML actually did better on the control arm, although this outcome may also have been confounded by their post-remission therapy containing high-dose cytarabine rather than attenuated dosing of induction.

The MRC/NCRI AML 15 trial, on the other hand, involving approximately 3200 newly diagnosed patients with AML suggested that FLAG-Ida (fludarabine, high-dose cytarabine, G-CSF, and idarubicin) is a more effective anti-AML regimen than daunorubicin with standarddose cytarabine (DA) or DA with addition of etoposide ([ADE]; 1268 patients participated in the direct comparison of FLAG-Ida vs. ADE [33]). This study found that patients randomized to FLAG-Ida had a lower cumulative incidence of relapse than the other regimens (at 3 years: 38% vs. 55%, p < 0.01), potentially reflective of more patients achieving CR after 1 course of therapy. Death in CR was more common with FLAG-Ida (17% vs. 11%), thus narrowing the difference in survival [15]. Despite a lack of unequivocal data, high-dose cytarabine containing regimens have, at some institutions, replaced 7+3 as the standard induction regimen for newly diagnosed AML, especially in light of improvements in supportive care and declining rates of TRM.

At the authors' institution, we use GCLAM (G-CSF, cladribine, high-dose cytarabine, and mitoxantrone) rather than FLAG-Ida based on data from the Polish Acute Leukemia Group and our own phase 1/2 trial [34, 35]. GCLAM differs from FLAG-Ida in the use of mitoxantrone rather than idarubicin and, primarily, in the substitution of cladribine for fludarabine. Cladribine is a more active single agent in AML than fludarabine; a Polish randomized trial in 652 adults aged <60 years found that while addition of fludarabine to 7+3 did not improve survival, however addition of cladribine to 7+3 did, with results principally due to superior outcomes in patients with adverse cytogenetics [35]. Single-arm studies from the Moffitt Cancer Center suggest that cladribine plus high-dose cytarabine is more effective than mitoxantrone, etoposide, and cytarabine (MEC) for relapsed/refractory disease [36], and the combination of cladribine, cytarabine, and mitoxantrone has also produced encouraging results in similar patients at Moffitt Cancer Center [37] and in Poland [38]. Nonetheless there are no randomized comparisons of GCLAM with FLAG-Ida or 7+3.

5.5 Newly Approved ("Targeted") Agents

In the past 2 years, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved five new drugs for newly diagnosed AML (midostaurin, gemtuzumab ozogamicin, CPX-351, venetoclax, and glasdegib) along with another three in the relapsed/refractory setting (the IHD1 and 2 inhibitors ivosidenib and enasidenib and the FLT3 inhibitor gilteritinib) that may eventually move into the frontline setting. As the drug labels do not always reflect the populations in which these drugs were initially studied, there remains much to be learned about how to best integrate these drugs into our current treatment pathways, in which areas they might make the most impact, and how best to monitor response.

5.5.1 Midostaurin

Midostaurin-an oral tyrosine kinase inhibitor that is active against the FLT3 internal tandem duplication (ITD) and tyrosine kinase domain (TKD) mutations—was approved by the FDA in 2017 for the treatment of adults with newly diagnosed AML who are positive for the FLT3 mutation, in combination with standard cytarabine and daunorubicin induction and cytarabine consolidation. FLT3 ITD mutations occur in about 25% of patients aged <60 years and in about 15% of older patients, with mutations in the TKD occurring in another 5–10% [39]. Approval was based on a large randomized study by Stone et al. [40] comparing 7 + 3 + Midostaurin to 7 + 3 + placebo in 717 patients aged <60 years with a FLT3 mutation. Midostaurin was dosed at 50 mg orally twice daily (BID) on days 8-21 of induction and consolidation (cytarabine consolidation given at the commonly used dose of 3 g/m^2 BID on days (1, 3, 5) and then as maintenance at the same dose for 1 year. Although CR rates were similar, OS and EFS were longer in the midostaurin group compared to placebo (hazard ratio for death 0.78 for both; p = 0.009 for OS and p = 0.002 for EFS). Results were not affected by censoring at HCT. Midostaurin was superior regardless of ITD allelic ratio (high vs. low) or type of FLT3 mutation. The benefit of the maintenance portion of this regimen remains unclear (maintenance therapy has been approved in Europe but not the United States) [41]. Regardless, the addition of midostaurin to 7+3 is now standard therapy for adults aged <60 years with newly diagnosed AML and a FLT3 mutation, although the FDA approval is not age-limited, despite a lack of data in older patients. Notably, while potentially more specific for the FLT3 domain than other multikinase inhibitors [42], midostaurin does inhibit kinases other than FLT3, and thus its multikinase properties could be inhibiting other growth pathways in cancer cells, plausibly providing benefit in patients without this mutation. Rollig et al. [43] demonstrated that the addition of the multikinase inhibitor sorafenib to 7+3 improved EFS compared to placebo in patients aged <60 years, regardless of FLT3 ITD mutation status. It remains to be worked out whether more "potent" and specific inhibitors of FLT3 (e.g., quizartinib and gilteritinib) provide more benefit or whether the less specific multikinase inhibitors are ultimately more effective due to ability to limit the development of resistance to а single mechanism.

5.5.2 Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin

Gemtuzumab ozogamicin (GO, Mylotarg), a CD33 targeting antibody-drug conjugate which delivers a DNA-damaging calicheamicin derivative into the cell, was initially approved in 2000 for CD33+ AML patients aged older than 60 years in first relapse, but then removed from the market in 2010 after a large phase 3 study from SWOG comparing induction with 7+3 vs. 7+3+GO (at a dose of 6 mg/m² on day 4) demonstrated a higher induction mortality in the combination arm without improvement of CR rate, disease-free survival, or overall survival [44]. Following the withdrawal, four more randomized trials were done: MRC AML15, ALFA-0701, NCRI AML1642, and GOELAMS AML2006IR [45–47], which demonstrated survival benefit with the addition of GO to induction therapy. In

particular, the ALFA-0701 trial, which randomized patients aged 50-70 years to 7+3 with or without GO in fractionated doses of 3 mg/m² on days 1, 4, and 7, and demonstrated improvement in EFS from 9.5 to 17.3 months [47], and the NCRI AML17 trial compared GO doses of 3 and 6 mg/m² and found lower rates of veno-occlusive disease (VOD) in the lower dose arm without decrement in survival or higher relapse rates [48]. Further, meta-analyses have suggested particular benefit in favorable-risk disease [49]. Correlative studies attempting to identify genetic predictors of response—such as having the rs12459419 CC splice variant of CD33 as demonstrated in the pediatric phase 3 trial AAML0531 [50]-are ongoing.

This large body of data subsequently led GO to be re-approved by the FDA in 2017 for the treatment of both newly diagnosed and relapsed/ refractory CD33-positive AML in adults and pediatric patients (Mylotarg prescribing information, 9/2017). It was approved in induction in combination with daunorubicin and cytarabine dosed at 3 mg/m² on days 1, 4, and 7 and in consolidation at a dose of 3 mm/m² given on day 1. It was also approved as a single agent given as 6 mg/m² on day1 and 3 mg/m² on day 8 of induction or in "continuation" at 2 mg/m² every 4 weeks for up to eight courses.

However, GO is not necessarily the "magic bullet" antibody therapy we have been looking for to revolutionize AML treatment for a variety of reasons. Mechanisms of resistance to GO include low and variable CD33 expression levels on AML, making CD33 a difficult target, part of a broader problem in AML contributing to the lag in development of antibody-based approaches compared to other leukemias such as acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and some lymphomas [51]. Further, GO is a first-generation antibody-drug conjugate, with technology that was not perfected, and thus about half of the antibody molecules are not labeled with the toxin leading to binding site competition with unconjugated CD33 antibody. Additionally, CD33 is only slowly internalized, leading to limitations in bringing the toxin into the cell, and AML blasts frequently express drug transporters

able to successfully expel the toxin. These shortcomings have led to active development of newer generations of antibody–drug conjugates targeting CD33, such as SGN-CD33A [52], and bispecific antibodies targeting CD33/CD3 such as AMG330 [53, 54], which are being designed to overcome these limitations. Novel and investigational therapies in AML will be further addressed in Chap. 8.

5.5.3 CPX-351

In 2017, the FDA-approved CPX-351 (Vyxeos) for the treatment of newly diagnosed therapyrelated AML (t-AML) AML with or myelodysplasia-related changes (AML-MRC). It is a liposomal formulation of cytarabine and daunorubicin at a fixed 5:1 molar ratio that leads to prolonged exposure of AML blasts to the drugs. The approval was based on a randomized trial of 309 patients aged 60-75 years with therapyrelated, secondary, or de novo AML with MRC to CPX-351 or standard 7+3 [55]. CR/CRi rates were higher with CPX-351 (48% vs. 33%), there was longer EFS and OS in the CPX-351 arm (HR 0.74, p = 0.021 and HR = 0.69, p = 0.005, respectively) and similar toxicity and 60-day mortality were observed between arms (13% with CPX-351 and 21% with 7+3). More CPX-351 patients went to HCT (34% vs. 25%) and were more likely to be in CR prior to HCT. Further, transplanted CPX-351 patients had better post-HCT survival than the 7+3 group [56], although this may only reflect that a higher proportion of these patients entered transplant in a CR or that more of them were actually MRD-negative, although MRD rates were not reported in the study. Notably the benefit for CPX-351 vs. 7+3 was limited to patients who had not received prior hypomethylating agents (HMA), although that is a likely frequent past therapy for patients with secondary AML or AM-MRC. Further, although the trial was limited to patients aged 60–75 years, the FDA approved the drug regardless of age. Thus, further evaluation of this drug in expanded clinical scenarios is warranted, including its use in patients who are medically unfit or as a backbone in combination with some of the newer targeted agents (e.g., midostaurin or venetoclax). However, despite the limitations of this initial trial, CPX-351 is currently a reasonable option for fit older patients with newly diagnosed secondary AML.

5.5.4 Venetoclax

Venetoclax is a selective oral inhibitor of B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2), an anti-apoptotic protein that is thought to play an important role in survival of AML blasts and promote resistance to typical AML therapy. In 2018, the FDA approved Venetoclax in combination with azacitidine, decitabine, or low-dose cytarabine (LDAC) for the treatment of newly-diagnosed AML in adults aged >75 years or who have "comorbidities that preclude use of intensive induction chemotherapy." This approval, however, was based on only two non-randomized, single arm, open-label studies. The first, by Wei et al. treated 82 adults aged 60 years and older with untreated AML (prior HMA allowed) who were ineligible for intensive chemotherapy with venetoclax 600 mg daily in combination with LDAC 20 mg/m² daily for days 1–10 [57]. They demonstrated a CR rate of 26% and CRi rate of 28% with a median duration of remission of 8.1 months and median OS for all patients of 10.1 months. The 30-day mortality rate was 6%. Similarly, DiNardo et al. [58] evaluated venetoclax at doses of 400-1200 mg daily in combination with either azacitidine or decitabine in 145 patients aged >65 years and ineligible for standard induction chemotherapy for reasons such as: age >75 years, cardiac disease, prior anthracycline use, secondary AML, and "high probability" of treatment-related mortality. They demonstrated a CR rate of 37% and CRi rate of 30%, with 29% of patients achieving MRD negativity at at least one time point. Median time to first response was 1.2 months (range 0.9-13.5) and to best response 2.1 months (range 0.9-13.5), with median duration of response of 11.3 months. With a median follow-up 15.1 months, the median OS was 17.5 months. Similar response rates were seen with either azacitidine or decitabine and at either venetoclax 400 or 800 mg daily.

Despite the FDA approval, several questions remain about in which settings the drug should be employed. Although patients in both the Wei and DiNardo studies were required to be "ineligible" for intensive therapy, they were required to have a performance status of 0-2 and adequate renal and hepatic function in the DiNardo study, and 71% and 84% of patients enrolled respectively in each study had a PS of 0 or 1. Therefore, it is worth assessing this regimen in an objectively unfit population, as it is likely to be used in realworld situations. Further, it might be worthwhile to evaluate venetoclax in combination with higher intensity therapies such as 7+3 or FLAG-Ida in patients at low risk of TRM or in the consolidation or MRD-positive settings.

5.5.5 Glasdegib

Glasdegib, an oral inhibitor of smoothened (SMO), a key regulator of the Hedgehog pathway, was also approved by the FDA in 2018 in combination with LDAC for newly diagnosed AML patients aged over 75 years or who have comorbidities that preclude intensive induction chemotherapy. This was based on a study by Cortes et al. [59] randomizing 132 patients to Glasdegib 100 mg daily in combination with LDAC (n = 88) vs. LDAC alone (n = 44) and demonstrated CR + CRi rates of 24% in the glasdegib/LDAC arm compared to 5% in the LDAC arm, with a median duration or CR in the combination arm of 9.9 months. Overall survival (the primary endpoint) was found to be longer in the glasdegib arm at 8.8 months compared to 4.9 months in the LDAC-alone arm (hazard ratio 0.51, $p \le 0.01$). Criticisms of this study include an open-label design without a blinded, placebocontrolled arm, short duration of exposure to LDAC on the LDAC-alone arm, and lower than expected response rates observed in the LDACalone arm compared to prior studies. Since randomized trials have shown that LDAC is associated with shorter survival than azacitidine or decitabine, it is possible that the proper control

arm for glasdegib + LDAC should be azacitidine or decitabine rather than LDAC. Further, like the venetoclax studies noted above, about 50% of enrolled "unfit" patients actually had performance status of 0–1. Therefore, more studies are needed before the role and true benefits of glasdegib in AML can be determined.

5.6 Overall Recommendation for Initial Induction Therapy

Favorable-risk disease: A 37-year-old, previously healthy woman presents with a leukocyte count of $38 \times 10^3/\mu$ L with 54% blasts, platelets of $40,000/\mu$ L and hemoglobin of 7.8 g/dl. Cytogenetics revealed a t(8;21)(q22;q22) in 20 cells, and NGS testing is unremarkable, including negative for c-KIT.

We would favor induction with 7+3+GO in this patient, without plan to transplant in CR1 as long as she achieves >3-log reduction in RUNX1-RUNX1T1 transcripts after induction [60].

Intermediate-risk disease: A 55-year-old man with diabetes mellitus and hypertension presents with a leukocyte count of $81 \times 10^3/\mu L$ including 70% blasts, platelets of 12,000/ μL and hemoglobin 8.4 g/dl. Bone marrow confirms AML. Cytogenetics show a normal male karyotype, and NGS testing reveals a FLT3-ITD, NPM1, and DNMT3A. The FLT3 ITD allelic ratio is 1.2.

We would give this man 7+3 (with daunorubicin dosed at 90 mg/m²) for induction in conjunction with midostaurin, along with midostaurin and high-dose cytarabine for post-remission cycles. We favor allogeneic HCT in CR1 with midostaurin maintenance following HCT [61].

Adverse-risk disease: A 78-year-old female with a history of invasive ductal carcinoma of the left breast, who received doxorubicin, paclitaxel and cyclophosphamide, presents with progressively worsening cytopenias down to a leukocyte count of $1.5 \times 10^3/\mu$ L, platelets of 20,000/ μ L and hemoglobin 6.7 g/dl. Bone marrow confirms AML with MRC, cytogenetics reveal a complex karyotype in 16 cells and normal karyotype in four cells, and NGS testing demonstrates a TP53 and STAG2 mutation. Medical history includes hypothyroidism, hyperlipidemia, and osteoporosis. She lives in a nursing facility and walks with a walker.

This patient has poor-risk disease and is likely to do poorly with standard chemotherapy, and thus we recommend participation in a clinical trial if possible. One of the more interesting investigational agents in myeloid neoplasms is APR-246, which has been shown to reactivate mutant and inactivated p53 protein. By restoring wild-type p53 conformation and function, the drug is able to induce apoptosis, and a small, early phase clinical trials in humans showed the drug to be very efficacious in combination with azactidine [62]. If the patient did not have access to clinical trials, a hypomethylating agent (azacitidine/decitabine) or LDAC in combination with venetoclax or glasdegib would be a reasonable option.

5.7 Conclusion

Where is the future of therapy for newly diagnosed AML headed? Despite advances in NGS techniques leading to a deeper understanding of AML pathogenesis and prognosis, cytotoxic chemotherapy remains the standard of care for inducing remission in most patients with newly diagnosed AML. However, refinements of this cytotoxic backbone are finally coming to fruition with the expansion of drug options targeting specific mutations and drug resistance pathways. Now that we have many new therapeutic options for this disease, the next challenge is to-through rigorously designed, prospective controlled clinical trials-evaluate in which situations and patient populations they will provide most benefit. Further attention needs be paid to a more precise evaluation of "ineligibility" for intensive chemotherapy and evaluating the benefits of less intense vs more intense therapy in medically less fit patients. And finally, we need better understanding of how genes interact in AML pathogenesis to allow us to more precisely combine our growing arsenal of therapeutic options to translate shortduration remissions into genuine long-term gains in survival.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no competing financial interests.

References

- Lindsley RC, Mar BG, Mazzola E, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia ontogeny is defined by distinct somatic mutations. Blood. 2015;125(9):1367–76.
- Dohner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129(4):424–47.
- O'Donnell MR, Tallman MS, Abboud CN, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia, version 3.2017, NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2017;15(7):926–57.
- Harada Y, Nagata Y, Kihara R, et al. Prognostic analysis according to the 2017 ELN risk stratification by genetics in adult acute myeloid leukemia patients treated in the Japan Adult Leukemia Study Group (JALSG) AML201 study. Leuk Res. 2018;66:20–7.
- Ostronoff F, Othus M, Lazenby M, et al. Prognostic significance of NPM1 mutations in the absence of FLT3-internal tandem duplication in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia: a SWOG and UK National Cancer Research Institute/Medical Research Council report. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(10):1157–64.
- Eisfeld AK, Kohlschmidt J, Mrozek K, et al. Mutation patterns identify adult patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia aged 60 years or older who respond favorably to standard chemotherapy: an analysis of Alliance studies. Leukemia. 2018;32(6):1338–48.
- Patel SS, Kuo FC, Gibson CJ, et al. High NPM1mutant allele burden at diagnosis predicts unfavorable outcomes in de novo AML. Blood. 2018;131(25):2816–25.
- Bertoli S, Berard E, Huguet F, et al. Time from diagnosis to intensive chemotherapy initiation does not adversely impact the outcome of patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2013;121(14):2618–26.
- Sekeres MA, Elson P, Kalaycio ME, et al. Time from diagnosis to treatment initiation predicts survival in younger, but not older, acute myeloid leukemia patients. Blood. 2009;113(1):28–36.
- Giles FJ, Borthakur G, Ravandi F, et al. The haematopoietic cell transplantation comorbidity index score is predictive of early death and survival in patients over 60 years of age receiving induction therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2007;136(4):624–7.
- 11. Kantarjian H, O'Brien S, Cortes J, et al. Results of intensive chemotherapy in 998 patients age 65 years or older with acute myeloid leukemia or high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome: predictive prognostic models for outcome. Cancer. 2006;106(5):1090–8.
- Malfuson JV, Etienne A, Turlure P, et al. Risk factors and decision criteria for intensive chemotherapy

in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica. 2008;93(12):1806–13.

- Valcarcel D, Montesinos P, Sanchez-Ortega I, et al. A scoring system to predict the risk of death during induction with anthracycline plus cytarabine-based chemotherapy in patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer. 2012;118(2):410–7.
- Walter RB, Othus M, Borthakur G, et al. Prediction of early death after induction therapy for newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia with pretreatment risk scores: a novel paradigm for treatment assignment. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(33):4417–23.
- 15. Othus M, Kantarjian H, Petersdorf S, et al. Declining rates of treatment-related mortality in patients with newly diagnosed AML given 'intense' induction regimens: a report from SWOG and MD Anderson. Leukemia. 2014;28(2):289–92.
- Meyers J, Yu Y, Kaye JA, Davis KL. Medicare feefor-service enrollees with primary acute myeloid leukemia: an analysis of treatment patterns, survival, and healthcare resource utilization and costs. Appl Health Econ Health Policy. 2013;11(3):275–86.
- Oran B, Weisdorf DJ. Survival for older patients with acute myeloid leukemia: a population-based study. Haematologica. 2012;97(12):1916–24.
- Juliusson G, Antunovic P, Derolf A, et al. Age and acute myeloid leukemia: real world data on decision to treat and outcomes from the Swedish Acute Leukemia Registry. Blood. 2009;113(18): 4179–87.
- Tinsley SM, Sutton SK, Thapa R, Lancet J, McMillan SC. Treatment choices: a quality of life comparison in acute myeloid leukemia and high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2017;17s:S75–9.
- Klepin HD, Geiger AM, Tooze JA, et al. Geriatric assessment predicts survival for older adults receiving induction chemotherapy for acute myelogenous leukemia. Blood. 2013;121(21):4287–94.
- Sherman AE, Motyckova G, Fega KR, et al. Geriatric assessment in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia: a retrospective study of associated treatment and outcomes. Leuk Res. 2013;37(9):998–1003.
- Walter RB, Appelbaum FR, Tallman MS, Weiss NS, Larson RA, Estey EH. Shortcomings in the clinical evaluation of new drugs: acute myeloid leukemia as paradigm. Blood. 2010;116(14):2420–8.
- 23. Burnett AK, Hills RK, Hunter AE, et al. The addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to low-dose Ara-C improves remission rate but does not significantly prolong survival in older patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: results from the LRF AML14 and NCRI AML16 pick-a-winner comparison. Leukemia. 2013a;27(1):75–81.
- Burnett AK, Russell NH, Hunter AE, et al. Clofarabine doubles the response rate in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia but does not improve survival. Blood. 2013b;122(8):1384–94.
- 25. Chen X, Xie H, Wood BL, et al. Relation of clinical response and minimal residual disease and their prog-

nostic impact on outcome in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(11):1258–64.

- 26. Othus M, Sekeres MA, Nand S, et al. Relative survival following response to 7 + 3 versus azacytidine is similar in acute myeloid leukemia and high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes: an analysis of four SWOG studies. Leukemia. 2019;33(2):371–8.
- Jongen-Lavrencic M, Grob T, Hanekamp D, et al. Molecular minimal residual disease in acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(13):1189–99.
- Thol F, Gabdoulline R, Liebich A, et al. Measurable residual disease monitoring by NGS before allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in AML. Blood. 2018;132(16):1703–13.
- Fernandez HF, Sun Z, Yao X, et al. Anthracycline dose intensification in acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(13):1249–59.
- Löwenberg B, Ossenkoppele GJ, van Putten W, et al. High-dose daunorubicin in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(13):1235–48.
- 31. Burnett AK, Russell NH, Hills RK, et al. A randomized comparison of daunorubicin 90 mg/ m² vs 60 mg/m² in AML induction: results from the UK NCRI AML17 trial in 1206 patients. Blood. 2015;125(25):3878–85.
- 32. Krug U, Berdel WE, Gale RP, et al. Increasing intensity of therapies assigned at diagnosis does not improve survival of adults with acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. 2016;30(6):1230–6.
- 33. Burnett AK, Russell NH, Hills RK, et al. Optimization of chemotherapy for younger patients with acute myeloid leukemia: results of the medical research council AML15 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2013c;31(27):3360–8.
- 34. Halpern AB, Othus M, Huebner EM, et al. Phase 1/2 trial of GCLAM with dose-escalated mitoxantrone for newly diagnosed AML or other high-grade myeloid neoplasms. Leukemia. 2018;32(11):2352–62.
- 35. Holowiecki J, Grosicki S, Giebel S, et al. Cladribine, but not fludarabine, added to daunorubicin and cytarabine during induction prolongs survival of patients with acute myeloid leukemia: a multicenter, randomized phase III study. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(20):2441–8.
- 36. Price SL, Lancet JE, George TJ, et al. Salvage chemotherapy regimens for acute myeloid leukemia: is one better? Efficacy comparison between CLAG and MEC regimens. Leuk Res. 2011;35(3):301–4.
- Jaglal MV, Duong VH, Bello CM, et al. Cladribine, cytarabine, filgrastim, and mitoxantrone (CLAG-M) compared to standard induction in acute myeloid leukemia from myelodysplastic syndrome after azanucleoside failure. Leuk Res. 2014;38(4): 443–6.
- 38. Wierzbowska A, Robak T, Pluta A, et al. Cladribine combined with high doses of arabinoside cytosine, mitoxantrone, and G-CSF (CLAG-M) is a highly effective salvage regimen in patients with refractory and relapsed acute myeloid leukemia of the poor risk:

a final report of the Polish Adult Leukemia Group. Eur J Haematol. 2008;80(2):115–26.

- 39. Lazenby M, Gilkes AF, Marrin C, Evans A, Hills RK, Burnett AK. The prognostic relevance of flt3 and npm1 mutations on older patients treated intensively or non-intensively: a study of 1312 patients in the UK NCRI AML16 trial. Leukemia. 2014;28(10):1953–9.
- 40. Stone RM, Mandrekar SJ, Sanford BL, et al. Midostaurin plus chemotherapy for acute myeloid leukemia with a FLT3 mutation. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(5):454–64.
- 41. Larson RA, Mandrekar SJ, Sanford BL, et al (2017) An analysis of maintenance therapy and post-midostaurin outcomes in the international prospective randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial (CALGB 10603/RATIFY [Alliance]) for newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients with FLT3 mutations. Blood. 2017;130 (Supplement 1):145.
- 42. Zarrinkar PP, Gunawardane RN, Cramer MD, et al. AC220 is a uniquely potent and selective inhibitor of FLT3 for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood. 2009;114(14):2984–92.
- 43. Rollig C, Serve H, Huttmann A, et al. Addition of sorafenib versus placebo to standard therapy in patients aged 60 years or younger with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukaemia (SORAML): a multicentre, phase 2, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(16):1691–9.
- 44. Petersdorf SH, Kopecky KJ, Slovak M, et al. A phase 3 study of gemtuzumab ozogamicin during induction and postconsolidation therapy in younger patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2013;121(24):4854–60.
- 45. Burnett AK, Hills RK, Milligan D, et al. Identification of patients with acute myeloblastic leukemia who benefit from the addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin: results of the MRC AML15 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(4):369–77.
- 46. Burnett AK, Russell NH, Hills RK, et al. Addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to induction chemotherapy improves survival in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(32):3924–31.
- 47. Castaigne S, Pautas C, Terre C, et al. Effect of gemtuzumab ozogamicin on survival of adult patients with de-novo acute myeloid leukaemia (ALFA-0701): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2012;379(9825):1508–16.
- 48. Burnett A, Cavenagh J, Russell N, et al. Defining the dose of gemtuzumab ozogamicin in combination with induction chemotherapy in acute myeloid leukemia: a comparison of 3 mg/m² with 6 mg/m² in the NCRI AML17 trial. Haematologica. 2016;101(6):724–31.
- 49. Hills RK, Castaigne S, Appelbaum FR, et al. Addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to induction chemotherapy in adult patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised controlled trials. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(9):986–96.
- Lamba JK, Chauhan L, Shin M, et al. CD33 splicing polymorphism determines gemtuzumab ozogamicin response in de novo acute myeloid leukemia: report

from randomized phase III children's oncology group trial AAML0531. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(23):2674–82.

- Godwin CD, Gale RP, Walter RB. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin in acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. 2017;31(9):1855–68.
- 52. Kung Sutherland MS, Walter RB, Jeffrey SC, et al. SGN-CD33A: a novel CD33-targeting antibodydrug conjugate using a pyrrolobenzodiazepine dimer is active in models of drug-resistant AML. Blood. 2013;122(8):1455–63.
- 53. Aigner M, Feulner J, Schaffer S, et al. T lymphocytes can be effectively recruited for ex vivo and in vivo lysis of AML blasts by a novel CD33/CD3-bispecific BiTE antibody construct. Leukemia. 2013;27(5): 1107–15.
- 54. Krupka C, Kufer P, Kischel R, et al. CD33 target validation and sustained depletion of AML blasts in long-term cultures by the bispecific T-cellengaging antibody AMG 330. Blood. 2014;123(3): 356–65.
- 55. Lancet JE, Uy GL, Cortes JE, et al. CPX-351 (cytarabine and daunorubicin) liposome for injection versus conventional cytarabine plus daunorubicin in older patients with newly diagnosed secondary acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(26):2684–92.
- Lancet JE, Hoering A, Uy GL, et al. (2016) Survival following allogeneic, myeloid hctioh-ra, injection lpitwC-l, a vsCaDsao, 2016;128:906–906. lpItB
- 57. Wei AH, Strickland SA Jr, Hou JZ, et al. Venetoclax Combined With Low-Dose Cytarabine for Previously Untreated Patients With Acute Myeloid Leukemia: Results From a Phase Ib/II Study. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(15):1277–84.
- 58. DiNardo CD, Pratz KW, Letai A, et al. Safety and preliminary efficacy of venetoclax with decitabine or azacitidine in elderly patients with previously untreated acute myeloid leukaemia: a nonrandomised, open-label, phase 1b study. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(2):216–28.
- 59. Cortes JE, Heidel FH, Hellmann A, et al. Randomized comparison of low dose cytarabine with or without glasdegib in patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia or high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome. Leukemia. 2019;33(2):379–89.
- 60. Yin JA, O'Brien MA, Hills RK, Daly SB, Wheatley K, Burnett AK. Minimal residual disease monitoring by quantitative RT-PCR in core binding factor AML allows risk stratification and predicts relapse: results of the United Kingdom MRC AML-15 trial. Blood. 2012;120(14):2826–35.
- 61. Maziarz RTT, Patnaik MM, Scott BL, et al. Radius: a phase 2 randomized trial investigating standard of care ± midostaurin after allogeneic stem cell transplant in *FLT3*-ITD-mutated AML. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):662.
- 62. Sallman DA, DeZern AE, Steensma DP, et al. Phase 1b/2 combination study of APR-246 and azacitidine (AZA) in patients with TP53 mutant myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) and acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):3091.

e-mail: ejabbour@mdanderson.org

E. Jabbour (🖂)

N. Jammal · S. Chew · F. Ravandi · H. M. Kantarjian

Department of Leukemia, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Management of Relapsed/ Refractory Acute Myeloid Leukemia

Nadya Jammal, Serena Chew, Farhad Ravandi, Hagop M. Kantarjian, and Elias Jabbour

6.1 Introduction

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is an uncontrolled clonal proliferation of undifferentiated myeloid stem cells leading to an accumulation of immature myeloblasts [1]. In the United States, the incidence of AML ranges from three to five individuals per every 100,000 [2]. For over the past three decades, the gold standard induction therapy in AML consists of a cytarabine- and anthracycline-based chemotherapy (e.g., "7+3" regimen), resulting in cure rates as high as 45% [3]. However, approximately 25% of patients will fail to respond to induction therapy (refractory AML), and approximately 50% of patients will relapse after transient remission to initial treatment (relapsed AML) [4]. Patients with relapsed and refractory (R/R) AML have poor survival outcomes, with a median survival of less than 6 months [4]. Various factors have been associated with worse outcomes including age greater than 65 years, unfavorable cytogenetics, and a duration of first complete remission (CR1) of less than 12 months [3, 5, 6]. It has been reported that 60% of patients are likely to achieve a second CR (CR2) if the duration of CR1 is greater than 12 months, in contrast to less than 20% in patients

with CR1 duration less than or equal to 6 months [7, 8]. Treatment of R/R AML is associated with low CR rates ranging from 0% to 33% after first salvage therapy and further declines with subsequent lines of therapy [9].

The only curative salvage option for R/R patients who achieved CR is hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT). However, due to high risk of transplant-related mortality, many patients are not eligible for this approach. Over the last few decades, additional cytotoxic agents were found to have some benefits, but outcomes were still poor [5, 6]. In recent years, with advancements in understanding the biology of the disease and the prognostic impact of specific gene mutations and chromosomal abnormalities in AML, new treatment modalities have been developed. Novel treatment options including targeted therapies (e.g., Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 (FLT3) inhibitors, isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 (IDH1, IDH2), BCL2 inhibitors), monoclonal antibodies (e.g., anti-CD33, anti-CD47, anti-CD123), and immunotherapies have demonstrated promising results with tolerable toxicity profile in R/R AML patients. In this chapter, we will highlight the current management strategies for R/R AML, and we will discuss the novel and investigational agents under development.



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_6

6.2 **Intensive Chemotherapy**

Intensive induction chemotherapy is often reserved for younger or fit older patients. There are no standard guidelines regarding the optimal regimen to achieve CR prior to allogeneic HSCT. Cytarabine (Ara-C), a pyrimidine analog, plays a crucial role in treating R/R AML and serves as the backbone for most chemotherapeutic salvage regimens. Cytarabine converts to Ara-cytosine triphosphate (Ara-CTP), an active metabolite and interferes with DNA synthesis in the S-phase of the cell cycle. Ara-C has shown to be efficacious as monotherapy when given in high doses ($\geq 1 \text{ g/m}^2/\text{dose}$) and in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents (e.g., purine analogs and/or anthracyclines) in the R/R setting [10].

6.2.1 Purine Nucleoside-Based Regimens

Purine analogs, such as fludarabine, cladribine, or clofarabine, are antimetabolites that inhibit ribonucleotide reductase and DNA polymerases, thereby inhibiting DNA synthesis. Although purine analogs are effective as monotherapy, clinical outcomes are improved when combined with Ara-C, with or without an anthracycline for the treatment of R/R AML. Preclinical and clinical studies have demonstrated that fludarabine or cladribine enhances the intracellular concentration of Ara-CTP, resulting in synergistic effects with Ara-C [11, 12]. In addition, in vitro studies have shown that granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) may improve the effect of fludarabine or cladribine-based regimens by stimulating resting-phase leukemic cells into the cell cycle, thereby enhancing cytotoxic activity. GCSF also potentiates Ara-C-induced apoptosis of leukemic cells [13]. Promising salvage options with purine nucleoside-containing regimens are shown in Table 6.1. With these regimens, profound myelosuppression was seen in most patients, with median time to neutrophil $(\geq 0.5 \times 10^{9}/L)$ and platelet recovery $(\geq 20 \times 10^{9}/L)$ of approximately 21 and 26 days, respectively [13–17]. Although CR rates greater than 45% are

Median age,

Table 6.1 Purine nucleoside-containing salvage options for R/R AML

Trials	Regimens	Agents		year (range)	CR, %	%
Parker et al. (1997) [13]	FLAG-IDA	Fludarabine 30 mg/m ² days 1–5 Cytarabine 2 g/m ² days 1–5 Idarubicin 10 mg/m ² days 1–3 G-CSF 5mcg/kg day 0 until ANC recovery	19	44 (18–72)	63	50
Montillo et al. (1998) [15]	FLAG	Fludarabine 30 mg/m ² days 1–5 Cytarabine 2 g/m ² days 1–5 G-CSF 5 mcg/kg day 0 until ANC recovery	38	41 (11–70)	55	41
Wierzbowska et al. (2008) [16]	CLAG-M	Cladribine 5 mg/m ² days 1–5 Cytarabine 2 g/m ² days 1–5 G-CSF 5 mcg/kg day 0–5 Mitoxantrone 10 mg/m ² days 1–3	114	45 (20–66)	53	48
Price et al. (2011) [14]	CLAG	Cladribine 5 mg/m ² days 1–5 Cytarabine 2 g/m ² days 1–5 G-CSF 5 mcg/kg day 0–5	162	55 (23-83)	38	36
Becker et al. (2011) [17]	GCLAC	Clofarabine 25 mg/m ² days 1–5 Cytarabine 2 g/m ² days 1–5 G-CSF 5mcg/kg day 0 until ANC recovery	50	53 (19–69)	46	50
Jabbour et al. (2012) [128]	BIDFA ± GO	Fludarabine 15 mg/m ² every 12 h days 1–5 Cytarabine 0.5 g/m ² every 12 h days 1–5 ± Gemtuzumab 3 mg/m ² on day 1 G-CSF 5 mcg/kg day 0 until ANC recovery	107	62 (19–85)	23	_

Abbreviations: CR complete response, G-CSF granulocyte colony stimulating factor, HSCT hematopoietic stem cell transplant, N number of patients

HSCT.

seen with the combination of purine analogues and Ara-C, a high relapse rate greater than 40% and short remission duration (4–11 months) suggest that HSCT should be pursued as soon as CR is achieved [9].

6.2.2 Other Regimens

Combinations of mitoxantrone, etoposide, and cytarabine (MEC) have been extensively studied in the R/R AML setting. In a single-center, retrospective study, 162 patients were treated with MEC or CLAG (cladribine, Ara-C, GCSF). The overall CR rate was higher in patients receiving CLAG compared to MEC (38% vs. 23.8%; P = 0.048), with median overall survival (OS) of 7.3 and 4.5 months, respectively (p = 0.05) [14]. Although limited by the small sample size and retrospective nature of the study, results suggest possible superiority with the CLAG regimen. Notably when MEC was compared with CLAG plus mitoxantrone (CLAG-M), 61% (19/31 patients) in the CLAG-M arm compared with 56% (60/108 patients) in the MEC arm achieved CR/CR with incomplete count recovery (CRi) [18]. The median OS was similar in both groups (9.5 vs. 10 months; p = 0.59). The median OS was significantly higher post-HSCT of 13 months with CLAG-M and 31 months with MEC. A trend toward improved survival in those treated with MEC followed by allogeneic HSCT was noted.

CPX-351 is a liposomal formulation containing a 5:1 molar ratio of cytarabine and daunorubicin. A phase II, multicenter trial evaluated 125 AML patients in first relapse (median age 52 years in the CPX-351 group and 56 years in the comparator group) who were randomized to receive CPX-351 or investigators' choice of first salvage chemotherapy [19]. Most patients (68%) were classified as poor-risk based on the European Prognostic Index. CR rates were higher in the CPX-351 compared to the control group (all patients: 37% vs. 32%; poor-risk: 29% vs. 21%). Rates of post-induction allogeneic HSCT were similar in both groups, with no difference in survival after transplant. Interestingly, patients with a prior history of HSCT appeared to have poorer outcomes, with 27.3% of patients deceased within 60 days. In patients without a prior history of allogeneic HSCT, similar rates of 30-day mortality were seen between study arms (3.4 vs. 5.4%) However, lower rates of 60-day mortality (10.2% vs. 16.2%) were reported in the CPX-351 arm [19]. Although promising responses were seen with CPX-351 in patients with no prior history of HSCT, higher infection-related events due to delayed hematologic recovery was noted. CPX 351-based combination (e.g., with BCL-2, FLT-3 or IDH2 inhibitors, gemtuzumab) studies are currently ongoing and will be further touched on in subsequent sections (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03826992, NCT04209725, NCT03825796, NCT03904251, NCT03672539).

6.3 Low-Intensity Chemotherapy

Low-intensity chemotherapy including hypomethylating agents (HMA) and low-dose Ara-C (LDAC), doses under 1 g/m²/dose, have been studied in elderly patients above the age of 60 years, who do not qualify for intensive chemotherapy. Elderly patients cannot tolerate intensive therapies due to the presence of comorbidities, poor performance status, and compromised organ function. In addition, elderly patients typically presents with unfavorable cytogenetics (e.g., abnormalities of chromosome 5 and 7 or complex chromosomal aberrations), presence of dysplastic changes, and secondary AML (includes therapy-related AML and AML evolving from antecedent hematological disorder). All of these factors are associated with increased resistance to treatment and adverse prognosis [20].

6.3.1 First-Generation Hypomethylating Agents

HMAs, such as decitabine and azacitidine, are nucleoside analogs that inhibit DNA methylation. An international multicenter retrospective study evaluated the efficacy of HMA in the R/R AML setting [21]. Of the 655 elderly patients (median age 65 years) included, 290 (44%) had refractory and 365 (56%) had relapsed disease. Forty-percent of patients had poor-risk karyotypes, and 30% had secondary AML. Although the median OS was 6.7 months, a better OS was observed in responding patients with median survival of 25 and 15 months among those who achieved CR 11% and CRi 5.3%, respectively. In a multivariate analysis, patients with NPM1 and FLT3 mutational status did not significantly impact response or OS [21]. Another study evaluated the increased 10-day schedule of decitabine (20 mg/m²) in 102 R/R AML patients (median age 66 years) [22]. Of the 102 patients, 16 (15.7%) achieved CR, with a median OS of 6 months. The responses with 10-day cycles of decitabine appear to be slightly better than other low-intensity therapies in the last decade; however, no direct comparison can be made. In addition, there has been inconsistent data suggesting that a 10-day schedule in comparison to a 5-day schedule of decitabine may improve responses in AML patients with unfavorable risk and/or TP53 mutation [23]. Further prospective studies with a larger sample size are warranted to validate these findings in the R/R AML setting. HMAs are a reasonable option for older R/R AML patients who are ineligible for clinical trials. HMA-based combination therapies with BCL-2, FLT-3, or IDH2 inhibitors are ongoing and will be further discussed in subsequent sections.

6.3.2 Second-Generation Hypomethylating Agents

Guadecitabine (SGI-110) is a dinucleotide of decitabine and deoxyguanosine, with longer halflife exposure of its active metabolite (decitabine) due to its resistance to degradation by cytidine deaminase. In a phase II study, 103 R/R AML patients, with a median age of 60 years, were treated with SGI-110. Of the 103 patients, 41% had poor-risk karyotypes and 18% had prior HSCT. The median OS was 6.6 months, with 1and 2-year OS rates of 28% and 19%, respectively. The median OS was significantly longer in those who obtained CR (23%) compared to those who did not (not reached vs. 5.6 months; p < 0.01) [24]. Overall response and survival outcomes were significantly worse in patients with poorrisk cytogenetics compared to those with favorable or intermediate cytogenetics (CR: 19% vs. 26%; median OS: 5.4 vs. 8.3 months; p < 0.001). SGI-110 was well tolerated; the most common grade 3-4 adverse events were febrile neutropenia (60%), pneumonia (36%), thrombocytopenia (36%), and anemia (31%). SGI-110 may be a reasonable trial option in R/R AML patients who cannot tolerate intensive chemotherapy [24]. A phase III randomized trial comparing SGI-110 and investigators choice of salvage chemotherapy in R/R AML patient is currently underway (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02920008).

6.3.3 Other Regimens

The combination regimens of either clofarabine or cladribine plus LDAC were developed to improve the outcomes in elderly patients who cannot tolerate intensive chemotherapy. A retrospective study evaluated 16 patients (8 patients with AML, 7 patients with myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), and 1 patient with chronic myelomonocytic leukemia) who had failed azacitidine therapy. In this study, patients received cladribine $(5 \text{ mg/m}^2/\text{day} \times 5 \text{ days})$ plus LDAC (40 mg/m²/ day \times 10 days) [25]. The patients had previously received a median of 15 cycles of azacitidine (range 4-33). A total of 9 patients (56%) achieved remission, including 6 in CR and 3 patients in CRi. The median OS was 10.6 months, with an estimated 6 and 12 months OS rate of 79.3% and 44.6%, respectively [25]. Another small study evaluated 16 patients, with a median age 58 years, diagnosed with R/R AML who were treated with clofarabine (20 mg/m²/day \times 5 days) plus LDAC (20 mg twice daily \times 10 days) [26]. Of the 9 patients with poor-risk karyotypes, 2 patients with mutated TP53 achieved CR. The median OS was 13.25 months [26]. Future studies with larger sample sizes are warranted in order to optimize therapy for high-risk and heavily pretreated R/R AML patients who are ineligible for intensive treatment.

6.4 Hemopoetic Stem Cell Transplant

AML patients with R/R disease typically respond poorly to subsequent chemotherapies with low CR rates and poor survival outcomes [7–9, 27]. Allogeneic HSCT is the only potential curative salvage option for these patients based on its graft-versus-leukemic effect but carries the risk of life-threatening graft-versus-host disease. In a retrospective study, 177 evaluable primary refractory AML patients who have failed induction therapy containing high-dose cytarabine (>1 g/ m²/dose), received salvage chemotherapy alone (n = 149) or allogeneic HSCT (n = 28). Patients who underwent allogeneic HSCT had superior median OS compared to chemotherapy alone (15.7 vs. 2.9 months; p < 0.001). The 3-year OS was 39% in the allogeneic HSCT arm and 2% in the salvage chemotherapy arm [27]. Due to the superior survival benefit of allogeneic HSCT, it is imperative to offer effective intensive salvage chemotherapy to fit R/R AML patients with a goal to achieve CR followed by allogeneic HSCT. Unfortunately, allogeneic HSCT may not be suitable for many patients due to age and/or concomitant comorbidities. Options for elderly patients include less-intensive chemotherapy (e.g., HMAs, LDAC), palliative strategies, and clinical trials. Encouraging novel therapies including checkpoint inhibitors, targeted therapies, and monoclonal antibodies may increase the duration of the response and decrease the likelihood of relapse.

6.5 Targeted Therapy

6.5.1 FLT3 Inhibitors

FLT3 mutations are the most common genomic alterations in AML, occurring in nearly one-third of cases. FLT3 is a tyrosine kinase receptor expressed on the surface of AML cells that play a role in cell signaling and proliferation. Within the FLT3 domain are two types of activating mutations, the internal tandem duplication (ITD) of the intracellular juxtamembrane and point muta-

tions in the tyrosine kinase domain (TKD) [28]. The FLT3-ITD is present in about 25-30% of cases and has been associated with shorter durations of remission and increased relapse. In comparison, FLT3-TKD mutations are present in up to 10% of cases, with its prognostic relevance remaining unknown. Additional findings have shown that the co-occurrence of nucleophosmin 1 (NPM1) and FLT3-ITD is associated with an improved prognosis [29]. According to the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines for AML, FLT3-ITD mutated patients are stratified into all three different risk categories based on allelic ratio and presence of NPM1 [30].

The discovery of FLT3 inhibitors for the treatment of patients with FLT3 mutation has improved survival outcomes. The first-generation FLT3 inhibitors (midostaurin, sorafenib, sunitinib, lestaurtinib) are multikinase inhibitors with lower affinity for FLT3 and more off-target toxicities. In contrast, second-generation FLT3 inhibitors (crenolanib, quizartinib, gilteritinib) are more specific and potent at inhibiting FLT3 and have fewer toxicities associated with off-target effects. FLT3 inhibitors are also categorized as type I or type II, which determines their activity against FLT3. Type I inhibitors bind to FLT3 receptors in the active conformation, near the activation loop or the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) binding site, and are active against FLT3-ITD and FLT3-TKD mutations. Type II inhibitors bind to FLT3 receptors in the inactive conformation, adjacent to the ATP binding domain, and are only active against FLT3-ITD mutations [31]. Although a number of FLT3 inhibitors have been studied and utilized for the treatment of FLT3mutated AML, only midostaurin and gilteritinib have received the United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA) approval for induction therapy in combination with "7+3" in FLT3positive AML and FLT3-positive R/R AML, respectively. A summary of promising studies in FLT3-positive AML can be seen in Table 6.2 and are discussed below.

Gilteritinib is a potent type I FLT3 and AXL inhibitor that was rationally designed to overcome resistance seen with other FLT3 inhibitors.

			Median age, year		
Trials	Regimens	N	(range)	CR + CRi, %	OS, months
Ravandi et al. (2013) [37]	Sorafenib 400 mg twice daily Azacitidine 75 mg/m ² days 1–7	43	64 (24–87)	43	6.2
Muppidi et al. (2015) [39]	Sorafenib 200/400 mg twice daily Decitabine 20 mg/m ² days 1–10	6	56 (33–70)	83	5.2
Strati et al. (2015) [43]	Azacitidine 75 mg/m ² days 1–7 Midostaurin 50 mg twice daily days 8–21	54	62 (21–85)	26	5.1
Cortes et al. (2016) [44]	Crenolanib 100 mg three times daily	57	-	31–39	3.1–7.8
Cortes et al. (2019) [41]	Quizartinib 40 mg daily vs. MEC, FLAG-IDA, LDAC, HMA	367	55 (46-65)	48 vs. 27	6.2 vs. 4.7
Perl et al. (2019) [33]	Gilteritinib 120 mg daily vs. MEC, FLAG-IDA, LDAC, HMA	371	62 (19–85)	34 vs. 15.3	9.3 vs. 5.6

Table 6.2 FLT3 containing salvage options for R/R AML

Abbreviations: *CR* complete response, *CRi* complete response with incomplete hematologic recovery, *FLAG-IDA* fludarabine + cytarabine + idarubicin + granulocyte colony stimulating factor, *HMA* hypomethylating agent, *LDAC* low-dose cytarabine, *MEC* mitoxantrone + etoposide + cytarabine, *N* number of patients, *OS* overall survival

Overexpression of AXL is commonly seen after treatment with FLT3 inhibitors and is a known mechanism of resistance [32]. Gilteritinib was FDA approved based on the randomized phase III (ADMIRAL) study in R/R AML [33]. A total of 371 R/R FLT3-mutated AML patients were randomly assigned to receive gilteritinib 120 mg/day or salvage chemotherapy (MEC, FLAG-IDA, LDAC, or azacitidine) in a 2:1 ratio. Gilteritinib was associated with an improved OS of 9.3 months compared to 5.6 months with salvage chemotherapy (p < 0.001). Additionally, a slight trend toward improved OS was seen with gilteritinib across all subgroup analyses, especially in patients with both DNMT3A and NPM1 mutations (median OS of 10.8 months). More patients in the gilteritinib group achieved CR at 21.1% compared with 10.5% in the chemotherapy group. Although, more patients in the gilteritinib group underwent allogeneic HSCT (25.5% vs. 15.3%), the OS benefit was maintained when survival data was censored at the time of HSCT. Gilteritinib was well tolerated and with a lower incidence of adverse events in comparison to the salvage chemotherapy arm. The most common gilteritinib-related adverse events were, pyrexia (42.7%), increased alanine aminotransferase (41.9%), and increased aspartate aminotransferase (40.2%). [33] Ongoing trials are being conducted in the R/R setting combining gilteritinib with venetoclax, and in newly diagnosed AML in combination with azacitidine as well as in comparison to midostaurin when given with "7+3" induction therapy (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03625505, NCT02752035, NCT03836209).

Sorafenib is a type II FLT3 inhibitor that has limited activity as monotherapy, with bone marrow remission achieved in <10% of patients [32]. A number of studies have shown more promising results when sorafenib is used in combination with HMAs in the R/R setting [34–36]. Sorafenib in combination with azacitidine demonstrated an overall response rate (ORR) of 46%, with 27% achieving CRi and 16% achieving CR. Although the median duration of CR/CRi was only 2.3 months, 85% of patients were able to achieve adequate FLT3 inhibition within one cycle of therapy [37, 38]. In a small case series of 6 patients with R/R AML treated with sorafenib plus decitabine, 5 patients (83%) had a response and 4 of the 5 patients (80%) achieved CRi [39]. Sorafenib is currently not FDA approved for the treatment of FLT3-mutated R/R AML. Given the promising results, it is listed as an option in the NCCN guidelines to be used in combination with

HMA in individuals who are not candidates for intensive chemotherapy [30, 40].

Quizartinib is a more potent and selective type II FLT3 inhibitor that has strong activity as monotherapy in the R/R setting, in which composite CR rates greater than 40% have been reported [32]. In a randomized phase III (QuANTUM-R) study, 367 FLT3-mutated R/R AML patients received quizartinib or salvage chemotherapy (MEC, FLAG-IDA LDAC) in a 2:1 ratio. With a 23.5-month follow-up, the OS was 6.2 months with quizartinib compared with 4.7 months with salvage chemotherapy (p = 0.02). The most prevalent adverse event seen in the quizartinib group was QTc prolongation, with a 3% (central reading) incidence [41]. Despite this evidence, quizartinib was not granted an FDA approval in the USA, but received approval for use in Japan. A phase I/II study evaluating the use of quizartinib in combination with low-intensity chemotherapy (azacitidine or LDAC) in 52 R/R AML patients has shown an ORR of 67%, with 38% ORR in patients with prior FLT3 use. A median OS of 14.8 months was reported when combined with azacitidine, and 7.4 months with LDAC, suggesting this combination has benefit in FLT3-ITD mutated AML patients [42]. Currently, a number of studies are underway in the R/R setting including quizartinib in combination with FLAG-Ida, venetoclax, decitabine with venetoclax or cladribine. idarubicin. and cytarabine (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT04112589, NCT03735875, NCT03661307, NCT04047641). In the frontline setting, quizartinib is being studied in combination with either standard care chemotherapy or in combination with CPX-351 (liposomal cytarabine and daunorubicin) (NCT04047641, NCT04128748).

Midostaurin and crenolanib are both type I FLT3 inhibitors known for their efficacy when used in the frontline setting of FLT3-mutated AML patients. Both have data to show efficacy in the R/R setting as well. Midostaurin was studied in a phase I/II trial with 54 R/R AML patients in combination with azacitidine and found to have an ORR of 26% (CR + CRi + morphologic leukemia-free state (MLFS) = 24%; partial response (PR) = 2%) [43]. Crenolanib was stud-

ied in the R/R setting as monotherapy in 36 patients who had been treated previously with a FLT3 inhibitor and found to have an ORR of 31% [44]. Crenolanib is being studied in a phase III trial with and without chemotherapy in the R/R setting (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02298166), as well as in the frontline setting in combination with standard chemotherapy (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02283177) [45, 46].

6.5.2 IDH Inhibitors

Isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) mutations occur in the arginine residue catalytic pathway, resulting in abnormal production of oncometabolite R-2-hydroxyglutarate (2-HG) levels, leading to abnormal methylation of histones in DNA, triggering improper cell differentiation [47, 48]. IDH1 (IDH1-R132) and IDH2 (IDH2-R172 and IDH2-R140) mutations are seen in 20% of AML and are known to be mutually exclusive [49, 50]. IDH mutations are commonly seen in elderly patients and those with normal or intermediaterisk cytogenetics and often co-occur with NPM1 and FLT3-ITD mutations [50, 51]. The prognostic relevance of IDH mutations in AML remains controversial. However, when looking closely at the types of IDH alterations, IDH1 leads to a more negative prognosis, while prognosis conferred by IDH2 varies based on the subtype. IDH2-R127K infers high sensitivity to chemotherapy, similar to a double-mutant CEBPA, whereas an IDH2-R140 mutation has a more neutral impact that can vary based on comutations [52]. Currently two mutant IDH inhibitors, ivosidenib (IDH1 inhibitor) and enasidenib (IDH2 inhibitor), are FDA approved for the treatment of IDH-mutated R/R AML. Table 6.3 summarizes published and up-and-coming studies in the realm of IDH-mutated R/R AML therapy.

Enasidenib is an oral selectively allosteric inhibitor of IDH2, which is located in the mitochondria of cells [53]. Enasidenib received FDA approval for use as monotherapy in R/R AML with IDH2 mutations after a successful phase I/II clinical trial demonstrating an ORR of 40.3% and

			Median age,		
Trials	Regimens	N	year (range)	CR + CRi, %	OS, months
Stein et al. (2017) [54]	Enasidenib 100 mg daily	239	70 (19–100)	40.3	5.8
Dinardo et al. (2018)	Ivosidenib 500 mg daily	179	68 (18-89)	42.2	9.3
[57]					(all arms)
Tallman et al. [56]	Enasidenib 100 mg daily	-	-	-	8.0
Phase III,	vs.				vs.
NCT02577406	HMA, LDAC, Int-dose				5.0
	Ara-C, BSC				
Watts et al. [58]	FT-2101 daily	35	-	38	-
Phase I/II,	± Azacitidine days 1–7			(alone)	
NCT021719574				27	
				(+Azacitidine)	
Phase II,	Ivosidenib 500 mg daily	-	-	-	-
NCT04044209	Nivolumab 480 mg day 1				
	(cycle 2+)				
Phase I/II,	Venetoclax days 1-14	-	-	-	-
NCT03471260	Ivosidenib days 15–28, then				
	daily				
	± Azacitidine days 1–7				

Table 6.3 IDH inhibitor containing salvage options for R/R AML

Abbreviations: *BSC* best supportive care, *NCT* ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier, *CR* complete remission, *CRi* complete remission with incomplete hematologic response, *HMA* hypomethylating agent, *Int-dose Ara-C* intermediate dose cytarabine, *LDAC* low-dose cytarabine, *N* number of patients, *OS* overall survival

a median OS of 9.3 months [54]. Approximately 87.3% of patients reached their first response within 5.8 months; for this reason, enasidenib is recommended to be used for at least 6 months. The most common treatment-related adverse events were elevated bilirubin (81%), nausea (50%), diarrhea (43%), and vomiting (34%). Differentiation syndrome, characterized by fever, hypotension, and leukocytosis, occurred in 14% of patients [55]. A phase III randomized study evaluating the safety and efficacy of enasidenib compared to conventional regimens in elderly patients with IDH2-mutated R/R AML is currently ongoing (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02577406). In an interim report, longer median OS was reported with enasidenib compared to conventional chemotherapy (8 months vs. 5 months) [56]. Enasidenib is also being studied in combination with azacitidine in patients with R/RAML and IDH2 mutation (ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT03683433) and in the frontline setting in combination with induction ther-(ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: apy NCT02632705).

Ivosidenib is an oral inhibitor of mutated IDH1, located in the cytoplasm of cells [53].

Ivosidenib received FDA approval for use as monotherapy in R/R AML with IDH1 mutations after a phase I/II clinical study showing an ORR of 41.6% including a CR rate of 21.6%. The median duration of CR was 9.3 months, and median duration of response was 6.5 months [57]. The most common treatment-related adverse events were diarrhea (30.7%), leukocytosis (29.6%), prolonged QT interval (24.3%), and peripheral edema (21.8%). Differentiation syndrome occurred in 11% of patients. Ongoing studies are evaluating the use of ivosidenib in combination with a checkpoint inhibitor, nivolumab, and a BCL2 inhibitor, venetoclax, with or without azacitidine for the treatment of R/R (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: AML NCT04044209, NCT03471260). In the frontline setting, ivosidenib is being studied in combination with azacitidine with and without venetoclax (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03471260, NCT02677922).

Currently a number of additional IDH1, IDH2, and pan-IDH inhibitors are being studied in phase I/II clinical trials showing promising responses and side effect profiles. FT-2101, an IDH1 inhibitor, is being studied as monotherapy

and in combination with azacitidine in R/R AML, showing ORR of 38% and 27%, respectively [58]. Vorasidenib, also known as AG-881, is a pan-IDH1/2 inhibitor currently being studied for safety and efficacy in a phase I clinical trial (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT0242737) [59].

6.5.3 BCL-2 Inhibitors

BCL-2 is an anti-apoptotic protein that regulates the mitochondrial pathway by maintaining a proper balance between signal proteins that trigger apoptosis. By inhibiting the BCL-2 protein on the BH4 domain, pro-apoptotic proteins are released, thereby triggering apoptosis of the tumor cell [60]. BCL-2 overexpression in AML has been associated with poor survival outcomes and an increased resistance to chemotherapy [61]. One of the first BCL2 inhibitors discovered was navitoclax. It has yet to be FDA approved, but preclinical data shows promising outcomes in leukemia. Navitoclax is a BCL-2 and BCL-XL inhibitor that is known to cause thrombocytopenia, likely due to the BCL-XL inhibition, which limited the maximum dose tolerated by patients. The need to overcome this toxicity has led to the development of a highly selective BCL-2 inhibitor, venetoclax, with hope to decrease toxicity and increase clinical efficacy [60, 61]. Venetoclax is well-established for its efficacy and safety in chronic lymphocytic leukemia, mantle cell lymphoma, and more recently, in newly diagnosed older AML patients [62-64]. Published data of venetoclax in the R/R setting is limited [62]. In a phase II study, 32 R/R AML patients treated with venetoclax monotherapy with a dose of 800 mg a day demonstrated an ORR of 19%, with 6% achieving CR and 13% achieving CRi [65]. The most common adverse events included nausea (59%), diarrhea (56%), vomiting (41%), and febrile neutropenia. A number of retrospective analysis of R/R AML patients receiving venetoclax in combination with an HMA showed an ORR of 40–60%, which is higher than responses seen with HMA or venetoclax alone [66, 67]. Currently, a randomized clinical trial is being conducted to evaluate the efficacy of venetoclax in combination with decitabine in the R/R setting (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03404193).

6.6 Immunotherapies

Harnessing the power of the human immune system is a relatively new concept that has exploded in the world of cancer care. One of the unique resistance pathways of cancer, leukemia included, is the ability to evade the immune system [68]. Upon understanding the potential benefits of the immune-mediated graft-versus-leukemia response after an allogeneic HSCT, researchers have found mechanisms to upregulate the immune system to more easily target cancerous cells to achieve a similar response. In recent years, various immune-mediated drug mechanisms have been studied, including the ability to upregulate effector T-cell activity and the creation of monoclonal antibodies. Monoclonal antibodies display an array of mechanisms of action within its class including the ability to block activation signals for cell growth, trigger complement-mediated or antibody-dependent toxicity, and the ability to enhance the anti-tumor response of the cell. [69] A summary of pertinent and promising studies utilizing monoclonal therapy can be seen in Table 6.4. In this section, we will discuss the various therapies currently available that illustrate these treatment modalities and the promising therapies that continue to be actively studied in AML.

6.6.1 Checkpoint Inhibitors

Numerous checks and balances exist in the immune system that allow for appropriate physiological immune responses to unwanted stimuli. Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) and programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) are checkpoint proteins commonly seen on active T cells. When these proteins adhere to ligands either on antigen-presenting cells (CTLA-4 binding to CD80/CD86) or cancer cells (PD-1 binding to PD-ligand 1), antitu-

Trials	Target	Pagimans	N	Median age,	CP + CPi %	OS months
Sievers et al. (2001) [82]	CD33	Gemtuzumab 9 mg/m ² every 2 weeks	142	61 (21–84)	26	12.6
Taksin et al. (2007) [84]	CD33	Gemtuzumab 3 mg/m ² on days 1, 4, 7	57	64 (22–80)	33	8.4
Ravandi et al. [91] Phase I, NCT02520427	CD3/CD33	AMG- 300240 μ/day on days 1–14	35	58 (18-80)	6	-
Subklewe et al. [93] Phase I, NCT03224819	CD3/CD33	AMG-673 for 2 days	30	67 (25–84)	-	-
Zeidan et al. (2019) [94]	CD47	CC-90002 once weekly for 4 weeks	24	70 (28–85)	-	_
Phase I, NCT03248479	CD47	Hu5F9-G4 twice weekly Azacitidine days 1–7	_	_	-	-
Phase I, NCT03113643	CD123	SL-401 every 4 weeks Azacitidine days 1–7 ± Venetoclax days 1–21	_	_	_	-
Daver et al. (2019) [104]	CD123	IMGN632 0.015– 0.45 mg/kg on days 1, 4, 8	74	69 (33–83)	20	-
Aftimos et al. (2017) [107]	CD70	ARGX-110 2 mg/kg on day 1	26	60 (22–78)	SD	_

Table 6.4 Monoclonal Antibody containing salvage options for R/R AML

mor response from the immune system is suppressed. Therefore, inhibition of CTLA-4 and PD-1 results in active T-cell proliferation and immune-mediated tumor response [70]. Preclinical data available showed an upregulation of CTLA-4 and PD-1 in AML patients inferring sensitivity to CTLA-4 inhibitors such as ipilimumab and PD-1 inhibitors such as pembrolizumab and nivolumab [71].

In the realm of solid tumors, immune checkpoint inhibitors have well-established data on its safety and efficacy [72–74]. More recently, these concepts have been explored in leukemia. In a phase I/IB multicenter, investigator-initiated study, 28 patients with R/R AML post HSCT received ipilimumab at a dose of either 3 or 10 mg/kg. Of the 28 patients included, 22 patients were treated with high-dose ipilimumab (10 mg/ kg) resulting in CRs in 5 patients (23%) [75]. Similar outcomes were seen in a phase IB/II study of nivolumab in combination with azacitidine in 51 R/R AML patients. Six patients (18%) achieved CR/Cri, and 9 patients (26%) had a reduction in BM blasts by 50% [76]. In a phase II non-randomized study, 70 patients with R/R AML received a combination of azacitidine and

Abbreviations: BSC best supportive care, NCT ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier, CR complete remission, CRi complete remission with incomplete hematologic response, N number of patients, OS overall survival, SD stable disease

nivolumab. The ORR was 33%, including 22% in CRi [77]. What was most profound was the OS seen in patients receiving this therapy as their first salvage, which made up 50% of the study population. The OS seen was 11 months, nearly double the most OS seen with azacitidine alone. Common immune-related adverse events seen with checkpoint inhibitors were pneumonitis, nephritis, and rash. These symptoms were resolved in nearly all incidences with a course of high-dose steroids. A number of studies evaluating the safety and efficacy of checkpoint inhibitors including atezolizumab, an anti-PD ligand antibody (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03154827, NCT03730012), nivolumab in combination with ipilimumab (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03600155), and nivolumab in combination with azacitidine with or without ipilimumab are presently ongoing (ClinicalTrials. gov identifier: NCT02397720).

6.6.2 CD33 Monoclonal Antibodies

6.6.2.1 Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin

CD33 is a transmembrane cell surface glycoprotein receptor on a majority of myeloblast cells [78]. An anti-CD33 monoclonal antibody conjugated to a cytotoxic derivative of calicheamicin known as gemtuzumab ozogamicin (GO) was approved in 2000 and then removed from the market in 2010 due to lack of efficacy seen in confirmatory studies versus risk of harm, with increased incidences of veno-occlusive disease (VOD) [79–81]. However, over the years, strong data has been further established for its safe and efficacious use in AML, both in the frontline and relapsed setting. The first study that showed the efficacy of GO was a phase II study conducted in 2000. Patients were treated with GO utilizing a higher dose, 9 mg/m²/dose, than the currently approved 3 mg/m²/dose [82]. The study showed an ORR of 26% and a median OS of 12.6 months. Additional studies done utilized the fractionated dose of GO (3 mg/m²/dose) and found similar outcomes. The rationale behind this is twofold, with the ultimate goal of decreasing maximum concentrations (Cmax) associated with toxicity,

while maintaining a proper area under the curve (AUC) for efficacy. First, it was found that the fractionated dose resulted in 90% saturation of CD33. Additionally, regardless of the dose, CD33 re-expression occurred on the cell surface 72 hours after exposure to GO. Therefore, re-dosing the medication would result in greater efficacy, produce a larger AUC and reduce the Cmax, thereby avoiding toxicity [83].

A study conducted in 2007 that utilized this lower dose was MyloFrance-1, an investigatorinitiated phase II study utilizing the fractionated dose of 3 mg/m²/dose in CD33 positive AML patients in first relapse. Among the 57 patients evaluated, 33% had a response with a median OS of 8.4 months [84]. No incidences of VOD were reported with the lower doses, including those who underwent HSCT 90 days after therapy. Overall, adverse effects seen with GO included hyperbilirubinemia, transaminitis, and cytopenias [82, 84]. Additionally, a pilot study evaluated the safety and efficacy of CPX-351 in combination with GO in CD33-positive R/R AML and post-HMA failure high-risk MDS patients. Of the 10 evaluable patients, 5 patients (50%) achieved CR/CRi (4 CR, 1 CRi), including 2 patients with negative minimal residual disease (MRD) at CR. With a median follow-up of 6.1 months, the 6 month OS rate was 79% and the median OS had not been reached. A meta-analysis showed that patients with favorable cytogenetics had the highest response to GO [85, 86]. Continued studies are underway to find the subset of patients most suitable for GO in the R/R setting.

6.6.2.2 CD33-CD3 Bispecific T-Cell Engager (BiTE)

The concept of bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) technology incorporates the activity of the host T cells in combination with a targeted monoclonal antibody [87]. AMG-330 is a BiTE therapy that binds to CD33 on leukemic cells and CD3 on T cells [88]. In preclinical studies, AMG 330 was shown to have higher activity against newly diagnosed AML specimens and those with favorable risk disease. Additionally, when given after chemotherapy agents that increase CD33 expression,

such as azacitidine and panobinostat, AMG 330 was found to have higher activity on those leukemic cells [89, 90]. Currently, a phase I study is underway, with promising tolerability and activity in R/R AML patients. Of the 35 patients included, two patients achieved CR at the target dose of 240 µg/day which was administered as a continuous infusion for 14 days, one patient in CRi and one patient in MLFS. The side effect profile was also tolerable, with cytokine release syndrome (CRS) being the highest incidence of toxicity, mitigated with steroid use, tocilizumab, and/or drug interruption. Other side effects seen include leukopenia, thrombocytopenia, and subdural hematomas [91]. The idea that PD-1/PD-L1 expression is upregulated with AMG 330 prompted the concept that combining checkpoint inhibitors with AMG 330 may result in an effective mechanism of therapy [92]. Currently no studies exist with the combination of a checkpoint inhibitor and AMG 330. For now, the phase I study of AMG 330 is ongoing with hopes of finalizing outcomes in the years to come (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02520427). Another phase I study has looked at AMG 673, an extended half-life CD33-CD3 BiTE, which is dosed as two short and intermittent infusions during a 14-day cycle. This study looked at 30 patients with R/R AML, with a median age of 67.5 years, and showed a decrease in bone marrow blasts in 44% of patients, with one patient achieving CRi. Similar to AMG 330, CRS was also seen with its use, along with abnormal hepatic enzymes, leukopenia, and febrile neutro-(ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: penia NCT03224819) [93].

6.6.3 CD47 Monoclonal Antibody

CD47 is a transmembrane protein that is overexpressed in various malignancies including AML and MDS. CD47 interacts with signal-regulatory protein alpha (SIRP α) expressed on macrophages to inhibit phagocytosis. Inhibition of this interaction with anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody enables macrophage-mediated killing of leukemic cells [94, 95]. In preclinical studies, antiCD47 has demonstrated antibody-mediated phagocytosis of leukemic cells and rapid reduction of tumor burden in AML xenograft models. In a phase I multicenter study, 24 patients with R/R AML and 4 patients with high-risk R/R MDS (median age 70 years) received anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody (CC-90002) [94]. The best overall response observed was stable disease in 2 patients with MDS. The most common adverse events were diarrhea (46%), thrombocytopenia (39%), febrile neutropenia (36%), elevated liver transaminases (34%), and anemia (32%), in which 82% were dependent on red blood cell transfusions. Given that CC-90002 showed a lack of response in R/R AML and MDS patients as monotherapy, the CC-90002-AML-001 study was discontinued. A phase Ib study evaluated the use of Hu5F9-G4, an anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody in both untreated and relapsed AML and MDS patients. In 25 evaluable untreated patients, CR/CRi was achieved in 50% (5/10) of AML and 60% (3/5) of MDS patients. Of the 10 R/R patients, one patient had a response (MLFS) to Hu5F9-G4 alone. In addition, 50% of those who had a response achieved MRD negativity. The therapy was well tolerated even with the addition of azacitidine. The most common adverse events were anemia (25%), thrombocytopenia (20%), and infusion reactions (15%)[96]. Ongoing trials are evaluating the efficacy of Hu5F9-G4 (anti-CD47) as monotherapy and in combination with atezolizumab in R/R AML and **MDS** (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03248479, NCT03922477).

6.6.4 CD123 Monoclonal Antibody

CD123 is an interleukin-3 receptor expressed on leukemic progenitor cells and is absent on normal hematopoietic stem cells. A number of humanized antibodies currently being studied function as bispecific T-cell engager utilizing antibodies, with affinities to CD3 on T-cells and CD123 on leukemic cells, to redirect T-cells against the leukemic cells [97–99]. SL-401 (tagraxofusp) is a fusion protein that consists of a truncated diphtheria toxin conjugated to the interleukin-3 receptor, which serves as another method of targeting CD123+ cells [100]. Currently, SL-401 has received FDA approval for its use in blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasm (BPDCN), where the hallmark of disease is overexpression of CD123 on plasmacytoid dendritic cells [100, 101]. Continued studies are underway with SL-401 for the treatment of R/R AML patients, as well as consolidation therapy in patients after their first CR (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03113643, NCT02270463) [100]. One leadin stage report showed results of the use in 8 AML patients who were able to maintain stable disease for 6-12 cycles of therapy, with one patient having resolution in transfusion dependency [102]. IMGN632 is another CD123targeting antibody drug conjugate that has shown promising results in a phase I trial, demonstrating ORR of 20% and a reduction in bone marrow blasts in 55% of patients [103, 104]. Further studies are evaluating the efficacy of IMGN632 as monotherapy in patients with CD123+ disease and in combination with azacitidine and/or venetoclax in the R/R and frontline AML setting (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03386513, NCT04086264).

6.6.5 CD70 Monoclonal Antibody

CD27 is a member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor family that binds to its ligand CD70. It was found that the signaling of CD70 and CD27 promotes myeloblast proliferation, and inhibiting this interaction induces cell differentiation of AML blasts [105, 106]. Cusatuzumab (ARGX-110) is a glycol-engineered anti-CD70 monoclonal antibody. A phase I dose-escalation trial studied the safety and pharmacokinetics of ARGX-110 in CD70+ patients with advanced malignancies. The best overall response was stable disease in 14 patients (54%). ARGX-110 was generally well tolerated in a dose escalation study with doses proportionality ranging from 1 to 10 mg/kg, with one R/R AML patient who was able to tolerate a dose of 2 mg/kg [107]. These findings led to the development of a phase II study where ARGX-110 was studied in 12 newly

diagnosed AML patients. All patients had a response to therapy, with 67% in CR, 17% in CRi, and the remaining 17% with a PR. An average reduction in bone marrow blasts of 30% was observed. The median time to response was 3.3 months. ARGX-110 was well tolerated, with the most common adverse events being anemia, febrile neutropenia, and infection [108]. In vitro studies have shown efficacy for the combination of ARGX-110 with venetoclax and with azacitadine [109]. Multiple studies have shown promising results of ARGX-110 in the frontline setting; however, further studies are warranted to evaluate the safety and efficacy of ARGX-110 in the R/R setting.

6.7 P53 Targeted Agents

6.7.1 APR-246

TP53 is a cellular tumor antigen that is responsible for cell cycle arrest and apoptosis triggered upon DNA damage [110]. It is also one of the main driving forces behind numerous cancers, playing a strong role in AML. Patients with mutated TP53 have a high incidence of relapse as well as decreased sensitivity to cytotoxic therapy [110]. The need for targeted therapies in these patients is vital. PRIMA-1, also known as APR-246, is a small molecule with a mechanism of action that remains unclear [111]. It is thought that APR-246 covalently binds to and modulates an open pocket in the p53 molecule, converting it back to its wildtype form and allowing the normalization of its function including cell cycle arrest and apoptosis [112-114]. Other modalities for its mechanism of action include the increase of pro-oxidant activity and endoplasmic reticulum stress, which degrades misfolded proteins [113]. An open-label phase I dose-escalation study of APR-246 was able to isolate a tolerable dose in a small number of patients, with one patient maintaining a CRi of 3 months [115]. Currently a phase Ib/II safety and efficacy study of APR-246 with azacitidine is underway for R/R AML patients with TP53 mutations

(ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03072043). Preliminary results have shown that 9 patients (3 AML, 6 MDS) were included, all of which had responses. Four patients achieved CR, one with marrow CR and two with minimal residual disease negativity. The most common side effects seen included peripheral neuropathy, infection, neutropenia, and nausea [116].

Upcoming data is surfacing with the use of APR-246 in the frontline setting. In a study of HMA-naïve TP53 mutated MDS and AML patients, 55 patients were treated with APR-246 in combination with azacitidine in 28-day cycles. The ORR was 87%, with a median time to response of 2.1 months. CR rate for AML patients alone was 50%. OS was found to be 11.6 months, with an OS of 12.8 months in responders, and those undergoing all-HSCT resulting in an OS of 16.1 months [117]. Another study, conducted in France, with 53 HMT-naïve MDS and AML patients treated with APR-246 in combination with azacitidine, resulted in a response in 63% of patients. A CR was seen in 47% of patients. Of those patients, 79% achieved a complete cytogenetic CR, and 100% were negative for the TP53 mutation (variant allele frequency less than 2%) [118]. Among these two studies, adverse events included neutropenia and neurological symptoms (e.g., confusion, dizziness). Neurological symptoms resolved days within discontinuation of the drug.

6.7.2 MDM2 Inhibitors

Murine double minute-2 (MDM2) is a physiologic antagonist of p53, thereby preventing apoptosis and arrest in cell cycles of leukemic cells [119]. The formation of MDM2 inhibiters, like idasanutlin, is theorized to be useful in wild-type p53-expressing AML patients. In a phase IB trial, 75 patients with R/R AML were treated with idasanutlin in combination with cytarabine. The ORR was 33%, with 25% achieving CR [120]. An ongoing study is combining idasanutlin with venetoclax in R/R AM patients, with preliminary data showing a 46% ORR and 33% CR rate [121]. In another phase I study DS-3032b, an MDM2 inhibitor known as milademetan was studied as monotherapy in 38 R/R AML/high-risk MDS patients. Fifteen patients had reduction in bone marrow blasts and three patients achieved CR/CRi [122]. It was noted that the three patients who had CR/ CRi durations of greater than 4 months had all developed TP53 mutations [122]. Currently, DS-3032b is being studied in combination with azacitidine, in hopes of more promising outcomes (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02319369).

6.8 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell (CAR-T) Therapy

CAR-T-cell immunotherapy involves T cells that have been genetically engineered to effectively target cell surface tumor antigens and eradicate malignant cells. CAR-T-cell therapy has been successful in treating lymphoid diseases, but the favorable results have not yet been seen in AML due to the lack of a suitable targetable surface antigen [123]. Two antigens found to be highly expressed on the majority of AML blast cells are CD33 and CD123. With this, studies of CAR-T cell designed to target CD33 (CART33) and CD123 (CART123) are currently being explored. A case report describes a 41-year-old patient with R/R AML who received autologous CART33 cells [124]. A significant reduction of blasts (>50% to <6%) in the bone marrow was observed after 2 weeks of CAR-T-cell therapy. However, shortly after a gradual increase of blasts was detected with disease progression at 9 weeks after cell infusion. The patient then developed cytokine release syndrome requiring an interleukin-6 receptor inhibitor. On the other hand, preclinical studies have demonstrated significant reduction of circulating myeloblasts and improved survival in CART123-treated AML xenograft models. Notably, the favorable results were seen regardless of the initial level of CD123 expression in the AML sample. [125] Current evidence suggests that CART123 may have a more favorable toxicity profile compared to CART33, with less activity against normal hematopoietic cells, while maintaining similar anti-leukemic activity [126]. Studies also evaluated the efficacy of alemtuzumab-mediated depletion of CART123. Sustained leukemia remission was observed in CART123-treated animals at week 1, followed by alemtuzumab at week 5, indicating that alemtuzumab can successfully eradicate T cells [125]. Future studies are needed to evaluate the benefit of incorporating CART33 and CART123 to conditioning regimens prior to HSCT. Ongoing clinical trials are currently underway evaluating the safety and efficacy of allogeneic CART33, combined CD33-CLL1 CART (CLL1 = C-type lectin molecule-1), and CART123 for R/R AML (NCT02799680, NCT03795779, NCT03556982).

6.9 Mechanism of Resistance

Treatment of AML remains challenging due to acquired drug resistance and mutations after treatment initiation. One mechanism of drug resistance is the overexpression of P-glycoprotein (P-gp) in resistant leukemic cells or mutations to topoisomerase II, thereby blocking fundamental effects of cytotoxic agents. A second mechanism pertains to gene alterations of common protooncogenes, which include FLT3, Wilms tumor, and those in the RAS family (e.g., KRAS, HRAS, NRAS), resulting in abnormal cell proliferation and differentiation. The PI3K/AKT signal pathway is an additional mechanism of resistance through its role in promoting cell growth and apoptosis inhibition. Abnormalities to this pathway lead to downstream effects of P-gp expression or dysregulation of secondary pathways leading to the emergence of additional drug resistance [127].

6.10 Conclusion

From treatment with HSCT to manipulations of cytotoxic therapy regimens and pairings with targeted agents, it can be seen that numerous drug classes have surfaced over the past 10 years, and many more are on the rise. Though the backbone of therapy at the moment is cytotoxic chemotherapy, as we better understand the genomics and molecular abnormalities associated with AML, we can continue to explore therapy options and isolate unique therapies suited to fit each form of this disease. Figure 6.1 summarizes treatment strategies discussed in this chapter and illustrates their place in therapy for R/R AML patients. To best understand which therapy can be studied and become successful in the front line setting, it must be well vetted through the R/R AML population first. It is in these studies, that if a clinical benefit is seen, the odds of an even stronger benefit will be observed in a frontline patient, without the burden of heavy pretreatments. The goal in better understanding how this disease functions, what targets work most efficiently and what side effects are tolerable is all in hopes that the disease can be eradicated entirely with the first treatment, before it ever has to reach a relapsed and refractory setting.





CLIA cladribine \pm idarubicin + cytarabine, *CPX-351* Vyxeos: liposomal daunorubicin and cytarabine, *FLAG-Ida* fludarabine + cytarabine + GCSF \pm idarubicin, *GCLAC-Ida* clofarabine \pm cytarabine + GCSF \pm idarubicin, *GO* gemtuzumab ozogamicin, *HiDAC* high-dose cytarabine, *HMA* hypomethylating agents: azacitidine or decitabine, *LDAC* low-dose cytarabine, *MDACC* MD Anderson Cancer Center, *MEC* etoposide + cytarabine \pm mitoxantrone, *NCCN* National Comprehensive Cancer Network

References

- Shallis RM, Wang R, Davidoff A, Ma X, Zeidan AM. Epidemiology of acute myeloid leukemia: recent progress and enduring challenges. Blood Rev. 2019;36:70–87.
- De Kouchkovsky I, Abdul-Hay M. Acute myeloid leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2016 update. Blood Cancer J. 2016;6:e441.
- Oliva EN, Franek J, Patel D, Zaidi O, Nehme SA, Almeida AM. The real-world incidence of relapse in Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML): a Systematic Literature Review (SLR). Blood. 2018;132: 5188.
- Xu J, Lv T-T, Zhou X-F, Huang Y, Liu D-D, Yuan G-L. Efficacy of common salvage chemotherapy regimens in patients with refractory or relapsed acute myeloid leukemia: a retrospective cohort study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97:e12102.
- Breems DA, Van Putten WL, Huijgens PC, et al. Prognostic index for adult patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first relapse. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:1969–78.
- Ramos NR, Mo CC, Karp JE, Hourigan CS. Current approaches in the treatment of relapsed and refractory acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Med. 2015;4:665–95.
- Keating MJ, Kantarjian H, Smith TL, et al. Response to salvage therapy and survival after relapse in acute myelogenous leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 1989;7:1071–80.
- Craddock C, Tauro S, Moss P, Grimwade D. Biology and management of relapsed acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2005;129:18–34.
- Ravandi F, Pierce SA, Garcia-Manero G, et al. Salvage therapy outcomes in a historical cohort of patients with relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2018;132:3985.
- Wolach O, Itchaki G, Bar-Natan M, et al. Highdose cytarabine as salvage therapy for relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia—is more better or more of the same? Hematol Oncol. 2016;34: 28–35.
- Gandhi V, Estey E, Keating MJ, Plunkett W. Fludarabine potentiates metabolism of cytarabine in patients with acute myelogenous leukemia during therapy. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11:116–24.
- Robak T. Purine nucleoside analogues in the treatment of myleoid leukemias. Leuk Lymphoma. 2003;44:391–409.
- Parker JE, Pagliuca A, Mijovic A, et al. Fludarabine, cytarabine, G-CSF and idarubicin (FLAG-IDA) for the treatment of poor-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 1997;99:939–44.
- Price SL, Lancet JE, George TJ, et al. Salvage chemotherapy regimens for acute myeloid leukemia: is one better? Efficacy comparison between CLAG and MEC regimens. Leuk Res. 2011;35:301–4.

- Montillo M, Mirto S, Petti MC, et al. Fludarabine, cytarabine, and G-CSF (FLAG) for the treatment of poor risk acute myeloid leukemia. Am J Hematol. 1998;58:105–9.
- 16. Wierzbowska A, Robak T, Pluta A, et al. Cladribine combined with high doses of arabinoside cytosine, mitoxantrone, and G-CSF (CLAG-M) is a highly effective salvage regimen in patients with refractory and relapsed acute myeloid leukemia of the poor risk: a final report of the Polish Adult Leukemia Group. Eur J Haematol. 2008;80:115–26.
- Becker PS, Kantarjian HM, Appelbaum FR, et al. Clofarabine with high dose cytarabine and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) priming for relapsed and refractory acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2011;155:182–9.
- Scheckel CJ, Meyer M, Betcher JA, Al-Kali A, Foran J, Palmer J. Efficacy of mitoxantrone-based salvage therapies in relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia in the Mayo Clinic Cancer Center: analysis of survival after 'CLAG-M' vs. 'MEC'. Leuk Res. 2020;90:106300.
- Cortes JE, Goldberg SL, Feldman EJ, et al. Phase II, multicenter, randomized trial of CPX-351 (cytarabine:daunorubicin) liposome injection versus intensive salvage therapy in adults with first relapse AML. Cancer. 2015;121:234–42.
- Ferrara F, Lessi F, Vitagliano O, Birkenghi E, Rossi G. Current therapeutic results and treatment options for older patients with relapsed acute myeloid leukemia. Cancers (Basel). 2019;11:224.
- Stahl M, DeVeaux M, Montesinos P, et al. Hypomethylating agents in relapsed and refractory AML: outcomes and their predictors in a large international patient cohort. Blood Adv. 2018;2:923–32.
- Ritchie EK, Feldman EJ, Christos PJ, et al. Decitabine in patients with newly diagnosed and relapsed acute myeloid leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013;54:2003–7.
- Welch JS, Petti AA, Miller CA, et al. TP53 and decitabine in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:2023–36.
- 24. Daver N, Kantarjian HM, Roboz GJ, et al. Long term survival and clinical complete responses of various prognostic subgroups in 103 relapsed/refractory Acute Myeloid Leukemia (r/r AML) patients treated with guadecitabine (SGI-110) in phase 2 studies. Blood. 2016;128:904.
- Wisniewski K, Madry K, Grosicki S, et al. High activity of cladribine (2-CdA) combined with lowdose cytarabine in patients with acute myeloid leukemia or myelodysplastic syndrome after azacitidine failure. Blood. 2019;134:1360.
- 26. Vigil C, Jahan N, Paun O, et al. Clofarabine and low-dose cytarabine combination in relapsed/ refractory acute myeloid leukemia patients with high risk features. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2017;17:S297.
- 27. Jabbour E, Daver N, Champlin R, et al. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation as initial salvage for

patients with acute myeloid leukemia refractory to high-dose cytarabine-based induction chemotherapy. Am J Hematol. 2014;89:395–8.

- Fathi A, Levis M. FLT3 inhibitors: a story of the old and the new. Curr Opin Hematol. 2011;18:71–6.
- Boddu P, Kantarjian H, Borthakur G, et al. Co-occurrence of FLT3-TKD and NPM1 mutations defines a highly favorable prognostic AML group. Blood Adv. 2017;1:1546–50.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Acute myeloid leukemia. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/aml.pdf (version 3.2020)
- Daver N, Schlenk RF, Russell NH, Levis MJ. Targeting FLT3 mutations in AML: review of current knowledge and evidence. Leukemia. 2019;33:299–312.
- Short NJ, Kantarjian H, Ravandi F, Daver N. Emerging treatment paradigms with FLT3 inhibitors in acute myeloid leukemia. Ther Adv Hematol. 2019;10:2040620719827310.
- Perl AE, Martinelli G, Cortes JE, et al. Gilteritinib or chemotherapy for relapsed or refractory FLT3mutated AML. N Engl J Med. 2019;381:1728–40.
- Borthakur G, Kantarjian H, Ravandi F, et al. Phase I study of sorafenib in patients with refractory or relapsed acute leukemias. Haematologica. 2011;96:62–8.
- 35. Zhang Y, Xuan L, Fan Z, et al. [Sorafenib as salvage therapy in refractory relapsed acute myeloid leukemia with positive FLT3 mutation]. Zhonghua xue ye xue za zhi = Zhonghua xueyexue zazhi. 2016;37:292–6
- 36. Bazarbachi A, Labopin M, Battipaglia G, et al. Sorafenib improves survival of FLT3-mutated acute myeloid leukemia in relapse after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: a report of the EBMT Acute Leukemia Working Party. Haematologica. 2019;104:e398–401.
- Ravandi F, Alattar ML, Grunwald MR, et al. Phase 2 study of azacytidine plus sorafenib in patients with acute myeloid leukemia and FLT-3 internal tandem duplication mutation. Blood. 2013;121:4655–62.
- Ravandi F, Arana Yi C, Cortes JE, et al. Final report of phase II study of sorafenib, cytarabine and idarubicin for initial therapy in younger patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. 2014;28:1543–5.
- Muppidi MR, Portwood S, Griffiths EA, et al. Decitabine and sorafenib therapy in FLT-3 ITDmutant acute myeloid leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2015;15(Suppl):S73–9.
- 40. Röllig C, Serve H, Hüttmann A, et al. Addition of sorafenib versus placebo to standard therapy in patients aged 60 years or younger with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukaemia (SORAML): a multicentre, phase 2, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:1691–9.
- 41. Cortes JE, Khaled S, Martinelli G, et al. Quizartinib versus salvage chemotherapy in relapsed or refractory FLT3-ITD acute myeloid leukaemia (QuANTUM-R): a multicentre, randomised, con-

trolled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20:984–97.

- 42. Swaminathan M, Kantarjian H, Daver N, et al. The combination of quizartinib with azacitidine or low dose cytarabine is highly active in patients (pts) with FLT3-ITD mutated myeloid leukemias: interim report of a phase I/II trial. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2017;17:S3.
- 43. Strati P, Kantarjian H, Ravandi F, et al. Phase I/II trial of the combination of midostaurin (PKC412) and 5-azacytidine for patients with acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. Am J Hematol. 2015;90:276–81.
- 44. Cortes JE, Kantarjian HM, Kadia TM, et al. Crenolanib besylate, a type I pan-FLT3 inhibitor, to demonstrate clinical activity in multiply relapsed FLT3-ITD and D835 AML. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:7008.
- 45. The Lancet Haematology. Closing in on targeted therapy for acute myeloid leukaemia. Lancet Haematol. 2019;6:e1.
- 46. Stone RM, Wang ES, Goldberg AD, et al. Crenolanib versus midostaurin combined with induction and consolidation chemotherapy in newly diagnosed FLT3 mutated AML. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37:TPS7068-TPS.
- Lu C, Ward PS, Kapoor GS, et al. IDH mutation impairs histone demethylation and results in a block to cell differentiation. Nature. 2012;483:474–8.
- Figueroa ME, Abdel-Wahab O, Lu C, et al. Leukemic IDH1 and IDH2 mutations result in a hypermethylation phenotype, disrupt TET2 function, and impair hematopoietic differentiation. Cancer Cell. 2010;18:553–67.
- 49. Abbas S, Lugthart S, Kavelaars FG, et al. Acquired mutations in the genes encoding IDH1 and IDH2 both are recurrent aberrations in acute myeloid leukemia: prevalence and prognostic value. Blood. 2010;116:2122–6.
- DiNardo CD, Ravandi F, Agresta S, et al. Characteristics, clinical outcome, and prognostic significance of IDH mutations in AML. Am J Hematol. 2015;90:732–6.
- Green CL, Evans CM, Zhao L, et al. The prognostic significance of IDH2 mutations in AML depends on the location of the mutation. Blood. 2011;118:409–12.
- 52. Im AP, Sehgal AR, Carroll MP, et al. DNMT3A and IDH mutations in acute myeloid leukemia and other myeloid malignancies: associations with prognosis and potential treatment strategies. Leukemia. 2014;28:1774–83.
- Reitman ZJ, Yan H. Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 mutations in cancer: alterations at a crossroads of cellular metabolism. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102:932–41.
- 54. Stein EM, DiNardo CD, Pollyea DA, et al. Enasidenib in mutant IDH2 relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017;130: 722–31.
- 55. Fathi AT, DiNardo CD, Kline I, et al. Differentiation syndrome associated with enasidenib, a selective inhibitor of mutant isocitrate dehydrogenase 2: analysis of a phase 1/2 study. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4:1106–10.
- 56. Tallman MS, Knight RD, Glasmacher AG, Dohner H, Group obotISI. Phase III randomized, openlabel study comparing the efficacy and safety of AG-221 vs conventional care regimens (CCR) in older patients with advanced acute myeloid leukemia (AML) with isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH)-2 mutations in relapse or refractory to multiple prior treatments: the IDHENTIFY trial. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:TPS7074-TPS.
- DiNardo CD, Stein EM, de Botton S, et al. Durable remissions with ivosidenib in IDH1-mutated relapsed or refractory AML. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:2386–98.
- Watts JM, Baer MR, Lee S, et al. A phase 1 dose escalation study of the IDH1m inhibitor, FT-2102, in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) or myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS). J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:7009.
- Konteatis Z, Artin E, Nicolay B, et al. Vorasidenib (AG-881): a first-in-class, brain-penetrant dual inhibitor of mutant IDH1 and 2 for treatment of glioma. ACS Med Chem Lett. 2020;11:101–7.
- Gibson CJ, Davids MS. BCL-2 antagonism to target the intrinsic mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:5021–9.
- Campos EV, Pinto R. Targeted therapy with a selective BCL-2 inhibitor in older patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Hematol Transfus Cell Ther. 2019;41:169–77.
- DiNardo CD, Pratz K, Pullarkat V, et al. Venetoclax combined with decitabine or azacitidine in treatmentnaive, elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2019;133:7–17.
- Jain N, Keating M, Thompson P, et al. Ibrutinib and venetoclax for first-line treatment of CLL. N Engl J Med. 2019;380:2095–103.
- 64. Tam CS, Anderson MA, Pott C, et al. Ibrutinib plus venetoclax for the treatment of mantlecell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2018;378: 1211–23.
- 65. Konopleva M, Pollyea DA, Potluri J, et al. Efficacy and biological correlates of response in a phase II study of venetoclax monotherapy in patients with acute myelogenous leukemia. Cancer Discov. 2016;6:1106–17.
- 66. Gaut D, Burkenroad A, Duong T, Feammelli J, Sasine J, Schiller GJ. Off-label use of venetoclax combination therapy in relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia: a single institution experience. Blood. 2019;134:5133.
- 67. Aldoss I, Yang D, Aribi A, et al. Efficacy of the combination of venetoclax and hypomethylating agents in relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica. 2018;103:e404–7.

- Teague RM, Kline J. Immune evasion in acute myeloid leukemia: current concepts and future directions. J Immunother Cancer. 2013;1:13.
- 69. Weiner GJ. Monoclonal antibody mechanisms of action in cancer. Immunol Res. 2007;39:271–8.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:252–64.
- Sehgal A, Whiteside TL, Boyiadzis M. Programmed death-1 checkpoint blockade in acute myeloid leukemia. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2015;15:1191–203.
- Gandhi L, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Gadgeel S, et al. Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy in metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:2078–92.
- Schmid P, Cortes J, Pusztai L, et al. Pembrolizumab for early triple-negative breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:810–21.
- Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, et al. Five-year survival with combined nivolumab and ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2019;381:1535–46.
- Davids MS, Kim HT, Bachireddy P, et al. Ipilimumab for patients with relapse after allogeneic transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:143–53.
- 76. Daver N, Basu S, Garcia-Manero G, et al. Phase IB/ II study of nivolumab in combination with azacytidine (AZjA) in patients (pts) with relapsed Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). Blood. 2016;128:763.
- 77. Daver N, Garcia-Manero G, Basu S, et al. Efficacy, safety, and biomarkers of response to azacitidine and nivolumab in relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia: a nonrandomized, open-label, phase II study. Cancer Discov. 2019;9:370–83.
- Pierelli L, Teofili L, Menichella G, et al. Further investigations on the expression of HLA-DR, CD33 and CD13 surface antigens in purified bone marrow and peripheral blood CD34+ haematopoietic progenitor cells. Br J Haematol. 1993;84:24–30.
- Selby C, Yacko LR, Glode AE. Gemtuzumab Ozogamicin: Back Again. J Adv Pract Oncol. 2019;10:68–82.
- Baron J, Wang ES. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2018;11:549–59.
- Petersdorf SH, Kopecky KJ, Slovak M, et al. A phase 3 study of gemtuzumab ozogamicin during induction and postconsolidation therapy in younger patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2013;121:4854–60.
- 82. Sievers EL, Larson RA, Stadtmauer EA, et al. Efficacy and safety of gemtuzumab ozogamicin in patients with CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia in first relapse. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:3244–54.
- Fostvedt LK, Hibma JE, Masters JC, Vandendries E, Ruiz-Garcia A. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modeling to support the re-approval of gemtuzumab ozogamicin. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2019;106:1006–17.

- 84. Taksin AL, Legrand O, Raffoux E, et al. High efficacy and safety profile of fractionated doses of Mylotarg as induction therapy in patients with relapsed acute myeloblastic leukemia: a prospective study of the alfa group. Leukemia. 2007;21:66–71.
- 85. Burnett AK, Hills RK, Milligan D, et al. Identification of patients with acute myeloblastic leukemia who benefit from the addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin: results of the MRC AML15 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:369–77.
- 86. Hills RK, Castaigne S, Appelbaum FR, et al. Addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to induction chemotherapy in adult patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised controlled trials. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:986–96.
- Harrington KH, Gudgeon CJ, Laszlo GS, et al. The broad anti-AML activity of the CD33/CD3 BiTE antibody construct, AMG 330, is impacted by disease stage and risk. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0135945.
- Krupka C, Kufer P, Kischel R, et al. CD33 target validation and sustained depletion of AML blasts in long-term cultures by the bispecific T-cell-engaging antibody AMG 330. Blood. 2014;123:356–65.
- Friedrich M, Henn A, Raum T, et al. Preclinical characterization of AMG 330, a CD3/CD33-bispecific T-cell-engaging antibody with potential for treatment of acute myelogenous leukemia. Mol Cancer Ther. 2014;13:1549–57.
- Laszlo GS, Gudgeon CJ, Harrington KH, et al. Cellular determinants for preclinical activity of a novel CD33/CD3 bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) antibody, AMG 330, against human AML. Blood. 2014;123:554–61.
- 91. Ravandi F, Stein AS, Kantarjian HM, et al. A phase 1 first-in-human study of AMG 330, an anti-CD33 bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE®) antibody construct, in relapsed/refractory Acute Myeloid Leukemia (R/R AML). Blood. 2018;132:25.
- 92. Krupka C, Kufer P, Kischel R, et al. Blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis augments lysis of AML cells by the CD33/CD3 BiTE antibody construct AMG 330: reversing a T-cell-induced immune escape mechanism. Leukemia. 2016;30:484–91.
- 93. Subklewe M, Stein A, Walter RB, et al. Preliminary results from a phase 1 first-in-human study of AMG 673, a novel Half-Life Extended (HLE) anti-CD33/ CD3 BiTE[®] (bispecific T-cell engager) in patients with relapsed/refractory (R/R) Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). Blood. 2019;134:833.
- 94. Zeidan AM, DeAngelo DJ, Palmer JM, et al. A phase I study of CC-90002, a monoclonal antibody targeting CD47, in patients with relapsed and/or refractory (R/R) Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML) and high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS): final results. Blood. 2019;134:1320.
- Chao MP, Takimoto CH, Feng DD, et al. Therapeutic targeting of the macrophage immune checkpoint CD47 in myeloid malignancies. Front Oncol. 2020;9:1380.

- 96. Sallman DA, Donnellan WB, Asch AS, et al. The first-in-class anti-CD47 antibody Hu5F9-G4 is active and well tolerated alone or with azacitidine in AML and MDS patients: initial phase 1b results. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37:7009.
- 97. Gaudet F, Nemeth JF, McDaid R, et al. Development of a CD123xCD3 bispecific antibody (JNJ-63709178) for the treatment of Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). Blood. 2016;128:2824.
- Al-Hussaini M, Rettig MP, Ritchey JK, et al. Targeting CD123 in acute myeloid leukemia using a T-cell–directed dual-affinity retargeting platform. Blood. 2016;127:122–31.
- 99. Uy G, Stewart S, Baughman J, et al. A Phase I trial of MGD006 in patients with relapsed acute myeloid leukemia (AML). J Immunother Cancer. 2014;2:87.
- Pemmaraju N, Lane AA, Sweet KL, et al. Tagraxofusp in blastic plasmacytoid dendritic-cell neoplasm. N Engl J Med. 2019;380:1628–37.
- Hammond D, Pemmaraju N. Tagraxofusp for blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasm. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2020;34:565.
- 102. Sweet KL, Pemmaraju N, Lane AA, et al. Lead-in stage results of a pivotal trial of SL-401, an interleukin-3 receptor (IL-3R) targeting biologic, in patients with Blastic Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell Neoplasm (BPDCN) or Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). Blood. 2015;126:3795.
- 103. Kovtun Y, Jones GE, Adams S, et al. A CD123targeting antibody-drug conjugate, IMGN632, designed to eradicate AML while sparing normal bone marrow cells. Blood Adv. 2018;2:848–58.
- 104. Daver NG, Montesinos P, DeAngelo DJ, et al. Clinical profile of IMGN632, a novel CD123-targeting Antibody-Drug Conjugate (ADC), in patients with relapsed/refractory (R/R) Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML) or Blastic Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell Neoplasm (BPDCN). Blood. 2019;134:734.
- 105. Schürch CM. Therapeutic antibodies for myeloid neoplasms-current developments and future directions. Front Oncol. 2018;8:152.
- 106. Silence K, Dreier T, Moshir M, et al. ARGX-110, a highly potent antibody targeting CD70, eliminates tumors via both enhanced ADCC and immune checkpoint blockade. mAbs. 2014;6:523–32.
- 107. Aftimos P, Rolfo C, Rottey S, et al. Phase I doseescalation study of the anti-CD70 antibody ARGX-110 in advanced malignancies. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23:6411–20.
- 108. Ochsenbein A et al. Targeting CD70 with cusatuzumab eliminates acute myeloid leukemia stem cells in humans. 07 Dec 2019. Oral Abstract #234. In 61st ASH annual meeting & exposition, Orlando, US.
- 109. Riether C, Chiorazzo T, Johnson AJ, et al. The combination of the BCL-2 antagonist venetoclax with the CD70-targeting antibody cusatuzumab synergistically eliminates primary human leukemia stem cells. Blood. 2019;134:3918.
- 110. Bouaoun L, Sonkin D, Ardin M, et al. TP53 variations in human cancers: new lessons from the IARC

TP53 database and genomics data. Hum Mutat. 2016;37:865–76.

- 111. Zatloukalova P, Galoczova M, Vojtesek B. Prima-1 and APR-246 in cancer therapy. Klin Onkol. 2018;31:71–6.
- 112. Wassman CD, Baronio R, Demir O, et al. Computational identification of a transiently open L1/S3 pocket for reactivation of mutant p53. Nat Commun. 2013;4:1407.
- 113. Perdrix A, Najem A, Saussez S, et al. PRIMA-1 and PRIMA-1(Met) (APR-246): from mutant/wild type p53 reactivation to unexpected mechanisms underlying their potent anti-tumor effect in combinatorial therapies. Cancers (Basel). 2017;9:172.
- 114. Lambert JM, Gorzov P, Veprintsev DB, et al. PRIMA-1 reactivates mutant p53 by covalent binding to the core domain. Cancer Cell. 2009;15:376–88.
- 115. Deneberg S, Cherif H, Lazarevic V, et al. An openlabel phase I dose-finding study of APR-246 in hematological malignancies. Blood Cancer J. 2016;6:e447.
- 116. Sallman D, Dezern A, Sweet K, et al. Phase 1B/2 combination study of APR-246 and azacitidine (AZA) in patients with TP53 mutant myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) and acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Abstract #S1558. Presented at the 23rd congress of the European Hematology Association, June 17, 2018; Stockholm, Sweden.
- 117. Sallman DA, DeZern AE, Garcia-Manero G, et al. Phase 2 results of APR-246 and azacitidine (AZA) in patients with TP53 mutant Myelodysplastic Syndromes (MDS) and oligoblastic Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). Blood. 2019;134:676.
- 118. Cluzeau T, Sebert M, Rahmé R, et al. APR-246 combined with azacitidine (AZA) in TP53 Mutated Myelodysplastic Syndrome (MDS) and Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML). a phase 2 study by the Groupe Francophone Des Myélodysplasies (GFM). Blood. 2019;134:677.
- Kojima K, Konopleva M, Samudio IJ, et al. MDM2 antagonists induce p53-dependent apoptosis in

AML: implications for leukemia therapy. Blood. 2005;106:3150–9.

- 120. Martinelli G, Pappayannidis C, Yee K, et al. Phase 1b results of idasanutlin+ cytarabine (Ara-C) in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients (pts). Haematologica. 2016;101:S504.
- 121. Daver NG, Pollyea DA, Garcia JS, et al. Safety, efficacy, pharmacokinetic (PK) and biomarker analyses of BCL2 inhibitor venetoclax (Ven) plus MDM2 inhibitor idasanutlin (idasa) in patients (pts) with relapsed or refractory (R/R) AML: a phase Ib, nonrandomized, open-label study. Blood. 2018;132:767.
- 122. DiNardo CD, Rosenthal J, Andreeff M, et al. Phase 1 dose escalation study of MDM2 inhibitor DS-3032b in patients with hematological malignancies – preliminary results. Blood. 2016;128:593.
- 123. Cummins KD, Gill S. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for acute myeloid leukemia: how close to reality? Haematologica. 2019;104:1302–8.
- 124. Wang Q-s, Wang Y, Lv H-y, et al. Treatment of CD33-directed chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in one patient with relapsed and refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Mol Ther. 2015;23:184–91.
- 125. Tasian SK, Kenderian SS, Shen F, et al. Optimized depletion of chimeric antigen receptor T cells in murine xenograft models of human acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017;129:2395–407.
- 126. Pizzitola I, Anjos-Afonso F, Rouault-Pierre K, et al. Chimeric antigen receptors against CD33/CD123 antigens efficiently target primary acute myeloid leukemia cells in vivo. Leukemia. 2014;28:1596–605.
- 127. Zhang J, Gu Y, Chen B. Mechanisms of drug resistance in acute myeloid leukemia. Onco Targets Ther. 2019;12:1937–45.
- 128. Jabbour E, Garcia-Manero G, Cortes J, et al. Twicedaily fludarabine and cytarabine combination with or without gentuzumab ozogamicin is effective in patients with relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia, high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome, and blast-phase chronic myeloid leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2012;12:244–51.



7

The Role of Stem Cell Transplant in the Therapy of Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML)

David Sanford, Mahmoud Elsawy, and Florian Kuchenbauer

7.1 Introduction

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (alloHSCT) is generally considered the most effective post-remission therapy in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) to prevent disease relapse. The efficacy of alloHSCT to treat AML is dependent on two factors: (1) high-dose conditioning chemotherapy and (2) recognition and killing of leukemia cells by the donor immune system, or graft-vs-leukemia (GvL) effect. AML is the most frequent indication for alloHSCT with over 3000 transplants performed annually in the USA and Canada which appears to be increasing [1]. The use of alloHSCT is still limited by several factors including donor availability and high rates of non-relapse mortality (NRM) compared to nontransplant strategies. Nevertheless, even with the availability of several new agents in AML, alloHSCT remains a key part of therapy for many

The Leukemia/Bone Marrow Transplant Program of British Columbia (BC), BC Cancer, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada e-mail: david.sanford@bccancer.bc.ca; florian.kuchenbauer@bccancer.bc.ca

M. Elsawy Division of Hematology, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

Clinical Research Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Centre, Seattle, WA, USA e-mail: Mahmoud.Elsawy@nshealth.ca AML patients and is more frequently being used to treat older patients. We review indications for alloHSCT in AML, approach to assessing patient fitness, autologous HSCT, conditioning regimens, donor sources, and post-transplant monitoring and interventions to prevent relapse.

7.2 Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplant in First Remission

7.2.1 Impact of Genetics

Patients with newly diagnosed AML are assigned to a risk group to estimate the probability of remission, relapse, and long-term overall survival (OS). Risk status is primarily determined through genetic testing, incorporating results from cytosomatic mutational genetic and testing. Estimation of risk of relapse with chemotherapy treatment in first complete remission (CR1) is essential when considering up-front HSCT. As a rule of thumb, alloHSCT reduces the risk of relapse by approximately half compared to consolidation chemotherapy or autoHSCT [2]. Nevertheless, alloHSCT does not abrogate genetic and other disease prognostic factors, and the probability of cure is still related to these characteristics.

Early studies often showed a benefit of HSCT in AML patients in CR1 relative to chemotherapy consolidation [3]. These studies were limited by

D. Sanford (🖂) · F. Kuchenbauer

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_7

112

a lack of randomization to account for numerous confounding factors influencing outcomes in transplant and non-transplant groups. Several prospective trials have attempted to address this using "Genetic Randomization." In these trials, AML patients were assigned to alloHSCT or no alloHSCT (chemotherapy consolidation, autotransplant, or observation) based on the presence of a matched sibling donor. This allows for a less biased comparison of the "donor vs. no-donor" groups using intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis.

A meta-analysis including 24 prospective trials using genetic randomization to assess the impact of alloHSCT in AML patients in CR1 found improved RFS (HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.74-0.86) and OS (HR 0.90, 95% CI 0.82-0.97) in patients with an available matched related donor [4]. In subset analysis, this benefit was only observed in patients with intermediate and adverse but not favorable risk cytogenetics. Based on the calculated HRs, the estimated 5-year OS in the intermediate and adverse risk group was 45% vs. 52% and 20% vs. 31% in nodonor vs. donor group, respectively. These results also have limitations and included trials published over a 20-year time span, and supportive care for HSCT and AML care has improved over time. In addition, not all patients in the donor group received alloHSCT which could underestimate the treatment effect of this intervention. Despite these limitations, these results support the use of alloHSCT in eligible patients with intermediate and adverse risk cytogenetics in CR1. This meta-analysis did not define prognostic risk using somatic mutations in genes (e.g., NPM1, FLT3, and CEPBA) that also inform risk assessment. A retrospective analysis by the German-Austrian AML Study Group did not find a benefit of having an HLA-matched donor in patients with normal karyotype and NPM1mut without FLT3^{ITD} suggesting that other genetically defined favorable risk AML patients also do not have an OS benefit from alloHSCT in CR1 [5].

A decision to offer alloHSCT in CR1 depends on a balance between the anticipated reduction in the risk of relapse and risk of non-relapse mortality (NRM). In general, most patients within the ELN intermediate risk group and all patients in the adverse risk group should be considered for alloHSCT if eligible and a suitable donor exists. Nevertheless, estimated NRM with alloHSCT in AML patients is usually at least 20% which must be offset by a reduction in the risk of relapse [6]. Several groups, including the ELN, have published guidelines outlining the balance between relapse risk and NRM to consider alloHSCT, and adaptation of this is shown in Table 7.1 [2]. This type of decision-making framework is useful, but an individualized approach is still needed and additional considerations include: (1) Patient preferences and expectations, (2) additional prognostic information from next-generation sequencing (NGS) panels, and (3) minimal residual disease (MRD) testing and other disease characteristics.

Given the complexity of estimating prognosis in an individual patient, computer-assisted modeling may be an important approach to incorporate clinical, cytogenetic, and somatic mutational data into transplant decision-making. Gerstung et al. [7] have reported on a precision-medicinebased tool developed using large datasets of AML patients to support clinical decision making (https://cancer.sanger.ac.uk/aml-multistage/). This tool estimates relapse, NRM, and OS outcomes at 3 years using alloHSCT and non-HSCT therapy, although its use has not yet been validated in a clinical setting.

7.2.2 Impact of MRD

Minimal or measurable residual disease (MRD) testing can also be used to risk stratify patients for transplant decision-making. The HOVON-SAKK group has reported a study investigating the prognostic impact of MRD using NGS and multiparameter flow cytometry (MFC) [8]. This study measured MRD in AML patients in first CR/CRi after two cycles of intensive induction chemotherapy. The 4-year relapse incidence was 73.3% for patients in whom both NGS and MFC were positive, 52.3% among those who were positive by NGS only, 49.8% among those who were positive by MFC only, and 26.7% for those not positive by either technique. The combined use

ELN risk	Genetics	MRD considerations	Relapse risk		HCT-CI	Risk of NRM to justify AlloHSCT
			Chemotherapy	AlloHSCT		
Good	t(8;21)(q22;q22.1); RUNX1-RUNX1T1 Inv. (16)(p13.1q22) or t(16;16)(p13.1;q22); CBFB-MYH11 Mutated NPM1 without FLT3-ITD or with FLT3-ITDlow Biallelic mutated CEBPA	<3 log reduction of CBF transcripts or detectable NPM1 ^{mut} after first cycle consolidation	35-40%	15-20%	<1	<10-15%
Intermediate	Mutated NPM1 and FLT3-ITDhigh Wild-type NPM1 without FLT3-ITD or with FLT3-ITDlow (without adverse-risk genetic lesions) t(9;11)(p21.3;q23.3); MLLT3-KMT2A Cytogenetic abnormalities not classified as favorable or adverse	AutoHSCT is possible option if MRD-ve by MFC	5055%	20–25%	≤3-4	<20-30%
Adverse	t(6;9)(p23;q34.1); DEK-NUP214 t(v;11q23.3); KMT2A rearranged t(9;22)(q34.1;q11.2); BCR-ABL1 Inv. (3)(q21.3q26.2) or t(3;3)(q21.3q26.2); GATA2,MECOM(EVI1) 25 or del(5q); 27; 217/ abn(17p) Complex karyotype, monosomal karyotype Wild-type NPM1 and FLT3-ITDhigh Mutated RUNX1 Mutated ASXL1 Mutated TP53	Unknown	70->90%	40-50%	≤5	<40%

Table 7.1 Factors influencing relapse risk and NRM and transplant decision-making in CR1

of the two methods was predictive of relapse, RFS and OS in multivariate analysis. The study found that receipt of alloHSCT was associated with lower relapse incidence and better RFS, suggesting that patients with positive MRD after two cycles of chemotherapy should be considered for alloHSCT in CR1.

The relative impact of MRD in AML patients in CR1 treated with alloHSCT, autologous HSCT (autoHSCT) and chemotherapy have also been reported in a separate retrospective study of HOVON-SAKK trials [9]. MRD, as measured by MFC, was "positive" (>0.1%) in ~25% of patients and was associated with higher relapse incidence (4 years: 54% vs. 32%, p < 0.001) and OS (4 years: 50 vs. 65%, p = 0.002) [9]. Interestingly, patients with MRD $\leq 0.1\%$ and those >0.1% had a similar reduction in relapse incidence with alloHSCT relative to chemotherapy or autoHSCT consolidation, suggesting that GvL is present

regardless of MRD status. In patients with MRD <0.1% OS at 4 years was greater in those that received chemotherapy or autoHSCT vs. alloHSCT (71 vs. 60%), suggesting no benefit and possibly harm with alloHSCT in the low-risk group. In comparison, in patients with MRD >0.1% OS at 4 years was similar (47 vs. 53%).

Mutations in NPM1 are present in approximately 30% of AML patients, and the prognostic value of MRD monitoring of NPM1^{mut} has been reported in several studies [10, 11]. A subset analysis of the ALFA-0702 trial reported on outcomes of NPM1^{mut} patients treated with alloHSCT or chemotherapy [10]. In this study, NPM1^{mut} was measured by RT-qPCR following induction in blood and bone marrow samples taken in CR1. A <4 log reduction in NPM1^{mut} was associated with a higher relapse incidence and poorer OS outcomes, when compared to those that achieved >4 log reduction. In patients achieving >4 log reduction, OS and DFS were similar regardless of receipt of alloHSCT, whereas DFS and OS were significantly improved in patients receiving alloSCT as post-remission therapy with <4 log reduction. This is a small retrospective analysis but suggests that MRD results can be used to select patients for alloHSCT.

Presence of MRD detected immediately prior to undergoing alloHSCT also has prognostic significance. The Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center (FHCRC) has reported on MRD testing in AML patients (n = 359) undergoing myeloablative alloHSCT in CR1 or CR2 [12]. MRD was assessed on pre-transplant bone marrow samples by MFC and was detected in 24% of patients. Within this group, twice as many patients had adverse cytogenetics and secondary AML. The incidence of relapse at 3 years was 67% and 22% (p < 0.001) in the MRD-positive and -negative groups, respectively. In fact, outcomes of the MRD-positive group were identical to patients with active disease, suggesting that detecting MRD by flow cytometry before alloHSCT is associated with a poor prognosis. The authors of this study did not find a threshold at which MRD appeared to confer a worse prognosis.

Not all detectable MRD pre-transplant appears to confer an equally poor prognosis. A similar

study by the FHCRC group measured MRD in patients with NPM1^{mut} AML in remission by MFC and NGS [13]. The authors reported that the NGS methodology was approximately tenfold more sensitive than MFC. Patients in this study with detectable MRD by MFC prior to alloHSCT had significantly higher relapse incidence and lower RFS. In contrast, patients with detectable MRD by NGS alone did not have a higher relapse incidence or worse RFS than MRD-negative patients, suggesting that prognostic relevance of MRD pre-transplant depends on the level of disease and molecular subtype. MRD is a useful tool to further refine prognosis, particularly in favorable and intermediate risk AML patients. Nevertheless, the optimal use of MRD testing in decision-making around transplant requires well-designed prospective studies and ideally standardization of testing between centers.

7.3 Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplant Beyond First Remission

7.3.1 Outcomes Beyond First CR

The prognosis for patients with relapsed or refractory (R/R) AML is poor with a chance of long-term survival less than 20% [14-16]. This may be improved with the availability of new treatments; however, alloHSCT remains the main curative option for these patients. Factors associated with improved outcome include younger age, favorable risk cytogenetics, late relapse (~>1 year), and no prior receipt of alloHSCT. The Dutch-Belgian group has reported a simple prognostic score incorporating these four factors which divides patients into favorable, intermediate, and poor risk categories [14]. The 5-year OS was reported as 46%, 18%, and 4%, respectively. This type of tool is useful in counseling patients; however, the majority of this cohort fit into an intermediate (24%) or poor risk category (67%).

The majority of R/R AML patients do not have durable remissions following reinduction chemotherapy or targeted agents and alloHSCT should be considered in eligible patients [17]. Nevertheless, outcomes of alloHSCT beyond CR1 appear to be poorer, which may relate to increased TRM and incidence of relapse. Longerterm DFS in AML patients undergoing alloHSCT in CR2 has been reported to range between 40% and 50% [15, 17]. It is important to emphasize that the majority of patients with R/R AML do not go on to receive alloHSCT, in part due to failure to achieve a second durable remission. An analysis of younger patients treated on MRC trials found that only 37% in first relapse received alloHSCT [17]. Survival at 5 years was 44% for those treated with alloHSCT and 21% for those who did not undergo alloHSCT. Interestingly, in subset analyses, patients with favorable risk cytogenetics did not have improved 5-year survival with allograft (35% (alloHSCT) vs. 44% (noalloHSCT)), whereas patients with intermediate (47% (alloHSCT) vs. 15% (no-alloHSCT)) and poor risk (34% (alloHSCT) vs. 0% (noalloHSCT)) cytogenetics did benefit. Despite this, we suggest alloHSCT should be offered to eligible patients in CR2 or greater regardless of cytogenetics [2, 18].

7.3.2 Outcomes with Active Disease

Previous studies report the probability of achieving a CR with intensive chemotherapy in R/R AML patients is approximately 50% in younger patients and 20–30% in older patients [17, 19]. In patients who do not achieve CR, prognosis is very poor and alloHSCT with active disease is an option for some patients. There have been several studies of AML patients with chemo-refractory active disease treated with alloHSCT, and the longer-term DFS is reported as ~10-30% [20]. An EBMT registry-based report of AML patients (n = 852) undergoing myeloablative (MA) alloHSCT with active disease between 2000 and 2012 found a 2-year OS and DFS of 30% and 25%, respectively [21]. A similar study of CIBMTR patients reported outcomes for AML patients with active disease undergoing myeloablative alloHSCT from 1995 to 2004 [22]. OS at 3 years was 19% with the incidence of death at

100 days post-transplant 39%, primarily related to leukemia. This study also included patients (19%) who were in first relapse and did not undergo reinduction chemotherapy before conditioning, although results were similar in this group. Multivariate analysis of baseline factors showed that survival was worse with duration of remission <6 months, circulating blasts, a mismatched unrelated donor, a related donor other an HLA-matched sibling, poor PS than (Karnofsky or Lansky score less than 90), and poor-risk cytogenetics. The authors developed a prognostic score based on these factors with four categories: 0, 1, 2, \geq 3. These categories accounted for 13%, 29%, 30%, and 28% of patients, respectively, and 3-year OS in these risk groups was 42%, 28%, 15%, and 6%, respectively.

These results suggest that some patients with active disease can be cured with alloHSCT; however, the reported outcomes are based on a selected group and are not applicable to all patients with active disease. AlloHSCT has potential for significant harm in this setting and risk for significant morbidity related to transplant coupled with a low chance of cure, makes this type of approach impractical for many centers with limited resources. Other treatment options including clinical trials, lower intensity therapy or best supportive care, and palliative care may be a preferred approach in many patients with AML and active disease.

7.4 Autologous Stem Cell Transplant

AutoHSCT is also a potential post remission therapy in AML, however is less commonly used than alloHSCT. AutoHSCT relies on high-dose conditioning chemotherapy to eradicate residual leukemia cells, without the potential for GvL effect. There is no GVHD with autoHSCT and NRM and longer-term morbidity is lower than alloHSCT, making its use appealing in some patients including those without a suitable donor. Three prospective RCTs comparing autoHSCT to chemotherapy consolidation have reported a lower relapse incidence with autoHSCT which is shown in Table 7.2 [23–25]. Of these studies, one showed a late OS benefit with autoHSCT [24] although this was not found in the other studies [23, 25]. Retrospective registry analyses show a higher relapse incidence with autoHSCT relative to alloHSCT using matched sibling, T-cell replete haplo-identical sibling and unrelated donors [26– 28]. However, all of these studies showed similar long-term OS for both autoHSCT and alloHSCT, related to higher NRM in the latter group [26–28]. One study reported an OS advantage with autoHSCT compared to alloHSCT using mismatched unrelated donors [28].

Despite evidence of efficacy, treatment of AML with autoHSCT is less frequently used in the modern era, and in Europe accounts for

			Intervention/	
Reference	Design	Patients	comparison	Main findings
Vellenga et al. [23]	RCT	AML patients in CR1, age 16–60 years following induction and two cycles consolidation, not eligible for alloHSCT	Randomization to third cycle consolidation or autoHSCT using BuCy conditioning	Lower RI with autoHSCT compared to chemotherapy consolidation 5-Year RI: 57% (auto) vs. 70% (chemo), p = 0.002 5-Year RFS: 38% (auto) vs. 29% (chemo), p = 0.065 5-Year OS: 44% (auto) vs. 41% (chemo), p = 0.86
Burnett et al. [24]	RCT	AML patients in CR1, age <55 years, following two cycle induction and one cycle consolidation	Randomization to fourth cycle consolidation alone or fourth cycle then autoHSCT using CyTBI conditioning	Lower RI with autoHSCT compared to no further treatment (NFT) 5-Year RI: 37% (auto) vs. 58%% (NFT), p = 0.0007 5-Year DFS: 54% (auto) vs. 40% (NFT), p = 0.04 5-Year OS: 57% (auto) vs. 45% (NFT), p = 0.2 NRM 12% (auto) vs. 4% (NFT)
Zittoun et al. [25]	RCT	AML patients in CR1, age <60 years following one cycle induction and one cycle consolidation	Randomization to second cycle consolidation or autoHSCT using CyTBI conditioning	Lower RI with autoHSCT vs. chemo. consolidation 4-Year RI: 57% (chemo) vs. 40.6% (auto) 4-Year DFS: 30% (chemo) vs. 48% (auto), p = 0.05 4-Year OS: 46% (chemo) vs. 56% (auto), p = 0.43
Gorin et al. [26]	Retrospective	AML EBMT registry patients with HSCT 2007–2012 in CR1 or CR2	Comparison between autoHSCT vs. haploidentical HSCT	Higher RI with autoHSCT vs. haplo HSCT but no OS difference Improved OS with autoHSCT in intermediate-risk karyotype in CR1 3-Year RI: 50 (auto) vs. 27% (allo), p < 0.01 3-year NRM: 4% (auto) vs. 25% (allo), p < 0.01 3-year LFS: 47% (auto) vs. 48% (allo), p = 0.7 3-year OS: 64% (auto) vs. 57% (allo), p = 0.12
Keating et al. [27]	Retrospective	AML patients from CIBMTR with transplant 1995–2004 in CR1	Comparison between autoHSCT vs. matched sibling donor (MSD) HSCT	Lower RI and better LFS with MSD HSCT vs. autoHSCT but no OS difference 5-Year RI: 46% (auto) vs. 26% (allo) 5-Year LFS: 46% (auto) vs. 57% (allo) 5-Year OS: 54% (auto) vs. 59% (allo-PB) vs. 64% (allo-BM)

Table 7.2 Selected studies of autologous transplant in AML

<10% of transplants in CR1 [1, 29]. This may be related to increased donor availability for alloHSCT with the use of haploidentical sibling, cord, and unrelated donors and perhaps a perceived decrease in NRM over time with alloHSCT. AutoHSCT is also limited by concerns around graft contamination with leukemic cells, and historically, there have been many attempts to perform graft-purging although the impact of this is unclear [30].

It appears that autoHSCT is most effective in AML patients with intermediate-risk genetic changes [28, 31–33] and recent ELN guidelines include autoHSCT as a post-remission therapy option for this group [34]. There is evidence that MRD can also be used to select patients who will benefit from autoHSCT. The **GIMEMA** AML1310 trial addresses this and performed MRD testing by MFC in intermediate-risk patients following the first consolidation cycle [35]. Patients with negative MRD received consolidation with autoHSCT, whereas MRDpositive patients were preferentially treated with alloHSCT. The results of this study have been presented in abstract form and 2-year OS and DFS of 78.6% and 61.4% vs. 69.8% and 66.6% in the MRD-negative vs. -positive groups, respectively. Outcomes in the intermediate-risk group receiving autoHSCT were similar to good-risk patients (also treated with autoHSCT), providing some evidence for autoHSCT in a selected MRDnegative group. Further work needs to be done to define the role of this therapy, and autoHSCT should be included as a post remission option in frontline clinical trials in fit patients with intermediate risk and favorable risk disease and negative MRD.

7.5 Assessing Fitness for HSCT

Several models are available to estimate both risk of NRM and survival benefit to optimize decisions about patient suitability for а HSCT. Historically, age has been used as a selection criterion for alloHSCT referrals. Nevertheless, age alone is a poor prognostic factor. Reduced intensity conditioning (RIC) has

extended the use of alloHSCT to older adults and patients ineligible for MAC alloHSCT. This necessitates the requirement for objective tools to further refine the balance of risk-benefit associated with HSCT.

7.5.1 The HCT-Specific Comorbidity Index (HCT-CI)

The HCT-CI was initially developed from the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) and is the most widely accepted model for the assessment of fitness prior to alloHSCT [36]. It was developed in a cohort of 1055 patients with different hematological diseases who received alloHSCT after nonmyeloablative (n = 249) or myeloablative (n = 761) conditioning. The HCT-CI includes 17 comorbidities with each scored from 1 to 3 (Table 7.3). In the validation set, HCT-CI scores showed higher sensitivity than the CCI scores in capturing comorbidities. HCT-CI scores of 1–2 and \geq 3 were found in 34% and 28% of patients, while only 10% and 3% of patients had CCI scores of 1 and ≥ 2 , respectively. The HCT-CI scores of 0, 1-2, and \geq 3 showed good discrimination of NRM (14%, 21%, and 41%) and survival (71%, 60%, and 34%), respectively.

The prognostic capacity of the HCT-CI has been augmented by the addition of age to build a composite comorbidity/age index using a dataset of 3033 allogeneic HCT recipients [37]. In multivariate models, age >40 years has been shown to impact NRM as equivalent to a single comorbidity with a score of 1. The composite comorbidity/ age index provides a more accurate estimate of biological age, and patients should be evaluated with the composite comorbidity/age score, incorporating the impact of comorbidities and age, as well as disease characteristics for selection of the most beneficial transplant strategy. Regardless of age, patients with low scores should be considered for randomized clinical trials or offered higher-intensity regimens. An exception is patients older than 65 years as there are limited data on usage of high-dose regimens beyond this age. Likewise, regardless of age, patients with

Comorbidity	Definition	Score
HCT-CI		beore
Arrhythmia	Any type of arrhythmia that has necessitated the delivery of a specific anti-arrhythmia treatment at any time point in the patient's past medical history	1
Cardiac	Coronary artery disease, ^a congestive heart failure, myocardial infarction, or EF \leq 50%	1
Inflammatory bowel disease	Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis requiring treatment at any time point in patient's past medical history	1
Diabetes	Requiring treatment with insulin or oral hypoglycemic agents continuously for 4 weeks before start of conditioning	1
Cerebrovascular disease	Transient ischemic attack or cerebrovascular accident	1
Psychiatric disturbance	Any disorder requiring continuous treatments for 4 weeks before start of conditioning	1
Hepatic, mild	Chronic hepatitis, bilirubin > ULN to $1.5 \times$ ULN, or AST/ALT > ULN to $2.5 \times$ ULN; at least two values of each within 2 or 4 weeks before start of conditioning	1
Obesity	Patients with a body mass index >35 kg/m ² for patients older than 18 years or a BMI-for-age of \geq 95th percentile for patients of \leq 18 years of age	1
Infection	Requiring antimicrobial treatment starting from before conditioning and continued beyond day 0	1
Rheumatologic	Requiring specific treatment at any time point in the patient's past medical history	2
Peptic ulcer	Based on prior endoscopic or radiologic diagnosis	2
Moderate/severe	Serum creatinine >2 mg/dl (at least two values of each within 2 or 4 weeks before	2
renal	start of conditioning), on dialysis, or prior renal transplantation	
Moderate pulmonary	Corrected DLco (via Dinakara equation) and/or FEV1 of 66–80% or dyspnea on slight activity	2
Prior malignancy	Treated at any time point in the patient's past history, excluding non-melanoma skin cancer	3
Heart valve disease	Of at least moderate severity, prosthetic valve, or symptomatic mitral valve prolapse as detected by echocardiogram	3
Severe pulmonary	Corrected DLco (via Dinakara equation) and/or FEV1 ≤65% or dyspnea at rest or requiring oxygen	3
Moderate/severe hepatic	Liver cirrhosis, bilirubin > $1.5 \times ULN$, or AST/ALT > $2.5 \times ULN$; at least two values of each within 2 or 4 weeks before start of conditioning	3
Augmented comorbi	dity/age index: all of the above plus	
High ferritin	Values \geq 2500 as measured the closest prior to start of conditioning	1
Mild	Values <3.5–3.0 as measured the closest prior to start of conditioning	1
hypoalbuminemia		
Moderate hypoalbuminemia	Values <3.0 as measured the closest prior to start of conditioning	2
Thrombocytopenia	Values <100,000 as measured the closest prior to start of conditioning	1
Age	>40 years	1

Table 7.3 Definitions of comorbidities included in the augmented comorbidity/age index and their corresponding scores

Abbreviations: *EF* ejection fraction, *ULN* upper limit of normal, *DLco* diffusion capacity of carbon monoxide, *FEV1* forced expiratory volume in 1 s

^aOne or more vessel-coronary artery stenosis requiring medical treatment, stent, or bypass graft

higher scores are more suitable candidates for less intense regimens.

The HCT-CI can be further augmented by the addition of three markers: ferritin, albumin, and platelet count [38]. The prognostic capacity of an augmented comorbidity/age index was inves-

tigated among 724 recipients of allogeneic HCT from HLA-mismatched (n = 345), haploidentical (n = 117), and umbilical cord blood (UCB, n = 262) grafts between 2000 and 2013. Patients with scores of <4 had better survival compared to those with scores of ≥4 and received HLA- mismatched (55% versus 39%, p < 0.0008), HLA-haploidentical (58% versus 38%, p = 0.01), or UCB grafts (67% versus 48%, p = 0.004), respectively. These results support the use of comorbidity assessment as a valid prognostic tool among the recipients of allo-HCT from alternative graft sources. Table 7.3 describes the definitions of the augmented comorbidity/age index [39].

The prognostic role of comorbidities has been specifically assessed among patients with AML (n = 391) or MDS (n = 186) who received either nonmyeloablative (n = 125) or high-dose conditioning (n = 452) [40]. In multivariate analyses of risk factors, high HCT-CI scores and high disease risk were the most significant factors predicting NRM (p < 0.0001 and p = 0.004), OS (p < 0.0001and p < 0.0001), and RFS (p < 0.0001 and p < 0.0001), respectively. Therefore, all patients were stratified into four risk groups incorporating both comorbidities and disease-risk (Table 7.4). Rates of 2-year OS were 70% and 78% among AML/MDS patients with HCT-CI scores of 0-2 and low-risk disease following nonmyeloablative and high-dose HCT, respectively, and they were 57% and 51%, respectively, if patients had highrisk AML/MDS. Results suggested that AML/ MDS patients with low comorbidity burden are candidates for prospective randomized studies to determine the role of conditioning intensity. Unsurprisingly, patients with higher HCT-CI scores (≥ 3) overall had inferior survivals, in particular, those with high-risk AML/MDS (OS of 29% and 24%, respectively). The poor survival rates were due to more relapses (49%) among nonmyeloablative recipients and more frequent NRM (46%) among high-dose recipients (Fig. 7.1) [40]. A systematic methodology for data acquisition and consistent guidelines for comorbidity coding are summarized in a Web-based calculator (www.hctci.org) [41].

7.5.2 The HCT-CI and Disease Risk Index

While patient-specific variables have a significant impact on NRM, disease-specific variables should be also taken into consideration as a predictor of post-transplant relapse when counseling patients regarding the feasibility of alloHSCT. In a recent analysis including 942 alloHSCT recipients with AML/MDS, a novel prognostic model, hematopoietic cell transplant-composite risk (HCT-CR), was developed and validated by combining the refined disease risk index (DRI-R) and comorbidity/age index to prognosticate for outcomes [42]. The HCT-CR index stratified patients into four risk groups: low-risk patients with low/ intermediate DRI-R and comorbidity/age ≤ 3 (N = 272); intermediate-risk patients with low/ intermediate DRI-R and comorbidity/age >3 (N = 168); high-risk patients with high/very high DRI-R and comorbidity/age ≤ 3 (N = 284); and very high-risk patients with high/very high DRI-R and comorbidity/age >3 (N = 184). Patients with higher HCT-CR scores had significantly worse outcomes compared to those with lower scores. The low-risk group, intermediate, high, and very high-risk groups had adjusted HR

Table 7.4 Two-year NRM, relapse, OS, and RFS incidences among nonmyeloablative compared to myeloablative patients as stratified into four risk groups based on HCT-CI scores and disease status

					RFS
Risk groups	Patients	NRM (%)	Relapse (%)	OS (%)	(%)
Group I (HCT-CI scores 0-2 and	Myeloablative ($n = 138$)	11	14	78	75
low-risk diseases)	Nonmyeloablative $(n = 28)$	4	33	70	63
Group II (HCT-CI scores 0-2 and	Myeloablative ($n = 176$)	24	34	51	43
intermediate and high-risk diseases)	Nonmyeloablative $(n = 34)$	3	42	57	56
Group III (HCT-CI scores ≥ 3 and	Myeloablative $(n = 52)$	32	27	45	41
low-risk diseases)	Nonmyeloablative $(n = 19)$	27	37	41	36
Group IV (HCT-CI scores ≥ 3 and	Myeloablative ($n = 86$)	46	34	24	20
intermediate and high-risk diseases)	Nonmyeloablative $(n = 44)$	29	49	29	23



Fig. 7.1 Risk stratification of patients with acute myeloid leukemia/myelodysplasia and receiving allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT). Group I (gray) included HCT-specific comorbidity index (CI) scores 0-2 plus low disease risk; group II (yellow) included HCT-CI scores 0-2 plus intermediate and high disease risks; group III (blue) included HCT-CI scores ≥ 3 plus low disease

risks; and group IV (red) included HCT-CI scores ≥3 plus intermediate and high disease risks. NRM, nonrelapse mortality; OS, overall survival; RFS, relapse-free survival. (From Sorror et al.: J Clin Oncol Vol. 25, 2007: 4246–4254. Reprinted with permission. © 2007 American Society of Clinical Oncology. All rights reserved)

of 1.37 (p < 0.04), 2.08 (p < 0.001), and 2.92 (p < 0.001), respectively. The HCT-CR model provided better discriminative capacity for OS prediction compared with all prior models independently, including cytogenetic risk group, DRI-R, and comorbidity/age model (C-statistics: 0.62, 0.55, 0.60, and 0.54, respectively) (p < 0.001).

Similar results were demonstrated in another recent analysis of 959 alloHSCT recipients between 2000 and 2013 at the University of Minnesota for hematological malignancies (66% with leukemia) [43]. The HCT-CI was combined with DRI to produce a composite disease risk and HCT comorbidity index (DRCI). The new model stratified patients into six risk groups with discrete outcomes. Patients with very-high risk DRCI had worse 2-year OS compared with patients with very low-risk DRCI, 34% versus 74%, respectively (p < 0.01). In multivariable model adjusted for patient age and donor type, the DRCI was an

independent predictor of overall mortality, relapse risk, DFS, and GVHD-free/RFS. These results suggest that patient-related factors should simultaneously be considered with disease-specific variables to better risk stratify outcomes of patients with AML/MDS undergoing alloHSCT.

7.5.3 Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment (CGA)

Older patients experience additional age-specific health vulnerabilities relative to younger patients. Unfortunately, performance status assessment tools such as KPS and European Cooperative Oncology Group performance status (ECOG) do not provide a comprehensive evaluation of health status. CGA could potentially reveal these vulnerabilities; however, it has several domains, and identification of the most relevant predictors on outcomes in alloHSCT requires further studies. In a recent analysis of outcomes of 527 alloHSCT recipients who were 60 years or older, 40% with AML, the incidence of post-transplant delirium was strongly associated with pre-transplant fall in the preceding year, use of potentially inappropriate medications, low platelet count, and impaired renal function in multivariate models; while age older than 70 years and impaired activities of daily living were significantly associated with post-transplant fall, both assessed at day 100 [44]. Both delirium (HR 1.66; 95% CI, 1.09–2.52; p < 0.023) and fall (HR 2.14; 95% CI 1.16–3.95; *p* < 0.026) were significantly associated with increased NRM at 100 days; further fall (HR 1.93; 95% CI 1.18-3.14; p = 0.016), but not delirium, was significantly associated with reduced OS. Improved understanding and identification of the most significant predictors of outcomes among CGA tools is of prime importance. The majority of these variables are potentially targetable with preemptive interventions to improve the outcomes in older patients.

7.5.4 Recommended Models

The augmented comorbidity/age index is a relatively simple tool that could be used in the daily clinical practice to council patients on potential risks of post-transplant NRM. An online calculator is available to provide the HCT-CI score at www.hctci.org. All patients 60 years or older should additionally be assessed using domains of CGA. This approach aims at revealing potential targets for peri-transplant interventions to improve outcomes and post-transplant quality of life.

7.6 Conditioning Regimens and Donor Type

7.6.1 Conditioning Regimens

Conditioning regimens given prior to alloHSCT create immunologic and physical space to allow for engraftment and for eradication of residual leukemia cells. Therefore, conditioning consists of a lymphodepleting component, which targets the host lymphoid system and a myeloablative component which theoretically should target the host stem cells as well as the remaining malignant cells. The conditioning regimen influences risk of GVHD, TRM, relapse incidence, and OS. Nevertheless, there is no "one-size fits all" approach to the selection of a conditioning regimen, which needs to be tailored to disease characteristics, patient fitness, and comorbidities.

Traditionally, conditioning regimens can be classified based on the reversibility of cytopenia into myeloablative conditioning (MAC), nonmyeloablative (NMA) and reduced intensity conditioning regimes (RIC). MAC leads to irreversible cytopenia and requires stem cell support. In contrast, NMA protocols cause minimal cytopenias and can be given without stem cell support but are currently not favored especially in AML patients with advanced disease due to high relapse rates [45]. RIC is positioned between MA and NMA, causes profound, but not irreversible cytopenia which requires stem cell support [46].

Early studies comparing myeloablative CyTBI and BuCy regimens suggested that TBI resulted in improved survival outcomes with lower relapse incidence, TRM, and improved OS [47, 48]. These findings have not been confirmed in recent registry-based studies, which report equivalent or improved outcomes with BuCy compared to CyTBI [49, 50]. This may relate to widespread use of IV busulfan dosing in modern eras, which has more predictable absorption and pharmacokinetics with lower toxicity and risk of venoocclusive disease (VOD) than oral busulfan used in older studies [51, 52]. High-dose TBI regimens are infrequently used in AML partly due to the long-term toxicities with TBI, such as endocrine dysfunction, cataracts, and risk of second cancers.

Several strategies may reduce toxicity associated with MAC regimens including the use of pharmaco-kinetic (PK)-guided busulfan dosing, avoidance of dual alkylator regimens, and treosulfan-based regimens [53–58]. Reduced intensity conditioning (RIC) regimens have improved the tolerability and safety of alloHSCT in older patients and those with comorbidities.

Retrospective studies have found that RIC regimens result in lower rates of TRM with a higher risk of relapse [59]. Two recent prospective trials have compared RIC vs. MAC alloHSCT in relatively young, fit patients with AML with conflicting results. One study by the BMT-CTN found a significantly higher relapse incidence with RIC regimens with worse OS, and the trial was stopped early due to this [60]. In contrast, two European trials comparing RIC vs. MAC regimens in AML in CR1 found similar OS with each regimen [61, 62]. However, differences in trial design, donor source, and age adjustment make comparisons between these studies difficult.

There is also evidence that MAC is less beneficial in AML patients with high-risk disease and complex karyotypes [63–67]. With this in mind, FLAMSA-RIC, a sequential approach combining intensive chemotherapy, RIC, and prophylactic donor lymphocyte infusions (DLI) was developed demonstrating promising results in adverse risk AML patients [68–72]. However, to further improve and personalize conditioning regimens, there is a need to better understand the interaction between the microenvironment and disease biology. In addition, the potential incorporation of targeted agents into conditioning regimes should be explored to reduce disease burden and thus relapse after alloHSCT. In general, we suggest that fit, younger patients (<65 years) should receive MAC regimens although this remains an individualized decision based on patient comorbidities and estimated risk of NRM.

7.6.2 Donor Type

Historically, a graft from an HLA-matched sibling donor (MSD) has been the ideal and in general is still the preferred donor choice. There are three graft sources for alloHSCT: bone marrow (BM), peripheral blood stem cells (PBSC), and cord blood (CB). Anasetti et al. recently compared in a large randomized Phase 3 trial PBSC and BM from unrelated donors in patients undergoing alloHSCT [73]. The authors did not detect significant survival differences between both arms, although the PBSC group had a higher risk of cGvHD and lower risk of graft failure. Although the trial did not exclusively focus on AML patients (~50% of patients), it confirmed previous retrospective analyses [74, 75]. In the setting of RIC, the positive effect of PBSC on OS and LFS was more pronounced as recently shown by Savani et al. in a retrospective analysis [76].

Despite PBSC being the main stem cell source for HSCT in adults, the use of alternative graft sources such as haploidentical donors, mainly through the introduction of post-transplant cyclophosphamide (PT-Cy) is increasing [1, 29]. In a large retrospective analysis, Ringden et al. [77] compared relapse and survival in AML/ALL patients, receiving MSD HSCT to patients that received T-cell-replete or T-cell-depleted haploidentical HSCT. There was no difference in RI between recipients of haploidentical and matched sibling grafts, but a significantly higher NRM in the haploidentical group. Similar to unrelated donors, using PB as graft source for haploidentical HSCT has been associated with increased grade II–IV GvHD, but without a significant effect on survival outcomes [78].

Comparing the outcomes of haploidentical HSCT with MSD in AML in CR1, Salvatore et al. found that in intermediate-risk AML patients receiving a haploidentical graft exhibited a less favorable outcome with decreased LFS and OS and higher NRM, whereas in adverse-risk AML patients, the outcomes were similar [79]. Although the use of CB as graft source has been decreasing, data from Milano et al. suggest that OS is superior in acute leukemia and MDS patients receiving CB compared to HLAmismatched unrelated donors in the presence of MRD [80]. Several reports have shown that CB as graft can provide a therapeutic benefit in AML patients regardless of age and risk stratification [81–84]. There is no clear evidence for superiority of haploidentical grafts vs. HLA-mismatched unrelated donors [85]. Therefore, based on the available data, MSD remain the first-choice donor for AML patients in first remission.

7.6.3 Role of T-Cell Depletion

GvHD is one of the leading causes of NRM and morbidity after allogeneic HSCT. In addition to standard GVHD prophylaxis strategy, in vivo T-cell depletion with antithymocyte globulin (ATG) has been developed to reduce the incidence of especially cGvHD. Multiple randomized studies evaluated the use of ATLG (former ATG-Fresenius) or thymoglobulin, both produced from immunized rabbits, for GvHD prophylaxis in patients who underwent alloHSCT from unrelated as well as HLA-identical matched donors [86–89]. Overall, the use of ATG was associated with a lower incidence of cGvHD without affecting OS and relapse incidence, suggesting a broader use of ATG for related and unrelated donor transplants. Due to its potent effect on proliferating T cells as GvHD prophylaxis for haploidentical HSCT, PT-Cy has been investigated for allogeneic HSCT in the setting of matched related and unrelated donors alone or in

combination with immunosuppressive therapy. Initial promising results for PT-Cy for alloHSCT with matched related and unrelated donors receiving BM as graft as single agent in hematological malignancies with cGVHD rates <15% prompted the further investigation of PT-Cy in alloHSCT [90, 91]. PT-Cy as single immunosuppressive agent for allo-HSCT with PBSC as graft source was associated with severe aGvHD and an increased NRM, prompting investigations of PT-Cy in combination with other immunosuppressive drugs. In fact, the combination of PT-Cy with a calcineurin inhibitor enhanced its effect on GvHD prophylaxis in particular severe cGvHD for PBSC and BM from MSD and MUD, thus reducing mortality and improving survival [92-94]. Although randomized trials are still lacking, PT-Cy appears to be a reasonable alternative for in vivo T-cell depletion and may have a cost advantage over ATG. A promising approach for ex vivo T-cell depletion is $\alpha\beta$ T-cell depletion to overcome the HLA disparity for patients undergoing haploidentical HSCT as well as HLAmatched HSCT [95]. However, clinical trials comparing $\alpha\beta$ T-cell depletion with other immunosuppressive approaches are still absent.

7.7 Maintenance Therapy and Monitoring for Relapse

7.7.1 Maintenance Therapy

Disease relapse remains the most frequent cause of death following HSCT, underscoring the need for novel approaches with maintenance and preemptive therapies [96]. Hypomethylating agents (HMAs) are attractive options for maintenance therapy as they can be delivered in the outpatient setting and are well tolerated. Maintenance using decitabine has been compared in an RCT following chemotherapy and does not reduce relapse in this setting [97]. Following alloHSCT, HMAs may augment GvL through increased expression of tumor antigens such as WT1 on leukemic cells [98]. In addition, pre-clinical models show that HMAs expand regulatory T-cell populations, suggesting they may not increase risk of GVHD [98, 99]. Several non-randomized studies have evaluated HMAs post-HSCT [100–103]. These agents have acceptable safety and tolerability, although the optimal dose appears to be lower than for upfront treatment [100, 103]. The EFS and OS reported in these trials is promising; however a prospective, randomized trial is needed to evaluate the efficacy of HMAs in the post-HSCT setting.

Targeted therapy, such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors, can prevent relapse in Philadelphia positive ALL and CML post-HSCT, and targeted agents could play a similar role in AML (PMID 20005967). FLT3-mutated AML is a suitable candidate to investigate post-HSCT maintenance as relapse remains high despite the availability of several FLT3-inhibitors. Promising results using sorafenib maintenance in FLT3-positive AML have been reported in retrospective studies relative to historical controls [104, 105]. Recently, the results of an RCT by the German/Austrian group evaluating sorafenib maintenance was reported in abstract form [106]. In this trial, patients with FLT3-ITD mutated AML in CR1 or beyond were randomized to either placebo or sorafenib 400 mg PO BID started day +60 to +100 post-HSCT and continued for 24 months. The primary endpoint of RFS was 85% vs. 53% at 2 years in the sorafenib and placebo group, respectively (HR = 0.39; 95% CI 0.18-0.85; p = 0.013). There was a higher rate of relapse in the placebo-treated group but no difference in NRM between groups. OS was also higher in the sorafenib-treated patients (HR = 0.45; 95% CI 0.20-0.97, p = 0.03). The rates of acute and chronic GVHD were similar between groups; however, it appeared that skin toxicity and electrolyte abnormalities were more frequent with sorafenib. This suggests sorafenib maintenance can prevent relapse in this group of AML patients, and several studies evaluating maintenance therapy using other FLT3-inhibitors are ongoing.

7.7.2 Pre-emptive Treatment for MRD and Mixed Chimerism

There is growing evidence that pre-emptive treatment for early or low burden disease with immu-

nomodulation and other therapies may prevent relapse in AML following HSCT [107-109]. Monitoring of chimerism following alloHSCT is used to assess risk of disease relapse and graft failure. "Full chimerism" refers to a state of complete engraftment of donor cells in the recipient, and this is often determined in a specific lineage (e.g., lymphoid, CD34+). Chimerism is frequently assessed by monitoring polymorphic short-tandem repeats (STR) of <10 nucleotides or microsatellite regions. Several other methods are possible including FISH for X and Y chromosomes in opposite sex donors, qPCR analysis of single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP), and insertion/deletions (Indels) [110]. Multiple studies have shown that mixed or increasing chimerism in lymphoid or CD34+ compartments is associated with higher risk of relapse [111–113]. The chance of mixed chimerism is increased following RIC regimens and with use of a BM graft; however, mixed chimerism at early time points is also common following MAC regimens [112]. Risk of relapse appears to be lower in patients achieving full lymphoid chimerism at early time points following both RIC and MAC regimens in patients with AML [114].

It is important to emphasize that mixed or increasing chimerism is not however synonymous with disease relapse, and the timing and threshold determine test characteristics [115]. This is relevant as treatment of mixed chimerism with rapid taper of immunosuppression or donorlymphocyte infusion (DLI) can have significant toxicity by provoking severe GVHD. A study from by Wong et al. highlights the tradeoff of chimerism testing and reported a 100-day T lymphoid chimerism threshold of 85% had a high specificity (87.5%) but low sensitivity (46.7%) for relapse, with positive and negative predictive values of 38.9% and 90.6%, respectively. Withdrawal of immunosuppression and preemptive DLI are commonly used for mixed chimerism, and there is evidence that this reduces relapse. A prospective study of pre-emptive DLI for mixed chimerism in pediatric AML patients found that patients with mixed chimerism had lower EFS than those with full chimerism (80% vs. 30%, p < 0.001) [116]. EFS was improved better in patients with mixed chimerism that received pre-emptive treatment with withdrawal of immunosuppression or DLI (n = 13) than those that did not (n = 7), and the 3-year EFS was 46% and 0%, respectively.

Treatment with azacitidine may also be effective in treating mixed chimerism and preventing relapse. The RELAZA trial used preemptive treatment with azacitidine for mixed chimerism or detectable MRD post-HSCT in patients with AML and MDS (n = 59) [107]. In this study, chimerism was measured using STR in CD34+ sorted cells at intervals of 3-4 weeks during the first 8 months after HSCT and every 7-8 weeks from months 8 to 24. Patients with chimerism < 80% (*n* = 20) were eligible for treatment with azacitidine and withdrawal of immunosuppression, and in this group, 50% had an increase of chimerism >80%. Nevertheless, 65% (n = 13) of patients entering the treatment phase ultimately relapsed with a median time of 231 days from the detection of MC <80%. In the RELAZA-2 trial by the same group, MRD testing was incorporated to identify AML patients at high risk for relapse following HSCT. Detection of NPM1mut and core-binding factor transcripts by RT-qPCR following HSCT has been shown to predict relapse [108, 117]. In this trial, CD34+ chimerism testing (n = 108) was performed in addition to MRD testing using RT-qPCR for NPM1^{mut} (n = 77) or fusion transcripts DEK-NUP214 (n = 1), RUNX1-RUNX1T1 (n = 9), or CBFB1-MYH11 (n = 10). Patients were offered treatment with azacitidine on the basis of chimerism < 80% (*n* = 19) or MRD positivity (n = 34), and 40% had an MRD or chimerism response and 19% had stable MRD or chimerism. The 1-year OS and PFS was 76 and 42%, respectively.

The exact benefit of interventions based on chimerism and MRD monitoring is difficult to determine given the non-randomized nature of these studies. Despite these limitations, preemptive treatment with taper of IST and DLI should be considered in patients with mixed or increasing chimerism or detectable MRD. In patients deemed to be at high risk of severe GVHD with this approach, treatment with azacitidine could be an alternative approach to prevent or delay relapse.

7.8 Conclusion

In conclusion, alloHSCT has an important role in the upfront treatment of intermediate and highrisk AML patients. Patients determined to have a high risk for relapse based on MRD testing may also benefit from alloHSCT in first remission. AutoHSCT is a potential option in patients with intermediate-risk AML without detectable MRD. Patients with R/R AML should be targeted to receive alloHSCT if eligible as this remains the primary curative option. Selection of conditioning regimens should be individualized; however, myeloablative regimens are preferred in fitter, younger patients. A formalized assessment of a patient's comorbidities should be performed prior to HSCT using a tool such as the HCT-CI or augmented HCT-CI to estimate the risk of NRM and guide patient discussions and inform management. Significant work remains to reduce NRM with HSCT, and a major obstacle to this remains GVHD which appears to be reduced with lymphodepletion using ATG and PT-Cy. Relapse remains the major cause of death following HSCT, and randomized prospective trials are needed to investigate the role of maintenance and pre-emptive therapy for MRD.

References

- D'Souza A, Fretham, C (2018) Current uses and outcomes of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation – summary slides CIBMTR website 2018. Available from: https://www.cibmtr.org/Pages/index.aspx
- Cornelissen JJ, Gratwohl A, Schlenk RF, Sierra J, Bornhauser M, Juliusson G, et al. The European LeukemiaNet AML Working Party consensus statement on allogeneic HSCT for patients with AML in remission: an integrated-risk adapted approach. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2012;9(10):579–90.
- Appelbaum FR, Dahlberg S, Thomas ED, Buckner CD, Cheever MA, Clift RA, et al. Bone marrow transplantation or chemotherapy after remission induction for adults with acute nonlymphoblastic

leukemia. A prospective comparison. Ann Intern Med. 1984;101(5):581–8.

- 4. Koreth J, Schlenk R, Kopecky KJ, Honda S, Sierra J, Djulbegovic BJ, et al. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission: systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective clinical trials. JAMA. 2009;301(22):2349–61.
- Schlenk RF, Dohner K, Krauter J, Frohling S, Corbacioglu A, Bullinger L, et al. Mutations and treatment outcome in cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(18):1909–18.
- Teira P, Battiwalla M, Ramanathan M, Barrett AJ, Ahn KW, Chen M, et al. Early cytomegalovirus reactivation remains associated with increased transplant-related mortality in the current era: a CIBMTR analysis. Blood. 2016;127(20):2427–38.
- Gerstung M, Papaemmanuil E, Martincorena I, Bullinger L, Gaidzik VI, Paschka P, et al. Precision oncology for acute myeloid leukemia using a knowledge bank approach. Nat Genet. 2017;49(3):332–40.
- Jongen-Lavrencic M, Grob T, Hanekamp D, Kavelaars FG, Al Hinai A, Zeilemaker A, et al. Molecular minimal residual disease in acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(13):1189–99.
- 9. Versluis J, Kalin B, Zeijlemaker W, Passweg J, Graux C, Manz MG, Vekemans MC, Biemond BJ, Legdeur M, van Marwijk Kooy M, de Weerdt O, Wijermans PW, Hoogendoorn M, Bargetzi MJ, Kuball J, Schouten HC, van der Velden V, Janssen J, Pabst T, Lowenberg B, Jongen-Lavrencic M, Schuurhuis G, Ossenkoppele G, Cornelissen JJ. Graft-versus-leukemia effect of allogeneic stem-cell transplantation and minimal residual disease in patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission. JCO Precis Oncol. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1200/PO.17.00078.
- Balsat M, Renneville A, Thomas X, de Botton S, Caillot D, Marceau A, et al. Postinduction minimal residual disease predicts outcome and benefit from allogeneic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia with NPM1 mutation: a study by the Acute Leukemia French Association Group. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(2):185–93.
- Ivey A, Hills RK, Simpson MA, Jovanovic JV, Gilkes A, Grech A, et al. Assessment of minimal residual disease in standard-risk AML. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(5):422–33.
- Araki D, Wood BL, Othus M, Radich JP, Halpern AB, Zhou Y, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia: time to move toward a minimal residual disease-based definition of complete remission? J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(4):329–36.
- Zhou Y, Othus M, Walter RB, Estey EH, Wu D, Wood BL. Deep NPM1 sequencing following allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation improves risk assessment in adults with NPM1mutated AML. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2018;24(8):1615–20.

- Breems DA, Van Putten WL, Huijgens PC, Ossenkoppele GJ, Verhoef GE, Verdonck LF, et al. Prognostic index for adult patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first relapse. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(9):1969–78.
- Forman SJ, Rowe JM. The myth of the second remission of acute leukemia in the adult. Blood. 2013;121(7):1077–82.
- Ganzel C, Sun Z, Cripe LD, Fernandez HF, Douer D, Rowe JM, et al. Very poor long-term survival in past and more recent studies for relapsed AML patients: the ECOG-ACRIN experience. Am J Hematol. 2018;93:1074.
- Burnett AK, Goldstone A, Hills RK, Milligan D, Prentice A, Yin J, et al. Curability of patients with acute myeloid leukemia who did not undergo transplantation in first remission. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(10):1293–301.
- Network NCC (2019) Acute myeloid leukemia (version 2.2019). Available from: https://www.nccn.org/ professionals/physician_gls/pdf/aml.pdf
- Ravandi F, Ritchie EK, Sayar H, Lancet JE, Craig MD, Vey N, et al. Vosaroxin plus cytarabine versus placebo plus cytarabine in patients with first relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukaemia (VALOR): a randomised, controlled, double-blind, multinational, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(9):1025–36.
- Gyurkocza B, Lazarus HM, Giralt S. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in patients with AML not achieving remission: potentially curative therapy. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2017;52(8):1083–90.
- 21. Nagler A, Savani BN, Labopin M, Polge E, Passweg J, Finke J, et al. Outcomes after use of two standard ablative regimens in patients with refractory acute myeloid leukaemia: a retrospective, multicentre, registry analysis. Lancet Haematol. 2015;2(9):e384–92.
- Duval M, Klein JP, He W, Cahn JY, Cairo M, Camitta BM, et al. Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation for acute leukemia in relapse or primary induction failure. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(23):3730–8.
- Vellenga E, van Putten W, Ossenkoppele GJ, Verdonck LF, Theobald M, Cornelissen JJ, et al. Autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2011;118(23):6037–42.
- Burnett AK, Goldstone AH, Stevens RM, Hann IM, Rees JK, Gray RG, et al. Randomised comparison of addition of autologous bone-marrow transplantation to intensive chemotherapy for acute myeloid leukaemia in first remission: results of MRC AML 10 trial. UK Medical Research Council Adult and Children's Leukaemia Working Parties. Lancet. 1998;351(9104):700–8.
- 25. Zittoun RA, Mandelli F, Willemze R, de Witte T, Labar B, Resegotti L, et al. Autologous or allogeneic bone marrow transplantation compared with intensive chemotherapy in acute myelogenous leukemia. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) and the Gruppo

Italiano Malattie Ematologiche Maligne dell'Adulto (GIMEMA) Leukemia Cooperative Groups. N Engl J Med. 1995;332(4):217–23.

- 26. Gorin NC, Labopin M, Piemontese S, Arcese W, Santarone S, Huang H, et al. T-cell-replete haploidentical transplantation versus autologous stem cell transplantation in adult acute leukemia: a matched pair analysis. Haematologica. 2015;100(4):558–64.
- 27. Keating A, DaSilva G, Perez WS, Gupta V, Cutler CS, Ballen KK, et al. Autologous blood cell transplantation versus HLA-identical sibling transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission: a registry study from the Center for International Blood and Marrow Transplantation Research. Haematologica. 2013;98(2):185–92.
- 28. Saraceni F, Labopin M, Gorin NC, Blaise D, Tabrizi R, Volin L, et al. Matched and mismatched unrelated donor compared to autologous stem cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission: a retrospective, propensity score-weighted analysis from the ALWP of the EBMT. J Hematol Oncol. 2016;9(1):79.
- The European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (2017) EBMT annual report 2017. European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. 1 Mar 2018
- Lowenberg B, Voogt P. Autologous stem-cell transplantation and purging. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14(8):2194–6.
- 31. Cornelissen JJ, Versluis J, Passweg JR, van Putten WL, Manz MG, Maertens J, et al. Comparative therapeutic value of post-remission approaches in patients with acute myeloid leukemia aged 40-60 years. Leukemia. 2015;29(5):1041–50.
- 32. Limvorapitak W, Barnett MJ, Hogge DE, Forrest DL, Nevill TJ, Narayanan S, et al. Outcomes of intermediate risk karyotype acute myeloid leukemia in first remission undergoing autologous stem cell transplantation compared with allogeneic stem cell transplantation and chemotherapy consolidation: a retrospective, propensity-score adjusted analysis. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2018;18(11):e481–e91.
- 33. Saraceni F, Bruno B, Lemoli RM, Meloni G, Arcese W, Falda M, et al. Autologous stem cell transplantation is still a valid option in good- and intermediate-risk AML: a GITMO survey on 809 patients autografted in first complete remission. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2017;52(1):163–6.
- 34. Dohner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, Amadori S, Appelbaum FR, Buchner T, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129(4):424–47.
- 35. Venditti A, Piciocchi A, Candoni A, Melillo L, Calafiore V, Cairoli R, De Fabritiis P, Storti G, Salutari P, Lanza F, Martinelli G, Luppi M, Mazza, P, Falini B, Cuneo A, Specchia G, Fabbiano F, Tafuri A, Ronci B, Tieghi A, Fracchiolla N, Capelli D, Foà R, Ronco F, La Sala E, Fazi P, Maurillo L, Buccisano

F, Del Principe M, Lo Coco F, Arcese W, Amadori S (2017) Risk-adapted, MRD-directed therapy for young adults with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukema: results of the AML 1310 trial of the GIMEMA group. iN: EHA annual meeting, 23 June 2017, Madrid

- 36. Sorror ML, Maris MB, Storb R, Baron F, Sandmaier BM, Maloney DG, et al. Hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT)-specific comorbidity index: a new tool for risk assessment before allogeneic HCT. Blood. 2005;106(8):2912–9.
- 37. Sorror ML, Storb RF, Sandmaier BM, Maziarz RT, Pulsipher MA, Maris MB, et al. Comorbidity-age index: a clinical measure of biologic age before allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(29):3249–56.
- 38. Vaughn JE, Storer BE, Armand P, Raimondi R, Gibson C, Rambaldi A, et al. Design and validation of an augmented hematopoietic cell transplantationcomorbidity index comprising pretransplant ferritin, albumin, and platelet count for prediction of outcomes after allogeneic transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2015;21(8):1418–24.
- 39. Elsawy M, Storer BE, Milano F, Sandmaier BM, Delaney C, Salit RB, et al. Prognostic performance of the augmented hematopoietic cell transplantationspecific comorbidity/age index in recipients of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation from alternative graft sources. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2019;25(5):1045–52.
- 40. Sorror ML, Sandmaier BM, Storer BE, Maris MB, Baron F, Maloney DG, et al. Comorbidity and disease status based risk stratification of outcomes among patients with acute myeloid leukemia or myelodysplasia receiving allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(27):4246–54.
- Sorror ML. How I assess comorbidities before hematopoietic cell transplantation. Blood. 2013;121(15):2854–63.
- 42. Kongtim P, Parmar S, Milton DR, Perez JMR, Rondon G, Chen J, et al. Impact of a novel prognostic model, hematopoietic cell transplant-composite risk (HCT-CR), on allogeneic transplant outcomes in patients with acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2018;24:S107.
- 43. Bejanyan N, Brunstein CG, Cao Q, Lazaryan A, Ustun C, Warlick ED, et al. Predictive value of disease risk comorbidity index for overall survival after allogeneic hematopoietic transplantation. Blood Adv. 2019;3(3):230–6.
- 44. Lin RJ, Hilden PD, Elko TA, Dahi PB, Shahrokni A, Jakubowski AA, et al. Burden and impact of multifactorial geriatric syndromes in allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for older adults. Blood Adv. 2019;3(1):12–20.
- Cornelissen JJ, Blaise D. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for patients with AML in first complete remission. Blood. 2016;127(1): 62–70.

- 46. Bacigalupo A, Ballen K, Rizzo D, Giralt S, Lazarus H, Ho V, et al. Defining the intensity of conditioning regimens: working definitions. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009;15(12):1628–33.
- 47. Blaise D, Maraninchi D, Archimbaud E, Reiffers J, Devergie A, Jouet JP, et al. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia in first remission: a randomized trial of a busulfan-Cytoxan versus Cytoxan-total body irradiation as preparative regimen: a report from the Group d'Etudes de la Greffe de Moelle Osseuse. Blood. 1992;79(10):2578–82.
- 48. Ringden O, Ruutu T, Remberger M, Nikoskelainen J, Volin L, Vindelov L, et al. A randomized trial comparing busulfan with total body irradiation as conditioning in allogeneic marrow transplant recipients with leukemia: a report from the Nordic Bone Marrow Transplantation Group. Blood. 1994;83(9):2723–30.
- 49. Copelan EA, Hamilton BK, Avalos B, Ahn KW, Bolwell BJ, Zhu X, et al. Better leukemia-free and overall survival in AML in first remission following cyclophosphamide in combination with busulfan compared with TBI. Blood. 2013;122(24):3863–70.
- 50. Nagler A, Rocha V, Labopin M, Unal A, Ben Othman T, Campos A, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic stemcell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia in remission: comparison of intravenous busulfan plus cyclophosphamide (Cy) versus total-body irradiation plus Cy as conditioning regimen—a report from the acute leukemia working party of the European group for blood and marrow transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(28):3549–56.
- 51. Mitsuhashi K, Kako S, Shigematsu A, Atsuta Y, Doki N, Fukuda T, et al. Comparison of cyclophosphamide combined with total body irradiation, oral busulfan, or intravenous busulfan for allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2016;22(12):2194–200.
- 52. Nagler A, Labopin M, Gorin NC, Ferrara F, Sanz MA, Wu D, et al. Intravenous busulfan for autologous stem cell transplantation in adult patients with acute myeloid leukemia: a survey of 952 patients on behalf of the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Haematologica. 2014;99(8):1380–6.
- 53. Alatrash G, Kidwell KM, Thall PF, Di Stasi A, Chen J, Zope M, et al. Reduced intensity vs. myeloablative conditioning with fludarabine and PK-guided busulfan in allogeneic stem cell transplantation for patients with AML/MDS. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2018;54(8):1245–53.
- 54. Andersson BS, de Lima M, Thall PF, Wang X, Couriel D, Korbling M, et al. Once daily i.v. busulfan and fludarabine (i.v. Bu-Flu) compares favorably with i.v. busulfan and cyclophosphamide (i.v. BuCy2) as pretransplant conditioning therapy

in AML/MDS. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2008;14(6):672–84.

- 55. Chae YS, Sohn SK, Kim JG, Cho YY, Moon JH, Shin HJ, et al. New myeloablative conditioning regimen with fludarabine and busulfan for allogeneic stem cell transplantation: comparison with BuCy2. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2007;40(6):541–7.
- 56. Liu H, Zhai X, Song Z, Sun J, Xiao Y, Nie D, et al. Busulfan plus fludarabine as a myeloablative conditioning regimen compared with busulfan plus cyclophosphamide for acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: a prospective and multicenter study. J Hematol Oncol. 2013;6:15.
- 57. Rambaldi A, Grassi A, Masciulli A, Boschini C, Mico MC, Busca A, et al. Busulfan plus cyclophosphamide versus busulfan plus fludarabine as a preparative regimen for allogeneic haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation in patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: an open-label, multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(15):1525–36.
- 58. Shimoni A, Labopin M, Savani B, Hamladji RM, Beelen D, Mufti G, et al. Intravenous busulfan compared with treosulfan-based conditioning for allogeneic stem cell transplantation in acute myeloid leukemia: a study on behalf of the Acute Leukemia Working Party of European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2018;24(4):751–7.
- Ringden O, Labopin M, Ehninger G, Niederwieser D, Olsson R, Basara N, et al. Reduced intensity conditioning compared with myeloablative conditioning using unrelated donor transplants in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(27):4570–7.
- Scott BL, Pasquini MC, Logan BR, Wu J, Devine SM, Porter DL, et al. Myeloablative versus reducedintensity hematopoietic cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(11):1154–61.
- 61. Bornhauser M, Kienast J, Trenschel R, Burchert A, Hegenbart U, Stadler M, et al. Reduced-intensity conditioning versus standard conditioning before allogeneic haemopoietic cell transplantation in patients with acute myeloid leukaemia in first complete remission: a prospective, open-label randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(10):1035–44.
- 62. Lioure B, Bene MC, Pigneux A, Huynh A, Chevallier P, Fegueux N, et al. Early matched sibling hematopoietic cell transplantation for adult AML in first remission using an age-adapted strategy: long-term results of a prospective GOELAMS study. Blood. 2012;119(12):2943–8.
- 63. Brands-Nijenhuis AV, Labopin M, Schouten HC, Volin L, Socie G, Cornelissen JJ, et al. Monosomal karyotype as an adverse prognostic factor in patients with acute myeloid leukemia treated with allogeneic hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation in first complete remission: a retrospective survey on

behalf of the ALWP of the EBMT. Haematologica. 2016;101(2):248–55.

- 64. Ciurea SO, Labopin M, Socie G, Volin L, Passweg J, Chevallier P, et al. Relapse and survival after transplantation for complex karyotype acute myeloid leukemia: a report from the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation and the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center. Cancer. 2018;124(10):2134–41.
- 65. Poire X, Labopin M, Cornelissen JJ, Volin L, Richard Espiga C, Veelken JH, et al. Outcome of conditioning intensity in acute myeloid leukemia with monosomal karyotype in patients over 45 year-old: a study from the acute leukemia working party (ALWP) of the European group of blood and marrow transplantation (EBMT). Am J Hematol. 2015;90(8):719–24.
- 66. Poire X, Labopin M, Maertens J, Yakoub-Agha I, Blaise D, Ifrah N, et al. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation in adult patients with acute myeloid leukaemia and 17p abnormalities in first complete remission: a study from the Acute Leukemia Working Party (ALWP) of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10(1):20.
- 67. Solh MM, Solomon SR, Morris LE, Zhang X, Holland HK, Bashey A. The dilemma of conditioning intensity: when does myeloablative conditioning improve outcomes for allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2019;25(3):606–12.
- 68. Bohl S, von Harsdorf S, Mulaw M, Hofmann S, Babiak A, Maier CP, et al. Strong impact of extramedullary involvement in high-risk AML patients with active disease receiving the FLAMSA conditioning regimen for HSCT. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2016;51(7):994–6.
- 69. Heinicke T, Labopin M, Schmid C, Polge E, Socie G, Blaise D, et al. Reduced relapse incidence with FLAMSA-RIC compared with busulfan/fludarabine for acute myelogenous leukemia patients in first or second complete remission: a study from the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2018;24(11):2224–32.
- 70. Malard F, Labopin M, Stuhler G, Bittenbring J, Ganser A, Tischer J, et al. Sequential intensified conditioning regimen allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in adult patients with intermediate- or high-risk acute myeloid leukemia in complete remission: a study from the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;23(2):278–84.
- 71. Saraceni F, Labopin M, Brecht A, Kroger N, Eder M, Tischer J, et al. Fludarabine-treosulfan compared to thiotepa-busulfan-fludarabine or FLAMSA as conditioning regimen for patients with primary refractory or relapsed acute myeloid leukemia: a study from the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European

Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). J Hematol Oncol. 2019;12(1):44.

- 72. Schmid C, Schleuning M, Ledderose G, Tischer J, Kolb HJ. Sequential regimen of chemotherapy, reduced-intensity conditioning for allogeneic stem-cell transplantation, and prophylactic donor lymphocyte transfusion in high-risk acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(24):5675–87.
- Anasetti C, Logan BR, Lee SJ, Waller EK, Weisdorf DJ, Wingard JR, et al. Peripheral-blood stem cells versus bone marrow from unrelated donors. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(16):1487–96.
- 74. Holtick U, Albrecht M, Chemnitz JM, Theurich S, Skoetz N, Scheid C, et al. Bone marrow versus peripheral blood allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for haematological malignancies in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(4):CD010189.
- 75. Ringden O, Labopin M, Bacigalupo A, Arcese W, Schaefer UW, Willemze R, et al. Transplantation of peripheral blood stem cells as compared with bone marrow from HLA-identical siblings in adult patients with acute myeloid leukemia and acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(24):4655–64.
- 76. Savani BN, Labopin M, Blaise D, Niederwieser D, Ciceri F, Ganser A, et al. Peripheral blood stem cell graft compared to bone marrow after reduced intensity conditioning regimens for acute leukemia: a report from the ALWP of the EBMT. Haematologica. 2016;101(2):256–62.
- 77. Ringden O, Labopin M, Ciceri F, Velardi A, Bacigalupo A, Arcese W, et al. Is there a stronger graft-versus-leukemia effect using HLAhaploidentical donors compared with HLA-identical siblings? Leukemia. 2016;30(2):447–55.
- Ruggeri A, Labopin M, Bacigalupo A, Gulbas Z, Koc Y, Blaise D, et al. Bone marrow versus mobilized peripheral blood stem cells in haploidentical transplants using posttransplantation cyclophosphamide. Cancer. 2018;124(7):1428–37.
- 79. Salvatore D, Labopin M, Ruggeri A, Battipaglia G, Ghavamzadeh A, Ciceri F, et al. Outcomes of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation from unmanipulated haploidentical versus matched sibling donor in patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission with intermediate or highrisk cytogenetics: a study from the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Haematologica. 2018;103(8):1317–28.
- Milano F, Gooley T, Wood B, Woolfrey A, Flowers ME, Doney K, et al. Cord-blood transplantation in patients with minimal residual disease. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(10):944–53.
- Eckfeldt CE, Randall N, Shanley RM, Yohe S, Bejanyan N, Dolan M, et al. Umbilical cord blood transplantation is a suitable option for consolidation of acute myeloid leukemia with FLT3-ITD. Haematologica. 2016;101(8):e348–51.

- 82. Sandhu KS, Brunstein C, DeFor T, Bejanyan N, Arora M, Warlick E, et al. Umbilical cord blood transplantation outcomes in acute myelogenous leukemia/myelodysplastic syndrome patients aged >/=70 years. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2016;22(2):390–3.
- Warlick ED, Peffault de Latour R, Shanley R, Robin M, Bejanyan N, Xhaard A, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation outcomes in acute myeloid leukemia: similar outcomes regardless of donor type. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2015;21(2):357–63.
- 84. Weisdorf D, Eapen M, Ruggeri A, Zhang MJ, Zhong X, Brunstein C, et al. Alternative donor transplantation for older patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission: a center for international blood and marrow transplant researcheurocord analysis. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2014;20(6):816–22.
- 85. Lee CJ, Savani BN, Mohty M, Labopin M, Ruggeri A, Schmid C, et al. Haploidentical hematopoietic cell transplantation for adult acute myeloid leukemia: a position statement from the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Haematologica. 2017;102(11):1810–22.
- 86. Bacigalupo A, Lamparelli T, Bruzzi P, Guidi S, Alessandrino PE, di Bartolomeo P, et al. Antithymocyte globulin for graft-versus-host disease prophylaxis in transplants from unrelated donors: 2 randomized studies from Gruppo Italiano Trapianti Midollo Osseo (GITMO). Blood. 2001;98(10):2942–7.
- 87. Finke J, Bethge WA, Schmoor C, Ottinger HD, Stelljes M, Zander AR, et al. Standard graft-versushost disease prophylaxis with or without anti-Tcell globulin in haematopoietic cell transplantation from matched unrelated donors: a randomised, open-label, multicentre phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(9):855–64.
- Kroger N, Solano C, Wolschke C, Bandini G, Patriarca F, Pini M, et al. Antilymphocyte globulin for prevention of chronic graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(1):43–53.
- 89. Walker I, Panzarella T, Couban S, Couture F, Devins G, Elemary M, et al. Pretreatment with anti-thymocyte globulin versus no anti-thymocyte globulin in patients with haematological malignancies undergoing haemopoietic cell transplantation from unrelated donors: a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3, multicentre trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(2):164–73.
- Kanakry CG, Tsai HL, Bolanos-Meade J, Smith BD, Gojo I, Kanakry JA, et al. Single-agent GVHD prophylaxis with posttransplantation cyclophosphamide after myeloablative, HLA-matched BMT for AML, ALL, and MDS. Blood. 2014;124(25):3817–27.
- Luznik L, Bolanos-Meade J, Zahurak M, Chen AR, Smith BD, Brodsky R, et al. High-dose cyclophosphamide as single-agent, short-course

prophylaxis of graft-versus-host disease. Blood. 2010;115(16):3224–30.

- 92. Mielcarek M, Furlong T, O'Donnell PV, Storer BE, McCune JS, Storb R, et al. Posttransplantation cyclophosphamide for prevention of graft-versushost disease after HLA-matched mobilized blood cell transplantation. Blood. 2016;127(11):1502–8.
- Rashidi A, Slade M, DiPersio JF, Westervelt P, Vij R, Romee R. Post-transplant high-dose cyclophosphamide after HLA-matched vs haploidentical hematopoietic cell transplantation for AML. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2016;51(12):1561–4.
- 94. Ruggeri A, Labopin M, Bacigalupo A, Afanasyev B, Cornelissen JJ, Elmaagacli A, et al. Post-transplant cyclophosphamide for graft-versus-host disease prophylaxis in HLA matched sibling or matched unrelated donor transplant for patients with acute leukemia, on behalf of ALWP-EBMT. J Hematol Oncol. 2018;11(1):40.
- 95. Locatelli F, Merli P, Pagliara D, Li Pira G, Falco M, Pende D, et al. Outcome of children with acute leukemia given HLA-haploidentical HSCT after alphabeta T-cell and B-cell depletion. Blood. 2017;130(5):677–85.
- 96. D'Souza A, Fretham C (2018) Current uses and outcomes of hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT): CIBMTR summary slides. Available from: https:// www.cibmtr.org
- 97. Boumber Y, Kantarjian H, Jorgensen J, Wen S, Faderl S, Castoro R, et al. A randomized study of decitabine versus conventional care for maintenance therapy in patients with acute myeloid leukemia in complete remission. Leukemia. 2012;26(11):2428–31.
- 98. Goodyear OC, Dennis M, Jilani NY, Loke J, Siddique S, Ryan G, et al. Azacitidine augments expansion of regulatory T cells after allogeneic stem cell transplantation in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood. 2012;119(14):3361–9.
- 99. Choi J, Ritchey J, Prior JL, Holt M, Shannon WD, Deych E, et al. In vivo administration of hypomethylating agents mitigate graft-versus-host disease without sacrificing graft-versus-leukemia. Blood. 2010;116(1):129–39.
- 100. Craddock C, Jilani N, Siddique S, Yap C, Khan J, Nagra S, et al. Tolerability and clinical activity of post-transplantation azacitidine in patients allografted for acute myeloid leukemia treated on the RICAZA trial. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2016;22(2):385–90.
- 101. de Lima M, Giralt S, Thall PF, de Padua SL, Jones RB, Komanduri K, et al. Maintenance therapy with low-dose azacitidine after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for recurrent acute myelogenous leukemia or myelodysplastic syndrome: a dose and schedule finding study. Cancer. 2010;116(23):5420–31.
- 102. de Lima M, Oran B, Champlin RE, Papadopoulos EB, Giralt SA, Scott BL, et al. CC-486 maintenance after stem cell transplantation in patients

with acute myeloid leukemia or myelodysplastic syndromes. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2018;24(10):2017–24.

- 103. Pusic I, Choi J, Fiala MA, Gao F, Holt M, Cashen AF, et al. Maintenance therapy with decitabine after allogeneic stem cell transplantation for acute myelogenous leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2015;21(10):1761–9.
- 104. Brunner AM, Li S, Fathi AT, Wadleigh M, Ho VT, Collier K, et al. Haematopoietic cell transplantation with and without sorafenib maintenance for patients with FLT3-ITD acute myeloid leukaemia in first complete remission. Br J Haematol. 2016;175(3):496–504.
- 105. Xuan L, Wang Y, Huang F, Jiang E, Deng L, Wu B, et al. Effect of sorafenib on the outcomes of patients with FLT3-ITD acute myeloid leukemia undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Cancer. 2018;124(9):1954–63.
- 106. Burchert A, Bug G, Finke J, Stelljes M, Rollig C, Wäsch R, Bornhäuser M, Berg T, Lang F, Ehninger G, Serve H, Zeiser R, Wagner E, Kroeger N, Wolschke C, Schleuning M, Elmaagacli A, Götze K, Schmid C, Jost E, Wolf D, Böhm A, Thiede C, Haferlach T, Bethge W, Harnisch S, Wittenberg M, Rospleszcz S, Neubauer A, Brugger M, Strauch K, Schade-Brittinger C, Metzelder S (2018) Sorafenib as maintenance therapy post allogeneic stem cell transplantation for FLT3-ITD positive AML: results from the randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled multicentre sormain trial. iN: ASH annual meeting, San Diego
- 107. Platzbecker U, Wermke M, Radke J, Oelschlaegel U, Seltmann F, Kiani A, et al. Azacitidine for treatment of imminent relapse in MDS or AML patients after allogeneic HSCT: results of the RELAZA trial. Leukemia. 2012;26(3):381–9.
- 108. Wang Y, Wu DP, Liu QF, Qin YZ, Wang JB, Xu LP, et al. In adults with t(8;21)AML, posttransplant RUNX1/RUNX1T1-based MRD monitoring, rather than c-KIT mutations, allows further risk stratification. Blood. 2014;124(12):1880–6.
- 109. Yan CH, Liu DH, Liu KY, Xu LP, Liu YR, Chen H, et al. Risk stratification-directed donor lymphocyte infusion could reduce relapse of standardrisk acute leukemia patients after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2012;119(14):3256–62.

- 110. Clark JR, Scott SD, Jack AL, Lee H, Mason J, Carter GI, et al. Monitoring of chimerism following allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT): technical recommendations for the use of short tandem repeat (STR) based techniques, on behalf of the United Kingdom National External Quality Assessment Service for Leucocyte Immunophenotyping Chimerism Working Group. Br J Haematol. 2015;168(1):26–37.
- 111. Hoffmann JC, Stabla K, Burchert A, Volkmann T, Bornhauser M, Thiede C, et al. Monitoring of acute myeloid leukemia patients after allogeneic stem cell transplantation employing semi-automated CD34+ donor cell chimerism analysis. Ann Hematol. 2014;93(2):279–85.
- 112. Huisman C, de Weger RA, de Vries L, Tilanus MG, Verdonck LF. Chimerism analysis within 6 months of allogeneic stem cell transplantation predicts relapse in acute myeloid leukemia. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2007;39(5):285–91.
- 113. Lee HC, Saliba RM, Rondon G, Chen J, Charafeddine Y, Medeiros LJ, et al. Mixed T lymphocyte chimerism after allogeneic hematopoietic transplantation is predictive for relapse of acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2015;21(11):1948–54.
- 114. Baron F, Maris MB, Sandmaier BM, Storer BE, Sorror M, Diaconescu R, et al. Graft-versus-tumor effects after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation with nonmyeloablative conditioning. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(9):1993–2003.
- 115. Wong E, Mason K, Collins J, Hockridge B, Boyd J, Gorelik A, et al. Prognostic limitations of donor T cell chimerism after myeloablative allogeneic stem cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;23(5):840–4.
- 116. Rettinger E, Willasch AM, Kreyenberg H, Borkhardt A, Holter W, Kremens B, et al. Preemptive immunotherapy in childhood acute myeloid leukemia for patients showing evidence of mixed chimerism after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2011;118(20):5681–8.
- 117. Shayegi N, Kramer M, Bornhauser M, Schaich M, Schetelig J, Platzbecker U, et al. The level of residual disease based on mutant NPM1 is an independent prognostic factor for relapse and survival in AML. Blood. 2013;122(1):83–92.

8

Novel and Investigational Therapies in Acute Myeloid Leukemia

Yazan F. Madanat and Aziz Nazha

8.1 Introduction

Acute myeloid leukemia encompasses a heterogeneous group of blood and bone marrow neoplasms that arise from the expansion of hematopoietic cell clones carrying recurrent cytogenetic and/or molecular abnormalities [1]. Overall outcomes of AML patients are generally poor with only 28.3% of patients alive at 5 years, though outcomes are very heterogeneous depending on the disease subtype and cytogenetic/ molecular risk [2]. Cytogenetic risk stratification remains one of the most important prognostic factors in AML though approximately 40-50% of AML patients have a normal karyotype, but these patients' overall outcomes vary depending on their molecular profile. The 2017 European Leukemia Net (ELN) risk stratification for AML incorporated a few molecular aberrations that may improve risk stratification of AML [3]. Until recently, little has changed in the management and treatment options for patients with AML. The standard intensive chemotherapy for "medically fit" AML patients remained mainly dependent on the backbone of the combination of cytarabine and anthracycline; however, several novel drugs have received regulatory approval in AML in the

last couple of years, and many novel therapeutic targets and strategies are currently under development. Thus, the landscape of therapy has evolved to include targeted therapies (midostaurin, enasidenib, ivosidenib, and venetoclax), liposomal encapsulated cytarabine plus daunorubicin (CPX-351), and monoclonal antibodies/antibody–drug conjugates (gemtuzumab ozogamicin and others) [4–9]. This chapter summarizes the data published on these novel approved agents and highlights some of the investigational agents that are currently in development.

8.2 The Molecular Landscape of AML

Genome sequencing efforts of samples from AML patients have highlighted the genomic landscape of AML and recognized its complex structure, and some of these mutations have a significant independent impact on AML survival and response to therapy [10–12]. More importantly, these studies have led the way to develop effective targeted therapies for certain mutations. Obtaining a genomic panel of several genes using targeted next-generation deep sequencing became routine practice for AML at diagnosis and after their relapse. Such a panel carries significant information that can alter patients' prognosis and treatment recommendations.

Check for updates

Y. F. Madanat · A. Nazha (🖂)

Leukemia Program, Department of Hematology and Medical Oncology, Taussig Cancer Institute, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, USA e-mail: madanay@ccf.org; nazhaa@ccf.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_8

The Cancer Genome Atlas Project evaluated the genomic alterations in 200 patients with de novo AML and noted the presence of one or more driver mutations in each AML sample. Genomic abnormalities were classified into various functional groups. Genes affecting signaling pathways were most common constituting 59% (e.g., FLT3, KIT, KRAS/NARS, and PTPN11); other common functional groups include DNAmethylation genes (44%) (e.g., DNMT3A or DNMT3B, DNMT1, TET1, IDH1/2) and chromatin modifying genes (30%) (e.g., KMT2A fusions, ASXL1, EZH2, KDM6A). Nucleophosmin gene (NPM1) mutations occurred in 27% of patients. Other less common genomic functional groups include transcription-factor gene mutations (16%), (22%),tumor-suppressor genes spliceosome-complex genes (14%), and cohesincomplex gene mutations (13%) [13].

Other studies have focused their efforts on investigating the genomic landscape in therapyrelated and secondary AML. The presence of spliceosome gene mutations such as *SRSF2*, *SF3B1*, *U2AF1*, and *ZRSR2* and mutations in *ASXL1*, *EZH2*, *BCOR*, or *STAG2* was >95% specific for secondary AML when compared to de novo disease [14]. Adjusting for clinical variables such as age, karyotype, and white blood cell count was shown to change the specificity of some of these mutations in another study of secondary AML [15].

Importantly, the genomic landscape of AML demonstrates some of the disease heterogeneity and the co-occurrence of some of these mutations could have implications on response to therapy and patient outcomes.

8.3 Novel Therapies Receiving Regulatory Approval

In the last 2 years, a total of eight new drugs have been FDA approved for the treatment of AML patients. In April 2017, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved midostaurin, a multi-kinase FLT3 inhibitor, for newly patients with FLT3-positive diagnosed AML. This was the first targeted therapy approved in AML demonstrating a clear survival benefit when combined with induction chemotherapy vs. chemotherapy alone [9]. About 4 months later, single-agent enasidenib, a first in class oral inhibitor of IDH2 was approved for patients with relapsed/refractory AML carrying an *IDH2* mutation [8]. In September 2017, the monoclonal antibody drug conjugate targeting CD33, gemtuzumab ozogamicin was reapproved, after having been taken off the market in 2010, in combination with induction chemotherapy for newly diagnosed patients with AML or as a single agent in the relapsed/refractory setting [6, 16]. The liposomal encapsulated combination of cytarabine plus daunorubicin (CPX-351) was approved for newly diagnosed therapy-related AML or AML with myelodysplasia-related changes (AML-MRC) where it demonstrated a survival advantage over standard 7+3 induction chemotherapy [7]. In 2018, a few additional AML drugs received FDA approval, these include ivosidenib (IDH1 inhibitor) single-agent oral therapy in relapse/refractory IDH1 mutated AML [4], gilteritinib (FLT3 inhibitor) as single-agent oral therapy for relapsed/refractory FLT3 mutated AML [17], and Venetoclax, an oral BCL-2 inhibitor, which received accelerated approval for newly diagnosed older adults unfit for standard induction chemotherapy in combination with low-dose cytarabine or hypomethylating agents (azacitidine or decitabine) after showing promising results in early phase clinical trials [5, 18]. Finally, glasdegib, a smoothened hedgehog inhibitor, received approval in combination with low-dose cytarabine (LDAC) after showing a survival advantage when compared to cytarabine alone [17]. In the next few sections of this chapter, the specific outcomes and results of these trials will be summarized and some of the investigational agents being evaluated in clinical trials highlighted (Table 8.1).

	Upfront		Trial	Clinical trial
Investigational agents vs. R/R		Single agent vs. combination therapy	phase	identifier
Hypomethylating agents of	or HDAC inh	ibitors		
Guadecitabine	Upfront	Single agent	III	NCT02348489
Pracinostat	Upfront	Combined with azacitidine	III	NCT03151408
Monoclonal antibodies				
Vadastuximab talirine	Upfront	Combined with azacitidine	III	NCT02785900
Talacotuzumab	Upfront	Combined with decitabine	II/III	NCT02472145
AMG-330	R/R	Single agent	Ι	NCT02520427
ARGX-110	Upfront	Combined with azacitidine	I/II	NCT03030612
IMGN632	R/R	Single agent	Ι	NCT03386513
Hu5F9-G4	R/R	Single agent and in combination with azacitidine	Ι	NCT03248479
FLT3 inhibitors				
Gilteritinib	Upfront	Alone or combined with azacitidine (two arms)	II/III	NCT02752035
Gilteritinib	R/R	Single agent	III	NCT02421939
Crenolanib	Upfront	Combined with chemotherapy	III	NCT03258931
Crenolanib	R/R	Combined with chemotherapy	III	NCT03250338
Quizartinib	R/R	Single agent	III	NCT02039726
IDH1/2 inhibitors				
Ivosidenib	Upfront	Combined with azacitidine	III	NCT03173248
Enasidenib	R/R	Single agent	III	NCT02577406
BCL-2 inhibitor				
Venetoclax	Upfront	Combined with azacitidine	III	NCT02993523
Venetoclax	Upfront	Combined with low dose cytarabine	III	NCT03069352

Table 8.1 Selected clinical trials using investigational agents in AML

8.4 Novel Cytotoxic Therapy Formulations

CPX-351 is a novel liposomal encapsulated formulation of cytarabine and daunorubicin (anthracycline) that maintains a fixed synergistic molar ratio of 5:1 between the molecules. Early preclinical development of CPX-351 showed high efficacy of this novel formulation before moving it into the clinical setting [19].

Following the phase I study, CPX-351 was tested in two randomized, multicenter, phase II clinical trials. The first clinical trial compared CPX-351 as a salvage chemotherapy for AML patients age 18–65 years in the first relapse. Response rates were similar, and there was no improvement in overall survival (OS) (hazard ratio (HR) for death, 0.75; P = 0.19) or event-free survival (EFS) (HR, 0.66; P = 0.08). One year OS was 36% vs. 27% for CPX-351 vs salvage therapy, respectively (P = 0.33). Subset analysis of poor risk

patients with a high European Prognostic Index (EPI) demonstrated an overall survival advantage for CPX-351 vs salvage chemotherapy (P = 0.02, HR = 0.55 [20]. The second randomized phase II trial compared CPX-351 to standard 7+3 induction chemotherapy in newly diagnosed patients with AML age 60-75 years. Results demonstrated an improvement in overall response rate (66.7% vs 51.2%, P = 0.07) with no difference in EFS or OS. A planned analysis of the high-risk AML cohort (secondary AML, complex cytogenetics, or age 70-75 years) however, showed a significant improvement in response rates (57.6% vs 31.6%, P = 0.06), as well as prolongation of EFS (HR 0.59, P = 0.08) and OS (HR = 0.46, P = 0.01) [21]. Given the promising outcomes in patients with secondary or therapy-related AML (t-AML), this provided the rationale for the design of the randomized phase III clinical trial that led to its regulatory approval in the frontline setting. In this landmark trial, 309 patients (age 60–75 years) with t-AML or AML-MRC

based on the WHO 2008 definition, were randomized to receive CPX-351 vs 7+3 (cytarabine + daunorubicin) induction chemotherapy. CPX-351 was dosed at 100 U/m² (100 mg/m² cytarabine and 44 mg/m² daunorubicin) on days 1, 3, and 5 of the induction cycle. The trial allowed for another induction cycle for patients with no response to the first induction. Response rates were higher in CPX-351 vs. 7+3 (47.7% complete remission/CR with incomplete count recovery vs. 33.3% respectively, P = 0.016). Importantly, overall survival was improved by about 4 months (9.6 vs. 5.9 months respectively, the hazard ratio (HR) for death 0.69, P = 0.005). Toxicities were similar in both groups, and both 30- and 60-day mortality were lower using CPX-351 (5.9% vs. 10.6% and 13.7% vs. 21.2%, respectively), but not statistically significant between treatment arms [7]. The FDA and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) have approved CPX-351 based on these results for patients with t-AML or AML-MRC. There are, however, some limitations for the widespread use of CPX-351. These include its higher cost compared to 7+3 and the delay in obtaining cytogenetic results (therefore missing a portion of patients with AML-MRC), a group which constituted 26.9% in this trial. It is worth noting that in a post hoc exploratory analysis landmarked at the time of transplant, patients receiving induction with CPX-351 had better overall survival than was observed in the control arm (not reached vs. 10.8 months for 7+3, HR 0.46, P = 0.009).

8.5 Novel Hypomethylating Agents and HDAC Inhibitors

Treatment for older adults with AML unfit to receive intensive chemotherapy remains a challenge; historically, options for those patients have included hypomethylating agents (azacitidine and decitabine), low-dose cytarabine (LDAC), or best supportive care (BSC). The median survival for patients treated with azacitidine was 10.4 months compared to 6.5 months for 7+3/ LDAC/BSC arm, P = 0.1 and median OS for decitabine (in patients with poor/intermediate risk cytogenetics) was 7.7 months compared to

5.0 months for 7+3/LDAC/BSC arm, HR 0.85, P = 0.11 [22, 23]. Based on these data, treatment with hypomethylating agents has been widely adopted as a standard of care for newly diagnosed patients unfit to receive standard induction chemotherapy given the safety and tolerability profile. Guadecitabine (SGI-110), а second-generation hypomethylating agent, is currently under development. Guadecitabine is a dinucleotide of decitabine and deoxyguanosine and has a longer half-life than azacitidine or decitabine. Guadicitabine has been studied in early phase clinical trials in both newly diagnosed and relapsed/refractory AML [24, 25]. Patients were treated using three different dosing schedules. The first group received guadecitabine 60 mg/m^2 for 5 days, the second group received 90 mg/m² for 5 days, and the third group received 60 mg/m² for 10 days. Cycles were repeated every 28 days. Response rates and tolerability were compared in each treatment arm. There were no significant differences in the composite complete remission (CRc) rates between the arms for newly diagnosed, treatment naïve patients (CRc 50-59%). In the relapsed/refractory setting, CRc was higher using a 10- vs. 5-day schedule. A phase III randomized controlled trial (ASTRAL-1) of guadecitabine vs. physician's choice of standard therapy (azacitidine, decitabine, or LDAC) in treatment naïve adult patients with AML did not meet the co-primary endpoints based on failure to improve complete response rate (P > 0.04) and overall survival (P > 0.01). Currently, ASTRAL-2 is an ongoing phase III trial examining guadecitabine in relapsed/refractory AML (NCT02920008).

Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors have been investigated in myeloid malignancies and were shown to exert their effects by the regulation of histone and non-histone protein acetylation [26, 27]. While most HDAC inhibitors have modest activity as single agents, pracinostat, an oral HDAC inhibitor, has shown promising results when used in combination with HMA therapy [28, 29]. Pracinostat plus azacitidine was used upfront in a cohort of 50 patients and showed a complete remission rate of 42%. The primary composite endpoint included CR, CR with incomplete count recovery (CRi), and morphologic leukemia-free state was 54% [30]. The 1 year overall survival rate was 62% [31]. The combination is currently being evaluated compared to azacitidine plus placebo in a randomized double-blinded phase III trial for newly diagnosed older adults with AML unfit for induction chemotherapy (NCT03151408) (Table 8.1).

8.6 Monoclonal Antibodies in AML

Monoclonal antibody target cell surface antigens that are preferentially expressed on myeloid cells or blast populations. Multiple targets are currently being investigated such as antibodies targeting CD33, CD123, and CD47 among others [32]. The mechanism of actions of monoclonal antibodies may vary to include cell-mediated cytotoxicity or in an antibody-drug conjugate (ADC) mechanism, where cytotoxic compounds are introduced to cells via target antigen. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin (GO) is an ADC that targets CD33-positive cells. The anti-CD33 antibody is linked to N-acetyl gamma calicheamicin. Once bound to CD33, the antigen/ADC is internalized and calicheamicin released intracellularly leading to direct DNA damage and cell death (Fig. 8.1). GO was initially approved by the FDA in 2000 and was then taken off the market in 2010 when the confirmatory phase III clinical trial (SWOG S0106) failed to show clinical benefit. GO has



Fig. 8.1 Novel and investigational therapies in AML

been re-approved by the FDA for use in newly diagnosed CD33-positive AML in combination with chemotherapy (7+3) or as a single agent in the relapsed/refractory setting. The approval was based on a meta-analysis of 3325 patients treated with GO [6]. The pivotal trial, ALFA 0701, was a phase III randomized clinical trial of 271 patients with newly diagnosed AML (aged 50-70 years), patients received standard induction therapy (cytarabine + daunorubicin) alone or in combination with gemtuzumab. GO was given in fractionated dosing 3 mg/m² on days 1, 4 and 7 of the induction chemotherapy cycle. Patients achieving a CR/CRp went on to receive 5+2 consolidation plus GO at 3 mg/m² on day 1 of each of the two consolidation cycles.

The event-free survival (EFS) was 17.1% in the control group vs. 40.8% for GO at 2 years, HR 0.58, 0.43-0.78; P = 0.0003), overall survival was 41.9% vs. 53.2%, respectively (0.69, 0.49-0.98; P = 0.0368); however, the survival advantage was no longer significant in the long-term follow-up [33, 34]. In the large meta-analysis using data from five randomized trials (3325 patients), the addition of GO did not affect CR/ CRi rate; however, reduced risk of relapse (OR 0.81, 0.73-0.90; P = 0.0001) and showed a 5-year OS advantage (OR 0.90, 0.82-0.98; P = 0.01). However, the survival advantage was largely driven by patients with good risk cytogenetics where the OS at 6 years was improved by 20.7%; OR for survival = 0.47, P = 0.0006. Given those results, the addition of GO has been largely adopted in favorable risk AML (i.e., core binding factor leukemia or AML with t(8;21) and inv16/t(16;16) in the upfront setting [6].

Another antibody–drug conjugate that targets CD33 is vadastuximab talirine (SGN-CD33A). The antibody is attached to a DNA binding agent, a pyrrolobenzodiazepine (PBD) dimer via a cleavable linker. The ADC showed promising activity in early phase clinical trials; however, the phase III CASCADE trial randomizing patients to hypomethylating therapy with or without SGN-CD33A was terminated early due to an increased number of deaths using the combination arm in newly diagnosed patients with AML. The pharmaceutical company has suspended patient enrollment and treatment in all of its vadastuximab talirine clinical trials including the ongoing phase I/II clinical trial in frontline high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes [35–38].

CD123 is a cell surface marker that is highly and preferentially expressed on leukemic blast cells and leukemic stem cells. Talacotuzumab is an Fc engineered anti-CD123 monoclonal antibody that activates antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) mediated by natural killer cells (NKs). It was used as a single agent after hypomethylating therapy failure with limited efficacy as a single agent. A phase II/III study of talacotuzumab in combination with decitabine vs. decitabine alone in older patients with AML ineligible for intensive chemotherapy has completed accrual, and the results of the trial are still pending. Talacotuzumab is administered by intravenous infusion at 9 mg/kg on days 8 and 22 of a 28-day cycle in combination with decitabine at the standard approved dose of 20 mg/m² on days 1 - 5each cycle (NCT02472145).

IMGN632 is another CD123-targeting antibody-drug conjugate with a novel humanized anti-CD123 antibody joined, via a peptide linker, to a unique DNA-alkylating payload of IGN (indolinobenzodiazepine pseudodimer). In a phase I trial (NCT03386513) in patients with R/R AML, 12 patients received dose escalation of the drug. No DLTs have been observed at doses up to 0.18 mg/kg (cohort 4), and no discontinuations due to an AE have occurred. The most commonly observed treatment-emergent AEs of any grade were primarily gastrointestinal (decreased appetite, diarrhea, nausea; 25-42%), hematologic (febrile neutropenia; 42%), or vascular (peripheral edema, hypotension, sinus tachycardia; 25–33%). The most frequent grade 3+ AEs were febrile neutropenia (five patients; 42%) and lung infection (three patients; 25%); none of these events were considered related to IMGN632. In 12 evaluable patients, four (33%) achieved an objective response, including one complete remission (CR) and three complete remissions with incomplete recovery (CRi). The trial is still ongoing and further analyses will be presented in the future.

Other antibodies include AMG 330, an anti-CD33/CD3 bispecific T-cell engaging (BiTE) antibody composed of two single-chain variable fragments, where one is directed against CD33-positive leukemia cells and the other directed against CD3 found on cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CTL) leading to CTL-mediated cell death of CD33-positive cells. A Phase I dose escalation study of AMG 330 in patients with relapsed/refractory AML enrolled 35 patients in 12 dose cohorts. The median number of cycles of AMG 330 was 1 (range, 1-6), and 89% of patients discontinued treatment. The most common reason for treatment discontinuation was disease progression (n = 24). The most common serious adverse event was cytokine release syndrome (CRS) occurring in 11 patients. Dose-limiting toxicities with the initial target dose of 480 µg/day were grade 2 CRS and grade 4 ventricular fibrillation, leading to a decrease in target dose to 240 µg/day. A total of four patients achieved CR/CRi at target doses of 120–240 µg/day [39].

CD70 is a cell surface marker that was noted to be upregulated with HMA therapy which could potentially contribute to HMA resistance. Based on preclinical work, a phase I/II trial combining azacitidine with ARGX-110, an anti-CD70 monoclonal antibody, in newly diagnosed AML patients unfit for intensive chemotherapy was designed (NCT03030612). The preliminary data of the first 12 patients treated showed no doselimiting toxicity and high overall response rates (combining CR, CRi, PR, and MLFS) of 92% with 9/11 patients (82%) achieving CR/CRi [40]. Thus, monoclonal antibodies this far are showing clinical efficacy in combination therapy and not as single agents.

Another important new target in AML is CD47. CD47, also known as integrin-associated protein, is a ubiquitously expressed 50 kDa cell surface transmembrane Ig superfamily member. CD47 interacts with integrins (e.g., $\alpha v\beta 3$, $\alpha IIb\beta 3$, and $\alpha 2\beta 1$) and thrombospondin-1 and serves as a ligand for signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRP α). CD47 is overexpressed in several solid tumors as well as hematologic malignancies such as AML. Several agents such as Hu5F9-G4 (Magrolimab), CC-90002, and others are currently in the development of AML as single agents or in combination with azacyitidine, but preliminary results are promising.

8.7 Targeted Therapies

8.7.1 Fms-Like Tyrosine Kinase 3 (*FLT3*) Inhibitors

FLT3 mutations are among the most common mutations occurring in about one-third of patients with AML. There are two well-characterized FLT3 mutations, the first is FLT3-internal tandem duplications (FLT3-ITD) occurring in the juxtamembrane domain which are more prevalent ($\sim 25\%$) and point mutations in the tyrosine kinase domain (FLT3-TKD) which occur in 5–7% (Fig. 8.1). Multiple *FLT3* inhibitors have been used in clinical trials, some of which are now FDA approved. FLT3-ITD allelic ratio plays a role in prognostication, where the allelic ratio of >0.5 in the absence of *NPM1* mutations, stratifies patients in "adverse-risk" AML per ELN classification. On the contrary, the prognostic relevance of FLT-TKD mutations is somewhat controversial [3].

Multi-targeted kinase inhibitors such as sorafenib and midostaurin (first-generation FLT3 inhibitors) have shown in vitro inhibition of FLT3; however, single-agent activity was limited. A randomized phase II placebo-controlled clinical trial in younger adults (age < 60yeas) with AML which assigned patients to receive sorafenib 400 mg BID in combination with induction chemotherapy showed improvement in 3-year event-free survival (EFS) (22%, 95% CI 13-32) in the placebo group vs. 40% (29-51) in the sorafenib arm (hazard ratio 0.64, 95% CI 0.45–0.91; P = 0.013) without an overall survival benefit. The combination with sorafenib was associated with increased toxicity $(\text{grade} \ge 3 \text{ adverse events such as fever, diar-}$ rhea, bleeding, cardiac events, hand-foot-skin reaction, and rash) [41]. Improvement in OS or EFS was not seen in older adults (age > 60 years) with FLT3-positive AML [42].

Midostaurin is now approved for the treatment of newly diagnosed AML patients in combination with induction and consolidation chemotherapy for all age groups. In early phase trials, midostaurin was used at 50 mg BID vs. 100 mg BID. The higher dose did not move forward largely due to gastrointestinal side effects [43], whereas the 50 mg dosing was well tolerated and showed high efficacy, which led to the design of the landmark trial that led to its approval; the RATIFY trial is a phase III randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial of 717 patients age 18-59 years with newly diagnosed FLT3-positive AML which assigned patients to receive induction chemotherapy (daunorubicin plus cytarabine) followed by consolidation chemotherapy with high-dose cytarabine plus midostaurin at 50 mg twice/day or placebo added for 14 days (days 8-21) to induction and each of the consolidation cycles. Patients in remission received midostaurin/placebo maintenance for up to 12 months. Overall survival was significantly longer with midostaurin vs. placebo with a 22% reduction in risk of death (HR = 0.78; one-sided P = 0.009). Grade ≥ 3 adverse events were similar between treatment arms; however, nausea (P = 0.05), anemia (P = 0.03) and rash or desquamation (P = 0.008) were more common with midostaurin [9].

More selective second-generation *FLT3* inhibitors have reached later stages (phase III trials) in drug development and include gilteritinib, quizartinib, and crenolanib.

Quizartinib is a very selective FLT3-ITD inhibitor that was tested in a randomized controlled trial vs. salvage chemotherapy for patients with relapsed/refractory FLT3-ITD-positive AML. Quizartinib was dosed at 60 mg daily. Prior therapy with midostaurin was allowed. Of 367 patients \geq 18 years of age randomized in 2:1 fashion, 245 received quizartinib and 122 patients received salvage chemotherapy. The overall survival was improved by 24% (HR for death = 0.76; 95% CI 0.58-0.98; stratified log-rank test, onesided P = 0.018). Median overall survival was increased by about 7 weeks (OS 27 weeks vs. 20.4 weeks for quizartinib vs. chemotherapy) [44]. Despite this result, quizartinib did not

receive FDA approval in the United States and currently is only approved for AML treatment in Japan. Gilteritinib is a selective FLT3 inhibitor that received FDA approval for the treatment of adults with relapsed/refractory AML with FLT3 mutations. The phase I/II dose-escalation/expansion study demonstrated a maximum tolerated a dose of 300 mg daily due to the development of grade 3 diarrhea and elevated AST with higher doses. Grade 3 or 4 adverse events in that trial included febrile neutropenia (39%), anemia (24%), thrombocytopenia (13%), sepsis (11%), and pneumonia (11%) [17, 45]. In a phase III randomized controlled trial, 138 patients with R/R FLT3-positive AML were enrolled. Patients were treated with gilteritinib 120 mg/day oral continuous dosing. The complete remission (CR) or CR with partial hematologic recovery (CRh) rate was 21% after a median follow-up of 4.6 months. The median overall survival for patients who received gilteritinib was 9.3 months vs. 5.6 months for salvage chemotherapy (HR 0.637 (95% CI 0.490, (0.830), P = (0.0007) [46].

Patients treated with FLT3 inhibitors may develop secondary mutations in D835 or F691 residues which are some of the described mechanisms of resistance [47]. Crenolanib is a potent and selective inhibitor of wild-type and mutant class III receptor tyrosine kinases FLT3 and *PDGFR* α/β , particularly of D835 mutations [48]. Crenolanib was studied in the upfront setting in combination with chemotherapy with promising results. The preliminary analysis of 26 patients \geq 18 years old enrolled in a phase II trial, crenolanib 100 mg TID was administered continuously starting on day 8 until 72 h prior to the next chemotherapy cycle. Consolidation consisted of up to four cycles of high-dose cytarabine with crenolanib starting on day 7 in each cycle. Maintenance crenolanib after consolidation or transplant was given for up to 12 cycles. Out of 25 patients evaluable for response, CR/CRi rate was 96% [49]. Thus, a phase III, randomized, multicenter trial is designed to compare the efficacy of crenolanib vs. midostaurin combined with standard chemotherapy for patients with FLT3-positive newly diagnosed AML (NCT03258931).

8.7.2 Isocitrate Dehydrogenase (IDH) 1/2 Inhibitors

Isocitrate dehydrogenases are enzymes that catalyze the conversion of isocitrate to alphaketoglutarate (αKG) in the cytoplasm (*IDH1*) or mitochondria (IDH2). Mutations in those enzymes are estimated to occur in up to 20% of patients with AML, in which case citrate is catalyzed into an oncometabolite (2-hydroxyglutarate, 2-HG), which leads to a hypermethylated state and a block in cellular differentiation [50–52]. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are not considered prognostic at the time of AML diagnosis and current drug approvals for IDH1/2 inhibitors (ivosidenib/enasidenib) are for use in the relapsed/ refractory setting. However, it is worth noting that in a large study of >1500 patients with AML, IDH2^{R172} mutations were found in 1% of the cohort, patient outcomes with this gene abnormality were more favorable and similar to NPM1mutated AML [53].

Enasidenib is an oral, first in class, FDAapproved *IDH2* inhibitor. In a phase I/II clinical trial of 239 patients with IDH2-mutated AML, a dose of 100 mg PO daily was given in the expansion phase to 176 patients with relapsed/refractory AML with an overall response rate of 40.3% (19.3% complete remission rate). The median overall survival was 9.3 months in all patients; however, that increased to 19.7 months in 19.3% of patients achieving a CR, which led to regulatory approval [8]. The IDENTIFY trial is a randomized phase III clinical trial investigating its use vs. conventional chemotherapy in older with AML patients IDH2-positive (NCT02577406).

Ivosidenib is an oral inhibitor of *IDH1* and was also evaluated in patients with relapsed/ refractory AML. In early studies which enrolled 78 patients, the overall response rates were 38.5% with 17.9% of patients achieving a CR. Mutation clearance was observed in 27% of patients in CR [54]. In a larger phase Ib dose escalation/dose expansion trial, 258 patients were enrolled (safety cohort) and 179 of those had relapsed/refractory AML. Grade \geq 3 adverse events included QT prolongation, *IDH* differentiation syndrome and cytopenia (anemia/thrombocytopenia). A dose of 500 mg daily dosing was chosen for the expansion cohort. Complete remission rate was 21.6% (95% CI 14.7–29.8), ORR 41.6% (95% CI 32.9–50.8), and the MRD negativity in those achieving complete remission or CR with partial hematologic recovery was 21% [4]. *IDH* inhibitors are now being evaluated in combination with induction chemotherapy for newly diagnosed patients with AML.

8.7.3 B-Cell Lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) Antagonists

Cellular death or apoptosis can be induced intrinsically or extrinsically. Intrinsic apoptosis is primarily regulated by BCL2 proteins. BCL-2 is an anti-apoptotic protein that prevents the expression of pro-apoptotic factors such as BCL-2 homology 3 (BH3) domain proteins and is overexpressed in AML. BH3 mimetics, such as venetoclax, inhibit BCL-2 and lead to apoptosis [55, 56].

Venetoclax was used as monotherapy in a phase I trial in patients with relapsed/refractory AML with an overall response rate of 19% [57]. More recently, FDA granted accelerated approval for venetoclax in combination with hypomethylating agents (HMA; azacitidine or decitabine) or low-dose cytarabine (LDAC) for newly diagnosed older adults with AML who are unfit to receive induction chemotherapy. Venetoclax was used at a dose of 600 mg PO in combination with LDAC and led to a CR/CRi rate of 62% with a median OS of 10.1 months [58]. Similarly, in a phase Ib dose-escalation and expansion study, 145 patients were assigned to receive oral venetoclax at 400, 800, or 1200 mg daily in combination with either HMA. In the expansion, 400 mg vs. 800 mg venetoclax was given. The CR/CRi was 73% in the venetoclax 400 mg-cohort with a median OS of 17.5 months (not reached for the azacitidine arm). Adverse events included nausea, diarrhea/constipation, leukopenia, febrile neutropenia, hypokalemia, fatigue, and decreased appetite [59]. Based on the results of this trial, a randomized, placebocontrolled phase III clinical trial of venetoclax

400 mg vs. placebo in combination with azacitidine (NCT02993523 was recently completed confirming the phase II results).

8.8 Summary

The treatment paradigm for acute myeloid leukemia has changed with eight new drug approvals since 2017 and will continue to evolve as many novel agents are in development. Currently, molecularly targeted therapies are limited to inhibitors of FLT3, IDH1, and two mutations. It is important to test for these mutations in the upfront setting, but to also repeat testing for these mutations as they may be acquired at relapse. Monoclonal antibodies targeting cell surface markers include anti-CD33, anti-CD123, and anti-CD70 antibodies among others. Currently, bi-specific T-cell engaging antibodies are being tested in phase I clinical trials. Lastly, BCL-2 inhibition with venetoclax has an important role in the upfront treatment setting of older patients unfit for intensive chemotherapy, in combination with low-dose cytarabine or hypomethylating agents.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to thank Amanda Mendelsohn at the Center for Medical Art & Photography, at Cleveland Clinic, for her efforts in creating the figure in this chapter.

References

- Ferrara F, Schiffer CA. Acute myeloid leukaemia in adults. Lancet. 2013;381:484. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(12)61727-9.
- National Cancer Institute (2008) Bethesda MD. SEER cancer stat facts: acute myeloid leukemia. https://seer. cancer.gov/statfacts/html/amyl.html
- Döhner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129:424. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2016-08-733196.
- DiNardo CD, Stein EM, de Botton S, et al. Durable remissions with Ivosidenib in IDH1-mutated relapsed or refractory AML. N Engl J Med. 2018a;378(25):2386–98. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1716984.

- DiNardo CD, Pratz K, Pullarkat V, et al. Venetoclax combined with decitabine or azacitidine in treatmentnaive, elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2019;133:7. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2018-08-868752.
- Hills RK, Castaigne S, Appelbaum FR, et al. Addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to induction chemotherapy in adult patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised controlled trials. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(9):986–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1470-2045(14)70281-5.
- Lancet JE, Uy GL, Cortes JE, et al. Cpx-351 (cytarabine and daunorubicin) liposome for injection versus conventional cytarabine plus daunorubicin in older patients with newly diagnosed secondary acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:2684. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2017.77.6112.
- Stein EM, DiNardo CD, Pollyea DA, et al. Enasidenib in mutant IDH2 relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017;130(6):722–31. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2017-04-779405.
- Stone RM, Mandrekar SJ, Sanford BL, et al. Midostaurin plus chemotherapy for acute myeloid leukemia with a FLT3 mutation. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(5):454–64. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1614359.
- Al-Issa K, Nazha A. Molecular landscape in acute myeloid leukemia: where do we stand in 2016. Cancer Biol Med. 2016;13(4):474–82. https://doi. org/10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2016.0061.
- Chan SM, Thomas D, Corces-Zimmerman MR, et al. Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 and 2 mutations induce BCL-2 dependence in acute myeloid leukemia. Nat Med. 2015;21(2):178–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nm.3788.
- Grimwade D, Ivey A, Huntly BJ. Molecular landscape of acute myeloid leukemia in younger adults and its clinical relevance. Blood. 2016;127(1):29–41. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-07-604496.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research N, Ley TJ, Miller C, et al. Genomic and epigenomic landscapes of adult de novo acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(22):2059–74. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1301689.
- Lindsley RC, Mar BG, Mazzola E, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia ontogeny is defined by distinct somatic mutations. Blood. 2015;125(9):1367–76. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-11-610543.
- Nazha A, Zarzour A, Al-Issa K, et al. The complexity of interpreting genomic data in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood Cancer J. 2016;6(12):e510. https://doi.org/10.1038/bcj.2016.115.
- Appelbaum FR, Bernstein ID. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin for acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017;130:2373. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-09-797712.
- Perl AE, Altman JK, Cortes J, et al. Selective inhibition of FLT3 by gilteritinib in relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukaemia: a multicentre, first-in-human, open-label, phase 1–2 study. Lancet

Oncol. 2017;18(8):1061–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1470-2045(17)30416-3.

- Wei AH, Strickland SA, Hou J-Z, et al. Venetoclax combined with low-dose cytarabine for previously untreated patients with acute myeloid leukemia: results from a phase Ib/II study. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(15):1277–84. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.18.01600.
- Feldman EJ, Lancet JE, Kolitz JE, et al. First-inman study of CPX-351: a liposomal carrier containing cytarabine and daunorubicin in a fixed 5:1 molar ratio for the treatment of relapsed and refractory acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:979. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.30.5961.
- Cortes JE, Goldberg SL, Feldman EJ, et al. Phase II, multicenter, randomized trial of CPX-351 (cytarabine:Daunorubicin) liposome injection versus intensive salvage therapy in adults with first relapse AML. Cancer. 2015;121:234. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.28974.
- Lancet JE, Cortes JE, Hogge DE, et al. Phase 2 trial of CPX-351, a fixed 5:1 molar ratio of cytarabine/daunorubicin, vs cytarabine/daunorubicin in older adults with untreated AML. Blood. 2014;123:3239. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-12-540971.
- 22. Dombret H, Seymour JF, Butrym A, et al. International phase 3 study of azacitidine vs conventional care regimens in older patients with newly diagnosed AML with >30% blasts. Blood. 2015;126(3):291–9. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-01-621664.
- 23. Kantarjian HM, Thomas XG, Dmoszynska A, et al. Multicenter, randomized, open-label, phase III trial of decitabine versus patient choice, with physician advice, of either supportive care or low-dose cytarabine for the treatment of older patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(21):2670–7. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2011.38.9429.
- 24. Kantarjian HM, Roboz GJ, Kropf PL, et al. Guadecitabine (SGI-110) in treatment-naive patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: phase 2 results from a multicentre, randomised, phase 1/2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:1317. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1470-2045(17)30576-4.
- Roboz GJ, Kantarjian HM, Yee KWL, et al. Dose, schedule, safety, and efficacy of guadecitabine in relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer. 2018;124:325. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr. 31138.
- Carew JS, Giles FJ, Nawrocki ST. Histone deacetylase inhibitors: mechanisms of cell death and promise in combination cancer therapy. Cancer Lett. 2008;269(1):7–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. canlet.2008.03.037.
- Zhou L, Ruvolo VR, McQueen T, et al. HDAC inhibition by SNDX-275 (Entinostat) restores expression of silenced leukemia-associated transcription factors Nur77 and Nor1 and of key pro-apoptotic proteins in AML. Leukemia. 2013;27:1358. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.366.

- Abaza YM, Kadia TM, Jabbour EJ, et al. Phase 1 dose escalation multicenter trial of pracinostat alone and in combination with azacitidine in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. Cancer. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30949.
- 29. Garcia-Manero G, Montalban-Bravo G, Berdeja JG, et al. Phase 2, randomized, double-blind study of pracinostat in combination with azacitidine in patients with untreated, higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. Cancer. 2017;123(6):994–1002. https://doi.org/10.1002/ener.30533.
- 30. Garcia-Manero G, Atallah E, Khaled SK, et al. Final results from a phase 2 study of pracinostat in combination with azacitidine in elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood. 2015;126(23):453. http://www.bloodjournal.org/content/126/23/453. abstract
- 31. Garcia-Manero G, Abaza Y, Takahashi K, et al. Pracinostat plus azacitidine in older patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia: results of a phase 2 study. Blood Adv. 2019;3(4):508–18. https:// doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2018027409.
- 32. Dohner H, Estey E, Grimwade D, et al. Diagnosis and management of AML in adults: 2017 ELN recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129(4):424–47. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2016-08-733196.
- 33. Castaigne S, Pautas C, Terré C, et al. Effect of gemtuzumab ozogamicin on survival of adult patients with de-novo acute myeloid leukaemia (ALFA-0701): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2012;379:1508. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(12)60485-1.
- 34. Castaigne S, Pautas C, Terré C, et al. Final analysis of the ALFA 0701 study. Blood. 2014;124:376.
- 35. Fathi AT, Erba HP, Lancet JE, et al (2016) Vadastuximab talirine plus hypomethylating agents: a well-tolerated regimen with high remission rate in frontline older patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML). In: Blood Conf 58th Annu Meet Am Soc Hematol ASH 2016 United States Conf start 20161203 Conf end 20161206
- 36. Kovacsovics TJ, Advani AS, Faderl S, et al. A phase 1 trial of vadastuximab talirine combined with hypomethylating agents in patients with CD33-positive AML. Blood. 2018;132:1125. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2018-03-841171.
- 37. Stein EM, Walter RB, Erba HP, et al. A phase 1 trial of vadastuximab talirine as monotherapy in patients with CD33-positive acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2018;131:387. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2017-06-789800.
- Walter RB. Investigational CD33-targeted therapeutics for acute myeloid leukemia. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2018;27:339. https://doi.org/10.1080/1354378 4.2018.1452911.
- 39. Ravandi F, Stein AS, Kantarjian HM, et al. A phase 1 first-in-human study of AMG 330, an anti-CD33 bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE®) antibody construct, in relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia (R/R

AML). Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):25. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2018-99-109762.

- 40. Ochsenbein AF, Riether C, Bacher U, et al. Argx-110 targeting CD70, in combination with azacitidine, shows favorable safety profile and promising antileukemia activity in newly diagnosed AML patients in an ongoing phase 1/2 clinical trial. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):2680. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2018-99-118302.
- 41. Röllig C, Serve H, Hüttmann A, et al. Addition of sorafenib versus placebo to standard therapy in patients aged 60 years or younger with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukaemia (SORAML): a multicentre, phase 2, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:1691. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1470-2045(15)00362-9.
- 42. Serve H, Brunnberg U, Ottmann O, et al. Sorafenib in combination with intensive chemotherapy in elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia: results from a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:3110. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2012.46.4990.
- 43. Stone RM, Fischer T, Paquette R, et al. Phase IB study of the FLT3 kinase inhibitor midostaurin with chemotherapy in younger newly diagnosed adult patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia. 2012;26:2061. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.115.
- 44. Cortes JE, Khaled SK, Martinelli G, et al. Efficacy and safety of single-agent quizartinib (Q), a potent and selective FLT3 inhibitor (FLT3i), in patients (pts) with FLT3-internal tandem duplication (FLT3-ITD)mutated relapsed/refractory (R/R) acute myeloid leukemia (AML) enrolled in the global, phase 3, randomized controlled quantum-R trial. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):563. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2018-99-110439.
- Lee LY, Hernandez D, Rajkhowa T, et al. Preclinical studies of gilteritinib, a next-generation FLT3 inhibitor. Blood. 2017;129:257. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2016-10-745133.
- 46. Perl AE, Martinelli G, Cortes JE et al (2019) Gilteritinib significantly prolongs overall survival in patients with FLT3-mutated (FLT3mut+) relapsed/ refractory (R/R) acute myeloid leukemia (AML): results from the Phase III ADMIRAL trial. Present 2019 AACR Annu Meet March 29 to April 3, 2019, Atlanta, GA Abstr CTPL04
- Weisberg E, Sattler M, Ray A, Griffin JD. Drug resistance in mutant FLT3-positive AML. Oncogene. 2010;29:5120. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2010.273.
- Zimmerman EI, Turner DC, Buaboonnam J, et al. Crenolanib is active against models of drug-resistant FLT3-ITD – positive acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2013;122:3607. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2013-07-513044.
- 49. Wang ES, Stone RM, Tallman MS, Walter RB, Eckardt JR, Collins R. Crenolanib, a type I FLT3

TKI, can be safely combined with cytarabine and anthracycline induction chemotherapy and results in high response rates in patients with newly diagnosed FLT3 mutant acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood. 2016;128(22):1071. http://www.bloodjournal.org/ content/128/22/1071.abstract

- DiNardo CD, Ravandi F, Agresta S, et al. Characteristics, clinical outcome, and prognostic significance of IDH mutations in AML. Am J Hematol. 2015;90(8):732–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh. 24072.
- Medeiros BC, Fathi AT, DiNardo CD, Pollyea DA, Chan SM, Swords R. Isocitrate dehydrogenase mutations in myeloid malignancies. Leukemia. 2017;31:272. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2016.275.
- 52. Nassereddine S, Lap CJ, Haroun F, Tabbara I. The role of mutant IDH1 and IDH2 inhibitors in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. Ann Hematol. 2017;96(12):1983–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00277-017-3161-0.
- Papaemmanuil E, Döhner H, Campbell PJ. Genomic classification in acute myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:900. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMc1608739.
- 54. DiNardo CD, de Botton S, Stein EM, et al. Determination of IDH1 mutational burden and clearance via next-generation sequencing in patients with IDH1 mutation-positive hematologic malignancies receiving AG-120, a first-in-class inhibitor of mutant IDH1. Blood. 2016;128:1070.
- 55. Pan R, Hogdal LJ, Benito JM, et al. Selective BCL-2 inhibition by ABT-199 causes on-target cell death in acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer Discov. 2014;4(3):362–75. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-13-0609.
- 56. Pullarkat VA, Newman EM. BCL2 inhibition by venetoclax: targeting the Achilles' heel of the acute myeloid leukemia stem cell? Cancer Discov. 2016;6(10):1082–3. 6/10/1082 [pii]
- 57. Konopleva M, Pollyea DA, Potluri J, et al. Efficacy and biological correlates of response in a phase II study of venetoclax monotherapy in patients with acute myelogenous leukemia. Cancer Discov. 2016;6(10):1106–17. 2159-8290.CD-16-0313 [pii]
- 58. Wei A, Strickland SA, Roboz GJ, et al. Phase 1/2 study of venetoclax with low-dose cytarabine in treatment-naive, elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia unfit for intensive chemotherapy: 1-year outcomes. Blood. 2017;130(Suppl 1):890.
- 59. DiNardo CD, Pratz KW, Letai A, et al. Safety and preliminary efficacy of venetoclax with decitabine or azacitidine in elderly patients with previously untreated acute myeloid leukaemia: a non-randomised, openlabel, phase 1b study. Lancet Oncol. 2018b;19:216. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30010-X.
Immune-Based Approaches in AML

Ahmad S. Alotaibi and Naval Daver

9.1 Introduction

The applicability of immunotherapy in AML has long been appreciated, most notably highlighted by the established benefit of donor immune cells in controlling leukemia through graft versus leukemia effect post-allogeneic stem cell transplant (ASCT) and/or donor lymphocyte infusion [1]. Despite significant progress in AML therapeutics in recent years and the approval of several novel therapies in the frontline and relapsed setting, there remains a significant unmet need for more effective and more tolerable therapies, especially in relapsed AML with non-targetable mutations, post-ASCT relapsed AML, frontline older AML, and for MRD eradication [2]. Immunotherapy has revolutionized the treatment of a variety of solid and hematological malignancies [3]. In AML, the FDA approved the CD33-targeted conjugated antibody gemtuzumab ozogamicin in frontline AML in combination with anthracycline- and cytarabine-based induction, and as a single-agent therapy in relapsed AML [4, 5]. Several additional immune-based therapies that harness T and NK cells against leukemia, including immune checkpoint antibodies, bispecific and dual antigen receptor targeting (DART) antibodies, and chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-

The Department of Leukemia, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: NDaver@mdanderson.org and NK-cell therapies are in various stages of clinical development for the therapy of AML. Development of effective and safe immune therapies will likely complement and further enhance the efficacy of AML therapy.

9.2 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Immune checkpoints (ICP) play an important role in the regulation of immune homeostasis by optimally balancing the stimulatory and inhibitory signals that mediate the T-cell immune response [6, 7]. ICP inhibitors have been widely studied and are FDA approved for several solid tumors [8, 9]. In hematological malignancies, ICP inhibitors are not as widely developed or approved; however, clinical benefits have been observed most strikingly in Hodgkin lymphoma [10, 11]. In AML, bone marrow infiltrating T-cell populations are preserved and may even be increased compared with bone marrows from healthy individuals, with an increased frequency of immune inhibitory and activating co-receptor expression (especially in relapsed AML) including PD-1, OX40, TIM3, and LAG3, suggesting a potential role for T-cell-harnessing therapies in AML [12–14]. In the last 4–5 years, several ICP inhibitors have been evaluated in clinical trials in patients with AML and will be discussed [6, 12].

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_9

Check for updates

A. S. Alotaibi · N. Daver (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

9.2.1 Single-Agent Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Pidilizumab is a humanized monoclonal IgG1 antibody to immune co-inhibitory receptor PD-1. It was investigated in a phase I study in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies, including eight patients with AML. This was one of the first experiences of ICP inhibitor based therapy in patients with AML. Pidilizumab was shown to be safe and well tolerated with a best response in AML of decreased peripheral blasts from 50% to 5% in one patient [15].

Ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA4 antibody, demonstrated encouraging activity in a phase I/IB study in patients with relapsed AML following ASCT [16]. In the study by Davids et al., 5 of 12 (42%)patients with relapsed AML post-ASCT achieved complete remission including three patients with extramedullary disease. Four of the five patients had a durable response which was maintained beyond 1 year. All responses were achieved at the higher dose of ipilimumab (10 mg/kg Q3 weeks for a maximum of four doses). Among the 22 patients who received the 10 mg/kg dose of ipilimumab, two patients developed chronic graft versus host disease (GVHD) of the liver and one patient developed grade II acute GVHD of the gut, which resolved with steroid administration but precluded further administration of ipilimumab. Of note, a majority of the patients treated on this trial were >1 year post-ASCT, with preserved donor chimerism, and had minimal to no GVHD post-ASCT indicating a niche post-ASCT population that demonstrated high sensitivity to ipilimumab.

9.2.2 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Combination with Hypomethylating Agents

Investigators have demonstrated that patients with AML/MDS treated with hypomethylating agents (HMA) had dose-dependent upregulation of checkpoint molecules PD-L1, PD-L2, PD-1, and CTLA4 expression [17, 18]. Patients who had the highest degree of PD-L1 upregulation

had the shortest duration of response to hypomethylating agent therapy and a trend to inferior overall survival with hypomethylating agent therapy. This led to the hypothesis that the activation and upregulation of immune checkpoints during HMA therapy may be a possible mechanism of resistance to HMA therapy, which may be overcome by combining HMA therapy with checkpoint inhibitor/s [19]. Nivolumab, an anti-PD-1 antibody, was combined with azacytidine in a phase II trial for patients with relapsed/refractory AML [20]. Among 70 patients treated, the overall response rate (ORR) was 33%, including 22% CR/CRi, 1 partial response (PR), and 7 patients with hematologic improvement maintained >6 months. Grade 3-4 immune-related adverse events occurred in 11% of the patients, the most frequent being pneumonitis. The median overall survival (OS) for the 70 patients was 6.3 months, and among salvage 1 patients (n = 32), the median OS was 10.5 months. Patients who achieved any response (CR/CRi/PR/HI) or had stable disease (n = 29; 42%) had significantly improved OS compared with non-responders (n = 41; 58%), without censoring for ASCT (16.2 vs. 4.1 months; P < 0.0001) and also after censoring for ASCT (P < 0.001). Notably, this was a high-risk population with 44% of the patients with secondary AML with poor risk cytogenetics and median number of prior therapies for AML was 2 (range, 1-7). A significant increase in the BM CD4+T effector subset expressing CTLA4 was noted in post-therapy samples, as compared with pretherapy samples in non-responders to azacitidine with nivolumab, whereas responders did not demonstrate these changes. This observation suggested that CTLA-4 upregulation may be a mechanism of resistance to PD-1-based therapies in AML, similar to what has been shown in multiple solid tumors.

To overcome this possible mechanism of resistance, anit-CTLA-4 antibody ipilimumab was added to azacytidine and nivolumab in a phase II trial [21]. Thirty-one R/R AML patients were treated with the combination of azacytidine, nivolumab, and ipilimumab, 24 patients were evaluable at the time of last report. ORR was 44% including 36% CR/CRi and 8% who had a

hematologic improvement maintained for ≥ 6 months. The 1-year OS in this R/R AML cohort was 45%. The median OS in azacitidine + nivolumab + ipilimumab versus azacitidine + nivolumab versus contemporary historical HMA-based clinical trial controls in R/R AML at the same institution were 10.5, 6.4, and 4.6 months, respectively (P = 0.0025). Grade 3/4 immune-mediated toxicities were observed in 6 patients (25%), including rash, pneumonitis, and colitis.

In a recently presented phase II study, another anti-PD-1 antibody pembrolizumab was given in combination with azacitidine in a cohort of patients with R/R AML and newly diagnosed AML [22]. In the R/R AML cohort, 37 patients were enrolled, of whom 29 (78%) completed at least two cycles and were evaluable for response. Fourteen percent achieved CR/CRi, 1 (4%) PR, and 14% hematologic improvement. The median number of cycles to response was 4 (range, 2–6). With a median follow-up of 14.9 months, the median OS for the R/R AML cohort was 10.8 months with 40% one-year survival. The median OS for patients who achieved CR/CRi/ PR was 17.2 months with 75% 1-year survival. In the second cohort, 22 newly diagnosed AML patients were enrolled, they were older patients, who were either not candidates or unwilling to receive intensive chemotherapy. Among 17 evaluable patients, 47% achieved CR/CRi, 12% PR, and 12% hematologic improvement. The median number of cycles to response was 2 (range, 2–15). With a median follow-up of 19 months, the median OS for the frontline cohort was 13.1 months. For patients who achieved CR/CRi/ PR, the median OS was not reached with a 79% one-year survival. Grade 3/4 immune-related adverse events were observed in 9 (24%) patients in Cohort 1, and 3 (14%) patients in Cohort 2.

The final results of a phase II randomized, international, multicenter study (NCT02775903) of azacitidine with or without a PDL1-antibody durvalumab were reported at ASH 2019 [23]. Azacitidine with or without durvalumab was given as frontline therapy for high-risk MDS (cohort 1) or AML (cohort 2). Cohort 2 randomized 129 AML (1:1 randomization) patients \geq 65 years old who were ineligible for intensive chemotherapy. One hundred eleven AML patients discontinued trial treatment. Median number of treatment cycles for the AML cohort azacitidne with durvalumab vs. azacitidine was 6.5 vs. 6.7 months. There were no statistically significant differences in ORR between azacitidne with durvalumab vs. azacitidine (31.3% vs. 35.4%) or CR rate (17.2 vs. 21.5). The median OS for azacitidne with durvalumab vs. azacitidine was 13.0 vs. 14.4 months. Notably, more than 50% of the patients discontinued the trial medications and were censored for survival analysis which may impact result interpretation.

9.2.3 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Combination with Cytotoxic Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy has been demonstrated to augment the immune response against cancer [24]. Several chemotherapeutic agents reinstate immunosurveillance by influencing the tumor-host equilibrium at multiple levels [25]. In vivo experiments in mouse models have shown that the injection of cytosine arabinoside induced the expression of CD80 and CD86 and reduced the expression of PD-1 on leukemic cells, making them more susceptible to cytotoxic T-lymphocytemediated killing [26]. Exposure of calreticulin on the surface of dying leukemic cells after exposure to chemotherapy has been shown to enhance cellular antitumor immune responses in AML patients [27]. Clinical trials are examining the combination of immune checkpoint inhibition with cytotoxic chemotherapy in patients with AML.

In a phase II study, nivolumab was combined with idarubicin and cytarabine in patients with newly diagnosed AML or high-risk MDS (>10% blasts) [28]. Forty-four patients were enrolled of whom 42 had AML and 2 had MDS. ORR was 78%, including 64% complete responses and 14% CRi. Of these 34 responders, 18 proceeded to ASCT. At a median follow-up of 17.3 months, the median overall survival for all patients was 18.5 months, whereas the median event-free survival was not reached. Six patients had grade 3–4 immune-related adverse events. No treatment-related deaths were attributed to nivolumab, and the combination was deemed safe with no concerning toxicities pre- or post-ASCT.

In the relapsed/refractory setting, a phase II trial examined high-dose cytarabine followed by pembrolizumab [29]. Thirty-seven patients with relapsed/refractory AML received ageadjusted high-dose cytarabine followed by pembrolizumab 200 mg IV administered on day 14 of the induction. If they achieved a response, they went on to receive maintenance therapy with pembrolizumab 200 mg IV Q3 weeks for up to 2 years, until relapse or progression of disease. The overall response (ORR: CR + CRi + PR + MLFS) rate was 46% and composite CR (CR + CRi) rate was 38%. Nine (24%) patients proceeded to ASCT. There were no instances of grade > 3 acute GVHD or venoocclusive disease post-ASCT. With a median follow-up of 7.8 months, the median OS was 8.9 months, while event-free survival was 6.9 months.

9.2.4 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors and Allogenic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant

ASCT remains the most frequent curative approach patients with for many AML. Considering the encouraging response rates observed in patients with AML who are treated with various ICP inhibitors as discussed previously, it is likely that several patients will be considered for curative intent ASCT. There have been concerns regarding increased peritransplantation complications, especially severe acute graft-versus-host disease (aGVHD) and veno-occlussive disease (VOD) [30]. The incidence of grade 3-4 aGVHD in a group of patients with NHL who underwent ASCT after being treated with PD-1 monoclonal antibodies was reported to be 23%, which was higher than would be expected [31]. However, the incidence of GVHD is known to vary based on many variables, including the allograft donor source, the type of post-ASCT GVHD prophylaxis, prior history of GVHD, immunosuppression at time of ICP inhibitors administration, and dosing and duration of ICP inhibitors used [32]. In a retrospective study by Oran et al., 43 patients with AML/MDS who were treated with ICP inhibitors prior to ASCT were evaluated for the incidence of aGVHD. Outcome analyses were stratified by post-ASCT GVHD prophylaxis according to the use of post-ASCT cyclophosphamide (PTCy) (22 patients) or not (non-PTCy) (21 patients). The PTCy group demonstrated a trend toward lower grade 3-4 aGVHD when compared with the non-PTCy group (5% vs. 22%). In a matched control analysis using patients with no prior use of ICP inhibitors, the risk of grade 3-4 aGVHD was increased in patients with prior ICP inhibitor exposure who did not receive PTCy (HR 8.5; 95% CI 0.9–79 [P = 0.06]) but was not increased in patients treated with PTCy for GVHD prophylaxis (HR 2; 95% CI 0.1–31 [P = 0.6]) [33].

Several ongoing, prospective, phase II/III trials will likely provide more information on this aspect. Meanwhile, considering the use of PTCy as a part of the GVHD prophylaxis in patients who received ICP inhibitors before undergoing ASCT may improve transplantation outcomes.

9.2.5 Anti-CD47 (Macrophage Checkpoint)

CD47, an integrin-associated cell surface protein, inhibits cell phagocytosis via interaction with phagocyte-expressed signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRP α) [34]. Increased expression of CD47 has been shown in a variety of solid and hematological malignancies [34, 35]. It functions as a macrophage checkpoint, providing a potent "do not eat me" signal that allows for tumor cell evasion of immune destruction by macrophages [35]. In AML, CD47 was shown to be upregulated and independently associated with a poor prognosis [36, 37]. Hu5F9-G4 (magrolimab) is a humanized monoclonal antibody that binds CD47 and blocks it from interacting with its ligand SIRP α , on phagocytic cells, leading to phagocytic elimination of cancer cells [38].

The toxicity profile of this agent in other hematologic malignancies appears favorable compared to T-cell checkpoint inhibitors [39]. phase An ongoing Ι clinical study (NCT03248479) is evaluating magrolimab alone or in combination with azacitidine in patients with AML and MDS [40]. At the last update (ASH 2019), 62 patients (35 MDS and 27 AML) were treated with magrolimab plus azacytidine. The majority of patients had poor cytogenetic risk, 66% and 67% for MDS and AML patients, respectively. Forty-one percent of the AML patients harbored a TP53 mutation. Magrolimab in combination with azacitidine was well tolerated with a safety profile similar to azacitidine monotherapy. No significant cytopenias, infections, or autoimmune adverse events were observed. The majority of patients had significant hemoglobin improvement and decrease in transfusion frequency with therapy. Treatment discontinuation due to adverse events occurred in only 1 of 62 (1.6%)treated patients. In the MDS cohort, 24 patients were evaluable for efficacy in whom ORR was 92% with a CR rate of 50%. In the AML cohort, 22 patients were evaluable with ORR 64% including CR/CRi in 55%. Median time to response was 1.9 months, more rapid than would be expected with azacitidine alone. No median duration of response or overall survival has been reached for either MDS or AML patients with a median follow-up of 6.4 months (range 2.0–14.4 months) for MDS and 8.8 months (range 1.9–16.5 months) for AML. A particular efficacy of magrolimab in combination with azacitidine was noticed in TP53 mutant AML patients (nine evaluable patients), with 78% CR/CRi rate and 57% MRD negativity. The study is ongoing in a potentially registrational, frontline single-arm non-blinded study. A phase III randomized study in MDS is planned.

9.3 **Bispecific Antibodies**

Bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) antibodies include two single-chain variable fragments, which simultaneously juxtapose the epsilon subunit of polyclonal cytotoxic CD3+ T cells to the selected target tumor antigen on malignant cells. Thereby T cells can be recruited against the tumor in an antigen-independent manner [12, 41, 42]. Bispecific antibodies targeting CD33 and CD123 are currently being evaluated in AML.

Flotetuzumab (FLZ) is a CD123/CD3 bispecific dual-affinity retargeting (DART) molecule, administered as a 7-day/week continuous infusion. Thirty patients with R/R AML were treated in a phase I study [43]. Infusion-related reactions/cytokine release syndrome (IRR/CRS) occurred in all patients, including grade ≥ 3 in 4/30 (13.3%) patients. Most IRR/CRS events were of short duration and reversible with protocol-specified supportive care. Antileukemic activity was reported in 18/27 (67%) responseevaluable patients, with an overall response rate (ORR) of 22% (6/27) and a CR/CRi rate of 19% (5/27). In an updated analysis presented at ASH 2019 [44], 50 patients with R/R AML received FLZ at the phase II recommended dose. Thirty (60%) patients had primary refractory AML, which was defined as patients who failed ≥ 2 induction attempts (24 patients) or patients who had an early relapse (<6 months) post remission (6 patients) with no prior ASCT. This population was heavily pretreated with a median of four prior lines of therapy (range 2-9), with 40% having secondary AML and many having non-favorable cytogenetic risk (60% adverse and 23% intermediate per ELN 2017 risk category). Among 28 evaluable primary refractory achieved composite CR patients, 32.1% (CR + CRh + CRi). This is better than the expected response rate with conventional salvage therapy in this heavily pretreated, primary refractory AML population. FLZ was well tolerated, with no increased cytokine release syndrome events in primary refractory patients compared with relapsed AML patients, with 3% grade 3 and no grade 4 CRS.

AMG 330 is a BiTE that binds CD33 and CD3. In a phase I dose escalation study (NCT02520427) of AMG 330 in R/R AML [45], 35 patients were enrolled in 12 dose cohorts with a target dose range of $0.5-480 \ \mu g/day$. Patients received a median of 1 (range: 1–6) cycle with AMG 330, 31/35 (89%) patients discontinued treatment for disease progression (n = 24), adverse events (n = 5, 2 treatment-related), or patient request (n = 2). Serious AEs were seen in 23/35 (66%) patients and included CRS (n = 11), febrile neutropenia (n = 6), and pneumonia (n = 4). One patient died on study due to AML progression with no treatment-related death. Two patients achieved CR and two patients achieved CRi. The study is ongoing and updated results are awaited.

AMG 673 is a half-life extended BiTE that binds both CD33 and CD3 and is genetically fused to the N-terminus of a single-chain IgG Fc region, thereby potentially increasing the halflife of the molecule. In a phase I, sequential dose escalation study (NCT03224819) [46], 30 patients with relapsed/refractory AML were enrolled in 10 cohorts and were treated with AMG 673 (dose range, 0.05–72 µg IV per dose). About 27/30 (90%) patients discontinued treatment due to disease progression (n = 21), patient request (n = 2), protocol-specified criteria (n = 2), or adverse events (n = 2). Assessment of bone marrow showed a decrease in blasts in 12/27 (44%) evaluable patients, of which 6 experienced a \geq 50% reduction in blasts compared with baseline. One patient achieved complete remission with incomplete hematologic recovery (CRi). The most common treatment-related AE was cytokine release syndrome (CRS) reported in 15/30 (50%) patients (grade 1, n = 6; grade 2, n = 5; grade 3, n = 4; no grade 4 CRS).

AMV564 is a bivalent, bispecific CD33/CD3 BiTE. In a phase I, dose escalation study (NCT03144245) [47], 36 relapsed/refractory AML patients were enrolled in 10 dose escalation cohorts from 0.5 to 300 μ g/day. No doselimiting toxicities were reported. Median duration of treatment was 20 days (range 3–204 days). Using a lead-in intrapatient dose ramp up schedule, no grade 3 or higher cytokine release syndrome was observed. The most common grade \geq 3 treatment-emergent AE were anemia, reported in 4 (11%) patients. Bone marrow blast reductions were observed in 17 (49%) of 35 efficacy evaluable patients.

XmAb14045 is a bispecific antibody targeting both CD123 and CD3. Initial results of the phase I study were presented at ASH 2018 [48]. Sixtyfour patients were treated, 63 with relapsed/ refractory AML. Treatment was administered weekly in 28-day cycles and continued for as long as tolerated with continuing evidence of therapeutic benefit. CRS occurred in 49 of 64 patients (77%). Seven patients (11%) developed grade \geq 3 CRS, the majority of these on the first dose. There were no CRS-related deaths. No myelosuppression requiring dose modification or evidence of tumor lysis syndrome was seen. Single-agent anti-leukemic activity was documented in heavily pretreated patients with relapsed/refractory AML with a best response of CR in two patients and CRi in one patient.

The clinical experience with BiTEs in AML is still in development, with numerous clinical trials ongoing. However, the response rates have generally been lower and less robust than were achieved with CD3–CD19 bispecific T-cell engager antibody blinatumomab in B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Evaluating BiTEs in low burden disease or MRD settings in AML may yield higher efficacy given the known mechanism of action of BiTEs. Combining BiTE with immune check point inhibitors may be a potential therapeutic strategy to overcome resistance to either agent alone in patients with AML [49], and such combinations are expected to enter into clinical trials in the near future.

9.4 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy

A chimeric antigen receptor, CAR, is composed of an antigen-recognition domain linked to costimulatory molecules, which are then transduced into autologous or allogeneic T cells [50]. The binding between CAR and its antigen on tumor cells triggers a signal transduction cascade through signaling domains that then activates T cells to kill the target either directly or by harnessing other components of the immune system [51]. CAR bind to their tumor antigen in an MHC-independent manner, which is their main advantage over regular T-cell receptors (TCR) [52].

Anti-CD19 CAR T-cell therapies against B-lineage malignancies have been successfully used in clinical practice and are FDA approved [53]. In contrast to lymphoid malignancies, AML is a more heterogeneous disease, lacking highly differentiated and optimally targetable tumorspecific surface antigens. Most of the AML "target" antigens being used in antibody drug conjugates, bispecific antibodies, and CAR T-cell therapies are frequently expressed in normal hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells or organ tissues, which potentially could increase the "ontarget, off-tumor" toxicity.

Early phase AML CAR T and CAR NK clinical trials are ongoing, targeting CD33, CD123, and NKG2D. In a phase I study (NCT03018405, still recruiting) [54], 12 patients with hematological malignancies (8 AML, 3 MM, and 1 MDS) had received CYAD-0, a CAR product based on the receptor NKG2D with specificity for a broad range of ligands (MICA, MICB, and ULBP1-6) expressed on most tumors. CYAD-01 was administered without prior preconditioning therapy. CRS occurred in five patients, three grade 1/2 and two grade 3, with rapid resolution with appropriate therapies such as tocilizumab. No neurotoxicity was observed. Out of the eight R/R AML patients enrolled, seven were evaluable for response. The overall response rate was 42% (3/7 patients) with one complete remission with partial hematologic recovery (CR_h) and two CR with incomplete marrow recovery (CR_i) . One patient proceeded to ASCT and has been in durable response for more than 1 year.

CD123-specific CAR T cells are under investigation in a phase I study (NCT02159495 still recruiting) for patients with relapsed or refractory AML (cohort 1) and BPDCN (cohort 2). Prior to T-cell infusion, all patients undergo a lymphodepleting regimen including fludarabine 25-30 mg/m² daily for 3 days and cyclophosphamide 300 mg/m² daily for 3 days. Patients receive a single dose of CD123-CAR T cells with an option for a second infusion if they continue to meet safety and eligibility criteria and still have CD123+ disease. At last data update (ASH 2017) [55], seven patients (six AML and one BPDCN) had received CD123-CAR T cells. All six patients in the AML cohort had refractory AML following ASCT, and a median of 4 (range: 4-7) prior lines of therapy. One patient achieved CR and was able to proceed for second ASCT. Another patient with CR prior to treatment remained in CR post therapy and proceeded for ASCT. Two patients had blast reduction, and one patient achieved a morphologic leukemic-free state. CRS occurred in five patients (four grade 1 and one grade 2). All toxicities were reversible and manageable. There were no dose-limiting toxicities and no treatment-related cytopenias. In the BPDCN cohort, one patient who failed a CD123 antibody-drug conjugate with a bulky subcutaneous mass achieved CR after a single dose of CD123-CAR T cells and continued to be in CR at 60 days post-infusion. He tolerated the treatment well with no CRS or neurologic toxicity.

In spite of limitations in the form of lack of an ideal AML antigen, concern over CRS, potential for prolonged myelosuppression, the field of CAR T cell as a therapeutic option in AML is progressing, both preclinically and clinically. Several strategies, like gene-editing technology, combination therapies, targeting low burden disease, or MRD, are under early investigations to optimize the CAR T-cell therapy outcome in AML.

Relevant COI Disclosures N.D. has received research funding from BMS, Pfizer, Amgen, Genentech, and Forty-Seven and serves as a consultant/advisor for Pfizer, BMS, Amgen, Gilead, Forty-Seven, Genentech, and Kite.

References

- Kolb HJ. Graft-versus-leukemia effects of transplantation and donor lymphocytes. Blood. 2008;112(12):4371–83.
- Short NJ, Konopleva M, Kadia TM, et al. Advances in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia: new drugs and new challenges. Cancer Discov. 2020; https://doi. org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-1011.
- Kantarjian H, Stein A, Gökbuget N, et al. Blinatumomab versus chemotherapy for advanced acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(9):836–47.
- Castaigne S, Pautas C, Terré C, et al. Effect of gemtuzumab ozogamicin on survival of adult patients with de-novo acute myeloid leukaemia (ALFA-0701): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2012;379(9825):1508–16.
- Hills RK, Castaigne S, Appelbaum FR, et al. Addition of gemtuzumab ozogamicin to induction chemotherapy in adult patients with acute myeloid leukaemia: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from randomised controlled trials. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(9):986–96.
- Boddu P, Kantarjian H, Garcia-Manero G, Allison J, Sharma P, Daver N. The emerging role of immune checkpoint based approaches in AML and MDS. Leuk Lymphoma. 2018;59(4):790–802.
- Chen L, Flies DB. Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and co-inhibition. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(4):227–42.
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711–23.
- Sui X, Ma J, Han W, et al. The anticancer immune response of anti-PD-1/PD-L1 and the genetic determinants of response to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies in cancer patients. Oncotarget. 2015;6(23):19393–404.
- Ansell SM, Lesokhin AM, Borrello I, et al. PD-1 blockade with nivolumab in relapsed or refractory Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(4):311–9.
- Westin JR, Chu F, Zhang M, et al. Safety and activity of PD1 blockade by pidilizumab in combination with rituximab in patients with relapsed follicular lymphoma: a single group, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(1):69–77.
- Assi R, Kantarjian H, Ravandi F, Daver N. Immune therapies in acute myeloid leukemia: a focus on monoclonal antibodies and immune checkpoint inhibitors. Curr Opin Hematol. 2018;25(2):136–45.
- Daver N, Basu S, Garcia-Manero G, et al. Abstract 3205: Defining the immune checkpoint landscape of acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Cancer Res. 2016;76(14 Suppl):3205. https://doi. org/10.1158/1538-7445.AM2016-3205.
- Williams P, Basu S, Garcia-Manero G, et al. The distribution of T-cell subsets and the expression of immune checkpoint receptors and ligands in patients

with newly diagnosed and relapsed acute myeloid leukemia. Cancer. 2019;125(9):1470–81.

- 15. Berger R, Rotem-Yehudar R, Slama G, et al. Phase i safety and pharmacokinetic study of CT-011, a humanized antibody interacting with PD-1, in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(10):3044–51.
- Davids MS, Kim HT, Bachireddy P, et al. Ipilimumab for patients with relapse after allogeneic transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(2):143–53.
- Héninger E, Krueger TEG, Lang JM. Augmenting antitumor immune responses with epigenetic modifying agents. Front Immunol. 2015;6:29.
- Yang H, Bueso-Ramos C, Dinardo C, et al. Expression of PD-L1, PD-L2, PD-1 and CTLA4 in myelodysplastic syndromes is enhanced by treatment with hypomethylating agents. Leukemia. 2014;28(6):1280–8.
- Ørskov AD, Treppendahl MB, Skovbo A, et al. Hypomethylation and up-regulation of PD-1 in T cells by azacytidine in MDS/AML patients: a rationale for combined targeting of PD-1 and DNA methylation. Oncotarget. 2015;6(11):9612–26.
- 20. Daver N, Garcia-Manero G, Basu S, et al. Efficacy, safety, and biomarkers of response to azacitidine and nivolumab in relapsed/ refractory acute myeloid leukemia: A nonrandomized, open-label, phase II study. Cancer Discov. 2019;9(3):370–83.
- Daver NG, Garcia-Manero G, Konopleva MY, et al. Azacitidine (AZA) with nivolumab (Nivo), and AZA with Nivo + Ipilimumab (Ipi) in relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia: a non-randomized, prospective, phase 2 study. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):830.
- 22. Gojo I, Stuart RK, Webster J, et al. Multi-center phase 2 study of pembroluzimab (Pembro) and azacitidine (AZA) in patients with relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and in newly diagnosed (≥65 years) AML patients. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):832.
- 23. Zeidan AM, Cavenagh J, Voso MT, et al. Efficacy and safety of azacitidine (AZA) in combination with the anti-PD-L1 durvalumab (durva) for the front-line treatment of older patients (pts) with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) who are unfit for intensive chemotherapy (IC) and pts with higher-risk my. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):829.
- Stahl M, Goldberg AD. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in acute myeloid leukemia: novel combinations and therapeutic targets. Curr Oncol Rep. 2019;21(4):37.
- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Mechanism of action of conventional and targeted anticancer therapies: reinstating immunosurveillance. Immunity. 2013;39(1):74–88.
- Vereecque R, Saudemont A, Quesnel B. Cytosine arabinoside induces costimulatory molecule expression in acute myeloid leukemia cells. Leukemia. 2004;18(7):1223–30.
- Wemeau M, Kepp O, Tesnière A, et al. Calreticulin exposure on malignant blasts predicts a cellular anticancer immune response in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Cell Death Dis. 2010;1(12):e104.

- Ravandi F, Assi R, Daver N, et al. Idarubicin, cytarabine, and nivolumab in patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukaemia or high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome: a single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Haematol. 2019;6(9):e480–8.
- Zeidner JF, Vincent BG, Esparza S, et al. Final clinical results of a phase II study of high dose cytarabine followed by pembrolizumab in relapsed/refractory AML. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):831.
- Ijaz A, Khan AY, Malik SU, et al. Significant risk of graft-versus-host disease with exposure to checkpoint inhibitors before and after allogeneic transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2019;25(1):94–9.
- Merryman RW, Kim HT, Zinzani PL, et al. Safety and efficacy of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant after PD-1 blockade in relapsed/refractory lymphoma. Blood. 2017;129(10):1380–8.
- Oran B, Daver N. Check-point inhibitors before and after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant: the double-edge sword. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2019;25(1):e1–2.
- 33. Oran B, Garcia-Manero G, Saliba RM, et al. Posttransplantation cyclophosphamide improves transplantation outcomes in patients with AML/MDS who are treated with checkpoint inhibitors. Cancer. 126(10):2193–205.
- Pietsch EC, Dong J, Cardoso R, et al. Anti-leukemic activity and tolerability of anti-human CD47 monoclonal antibodies. Blood Cancer J. 2017;7(2): e536.
- 35. Willingham SB, Volkmer JP, Gentles AJ, et al. The CD47-signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRPa) interaction is a therapeutic target for human solid tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(17):6662–7.
- 36. Jaiswal S, Jamieson CHM, Pang WW, et al. CD47 is upregulated on circulating hematopoietic stem cells and leukemia cells to avoid phagocytosis. Cell. 2009;138(2):271–85.
- Majeti R, Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, et al. CD47 is an adverse prognostic factor and therapeutic antibody target on human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. Cell. 2009;138(2):286–99.
- Liu Y, Bewersdorf JP, Stahl M, Zeidan AM. Immunotherapy in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes: the dawn of a new era? Blood Rev. 2019;34:67–83.
- Advani R, Flinn I, Popplewell L, et al. CD47 blockade by Hu5F9-G4 and rituximab in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(18):1711–21.
- 40. Sallman DA, Asch AS, Al Malki MM, et al. The first-in-class anti-CD47 antibody magrolimab (5F9) in combination with azacitidine is effective in MDS and AML patients: ongoing phase 1b results. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):569.
- Baeuerle PA, Reinhardt C. Bispecific T-cell engaging antibodies for cancer therapy. Cancer Res. 2009;69(12):4941–4.
- Kontermann RE, Brinkmann U. Bispecific antibodies. Drug Discov Today. 2015;20(7):838–47.

- 43. Uy GL, Rettig MP, Vey N, et al. Phase 1 cohort expansion of flotetuzumab, a CD123×CD3 bispecific Dart[®] protein in patients with relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):764.
- 44. Uy GL, Aldoss I, Foster MC, et al. Flotetuzumab, an investigational CD123 × CD3 bispecific Dart[®] protein, in salvage therapy for primary refractory and early relapsed acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):733.
- 45. Ravandi F, Stein AS, Kantarjian HM, et al. A phase 1 first-in-human study of AMG 330, an anti-CD33 bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE[®]) antibody construct, in relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia (R/R AML). Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):25.
- 46. Subklewe M, Stein A, Walter RB, et al. Preliminary results from a phase 1 first-in-human study of AMG 673, a novel half-life extended (HLE) anti-CD33/CD3 BiTE[®] (bispecific T-cell engager) in patients with relapsed/refractory (R/R) acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):833.
- 47. Westervelt P, Cortes JE, Altman JK, et al. Phase 1 first-in-human trial of AMV564, a bivalent bispecific (2:2) CD33/CD3 T-cell engager, in patients with relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):834.
- 48. Ravandi F, Bashey A, Foran JM, et al. Complete responses in relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients on a weekly dosing schedule of XmAb14045, a CD123 × CD3 T cell-engaging bispecific antibody: initial results of a phase 1 study. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):763.
- 49. Krupka C, Kufer P, Kischel R, et al. Blockade of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis augments lysis of AML cells by the CD33/CD3 BiTE antibody construct AMG 330: reversing a T-cell-induced immune escape mechanism. Leukemia. 2016;30(2):484–91.
- Cummins KD, Gill S. Will CAR T cell therapy have a role in AML? Promises and pitfalls. Semin Hematol. 2019;56(2):155–63.
- Fan M, Li M, Gao L, et al. Chimeric antigen receptors for adoptive T cell therapy in acute myeloid leukemia. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10(1):151.
- June CH, O'Connor RS, Kawalekar OU, Ghassemi S, Milone MC. CAR T cell immunotherapy for human cancer. Science. 2018;359(6382):1361–5.
- Schuster SJ, Bishop MR, Tam CS, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in adult relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(1):45–56.
- 54. Sallman DA, Kerre T, Poire X, et al. Remissions in relapse/refractory acute myeloid leukemia patients following treatment with NKG2D CAR-T therapy without a prior preconditioning chemotherapy. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):902.
- 55. Budde L, Song JY, Kim Y, et al. Remissions of acute myeloid leukemia and blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasm following treatment with CD123specific CAR T cells: a first-in-human clinical trial. Blood. 2017;130(Suppl 1):811.

Part II

Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia



10

Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Clinical Presentation, Diagnosis, and Classification

Sandeep Gurbuxani, Joseph P. Wynne, and Richard A. Larson

10.1 Introduction

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is a malignant neoplasm of lymphocytes characterized by the clonal accumulation of immature blood cells in the bone marrow. These abnormal cells are arrested in the lymphoblast stage of the maturation pathway. Aberrations in proliferation and differentiation of these cells are common, and normal hematopoiesis is suppressed. Symptoms result from varying degrees of anemia, neutropenia, and thrombocytopenia or from infiltration of ALL cells into tissues. Although virtually any organ system may become involved once leukemia cells enter the peripheral blood, the lymph nodes, spleen, liver, central nervous system (CNS), and skin are the most common sites detected clinically.

ALL is a heterogeneous disease with distinct biologic and prognostic groupings. Treatment strategies tailored to specific prognostic groups have already yielded dramatic improvements in the outcomes for children with ALL, and similar risk-adapted strategies based on the biological

Section of Hematopathology, Department

of Pathology, University of Chicago and the

J. P. Wynne · R. A. Larson (🖂)

heterogeneity of the disease are now being applied to adults. Moreover, increasing knowledge of the prognostic significance of recurrent cytogenetic abnormities plays an important role in the current WHO classification of precursor lymphoid neoplasms, and thus, cytogenetics will be emphasized in this review [1].

10.2 Clinical Presentation

10.2.1 Epidemiology

ALL is the most common malignant disease in childhood, peaking in incidence between ages 2 and 5 years [2]. In contrast, ALL only accounts for approximately 20% of acute leukemia in adults. Despite this early peak incidence in childhood, nearly 45% of all new cases are diagnosed in adults (age > 20 years). This is due to a combination of ALL developing in all age groups and a steadily increasing incidence rate above the age of 50 years [3].

The worldwide incidence of ALL is estimated to be 1–5/100,000 [4]. ALL is slightly more common among males than females (1.3:1). Geographic variations with higher incidence rates in Spain and in Latin American countries are likely related to a number of factors including socioeconomics, ethnicity, and an urban or rural setting. A higher frequency of ALL has been reported in industrialized countries and in urban

S. Gurbuxani

Comprehensive Cancer Center, Chicago, IL, USA

Section of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Medicine, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA e-mail: rlarson@medicine.bsd.uchicago.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_10

areas. The incidence of ALL is more common in Caucasians compared with African-Americans with an age-adjusted overall incidence in the United States of 1.9/100,000 in whites and 1/100,000 in blacks. Americans of Hispanic ethnicity have the highest incidence rate at 2.5/100,000 compared to 1.6/100,000 for non-Hispanic whites [3].

10.2.2 Presentation

The clinical presentation of ALL is often sudden. Patients commonly present with a recent history of fatigue or spontaneous bleeding. Malaise, lethargy, weight loss, fevers, and night sweats are often present but typically are not severe [5]. Compared to AML, patients with ALL experience more bone and joint pain. Rarely, they may present with asymmetric arthritis, low back pain, diffuse osteopenia, or lytic bone lesions [6]. Children experience these symptoms more frequently than adults with young children often presenting with difficulty walking due to bone pain. Lymphadenopathy, splenomegaly, and hepatomegaly are more common than in AML and affect half of adults with ALL. CNS involvement is also more common in ALL compared to AML [7]. Patients may present with cranial neuropathies, most commonly involving the sixth and seventh cranial nerves. Nausea, vomiting, headache, or papilledema may result from meningeal infiltration and obstruction of the outflow of CSF leading to raised intracranial pressure. Patients may also present with a symptomatic mediastinal mass with symptoms of cough, dyspnea, and/or superior vena cava syndrome if it impinges on the great vessels. Testicular involvement, which presents as a painless unilateral mass, is noted at diagnosis in approximately 2% of boys. It is associated with infant or adolescent age, hyperleukocytosis, splenomegaly, and a mediastinal mass. The diagnosis of testicular involvement can be confirmed by wedge biopsy but is often not needed unless physical examination and imaging studies are equivocal. Bilateral biopsies have previously demonstrated the high incidence of contralateral testicular disease, necessitating radiation treatment to both testicles if testicular involvement persists after induction therapy [8, 9].

S. Gurbuxani et al.

The physical examination is often notable for pallor, generalized lymphadenopathy, hepatosplenomegaly, and signs associated with thrombocytopenia, such as gingival bleeding, epistaxis, petechiae/ecchymoses, or fundal hemorrhages. Dermal involvement, known as leukemia cutis, may also be noted.

10.3 Diagnosis

10.3.1 Initial Laboratory Evaluation

The morphologic recognition and phenotypic characterization of lymphoblasts in the blood and bone marrow are of major importance in the correct diagnosis and classification of ALL. These require careful evaluation of well-prepared peripheral blood and bone marrow aspirate smears and phenotypic analysis of the blasts by flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry with an appropriate panel of surface and cytoplasmic markers.

The settings in which lymphoblasts are seen in the peripheral blood and bone marrow aspirate can vary significantly. In the majority of cases, the counts and cellularity are high, but in some, there can be pancytopenia and hypocellularity, which make the recognition of the blasts more critical. A leukoerythroblastic picture can be seen in some cases, and in rare T-cell ALL cases, there may be dysplasia in the granulocytic elements. One unusual morphologic presentation of ALL is that of precursor-B ALL with eosinophilia. This entity can show eosinophilia preceding, concurrent with, or following ALL at either diagnosis or relapse. Sometimes the eosinophilia can be so extreme as to obscure the blasts. This entity is associated with the specific cytogenetic abnormality, t(5;14)(q31;q32) [10]. In other cases, eosinophilia can be indicative of underlying rearrangements of PDGFRA, PDGFRB, FGFR1, and PCM-JAK2 rearrangements. Despite initial presentation as lymphoblastic leukemia, these disorders arise from a pluripotent stem cell and are classified as myeloid/lymphoid neoplasms with eosinophilia indicating propensity for presentation with many different morphologic features including myeloproliferative neoplasms and acute leukemia [1].

In addition to the peripheral blood and bone marrow, extramedullary involvement with predilection for involvement of the central nervous system (CNS) is common. The evaluation of cytospin slides made from the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) may indicate CNS involvement. The current approach used to determine CNS involvement by the Children's Oncology Group (COG) has been to classify CNS leukemia into three groups: CNS 1 (<5 WBC/µL of CSF and no blasts), CNS 2 (<5 WBC/µL of CSF with blasts), and CNS 3 (\geq 5 WBC/µL of CSF with blasts, or cranial nerve findings) [11]. Moreover, some studies advocate using flow cytometry in addition to cytology to identify blasts in the CSF more accurately [12]. Whether this level of detection would affect outcomes is unclear.

In cases with a high cell turnover, the evaluation of blood chemistries may reflect the evidence of tumor cell lysis, such as hypocalcemia, hyperkalemia, hyperphosphatemia, elevated LDH, hyperuricemia, and elevated creatinine.

10.3.2 Cytomorphology

The cytomorphologic characteristics of lymphoblasts are varied, but are usually sufficient to suggest a blastic or neoplastic process for which phenotyping can confirm and further characterize the process. The most typical lymphoblast is a small- to intermediate-sized cell with round or oval nucleus that has a smudgy nuclear chromatin, absent or small nucleoli, and scanty cytoplasm. Comparison to normal appearing "mature" lymphocytes in the blood or marrow aspirate is useful for the assessment of size and degree of chromatin condensation. The scant cytoplasm is quite dramatic in many cells as the nucleus has an appearance of bulging out of the cell cytoplasm. The cytoplasm is pale blue and not intensely stained. In other cases, lymphoblasts exhibit significant morphologic variation. Such lymphoblasts are larger and have oval or irregular nuclear outlines and less homogeneous chromatin. Nuclei are variable but frequently prominent, and sometimes multiple. The cytoplasm is more abundant but still pale blue. The earlier FAB classification into L1 and L2 morphology is poorly reproducible and has little clinical significance. Therefore, the 2008 revision of the WHO classification of ALL adopted a classification based on immunophenotype and genotype [13].

Similarly, while Burkitt lymphoma can have a leukemic presentation, it is now recognized as a malignancy of mature B cells to distinguish it from lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma that arises from precursor lymphoid cells. The socalled L3 blasts (referred to as Burkitt leukemia for the remainder of this chapter) are usually quite distinctive. The blasts are large and homogeneous and have distinctive deep blue cytoplasm, which commonly contains sharply defined vacuoles. The nuclei of Burkitt cells are large and round or oval. They have a finely stippled chromatin and variable nucleoli, which sometimes are quite prominent. The larger size and intense cytoplasmic basophilia with vacuolization are decidedly the most distinctive features but are not entirely specific. Vacuoles can be seen in monoblastic and erythroid leukemia, and together with the deep blue cytoplasm, can be seen in other cases of ALL as well as in some cases of AML [14, 15]. Conversely, some cases of Burkitt leukemia with the characteristic chromosomal translocations lack the usual "L3" morphology [16].

A number of additional cytologic variants of lymphoblasts deserve mention. Although there are no particular clinical, phenotypic, or genetic correlates with these variant blasts, their recognition will help avoid exclusion of ALL from diagnostic consideration in cases where they are seen. Small lymphoblasts can be seen in rare cases of ALL [17]. These blasts are closer in size to small "mature" lymphocytes, making them difficult to distinguish from the small lymphoid cells of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). The small lymphoblasts also have more condensed chromatin making the distinction difficult further. Lymphoblasts with cytoplasmic granulation can be seen in a small percentage of ALL cases [18, 19]. The granules are usually present in the larger blasts; they are azurophilic and usually not numerous. Nuclear clefts can be seen in some lymphoblasts and are present as deep nuclear groves. The so-called hand mirror cell is probably not a defining characteristic for a distinct entity [20]. Whether such cells are due to an artifact of the preparation is debatable. Different lymphoblasts are illustrated in Fig. 10.1.

10.3.3 Histology

Evaluation of the histology of ALL from biopsy sections becomes important when there are few circulating blasts in the blood and when the bone marrow is inaspirable. It is also critical in evaluating extramedullary sites of involvement such as lymph nodes, testes, or skin. Whether bone marrow biopsies are necessary in the typical patient with a high number of blasts in the circulation and bone marrow aspirate is disputable. However, the biopsy may provide a baseline for cellularity, degree of residual normal hematopoiesis, and the presence of necrosis or other associated features.

In typical cases, the marrow cellularity is markedly increased due to the infiltration by the densely packed blastic elements with no particular pattern of involvement. Rare cases have a predilection for paratrabecular growth, but this is very unusual. On H&E-stained sections, the blastic morphology is not easily distinguishable from myeloblasts. Burkitt leukemia does, however, have a particular histologic pattern. The features are similar to the lymph node involvement by Burkitt lymphoma.

Hypocellular presentations of ALL are relatively rare, but can present a diagnostic challenge due to the paucity of cells and thus limited material for immunophenotyping [21]. Some cases of ALL can present with frank fibrosis [22]. Inability to aspirate could be due to the fibrosis, or in some cases, due to the dense packing of the marrow by lymphoblasts. Necrosis is present in a small number of cases and can complicate the diagnosis, due to the lack of viable cells for either morphologic evaluation or for immunophenotyping [23]. Necrosis can be focal or widespread and can recur with relapsed disease. Occasional cases can show bone changes, which include osteoporosis or osteopenia [24].

In some cases of ALL, the principle manifestation of disease is extramedullary [25]. This is not uncommon in precursor T-cell ALL/lymphoma which can present with a mediastinal mass and lymphadenopathy. Other sites that may be identified prior to blood and bone marrow disease include lymph node, skin, testes, and CNS. Whenever there is concern for a lymphoblastic process in an extramedullary location, careful review of the blood and evaluation of the marrow is imperative.

Differential diagnostic considerations are based on clinical presentation as well as cytomorphologic and histologic features of blasts in the peripheral blood and marrow. Reactive causes of lymphocytosis should be excluded particularly in the pediatric age group where the morphology of the peripheral blasts can be difficult to distinguish from mature lymphocytes. In pediatric patients with high peripheral blood counts, pertussis must be considered. Pertussis can result in lymphocytosis of 20-30,000/µL, and the lymsometimes appear phocytes can atypical, although they should have mature-appearing chromatin. Furthermore, unlike in B-ALL, the hemoglobin and peripheral platelet counts are usually preserved when the lymphocytosis is reactive. In the bone marrow, hematogones or normal B-cell precursors can be increased in number in regenerative situations (Fig. 10.2). These require careful evaluation, as they closely resemble malignant lymphoblasts [26]. Small round blue cell tumors seen in pediatric patients can also mimic ALL in the marrow, but immunohistochemical studies can usually resolve any diagnostic concerns. In adults, leukemic manifestations of mature B-cell lymphoma, particularly the blastic variant of mantle cell lymphoma [27], can mimic ALL. Additionally, high-grade B-cell lymphomas can have a blast-like morphology. Immunophenotyping is needed to resolve the diagnosis in such cases. Mature B-cell lymphomas lack expression of precursor cell markers such as CD34 and terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT), whereas they express surface





prominent nucleoli, and abundant cytoplasm. (c) Burkitt lymphoma cells (previously called "L3" blasts) are usually distinctive with homogeneous large size and deep blue cytoplasm with prominent vacuoles. Vacuoles can, however, be seen in some cases of AML and ALL



Fig. 10.2 Distinguishing malignant B-lymphoblasts from hematogones by flow cytometry. Hematogones are normal B-cell precursors that can be morphologically difficult to distinguish in regenerative marrow aspirates from blasts. However, by flow cytometry, hematogones follow a distinct and predictable pattern of antigen expression (blue dots and black arrows) (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{c}). In contrast, ALL blasts

(red dots) show maturation arrest and differences in intensity of the antigens normally expressed on hematogones. In the example shown here, when compared to hematogones (blue), residual ALL blasts (red) express asynchronous CD20 with weak CD45 (b), bright CD10 (d), bright CD58 (e), and bright CD34 (f)

immunoglobulin (sIg) light chains (see discussion on immunophenotyping below). In both children and adults, the differential also includes AML, mixed phenotype leukemia, and chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) presenting in lymphoid blast phase. In all except the latter, immunophenotyping by flow or by immunohistochemistry can resolve the diagnostic dilemma. These differential diagnostic considerations and a list of nonhematologic processes that may resemble ALL are summarized in Table 10.1.

10.3.4 Immunophenotype

Enzyme cytochemistry, particularly the demonstration of reactivity to myeloperoxidase (MPO), can exclude the diagnosis of ALL. Other cytochemical reactions used in the past have been largely replaced by flow cytometry. Multicolor flow cytometry allows for simultaneous detection of multiple antigens on the surface of the leukemic blasts, allowing not simply the correct diagnosis, but also providing a footprint for monitoring for residual disease post-therapy. Flow cytometry can be performed from the bone marrow aspirate or peripheral blood if adequate blasts were present. One should be careful when interpreting the immunophenotype of peripheral blood blasts particularly when the fraction of blasts is low and present with a left shift. The peripheral blood blasts could represent part of the left shift resulting from a leukoerythroblastic phenomenon and may not be representative of leukemic bone marrow blasts. Immunohistochemistry on biopsy sections should

1 71		
(A) Pertinent markers available for		
immunohistochemical studies		
General: TdT, CD34		
B-cell markers: CD20, CD79A		
T-cell markers: CD3, CD4, CD8, CD5, CD45RO		
Myeloid: MPO, CD68, lysozyme, glycophorin A,		
Factor VIII, CD61		
Other: keratin, NSE, myogenin, CD99		
(B) Commonly used markers for flow immunophenotyping in acute leukemia		
General: CD34, HLA-DR, TdT, CD45		
B-cell markers: CD10, CD19, cCD22, CD20, cCD79A, CD24, cytoplasmic µ, sIg		
		T-cell markers: CD1a, CD2, cCD3, CD4, CD8, CD5, CD7
CD14, CD15 (C) R-lineage ALL phenotypes		
		Pro-B: TdT+, CD19/22/79A+, CD10-, cytoplasmic
μ -, sig-		
CD10+, cytoplasmic µ–, sIg–		
Pre-B: TdT+, CD19/22//9A+, CD10+,		
(D) T lineage ALL phanetimes		
(D) 1-uneage ALL phenotypes		
Common thymocyte: TdT+, cCD3+, CD2/5//+, CD4+/CD8+, CD1a+		
Mature thymocyte: $TdT+/=$ CD3+ CD2/5/7+		
CD4+ or CD8+, CD1a-		

 Table 10.1
 Differential diagnosis of ALL

not be considered as an alternative to multicolor flow cytometry but can be used when a bone marrow aspirate is not available and peripheral blood shows no circulating blasts.

Consensus guidelines for immunophenotyping of leukemia have been proposed by several cooperative groups [28, 29]. While there is no consensus on a single panel, the initial flow cytometry should allow for distinction of leukemic blasts from normal regenerative precursors in the bone marrow or thymus and correctly classify B, T, myeloid, acute leukemias of ambiguous lineage, and blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasms. Commonly used markers are listed in Table 10.2B.

The large majority of cases of ALL (~85%) are of B-lineage. B-lineage assignment is based on expression of CD19, CD79a, and CD22. CD45 expression is characteristically weak or

absent. In addition, TdT, CD34, and CD10 are variably expressed. Aberrant expression of CD13 and CD33 is common, and in the absence of MPO expression, the expression of these antigens does not preclude a diagnosis of ALL. Combinations of antigens expressed by the leukemic blasts correspond to the degree of maturation and associate with genetic features. The earliest stage of maturation (early precursor-B or pro-B) is characterized by the expression of CD19, cCD79a, and nuclear TdT. This subset is enriched for B-ALL with chromosome 11q23.3 rearrangements. The intermediate stage or common B-ALL is characterized by the coexpression of CD10 along with the above B-cell antigens and is enriched for BCR-ABL1 and ETV6-RUNX1 rearranged cases. Finally, the most mature precursor-B cells are characterized by expression of cytoplasmic immunoglobulin

Table 10.2 Immunophenotype

mu chains and enriched for B-ALL with a *TCF3-PBX1* fusion.

While Burkitt lymphoma may have a leukemic presentation, it is a malignancy of mature B cells that express CD19 and CD10. However, in contrast to B-ALL, the malignant cells also express bright CD45, CD20, and monotypic sIg light chains. Rare B-ALL cases can express surface heavy chains (so-called transitional pre-B ALL) while others can show the expression of surface light chains without heavy chains. When seen in the context of appropriate morphology and markers of immaturity such as CD34 and TdT, the expression of surface heavy or light chains does not preclude the diagnosis of precursor B-ALL [30]. B-ALL immunophenotypes are listed in Table 10.2C.

T-ALL accounts for only 15–20% of cases. While CD3 expression is lineage specific, surface CD3 is rarely present. The use of a cytoplasmic tube for flow cytometry to determine the expression of cytoplasmic CD3 is therefore required for definitive diagnosis of T-ALL. Bright surface CD7 expression is invariable but is not T-lineage specific. Other markers that are expressed with variable frequency include CD1a, CD2, CD4, CD5, and CD8. In addition to CD1a, expression of TdT and CD34 are helpful in demonstrating the precursor cell origin of this T-cell malignancy. Similar to B-ALL, a characteristic combination of antigens expressed is indicative of the stage of maturation [31]. These stages are pro-T/T-I, pre--T/T-II, cortical T/T-III, and medullary T/T-IV (Table 10.2D). Expression of myeloid antigens can also be seen in T-ALL. CD13 and CD33 expression has been described in 19-32% of cases [32]. CD117 expression is uncommon and appears to be associated with FLT3 mutations [33]. It is likely that the CD117-positive T-ALL cases described in the older literature represent mostly what is now recognized as early T-cell precursor ALL (ETP ALL). Initially identified by a distinct gene expression signature [34], this leukemia can be diagnosed based on immunophenotype with the lack of expression of CD1a and CD8, usually negative for CD5, as well as strong positive expression of at least one of CD34, CD117, HLADR, CD13, CD33, CD11b, or CD65. If bright CD5 expression is noted in a CD1a-negative, CD8-negative T-ALL, the diagnosis of ETP ALL can still be made based on bright expression of at least two of the antigens associated with myeloid differentiation (CD13, CD33, CD11b, CD65) or with immaturity (CD34, HLADR, CD117) [29].

Differential diagnostic issues that have to be considered in immunophenotyping include hematogones, thymoma, mixed phenotype leukemia, and CML presenting in lymphoid blast phase. Hematogones have the same immunophenotype as common precursor B-ALL cells, but the hematogones exhibit a spectrum of maturation with a continuum of cells from immature to mature showing loss of CD34 and gain of CD20 and sIg [35, 36].

Thymoma cells have the phenotype of common thymocytes and cannot be distinguished from common T-ALL/lymphoblastic lymphoma by immunophenotype alone. Correlation with clinical presentation and histology is important for the correct interpretation. When CML presents in lymphoid blast crisis, distinction from Philadelphia (Ph) chromosome-positive ALL cannot be made based on immunophenotype, as the blasts are frequently precursor B lymphoblasts. In most Ph+ cases, the presence of a concurrent myeloid component to the leukemia will alert one to the correct diagnosis. If this were not present, lineage analysis showing the BCR/ABL1 fusion in myeloid as well as lymphoid cells has been suggested as a means to differentiate the stem cell process, CML, from the lymphoidrestricted process, ALL [37]. In some cases, only the emergence of a myeloid component after treatment can indicate the correct diagnosis.

10.3.5 Cytogenetic Evaluation

Specific and well-characterized recurring chromosomal abnormalities facilitate diagnosis, confirm subtype classification, and have major prognostic value for treatment planning. Abnormalities in chromosome number or structure are found in approximately 90% of children and 70% of adult ALL patients [38]. These cytogenetic abnormalities are acquired somatic (rather than germline) mutations that frequently result from translocations of chromosomal DNA, resulting in new (abnormal) protein products from the resultant fusion genes. It is assumed that the protein products from these fusion genes are responsible for the cellular dysregulation that leads to the malignant state. Deletions or loss of DNA may eliminate genes that have tumor suppressor functions. Gains of additional chromosomes may lead to gene dosage effects that transformed cells provide with survival advantages.

Conventional cytogenetic analysis requires dividing cells, is technically difficult, and can be time consuming due to the presence of multiple abnormal cell lines and complex chromosomal banding patterns. Therefore, alternative diagnostic methods have been sought, including fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), in which labeled probes are hybridized to either metaphase chromosomes or interphase nuclei and then detected with fluorochromes. This method of analysis is more rapid, and in some cases more sensitive, than conventional cytogenetic analysis. Additionally, FISH can be used to study differentiated or nondividing cells. In B-ALL, most pediatric and adult patients can be assigned to a genetic-based classification. The most recent revision of the WHO classification recognizes specific B-ALL subtypes with recurrent cytogenetic abnormalities. The inclusion of a given cytogenetic abnormality as a specific entity is based on distinctive clinical or phenotypic properties, prognostic implications, or evidence for biology that is exclusive of other entities. For example, B-ALL with iAMP21 has been added to the entities included in the fourth edition [39]. In addition, BCR-ABL1-like ALL has been included as a provisional entity to include a heterogenous group of B-ALL characterized by gene expression profiles indistinguishable from B-ALL with BCR-ABL1, but the former lacks the BCR-ABL1 translocation [40]. B-ALL with this gene expression profile is associated with cryptic translocations involving CRLF2 or a multitude of tyrosine kinases [41].

10.3.6 Molecular Evaluation

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is an enzyme assay that provides a more sensitive and rapid method to detect clonal gene rearrangements. Translocations that result in fusion genes are especially suited for analysis with reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR), a technique in which the fusion mRNA is reverse transcribed into cDNA, and then amplified by PCR using genespecific primers. Quantitative RT-PCR allows for quantification of measurable (minimal) residual disease (MRD). A number of large prospective studies in pediatric ALL have demonstrated the independent prognostic significance of MRD detection [42, 43]; less is known about the significance of MRD detection in adult ALL [44].

10.4 Conclusion

In summary, the initial approach to the diagnosis of ALL still involves evaluation of the peripheral blood smear and bone marrow specimens with cytomorphology, immunohistochemistry, and cytogenetic analysis. Cytogenetic analysis and molecular methods are used to establish prognostically distinct subgroups of ALL. Through enhanced knowledge of the leukemogenic pathways involved in the different ALL subgroups, one can anticipate improved accuracy in diagnosis and prognosis, and ultimately, improved disease outcomes for these patients.

References

- Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, Thiele J, Borowitz MJ, Le Beau MM, et al. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. 2016;127(20):2391–405.
- Dores GM, Devesa SS, Curtis RE, Linet MS, Morton LM. Acute leukemia incidence and patient survival among children and adults in the United States, 2001– 2007. Blood. 2012;119(1):34–43.
- Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program populations (1969–2017) [Internet] (2019). National Cancer Institute, DCCPS, Surveillance

Research Program. Available from: www.seer.cancer. gov/popdata. Cited 1 May, 2019

- Redaelli A, Laskin BL, Stephens JM, Botteman MF, Pashos CL. A systematic literature review of the clinical and epidemiological burden of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL). Eur J Cancer Care. 2005;14(1):53–62.
- Clarke RT, Van den Bruel A, Bankhead C, Mitchell CD, Phillips B, Thompson MJ. Clinical presentation of childhood leukaemia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Arch Dis Child. 2016;101(10):894–901.
- Gur H, Koren V, Ehrenfeld M, Ben-Bassat I, Sidi Y. Rheumatic manifestations preceding adult acute leukemia: characteristics and implication in course and prognosis. Acta Haematol. 1999;101(1):1–6.
- Larson RA. Managing CNS disease in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2018;59(1):3–13.
- Hijiya N, Liu W, Sandlund JT, Jeha S, Razzouk BI, Ribeiro RC, et al. Overt testicular disease at diagnosis of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: lack of therapeutic role of local irradiation. Leukemia. 2005;19(8):1399–403.
- Nachman J, Palmer NF, Sather HN, Bleyer WA, Coccia PF, Lukens JN, et al. Open-wedge testicular biopsy in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia after two years of maintenance therapy: diagnostic accuracy and influence on outcome – a report from Children's Cancer Study Group. Blood. 1990;75(5):1051–5.
- Grimaldi JC, Meeker TC. The t(5;14) chromosomal translocation in a case of acute lymphocytic-leukemia joins the Interleukin-3 gene to the Immunoglobulin heavy-chain gene. Blood. 1989;73(8):2081–5.
- 11. Winick N, Devidas M, Chen S, Maloney K, Larsen E, Mattano L, et al. Impact of initial CSF findings on outcome among patients with National Cancer Institute standard- and high-risk B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(22):2527–34.
- Ranta S, Nilsson F, Harila-Saari A, Saft L, Tani E, Söderhäll S, et al. Detection of central nervous system involvement in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia by cytomorphology and flow cytometry of the cerebrospinal fluid. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;62(6):951–6.
- Jaffe ES. Pathology and genetics of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Geneva: WHO; 2001. p. 351.
- Al-Rubei K, Rose PE, Hill FG. Morphological heterogeneity in childhood B cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. J Clin Pathol. 1984;37(12): 1348–52.
- Lilleyman JS, Hann IM, Stevens RF, Richards SM, Eden OB. Blast cell vacuoles in childhood lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 1988;70(2):183–6.
- 16. Khalidi HS, Chang KL, Medeiros LJ, Brynes RK, Slovak ML, Murata-Collins L, et al. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia – survey of immunophenotype, French-American-British classification, frequency of myeloid antigen expression, and karyotypic abnor-

malities in 210 pediatric and adult cases. Am J Clin Pathol. 1999;111(4):467–76.

- Kim Y, Kang CS, Lee EJ, Kim WI, Shim SI, Kim SM, et al. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia with maturation – a new entity with clinical significance. Leukemia. 1998;12(6):875–81.
- Darbyshire PJ, Lilleyman JS. Granular acute lymphoblastic leukaemia of childhood: a morphological phenomenon. J Clin Pathol. 1987;40(3):251–3.
- Schwarzinger I, Födinger M, Scherrer R, Wolzt M, Mannhalter C, Speiser W. Hypergranular acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). Report of a case and review of the literature. Ann Hematol. 1993;67(6):301–3.
- Schumacher HR, Desai SN, McClain KL, Domenico DR, Dizikes GJ, Bird ML. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia-hand mirror variant. Analysis for endogenous retroviral antibodies in bone marrow plasma. Am J Clin Pathol. 1989;91(4):410–6.
- Wegelius R. Preleukaemic states in children. Scand J Haematol Suppl. 1986;45:133–9.
- Wallis JP, Reid MM. Bone marrow fibrosis in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. J Clin Pathol. 1989;42(12):1253–4.
- Macfarlane SD, Tauro GP. Acute lymphocytic leukemia in children presenting with bone marrow necrosis. Am J Hematol. 1986;22(4):341–6.
- Ribeiro RC, Pui CH, Schell MJ. Vertebral compression fracture as a presenting feature of acute lymphoblastic-leukemia in children. Cancer. 1988;61(3):589–92.
- 25. Steinherz PG, Siegel SE, Bleyer WA, Kersey J, Chard R, Coccia P, et al. Lymphomatous presentation of childhood acute lymphoblastic-leukemia – a subgroup at high-risk of early treatment failure. Cancer. 1991;68(4):751–8.
- Longacre TA, Foucar K, Crago S, Chen IM, Griffith B, Dressler L, et al. Hematogones – a multiparameter analysis of bone-marrow precursor cells. Blood. 1989;73(2):543–52.
- 27. Ott G, Kalla J, Ott MM, Schryen B, Katzenberger T, Müller JG, et al. Blastoid variants of mantle cell lymphoma: frequent bcl-1 rearrangements at the major translocation cluster region and tetraploid chromosome clones. Blood. 1997;89(4):1421–9.
- 28. Bene MC, Nebe T, Bettelheim P, Buldini B, Bumbea H, Kern W, et al. Immunophenotyping of acute leukemia and lymphoproliferative disorders: a consensus proposal of the European LeukemiaNet Work Package 10. Leukemia. 2011;25(4):567–74.
- 29. Dworzak MN, Buldini B, Gaipa G, Ratei R, Hrusak O, Luria D, et al. AIEOP-BFM consensus guidelines 2016 for flow cytometric immunophenotyping of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cytometry B Clin Cytom. 2017;94(1):82–93.
- Vasef MA, Brynes RK, Murata-Collins JL, Arber DA, Medeiros LJ. Surface immunoglobulin light chainpositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia of FAB L1 or L2 type – a report of 6 cases in adults. Am J Clin Pathol. 1998;110(2):143–9.

- Bene MC, Castoldi G, Knapp W, Ludwig WD, Matutes E, Orfao A, et al. Proposals for the immunological classification of acute leukemias. European Group for the Immunological Characterization of Leukemias (EGIL). Leukemia. 1995;9(10):1783–6.
- 32. Uckun FM, Sather HN, Gaynon PS, Arthur DC, Trigg ME, Tubergen DG, et al. Clinical features and treatment outcome of children with myeloid antigen positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from the Children's Cancer Group. Blood. 1997;90(1):28–35.
- 33. Hoehn D, Medeiros LJ, Chen SS, Tian T, Jorgensen JL, Ahmed Y, et al. CD117 expression is a sensitive but nonspecific predictor of *FLT3* mutation in T acute lymphoblastic leukemia and T/myeloid acute leukemia. Am J Clin Pathol. 2012;137(2):213–9.
- 34. Coustan-Smith E, Mullighan CG, Onciu M, Behm FG, Raimondi SC, Pei D, et al. Early T-cell precursor leukaemia: a subtype of very high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(2):147–56.
- 35. Rimsza LM, Larson RS, Winter SS, Foucar K, Chong YY, Garner KW, et al. Benign hematogone-rich lymphoid proliferations can be distinguished from B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia by integration of morphology, immunophenotype, adhesion molecule expression, and architectural features. Am J Clin Pathol. 2000;114(1):66–75.
- 36. van Wering ER, Van der Linden-Schrever B, Szczepanski T, Willemse MJ, Baars EA, Van Wijngaarde-Schmitz HM, et al. Regenerating normal B-cell precursors during and after treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: implications for monitoring of minimal residual disease. Br J Haematol. 2000;110(1):139–46.
- 37. Anastasi J, Feng J, Dickstein JI, Le Beau MM, Rubin CM, Larson RA, et al. Lineage involvement by BCR/ABL in Ph+ lymphoblastic leukemias: chronic myelogenous leukemia presenting in lymphoid blast

vs Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 1996;10(5):795–802.

- 38. Le Beau MM, Larson RA. Cytogenetics and neoplasia. In: Hoffman R, Benz Jr EJ, Shattil SJ, Furie B, Cohen HJ, editors. Hematology: basic principles and practice. 3rd ed. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 2000. p. 848–69.
- 39. Swerdlow SH et al (eds) (2017) WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. revised 4th edn. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, 585p
- 40. Den Boer ML, van Slegtenhorst M, De Menezes RX, Cheok MH, Buijs-Gladdines JG, Peters ST, et al. A subtype of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia with poor treatment outcome: a genome-wide classification study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(2):125–34.
- Roberts KG, Morin RD, Zhang J, Hirst M, Zhao Y, Su X, et al. Genetic alterations activating kinase and cytokine receptor signaling in high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer Cell. 2012;22(2):153–66.
- 42. Cavé H, van der Werff ten Bosch J, Suciu S, Guidal C, Waterkeyn C, Otten J, et al. Clinical significance of minimal residual disease in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer—Childhood Leukemia Cooperative Group. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(9):591–8.
- 43. van Dongen JJ, Seriu T, Panzer-Grümayer ER, Biondi A, Pongers-Willemse MJ, Corral L, et al. Prognostic value of minimal residual disease in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in childhood. Lancet. 1998;352(9142):1731–8.
- 44. Stock W, Luger SM, Advani AS, Yin J, Harvey RC, Mullighan CG, et al. A pediatric regimen for older adolescents and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of CALGB 10403. Blood. 2019;133(14):1548–59.



11

Frontline Therapy of Newly Diagnosed Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

Melissa C. Mackey, Serena Chew, Hagop M. Kantarjian, and Elias Jabbour

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is an aggressive malignancy of lymphoid progenitor cell lines with an annual incidence of 1.7 cases per 100,000 patients in the United States. For the year 2019, an estimate of 5930 new cases was predicted along with 1500 deaths [1]. The disease has a bimodal age distribution with 80% occurring in children (age < 5 years) and less frequently in adults (age > 50 years), with a median age at diagnosis of 15 years. Due to the implementation of intensive, multiagent chemotherapy regimens, pediatric patients have long-term survival rates above 90%, and the majority of patients are cured [2]. In contrast, despite tremendous improvements in understanding the biology and molecular mechanisms of adult ALL, long-term follow-up studies suggest a much lower long-term survival rate of 35-45% [3, 4]. This notable discrepancy in clinical outcomes has prompted further research, focusing on differences in the biology of disease and identification of high-risk features seen predominantly in adult ALL patients.

11.1 Diagnosis and Prognostication

The diagnosis of ALL is based on bone marrow aspiration/biopsy (presence of $\geq 20\%$ lymphoblasts) and flow cytometry immunophenotyping identifying malignant clones and distinguishing between B- or T-lineage diseases. B-cell ALL (B-ALL) makes up nearly 75-80% of all cases and is characterized by the expression of CD19, CD22, and CD79a [5]. The presence of CD20 expression is seen in 30-50% of cases and is correlated with poorer outcomes prior to the use of CD20-targeted therapy [6, 7]. Burkitt leukemia/ lymphoma (BL) is a highly aggressive B-cell neoplasm that originates from the germinal center and expresses the B-cell markers CD19, CD20, CD22, and CD79a, along with membrane IgM with light chain restriction, as well as germinal cell markers such as CD10 and BCL6 [8]. This aggressive subtype is associated with high survival rates of 80-90% with chemoimmunotherapy [8, 9]. T-cell ALL (T-ALL) is characterized by terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) and cytoplasmic CD3 positivity, along with variable expression of CD1a, CD2, CD4, CD5, CD7, and CD8 [10, 11]. Early T-cell precursor ALL (ETP-ALL) is a disease recently defined as a subgroup of T-ALL arising from immature cells with the potential to differentiate into myeloid and T lineage and accounts for about 20% of T-ALL cases [12, 13]. ETP-ALL

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_11

M. C. Mackey \cdot S. Chew \cdot H. M. Kantarjian E. Jabbour (\boxtimes)

Department of Leukemia, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: MCMackey@mdanderson.org; hkantarjian@mdanderson.org; ejabbour@mdanderson.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

blasts are positive for cytoplasmic CD3, CD7, and one or more myeloid markers (such as CD33); weak for CD5 expression (<75% positive); and negative for CD8, CD4, sCD3, and CD1a expression. ETP-ALL cases have overall poor clinical outcomes characterized by primary induction failure and early relapses [14].

Abnormal karyotype occurs in about 75% of adult ALL cases [11, 15]. The most common cytogenetic abnormality observed in approximately 20-30% of B-ALL patients, with increasing frequency in older patients, is Philadelphia (Ph) chromosome resulting from the t(9;22)(q34;q11) translocation. This translocation creates the BCR-ABL fusion gene which is the main driver of Ph-positive disease and has been associated with higher relapses and poor survival in the pre-tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) era. In addition, near-haploid and low-hypodiploid ALL are two separate subtypes associated with very poor outcomes [16]. Near-haploid ALL cases harbor alterations targeting the RAS signaling (71%) and IKZF3 gene (13%), while the majority of low-hypodiploid ALL cases harbors TP53 alterations (>90%) [17]. Both near-haploid and lowhypodiploid ALL subtypes activate both RAS and PI3K signaling pathways, providing potential means for targeted therapy to inhibit those pathways. Cytogenetic abnormalities associated with negative impact on clinical outcomes in adults with Ph-negative B-ALL are t(4;11) (q21;q23)/KMT2A-AFF1 (9-13% cases), IGH-r (2-5% cases), and low hypodiploidy/near triploidy (4-6% cases) [18–21]. In adults with Ph-like ALL, high CRLF2 expression is seen in 50% of cases which is associated with reduced survival due to the activation of the JAK-STAT pathway, leading to leukemic cell proliferation and differentiation. Approximately half of patients with CRLF2 rearrangement harbor concomitant JAK2 mutations. Another major subgroup, encompassing of 15% of Ph-like ALL, involves rearrangements of ABL-class genes (ABL1, ABL2, PDGFRB, and CSF1R). ABLclass rearrangements are mutually exclusive with JAK-STAT and CRLF2 and are often present with IKZF1 alterations. IKZF1 mutations/deletions were reported in 68-73% of all Ph-like ALL

cases and usually do not respond to therapy and remain minimal residual disease (MRD) positive at the end of induction therapy [22, 23]. Of note, IKZF1 mutations/deletions can lead to overexpression of CRLF2 [24]. In addition, JAK2 and EPOR rearrangements together are seen in 10% of Ph-like ALL and are associated with a poor prognosis. In patients with BL, concurrent IGH-BCL2 and MYC rearrangements are commonly seen. Patients with complex cytogenetics (≥ 5 chromosomal abnormalities) were previously thought to have poorer prognosis, but more recent studies have been inconsistent [15, 20, 25]. T-ALL patients with complex karyotype or chromosome 17p deletion carry a very poor prognosis due to the lack of response to standard treatment [8, 10, 11]. On the other hand, mutations in NOTCH1 and/or FBXW7 confer overall favorable prognosis in the absence of abnormalities in RAS/PTEN, and this designation applies to approximately 50% of patients with T-ALL [26].

11.2 Treatment of Burkitt Leukemia (BL)/Mature B-Cell ALL

BL is a rare type of ALL that occurs in children and adults (1-5%) with high tendency for central nervous system (CNS) involvement and is associated with high survival rates (80-90%) with the use of chemoimmunotherapy [27]. In a randomized, open-label, phase III trial, 260 patients with newly diagnosed BL received intensive chemotherapy plus rituximab or placebo. The 3-year event-free survival (EFS) and overall survival (OS) rates were higher in the chemotherapy plus rituximab arm (75% vs. 62%; *p* = 0.024 and 70% vs. 83%; p = 0.11, respectively). Adverse events were similar in both groups [28]. Other trials have also shown that the addition of 4-8 doses of rituximab combined with chemotherapy increases both the complete remission (CR) and OS rates from approximately 70% to 85% and 40-50% to 80%, respectively [8, 28–30].

Low-intensity chemotherapy in patients with BL has also been evaluated in the frontline setting. In a single-center, uncontrolled, prospective study, 30 patients (median age 33 years) with received untreated BL either standard DA-EPOCH-R (dose-adjusted regimen containing etoposide, prednisone, vincristine, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and rituximab) or SC-EPOCH-RR (short course regimen with a double dose of rituximab). DA-EPOCH-R was dose adjusted based on the neutrophil nadir. Patients who received DA-EPOCH-R demonstrated promising results with PFS and OS \geq 95% and $\geq 90\%$, respectively [31]. One potential area of concern with DA-EPOCH-R regimen variations is the lack of CNS-penetrating systemic chemotherapy such as high-dose methotrexate and cytarabine, which are essential components of high-intensity BL therapy. A recent analysis of modern BL therapy amplified this concern, with significantly higher rates of CNS recurrence at 3 years with DA-EPOCH compared to highintensity chemotherapy (12% with DA-EPOCH, 3% and 4% with hyper-CVAD and CODO-M/ IVAC, respectively; hazard ratio 3.50 with DA-EPOCH) [32]. This increased CNS recurrence was despite utilizing intrathecal CNS prophylaxis with DA-EPOCH. Despite the high response rate in the frontline setting, patients with R/R continue to have poor outcomes. A phase III clinical trial comparing the R-CODOX--M/R-IVAC (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, methotrexate/ifosfamide, etoposide, high-dose cytarabine) versus DA-EPOCH-R in patients with untreated BL is underway (EudraCT Number: 2013-004394-27).

11.3 Treatment of Ph-Negative ALL

The treatment of ALL is complex and often involves multiple cycles of chemotherapy during induction, consolidation, and maintenance phases. Intensive induction chemotherapy regimens are modeled after either the pediatricinspired roadmap regimens or the hyper-CVAD (hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone alternating with methotrexate and cytarabine) regimen developed at MD Anderson Cancer Center [4,

33–37]. Pediatric-inspired regimens have previously been studied in patients of all ages, but their use in patients >40 years has largely fallen out of favor due to higher rates of toxicity and treatment-related mortality in this patient population and is generally reserved for use in the adolescents and young adults (AYA) population. See Table 11.1 for more information. Hyper-CVAD is a dose-intensive chemotherapy regimen used in adult ALL patients. Between 1992 and 1998, 204 patients (median age 39.5 years) were treated with four cycles of hyper-CVAD with intrathecal CNS prophylaxis and growth factor support [34]. Overall, 91% of patients treated achieved a CR with an induction mortality of 6%, which was a significant improvement compared to historical data utilizing the VAD (vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone) regimen [34, 38]. The estimated 5-year OS and CR rates were 39% and 38%, respectively [34]. The long-term follow-up (median 63 months) confirmed these results, reporting achievement of overall CR in 92% and 5-year OS and CR rates of 38% in both [3].

11.3.1 Addition of CD20 Targeted Monoclonal Antibodies

CD20 expression ($\geq 20\%$ of cells) is found in 30-50% of precursor B-ALL leukemia blasts and in >90% of mature B-ALL [5]. CR rates in patients who received conventional chemotherapy (e.g., hyper-CVAD regimens) were similar regardless of CD20 expression; however, patients with CD20 expression had significantly higher relapse and lower OS rate [5]. The poor outcomes of CD20 expression in patients with precursor B-ALL led to the incorporation of CD20 monoclonal antibodies to improve survival outcomes [5, 7]. Rituximab is a humanized chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody that mediates antibodyand complement-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. The addition of rituximab to chemotherapy for ALL was first evaluated in 2010 and was found to improve survival in patients with Ph-negative B-ALL. Patients with untreated B-ALL with CD20 expression in $\geq 20\%$ cells

Туре	Subtypes	Management	Outcomes	
B-cell ALL	BL	Hyper-CVAD + rituximab + 16 intrathecal chemotherapy EPOCH + rituximab or ofatumumab	OS (3 years): 80–90%	
	Ph-negative	Hyper-CVAD ± rituximab + 8 intrathecal chemotherapy	Age, years	OS (5 years)
			≤30	64%
			31–59	50%
			≥60	21%
		Hyper-CVAD ± ofatumumab + 8 intrathecal chemotherapy	Age, years	OS (5 years)
			<40	75%
			≥40	60%
		Hyper-CVAD + blinatumomab + 8 intrathecal chemotherapy	OS (1 year): 90%	
	Ph-positive	Hyper-CVAD + ponatinib + 12 intrathecal chemotherapy	OS (5 years): 73%	
	Ph-like Hyper-CVAD-based regimens ± TKIs ± blinatumomab ^a	Hyper-CVAD-based regimens ± TKIs ± blinatumomab ^a		Median OS
		CRLF2+	23 months	
			Non-CRLF2	49 months
T-cell ALL	All subtypes	HyperCVAD + nelarabine + pegasparginase ^a	OS (3 years): 65%	
AYA	-	Augmented BFM HyperCVAD ± rituximab or ofatumumab	OS (5 years): 60%	
Elderly	ly – Mini-hyper- CVD + inotuzumab ± blinatumomab ^a		Age, years	OS (3 years)
				63%
			>70	44%

Table 11.1 Treatment of ALL in the frontline setting at MD Anderson Cancer Center

^aOngoing clinical trials at MD Anderson Cancer Center

received 12 doses of rituximab plus hyper-CVAD. The rates of CR duration (70% vs. 38%, p < 0.001) and OS (75% vs 47%, p = 0.003) were superior with the modified hyper-CVAD plus rituximab regimens compared to historical controls with standard hyper-CVAD in patients aged <60 years [39]. These improved outcomes with rituximab were also seen when added to the pediatric-inspired GRAALL-2005 regimen in a phase III randomized trial [40]. Patients aged <60 years with CD20-positive, Ph-negative B-ALL were randomized to receive 16-18 doses of rituximab plus standard intensive chemotherapy. The 2-year EFS was statistically improved with the addition of rituximab compared to without (65% vs. 52%; p = 0.04). Although the 2-year OS was not statistically improved with rituximab (71% vs. 64%, respectively; p = 0.10), improvement in OS with rituximab was seen in a sensitivanalysis censoring ity for allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) (p = 0.02) [40].

Ofatumumab is a second-generation CD20directed monoclonal antibody that binds to the juxtamembrane small-loop epitope of CD20, a different binding site than rituximab. It has increased complement-dependent cytotoxicity compared to rituximab and is more potent as a result of slower dissociation from the binding site [41, 42]. Given that of atumumab binds more strongly to extracellular epitope of CD20, it remains effective even in the setting of lower CD20 expression (<20% of cells). In a phase II study, the addition of ofatumumab to hyper-CVAD for patients with newly diagnosed Ph-negative, CD20-positive ALL demonstrated high CR/CR with incomplete platelet recovery (CRp) and MRD-negativity rates of 98% and 93%, respectively. The estimated 2-year OS rate was 81%, and the benefit of adding of atumumab

was seen in both high ($\geq 20\%$ of cells) and low (<20% of cells) CD20 expression [43].

11.3.2 Addition of CD19 Targeted Antibody

CD19 expression is seen in 90% of cases of B-ALL, and the addition of CD19 antibody to chemotherapy has shown promising results in the frontline setting. Blinatumomab is a bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) with dual affinity for CD19 on B cells and CD3 on T cells which exerts an immune response by activating/engaging T cells to eradicate leukemic cells [44]. Given that blinatumomab has demonstrated encouraging response rates in the relapsed/refractory (R/R) setting, the use of blinatumomab given sequentially in combination with hyper-CVAD in younger patients (<60 years) was evaluated in the frontline setting [45–47]. Patients received four cycles of hyper-CVAD followed by four cycles of blinatumomab and then maintenance therapy with POMP (6-mercaptopurine, vincristine, methotrexate, and prednisone). Nineteen patients (median age 42 years) have been treated thus far, and the ORR was 100%. MRD negativity was achieved in 93% of patients after one cycle of chemotherapy. The 1-year OS and RFS rates were 93% and 75%, respectively. This trial is currently ongoing, and follow-up data are needed to validate these findings [46].

11.3.3 Addition of CD22 Targeted Antibody

CD22 is expressed in 90% of cases of B-ALL [48]. Inotuzumab ozogamicin (INO) is a humanized antibody–drug conjugate (ADC) consisting of an anti-CD22 monoclonal antibody bound to calicheamicin, a potent alkylating agent [5]. Due to the success of INO in treatment of R/R ALL, it was also evaluated in the frontline setting in combination with low-dose chemotherapy in older patients (median age 68 years) with Ph-negative ALL [49–52]. Further details regarding INO will be discussed in the "elderly" section.

11.4 Treatment of ALL in AYA Population

The treatment of ALL in AYA (age 15–39 years) has been a challenge, and research has focused on the genetic and molecular features of the disease, as well as optimizing therapeutic regimens for these patients [53]. Intensive chemotherapy based on pediatric protocols remains the standard of care for AYA, and results comparing pediatrics versus adult regimens are developing. AYA patients receiving pediatric intensive chemotherapy regimens have demonstrated remarkable improvement in long-term outcomes with OS of 60–70% [54–60]. Pediatric regimens contain higher cumulative doses of non-myelosuppressive chemotherapy (corticosteroids, vincristine, and PEG-asparaginase), and subsequently carry more adverse events related to hyperbilirubinemia, pancreatitis, and avascular bone necrosis. Relative to pediatric regimens, adult regimens consist of more myelosuppressive chemotherapy (daunorubicin, cytarabine, cyclophosphamide), leading to higher incidences of neutropenia and infections [61]. The efficacy of the pediatric regiaugmented Berlin-Frankfurt-Münster men (BFM) in 106 patients (median age 22 years) was compared to 102 patients treated with hyper-CVAD (median age 27 years) in a single institution study [37]. The CR rate with augmented BFM was comparable to that seen with hyper-CVAD (93% vs. 98%, respectively), and the 5-year duration of CR (53% vs. 55%) and OS (60% vs. 60%) were comparable with both regimens. Toxicity profiles between regimens differed significantly, with hepatotoxicity (41%), thrombosis (19%), pancreatitis (11%), and osteonecrosis (9%) being most commonly reported with augmented BFM, likely related to asparaginase use. With hyper-CVAD, myelosuppression and associated complications were most frequent [37].

A prospective CALGB 10403 study, which mirrored the previously published pediatric AALL0232 regimen, evaluated 295 AYA patients (median age 24 years; range 17–39 years) [61]. The median EFS was 78.1 months, more than double that of the historical control of 30 months. The 3-year EFS and OS rates were 59% and 73%, respectively, and the median OS was not reached. The overall regimen was well-tolerated with treatment-related mortality of 3%. The most common asparaginase-related toxicities were low fibrinogen (42%), elevated transaminases (28%), bilirubin (18%), and hyperglycemia (30%), comseen with parable to those augmented BFM. Interestingly, this study found that pretreatment risk factors such as obesity and Ph-like phenotype were associated with poorer response [61]. Although improvements in the outcome of AYA population have been made, survival outcome remains poor when compared to other age groups with ALL. Other factors that have played a negative role on clinical outcomes of AYA patients include noncompliance to therapy, lack of follow-up, no insurance, and psychosocial issues [61].

11.5 Elderly Patients

Elderly patients (age > 60 years) with ALL are known to have poor outcomes (including low CR rates, increased mortality, short remission duration) and are often unable to tolerate intensive chemotherapy. Although elderly patients receiving intensive chemotherapy (e.g., hyper-CVAD) were able to achieve similar CR rates than that seen in younger patients (age < 60 years) of 84% vs. 92%, respectively, high mortality rate of 34% was seen in elderly patients, mainly due to infections. The 5-year OS was low of 20% [62]. Given the high mortality and intolerance of intensive therapy in this patient population, novel therapeutic agents including targeted therapies and dose modification to the hyper-CVAD regimen were developed.

In a phase II study, 135 patients (median age 68 years) were treated with either hyper-CVAD \pm rituximab (n = 77) or mini-hyperCVD (an attenuated regimen of hyper-CVAD without an anthracycline) in combination with INO (1.8 and 1.3 mg/m² during induction and consolidation, respectively) \pm blinatumomab (n = 58) as frontline treatment. Due to the high rates of venoocclusive disease (8%) likely related to INO with

the first 47 patients treated, the protocol was amended to reduce the dose of INO (1.8 and 1.3 mg/m² during induction and consolidation, respectively) thereafter to minimize the risk. The combination of mini-hyperCVD plus INO ± blinatumomab was associated with higher ORR (98% vs. 88%) and fewer rates of early death (0%compared 8%) to standard hypervs. CVAD \pm rituximab. The 3-year EFS (64% vs. 34%; P = 0.003) and OS rates (63% vs. 34%; P = 0.004) were superior with the combination of mini-hyperCVD plus INO ± blinatumomab compared to hyper-CVAD \pm rituximab [63]. The most frequent grade 3-4 adverse events were prolonged thrombocytopenia (81%), infections (52-69%), hyperglycemia (54%), hypokalemia (31%), increased aminotransferases (19%), and bilirubin (17%); only one case of veno-occlusive disease was reported after the amendment [63]. The lower dose of INO improved tolerability without compromising efficacy. In addition, the use of sequential addition of blinatumomab may increase the depth of response and reduce the risk of veno-occlusive disease by distancing the INO from subsequent HSCT. Through this ongoing study, attenuated chemotherapy doses combined with sequential targeted therapy have shown improved OS compared to historical controls utilizing full-dose chemotherapy in the elderly population.

In addition, blinatumomab has also shown promise as a single agent in the frontline setting for elderly patients. In a phase II trial, 31 newly diagnosed Ph-negative B-ALL patients (median age 75 years) received blinatumomab followed by POMP maintenance [64]. The 1-year OS and DFS rates were 65% and 56%, respectively. MRD negativity was achieved in 12 of 13 (92%) responders. Importantly, this regimen was well-tolerated with only one patient who developed grade 3 cytokine release syndrome [64].

11.6 Treatment of Ph-Positive ALL

TKIs in combination with multi-agent cytotoxic chemotherapy is the standard of care for frontline Ph-positive ALL. Imatinib is a first-generation TKI that was studied in combination with chemotherapy in Ph-positive patients and showed promising results in the frontline setting. The addition of imatinib to intensive and non-intensive chemotherapy resulted in CR rates >90% and OS rates ranging from 33% to 76% [65–79]. Continuous imatinib therapy resulted in lower relapse rates compared to intermittent dosing. Despite better outcomes with the addition of imatinib to chemotherapy, the high incidences of imatinib resistance and relapses led to the evaluation of more potent TKIs for the treatment of frontline Ph-positive ALL patients.

Nilotinib is a second-generation TKI which has more potent activity against BCR-ABL1 than imatinib and has activity against all known imatinib-resistant BCR-ABL mutants except for T3151 [80, 81]. It has shown high rates of efficacy in combination with intensive chemotherapy in newly diagnosed Ph + ALL patients in two studies, with CR rates in over 90% of patients and complete molecular responses (CMR) over 80% reported in both studies [82, 83]. Nilotinib combined with low-intensity chemotherapy in elderly patients demonstrated CR rate of 87% and 2-year OS rate of 67% [84]. Although nilotinib-based regimens have shown promising results, resistance mutations with Y253H, E255V, and T315I may develop after nilotinib initiation. Multiple clinical trials are still evaluating the role of nilotinib in Ph-positive ALL, and it is currently not approved for this indication.

Dasatinib is a second-generation TKI, with greater selectivity and potency against BCR-ABL1 than imatinib, and has greater penetration into the CNS. Similar to nilotinib, dasatinib is active against most ABL1 kinase domain mutations noted with imatinib, except for T315I mutation. In a phase II study of dasatinib plus hyper-CVAD for the treatment of newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL, 72 patients (median age 55 years) were treated; 69 patients (96%) achieved CR [85]. The 5-year OS rate was 46%. Forty-five patients (65%) achieved CMR at 4 weeks after treatment initiation. A total of 12 patients (17%) underwent HSCT in first CR, and 7 deaths occurred post HSCT. The high rate of treatment-related mortality was likely due to

advanced age. In patients who achieved CMR, durable remissions and long-term survival were even without demonstrated the use of HSCT. Notably, 22 patients (31%) had relapsed disease, 8 (36%) of whom had isolated CNS relapse. Seven patients (54%) developed ABL mutations at relapse: four with T315I, two with V299L, and one with F359V [85]. These results were validated by a subsequent multicenter trial that evaluated the same regimen in younger patients ≤ 60 years (median age 44 years) with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL. Of the 97 patients treated, 83 (88%) achieved CR/CRi and 41 (49%) underwent HSCT in first CR. The 3-year OS and RFS rates were 69% and 62%, respectively. A landmark analysis showed a statistically significant survival benefit with the use of HSCT as consolidation therapy in younger Ph-positive ALL patients [86].

Several studies have also evaluated dasatinib plus low-intensity chemotherapy in elderly patients with Ph-positive ALL [87-89]. In the GIMEMA study, 53 patients (median age 69 years) with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL received dasatinib plus corticosteroids. All patients achieved hematologic CR. The OS and DFS rates at 20 months were 69% and 51%, respectively. Twelve patients with relapsed disease (71%) developed a T315I mutation [88]. In a more recent update from GIMEMA investigators, 60 patients (median age 42 years) treated with the same regimen had a 3-year OS rate of 58%. Only 19% achieved CMR by day 85, which is significantly lower than CMR rates reported with dasatinib plus intensive chemotherapy [87]. In another study, 71 patients (median age 69 years) with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL received induction therapy with dasatinib, dexamethasone, and vincristine. Sixty-seven (96%) patients achieved CR. The 5-year OS and EFS rates were 28% and 36%, respectively. CMR was achieved in 24% of patients and 10% underwent HSCT. Thirty-six patients had relapsed disease, most of which occurred during maintenance therapy. Mutation analysis was conducted in 21 relapsed patients and found 18 with T315I, 1 with F317L, 1 with V299L, and 1 with a compound mutation (F137I + F359I + F359C) [89].

Lastly, the GIMEMA LAL2116 D-Abla trial confirmed the effectiveness of dasatinib plus chemotherapy-free regimens in inducing high rates of CR and CMR. This multicenter phase II study included 63 patients (median age 54.5 years) who received dasatinib plus corticosteroids as induction followed by blinatumomab post-induction consolidation treatment for at least two cycles with up to three additional cycles based on response and the discretion of the treating physician [90]. Fifty-four percent of patients had IKZF1 deletion and 24% of those patients also had PAX5 and/or CDKN2A/B deletion. The primary endpoint was to determine the rate of CMR or positive non-quantifiable (PNQ) disease after two cycles of blinatumomab. After induction therapy with dasatinib, 29% had a molecular response (6 CMR and 11 PNQ). The rates of molecular responses further increased after subsequent cycles of blinatumomab (56.3% after second cycle, 65.6% after third cycle, and 80% after fourth cycle). The 12-month OS and DFS rates were 94.2% and 87.8%, respectively. Patients with IKZF1 deletion plus PAX5 and/or CDKN2A/B deletion had significantly inferior DFS of 61.4% (p = 0.01). So far, 12 patients underwent HSCT, and no transplant-related mortality has been noted. Overall, dasatinib in addition to low- or high-intensity chemotherapy and chemotherapy-free regimens have shown to be effective in the frontline setting; however, T315I mutation and patients harboring IKZF1 and/or PAX5 and/or CDKN2A/B deletions remain a clinical challenge.

Ponatinib is a third-generation TKI with potent activity against BCR-ABL1 and T315I mutation. It was rationally designed to overcome the resistance of the T315I mutation seen with first- and second-generation TKIs. Ponatinib is 520 times more potent than imatinib and inhibits both wild-type and mutant BCR-ABL1 [91–93]. A single-center phase II study investigated the safety and efficacy of ponatinib (45 mg/day for 14 days in cycle 1 then continuously in subsequent cycles) plus hyper-CVAD in 37 patients (median age 51 years) with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL [94]. All patients achieved complete cytogenetic response (CCyR), 95% achieved major molecular response (MMR), and 78% achieved CMR. The 2-year EFS and OS rates were 81% and 80%, respectively. Notable grade 3–4 adverse events were infections (54%), elevated transaminases (38%), skin rash (22%), hypertension (16%), pancreatitis (16%), thrombotic events (8%), and myocardial infarction (8%). Given that two deaths from myocardial infarction were reported, potentially related to ponatinib treatment, the protocol was amended to reduce the dose of ponatinib to 30 mg/day starting with cycle 2, then 15 mg/day upon achievement of a CMR [95, 96]. In the long-term follow-up of the same trial, 76 patients (median age 47 years) were treated; all patients achieved CR, and 77% achieved CMR [95]. The 5-year EFS and OS rates were 68% and 74%, respectively. A landmark analysis at 6 months demonstrated similar CR duration and OS in patients who achieved CMR, with or without allogeneic SCT. In addition, no CNS relapses reported in patients who received at least 12 prophylactic doses of intrathecal chemotherapy. The lower doses of ponatinib resulted in no further cases of myocardial infarctions and were successfully utilized without compromising efficacy [95, 96].

Ponatinib-based regimens were also evaluated as frontline therapy in older or unfit patient who are unable to tolerate intensive therapies. In the GIMEMA phase II prospective study, 42 patients (median age 68 years) with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL were treated with ponatinib (45 mg/day) plus corticosteroids [97]. The 2-year OS rate was 66%. CMR was achieved in 46% of patients, which is 20–25% higher than the CMR rate reported with dasatinib and corticosteroids, suggesting that ponatinib induces a persistent deep molecular response. Overall, 36 adverse events were reported to be related to ponatinib, with 64% of patients requiring dose reduction. These adverse events may be due to the high dose of ponatinib used. Lower doses of ponatinib like those utilized in the ponatinib plus hyper-CVAD study may improve tolerability without compromising efficacy. In addition, a small retrospective study found that the combination of ponatinib with blinatumomab is safe and effective in patients with R/R Ph-positive ALL [98]. However,

prospective studies with a larger sample size are warranted. A phase II study of the sequential combination of low-intensity chemotherapy and ponatinib followed by blinatumomab and ponatinib in patients with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL is currently ongoing (<u>ClinicalTrials.gov</u> identifier: NCT03147612).

11.7 Ph-Like ALL

Ph-like ALL is a high-risk ALL that occurs in 20-30% in young adults (age 20-40 years) and 78% in patients of Hispanic ethnicity [99, 100]. This subtype of ALL is associated with adverse clinical features and patients typically presents with high white blood cell (WBC) count >100,000/mm³. A paucity of evidence has reported significantly reduced survival outcomes in patients with Ph-like ALL, with a 5-year EFS and OS rates of 23.2% and 26.5%, respectively. In a retrospective study, 148 patients with untreated Ph-like ALL received hyper-CVAD (for patients aged ≥ 18 years) or augmented BFM (for patients aged <40 years) [23]. Of the 148 patients, 56 patients (median age 34 years) had Ph-like ALL, and of these patients, 37 (61%) had CRLF2 overexpression. The majority of patients with CRLF2 rearrangements (84%) had concurrent IKZF1 deletion. The CR/CRp rate in Ph-like ALL group was 89%, similar to the other B-cell ALL groups (94%). MRD status at the time of CR showed no difference in median OS in patients with Ph-like ALL (MRD-negative group 26.2 months vs. MRD-positive group 23 months; P = 0.138). The 5-year OS was significantly worse in patients with Ph-like ALL compared to other patients (23% vs. 59%; P = 0.006) [99]. Another study evaluated the use of hyper-CVAD plus of atumumab in Ph-like ALL patients. The 4-year EFS (56% vs. 58%) and OS (40% vs. 69%) rates were lower in patients with Ph-like ALL. Given that patients are more likely to remain MRD-positive after induction therapy, the utilization of blinatumomab as frontline or for MRD in first CR may improve outcomes. Further studies are needed to determine the role of blinatumomab, other immunotherapies, and allogeneic HSCT for the treatment of Ph-like ALL in the frontline setting. Ongoing clinical trials are evaluating the benefit of targeted therapies such as JAK2 inhibitors (e.g., ruxolitinib) or TKIs (e.g., dasatinib and ponatinib) in combination with chemotherapy in the frontline setting.

11.8 Treatment of T-Cell ALL

T-ALL is characterized by male sex predominance, older age at onset, and overall poor outcomes. It comprises about 25% of adult cases and is phenotypically distinct from B-ALL [101– 103]. ETP-ALL accounts for up to 20% of T-ALL cases and has especially overall poor clinical outcomes characterized by primary induction failure and early relapses [10–14]. Due to the lack of targetable markers and mutations, treatment of T-ALL had been challenging prior to the development of nelarabine. Nelarabine is a watersoluble T-cell-specific purine analog prodrug that is converted to 9-β-D-arabinofuranosylguanine triphosphate (ara-GTP). Ara-GTP is incorporated into the cell and inhibits DNA synthesis resulting in apoptosis [101]. Two independent studies laid the foundation for utilizing nelarabine for the treatment of T-ALL, with CR rates of 31-36% in the R/R setting [102, 104].

In a single-arm phase II study, nelarabine was added to hyper-CVAD for the treatment of newly diagnosed adult T-ALL (n = 40) and T-lymphoblastic lymphoma (T-LBL; n = 26). Patients received eight cycles of hyper-CVAD plus two cycles of nelarabine (650 mg/m²/day for 5 days), followed by 30 months of maintenance therapy, consisting of POMP and an additional two cycles of nelarabine. CR rates in T-ALL and T-LBL were 87% and 100%, respectively. With a median of 42.5 months follow-up, the rates of CR and OS at 3-years were 66% and 65%, respectively, which were not significantly improved compared to historical data with the hyper-CVAD regimen alone [105]. Nelarabine was also added to standard frontline treatment in the COG AALL0434 trial. Intermediate and high-risk patients with T-ALL were randomized to standard therapy alone or with addition of nelarabine

(650 mg/m²/day for five of six total courses). The 4-year DFS was improved from 83.3% to 89.9% with the addition of nelarabine (p = 0.0332), supporting the addition of this agent to frontline T-ALL therapy [106].

ETP-ALL is a subgroup of T-ALL and has an overall poor prognosis related to high rates of treatment resistance [14]. However, one study suggested that those with ETP-ALL who receive asparaginase-based therapy with early intensification may achieve similar outcomes to other patients with T-ALL, especially in patients who underwent allogeneic HSCT [107]. A study evaluated 47 ETP-ALL patients treated with GRAALL regimens and found that despite expected high levels of early chemotherapy resistance, the 5-year OS was not inferior to patients with non-ETP-ALL (59.6% vs. 66.5%; p = 0.33 [107]. Finally, preclinical studies show that ETP-ALL is highly BCL-2 dependent and is highly sensitive to venetoclax, a BCL-2 inhibitor [108, 109]. The use of venetoclax has demonstrated excellent response in case reports in the R/R ETP-ALL setting [110]. In a small phase I study, elderly patients with newly diagnosed or R/R ALL, including ETP-ALL were treated with venetoclax plus minihyperCVD. In patients with untreated ALL, the ORR and CR rates were 100% and 90%, respectively [111]. Importantly, all newly diagnosed ALL patients who achieved CR were also MRD negative by flow cytometry. Further investigation on the benefit of venetoclax in this patient population is underway.

11.9 Role of Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation

ALL patients with high-risk features (e.g., Ph-positive, hypodiploidy, complex karyotype, t(4;11) translocations, translocations involving 11q23, and elevated WBC) at diagnosis are commonly recommended to undergo allogeneic HSCT in first CR if a donor is available. However, a newer, risk-adapted approach, which takes into

consideration patients' risk status over time, has been incorporated into this decision. This approach helps to identify patients most likely to benefit from allogeneic HSCT.

The prognostic utility of day 14 bone marrow in ALL was evaluated, and it was found that patients with poor cytologic bone marrow response at day 14 had lower CR rates and poorer EFS and OS [112]. The day 14 bone marrow blast percentage was the only factor predictive for the achievement of CR following induction chemotherapy. Further, the presence of day 14 bone marrow blasts was independently prognostic for EFS and OS when only pretreatment characteristics were considered. However, they did not provide additional prognostic information when MRD information was available. Thus, the presence of MRD is the most important adverse prognostic marker in ALL, a topic more fully addressed in another chapter.

The impact of the type of donor and intensity of conditioning regimens was evaluated in 282 patients with Ph-negative ALL and highrisk disease who were all transplanted in first CR [113]. The overall 3-year post-transplant RFS and OS were estimated to be 65% and 69%, respectively. No difference in outcomes was observed between B-cell and T-cell ALL patients, nor was there a difference based on donor type. In a second study of 161 patients with Ph-positive ALL transplanted in first CR, the 5-year overall RFS and OS rates were 48% and 58%, respectively [114]. Again, no differences in outcome were seen when evaluating based on donor type or intensity of conditioning regimen. Notably, only a minority of patients in either study received reduced intensity conditioning, so myeloablative regimens should be preferentially offered whenever feasible [113, 114].

Cytogenetic analysis and immunophenotyping at diagnosis should be utilized to provide early identification of those patients with poor prognosis (such as ETP-ALL and Ph-like ALL) in whom allogenetic HSCT should be consid-

Туре	Subtype	MRD status ^a	HSCT
B-ALL	Ph-negative $+ \ge 1$ high-risk features ^b	Negative	After CR1
	Ph-negative	Positive	After blinatumomab for 2–4 cycles ^c
	Ph-positive	Positive	After blinatumomab + TKI × 2–4 cycles (MRD > $3 \log 3)^d$
T-ALL	All subtypes + high-risk features ^b All subtypes	Negative Positive	After CR1 After venetoclax-based regimen

Table 11.2 Indications for HSCT in first CR

^aMRD assessment at 3 months

^bCRLF2, MLL rearrangement (11q23), ETP-ALL, t(4,11), low hypodiploidy, complex CG \geq 5 abnormalities, TP53 mutation

°Consider inotuzumab in CD22 positive patients

^dIf MRD \leq 3 logs, then continue blinatumomab + TKI (HSCT is not warranted)

ered in first CR [115]. The decision to offer allogeneic HSCT in first CR should be individualized to each patient based on a number of factors. For high risk patients, allogeneic HSCT in first CR should be offered if there is an available donor. For standard risk patients, patients with MRD-positive disease in CR may benefit most from allogeneic HSCT in first CR rather than MRD-directed therapy. See Table 11.2 for the indications of allogeneic HSCT for ALL patients in first CR.

11.10 Conclusion

Treatment of ALL in adults has previously been considered to be challenging, with poor longterm survival rates of 35-45% compared to high long-term survival and cure rates (>90%) in pediatric patients. More recent data on novel therapies such as the addition of monoclonal antibodies and other targeted agents to standard, and also attenuated doses of, chemotherapy backbones has demonstrated significant improvements in survival rates in untreated ALL patients. In addition, recent data has further narrowed indications for allogeneic HSCT in first CR based on a number of factors including cytogenetics and immunophenotyping at diagnosis and MRD status after initial therapy. Ongoing studies are evaluating the safety and efficacy of chemotherapy-free regimens, which are designed to improve toxicity profiles, especially in those older patients who otherwise would not tolerate intensive chemotherapy.

References

- SEER. SEER cancer stat facts: acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2020. <u>https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/alyl.</u> <u>httml</u>. Accessed 20 Feb 2020
- Pui CH, Campana D, Pei D, et al. Treating childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia without cranial irradiation. N Engl J Med. 2009;369(26):2730–41.
- Kantarjian H, Thomas D, O'Brien S, et al. Longterm follow-up results of hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone (Hyper-CVAD), a dose-intensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer. 2004;101(12):2788–801.
- Rowe JM, Buck G, Burnett AK, et al. Induction therapy for adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of more than 1500 patients from the international ALL trial: MRC uKALL XII/ECOG E2993. Blood. 2005;106(12):3760–7.
- Raponi S, De Propris MS, Inotoppa S, et al. Flow cytometric study of potential target antigens (CD19, CD20, CD22, CD33) for antibody-based immunotherapy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: analysis of 552 cases. Leuk Lymphoma. 2011;52(6):1098–107.
- Maury S, Huguet F, Leguay T, et al. Adverse prognostic significance of CD20 expression in adults with Philadelphia chromosome-negative B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2010;95(2):324–8.
- Thomas DA, O'Brien S, Jorgensen JL, et al. Prognostic significance of CD20 expression in adults with de novo precursor B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2009;113(25):6330–7.
- Richard-Carpentier G, Kantarjian H, Jabbour E. Recent advances in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Curr Hematol Malig Rep. 2019a;14:106–18.
- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Haris NL, et al. WHO classification of tumours of haematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC); 2017.
- 10. Hunger SP, Mullighan CG. Redefining ALL classification: toward detecting high-risk ALL

and implementing precision medicine. Blood. 2015;125(26):3977–87.

- Marks DI, Paietta EM, Moorman EV, et al. T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults: clinical features, immunophenotype, cytogenetics, and outcome from the large randomized prospective trial (UKALL XII/ECOG 2993). Blood. 2009;114(25):5136–45.
- Coustan-Smith E, Mullighan CG, Onciu M, et al. Early T-cell precursor leukaemia: a subtype of very high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(2):147–56.
- Zhang J, Ding L, Holmfeldt L, et al. The genetic basis of early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastics leukaemia. Nature. 2012;481(7380):157–63.
- Jain N, Lamb AV, O'Brien S, et al. Early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma (ETP-ALL/LBL) in adolescents and adults: a highrisk subtype. Blood. 2016;127(15):1863–9.
- 15. Moorman AV, Harrison CJ, Buck GA, et al. Karyotype is an independent prognostic factor in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL): analysis of cytogenetic data from patients treated on the Medical Research Council (MRC) UKALLXII/ Eastern Cooperative Group (ECOG) 2993 trial. Blood. 2007;109(8):3189–97.
- Holmfeldt L, Wei L, Diaz-Flores E, et al. The genomic landscape of hypodiploid aucte lymphoblastic leukemia. Nat Genet. 2013;45:242–52.
- Mulhbacher V, Zenger M, Schnittger S, et al. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia with low hypodiploid/near triploid karyotype is a specific clinical entity nd exhibits a very high TP53 mutation frequency of 93%. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2014;53:524–36.
- Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Baranger L, Hunault M, et al. Impact of cytogenetic abnormalities in adults with Ph-negative B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2017;130(16):1832–44.
- Moorman AV, Schwab C, Ensor HM, et al. IGH translocations, CRLF2 deregulation and microdeletions in adolescents and adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(25):3100–8.
- Motllo C, Ribera JM, Morgades M, et al. Prognostic significance of complex karyotype and monosomal karyotype in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated with risk-adapted protocols. Cancer. 2014;120(24):3958–64.
- Russell LJ, Enshaei A, Jones L, et al. IGH translocations are prevalent in teenagers and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and are associated with a poor outcome. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(14):1453–62.
- Mullighan CG, Miller CB, Radtke I, Phillips LA, Dalton J, Ma J, et al. BCR-ABL1 lymphoblastic leukaemia is characterized by the deletion of Ikaros. Nature. 2008;453(7191):110–4. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature06866.
- Tran TH, Loh ML. Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2016;1:561–6. https://doi.org/10.1182/ asheducation-2016.1.

- 24. Ge Z, Gu Y, Zhao G, Li J, Chen B, Han Q, et al. High CRLF2 expression associates with IKZF1 dysfunction in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia without CRLF2 rearrangement. Oncotarget. 2016;7(31):49722–32. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.10437.
- 25. Issa GC, Kanarjian HM, Yin CC, et al. Prognostic impact of pretreatment cytogenetics in adult Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the era of minimal residual disease. Cancer. 2017;123(3):459–67.
- 26. Trinquand A, Tanguy-Schmidt A, Ben Abdelali R, et al. Toward a NOTCH1/FBXW7/RAS/PTENbased oncogenetic risk classification of adult T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a Group for Research in Adult Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia study. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:4333–42.
- 27. Short NJ, Kantarjian HM, Ko H, Khoury JD, Ravandi F, Thomas DA, et al. Outcomes of adults with relapsed or refractory Burkitt and highgrade B-cell leukemia/lymphoma. Am J Hematol. 2017a;92(6):E114–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajh.24720.
- 28. Corazzelli G, Frigeri F, Russo F, Frairia C, Arcamone M, Esposito G, et al. RD-CODOX-M/ IVAC with rituximab and intrathecal liposomal cytarabine in adult Burkitt lymphoma and 'unclassifiable' highly aggressive B-cell lymphoma. Br J Haematol. 2012;156(2):234–44. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2011.08947.x.
- 29. Hoelzer D, Walewski J, Dohner H, Viardot A, Hiddemann W, Spiekermann K, et al. Improved outcome of adult Burkitt lymphoma/leukemia with rituximab and chemotherapy: report of a large prospective multicenter trial. Blood. 2014;124(26):3870. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-03-563627.
- Ribrag V, Koscielny S, Bosq J, Leguay T, Casasnovas O, Fornecker LM, et al. Rituximab and dose-dense chemotherapy for adults with Burkitt's lymphoma: a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10036):2402–11. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01317-3.
- Dunleavy K, Pittaluga S, Shovlin M, Steinberg SM, Cole D, Grant C, et al. Low-intensity therapy in adults with Burkitt's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(20):1915–25. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1308392.
- 32. Zayac A, Evens AM, Stadnik A, et al. Outcomes of patients with newly-diagnosed Burkitt Lymphoma (BL) and central nervous system (CNS) involvement treated in the modern era: a multi-national realworld analysis. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):402.
- 33. Huguet F, Leguay T, Raffoux E, et al. Pediatricinspired therapy in adults with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the GRAALL-2003 study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:911–8.
- 34. Kantarjian HM, O'Brien S, Smith TL, et al. Results of treatment with Hyper-CVAD, a dose-intensive

regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:547–61.

- Larson RA, Dodge RK, Burns C, et al. A five-drug remission induction regimen with intensive consolidation for adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: cancer and leukemia group B study 8811. Blood. 1995;85:2025–37.
- Linker C, Damon L, Ries C, et al. Intensified and shortened cyclical chemotherapy for adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20:2464–71.
- 37. Rytting ME, Jabbour EJ, Jorgensen JL, Ravandi F, Franklin AR, Kadia TM, et al. Final results of a single institution experience with a pediatric-based regimen, the augmented Berlin-Frankfurt-Munster, in adolescents and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia, and comparison to the hyper-CVAD regimen. Am J Hematol. 2016;91(8):819–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh. 24419.
- Kantarjian HM, Walters RS, Keating MJ, et al. Results of the vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone regimens in adults with standard- and high-risk acute lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 1990;8:994–1004.
- 39. Thomas DA, O'Brien S, Faderl S, et al. Chemoimmunotherapy with a modified hyper-CVAD and rituximab regimen improves outcome in de novo Philadelphia chromosome-negative precursor B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(24):3880–9.
- Maury S, Chevret S, Thomas X, et al. Rituximab in B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. NEJM. 2016;375(11):1044–53.
- 41. Teeling JL, French RR, Cragg MS, et al. Characterization of new human CD20 monoclonal antibodies with potent cytolytic activity against non-Hodgkin lymphomas. Blood. 2004;104(6):1793–800.
- 42. Teeling JL, Mackus WJ, Wiegman LJ, et al. The biological activity of human CD20 monoclonal antibodies is linked to unique epitopes on CD20. J Immunol. 2006;177(1):362–71.
- 43. Bazarbachi AH, Yilmaz M, Ravandi F, et al. A phase 2 study of hyper-CVAD plus ofatumumab as frontline therapy in CD20+ acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL): updated results. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(15_Suppl):7041.
- 44. Nagorsen D, Bargou R, Ruttinger D, et al. Immunotherapy of lymphoma and leukemia with T-cell engaging BiTE antibody blinotumomab. Leuk Lymphoma. 2009;50:886–91.
- Kantarjian H, Stein A, Gokbuget N, et al. Blinatumomab versus chemotherapy for advanced acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(9):836–47.
- 46. Richard-Carpentier G, Kantarjian HM, Short NJ, et al. A phase II study of the hyper-CVAD regimen in sequential combination with blinatumomab as frontline therapy for adults with B-cell

acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL). Blood. 2019b;132(Suppl_1):32.

- 47. Topp MS, Gokbuget N, Stein AS, et al. Safety and activity of blinatumomab for adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(1):57–66.
- Jabbour E, O'Brien S, Sasaki K, et al. Front-line inotuzumab ozogamicin in combination with lowintensity chemotherapy (mini-hyper-CVD) for older patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). Blood. 2015a;126(23):83.
- DeAngelo DJ, Stock W, Stein AS, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin in adulte with relapsed or refractory DC22-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a phase ½ study. Blood Adv. 2017;1(15):1167–80.
- Kantarjian H, Thomas D, Jorgensen J, et al. Results of inotuzumab ozogamicin, a CD22 monoclonal antibody, in refractory and relapsed acute lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer. 2013;119(15):2728–36.
- Kantarjian HM, DeAngelo DJ, Stelljes M, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin versus standard therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. NEJM. 2016;375(8):740–53.
- 52. Kantarjian H, Ravandi F, Short NJ, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin in combination with low-intensity chemotherapy for older patients with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19:240–8.
- Rytting ME, Jabbour EJ, O'Brien SM, Kantarjian HM. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adolescents and young adults. Cancer. 2017;123(13):2398–403. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30624.
- 54. DeAngelo DJ, Stevenson KE, Dahlberg SE, Silverman LB, Couban S, Supko JG, et al. Longterm outcome of a pediatric-inspired regimen used for adults aged 18–50 years with newly diagnosed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2015;29(3):526–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/ leu.2014.229.
- 55. Gökbuget N, Beck J, Brandt K, Brüggemann M, Burmeister T, Diedrich H, et al. Significant improvement of outcome in adolescents and young adults (AYAs) aged 15–35 years with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) with a pediatric derived adult ALL protocol: results Of 1529 AYAs in 2 consecutive trials of The German Multicenter Study Group for adult ALL (GMALL). Blood. 2013;122(21):839.
- 56. Hayakawa F, Sakura T, Yujiri T, Kondo E, Fujimaki K, Sasaki O, et al. Markedly improved outcomes and acceptable toxicity in adolescents and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia following treatment with a pediatric protocol: a phase II study by the Japan Adult Leukemia Study Group. Blood Cancer J. 2014;4:e252. https://doi.org/10.1038/bcj.2014.72.
- 57. Hough R, Rowntree C, Goulden N, Mitchell C, Moorman A, Wade R, et al. Efficacy and toxicity of a paediatric protocol in teenagers and young adults

with Philadelphia chromosome negative acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: results from UKALL 2003. Br J Haematol. 2016;172(3):439–51. https://doi. org/10.1111/bjh.13847.

- 58. Ribera JM, Oriol A, Sanz MA, Tormo M, Fernandez-Abellan P, del Potro E, et al. Comparison of the results of the treatment of adolescents and young adults with standard-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia with the Programa Espanol de Tratamiento en Hematologia pediatric-based protocol ALL-96. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(11):1843–9. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2007.13.7265.
- 59. Storring JM, Minden MD, Kao S, Gupta V, Schuh AC, Schimmer AD, et al. Treatment of adults with BCR-ABL negative acute lymphoblastic leukaemia with a modified paediatric regimen. Br J Haematol. 2009;146(1):76–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009.07712.x.
- 60. Toft N, Birgens H, Abrahamsson J, Griskevicius L, Hallbook H, Heyman M, et al. Results of NOPHO ALL2008 treatment for patients aged 1–45 years with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2018;32(3):606–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/ leu.2017.265.
- Stock W, Luger SM, Advani AS, Yin J, Harvey RC, Mullighan CG, et al. A pediatric regimen for older adolescents and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of CALGB 10403. Blood. 2019;133(14):1548–59.
- Yilmaz M, Kantarjian H, Jabbour E. Treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in older adults: now and the future. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol. 2017;15(4):266–74.
- 63. Jabbour EJ, Sasaki K, Ravandi F, Short NJ, Garcia-Manero G, Daver N, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin in combination with low-intensity chemotherapy (mini-HCVD) with or without blinatumomab versus standard intensive chemotherapy (HCVAD) as frontline therapy for older patients with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a propensity score analysis. Cancer. 2019;125(15):2579–86.
- 64. Advani AS, Moseley A, O'Dwyer KM, et al. Results of SWOG 1318: a phase 2 trial of blinatumomab followed by POMP (prednisone, vincristine, methotrexate, and 6-mercaptopurine) maintenance in elderly patients with newly diagnosed Philadelphia chromosome negative B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl_1):33.
- 65. Bassan R, Rossi G, Pogliani EM, Di Bona E, Angelucci E, Cavattoni I, et al. Chemotherapyphased imatinib pulses improve long-term outcome of adult patients with Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Northern Italy Leukemia Group protocol 09/00. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(22):3644–52. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2010.28.1287.
- 66. Chalandon Y, Thomas X, Hayette S, Cayuela JM, Abbal C, Huguet F, et al. Randomized study of reduced-intensity chemotherapy combined with

imatinib in adults with Ph-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015a;125(24):3711–9. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-02-627935.

- 67. Daver N, Thomas D, Ravandi F, Cortes J, Garris R, Jabbour E, et al. Final report of a phase II study of imatinib mesylate with hyper-CVAD for the frontline treatment of adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2015;100(5):653–61. https:// doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2014.118588.
- Druker BJ, Tamura S, Buchdunger E, Ohno S, Segal GM, Fanning S, et al. Effects of a selective inhibitor of the Abl tyrosine kinase on the growth of Bcr-Abl positive cells. Nat Med. 1996;2(5):561–6. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nm0596-561.
- Faderl S, Jeha S, Kantarjian HM. The biology and therapy of adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer. 2003;98(7):1337–54. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.11664.
- Fielding AK, Rowe JM, Buck G, Foroni L, Gerrard G, Litzow MR, et al. UKALLXII/ECOG2993: addition of imatinib to a standard treatment regimen enhances long-term outcomes in Philadelphia positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2014;123(6):843–50. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2013-09-529008.
- 71. de Labarthe A, Rousselot P, Huguet-Rigal F, Delabesse E, Witz F, Maury S, et al. Imatinib combined with induction or consolidation chemotherapy in patients with de novo Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of the GRAAPH-2003 study. Blood. 2007;109(4):1408– 13. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-03-011908.
- 72. Lee KH, Lee JH, Choi SJ, et al. Clinical effect of imatinib added to intensive combination chemotherapy for newly diagnosed Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2005;19(9):1509–16.
- 73. Lim SN, Joo YD, Lee KH, Kim DY, Lee JH, LEE JH, et al. Long-term follow-up of imatinib plus combination chemotherapy in patients with newly diagnosed Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Am J Hematol. 2015;90(11):1013– 20. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.24137.
- 74. Ottmann OG, Wassmann B, Pfeifer H, Giagounidis A, Stelljes M, Duhrsen U, et al. Imatinib compared with chemotherapy as front-line treatment of elderly patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph+ALL). Cancer. 2007;109(10):2068–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.22631.
- 75. Tanguy-Schmidt A, Rousselot P, Chalandon Y, et al. Long-term follow-up of the imatinib GRAAPH-2003 study in newly diagnosed patients with de novo Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a GRAALL study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2013;19(1):150–5.
- 76. Thomas DA, Faderl S, Cortes J, O'Brien S, Giles FJ, Kornblau SM, et al. Treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphocytic leukemia

with hyper-CVAD and imatinib mesylate. Blood. 2004;103:4396–407. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2003-08-2958.

- 77. Vignetti M, Fazi P, Cimino G, Martinelli G, Di Ramondo F, Ferrara F, et al. Imatinib plus steroids induces complete remissions and prolonged survival in elderly Philadelphia chromosome-positive patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia without additional chemotherapy: results of the Gruppo Italiano Malattie Ematologiche dell'Adulto (GIMEMA) LAL0201-B protocol. Blood. 2007;109(9):3676–8. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-10-052746.
- Wassmann B, Pfeifer H, Goekbuget N, Beelen DW, Stelljes M, Bornhauser M, et al. Alternating versus concurrent schedules of imatinib and chemotherapy as front-line therapy for Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph+ ALL). Blood. 2006;108(5):1469–77. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2005-11-4386.
- 79. Yanada M, Takeuchi J, Sugiura I, Akiyama H, Usui N, Yagasaki F, et al. High complete remission rate and promising outcome by combination of imatinib and chemotherapy for newly diagnosed BCR-ABL-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a phase II study by the Japan Adult Leukemia Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(3):460–6. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2005.03.2177.
- Ottmann OG, Larson RA, Kantarjian HM, le Coutre PD, Baccarani M, Hochhaus A, et al. Phase II study of nilotinib in patients with relapsed or refractory Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2013;27(6):1411–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.324.
- Yilmaz M, Jabbour E. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors early in the disease course: lessons from chronic myelogenous leukemia. Semin Oncol. 2015;42(6):876–86. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2015.09.030.
- Kim DY, Joo YD, Lim SN, Kim SD, Lee JH, Lee JH, et al. Nilotinib combined with multiagent chemotherapy for newly diagnosed Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;126(6):746– 56. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-03-636548.
- 83. Liu B, Wang Y, Zhou C, Wei H, Lin D, Li W, et al. Nilotinib combined with multi-agent chemotherapy in newly diagnosed Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a single-center prospective study with long-term follow-up. Ann Hematol. 2019 Mar;98(3):633–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00277-019-03594-1.
- 84. Ottmann OG, Pfeifer H, Cayuela J-M, et al. Nilotinib (Tasigna[®]) and chemotherapy for first-line treatment in elderly patients with de novo Philadelphia chromosome/BCR-ABL1 positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL): a trial of the European Working Group for Adult ALL (EWALL-PH-02) [ASH abstract 798]. Blood. 2014;124(21):798.
- 85. Ravandi F, O'Brien SM, Cortes JE, Thomas DM, Garris R, Faderl S, et al. Long-term follow-up of a phase 2 study of chemotherapy plus dasatinib for the initial treatment of patients with Philadelphia

chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer. 2015;121(23):4158–64. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.29646.

- 86. Ravandi F, Othus M, O'Brien SM, Forman SJ, Ha CS, Wong JYC, et al. US intergroup study of chemotherapy plus dasatinib and allogeneic stem cell transplant in Philadelphia chromosome positive ALL. Blood Adv. 2016;1(3):250–9. https://doi. org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2016001495.
- 87. Chiaretti S, Vitale A, Elia L, Fedullo AL, Albino S, Piciocchi A, et al. Multicenter total therapy gimema LAL 1509 protocol for de novo adult Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) patients. Updated results and refined genetic-based prognostic stratification [ASH abstract 81]. Blood. 2015;126(23):81.
- Foà R, Vitale A, Vignetti M, Meloni G, Guarini A, De Propris MS, et al. Dasatinib as first-line treatment for adult patients with Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2011;118(25):6521–8. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2011-05-351403.
- Rousselot P, Coudé MM, Gokbuget N, Gambacorti Passerini C, Hayette S, Cayuela JM, et al. Dasatinib and low-intensity chemotherapy in elderly patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive ALL. Blood. 2016;128(6):774–82. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2016-02-700153.
- Chiaretti S, Bassan R, Vitale A, Elia L, Piciocchi A, Puzzolo C, et al. Dasatinib-blinatumomab combination for the front-line treatment of adult Ph+ ALL PATIENTS. Updated results of the gimema LAL2116 D-Alba trial. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):740. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2019-128759.
- 91. Short NJ, Kantarjian H, Pui CH, Goldstone A, Jabbour E. SOHO state of the art update and next questions: Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2018;18(7):439–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clml.2018.05.015.
- 92. Yilmaz M, Kantarjian H, Ravandi-Kashani F, Short NJ, Jabbour E. Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults: current treatments and future perspectives. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol. 2018;16(3):216–23. Review
- 93. Zhou T, Commodore L, Huang WS, Wang Y, Thomas M, Keats J, et al. Structural mechanism of the PanBCR-ABL inhibitor ponatinib (AP24534): lessons for overcoming kinase inhibitor resistance. Chem Biol Drug Des. 2011;77(1):1–11. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1747-0285.2010.01054.
- 94. Short NJ, Kantarjian HM, Ravandi F, et al. Frontline hyper-CVAD plus ponatinib for patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: updated results of a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2017b;35(15_Suppl):7013.
- 95. Dorer DJ, Knickerbocker RK, Baccarani M, Cortes JE, Hochhaus A, Talpaz M, et al. Impact of dose intensity of ponatinib on selected adverse events: multivariate analyses from a pooled population of
clinical trial patients. Leuk Res. 2016;48:84–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2016.07.007.

- 96. Jabbour E, Short NJ, Ravandi F, Huang X, Daver N, DiNardo CD, et al. Combination of hyper-CVAD with ponatinib as first-line therapy for patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: long-term follow-up of a single-centre, phase 2 study. Lancet Haematol. 2018;5(12):e618–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-3026(18)30176-5.
- 97. Martinelli G, Piciocchi A, Papayannidis C, Paolini S, Robustelli V, Soverini S, et al. First report of the gimema LAL1811 phase II prospective study of the combination of steroids with ponatinib as frontline therapy of elderly or unfit patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2017;130(Suppl_1):99.
- 98. Assi R, Kantarjian H, Short NJ, Daver N, Takahashi K, Garcia-Manero G, et al. Safety and efficacy of blinatumomab in combination with a tyrosine kinase inhibitor for the treatment of relapsed Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2017;17(12):897–901.
- 99. Jain N, Roberts KG, Jabbour E, Patel K, Eterovic AK, Chen K, et al. Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a high-risk subtype in adults. Blood. 2017;129(5):572–81. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2016-07-726588.
- 100. Roberts KG, Gu Z, Payne-Turner D, McCastlain K, Harvey RC, Chen IM, et al. High frequency and poor outcome of Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(4):394–401. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2016.69.0073.
- 101. Buie LW, Epstein SS, Lindley CM. Nelarabine: a novel purine antimetabolite antineoplastic agent. Clin Ther. 2007;29:1887–99.
- 102. Gokbuget N, Basara N, Baurmann H, et al. High single-drug activity of nelarabine in relapsed T-lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma offers curative option with subsequent stem cell transplant. Blood. 2011;118:3504–11.
- Paganin M, Fernando A. Molecular pathogenesis and targeted therapies for NOTCH1-induced T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood Rev. 2011;25:83–90.
- 104. DeAngelo DJ, Yu D, Johnson JL, et al. Nelarabine induces complete remissions in adults with relapsed or refractory T-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia or lymphoblastic lymphoma: Cancer and Leukemia Group B study 19801. Blood. 2007;109:5136–42.

- 105. Abaza Y, Kantarjian HM, Faderl S, et al. Hyper-CVAD plus nelarabine in newly diagnosed adult T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia and T-lymphoblastic lymphoma. Am J Hematol. 2018;93:91–9.
- 106. Dunsmore KP, Winter S, Devidas M, et al. COG AALL0434: a randomized trial testing nelarabine in newly diagnosed t-cell malignancy. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(15_Suppl):10500. <u>https://ascopubs.org/doi/ abs/10.1200/JCO.2018.36.15_suppl.10500</u>
- 107. Bond J, Graux C, Lhermitte L, et al. Early responsebased therapy stratification improves survival in adult early precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a group for research on adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(23):2683–91.
- 108. Chonghaile TN, Roderick JE, Glenfield C, et al. Maturation stage of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia determines BCL-2 versus BCL-XL dependence and sensitivity to ABT-199. Cancer. 2014;4:1074–87.
- 109. Del Gaizo MV, Schlis KD, Sallan SE, et al. BCL-2 dependence and ABT-737 sensitivity in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2008;111:2300–9.
- Numan Y, Alfayez M, Maiti A, et al. First report of clinical response to venetoclax in early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. JCO Precis Oncol. 2018;2:1–7.
- 111. Jain N, Stevenson KE, Winer ES, et al. A multicenter phase I study combining venetoclax with mini-hyper-CVD in older adults with untreated and relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):3867.
- 112. Short N, Kantarjian H, Sasaki K, et al. Prognostic significance of day 14 bone marrow evaluation in adult patients with Philadelphia chromosomenegative ALL. Cancer. 2016;122(24):3812–20.
- 113. Dhédin N, Huynh A, Maury S, et al. Role of allogeneic stem cell transplantation in adult patients with Ph-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;125(16):2486–96.
- 114. Chalandon Y, Thomas X, Hayette S, et al. Randomized study of reduced-intensity chemotherapy combined with imatinib in adults with Ph-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015b;125(24):3711–9.
- 115. Jabbour E, O'Brien S, Konopleva M, Kantarjian H. New insights into the pathophysiology and therapy of adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer. 2015b;121(15):2517–28.



12

Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL) in Children and Adolescents

Michael Rytting

12.1 Introduction

In the pediatric population, acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is the most common cancer diagnosis [1, 2]. The incidence of ALL peaks in Caucasian males in the pre-school period and then gradually decreases. In the adolescent and young adult population, up to about 25 years of age, ALL remains an oncologic problem, but is no longer the most commonly encountered malignancy [3]. In general, about 80% of newly diagnosed leukemia patients in the pediatric population have pre-B ALL. About 15% of young patients will have T-cell ALL, and the remaining patients will be diagnosed with mature B-cell ALL. In economically developed countries, almost all pediatric and younger adolescent patients with leukemia are treated in a designated children's hospital or in a large cancer center with pediatric expertise. Since the disease is the most commonly encountered malignancy in the pediatric age group, pediatric hematologists/oncologists tend to be familiar with current protocols and clinical management of these young patients. The majority of pediatric patients with leukemia who are treated in developed countries are placed on protocol therapy, which has led to steady and significant improvements in outcome over the last four decades [1]. In the United States, disparities in outcome have varied in minority populations [4, 5]. Decreased survival rates persist in the Hispanic and African American population. Such disparities may be secondary to underlying molecular abnormalities that are just now being discovered, such as mutations in CRLF2 in Hispanic patients. On the other hand, some of the differences in outcome can still be attributed to economic factors [6]. Outcomes also vary by age, leukemic blast phenotype, leukemia cytogenetics, and presenting features such as initial white blood cell count. Classically, low-risk ALL is defined by patient age less than 10 years at diagnosis along with a white blood cell count under 50,000/µl with no central nervous system or testicular involvement. Children over age 10 years or with a white blood cell count over 50,000/µl or with T-cell phenotype ALL are defined as high-risk patients. In the last decade, response to therapy measured by minimal residual disease at set time points and cytogenetic and molecular features found in leukemic cells have been used to further define risk groups and to determine therapy.

M. Rytting (🖾) Internal Medicine/Pediatrics, Holland Hospital, Holland, MI, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_12

12.2 Workup, Diagnosis, and Initial Management

The clinical evaluation and laboratory evaluation of the suspected pediatric leukemia patient are very similar to the evaluation of an older leukemia patient. Basic laboratory studies including uric acid are drawn as well as clotting times and various immune titers. The value of HIV testing in this population, as compared to the adult population, is debatable. All pediatric patients who are suspected to have an acute leukemia and are scheduled to undergo anesthesia should have a chest X-ray to eliminate the possibility of a significant mediastinal mass. Other imaging studies can be tailored to the patient's presentation. In boys, the testicular examination is essential. In the event of abnormalities on the testicular examination, an ultrasound of the testis is warranted. An initial testicular biopsy is usually not required. Occasionally, pediatric patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia will have unusual presentations and normal initial blood counts. An isolated tumor that is diagnosed as a lymphoblastic lymphoma should always be followed up with a bone marrow evaluation, even in the setting of completely normal blood counts. An evaluation of the peripheral blood smear is invaluable. An experienced hematologist is frequently able to diagnose a leukemia before the patient undergoes procedures and anesthesia, which will allow administration of the first intrathecal therapy with the first bone marrow aspiration. While the diagnosis of ALL by peripheral blood morphology may appear certain, it is usual to wait for confirmation with flow cytometry or immunochemistry prior to declaring the diagnosis and starting therapy. The flow cytometry antigen panels used for the diagnosis of adult ALL are almost always adequate for pediatric patients. The DNA index by flow cytometry can be very helpful in pediatric cases. More and more flow cytometry markers are entering practice, such as CRLF2, and close collaboration with a hematopathologist is required to determine which antigens should be included in the evaluation of the newly diagnosed ALL patient. Various guidelines, such as those noted by the Euroflow group, provide an excellent framework for designing antigen panels for patients with suspected ALL [7].

Pediatric patients who are suspected to have leukemia should start intravenous fluids at above the maintenance rate in order to maintain good urine output. Antibiotics do not need to start immediately unless there is a fever or the patient appears infected. Many pediatric leukemia doctors do not regard the patient's presenting neutrophil count as protective in the initial treatment of these children. Pediatric patients with either clearly diagnosed circulating blasts or with multiple cytopenias are then scheduled for bone marrow evaluation. If there are clear circulating blasts, then it is routine to administer the first intrathecal chemotherapy while the patient is receiving anesthesia for the bone marrow procedure. If the patient cannot undergo anesthesia safely, as in the case of a large mediastinal mass, procedures may need to be performed with local anesthesia in an awake child. In the setting of a significant number of circulating blasts, most testing can be performed on the blood, and the initial bone marrow may be foregone. A delay in the lumbar puncture might be considered if the patient cannot undergo anesthesia and is incapable of holding still during the procedure since the initial lumbar puncture should be performed in a situation that is least likely to produce a traumatic puncture. There is some evidence that a delay in the timing of the initial lumbar puncture probably does not affect outcome significantly [8, 9]. Prior studies have indicated that introduction of circulating blasts into the spinal fluid via traumatic lumbar puncture can lower overall event-free survival rates, and this decrease is statistically significant [10]. For this reason, it is recommended that the initial lumbar puncture be performed by the most experienced practitioner available in a controlled environment where the patient is not likely to move.

As in adult patients with leukemia, children with ALL are at risk of the tumor lysis syndrome once treatment starts. Patients with particularly high white count, mainly over 200,000 cells/ μ l, may need urgent intervention to prevent complications of leukostasis [11]. The initiation of therapy with corticosteroids can rapidly decrease the

white blood cell count and is not likely to obscure the diagnosis in the first few days of treatment. Delay of therapy while waiting for diagnostic confirmation, on the other hand, can result in significant morbidity. Most patients can be successfully managed with increased intravenous fluids as well as allopurinol. In cases with very high white blood cell counts or marked organ infiltration or in the setting of impaired renal function, rasburicase may be considered to help prevent complications of tumor lysis. The vast majority of patients, however, do not require rasburicase in their initial therapy. Close monitoring of electrolytes, urine output, daily weight, and peripheral blood counts are required. Almost all patients will require transfusions during the initial part of intensive therapy.

The standard evaluation of a newly diagnosed pediatric patient with leukemia includes the above evaluation of spinal fluid and bone marrow as well as examination of peripheral blood. This basic assessment is accompanied by a rapidly expanding number of molecular and cytogenetic tests. All patients should be tested for the presence of the Philadelphia chromosome, and many institutions offer very rapid screening by fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) or polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing that is available within 24-48 h. Standard cytogenetics to determine leukemic cell ploidy have been offered for decades. Molecular testing for common translocations and deletions that can be used for risk stratification is now also standard in most patients. The distribution of important cytogenetic alterations in various age groups is described in several recent publications [12-14]. High-risk lesions become more prominent with age, while favorable cytogenetic findings are more likely to be encountered in the younger population. Particularly favorable findings such as trisomies of chromosomes 4, 10, or 17 as well as the ETV6/ RUNX1 translocation are much more common in younger patients [15–17]. Internal amplification of genetic material on chromosome 21, an unfavorable finding, is now becoming a standard test [18]. Similarly, and especially in Hispanics and children with trisomy 21, testing for CRLF2 mutations or for overexpression is recommended

Table	12.1	Standard c	vtogenetic	/molecula	r testing
			,	111010000100	

Ploidy or DNA index
t(9;22); MLL; ETV6-RUNX1; iAMP21; TCF-PBX3
Philadelphia-like kinase expression (low-density
array)
CRLF2 expression/mutation; Ikaros; TP53

[19]. See Table 12.1 for commonly requested cytogenetic and molecular testing for newly diagnosed patients.

As the above molecular and cytogenetic testing returns on each patient and prognosis changes, therapy may be adjusted in an attempt to improve outcome [20, 21]. Participation in clinical trials that specifically evaluate therapy changes in patients with both high risk and favorable risk disease features is recommended.

The response to therapy, as would be expected, is an excellent predictor of outcome in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. The Berlin-Frankfurt-Muenster (BFM) study group has emphasized the response to 7 days of prednisone therapy plus one intrathecal treatment as an indicator of prognosis even in Philadelphia chromosome positive cases [22, 23]. Recently, testing for minimal residual disease early in treatment, and particularly at the end of induction, has been shown to be the most predictive factor in forecasting prognosis of pediatric ALL patients [24-29]. Testing for MRD as early as day 8 in therapy predicts prognosis in standard risk children with pre-B ALL. European groups have tended to rely on minimal residual disease testing using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) evaluation of IGH or T-cell receptor gene rearrangements. The children's oncology group has focused on flow cytometry as the preferred method for evaluating minimal residual disease. Both methods have been shown to be feasible in cooperative group settings and accurate in predicting outcome in children [30]. Studies now are incorporating the results of minimal residual disease testing into therapy. Patients with rapid clearance of minimal residual disease are candidates for decreased intensity treatment, while patients with persistent minimal residual disease can be assigned to more intensive treatment or to treatment that investigates new agents. Interestingly, but of significant clinical import, T-cell ALL patients may have a slower clearance of minimal residual disease but still have an excellent prognosis [31, 32]. Some of the first trials to successfully incorporate minimal residual disease testing into therapy have been published by the United Kingdom Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (UKALL) consortium and the Dutch Children's Oncology Group (DCOG) consortium [20, 21, 33]. Failure to clear minimal residual disease in the bone marrow or any other site predicts a very poor prognosis, and treatment of such patients on clinical trials is paramount [27, 34, 35].

12.3 Therapy

Induction chemotherapy for newly diagnosed patients is relatively standard in developed countries. Treatment for standard-risk patients with ALL frequently consists of oral corticosteroids such as dexamethasone combined with vincristine, asparaginase, and intrathecal therapy. Anthracycline is admitted for high-risk patients in many instances. Variations to this standard induction are used in most pediatric treatment groups, and the outcomes are similar for lower and higher risk patients (Tables 12.2 and 12.3). In geographic locations with more limited resources, intensification of therapy that entails high levels of risk may not be effective in increasing survival due to treatment related mortality [40]. As noted

Table 12.2 Standard-risk B-ALL studies

		EFS	OS	
Study group	Ν	(%)	(%)	Reference
COG	5311	89	96	Devidas et al. [36]
DFCI	460	91	94	Vrooman et al. [37]
UKALL	521	94	98	Vora et al. [21]
AIEOP/ BFM	1007	94	-	Conter et al. [28]
SJCRH	258	89.7	97.7	Pui et al. [38]

AIEOP Associazione Italiana Ematologia Oncologia Pediatrica, *BFM* Berlin–Frankfurt–Munster, *COG* Children's Oncology Group, *DFCI* Dana Farber Cancer Institute, *SJCRH* St. Jude's Children's Research Hospital, *UKALL* United Kingdom Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

Ν group (%) (%) Reference COG 3154 75.3 85 Larsen et al. [39] DFCI 218 (DFCI 77 84 Vrooman high risk) et al. [37] UKALL 386 (MRD 94.7 Vora et al. low risk) [20] AIEOP/ 341 (MRD Conter et al. 86.9

EFS

DFS

89.7

[28]

[38]

Pui et al.

Table 12.3 High-risk B-ALL studies

low risk)

164

Study

BFM

SJCRH

AIEOP Associazione Italiana Ematologia Oncologia Pediatrica, *BFM* Berlin–Frankfurt–Munster, *COG* Children's Oncology Group, *DFCI* Dana Farber Cancer Institute, *SJCRH* St. Jude's Children's Research Hospital, *UKALL* United Kingdom Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia, *MRD* minimal residual disease

82

Table 12.4 T-cell studies

		EFS		
Group	Ν	(%)	DFS (%)	Reference
COG	1562	83.8	89.5	Winter
				et al. [42]
DFCI	125	75	78	Goldberg
				et al. [43]
UKALL	187	82	91	Patrick
				et al. [44]
AIEOP/BFM	464	76	81	Schrappe
				et al. [32]
SJCRH	76	78	87	Pui et al.
				[38]

AIEOP Associazione Italiana Ematologia Oncologia Pediatrica, *BFM* Berlin–Frankfurt–Munster, *COG* Children's Oncology Group, *DFCI* Dana Farber Cancer Institute, *SJCRH* St. Jude's Children's Research Hospital, *UKALL* United Kingdom Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

above, alterations to therapy based on response to induction and later phases of treatment can improve cure rate and decrease exposure to some chemotherapeutic agents for subsets of patients who have an excellent prognosis.

T-cell ALL patients are regarded as high-risk patients from the date of diagnosis. With intensification of therapy, pediatric and adolescent T-cell ALL patients have quite good outcomes (Table 12.4). The addition of nelarabine to therapy of T-cell ALL is currently being evaluated [41]. One interesting outcome from the addition of nelarabine to pediatric T-cell ALL therapy is a decrease in central nervous system relapse.

In the past, many pediatric patients with lowlevel involvement of the spinal fluid with blasts were treated with radiation therapy. The current consensus, however, has changed. At the present time, only patients with frank leukemic involvement of the spinal fluid (CNS 3) receive radiation [45]. Likewise, not all patients with testicular involvement are treated with radiation on current treatment protocols [46]. Instead, response to chemotherapy with normalization of the testicular examination can be used to determine whether patients should proceed to radiation.

12.4 Relapse

Pediatric ALL patients, as reviewed above, have excellent cure rates. Nevertheless, some patients do relapse. Isolated central nervous system relapse has been well studied in pediatric groups. In general, isolated CNS relapses that occur late in treatment are very amenable to further therapy with relatively high cure rates [47, 48]. Early central nervous system relapse and bone marrow relapse are more difficult to treat. Recently, the addition of mitoxantrone to relapse therapy has had a surprising and impressive impact on cure rates [49].

12.5 New Therapies

Patients with refractory ALL or early relapse of ALL may benefit from therapies that enlist the immune system. Antibodies that target tumor antigens have been shown to improve survival in adult patients and are entering pediatric studies. Blinatumomab, a bi-specific antibody that targets CD 19 and CD3, may improve outcomes in patients with persistent minimal residual disease [50]. Inotuzumab, an anti-CD 22 antibody, has shown activity in patients with relapsed ALL [51, 52]. At present, these antibodies are being incorporated into therapy of very high risk pediatric patients as well as into relapse regimens.

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells have been an exciting addition to therapy as well. While early in evaluation, the high therapeutic potential of CARs is evident [53]. Whether CAR T-cell therapy may be curative alone or should be followed up with transplantation is a current, unanswered question [54]. CAR T-cell therapy does have significant toxicities, including severe systemic inflammatory reactions as well as central nervous system toxicity [55]. In addition, due to B-cell aplasia that occurs after CARs, these patients often have a long-term immunodeficiency that requires immunoglobulin infusions.

12.6 Conclusion

Pediatric ALL, either of the pre-B phenotype or the T-cell phenotype, is a highly curable disease using multiagent chemotherapy regimens. Cure rates are high enough in some low-risk ALL children that therapy is now being reduced in some trials. There remain subgroups of children with ALL who have a high risk for relapse and thus with suboptimal cure rates. These very high-risk subgroups are actively sought for enrollment on clinical trials. New therapies, particularly antibodies that enlist T cells, have provided hopeful results for patients who relapse or have refractory disease.

References

- Hunger SP, Mullighan CG. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(16):1541–52.
- Siegel DA, Henley SJ, Li J, Pollack LA, Van Dyne EA, White A. Rates and trends of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia – United States, 2001–2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017;66(36):950–4.
- Barr RD, Ries LA, Lewis DR, Harlan LC, Keegan TH, Pollock BH, et al. Incidence and incidence trends of the most frequent cancers in adolescent and young adult Americans, including "nonmalignant/noninvasive" tumors. Cancer. 2016;122(7):1000–8.
- Goggins WB, Lo FF. Racial and ethnic disparities in survival of US children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: evidence from the SEER database 1988–2008. Cancer Causes Control. 2012;23(5):737–43.

- Kahn JM, Keegan TH, Tao L, Abrahao R, Bleyer A, Viny AD. Racial disparities in the survival of American children, adolescents, and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia, acute myelogenous leukemia, and Hodgkin lymphoma. Cancer. 2016;122(17):2723–30.
- Petridou ET, Sergentanis TN, Perlepe C, Papathoma P, Tsilimidos G, Kontogeorgi E, et al. Socioeconomic disparities in survival from childhood leukemia in the United States and globally: a meta-analysis. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(3):589–97.
- van Dongen JJ, Lhermitte L, Bottcher S, Almeida J, van der Velden VH, Flores-Montero J, et al. EuroFlow antibody panels for standardized n-dimensional flow cytometric immunophenotyping of normal, reactive and malignant leukocytes. Leukemia. 2012;26(9):1908–75.
- Yeh TC, Liang DC, Hou JY, Jaing TH, Lin DT, Yang CP, et al. Treatment of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia with delayed first intrathecal therapy and omission of prophylactic cranial irradiation: results of the TPOG-ALL-2002 study. Cancer. 2018;124(23):4538–47.
- Manabe A, Tsuchida M, Hanada R, Ikuta K, Toyoda Y, Okimoto Y, et al. Delay of the diagnostic lumbar puncture and intrathecal chemotherapy in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia who undergo routine corticosteroid testing: Tokyo Children's Cancer Study Group study L89-12. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19(13):3182–7.
- Burger B, Zimmermann M, Mann G, Kuhl J, Loning L, Riehm H, et al. Diagnostic cerebrospinal fluid examination in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: significance of low leukocyte counts with blasts or traumatic lumbar puncture. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(2):184–8.
- Hough R, Vora A. Crisis management in the treatment of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: putting right what can go wrong (emergency complications of disease and treatment). Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2017;2017(1):251–8.
- Roberts KG. Genetics and prognosis of ALL in children vs adults. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2018;2018(1):137–45.
- Roberts KG, Gu Z, Payne-Turner D, McCastlain K, Harvey RC, Chen IM, et al. High frequency and poor outcome of Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(4):394–401.
- Tasian SK, Loh ML, Hunger SP. Childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: integrating genomics into therapy. Cancer. 2015;121(20):3577–90.
- 15. Paulsson K, Forestier E, Andersen MK, Autio K, Barbany G, Borgstrom G, et al. High modal number and triple trisomies are highly correlated favorable factors in childhood B-cell precursor high hyperdiploid acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated according to the NOPHO ALL 1992/2000 protocols. Haematologica. 2013;98(9):1424–32.

- Sutcliffe MJ, Shuster JJ, Sather HN, Camitta BM, Pullen J, Schultz KR, et al. High concordance from independent studies by the Children's Cancer Group (CCG) and Pediatric Oncology Group (POG) associating favorable prognosis with combined trisomies 4, 10, and 17 in children with NCI Standard-Risk B-precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: a Children's Oncology Group (COG) initiative. Leukemia. 2005;19(5):734–40.
- 17. Borkhardt A, Cazzaniga G, Viehmann S, Valsecchi MG, Ludwig WD, Burci L, et al. Incidence and clinical relevance of TEL/AML1 fusion genes in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia enrolled in the German and Italian multicenter therapy trials. Associazione Italiana Ematologia Oncologia Pediatrica and the Berlin-Frankfurt-Munster Study Group. Blood. 1997;90(2):571–7.
- Harrison CJ. Blood Spotlight on iAMP21 acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), a high-risk pediatric disease. Blood. 2015;125(9):1383–6.
- Harvey RC, Mullighan CG, Chen IM, Wharton W, Mikhail FM, Carroll AJ, et al. Rearrangement of CRLF2 is associated with mutation of JAK kinases, alteration of IKZF1, Hispanic/Latino ethnicity, and a poor outcome in pediatric B-progenitor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2010;115(26):5312–21.
- 20. Vora A, Goulden N, Mitchell C, Hancock J, Hough R, Rowntree C, et al. Augmented post-remission therapy for a minimal residual disease-defined high-risk subgroup of children and young people with clinical standard-risk and intermediate-risk acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (UKALL 2003): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(8):809–18.
- Vora A, Goulden N, Wade R, Mitchell C, Hancock J, Hough R, et al. Treatment reduction for children and young adults with low-risk acute lymphoblastic leukaemia defined by minimal residual disease (UKALL 2003): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(3):199–209.
- 22. Dordelmann M, Reiter A, Borkhardt A, Ludwig WD, Gotz N, Viehmann S, et al. Prednisone response is the strongest predictor of treatment outcome in infant acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 1999;94(4):1209–17.
- 23. Schrappe M, Arico M, Harbott J, Biondi A, Zimmermann M, Conter V, et al. Philadelphia chromosome-positive (Ph+) childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: good initial steroid response allows early prediction of a favorable treatment outcome. Blood. 1998;92(8):2730–41.
- 24. Stow P, Key L, Chen X, Pan Q, Neale GA, Coustan-Smith E, et al. Clinical significance of low levels of minimal residual disease at the end of remission induction therapy in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2010;115(23):4657–63.
- 25. Borowitz MJ, Devidas M, Hunger SP, Bowman WP, Carroll AJ, Carroll WL, et al. Clinical significance of minimal residual disease in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia and its relationship to other prog-

nostic factors: a Children's Oncology Group study. Blood. 2008;111(12):5477–85.

- Borowitz MJ, Wood BL, Devidas M, Loh ML, Raetz EA, Salzer WL, et al. Prognostic significance of minimal residual disease in high risk B-ALL: a report from Children's Oncology Group study AALL0232. Blood. 2015;126(8):964–71.
- Coustan-Smith E, Sancho J, Hancock ML, Boyett JM, Behm FG, Raimondi SC, et al. Clinical importance of minimal residual disease in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2000;96(8):2691–6.
- Conter V, Bartram CR, Valsecchi MG, Schrauder A, Panzer-Grumayer R, Moricke A, et al. Molecular response to treatment redefines all prognostic factors in children and adolescents with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results in 3184 patients of the AIEOP-BFM ALL 2000 study. Blood. 2010;115(16):3206–14.
- Panzer-Grumayer ER, Schneider M, Panzer S, Fasching K, Gadner H. Rapid molecular response during early induction chemotherapy predicts a good outcome in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2000;95(3):790–4.
- 30. Malec M, van der Velden VH, Bjorklund E, Wijkhuijs JM, Soderhall S, Mazur J, et al. Analysis of minimal residual disease in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: comparison between RQ-PCR analysis of Ig/TcR gene rearrangements and multicolor flow cytometric immunophenotyping. Leukemia. 2004;18(10):1630–6.
- 31. Nyvold C, Madsen HO, Ryder LP, Seyfarth J, Svejgaard A, Clausen N, et al. Precise quantification of minimal residual disease at day 29 allows identification of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and an excellent outcome. Blood. 2002;99(4):1253–8.
- 32. Schrappe M, Valsecchi MG, Bartram CR, Schrauder A, Panzer-Grumayer R, Moricke A, et al. Late MRD response determines relapse risk overall and in subsets of childhood T-cell ALL: results of the AIEOP-BFM-ALL 2000 study. Blood. 2011;118(8):2077–84.
- 33. Pieters R, de Groot-Kruseman H, Van der Velden V, Fiocco M, van den Berg H, de Bont E, et al. Successful therapy reduction and intensification for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia based on minimal residual disease monitoring: study ALL10 from the Dutch Childhood Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(22):2591–601.
- 34. de Haas V, Oosten L, Dee R, Verhagen OJ, Kroes W, van den Berg H, et al. Minimal residual disease studies are beneficial in the follow-up of TEL/AML1 patients with B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2000;111(4):1080–6.
- 35. Eckert C, Hagedorn N, Sramkova L, Mann G, Panzer-Grumayer R, Peters C, et al. Monitoring minimal residual disease in children with high-risk relapses of acute lymphoblastic leukemia: prognostic relevance of early and late assessment. Leukemia. 2015;29(8):1648–55.
- Devidas M, Mattano LA, Friedmann AM, Buckley P, Borowitz MJ, Carroll AJ, et al. Excellent Event Free

(EFS) and Overall Survival (OS) for children with Standard Risk Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (SR ALL) despite the absence of a significant impact on outcome with the addition of an intensified consolidation: results of Children's Oncology Group (COG) AALL0331. Blood. 2013;122(21):837.

- Vrooman LM, Blonquist TM, Harris MH, Stevenson KE, Place AE, Hunt SK, et al. Refining risk classification in childhood B acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of DFCI ALL Consortium Protocol 05-001. Blood Adv. 2018;2(12):1449–58.
- Pui CH, Campana D, Pei D, Bowman WP, Sandlund JT, Kaste SC, et al. Treating childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia without cranial irradiation. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(26):2730–41.
- 39. Larsen EC, Devidas M, Chen S, Salzer WL, Raetz EA, Loh ML, et al. Dexamethasone and high-dose methotrexate improve outcome for children and young adults with high-risk B-acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from Children's Oncology Group study AALL0232. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(20):2380–8.
- Navarrete M, Rossi E, Brivio E, Carrillo JM, Bonilla M, Vasquez R, et al. Treatment of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia in central America: a lowermiddle income countries experience. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(5):803–9.
- 41. Winter SS, Dunsmore KP, Devidas M, Eisenberg N, Asselin BL, Wood BL, et al. Safe integration of nelarabine into intensive chemotherapy in newly diagnosed T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Children's Oncology Group study AALL0434. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2015;62(7):1176–83.
- 42. Winter SS, Dunsmore KP, Devidas M, Wood BL, Esiashvili N, Chen Z, et al. Improved survival for children and young adults with T-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results from the Children's Oncology Group AALL0434 methotrexate randomization. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(29):2926–34.
- 43. Goldberg JM, Silverman LB, Levy DE, Dalton VK, Gelber RD, Lehmann L, et al. Childhood T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute acute lymphoblastic leukemia consortium experience. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(19):3616–22.
- 44. Patrick K, Wade R, Goulden N, Mitchell C, Moorman AV, Rowntree C, et al. Outcome for children and young people with Early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia treated on a contemporary protocol, UKALL 2003. Br J Haematol. 2014;166(3):421–4.
- 45. Vora A, Andreano A, Pui CH, Hunger SP, Schrappe M, Moericke A, et al. Influence of cranial radiotherapy on outcome in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated with contemporary therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(9):919–26.
- 46. Hijiya N, Liu W, Sandlund JT, Jeha S, Razzouk BI, Ribeiro RC, et al. Overt testicular disease at diagnosis of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: lack of therapeutic role of local irradiation. Leukemia. 2005;19(8):1399–403.
- 47. Ritchey AK, Pollock BH, Lauer SJ, Andejeski Y, Barredo J, Buchanan GR. Improved survival of chil-

dren with isolated CNS relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a pediatric oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(12):3745–52.

- 48. Barredo JC, Devidas M, Lauer SJ, Billett A, Marymont M, Pullen J, et al. Isolated CNS relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated with intensive systemic chemotherapy and delayed CNS radiation: a pediatric oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(19):3142–9.
- 49. Parker C, Waters R, Leighton C, Hancock J, Sutton R, Moorman AV, et al. Effect of mitoxantrone on outcome of children with first relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL R3): an open-label randomised trial. Lancet. 2010;376(9757):2009–17.
- 50. von Stackelberg A, Locatelli F, Zugmaier G, Handgretinger R, Trippett TM, Rizzari C, et al. Phase I/phase II study of blinatumomab in pediatric patients with relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(36):4381–9.
- Kantarjian HM, DeAngelo DJ, Stelljes M, Martinelli G, Liedtke M, Stock W, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin versus standard therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(8):740–53.

- 52. Rytting M, Triche L, Thomas D, O'Brien S, Kantarjian H. Initial experience with CMC-544 (inotuzumab ozogamicin) in pediatric patients with relapsed B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(2):369–72.
- Maude SL, Teachey DT, Porter DL, Grupp SA. CD19-targeted chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;125(26):4017–23.
- 54. Kansagra AJ, Frey NV, Bar M, Laetsch TW, Carpenter PA, Savani BN, et al. Clinical utilization of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-cells (CAR-T) in B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL)-an expert opinion from the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) and the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (ASBMT). Bone Marrow Transplant. 2019;54(11):1868–80.
- 55. Lee DW, Santomasso BD, Locke FL, Ghobadi A, Turtle CJ, Brudno JN, et al. ASTCT consensus grading for cytokine release syndrome and neurologic toxicity associated with immune effector cells. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2019;25(4):625–38.



Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation (HCT) for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL)

13

Limei Michelle Poon and Partow Kebriaei

13.1 Introduction

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is a malignant neoplasm derived from T or B lymphoid precursors. While there have been marked advances in the treatment and outcomes of children with a 5-year survival at more than 90%, therapeutic progress of adult ALL has until recently, remained inferior, with only 30-40% of patients achieving long-term leukemia-free survival [1-3]. Outcomes of patients with relapsed, refractory ALL has been dismal, with poor responses to salvage chemotherapy (40-45%) complete remission (CR) rates) and guarded overall survival (OS) of <10% [4-7]. Treatmentrelated toxicities of salvage chemotherapy in this setting are common and may cause organ-related toxicities which preclude allogeneic transplantation. Together with the potent antileukemic activity of alloHCT in ALL, this has led to a compelling argument to consider alloHCT in CR1, even among standard risk patients, despite the acute and long-term toxicities.

In the recent decade, however, there have been significant advances in the field of ALL. In addi-

L. M. Poon

P. Kebriaei (🖂)

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_13

tion to the development of minimal residual disease (MRD) monitoring strategies and oncogenomics which has revolutionized prognostication for ALL, the use of pediatric-type regimens for ALL as well as the advent of novel therapeutic agents which have been incorporated in both the upfront and salvage setting has improved outcomes for adult ALL patients. Importantly, however, accessibility of alloHCT has also improved with the development of novel conditioning regimens and increasing experience with the use of alternative donor transplantation. This has led to a difficult conundrum as to which ALL patients would benefit from alloHCT in CR1.

In this chapter, we aim to re-examine the role of alloHCT for adult Ph-positive and -negative patients in CR1 in the era of key advances, including MRD, pediatric-based ALL treatment protocol, oncogenomics, and novel therapeutic agents. We also explore the latest updates in the field of alloHCT for ALL, including the use of alternative donors and the development of reduced intensity conditioning regimens and their impact on the ALL treatment paradigm.

Department of Hematology Oncology, National University Health System, National Cancer Institute Singapore, Singapore

MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: pkebriae@mdanderson.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

13.2 AlloHCT in CR1 for Ph-Negative ALL

13.2.1 Historical Data

In the pre-MRD era, conventional prognostic factors have included age (>35-40 years), white blood cell (WBC) count in relation to B subtype, immunophenotype, cytogenetics, and time to complete remission (CR) [8,9] (see Table 13.1A). These conventional risk factors have been used in several large prospective studies, looking at the role of alloHCT based on genetic randomization. Despite differences in study design and factors used for risk stratification, several of these early studies have shown benefit of allogeneic transplantation in high-risk patients. In the French LALA 94 trial [2], patients with high-risk disease, who had achieved a CR and had a matched related donor (MSD), were assigned to alloHCT, while those with no donors were assigned to chemotherapy alone or autologous transplantation (autoHCT). In an intention to treat analysis, highrisk patients who had a donor were found to have a significant survival advantage compared to the no-donor group (5-year leukemia-free survival 45% vs. 23%). Similarly, in the GOELALA02 trial [10], which compared alloHCT to autoHCT for high-risk ALL patients, the 6-year OS was significantly improved in the alloHCT arm 75% versus 40% after autoHCT, p = 0.0027.

Among patients with standard-risk ALL, recent studies have also suggested a benefit for alloHCT. In the UKALL XIIMRC/ ECOG2993 trial [11], which was the largest study for ALL alloHCT based on "genetic randomization," standard-risk Ph-negative ALL patients in the donor arm had a statistical benefit in OS compared to the no-donor group (53% vs. 45% respectively, p < 0.05). Similar findings were seen in the HOVON-18/37 trial [12] which allocated standard- and high-risk patients with MSD to alloHCT and those without to auto-HCT. Disease-free survival at 5 years in the donor group was improved compared to the no-donor group (60% vs. 42%, p < 0.05), but these improved outcomes were most pro-

 Table 13.1
 Prognostic factors for ALL

(A) Traditional risk fac	tors for ALL
Age	Higher risks associated with
	older age groups
	While there is no clear
	definitive age cutoff, age
	>35–40 years is normally used
	to delineate between standard
	and high risk groups
Cytogenetics	Good risk cytogenetics:
	 Hyperdiploidy (51–65
	chromosomes)
	• t(12;21)(p13;q22)
	Poor risk cytogenetics:
	• t(v;11q23) (MLL
	rearrangement) or
	t(4:11)/MLL-AF4
	• t(9;22)(q34;q11.2)
	• Low hypodiploidy (<40
	chromosomes) or
	near-tetraploidy (>80
	Complex autogenetics
	Complex cytogenetics (>5 chromosomal
	(25 chromosoniai abnormalities)
WDC accurate	
wBC counts	B-ALL: WBC $\geq 30 \times 10^{9}/L$
	I-ALL: WBC $\geq 100 \times 107$ L
Disease response	Induction failure defined as
	failure to achieve complete
	remission within 4 weeks of
	Induction treatment
(B) Novel risk factors f	or ALL
Immunophenotyping	Good prognostic marker:
	• Cortical I phenotype
	(CD1a positive)
	• Forly T proguesor ALL
	(Prognostic significance
	appears to be dependent
	on treatment protocol)
Oncogenetics	IKAROS deletions in
oncogenetics	B-ALI
	Absence of NOTCH1/
	FBXW7 mutation and/
	or the presence of
	N/K-RAS mutation and/
	or PTEN alteration in T
	ALL
	Ph-like B-ALL
Novel cytogenetic	Intrachromosomal
subgroup	amplification of chromosome
- I	21 (iAMP21) in B-ALL
Minimal residual	• MRD > 10^{-3} post
disease	induction
disease	induction • MRD detectable post
Novel cytogenetic subgroup Minimal residual	Ph-like B-ALL Intrachromosomal amplification of chromosome 21 (iAMP21) in B-ALL MRD > 10 ⁻³ post

nounced in the standard-risk compared to the high-risk group.

Of note, even among the trials which could not demonstrate overall survival benefit for the alloHCT group (e.g., in the high-risk group within the MRC/ECOG population) [11, 13], careful review of the data showed that the relapse rates in the alloHCT arms were consistently lower compared to the chemotherapy or auto-HCT arm, suggesting that the conflicting results were due to the high non-relapse mortality of alloHCT, abrogating the overall survival benefits rather than the lack of efficacy of the graft versus leukemia effect.

Overall, the results of these trials provide the initial rationale for consideration of alloHCT in the first-line treatment of ALL. Given that nonrelapse mortality remains a significant concern with alloHCT, there remains a clear need for refinement of the selection criteria for alloHCT in order to identify specific subpopulations who would benefit most from alloHCT. This has been made possible in recent times due to increasing trials reviewing the significance of MRD and advances in the genomics field in ALL.

13.2.2 Role for AlloHCT for ALL in CR1 Following Current Advances in the Field

13.2.2.1 Minimal Residual Disease and Impact on AlloHCT in CR1

Minimal residual disease refers to a level of disease that is undetectable by morphological studies and is not associated with symptomatic disease. Methods of MRD monitoring for ALL include multiparameter flow cytometry, real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), and in recent years, next-generation sequencing. Using these methods, residual disease can be diagnosed with a sensitivity of up to 0.001% (10^{-5}) .

In adults, despite the use of different methods of MRD quantification and different chemotherapy regimens, several large cooperative groups including the German Multicenter Study Group

for Adult ALL (GMALL), UK MRC group, the North Italy Leukemia group (NILG), and the Spanish PETHEMA group (Programa para el Estudio de la Terapéutica en Hemopatía Maligna) [14–16] have shown that early MRD response (in the context of intensive pediatric inspired regimens) is highly prognostic and predictive for relapse. In addition, in recent years, results of MRD assessment have been incorporated into the risk stratification for Ph-negative ALL in many of these cooperative groups, allowing identification of standard-risk patients who would benefit from alloHCT and high-risk patients (based on conventional criteria) for whom alloHCT might be avoided. In one of the first prospective studies using MRD for decisions regarding alloHCT, Bassan et al. measured MRD at weeks 10, 16, and 22 using real-time quantitative PCR in Ph-negative patients (excluding MLL-positive patients). Allogeneic transplant was omitted in patients who had no MRD detectable, even if they had conventional high-risk factors. MRD level was found to be the most important prognostic factor for LFS (72% for MRD-negative patients vs. 14% for MRD-positive patients at 5 years, p = 0.001). Similarly, the PETHEMA group showed that high-risk patients (based on pretreatment conventional high-risk characteristics) with rapid MRD clearance could be treated with chemotherapy alone, with 5-year DFS and OS of 55% and 59% in this patient population. Of note, in both the studies, MRD clearance was found to be the most significant prognostic factor for OS and duration of CR, as compared to conventional risk factors.

As a result of these consistent findings of the prognostic significance of MRD, the European Working Group for Adult Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (EWALL) and the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) jointly issued a recommendation supporting the persistence of MRD as the strongest predictor of relapse, trumping conventional risk factors, especially in patients treated with intensive pediatric-like regimens [17]. Based on this guideline, alloHCT was recommended in CR1 for patients with MRD >1:10⁻³ post induction and detectable

post consolidation. In contrast, in patients with conventional risk factors who achieved MRD negativity, the use of alloHCT in CR1 may not be required.

There remains however a number of unanswered questions with regard to MRD status and the optimal strategy for alloHCT. First, it is unclear whether the achievement of an MRDnegative state should be the goal for all patients. While achieving MRD negativity is associated with best outcomes, the additional treatment to try to render patients into a minimal disease-free state has historically been associated with infectious complications or organ toxicities that might preclude transplantation or increase treatmentrelated mortality (TRM) and offset the potential benefits of improved disease control. In recent years, studies have shown that the use of blinatumomab, a bispecific T cell-engager antibody construct that directs T cells to CD19 cells, has allowed a majority of patients (78% of evaluable patients) with persistent residual disease to achieve MRD negativity with acceptable toxicity [18]. This has led to the FDA approval of blinatumomab for patients with MRD of >0.1% or greater in the first or second CR and suggests blinatumomab as a feasible option for rendering patients MRD-negative prior to transplantation. The efficacy of blinatumomab in eradicating MRD has led to a second treatment controversy, about the role for alloHCT for patients who fail MRD timepoints but who are rendered into MRD negativity by blinatumomab. The currently published trials are probably not powered or designed to answer these questions, and more prospective studies are needed to address these pertinent clinical conundrums.

13.2.2.2 Novel High-Risk ALL Subtypes Based on Immunophenotype, Molecular Markers, and Significance

Apart from the use of MRD for risk prognostication, a number of novel high-risk ALL subtypes based on immunophenotype, molecular markers, and cytogenetics have been identified in recent years (Table 13.1B). These include (1) Ph-like ALL, (2) B-ALL associated with intrachromosomal Amplification of Chromosome 21 (iAMP21), (3) early T-precursor ALL, and (4) T-ALL associated with N/K *RAS* gene mutation or *PTEN* gene alterations.

Ph-like ALL has a gene expression profile similar to Ph-positive ALL, but without the BCR-ABL fusion gene. First described by the Children's Oncology group and the St Judes children's hospital [19], as well as den Boer et al. from the Netherlands [20], this entity has been identified as a new provisional entity in the WHO 2016, based on defined gene expression profile and not by a single molecular aberration. Apart from the various genomic alterations that activate kinase and cytokine receptor signaling, such as the overexpression of cytokine receptor-like factor 2 (CRLF2), JAK/STAT signaling, and fusions involving JAK2, ABL1, ABL2, and many other tyrosine kinases, this entity is also associated with a high frequency of deletions of the IKZF1 which encodes IKAROS, the lymphoid transcription factor. Clinically, Ph-like ALL has been associated with high non-response and relapse rates, as well as poor long-term survival in both children and adults. The prognostic significance of Ph-like ALL in relation to conventional risk factors and novel prognostic markers such as early MRD responses has been a key question. Several pediatric studies, including a large study from the St Judes group, have suggested that the adverse prognostic impact of Ph-like ALL appeared to be eliminated by MRD-based treatment stratification [21], suggesting that an MRDbased treatment strategy alone may be sufficient to guide transplant decisions. In adults, there has been limited studies. The GRAALL group reviewed the prognostic significance of conventional and new risk factors including MRD and oncogenetics in 423 adult patients enrolled in their two pediatric-inspired trials (GRAALL-2003 and GRAALL-2005) [22]. ALL high-risk genetic subsets assessed in this study included IKAROS gene deletion for B-ALL, while a high-risk profile which included the absence of NOTCH1/ FBXW7 mutation and/or the presence of N/K-RAS mutation and/or PTEN alteration was used for T-ALL patients. In this study, with the use of more intensive pediatric-like protocol, most conventional risk factors with the sole exception of the MLL rearrangement lost prognostic significance. In contrast, novel prognostic markers including high-risk genetics and poor MRD response showed statistical independence on multivariate analysis in predicting relapse. For adults with Ph-like ALL, the GMALL, HOVON, MD Anderson group, and St Judes group [23–26] have looked at the prognostic significance of this entity with adult patients. While Ph-like ALL was associated with poor MRD responses, and inferior DFS and OS in these studies, the limited patients in these studies and heterogeneity of treatment protocols used make it difficult to tell if the Ph-like subtypes and MRD response had independent prognostic significance.

iAMP21 defines a distinct cytogenetic subgroup of childhood B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia, associated with the finding of three or more extra copies of RUNX1 on a single abnormal chromosome 21. It comprises about 2% of all childhood B-ALL, while being extremely rare in adults. iAMP21 has been associated with poor EFS and higher risks of relapse, especially when patients are treated on standard risks arms [27, 28]. In contrast, when these patients are treated on high-risk arms, findings from the Children Oncology group trials [28] as well as from results from the International Childhood ALL Working Group (Ponte di Legno group) [29] and UK ALL-2003 [30] studies demonstrate that highly statistically significant improvements in EFS, OS, and relapse rates have been noted. The role of MRD for iAMP21 patients remains unclear, with conflicting results between the different studies, largely due to the different treatment strategies in the studies [28, 31]. Nevertheless, both the children Oncology and UK groups agree that these patients should be treated on the high-risk arms of the protocols. Allogenic transplantation should be considered in the upfront setting for these patients.

Early T-precursor ALL (ETP ALL) is a leukemia derived from thymic cells at the early T-precursor differentiation stage and appears to have multilineage pleuripotency [32]. In the WHO 2016, ETP ALL is a novel provisional entity, defined based on immunophenotype, with immature T-cell markers as well as positivity for one or more of the myeloid/stem cell markers [33]. ETP ALL appears to have differing prognostic significance depending on the treatment provided. The use of pediatric, response-based protocols appeared to abrogate the poor prognosis of ETP ALL in pediatric, adolescent, and young adult (AYA) patients, as seen by the results from the Children's Oncology Group and Medical Research Council Working Party on Leukaemia in Children UK National Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia 2003 study [34]. In contrast, outcomes of adult ETP patients appear to be poor especially if treated with an adult protocol. The MD Anderson reported their results treating ETP ALL (n = 19) with HyperCVAD, an adult-type chemotherapy protocol and showed poorer outcomes compared to patients with other T-ALL subtypes [35]. Importantly, however, in the largest report of uniformly diagnosed and treated adults with ETP ALL, the GRAALL group showed that risk stratification and therapy intensification with alloHCT based on early treatment response appeared to negate the poor risks of ETP ALL, leading to similar outcomes compared to other T-ALL subtypes [36].

Currently while we recognize these unique and novel ALL subtypes which are associated with adverse prognosis, it remains unclear if all patients should be offered alloHCT, independent of the treatment regimen or MRD response. More studies in this field are needed to help us to better determine the optimal management of this ALL subtype and whether there is a role for upfront allogeneic transplantation vs. using a pediatric protocol with MRD-guided therapy in these disease entities.

13.3 AlloHCT Beyond CR1

13.3.1 Pre-Novel Agent Era

The outcome of patients with relapsed refractory ALL has been historically poor as demonstrated by several multicenter trials which have shown that complete remission rates to salvage therapy usually range from 40% to 45% with overall survival rates of less than 10% [4-6, 14]. These studies have also confirmed that alloHCT offers the best chances for potential cure for patients in CR2. In data from one of the largest studies, the UKALLXII/ECOG2993 trial, patients with relapsed disease had a 5-year survival of 15-23% following alloHCT (with outcomes depending on the donor type) which was markedly improved compared to chemotherapy alone (4%) (p < 0.05). The GMALL group reported outcomes of 547 ALL patients following relapse. Patients who managed to proceed to alloHCT had a 3-year OS of 38% while none of the non-transplantation patients had long-term remission. Similar findings were also reported by the French LALA and Spanish PETHEMA groups.

The poor outcomes for patients with relapsed/ refractory disease largely results from the difficulty in attaining a second remission, and the TRM related to salvage therapy, which may be as high as 20% in some studies [37, 38]. Given these risks, some have argued for a potential role for immediate alloHCT for patients with low tumor burden and immediate donor availability. The data on this practice has been conflicting. In one of the largest studies addressing this issue, Terwey et al. showed a 5-year OS rate of 47% in 19 patients with relapsed or refractory disease who received an alloHCT without prior reinduction chemotherapy [39]. These encouraging results were in contrast to the group that had received prior reinduction chemotherapy where the 5-year OS was 18% [39]. These findings have however not been reproduced in other studies which suggest that alloHCT in CR2 is associated with better outcomes compared to alloHCT in active disease [40, 41]. In recent years, the EBMT has developed a prognostic score for ALL patients transplanted with refractory disease following two courses of chemotherapy [42]. Use of TBI and use of female donors for male recipients were associated with improved outcomes, and patients without these factors had an OS of 8% compared to 22% and 57% in those with 1 or 2 factors, respectively. While these studies suggest that there are selected refractory patients who might benefit from transplantation without further salvage therapy, with the advent of novel therapeutic agents with high response rates and MRD negativity, the paradigm has shifted away from immediate alloHCT for patients with refractory disease.

13.4 Role of AlloHCT Beyond CR1 in the Era of Novel Salvage Regimens

After many decades of limited progress of new drugs, in recent years, there has been a number of major advances which has significantly reshaped the treatment landscape for relapsed refractory ALL. In the last 5 years, three novel agents, including inotuzumab, an anti-CD22 monoclonal antibody linked to calicheamicin, blinatumomab (discussed above), a CD3-CD19 bispecific antibody construct, and tisagenlecleucel, a CD19-directed genetically modified autologous T-cell immunotherapy, has been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration as ALL salvage therapies.

Inotuzumab was approved for the treatment for ALL following results from the INO-VATE trial, a randomized controlled trial (RCT) comparing inotuzumab against physician's choice (Standard of care [SOC]) for the first- or secondline salvage for relapsed-refractory ALL [43]. Responses were significantly higher in the inotuzumab group (CR rates 81% vs. 29% for SOC, p < 0.001). Among the responders, MRDnegativity rates were also markedly better in the inotuzumab group (78% vs. 28%, p < 0.001). Despite these impressive responses, however, the median PFS and OS were short lived in both groups (median PFS 5 months vs. 1.8 months, p < 0.001, and median OS 7.7 vs. 6.7 months, p = 0.02), and alloHCT was still needed to consolidate clinical responses. Importantly, however, the use of inotuzumab has been found to be associated with hepatotoxicity including venoocclusive disease (VOD) in patients undergoing alloHCT, especially in patients receiving two alkylating agents or who underwent transplantation with bilirubin levels which were higher than the upper limit of normal [44]. These findings are

a stark reminder that novel agents may impact on alloHCT outcomes and that understanding of drug toxicities, careful selection of preparative regimens, and avoidance of other concomitant hepatotoxic drugs need to be considered to reduce post-transplantation toxicities. Blinatumomab has also been compared to SOC in a phase 3 RCT (the Tower study) in patients with relapsedrefractory ALL. Of the 405 randomized patients, the overall response rates were higher in the blinatumomab compared to the SOC arm (45% vs. 30%, p = 0.007) [45]. Among the responders, MRD-negative rates were also higher in the blinatumomab arm (75% vs. 48%). Blinatumomab also showed prolonged median survival of 7.7 months compared to SOC 4.0 months for all patients, and with best results seen when blinatumomab was used in first-line salvage (11.1 months vs. 5.5 months for SOC). Despite these impressive results, alloHCT appears to still be needed for prolonged disease remission.

While the high rates of MRD negativity associated with the use of single-agent blinatumomab and inotuzumab have helped disease control and PFS, the remission durations remain short, and alloHCT has remained relevant and important for prolonged disease-free survival. The development of chimeric antigen receptor T cells however may change this treatment paradigm.

Currently, there are more than 240 trials of CAR-T cells worldwide. To date, however, only one CD19 CAR-T cells from Novartis targeting CR19 antigen on B cells, tisagenlecleucel, has been approved for treatment of ALL (a second CD19-directed CAR-T-cell product, axicabtagene, is commercially available for patients with relapsed/refractory large B-cell lymphoma). With response rates of more than 80% among relapsedrefractory ALL patients treated with the CD19 CAR-T, there is a significant potential of this treatment. However, before this treatment can be applied broadly worldwide, clear guidelines to manage the potentially fatal complications such as cytokine release syndrome and neurotoxicity associated with this treatment are crucial. More work is required to ensure reproducibility and feasibility of central manufacture and to over-

come the prohibitive costs of this therapy. In addition, whether CAR-T will obviate the need for alloHCT will likely also depend on the persistence of these cells. The persistence of CAR-T cells appears to depend on the costimulatory domain. Tisagenlecleucel, for example, contains the 4-1BB domain, which seems to improve the persistence of the CAR-T cells through amelioration of T-cell exhaustion. In the phase 2 global studies of tisagenlecleucel in relapsed-refractory ALL, the median persistence of the cells was 168 days at data cutoff, with ongoing persistence for as long as 20 months. In addition, despite only 9% of patients in this high-risk population undergoing alloHCT, the relapse-free survival was an impressive 80% at 6 months and 59% at 12 months. In contrast, in a phase 1 study of axicabtagene (which contains a CD28 costimulatory domain) involving 21 pediatrics and young ALL patients, CAR-T cells were not detected beyond 68 days; therefore, axicabtagene was used as a bridge to alloHCT rather than as the sole treatment [46].

More data and results from the ongoing clinical trials are necessary to determine the optimal patient population, sequence in treatment, and optimal role of these agents in ALL treatment. For now, alloHCT continues to retain relevance in the management of patients with ALL beyond CR1. It is plausible however that with increasing understanding of these different treatment modalities and rational combination between them in both the first- and second-line setting, these may eventually obviate the need for alloHCT for adult ALL patients.

13.5 Optimal Conditioning and Donor Selection for AlloHCT for ALL

From the data discussed above, it is evident that alloHCT remains a crucial modality in the treatment armamentarium for ALL and provides the best chances for long-term disease control in specific patient populations. Advances in reduced intensity conditioning regimens and use of alternative donor alloHCTs have helped increase the accessibility of alloHCT to patients who might benefit most from it.

13.5.1 Choice of Myeloablative Conditioning

Myeloablative (MA) conditioning for ALL has traditionally included total body irradiation (TBI) or busulfan. Despite the lack of randomized studies, TBI was generally preferred historically due to its ability to eradicate leukemia cells in sanctuary sites, usually in combination with cyclophosphamide or etoposide. In many centers, however, there has been a shift toward using TBI-free myeloablative regimens due to the concerns of the long-term complications of TBI such as infertility, cardiovascular complications, as well as secondary malignancies. Busulfan and thiotepa have been the backbone of these conditioning regimens due to their ability to cross the blood-brain barrier. In a large retrospective analysis by the CIBMTR, Kebriaei et al. compared the outcomes of 819 patients who received an MA conditioning with TBI and cyclophosphamide or etoposide with those in 299 patients treated with i.v. busulfan combined with cyclophosphamide, fludarabine, clofarabine, or melphalan [47]. Despite a higher relapse rates compared to TBI-based conditioning (relative risk, 1.46; 95% confidence interval, 1.15–1.85; *p* = 0.002), there was an equivalent 3-year disease-free survival (Bu 45% vs. TBI 48%, p = 0.35) and OS (Bu 57% vs. TBI 53%, *p* = 0.35). Similarly, the EBMT recently performed a matched pair analysis [48] and found that thiotepa-based conditioning was associated with higher relapse rates compared to TBI conditioning but with equivalent 2-year PFS and OS. The encouraging disease-free and overall survival in these studies and the acceptable toxicity profiles support the use of busulfan- and thiotepa-based conditioning as viable alternatives to TBI-based regimens.

13.5.2 Choice of Reduced Intensity Conditioning (RIC)

RIC has allowed alloHCT to be accessible to older patients as well as patients with comorbidities which would preclude an MA alloHCT. The optimal RIC regimen as yet remains unclear, with mainly phase 2 studies reported from various centers, and there has not been one regimen which has been proven to be superior [49–52]. Observational retrospective studies from the databases of the EBMT and CIBMTR [53, 54] have demonstrated the feasibility and efficacy of RIC for ALL but have also suggested that the benefits of RIC are best seen in those transplanted in CR1 compared to those transplanted beyond CR1 (51% vs. 33% in the EBMT group and 45% vs. 28% in CIBMTR study). Among patients treated in CR1, results from the prospective UK NCRI UKALL14 study suggested that MRD positivity after induction was associated with significantly lower 2-year OS, EFS, and a higher risk of relapse (40.6%, 28.4%, and 57.2% respectively) [55]. These findings suggest that for patients with CR2 and beyond or those with persistent MRD post induction, outcomes of RIC alloHCT remains suboptimal, and the use of reduced toxicity, MA conditioning regimens, or post-transplant measures should still be considered to reduce risks of relapse.

13.5.3 Donor Choice

Given that a significant proportion of patients who need a transplant do not have a sibling donor, alternative donors including matched unrelated (MUD), cord blood, and haploidentical donors have been investigated. A recent EBMT report which looked at donor types in adults with ALL transplanted between the years 2010–2012 and 2001–2003 [56] showed an increase in unrelated donor transplants, accounting for the majority of all transplants in 2010–2012 (52%) followed by matched related donors (5%).

13.5.4 MUD Transplants

Several studies have confirmed that results from MSD and MUD transplants are comparable. These include (1) Studies from Germany and Sweden that showed no differences in DFS in patients with high-risk ALL that underwent MSD vs. MUD transplants (42% vs. 45% at 5 years for patients in CR1) [57] (2) Japanese registry data that showed similar OS between MSD vs. MUD transplants (65% vs. 62% at 4 years, p = 0.19) and (3) a recent registry study from the CIBMTR in 672 ALL patients which showed no differences in leukemia-free survival between MUD and MSD transplants [58]. While MSD and MUD transplants are currently preferred options for alloHCT for ALL patients, there remains a significant minority of patients who lack a HLAmatched donor and for whom alternative approaches are required. These alternatives include cord blood (UCBT) and haploidentical transplants.

13.5.5 Haploidentical Transplants

Haploidentical transplants involve the use of mismatched related donors including siblings, children, or parents. There has been an increased use of haploidentical transplants (over the use of UCBT) likely due to the introduction of posttransplant cyclophosphamide immunosuppressive protocols which allows for these transplants to be done without costly ex-vivo T-cell depletion [59]. The EBMT recently reviewed the outcomes of haploidentical transplants in 208 patients with ALL transplanted between 2007 and 2014 [60]. In this series, patients transplanted in CR1 (N = 91) had a 3-year OS of 52%, which was comparable to the results of MSD and MUD transplants, while patients transplanted with active disease had poor outcomes, with an OS of 5% at 3 years. Similar findings were found in a recent multicenter retrospective study by Srour et al. [61], where patients transplanted in CR1 had a 3-year DFS of 52%. Overall, these findings suggest that for adult patients with high-risk ALL in CR1, haploidentical transplants are an acceptable alternative with

comparable outcomes to a well-matched donor. For patients with active disease, however, efforts should be made to improve disease remission prior to alloHCT, given the poor outcomes.

13.5.6 Umbilical Cord Blood (UCB) Transplants

Similar to haploidentical transplants, registry data from the CIBMTR and EBMT [62] has confirmed that LFS for UCB transplants was comparable with that from a 8/8 or 7/8 allele-matched peripheral blood stem cells (PBSC) or bone marrow transplantation. Recent publications from the University of Minnesota [63, 64] and Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center (FHCRC) [65] have also compared UCB transplants with alternative donor sources for ALL patients and found similar PFS and OS among these patients. Unlike haploidentical transplants, UCB transplants were associated with lower relapse rates compared to MUD transplants, when done in patients with MRD positivity.

Despite these encouraging findings, in recent years, there has been an increasing use of haploidentical transplants over UCBT, likely due to the costs and higher NRM with cord blood transplants.

13.6 Conclusion

AlloHCT is associated with a potent graft vs. leukemia effect and remains an essential modality in the treatment of adult ALL, despite the development of novel agents as well as pediatric styled protocols for adult patients. The development of MRD-based risk stratification has allowed more accurate prognostication for ALL compared to conventional risk factors, while the development of RIC protocols and increasing use of alternative donors have improved accessibility for allo-HCT. With the development of new targeted immunotherapies, and studies looking at the best combinations for these new modalities, it remains to be seen how these will change the role of allo-HCT in the future.

References

- Kantarjian H, et al. Long-term follow-up results of hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone (Hyper-CVAD), a dose-intensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer. 2004;101(12):2788–801.
- Thomas X, et al. Outcome of treatment in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: analysis of the LALA-94 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(20):4075–86.
- Rowe JM, et al. Induction therapy for adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of more than 1500 patients from the international ALL trial: MRC UKALL XII/ECOG E2993. Blood. 2005;106(12):3760–7.
- Bassan R, Lerede T, Barbui T. Strategies for the treatment of recurrent acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. Haematologica. 1996;81(1):20–36.
- Garcia-Manero G, Thomas DA. Salvage therapy for refractory or relapsed acute lymphocytic leukemia. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2001;15(1):163–205.
- Fielding AK, et al. Outcome of 609 adults after relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL); an MRC UKALL12/ECOG 2993 study. Blood. 2007;109(3):944–50.
- 7. Gokbuget N, et al. Outcome of relapsed adult lymphoblastic leukemia depends on response to salvage chemotherapy, prognostic factors, and performance of stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2012;120(10):2032–41.
- Pui CH, Evans WE. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(9):605–15.
- Moorman AV, et al. Karyotype is an independent prognostic factor in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL): analysis of cytogenetic data from patients treated on the Medical Research Council (MRC) UKALLXII/Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) 2993 trial. Blood. 2007;109(8):3189–97.
- Hunault M, et al. Better outcome of adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia after early genoidentical allogeneic bone marrow transplantation (BMT) than after late high-dose therapy and autologous BMT: a GOELAMS trial. Blood. 2004;104(10):3028–37.
- 11. Goldstone AH, et al. In adults with standard-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia, the greatest benefit is achieved from a matched sibling allogeneic transplantation in first complete remission, and an autologous transplantation is less effective than conventional consolidation/maintenance chemotherapy in all patients: final results of the International ALL Trial (MRC UKALL XII/ECOG E2993). Blood. 2008;111(4):1827–33.
- Cornelissen JJ, et al. Myeloablative allogeneic versus autologous stem cell transplantation in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia in first remission: a prospective sibling donor versus no-donor comparison. Blood. 2009;113(6):1375–82.
- Labar B, et al. Allogeneic stem cell transplantation in acute lymphoblastic leukemia and non-Hodgkin's

lymphoma for patients < or =50 years old in first complete remission: results of the EORTC ALL-3 trial. Haematologica. 2004;89(7):809–17.

- 14. Gökbuget N, et al. Adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and molecular failure display a poor prognosis and are candidates for stem cell transplantation and targeted therapies. Blood. 2012;120(9):1868–76.
- 15. Ribera JM, et al. Treatment of high-risk Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adolescents and adults according to early cytologic response and minimal residual disease after consolidation assessed by flow cytometry: final results of the PETHEMA ALL-AR-03 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(15):1595–604.
- 16. Bassan R, et al. Different molecular levels of postinduction minimal residual disease may predict hematopoietic stem cell transplantation outcome in adult Philadelphia-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood Cancer J. 2014;4:e225.
- 17. Giebel S, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for adults with Philadelphia chromosomenegative acute lymphoblastic leukemia in first remission: a position statement of the European Working Group for Adult Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (EWALL) and the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). Bone Marrow Transplant. 2019;54(6):798–809.
- Gökbuget N, et al. Blinatumomab for minimal residual disease in adults with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2018;131(14): 1522–31.
- Mullighan CG, et al. Deletion of IKZF1 and prognosis in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(5):470–80.
- Den Boer ML, et al. A subtype of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia with poor treatment outcome: a genome-wide classification study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(2):125–34.
- Roberts KG, et al. Outcomes of children with BCR-ABL1-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated with risk-directed therapy based on the levels of minimal residual disease. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(27):3012–20.
- Beldjord K, et al. Oncogenetics and minimal residual disease are independent outcome predictors in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2014;123(24):3739–49.
- Herold T, et al. Adults with Philadelphia chromosomelike acute lymphoblastic leukemia frequently have IGH-CRLF2 and JAK2 mutations, persistence of minimal residual disease and poor prognosis. Haematologica. 2017;102(1):130–8.
- Boer JM, et al. Expression profiling of adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia identifies a BCR-ABL1-like subgroup characterized by high non-response and relapse rates. Haematologica. 2015;100(7):e261–4.
- Jain N, et al. Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a high-risk subtype in adults. Blood. 2017;129(5):572–81.

- Roberts KG, et al. High frequency and poor outcome of Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(4):394–401.
- Moorman AV, et al. Prognosis of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and intrachromosomal amplification of chromosome 21 (iAMP21). Blood. 2007;109(6):2327–30.
- 28. Heerema NA, et al. Intrachromosomal amplification of chromosome 21 is associated with inferior outcomes in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated in contemporary standard-risk children's oncology group studies: a report from the children's oncology group. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(27):3397–402.
- Harrison CJ, et al. An international study of intrachromosomal amplification of chromosome 21 (iAMP21): cytogenetic characterization and outcome. Leukemia. 2014;28(5):1015–21.
- 30. Moorman AV, et al. Risk-directed treatment intensification significantly reduces the risk of relapse among children and adolescents with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and intrachromosomal amplification of chromosome 21: a comparison of the MRC ALL97/99 and UKALL2003 trials. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(27):3389–96.
- 31. Attarbaschi A, et al. Minimal residual disease values discriminate between low and high relapse risk in children with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia and an intrachromosomal amplification of chromosome 21: the Austrian and German acute lymphoblastic leukemia Berlin-Frankfurt-Munster (ALL-BFM) trials. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(18):3046–50.
- Coustan-Smith E, et al. Early T-cell precursor leukaemia: a subtype of very high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(2):147–56.
- Arber DA, et al. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. 2016;127(20):2391–405.
- 34. Patrick K, et al. Outcome for children and young people with Early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia treated on a contemporary protocol, UKALL 2003. Br J Haematol. 2014;166(3):421–4.
- Jain N, et al. Early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma (ETP-ALL/LBL) in adolescents and adults: a high-risk subtype. Blood. 2016;127(15):1863–9.
- 36. Bond J, et al. Early response-based therapy stratification improves survival in adult early thymic precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a group for research on adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(23):2683–91.
- 37. Martino R, et al. Allogeneic or autologous stem cell transplantation following salvage chemotherapy for adults with refractory or relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Bone Marrow Transplant. 1998;21(10):1023–7.
- Thomas DA, et al. Primary refractory and relapsed adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: characteristics, treatment results, and prognosis with salvage therapy. Cancer. 1999;86(7):1216–30.

- Terwey TH, et al. Allogeneic SCT in refractory or relapsed adult ALL is effective without prior reinduction chemotherapy. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2008;42(12):791–8.
- 40. Cornelissen JJ, et al. Unrelated marrow transplantation for adult patients with poor-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia: strong graft-versus-leukemia effect and risk factors determining outcome. Blood. 2001;97(6):1572–7.
- Doney K, et al. Predictive factors for outcome of allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2003;9(7):472–81.
- 42. Pavlu J, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation for primary refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the EBMT. Cancer. 2017;123(11):1965–70.
- Kantarjian HM, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin versus standard therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(8):740–53.
- 44. Kebriaei P, et al. Feasibility of allografting in patients with advanced acute lymphoblastic leukemia after salvage therapy with inotuzumab ozogamicin. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2013;13(3):296–301.
- Kantarjian H, et al. Blinatumomab versus chemotherapy for advanced acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(9):836–47.
- 46. Maude SL, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in children and young adults with B-cell lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(5):439–48.
- 47. Kebriaei P, et al. Intravenous busulfan compared with total body irradiation pretransplant conditioning for adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2018;24(4):726–33.
- 48. Eder S, et al. Thiotepa-based conditioning versus total body irradiation as myeloablative conditioning prior to allogeneic stem cell transplantation for acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a matched-pair analysis from the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Am J Hematol. 2017;92(10):997–1003.
- 49. Stein AS, et al. Reduced-intensity conditioning followed by peripheral blood stem cell transplantation for adult patients with high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009;15(11):1407–14.
- 50. Cho BS, et al. Reduced-intensity conditioning allogeneic stem cell transplantation is a potential therapeutic approach for adults with high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia in remission: results of a prospective phase 2 study. Leukemia. 2009;23(10):1763–70.
- 51. Santarone S, et al. Fludarabine and pharmacokinetictargeted busulfan before allografting for adults with acute lymphoid leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2011;17(10):1505–11.
- 52. Russell JA, et al. Allogeneic transplantation for adult acute leukemia in first and second remission with a novel regimen incorporating daily intravenous busulfan, fludarabine, 400 CGY total-body

irradiation, and thymoglobulin. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2007;13(7):814-21.

- 53. Mohty M, et al. Reduced-intensity versus conventional myeloablative conditioning allogeneic stem cell transplantation for patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a retrospective study from the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Blood. 2010;116(22):4439–43.
- 54. Marks DI, et al. The outcome of full-intensity and reduced-intensity conditioning matched sibling or unrelated donor transplantation in adults with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia in first and second complete remission. Blood. 2010;116(3):366–74.
- 55. Okasha D et al. Post induction MRD predicts high relapse risk following reduced intensity conditioned allogeneic stem cell transplantation: a prospective study of adult ALL (UK ALL14) EHA S802. 2017.
- 56. Giebel S et al. Trends in the use of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from the Acute Leukemia Working Party of EBMT. EHA S524. 2016.
- 57. Kiehl MG, et al. Outcome of allogeneic hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: no difference in related compared with unrelated transplant in first complete remission. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(14):2816–25.
- 58. Segal E, et al. Comparing outcomes of matched related donor and matched unrelated donor hematopoietic

cell transplants in adults with B-Cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer. 2017;123(17):3346–55.

- Luznik L, et al. High-dose cyclophosphamide as single-agent, short-course prophylaxis of graftversus-host disease. Blood. 2010;115(16):3224–30.
- 60. Santoro N, et al. Unmanipulated haploidentical stem cell transplantation in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a study on behalf of the Acute Leukemia Working Party of the EBMT. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10(1):113.
- 61. Srour SA, et al. Haploidentical transplantation with post-transplantation cyclophosphamide for high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;23(2):318–24.
- 62. Eapen M, et al. Effect of graft source on unrelated donor haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation in adults with acute leukaemia: a retrospective analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(7):653–60.
- Bachanova V, et al. Prolonged survival in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia after reduced-intensity conditioning with cord blood or sibling donor transplantation. Blood. 2009;113(13):2902–5.
- 64. Tomblyn MB, et al. Myeloablative hematopoietic cell transplantation for acute lymphoblastic leukemia: analysis of graft sources and long-term outcome. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(22):3634–41.
- Milano F, Appelbaum FR, Delaney C. Cord-blood transplantation in patients with minimal residual disease. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(22):2204–5.



14

Minimal or Measurable Residual Disease in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

Shilpa Paul, Caitlin Rausch, Hagop M. Kantarjian, and Elias Jabbour

14.1 Introduction

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is a hematologic malignancy characterized by clonal expansion of immature lymphoid progenitor cells that with other predisposing factors lead to leukemogenesis. Diagnosis is based on $\geq 20\%$ lymphoid blasts in the bone marrow (BM) or biopsy material, and treatment is divided into three phases known as induction, consolidation, and maintenance, aimed to first achieve complete remission (CR) and then to eradicate minimal or measurable disease (MRD) and prevent relapse. Assessment of disease response has historically been based on the achievement of morphologic remission with <5% lymphoid blasts in the BM, which was thought to be a reliable indicator of prolonged survival and decreased relapse. Although most patients achieve a CR post induction treatment, relapses still occur, proving the inability of such an assessment to detect low levels of residual leukemic clones. For the past decade, more precise and sensitive assays have been developed to detect MRD to the 10^{-4} or 10^{-5} limit. MRD, in this context, refers to remaining

H. M. Kantarjian · E. Jabbour (🖂)

malignant cells that share the same genotype and phenotype as the originating leukemia. Several studies have associated MRD positivity with early relapse and decreased survival. The presence of MRD is a strong independent risk factor for poor prognosis; therefore, its assessment post induction or at additional time points during therapy is not only important for prognostic implication but can also help tailor therapy. Development of therapies targeting MRD in ALL, such as blinatumomab, inotuzumab ozogamicin, and chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy (CAR T), has provided better therapeutic options and improved survival. Herein we discuss the different techniques to assess MRD, its prognostic implication, and therapies directed to eradicate MRD.

14.2 MRD Assays

There are several methods that can be utilized to detect MRD which have their own advantages and disadvantages (Table 14.1). For it to be a reliable assay, it must uphold the following standards: high level of sensitivity and specificity, rapidly available and reproducible, and ideally, standardized. Ultimately, each technique analyzes a large number of cells to detect a small residual leukemic population among normal cells. This can be done by using FC to identify leukemia-associated immune phenotypes (LAIP), quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR),

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_14

S. Paul · C. Rausch

Division of Pharmacy, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA

Department of Leukemia, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: ejabbour@mdanderson.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

Assay	Sensitivity	Advantages	Limitations
Multiparameter flow cytometry LAIPs	10 ⁻⁴ (0.01%)	QuickSensitiveInexpensive	 Limited standardization Interlaboratory variability (preparation of sample, interpretation of result) Requires technician expertise May not detect immature blasts
Polymerase chain reaction RQ-PCR for IG/TCR gene rearrangement	10 ⁻⁴ –10 ⁻⁵ (0.01–0.001%)	 Standardized (European Consortium) Sensitive 	 Labor intensive Time consuming Requires individual reagent Requires technician expertise Relatively expensive
Polymerase chain reaction RQ-PCR for fusion genes	10 ⁻⁴ -10 ⁻⁵ (0.01-0.001%)	SensitiveEasy	Applies to limited number of ALL cases
Next-generation sequencing	10 ⁻⁶ (0.0001%)	 Quick Highly sensitive Detect clonal evolution (new and sub-clones) 	 Relatively expensive Not standardized Requires large data set management Requires biostatistician

Table 14.1 Assays for the detection of minimal residual disease

IG immunoglobulin, LAIP leukemia-associated immunophenotypes, RQ-PCR real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction, TCR T-cell receptor

or NGS to detect immunoglobulin (*IG*) and/or T-cell receptor (*TCR*) gene rearrangement, or real-time quantitative PCR (RQ-PCR) to find pathogenic fusion genes like *BCR-ABL1*. MRD assessment should ideally be done on a remission bone marrow instead of peripheral blood for higher sensitivity. Selection of MRD assay ultimately depends on the cost and availability of the test as well as the experience and expertise with the method.

14.2.1 Flow Cytometry

MRD by multiparameter flow cytometry (MFC) is the most commonly used method to detect MRD in the United States (US) for its rapid turnaround time and accessibility. It can provide detection of 1 leukemic blasts in 10,000 cells (0.01% or 10^{-4}), similar to the PCR assays. MFC allows for the simultaneous detection of multiple altered or absent protein markers on the cell surface. The test has evolved from 4- to 6-plus color to \geq 12-plus color immunostaining to quantify LAIP, thereby increasing sensitivity of the test to \leq 0.0002% [1–3]. The addition of markers and expanding panel has significantly improved the capability of this assay to detect malignant cells. Precision and sensitivity of MFC can also be improved by using different fluorochromes that help differentiate malignant cells from regenerating blasts, if available [4]. Concordance between MFC and RQ-PCR to detect MRD is comparable; therefore, selection between these two methods depends on its availability and expertise on conducting these assays [5]. Some of the limitations and disadvantages of MFC is that it lacks standardization and is unable to detect MRD at levels lower than 10⁻⁴ or detect clonal evolution like the NGS assay. There can also be interlaboratory variability due to different techniques, method of sample preparation, and interpretation of results.

14.2.2 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

Quantitative PCR can be utilized in Ph-negative B-cell ALL and T-cell ALL to detect *IG* or *TCR* gene rearrangements, and reverse transcriptase PCR can be used in Ph-positive ALL to detect *BCR-ABL1*, the pathogenic driver fusion gene. During normal lymphocyte maturation in both B- and T-cells, discontinuous somatic recombination of variable (V), diversification (D), and junction (J) gene segments occur, but crossover, insertion, and deletion at the N-region lead to IG and TCR rearrangements that become the basis of malignant lymphocytes. Since leukemic cells originate from a mother lymphocyte, identical IG or TCR gene rearrangements allow for the detection of malignant lymphocytes from normal cells. Through amplifying DNA or RNA and creating an allele-specific oligonucleotide (ASO) primer that is compatible to the junction regions along with reverse primers and fluorescent probes, these rearrangements can be detected. This method has high sensitivity with detection at 10^{-5} level (0.001%) [5-7]. Concerted effort by the EuroMRD Consortium has made the ASO-based qPCR, the most standardized and reproducible assay to detect MRD [8]. This method can be laborious and time-consuming and requires expertise as technical failures can occur. Additionally, this assay may not be able to detect immature cells or there may be false negatives if clonal evolution of lymphoid cells occurs. A new technique, droplet digital PCR, uses water-oil emulsion droplet and requires smaller sample and reagent volume, thereby reducing cost compared to standard qPCR. Few studies suggest that this method may be more sensitive than qPCR [9, 10].

Gene translocations such as t(9;22) (a34;q11) BCR-ABL1, t(12;21)(p12;q23) *ETV6-RUNX1*, t(4;11)(q21;q22) *MLL-AFF1* can be detected by RQ-PCR, although BCR-ABL1 translocation, an important driver mutation in Ph-positive ALL, is the most established and stable target gene. RQ-PCR quantifies the fusion gene by amplifying DNA or RNA and comparing it to a standard curve of sequenced BCR-ABL1 dilution. Commonly, RQ-PCR using mRNA is done because not only is it highly sensitive $(10^{-4} \text{ or } 10^{-5} \text{ level})$, but the test is also quick and simple. However, results can be negatively impacted by the instability or contamination of RNA, and this assay is also limited to the small percentage of ALL patients carrying these fusion genes.

14.2.3 Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS)

NGS produces high-throughput sequencing of immune receptor genes. It can rapidly assess genetic abnormalities and mutations in large segments of DNA or RNA. Although it focuses on IG/TCR gene rearrangements similar to PCRbased assays, this technique is less laborious and quicker than PCR method because it does not require individual reagents [11–13]. It is also highly sensitive detecting 10^{-6} level (0.0001%), which is 1 to 2 logs better than the PCR and MFC assays [12]. Patients with MRD negativity by MFC and PCR have shown persistent low-level disease by NGS [1, 14]. In a large study with pediatric B-cell ALL, NGS assay detected 38.7% more MRD-positive disease and had a lower false-negative rate than the MFC assay [15], which significantly impacts outcomes. Therefore, NGS assay to detect MRD is preferred, if feasible. A higher sensitivity to detect MRD is clinically advantageous for earlier therapeutic interventions and/or planning for allogeneic stem cell transplant (alloHSCT) resulting in better outcomes. Unlike the RQ-PCR, it can detect leukemic rearrangements irrespective of their presence at diagnosis [12]. NGS provides comprehensive information about the clonal evolution of the leukemic cells including the detection of new and sub-clones, thereby preventing false-negative results. This assay can be costly and requires construction and management of a large data set for which expertise in interpretation and biostatistics is needed.

14.3 Prognostic Impact of MRD

MRD has become an important surrogate marker for outcomes in ALL. Several studies have shown that persistence of MRD at the end of induction or its reappearance signifies chemotherapy resistance, early relapse, and poor prognosis [16–18]. Relapse from time of treatment initiation is about 8 months in MRD-positive (>10⁻⁴) patients receiving chemotherapy [17]. Risk of relapse has shown to be proportional to the degree of MRD burden [17, 19], which may be influenced by the sensitivity of the assay to detect low-level disease. Molecular relapse has also been noted to precede hematologic relapse by about 2.6 months. A recent study demonstrated shorter overall survival (OS), relapse-free survival (RFS), and duration of complete remission (DoR) in patients who had high baseline MRD $\geq 10^{-1}$ compared to those with MRD between 10^{-4} and 10^{-3} [20]. Due to the prognostic impact of MRD, it has superseded historical ALL risk stratification involving patient-related factors, cytogenetics, and immunophenotype. Therefore, evaluation of MRD should be done at CR, then at 3 months, followed by every 3-6 months thereafter to help tailor therapy and optimize outcomes.

14.3.1 Ph-Negative B-Cell and T-Cell ALL

A meta-analysis of 13,637 children and adults with ALL of B-cell and T-cell origin, including Ph-positive disease, confirmed that achievement of MRD-negativity early in treatment was significant for better outcomes in both patient populations [19]. In pediatric patients, MRD-negative disease prolonged 10-year event-free survival (EFS) compared to MRD-positive disease (77%) vs 32%, respectively). Similarly, adults who achieved MRD-negativity also had higher 10-year EFS than those who did not (64% vs. 21%, respectively). The OS among MRDnegative pediatrics (HR 0.28; 95% CI: 0.19–0.41) and adults (HR 0.28; 95% CI: 0.20-0.39) was the same. Of note, the risk of relapse associated with MRD positivity post CR was predicted to be highest for the first 3 years and then equivalent, or if not lower, in pediatrics thereafter. Several other studies have confirmed impact of early MRD clearance (<0.01%) on outcomes [18, 21– 24]. Ribera and colleagues showed that HR ALL patients who achieved MRD-negativity (<0.01%) by MFC) after first induction had better OS rate than those who achieved it after consolidation $(90\% \pm 19\% \text{ vs. } 66\% \pm 10\%)$ [18]. In another study, early MRD responders (<0.01% by MFC at CR) had better 3-year OS than later MRD responders (76% vs. 58%, respectively) [24]. As of now, both cytogenetic and molecular abnormalities along with MRD status play an important role in predicting risk of relapse; hence, the attainment of MRD negativity (<0.01%) at CR can help improve outcomes. Studies have shown that early clearance of MRD can impact survival, thus current treatment strategies are incorporating novel agents early in the course of treatment.

Recent studies have also demonstrated that combining ALL-specific molecular markers with MRD evaluation can improve risk stratification and prevent early relapse [21]. In the GRAAL trial, cumulative incidence of relapse (CIR) was higher among patients with MRD $\geq 10^{-4}$ by PCR and the presence of MLL gene rearrangement or *IZKF1* gene deletion in B-cell ALL and *PTEN* alteration, NRAS/KRAS, and NOTCH1/FBXW7 mutations in T-cell ALL [21]. Additionally, complex karyotype (≥ 5 chromosome abnormalities) and low hypodiploidy/near triploidy remain strong prognostic factors for poor outcomes despite MRD status [25]. Further studies are needed to determine how best to incorporate cytogenetic and molecular abnormalities with MRD status to tailor therapy.

14.3.2 Ph-Positive ALL

Among patients with Ph-positive ALL, measurement of MRD status by quantifying BCR-ABL1 transcript through RQ-PCR holds prognostic value [26–28]. In a study of adult patients with Ph-positive ALL who received chemotherapy plus a tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) without subsequent alloHSCT, BCR-ABL1 gene translocation measured by qPCR at CR and then every 3 months was a strong predictor for survival. Achievement of complete molecular response (CMR) at 3 months, defined by the absence of quantifiable BCR-ABL1 transcript, resulted in 4-year OS of 66% [29]. Among all the TKIs, ponatinib has demonstrated superiority in inducing and maintaining CMR [30]. In addition, alloHSCT after achievement of CMR has not shown to improve outcomes in Ph-positive ALL patients [30]. If a patient does not achieve CMR at 3 months, then changing treatment to a more MRD-directed therapy like blinatumomab plus TKI, if not used initially, or clinical trial with InO plus a TKI should be considered with reevaluation of MRD status (Fig. 14.1). The benefit of TKI maintenance post alloHSCT in Ph-positive ALL is also being studied to prevent relapse.

14.3.3 Allogenic Stem Cell Transplant

MRD-positivity prior to and post alloHSCT is a strong predictor for relapse. In adult ALL

patients, detection of MRD $\geq 10^{-4}$ by NGS prealloHSCT predicted for post-transplant relapse (HR 7.7; 95% CI: 2.0–30, p = 0.003) [31]. Similarly, in children with relapsed ALL, MRDpositivity compared to MRD-negativity, detected at $\geq 10^{-4}$ by PCR, prior to alloSHCT was prognostic for higher 5-year CIR (57% vs. 13%, p < 0.001) and shorter 5-year EFS rate (27% vs. 60%, p = 0.004).

Earlier studies have demonstrated that MRDnegative disease preceding alloHSCT, particularly in first complete response (CR1), results in better outcomes than being MRD-positive [32,



¹Within 3 months; ²At anytime during consolidation or maintenance therapy; alloHSCT: allogeneic stem cell transplant; CMR: complete molecular response; InO: inotuzumab ozogamicin; TKI: tyrosine kinase inhibitor

Fig. 14.1 Minimal residual disease-directed treatment algorithm in Ph-positive ALL

33]. Prior to the era of MRD-directed therapies, alloHSCT was the only option to improve outcomes in MRD-positive patients. In the two German Multicenter ALL (GMALL) studies (06/99 and 07/03), adult ALL patients with persistent MRD, defined as $\geq 1 \times 10^{-4}$ by RQ-PCR, after induction (day 71) or first consolidation (week 16), were stratified to high-risk category and allocated to alloHSCT [16, 17]. Those with molecular failure who underwent alloHSCT in CR1 had better survival than those who did not (54% vs. 32%). However, only 47% of patients with molecular failure were able to receive alloHSCT due to aggressive disease. MRD positivity preceding alloHSCT results in higher risk of relapse and may lead to more morbidity and mortality due to potential alloHSCT related complications. Nowadays highly effective and tolerable MRD-directed therapies, such as blinatumomab or clinical trial with InO or CAR T-cells discussed below, should be used to eradicate MRD and maintain MRD-negativity, as opposed to alloHSCT.

14.4 MRD-Directed Therapies

14.4.1 Blinatumomab

Blinatumomab, a bispecific T-cell engager antibody targeting CD3 and CD19 was initially studied in patients with relapsed or refractory (R-R) B-cell ALL. Initial phase II studies were challenging due to high rates of toxicity including cytokine release syndrome (CRS) and neurotoxicity, as well as limited activity in patients with high burdens of disease (>50% bone marrow blasts) [34]. Despite these initial shortcomings, when compared to standard-of-care (SOC) in an analysis of the phase III TOWER trial, blinatumomab treatment resulted in significantly higher rates of CR/CRi (44% vs. 25%, p < 0.001) and MRD-negativity (76% vs. 48%, p = 0.004) in patients with R-R Ph-negative ALL [35]. Moreover, blinatumomab monotherapy also resulted in 88% of responders achieving MRDnegativity (undetectable BCR-ABL1 by qPCR, sensitivity $\leq 10^{-5}$) in patients with R-R Ph-positive ALL [36]. The association between tumor burden and toxicity as well as the high rates of MRDnegativity achieved with blinatumomab led to its investigation in patients with persistent or recurrent MRD.

After promising results with an initial phase II pilot study in patients with MRD-positive disease demonstrating long-term RFS, the phase II BLAST trial enrolled 116 adult patients with persistent or recurrent MRD $\geq 10^{-3}$ after at least three courses of intensive chemotherapy [37–39]. Complete MRD response, defined as MRD $< 10^{-4}$ as detected by RT-PCR, was achieved in 78% (n = 88) of evaluable patients after cycle 1, and in an additional two patients after cycle 2. Most patients evaluable for MRD response had a baseline MRD $\geq 10^{-3}$ to $< 10^{-1}$ (*n* = 94; 91%) and were in second CR (CR2) or later (n = 37; 36%). The ability to achieve a complete MRD response was independent of baseline MRD level, age, or line of therapy. Patients in CR1 had significantly improved RFS (24.6 vs. 11 months; HR 2.09; 95%CI: 1.26–3.48, p = 0.004) and trend for improved OS (36.5 months vs. 19.1 months, p = 0.084) compared to those treated in CR2 or later [37]. Achieving an MRD response conferred a significant improvement in OS regardless of receiving alloHSCT. Patients in CR1 who achieved MRD-negativity with blinatumomab did not confer a benefit from alloHSCT, likely related to the high rate of morbidity and mortality associated with alloHSCT. Among responders (n = 85), median OS was not reached (95% CI: 27.3 months to not estimable) compared to 12.5 months (95% CI: 3.2-39.7 months) for nonresponders [40]. At a median follow-up of 53 months, 40.5% (n = 30/74) patients who proceeded to alloHSCT in continuous complete remission after blinatumomab were alive, compared to 33.3% (n = 12/36) patients who did not [40].

A retrospective comparison of blinatumomab to SOC for MRD in adult patients with Ph-negative B-cell ALL in CR1 demonstrated a significant advantage in RFS and trend for improvement in OS for patients treated with blinatumomab [41]. Median RFS (unadjusted for alloHSCT) for patients in CR1 with quantifiable MRD $\geq 10^{-3}$ by any detection method treated with blinatumomab was 35.2 months, compared to 8.3 months for patients treated with SOC (p = 0.002). Median OS (unadjusted for alloHSCT) for patients treated with blinatu-36.5 months compared momab was to 27.2 months for patients treated with SOC (p = 0.27); however, estimated probability of OS at 18 months was significantly greater for blinatumomab (71% vs. 55%, p = 0.019) [41]. Propensity score matching was conducted in this retrospective analysis to account for differences in the treatment arms; however, every covariate could not be accounted for robustly, including alloHSCT. Despite the limitations of this retrospective review, this analysis demonstrates the benefit of blinatumomab therapy compared to SOC for patients in CR1 with MRD-positivity (Fig. 14.2).

Long-term follow-up of a phase II study of R-R ALL patients treated with blinatumomab [34] has demonstrated continued benefit of achieving MRD negativity with blinatumomab even in the relapsed setting. Ninety patients with

R-R Ph-negative ALL who achieved a CR/CRi within the first two cycles of therapy had MRD assessment by qPCR at a sensitivity of $\leq 10^{-4}$ and were included in this analysis [42]. Overall, 75 patients (83.3%) achieved an MRD response $(qPCR < 10^{-4})$ which was independent of prior line of therapy including prior alloHSCT. Achieving MRD-negativity translated into significantly longer RFS, DOR, and OS compared to those who did not achieve MRDnegativity. Patients achieving MRD-negativity had a median RFS and OS of 9 months and 20.6 months, respectively, compared to 2.3 months and 12.5 months in MRD nonresponders (p < 0.05) [42]. Similarly, retrospective analyses of patients with R-R ALL treated with blinatumomab as part of the TOWER study and as standard of care indicated the greatest outcomes in patients treated in the first salvage setting who achieve MRD negativity and proceed to alloHSCT [43, 44]. While prognosis of MRDpositivity is most robust in the frontline treatment setting, this data provides insight into the value of MRD negativity in the R-R setting, demonstrating



¹At end of induction; ²At anytime during consolidation or maintenance therapy; ^a11q23 or *KMT2A* rearrangement, ETP-ALL, low hypodiploidy/near triploidy, complex cytogenetics, Ph-like; ‡Patients with ETP-ALL, 11q23 or *KMT2A* rearrangement or complex cytogenetics may be able to avoid alloHSCT if maintain MRD negativity <0.01% at the end of consolidation (week 17); alloHSCT: allogeneic stem cell transplant; CAR: chimeric antigen receptor; InO:inotuzumab ozogamicin;

Fig. 14.2 Minimal residual disease-directed treatment algorithm in Ph-negative ALL

the need to further understand the prognosis and role of MRD monitoring in patients with relapsed ALL.

Incorporation of blinatumomab earlier into therapy is a strategy currently being evaluated in order to improve rates of MRD-negativity in the frontline setting with the hope to improve longterm outcomes, particularly in patients with high rates of MRD-positivity and relapse with traditional chemotherapy alone. Ph-like ALL is one high-risk subgroup that is characterized by low rates of MRD-negativity after induction, high rates of relapse, and poor overall survival [45, 46]. Incorporating novel therapies such as blinatumomab or InO earlier in therapy for patients with Ph-like ALL may increase the rate of MRDnegativity and hopefully improve overall outcomes. An ongoing phase II study incorporating blinatumomab into the HyperCVAD (cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, dexamethasone alternating with high-dose methotrexate and cytarabine) chemotherapy regimen for patients <60 years of age with newly diagnosed Ph-negative B-cell ALL has resulted in MRDnegativity in 96% of patients and 2-year OS of 90% [Richard-Carpentier; ASH 2019] (NCT02877303). This clinical trial also incorporates blinatumomab into the maintenance courses of frontline therapy in an effort to sustain deep remissions achieved during induction and consolidation. The addition of blinatumomab to a lower intensity treatment program composed of reduced doses of cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and dexamethasone alternating with methotrexate and cytarabine (mini-HCVD) with InO for newly diagnosed patients ≥ 60 years of age is also ongoing (NCT01371630). Furthermore, utilization of blinatumomab as a maintenance strategy post-alloHSCT is also being evaluated for patients with high risk of relapse (NCT02807883).

14.4.2 Inotuzumab

Inotuzumab ozogamicin (InO), an antibody drug conjugate bound to calicheamicin that targets CD22, leads to high rates of MRD-negativity and therefore is being investigated for MRD-directed therapy (NCT03441061). In the phase III INO-VATE trial, 80.7% of patients with R-R B-cell ALL treated with InO achieved a CR/CRi of whom 78.4% achieved MRD-negativity (<10⁻⁴ by MFC), compared to 29.4% of patients treated with SOC of whom 50% achieved MRD negativity (p < 0.001 for CR/CRi and MRD-negativity comparisons) [47]. Similar to blinatumomab, therapy with InO can result in deep remissions, as evidenced by high rates of MRD-negativity in a population with relapsed disease.

Post hoc analysis of 121 patients in the InO arm who achieved CR/CRi found that the 76 patients who achieved CR/CRi and were MRDnegative at end of therapy had significantly longer PFS and OS versus those who were MRD-positive [48]. Proceeding to alloHSCT benefitted all patients regardless of MRD or salvage status. As anticipated, patients who achieved MRD-negativity with InO in the first salvage setting then proceeded to alloHSCT experienced the greatest benefit, consistent with prior retrospective analyses [43]. Patients should proceed to alloHSCT as soon as MRD-negativity is achieved to gain the most benefit from InO while reducing the risk of sinusoidal obstructive syndrome (SOS) that may occur with prolonged exposure followed by alloHSCT [49, 50]. Similar to what was observed with blinatumomab therapy in this setting, this study demonstrates the significance of MRD status in the salvage setting and also emphasizes the need for alloHSCT in patients with R-R ALL.

Integrating InO earlier into therapy and in combination with other agents can lead to higher rates of MRD-negativity in the frontline setting and better outcomes overall. The combination of the low-intensity, mini-HCVD program, with InO has demonstrated efficacy and safety in patients with R-R as well as patients ≥ 60 years of age with newly diagnosed Ph-negative B-cell ALL [51, 52]. Notably, of 48 newly diagnosed patients ≥ 60 years old treated with this combination, 98% of patients achieved a response, including MRD-negativity in 78% of evaluable patients [52]. When using propensity score matching to compare this therapy to a similar cohort of patients treated with intensive chemotherapy without InO, the mini-HCVD plus InO program resulted in higher 3-year EFS (64%) and OS (63%) compared to intensive chemotherapy alone (34% for both EFS and OS, p < 0.05) [53]. An updated analysis of 64 patients treated with the mini-HCVD with Ino program, which added blinatumomab for four courses following the initial four courses of mini-HCVD plus InO, has consistently resulted in an overall response rate of 98% and MRD-negativity of 77% after cycle 1 and 94% overall. At median follow-up of 37 months, the 3-year OS of 54% still compares favorably to the historic 3-year OS of 34% observed in a similar population treated with intensive chemotherapy (Nicholas J. [54]). These data demonstrate the long-term impact of adding InO to frontline therapy, likely driven by a higher rate of MRD negativity.

14.4.3 Chimeric Antigen Receptor Therapy

Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy has been extensively studied in the R-R Ph-negative B-cell ALL setting, but therapy is complicated by significant toxicity, and efficacy is greatest in patients with low burdens of disease. Tisagenlecleucel is a CD19-directed CAR T-cell attached to a 4-1BB signaling domain that gained FDA approval for the treatment of patients aged ≤ 25 years of age with R-R B-cell ALL after early phase clinical trials resulted in high overall response and MRD-negativity rates [55, 56]. Treatment with tisagenlecleucel in a multicenter phase II study in 75 heavily pretreated patients aged 3-23 years of age with R-R B-cell ALL resulted in an overall response rate of 81% (66% of all screened patients, n = 92) and an MRDnegativity rate of 100% among responders [56]. Although patients were required to have at least 5% bone marrow blasts at the time of screening, at least 15 patients were in MRD-negative CR at the time of CAR T-cell infusion due to the receipt of interim chemotherapy [57]. A phase I trial of 53 adult patients with R-R B-cell ALL using another CD-19 directed CAR product attached to a CD28 costimulatory domain demonstrated a

response rate of 83% and MRD-negativity in 67% of patients [58]. At the time of infusion, 40% of patients had <5% bone marrow blasts, of which 11% were MRD-negative. As anticipated, patients achieving MRD-negativity had prolonged survival compared to those who did not achieve MRD-negativity. Greatest benefit was seen in patients with a low burden of disease, defined as <5% bone marrow blasts at baseline. Median OS for these patients was 20.1 months compared to 12.4 months (p = 0.02) for those with a higher burden of disease. In addition, lower rates of CRS and neurotoxicity were observed in patients with low burden of disease [58]. Similarly, a retrospective analysis of 39 patients with R-R B-cell ALL treated with CD19 directed CAR T-cells attached to a 4-1BB signaling domain found that baseline bone marrow blasts of $\geq 5\%$ prior to CAR T-cell infusion were associated with worse EFS [59]. High rates of MRD-negativity are possible with CAR T-cell therapy; however, greatest efficacy is observed in patients with low burden of disease. Due to their optimal efficacy and safety profile in patients with minimal disease, CAR T-cells are an option for MRD eradication and bridge to alloHSCT in the relapsed population. Clinical trials investigating tisagenlecleucel and other CAR T products for patients with MRD positivity are ongoing (NCT03876769; NCT02935543).

Studies investigating alternate CAR T-cell targets including CD22 [60] as well as bispecific CAR T-cells targeting CD19 and CD22 are ongoing with early results indicating promise in terms of high rates of MRD-negativity [61]. Further investigation will determine whether these products continue to show highest activity in patients with low levels of disease.

14.4.4 Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation

While alloHSCT is considered the standard, yet most intensive, approach for patients with MRDpositivity, this concept is being strongly challenged with the availability and integration of modern therapies in the frontline setting. The importance of alloHSCT for patients in CR1 with MRD-positivity was demonstrated when 580 patients who were treated as part of the GMALL trials 06/99 and 07/03 protocols were analyzed [62]. Patients with persistent MRD ($\geq 10^{-4}$ by qRT-PCR) after first consolidation who proceeded to alloHSCT had significantly higher probability of continuous complete remission at 5 years compared to those who did not proceed to alloHSCT (66% vs. 12%, p < 0.0001) and increased 5-year OS of 54% versus 33%, p = 0.06. Estimated 5-year OS for patients with MRD recurrence was 80% for patients who underwent alloHSCT in CR1 versus 15% for those who did not (p = 0.02) [62]. Similarly, the GRAALL group also demonstrated a significant benefit of alloHSCT in CR1 on RFS and OS for patients with poor MRD response, defined as MRD $\geq 10^{-3}$ after induction therapy [63]. Furthermore, a retrospective review of 272 patients aged ≥ 15 years old with newly diagnosed Ph-negative B-cell ALL who were MRDpositive ($\geq 10^{-4}$ by RQ-PCR or $\geq 10^{-3}$ by MFC) after ≥ 3 intensive chemotherapy courses demonstrated improvement in DOR (OR: 0.52; 95% CI: 0.351–0.761, *p* = 0.0009), RFS (OR: 0.686; 95%) CI: 0.487–0.966, *p* = 0.03), and OS (OR: 0.738; 95% CI: 0.526–1.036, p = 0.08) for patients who underwent alloHSCT in CR1 versus those who did not [20]. Median DOR and RFS were 68.4 months and 34.4 months, respectively, for patients who underwent alloHSCT versus 7.4 months and 6.7 months. Median OS was 76.1 months versus 20.4 months. A trend for improved outcomes was seen based on lower baseline MRD [20]. These analyses provide evidence for the need for patients with MRDpositivity to proceed with alloHSCT in first CR. Similarly, a prospective study in 307 patients with high-risk Ph-negative B-cell and T-cell ALL, as defined by baseline disease features, found that those who achieved MRD < 0.01% (by MFC) at the end of induction and <0.01% (by MFC) after consolidation therapy (week 17) did not benefit from alloHSCT [18], demonstrating the ability to tailor therapy based upon MRD response, even in patients with high-risk disease.

As new therapies are available and incorporated into the overall treatment of patients with ALL, the role of alloHSCT may begin to change. The prior analyses did not include patients treated with blinatumomab or CAR T-cell therapy, both novel treatment options for MRD eradication. A post hoc analysis of the BLAST trial which evaluated blinatumomab for MRD was conducted to evaluate the benefit of alloHSCT after blinatumomab therapy [37]. This analysis did not demonstrate an OS benefit of alloHSCT for patients treated with blinatumomab in CR1 (OR: 1.83; 95% CI: 0.69–4.9; p = 0.24); however, the benefit of alloHSCT was observed for patients treated in CR2 or later (OR: 0.31; 95% CI: 0.12–0.83; p = 0.02 [37]. This demonstrates the effectiveness of blinatumomab at eliminating MRD and improving long-term outcomes. Achieving MRD-negativity with blinatumomab in newly diagnosed patients may preclude the need for alloHSCT in CR1; however, prospective analyses comparing alloHSCT to blinatumomab is necessary to make this determination, specifically for high-risk cytogenetic subgroups.

14.5 Conclusion

MRD remains the most significant prognostic factor for patients with ALL, particularly for patients in the frontline setting. Progress in the development of these sensitive assays has allowed for a variety of assays to be commercially available, however an international standard should be established. While the prognosis of patients with MRD-positive disease remains poor, novel treatments including blinatumomab are effective at eradicating MRD-positivity and reducing the need of subsequent alloHSCT if possible. Inotuzumab and CAR T-cell products are currently being evaluated specifically for this indication. AlloHSCT continues to play an important role in the management of patients with MRDpositive disease, however as effective therapeutics are developed, the treatment paradigm may shift away from alloHSCT toward novel targeted therapies.

References

- Kotrova M, Muzikova K, Mejstrikova E, Novakova M, Bakardjieva-Mihaylova V, Fiser K, et al. The predictive strength of next-generation sequencing MRD detection for relapse compared with current methods in childhood ALL. Blood. 2015;126(8):1045–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-07-655159.
- Theunissen P, Mejstrikova E, Sedek L, van der Sluijs-Gelling AJ, Gaipa G, Bartels M, et al. Standardized flow cytometry for highly sensitive MRD measurements in B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2017;129(3):347–57. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2016-07-726307.
- 3. Wood B. 9-Color and 10-color flow cytometry in the clinical laboratory. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130(5):680–90. https://doi. org/10.1043/1543-2165(2006)130[680:CACFCI]2.0 .CO;2.
- Shaver AC, Greig BW, Mosse CA, Seegmiller AC. B-ALL minimal residual disease flow cytometry: an application of a novel method for optimization of a single-tube model. Am J Clin Pathol. 2015;143(5):716–24. https://doi.org/10.1309/ AJCPOOJRAVUN75GD.
- Thorn I, Forestier E, Botling J, Thuresson B, Wasslavik C, Bjorklund E, et al. Minimal residual disease assessment in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a Swedish multi-centre study comparing real-time polymerase chain reaction and multicolour flow cytometry. Br J Haematol. 2011;152(6):743–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2010.08456.x.
- Ryan J, Quinn F, Meunier A, Boublikova L, Crampe M, Tewari P, et al. Minimal residual disease detection in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia patients at multiple time-points reveals high levels of concordance between molecular and immunophenotypic approaches. Br J Haematol. 2009;144(1):107–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07429.x.
- Verhagen OJ, Willemse MJ, Breunis WB, Wijkhuijs AJ, Jacobs DC, Joosten SA, et al. Application of germline IGH probes in real-time quantitative PCR for the detection of minimal residual disease in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2000;14(8):1426–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2401801.
- van der Velden VH, Cazzaniga G, Schrauder A, Hancock J, Bader P, Panzer-Grumayer ER, et al. Analysis of minimal residual disease by Ig/TCR gene rearrangements: guidelines for interpretation of real-time quantitative PCR data. Leukemia. 2007;21(4):604–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.leu.2404586.
- Coccaro N, Anelli L, Zagaria A, Casieri P, Tota G, Orsini P, et al. Droplet digital PCR is a robust tool for monitoring minimal residual disease in adult Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Mol Diagn. 2018;20(4):474–82. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2018.03.002.

- Della Starza I, De Novi LA, Santoro A, Salemi D, Tam W, Cavalli M, et al. Digital droplet PCR and next-generation sequencing refine minimal residual disease monitoring in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2019;60(11):2838–40. https://doi. org/10.1080/10428194.2019.1607325.
- Bruggemann M, Kotrova M, Knecht H, Bartram J, Boudjogrha M, Bystry V, et al. Standardized nextgeneration sequencing of immunoglobulin and T-cell receptor gene recombinations for MRD marker identification in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a EuroClonality-NGS validation study. Leukemia. 2019;33(9):2241–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41375-019-0496-7.
- Faham M, Zheng J, Moorhead M, Carlton VE, Stow P, Coustan-Smith E, et al. Deep-sequencing approach for minimal residual disease detection in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2012;120(26):5173–80.https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-07-444042.
- Sala Torra O, Othus M, Williamson DW, Wood B, Kirsch I, Robins H, et al. Next-generation sequencing in adult B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;23(4):691–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2016.12.639.
- Pulsipher MA, Carlson C, Langholz B, Wall DA, Schultz KR, Bunin N, et al. IgH-V(D)J NGS-MRD measurement pre- and early post-allotransplant defines very low- and very high-risk ALL patients. Blood. 2015;125(22):3501–8. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2014-12-615757.
- Wood B, Wu D, Crossley B, Dai Y, Williamson D, Gawad C, et al. Measurable residual disease detection by high-throughput sequencing improves risk stratification for pediatric B-ALL. Blood. 2018;131(12):1350–9. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2017-09-806521.
- Bruggemann M, Raff T, Flohr T, Gokbuget N, Nakao M, Droese J, et al. Clinical significance of minimal residual disease quantification in adult patients with standard-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2006;107(3):1116–23. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2005-07-2708.
- Gokbuget N, Kneba M, Raff T, Trautmann H, Bartram CR, Arnold R, et al. Adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and molecular failure display a poor prognosis and are candidates for stem cell transplantation and targeted therapies. Blood. 2012;120(9):1868– 76. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-09-377713.
- Ribera JM, Morgades M, Ciudad J, Montesinos P, Barba P, García-Cadenas I, et al. Post-remission treatment with chemotherapy or allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (alloHSCT) in adult patients with high-risk (HR) Philadelphia chromosomenegative (Ph-neg) acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) according to their minimal residual disease (MRD). Final results of the Pethema ALL-HR-11 trial. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):826. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2019-123613.

- Berry DA, Zhou S, Higley H, Mukundan L, Fu S, Reaman GH, et al. Association of minimal residual disease with clinical outcome in pediatric and adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(7):e170580. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamaoncol.2017.0580.
- Gokbuget N, Dombret H, Giebel S, Bruggemann M, Doubek M, Foa R, et al. Minimal residual disease level predicts outcome in adults with Ph-negative B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Hematology. 2019;24(1):337–48. https://doi.org/10.1 080/16078454.2019.1567654.
- Beldjord K, Chevret S, Asnafi V, Huguet F, Boulland ML, Leguay T, et al. Oncogenetics and minimal residual disease are independent outcome predictors in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2014;123(24):3739–49. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2014-01-547695.
- Holowiecki J, Krawczyk-Kulis M, Giebel S, Jagoda K, Stella-Holowiecka B, Piatkowska-Jakubas B, et al. Status of minimal residual disease after induction predicts outcome in both standard and high-risk Ph-negative adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. The Polish Adult Leukemia Group ALL 4-2002 MRD Study. Br J Haematol. 2008;142(2):227–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07185.x.
- Vidriales MB, Perez JJ, Lopez-Berges MC, Gutierrez N, Ciudad J, Lucio P, et al. Minimal residual disease in adolescent (older than 14 years) and adult acute lymphoblastic leukemias: early immunophenotypic evaluation has high clinical value. Blood. 2003;101(12):4695–700. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-08-2613.
- 24. Yilmaz M, Kantarjian H, Wang X, Khoury JD, Ravandi F, Jorgensen J, et al. The early achievement of measurable residual disease negativity in the treatment of adults with Philadelphia-negative B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia is a strong predictor for survival. Am J Hematol. 2020;95(2):144–50. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ajh.25671.
- Issa GC, Kantarjian HM, Yin CC, Qiao W, Ravandi F, Thomas D, et al. Prognostic impact of pretreatment cytogenetics in adult Philadelphia chromosomenegative acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the era of minimal residual disease. Cancer. 2017;123(3):459– 67. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30376.
- 26. Ravandi F, Jorgensen JL, Thomas DA, O'Brien S, Garris R, Faderl S, et al. Detection of MRD may predict the outcome of patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive ALL treated with tyrosine kinase inhibitors plus chemotherapy. Blood. 2013;122(7):1214–21. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2012-11-466482.
- 27. Wang L, Du J, Huang A, Tang G, Gong S, Cheng H, et al. Chemotherapy vs. allogeneic transplantation as post molecular remission therapy in patients aged less than 60 years with Philadelphia-positive ALL. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2020;55(1):245–8. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41409-019-0514-4.

- 28. Xue YJ, Cheng YF, Lu AD, Wang Y, Zuo YX, Yan CH, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, especially haploidentical, may improve longterm survival for high-risk pediatric patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the tyrosine kinase inhibitor era. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2019;25(8):1611–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.12.007.
- 29. Short NJ, Jabbour E, Sasaki K, Patel K, O'Brien SM, Cortes JE, et al. Impact of complete molecular response on survival in patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2016;128(4):504–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-03-707562.
- 30. Sasaki K, Kantarjian HM, Samra B, Short NJ, Khoury JD, Kanagal-Shamanna R, et al. Prognostic factors for progression in patients (pts) with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph+ALL) in complete molecular response (CMR) within 3 months of therapy with tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs). Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):1296. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2019-128619.
- 31. Sutton R, Shaw PJ, Venn NC, Law T, Dissanayake A, Kilo T, et al. Persistent MRD before and after allogeneic BMT predicts relapse in children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2015;168(3):395–404. https://doi.org/10.1111/ bjh.13142.
- 32. Patel B, Rai L, Buck G, Richards SM, Mortuza Y, Mitchell W, et al. Minimal residual disease is a significant predictor of treatment failure in non T-lineage adult acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: final results of the international trial UKALL XII/ECOG2993. Br J Haematol. 2010;148(1):80–9. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009.07941.x.
- 33. Spinelli O, Peruta B, Tosi M, Guerini V, Salvi A, Zanotti MC, et al. Clearance of minimal residual disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation and the prediction of the clinical outcome of adult patients with high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2007;92(5):612–8. https://doi. org/10.3324/haematol.10965.
- 34. Topp MS, Gökbuget N, Stein AS, Zugmaier G, O'Brien S, Bargou RC, et al. Safety and activity of blinatumomab for adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(1):57–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1470-2045(14)71170-2.
- 35. Kantarjian H, Stein A, Gökbuget N, Fielding AK, Schuh AC, Ribera JM, et al. Blinatumomab versus chemotherapy for advanced acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2017b;376(9):836–47. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1609783.
- 36. Martinelli G, Boissel N, Chevallier P, Ottmann O, Gökbuget N, Topp MS, et al. Complete hematologic and molecular response in adult patients with relapsed/refractory Philadelphia chromosomepositive B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia following treatment with blinatumomab: results from

a phase II, single-arm, multicenter study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(16):1795–802. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2016.69.3531.

- Gökbuget N, Dombret H, Bonifacio M, Reichle A, Graux C, Faul C, et al. Blinatumomab for minimal residual disease in adults with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2018;131(14):1522– 31. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-08-798322.
- 38. Topp MS, Kufer P, Gökbuget N, Goebeler M, Klinger M, Neumann S, et al. Targeted therapy with the T-cell-engaging antibody blinatumomab of chemotherapy-refractory minimal residual disease in B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients results in high response rate and prolonged leukemia-free survival. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(18):2493–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.32.7270.
- 39. Topp MS, Gökbuget N, Zugmaier G, Degenhard E, Goebeler ME, Klinger M, et al. Long-term followup of hematologic relapse-free survival in a phase 2 study of blinatumomab in patients with MRD in B-lineage ALL. Blood. 2012;120(26):5185–7. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-07-441030.
- 40. Goekbuget N, Dombret H, Zugmaier G, Bonifacio M, Graux C, Faul C, et al. Blinatumomab for minimal residual disease (MRD) in adults with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia (BCP-ALL): median overall survival (OS) is not reached in complete MRD responders at a median follow-up of 53.1 months. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):554. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2018-99-111516.
- 41. Gökbuget N, Dombret H, Giebel S, Brüggemann M, Doubek M, Foa R, et al. Blinatumomab vs historic standard-of-care treatment for minimal residual disease in adults with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Eur J Haematol. 2020;104(4):299–309. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejh.13375.
- 42. Gökbuget N, Kantarjian HM, Brüggemann M, Stein AS, Bargou RC, Dombret H, et al. Molecular response with blinatumomab in relapsed/refractory B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood Adv. 2019;3(20):3033–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/ bloodadvances.2019000457.
- 43. Jabbour E, Short NJ, Jorgensen JL, Yilmaz M, Ravandi F, Wang SA, et al. Differential impact of minimal residual disease negativity according to the salvage status in patients with relapsed/refractory B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer. 2017;123(2):294–302. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30264.
- 44. Jabbour EJ, Gökbuget N, Kantarjian HM, Thomas X, Larson RA, Yoon SS, et al. Transplantation in adults with relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia who are treated with blinatumomab from a phase 3 study. Cancer. 2019a;125(23):4181–92. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.32335.
- 45. Herold T, Schneider S, Metzeler KH, Neumann M, Hartmann L, Roberts KG, et al. Adults with Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia frequently have IGH-CRLF2 and JAK2 mutations, persistence of minimal residual disease and

poor prognosis. Haematologica. 2017;102(1):130–8. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2015.136366.

- 46. Jain N, Roberts KG, Jabbour E, Patel K, Eterovic AK, Chen K, et al. Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a high-risk subtype in adults. Blood. 2017;129(5):572– 81. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-07-726588.
- 47. Kantarjian HM, DeAngelo DJ, Stelljes M, Martinelli G, Liedtke M, Stock W, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin versus standard therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(8):740–53. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1509277.
- Jabbour E, Gökbuget N, Advani A, Stelljes M, Stock W, Liedtke M, et al. Impact of minimal residual disease status in patients with relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated with inotuzumab ozogamicin in the phase III INO-VATE trial. Leuk Res. 2020;88:106283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. leukres.2019.106283.
- Kantarjian HM, DeAngelo DJ, Advani AS, Stelljes M, Kebriaei P, Cassaday RD, et al. Hepatic adverse event profile of inotuzumab ozogamicin in adult patients with relapsed or refractory acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: results from the open-label, randomised, phase 3 INO-VATE study. Lancet Haematol. 2017a;4(8):e387–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2352-3026(17)30103-5.
- Marks DI, Kebriaei P, Stelljes M, Gökbuget N, Kantarjian H, Advani AS, et al. Outcomes of allogeneic stem cell transplantation after inotuzumab ozogamicin treatment for relapsed or refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2019;25(9):1720–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2019.04.020.
- 51. Jabbour E, Ravandi F, Kebriaei P, Huang X, Short NJ, Thomas D, et al. Salvage chemoimmunotherapy with inotuzumab ozogamicin combined with mini-hyper-CVD for patients with relapsed or refractory Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a phase 2 clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(2):230–4. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.2380.
- 52. Kantarjian H, Ravandi F, Short NJ, Huang X, Jain N, Sasaki K, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin in combination with low-intensity chemotherapy for older patients with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(2):240–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30011-1.
- 53. Jabbour EJ, Sasaki K, Ravandi F, Short NJ, Garcia-Manero G, Daver N, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin in combination with low-intensity chemotherapy (mini-HCVD) with or without blinatumomab versus standard intensive chemotherapy (HCVAD) as frontline therapy for older patients with Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a propensity score analysis. Cancer. 2019b; https:// doi.org/10.1002/cncr.32139.
- 54. Short NJ, Kantarjian HM, Ravandi F, Huang X, Jain N, Sasaki K, et al. Updated results of a phase II study of reduced-intensity chemotherapy with mini-hyper-

CVD in combination with inotuzumab ozogamicin, with or without blinatumomab, in older adults with newly diagnosed Philadelphia chromosomenegative acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2019;134(Suppl_1):823. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2019-125136.

- 55. Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(16):1507–17. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1407222.
- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in children and young adults with B-cell lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(5):439–48. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1709866.
- 57. Maude S, Teachey D, Rheingold S, Shaw P, Aplenc R, Barrett D. Sustained remissions with CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-modified T cells in children with relapsed/refractory ALL. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(15_Suppl):3011.
- Park JH, Rivière I, Gonen M, Wang X, Sénéchal B, Curran KJ, et al. Long-term follow-up of CD19 CAR therapy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(5):449–59. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1709919.
- 59. Li L, Liu J, Xu M, Yu H, Lv C, Cao F, et al. Treatment response, survival, safety, and predictive factors to

chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy in Chinese relapsed or refractory B cell acute lymphoblast leukemia patients. Cell Death Dis. 2020;11(3):207. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2388-1.

- 60. Shah NN, Highfill SL, Shalabi H, Yates B, Jin J, Wolters PL, et al. CD4/CD8 T-cell selection affects chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell potency and toxicity: updated results from a phase I anti-CD22 CAR T-cell trial. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(17):1938–50. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.19.03279.
- 61. Dai H, Wu Z, Jia H, Tong C, Guo Y, Ti D, et al. Bispecific CAR-T cells targeting both CD19 and CD22 for therapy of adults with relapsed or refractory B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Hematol Oncol. 2020;13(1):30. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13045-020-00856-8.
- 62. Gökbuget N, Kneba M, Raff T, Trautmann H, Bartram CR, Arnold R, et al. Adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and molecular failure display a poor prognosis and are candidates for stem cell transplantation and targeted therapies. Blood. 2012;120(9):1868– 76. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-09-377713.
- 63. Dhédin N, Huynh A, Maury S, Tabrizi R, Beldjord K, Asnafi V, et al. Role of allogeneic stem cell transplantation in adult patients with Ph-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;125(16):2486–96; quiz 2586. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-09-599894.



15

Management of Philadelphia Chromosome-Positive Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

Serena Chew, Nicholas J. Short, Hagop M. Kantarjian, and Elias Jabbour

15.1 Introduction

Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph-positive ALL) comprises approximately 30% of ALL cases in adults, with a progressively increasing incidence with age. The Philadelphia chromosome is derived from a translocation between ABL1 on chromosome 9 and a breakpoint cluster region (BCR) on chromosome 22, resulting in a BCR-ABL1 fusion gene [1]. The two most prominent BCR-ABL1 transcripts in ALL are the p190 and p210 transcripts, which are seen in approximately 75% and 25% of cases, respectively [2]. Ph-positive ALL is an aggressive disease with increased risk for central nervous system (CNS) involvement. [2] Prior to the advent of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), treatment with standard chemotherapy resulted in complete remission (CR) rates of 50-60%, with long-term survival rate of less than 20% [2, 3]. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) was the only potentially curative modality. Despite a potential for cure with HSCT, non-relapse mortality and relapse rates after transplant remain high, ranging from 30% to 50% [4]. Furthermore, a large proportion of patients with Ph-positive ALL are older and have

significant comorbidities that further limit their ability to tolerate an intensive approach.

In recent years, the development and incorporation of TKIs through all stages of therapy have significantly improved survival outcomes in patients with Ph-positive ALL, resulting in 5-year survival rates as high as 70-80%. As TKIs have revolutionized the treatment of Ph-positive ALL by producing deep molecular remissions, the role of allogeneic HSCT has become less clear [5]. Novel treatment modalities including more potent TKIs, bispecific T-cell engagers (e.g., blinatumomab), drug conjugate monoclonal antibodies (e.g., inotuzumab ozogamicin), and chimeric antigen receptor T-cell (CAR-T) therapies have provided more options for patients with Ph-positive ALL. In this chapter, we will provide an overview of the current and future paradigms in the treatment of patients with Ph-positive ALL and discuss ongoing challenges that need to be addressed in order to further optimize clinical outcomes.

15.2 Prognostic Significance of Genomic and Chromosomal Aberrations

Genomic alterations are frequently seen in patients with Ph-positive ALL. The most common genomic aberration is deletion of *IKZF1*,

S. Chew \cdot N. J. Short \cdot H. M. Kantarjian

E. Jabbour (🖂)

Department of Leukemia, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: ejabbour@mdanderson.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_15
which is seen in up to 84% of patients [6]. The IKZF1 gene is located on chromosome 7q12 and encodes for the Ikaros transcription factor [6]. Deletion of exons 4-7 is the most frequent deletion that occurs along the *IKZF1* gene. Loss of exons 4–7 leads to the expression of dominantnegative Ikaros isoform, resulting in reduced tumor suppression function, and confers poor outcomes [7–9]. CDKN2A/B is located on chromosome 9p21, and deletions of these genes are present in approximately 40% of Ph-positive ALL cases [8]. Approximately 50% of patients with IKZF1 deletion will have co-occurrence of and/or PAX5 CDKN2A/B gene deletions. Together, this genotype is often referred to as "IKZF1-plus" and has been associated with worse disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) [9]. Another genomic aberration observed in approximately 10-20% of patients is the BTG1 deletion, which has been associated with inferior DFS and remission duration [10]. BTG1 is located on chromosome 12q21 and plays a role in apoptosis and glucocorticoid response [11]. Additionally, poor prognosis has been observed in patients with two or more deletions, irrespective of the gene involved [10]. Other less common aberrations, including MEF2C and KRAS, have been associated with a favorable prognosis [9]. It is important to note that most genotypic prognostic studies have been performed in patients who received first- or secondgeneration TKIs. It remains to be determined whether more potent later-generation TKIs such as ponatinib may be able to overcome the prognostic impact of some of these alterations.

Approximately 60–80% of patients with Ph-positive ALL will harbor additional chromosomal abnormalities (ACAs), most frequently with alterations chromosomes 7, 9, and 14. The presence of -9/9p and/or +der(22)t(9;22) has both been associated with poorer outcomes [12, 13]. In one analysis, patients with one or more these poor-risk ACAs in the absence of hyperdiploidy had significantly shorter 5-year relapse-free survival (RFS; 33% vs. 59%, P = 0.01) and OS (24% vs. 63%, P = 0.003). Interestingly, adverse outcomes were seen in patients treated with imatinib or dasatinib but not in those treated with ponatinib, suggesting that ponatinib may overcome the negative prognostic impact of poor risk ACAs.

15.3 Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors

The BCR-ABL1 fusion gene affects multiple tyrosine kinase signaling pathways leading to leukemic cell proliferation, differentiation arrest, and resistance to apoptosis [6]. BCR-ABL TKIs prevent adenosine triphosphate (ATP) from binding to the BCR-ABL1 oncoprotein, thereby inhibiting hyperactive downstream signaling [6]. The introduction of BCR-ABL TKIs in the treatment of Ph-positive ALL has improved survival outcomes. Imatinib was the first TKI to be discovered with high specificity for BCR-ABL1 oncoprotein. However, high rates of resistance to imatinib have been reported. This is thought to be secondary to point mutations within the ABL1 domain. Point mutations that can occur within the ABL1 kinase domain may be at the contact site (e.g., T315I, F317L), SH2 binding site (e.g., M351T), the ATP binding loop (e.g., Y253 and E255), or activating loop [1, 14]. Another mechanism of resistance is the overexpression of SRC family kinases (e.g., LYN, HCK), which leads to stabilization of activated conformation of BCR-ABL1, resulting in decreased drug binding and increased leukemic cell proliferation [15].

The established mechanisms of resistance to imatinib therapy subsequently led to the development of the second-generation TKIs (e.g., dasatinib, nilotinib, and bosutinib), which were designed to potentially overcome these resistance mechanisms. Second-generation TKIs have shown activity against most known imatinibresistant ABL1 mutations, with the notable exception of T315I. T315I is commonly known as a "gatekeeper mutation" and is extremely resistant to all first- and second-generation TKIs [2, 12, 16]. Approximately 75% of the patients treated with a first- or second-generation TKI will develop T315I mutation at relapse, leading to treatment failure [17, 18]. As a result, a thirdgeneration TKI known as ponatinib was developed, with potent activity against both wild-type and mutant BCR-ABL1, including T315I. Because of its broader spectrum of activity and promising clinical data, ponatinib is currently the preferred TKI inhibitor for the treatment of Ph-positive ALL at our institution.

While TKIs are an integral component to the treatment of Ph-positive ALL, the depth and duration of response with single-agent TKIs is suboptimal. Survival outcomes are significantly improved when combined with multi-agent chemotherapy regimens. A summary of TKI-based regimens in the frontline and relapsed and refractory (R/R) settings are shown in Tables 15.1 and 15.2, respectively.

15.3.1 Imatinib

Improvement in outcomes was seen when imatinib was combined with intensive chemotherapy in the frontline setting, demonstrating high CR rates greater than 90%, with OS ranging from 30% to 50%. [19–27, 37, 51] In a 13-year followup of a phase II study from MD Anderson Cancer Center, 54 patients with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL were treated with imatinib in combination with hyper-CVAD (hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and doxorubicin dexamethasone alternating with high-dose cytarabine and methotrexate) chemotherapy [25].

			Median age,		Overall		
	Reference	N	years (range)	CR, %	CMR, %	OS, %	HSCT, %
Intensive ch	emotherapy						
Imatinib	Lee et al. [19]	20	41 (16–71)	95	45	33 (5 years)	85
	Yanada et al. [20]	80	48 (15-63)	96	38	76 (1 year)	61
	de Labarthe et al. [21]	45	45 (16–59)	96	29	65 (1.5 years)	51
	Bassan et al. [22]	59	45 (30-66)	92	-	38 (5 years)	72
	Tanguy-Schmidt et al. [23]	45	45 (16–59)	96	61	52 (4 years)	76
	Fielding et al. [24]	169	42 (16-64)	92	-	38 (4 years)	72
	Daver et al. [25]	54	51 (17-84)	93	45	43 (5 years)	30
	Chalandon et al. [26]	133	45(21-59)	91	23	46 (5 years)	65
	Lim et al. [27]	87	41 (16–71)	94	89	33 (5 years)	64
Dasatinib	Ravandi et al. [28]	72	55 (21-80)	96	60	46 (5 years)	17
	Ravandi et al. [17]	97	44 (20-60)	88	-	69 (3 years)	42
Nilotinib	Kim et al. [29]	90	47 (17–71)	91	86	72 (2 years)	70
	Liu et al. [30]	30	40 (21–59)	100	83	45 (4 years)	53
Ponatinib	Jabbour et al. [31, 32]	76	46 (21-80)	100	86	78 (3 years)	24
Low-intensi	ty chemotherapy						
Imatinib	Chalandon et al. [26]	135	49 (18–59)	98	28	46 (5 years)	62
Dasatinib	Rousselot et al. [18]	71	69 (59–83)	96	24	36 (5 years)	19
	Chiaretti et al. [33]	60	42 (19-60)	97	19	58 (3 years)	42
Nilotinib	Ottmann et al. [34, 35]	79	65 (55-85)	94	42	47 (4 years)	16
	Chalandon et al. [36]	60	47 (18–59)	98	-	96 (1 year)	52
Chemothera	ıpy-free						
Imatinib	Vignetti et al. [37] ^a	29	69 (61-83)	100	4	74 (1 year)	-
Dasatinib	Foà et al. [38] ^a	53	54 (24–77)	100	15	69 (2 years)	34
	Fedullo et al. [9] ^a	63	55 (24-82)	97	36	94 (1 years)	19
Ponatinib	Martinelli et al. [39] ^a	42	69 (27-85)	93	46	83 (3 years)	-

Table 15.1 Treatment of Ph-positive ALL with TKI-based regimens in the frontline setting

Abbreviations: *CMR* complete molecular response, *CR* complete remission, *N* number of patients, *HSCT* hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, *OS* overall survival, *TKI* tyrosine kinase inhibitors ^aTKI plus corticosteroids

^bDasatinib plus corticosteroids followed by blinatumomab consolidation for at least two cycles

	Reference	N	Median age,	CCvP %	MCvP %	Median OS,
Monotherapy	Reference	14	years (range)	ССуК, Л	WICYK, 70	monuis
Imatinib	Ottmann et al. [40]	56ª	50 (22-78)	_	_	4.9
Dasatinib	Porkka et al. [41]	46	48	54	57	8.0
	Ottmann et al. [42]	36	46 (15-85)	58	42	-
	Lilly et al. [43]	84	52 (21–77)	-	70 vs. 52 ^b	9.1 vs. 6.5 ^b
Nilotonib	Ottmann et al. [44]	41	46 (18-75)	32	50	5.2
Ponatinib	Cortes et al. [45, 46]	449°	62 (20-80)	38	47	-
Combination therapy						-
Dasatinib + hyper-CVAD	Benjamini et al. [47]	34 ^d	52 (21–77)	42	35	-
Dasatinib + hyper-CVAD	Ravandi et al. [48]	23°	49 (21-69)	43	65	-
Bosutinib + INO	Jain et al. [49]	14 ^f	62 (19–74)	73	-	-
TKI + blinatumomab	Assi et al. [50]	20	65 (30–77)	71	75	Not reached

Table 15.2 Treatment of Ph-positive ALL with TKI-based regimens in the relapsed and refractory setting

Abbreviations: *BP-CML* blast phase chronic myeloid leukemia, *CCyR* complete cytogenetic response, *INO* inotuzumabozogamicin, *MCyR* major cytogenetic response, *N* number of patients, *OS* overall survival, *TKI* tyrosine kinase inhibitors, Hyper-CVAD (hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin dexamethasone alternating with cytarabine and methotrexate)

^a48 patients with Ph-positive ALL and 8 patients with BP-CML

^bDasatinib 140 mg daily was associated with higher MCyR and median OS than patients receiving dasatinib 70 mg twice daily

°32 patients with Ph-positive ALL and 417 patients with CML. The results provided are only in patient with ALL

^d19 patients with Ph-positive ALL and 15 patients with BP-CML

^e14 patients with Ph-positive ALL and 9 patients with BP-CML

f12 patients with Ph-positive ALL and 2 patients with BP-CML

CR was achieved in 93%, and among those who achieved CR, 87% achieved complete cytogenetic response (CCyR), 45% achieved complete molecular response (CMR), 38% achieved major molecular response (MMR, defined as BCR-ABL/ABL <0.1%). The 5-year OS and DFS rates were both 43%. Sixteen patients (30%) underwent allogeneic HSCT in first remission. No difference in DFS were observed in transplanted and non-transplanted patients (43% vs. 63%, p = 0.52). However, a trend toward improved outcomes (5-year DFS 82% vs. 33%, p = 0.16), although not statistically significant was seen in young patients <40 years, treated with imatinib plus hyper-CVAD followed by HSCT. The insignificant finding is most likely due to limited sample size in this subset of patients.

In a large prospective study, the outcome of newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL patients treated with imatinib-based therapy (n = 175) was compared with the outcome of patients treated with chemotherapy alone (n = 266) [24]. Patients in the imatinib cohort were stratified to

receive either imatinib in conjunction with the second cycle of induction therapy (n = 89, referred as "early imatinib") or imatinib as monotherapy after completing two cycles of induction therapy (n = 86, referred to as "late imatinib"). The CR and 4-year OS rates were significantly higher with imatinib plus chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone (CR: 92% vs. 82%, p = 0.004; OS: 38% vs. 22%, p = 0.003). When comparing the outcomes of early and late imatinib cohorts, a trend toward improved survival was seen with earlier exposure of imatinib (p = 0.1). By multivariate analysis, imatinib benefitted both transplanted and non-transplanted patients.

Despite improved outcomes with imatinib, several limitations exist, including poor CNS penetration and high incidences of secondary resistance and relapse, mainly driven by development of the T315I mutation. The suboptimal outcomes with imatinib-based therapy have subsequently led to the development of more potent second- and third-generation TKIs.

15.3.2 Dasatinib

Dasatinib is a multi-targeted kinase inhibitor of BCR-ABL1 and SRC-family kinases. Dasatinib inhibits BCR-ABL1 with binding affinity approximately 325 times more compared to imatinib [52]. Furthermore, the fact that dasatinib inhibits SRC-family kinases is important, as it is a known mechanism of resistance in downstream pathways that has been observed in imatinib-treated patients [15]. Another potential advantage of dasatinib is its enhanced penetration of the CNS compared to imatinib [1, 15]. Dasatinib has shown promising results both as a single agent and when combined with chemotherapy in the R/R setting, providing a rationale for utilizing dasatinib in the frontline setting. In a phase II study, the combination of dasatinib plus hyper-CVAD was studied in 72 patients (median age of 55 years) with untreated Ph-positive ALL [28]. The CR rate was 96%, and among those who achieved CR, 57 (83%) achieved CCyR after one cycle and 64 (93%) achieved MMR. Twenty-two patients (31%) relapsed, including 8 (36%) with CNS relapse despite receiving 8 prophylactic doses of intrathecal (IT) chemotherapy. Thirteen relapsed patients underwent a mutational analysis, and 7 patients (54%) developed ABL mutations: 4 with T315I, 2 with V299L, and 1 with F359V [28]. The 5-year OS rate was 46%. A subsequent multicenter trial that evaluated the same regimen in 97 younger patients (median age 44 years) with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL, similarly demonstrated a high combined CR and complete remission with incomplete hematologic recovery (CRi) rate of 88%. The 3-year OS and RFS rates were 69% and 62%, respectively [17]. A landmark analysis showed a statistically significant improvement in the 3-year RFS and OS (p = 0.038 and 0.037, respectively) in patients who underwent HSCT in first remission [17]. However, data are not available regarding the molecular response of patients who did or did not receive transplant. We therefore do not know whether the HSCT benefit was seen in all subgroups or whether

HSCT selectively benefited those with suboptimal early molecular response.

Recent studies have shown that dasatinib plus low-intensity or chemotherapy-free regimens appear to be an effective option, particularly in untreated older or unfit Ph-positive ALL patients [18, 33, 38]. One study evaluated 71 older patients (median age 69 years) with untreated Ph-positive ALL who were treated with dasatinib, dexamethasone, and vincristine. In this study, CR was achieved in 96% of patients, and CMR was achieved in 24%. The 5-year OS and EFS rates were 28% and 36%, respectively. A mutation analysis was conducted in 21 relapsed patients and 18 (75%) acquired T315I mutation and one acquired F317L [18]. Risk-adapted lower-intensity regimens have also been studied in younger populations. In the GIMEMA LAL 1509 study, 60 younger patients (median age 42 years) were treated with dasatinib plus corticosteroids [33]. Patients who did not achieve CMR by the end of induction therapy (day 85) subsequently received chemotherapy and/or allogeneic HSCT. Fifty-eight patients (97%) achieved CR and 11 (19%) achieved CMR at day 85. Importantly, the CMR rate was significantly lower in this study than CMR rates seen with dasatinib and intensive chemotherapy, suggesting that chemotherapy may contribute to deeper responses. Patients harboring both IKZF1 deletion plus CDKN2A/B and PAX5 deletions had inferior DFS and higher incidence of relapse of 40% vs. 65% and 40% vs. 14% at 18 months, respectively. For the entire population, the 3-year OS rate was 58%. Interestingly, superior DFS was observed in patients who achieved CMR compared to those who did not, despite these patients receiving only dasatinib and corticosteroids (day 85 DFS rates: 75% vs. 44%, p = 0.06) [33]. These results suggest that early, deep response to therapy may identify patients who may have good options with minimal therapy. With this, chemotherapy-free treatment has become an attractive option that has opened new avenues, with investigators exploring other combinations including dasatinib plus blinatumomab.

15.3.3 Nilotinib

Ongoing studies have demonstrated promising results when combining nilotinib with intensive chemotherapy in patients with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL. A phase II study evaluating nilotinib plus chemotherapy has found an overall CR of 91%, CMR of 86%, and a 2-year OS of 72%. Notably, patients who achieved deep molecular remissions had favorable survival outcomes, regardless of whether or not they underwent allogenic HSCT in first remission [29]. Another study showed similar results with CR achieved in 100% of patients, and CMR achieved in 83.3% [30]. Nilotinib was also studied in combination with low-intensity chemotherapy in older patients, resulting in CR and 2-year OS rates of 87% and 67%, respectively [34, 44]. Although the published data on nilotinib combinations are encouraging, the follow-up is generally short. Additionally, like imatinib and dasatinib, nilotinib does not have activity against the T315I mutation, likely limiting its potential to lead to durable remissions and cure in the absence of HSCT.

15.3.4 Ponatinib

Ponatinib has shown substantial anti-leukemic activity as monotherapy in a pivotal phase II (PACE) trial, demonstrating major cytogenetic response (MCyR) and CCyR rates of 47% and 38%, respectively. Despite this, the long-term survival outcomes remain low, with 3-year OS of 18% [45, 46]. In a single-center phase II study, 76 patients (median age 47 years) with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL received ponatinib (45 mg daily for 14 days during the first cycle, then continuously in subsequent cycles) plus hyper-CVAD [31, 53]. Two deaths from myocardial infarction potentially related to ponatinib treatment were noted in an initial report. Therefore, the protocol was amended to reduce the dose of ponatinib to 30 mg daily starting the second cycle, with further reduction to 15 mg daily once CMR was achieved. Thirtyfive patients (46%) had at least one underlying

CV risk factor including hypertension, hyperlipidemia, diabetes, coronary artery disease, and peripheral artery disease. All patients achieved CR, with 83% achieving CMR and 97% achieving MMR. No early mortality during induction therapy was noted. The 5-year continuous CR, EFS, and OS rates were 83%, 67%, and 71%, respectively. A landmark analysis at 6 months demonstrated a favorable trend toward improved OS in patients who did not undergo HSCT compared with those who did (87% vs. 70%, p = 0.32). In addition, no CNS relapses were observed in patients who received 12 prophylactic doses of IT chemotherapy. The most common grade 3-4 adverse events were transaminase (32%), increased bilirubin (17%), pancreatitis (17%), hypertension (16%), bleeding (13%), and skin rash (12%). After protocol amendment using lower ponatinib doses and better control of cardiovascular risk factors, no further significant vascular toxicities were encountered.

Ponatinib at a daily dose of 45 mg in combination with corticosteroids was evaluated in a phase II (GIMEMA) study in 42 older or unfit patients (median age 68 years) with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL [39]. The CR and CMR rates were 75% and 46% at 24 weeks, respectively; the estimated 2-year OS was 66%. The incidence of CMR with ponatinib was 20–25% higher than that of the combination of dasatinib and corticosteroids. Dose reductions were frequent, as only 15 patients (36%) were able to tolerate the initial dose of 45 mg daily at 24 weeks. During the study, 13 serious adverse events were reported including two deaths suspected to be related to ponatinib. It is possible that lower doses of ponatinib in elderly patients may improve tolerability without compromising efficacy. Given the lower rate of CMR with corticosteroids compared to intensive chemotherapy (46% vs. 83%), there is interest in evaluating the use of ponatinib with inotuzumab ozogamicin and/or blinatumomab, in hopes of reducing treatment-related mortality, achieving deeper responses and further improving outcomes.

With the positive outcomes seen with newer TKIs, the selection of the best TKI in the frontline setting has been increasingly questioned. There are no randomized head-to-head trials comparing the different TKIs. However, one multicenter meta-analysis and a propensity analysis have demonstrated improved response rates with ponatinib [54, 55]. When compared to hyper-CVAD plus dasatinib, a propensity score analysis showed improved OS with hyper-CVAD plus ponatinib (2-year: 83% vs. 61%; p = 0.03), which was likely driven by deeper remissions obtained with ponatinib (82% CMR rate) compared with dasatinib (65% CMR rate) and lower resistance rate driven by the acquisition of T315I mutation [55]. Some authors have considered whether baseline sequencing could identify patients who are most likely to benefit from later-generation TKIs, perhaps due to the presence of a pre-existing ABL1 resistance mutation. In the study by Rousselot and colleagues of dasatinib plus low-intensity chemotherapy, 36 patients were tested for ABL1 mutations by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) at the time of relapse, and 75% of patients were positive for the T315I mutation. The detection of this mutation was associated with early relapses compared to patients without it (median of 7 months vs. not reached, p < 0.001) [18]. While these findings suggested that perhaps baseline sequencing could help to select the optimal TKI, another study from MD Anderson Cancer Center using highly sensitive and specific Duplex Sequencing in 63 patients with untreated Ph-positive ALL prior to TKI initiation and during treatment showed that the very lowlevel ABL1 mutations present at baseline do not contribute to relapse [53]. Of note, using this highly accurate sequencing method, a pretreatment T315I mutation was only identified in 1 of 63 tested patients. Additional studies confirmed the superior accuracy of Duplex Sequencing compared to PCR for detection of ABL1 mutations. Thus, the practice at our institution is not to use baseline sequencing to select TKI therapy; rather, we use ponatinib as the frontline TKI for all patients without an absolute contraindication (e.g., active, severe cardiovascular disease).

15.4 CNS Prophylaxis

CNS relapse remains a significant therapeutic challenge in patients with Ph-positive ALL. The incidence of CNS relapse ranges from 8% to 17%, despite the use of TKI combination therapies and prophylactic IT chemotherapy [56]. This has led to the investigation of identifying the adequate number of IT chemotherapy needed to prevent CNS relapses. A retrospective review conducted at our institution compared the rate of CNS relapse in patients with newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL treated with ≤ 8 or > 8 prophylactic ITs plus hyper-CVAD and a TKI (mainly dasatinib) [57]. Higher incidence of CNS relapse was observed in those treated with ≤ 8 prophylactic ITs compared to those treated with >8 prophylactic ITs (10% vs. 0%, p = 0.23). The 3- and 6-year CNS RFS was 89% and 88%, respectively, in patients receiving ≤ 8 prophylactic ITs and 100% in patients receiving >8 ITs, respectively (p = 0.041). In a multivariate analysis, use of more prophylactic ITs (median of 12 treatments) was associated with decrease rate of CNS relapses (p = 0.03) [57]. As a result, the protocols at our institution were amended to increase the number of IT chemotherapy administrations to 12 for the treatment of newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL. The optimal number of prophylactic IT chemotherapy needed in patients with R/R Ph-positive ALL is currently unknown, although we routinely repeat 6-8 doses of IT chemotherapy at the time of relapse.

15.5 Monoclonal Antibodies and Immunotherapy

15.5.1 CD19 Targeted Antibody

Blinatumomab is a bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) that binds to CD3-positive cytotoxic T cells and CD19-positive B cells, resulting in apoptosis [58]. A small retrospective study showed that the combination of blinatumomab with a TKI, mainly ponatinib, was efficacious in 20 patients, with R/R Ph-positive ALL. Of the 20 patients included, 6 patients had positive MRD prior to the initiation of therapy. Overall, 50% achieved CR, 71% achieved CCyR, 75% achieved MMR, and all MRDpositive patients achieved MRD negativity [50]. In another small retrospective study, evaluating the combination of TKIs and blinatumomab found that 8 out of 9 patients with R/R Ph-positive ALL achieved MRD negativity after a median of one cycle, suggesting that this combination is an effective consolidation method for Ph-positive ALL patients to achieve or maintain CMR [59].

The GIMEMA LAL2116 D-Abla trial is the first trial that evaluated the sequential use of dasatinib plus corticosteroids as induction followed by consolidation with blinatumomab for at least two cycles in 63 patients with a median age of 54 years (range, 24-82 years) [60]. After the second cycle of blinatumomab, 32 patients (60%) achieved a molecular response, with 22 patients (41%) achieving CMR and 10 patients (19%) with positive non-quantifiable BCR-ABL1 transcripts. The rates of molecular responses further increased after subsequent cycles of blinatumomab, with rates of 69.2% after the third cycle and 79.4% after the fourth cycle. At the 12-month follow-up, the OS and DFS rates were 94.2% and 87.8%, respectively. In a mutation analysis conducted in 15 patients with positive MRD before the administration of blinatumomab, 6 patients acquired T315I mutation and 1 acquired E255K; however, these mutations cleared after initiation of blinatumomab [60]. Ongoing studies are evaluating the benefit of ponatinib plus blinatumomab, and the sequential use of ponatinib plus lowintensity chemotherapy as induction followed by blinatumomab (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03263572, NCT03147612). These combination therapies may provide safer and effective treatment modalities in the older population that is unsuitable for intensive chemotherapy or allogeneic HSCT. Early data suggest that both treatment options appear to be beneficial in preventing the emergence of T315Im, decreasing treatment-related mortality, deepening molecular responses, and, in turn, leading to more durable remissions.

15.5.2 CD22 Targeted Antibody

Inotuzumab ozogamicin (INO) is a CD22-directed antibody that is bound to calicheamicin, a potent alkylating agent [61]. The outcomes of INO in patients with R/R Ph-positive ALL were evaluated in a phase I/II (INO-1010) and a phase III (INO-1022) study [61, 62]. A total of 38 patients (16 from INO-1010 and 22 from INO-1022) with Ph-positive ALL were treated with INO compared to 27 patients treated with standard chemotherapy. Of note, 19 patients (86%) in the INO group and 26 patients (96%) in the standard chemotherapy group had prior treatment with one or more TKIs. Higher rates of CR/CRi and MRD negativity were achieved in patients receiving INO compared to standard chemotherapy; the CR/CRi rates were 56-73% and 56%, respectively, and the MRD negativity rates were 63% and 19%, respectively. However, no difference in OS and progressionfree survival (PFS) were observed [61].

In a phase I/II study, 12 patients with R/R Ph-positive ALL and 2 patients with blast phase chronic myeloid leukemia were treated with bosutinib (300-500 mg/day) plus INO at a weekly dose of 0.8 mg/m² on day 1 and 0.5 mg/ m^2 on day 8 and 15 followed by 1 mg/m² once every 4 weeks for patients who achieved a response. All but one patient (92%) achieved CR/ CRi. Of the 11 patients (79%) who achieved CR/ CRi, 91% (10/11) achieved CCyR, 79% (8/11) achieved MRD negativity, and 55% (6/11) achieved CMR. The median OS and EFS were 8.2 and 8.1 months, respectively [49]. The most common adverse event was elevated alanine transaminase, and no cases of veno-occlusive disease reported. Given the promising activity of INO, continued studies are underway to fully assess the safety and efficacy in patients with Ph-positive ALL (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01363297, NCT02311998).

15.5.3 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy

CAR-T-cell immunotherapy involves T cells that have been modified genetically to effec-

tively target cell surface and exert cytotoxic effects, in this case, against CD19-positive B cells [63]. Currently, tisagenlecleucel (KYMRIAH[®], Novartis), a CD19-directed autologous CAR-T-cell therapy, has been approved for the treatment of relapsed B-cell ALL in patients younger than 26 years. A paucity of literature suggests that the utilization of anti-CD19 CAR-T therapy for the treatment of relapsed Ph-positive ALL after standard chemotherapy or allogeneic HSCT may be a viable option [63]. Well-designed studies are warranted to fully assess the clinical outcomes of CAR-T patients with Ph-positive ALL and to determine who is most suitable for this approach.

15.6 Venetoclax

Venetoclax is a BCL2 inhibitor that has activity in hematological malignancies that express high levels of BCL-2, including Ph-positive ALL. However, in preclinical models, when venetoclax is given as monotherapy, resistance due to upregulation of MCL1, an antiapoptotic BCL2 family member, has been observed [64]. The combination of TKIs and venetoclax have shown to have synergistic activity in preclinical studies. Evidence has suggested that venetoclax plus a BCR-ABL1 TKI may potentially overcome MCL1-mediated resistance seen with venetoclax therapy. The highest degree of synergy was observed with dasatinib and ponatinib. This is due to the inhibition of LYN kinase, known to play a major role in cell proliferation and apoptosis. Inhibiting LYN activity leads to reduced STAT5 phosphorylation, thereby preventing MCL1 upregulation [65]. Preclinical studies evaluating dasatinib plus venetoclax demonstrated superior cytotoxic effects when compared to either agents alone [66]. Given the promising results in preclinical trials, the combination of venetoclax plus ponatinib in R/R Ph-positive ALL is presently being studied at our institution (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03576547).

15.7 Role of Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant

Historically, the standard of care in adults with Ph-positive ALL was combination chemotherapy followed by allogeneic HSCT in all eligible patients. Allogeneic HSCT has improved survival outcomes; however, high incidences of relapse and non-relapse mortality are limiting factors. As TKIs have revolutionized the treatment of Ph-positive ALL, the role of allogeneic HSCT has become less clear. Evidence has shown a trend toward improved outcomes with earlier generation TKIs (e.g., imatinib) followed by HSCT compared to chemotherapy alone. However, this benefit was generally not seen in patients who achieved deep molecular responses with TKI and intensive chemotherapy [24–26, 28]. However, among patients who do undergo HSCT, outcomes are better for patients with deeper pre-HSCT molecular response. For example, in one large study, including 441 patients treated with TKI followed by HSCT, OS was significantly better in patients who achieved CMR at the time of HSCT [67]. Deeper molecular responses may also identify patients who do not need to undergo HSCT in the first remission. One study evaluated the impact of CMR in 85 patients with Ph-positive ALL who received TKI plus hyper-CVAD without subsequent allogenic HSCT [68]. The 4-year OS and RFS rates in patients who achieved CMR at 3 months were 66% and 61%, respectively. Overall, these excellent long-term survival results for patients who did not undergo HSCT suggest that HSCT may be safely deferred in first remission for patients who achieve CMR by 3 months of therapy. Thus, our preference is to use the TKI and regimen associated with the highest rate of early CMR.

For patients who remain MRD-positive at 3 months after induction therapy, the historical standard of care has been allogeneic HSCT. However, in the blinatumomab era, it has becomes less clear whether allogenic HSCT is needed to further improve survival outcomes in patients who achieved negative MRD after blinatumomab initiation. In the BLAST trial, patients MRD-positive B-cell ALL with (mainly Ph-negative) received blinatumomab (15 μ g/m² per day by continuous IV infusion) for up to four cycles [69]. After the first cycle, complete MRD response was achieved in 80% of patients (75%) in patients with Ph-positive ALL). A post hoc analysis found no significant difference in OS in patients who underwent allogenic HSCT compared with those who continued to receive chemotherapy after MRD negativity was achieved (p = 0.24). As a result, data from this trial was extrapolated to guide treatment decision in patients with Ph-positive disease at our institution. Our preference is to enroll patients in a clinical trial with blinatumomab or INO, with the goal of achieving MRD clearance, which may translate to durable remissions. Given the high risk of transplant-related morbidity and mortality, the decision for HSCT should be individualized, accounting for underlying comorbidities and risk factors [69].

Several studies have been conducted evaluating the clinical outcomes of maintenance therapy after allogeneic HSCT. In the largest retrospective study including 473 transplanted patients, 157 patients received a TKI (mainly imatinib) for primary prophylaxis against relapse. Primary prophylaxis with TKIs was associated with an improved OS (p = 0.002), as well as reduced risk of relapsed (p = 0.01) and non-relapse mortality (p = 0.01) [70]. In another study, imatinib (400 mg daily) was administered to patients with MRD positivity after allogeneic (n = 25) or autologous HSCT (n = 2). MRD negativity was achieved in 14 patients (52%) after a median duration of 1.5 months. A high relapse rate of 92% was observed in patients who failed to achieve MRD negativity. Additionally, a study reported by Pfeifer and colleagues showed that the use of imatinib both prophylactically and pre-emptively was associated with lower relapse rate and durable remissions in Ph-positive ALL [71]. Published studies thus far have demonstrated the rationale of utilizing TKIs as maintenance therapy post allogenic HSCT [72]. To date, there is no consensus on which TKI is best for maintenance therapy, and future studies are needed to evaluate ponatinib in this setting. Our approach is to give post-HSCT TKIs for at least 2–3 years, usually with ponatinib, given its broader range of activity.

15.8 Conclusion

The incorporation of TKIs into induction, consolidation, and maintenance therapy has greatly improved clinical outcomes and is considered the standard of care for adults with Ph-positive ALL. Despite the significant progress in generating deep molecular remission, frequent relapses remain to be a challenge. There has been significant advancement in understanding the biology of the disease and prognostic impact of genomic and chromosomal abnormalities. This led to the development of novel treatment modalities, including more potent TKIs (e.g., ponatinib), bispecific T-cell engager (e.g., blinatumomab), drug conjugate monoclonal antibodies (e.g., inotuzumab ozogamicin), and CAR-T therapies all propagating the hope to further improve clinical outcomes. Figure 15.1 illustrates the proposed treatment algorithm for patients with Ph-positive ALL. Further studies are needed to shed light on the role of reduced or chemotherapy-free induction therapy, the benefit of allogenic HSCT in first remission, and the effect of prophylactic TKI post-HSCT.



*Ponatinib-based therapy is preferred

Abbreviations-CMR: complete molecular response, HSCT: hematopoietic stem cell transplant, MRD: minimal residual disease, TKI: tyrosine kinase inhibitor

Fig. 15.1 Treatment algorithm of newly diagnosed Ph-positive ALL at MD Anderson Cancer Center. Abbreviations: *CMR* complete molecular response, *HSCT*

hematopoietic stem cell transplant, *MRD* minimal residual disease, *TKI* tyrosine kinase inhibitor

References

- Liu-Dumlao T, Kantarjian H, Thomas DA, et al. Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: current treatment options. Curr Oncol Rep. 2012;14: 387–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11912-012-0247-7.
- Yilmaz M, Kantarjian H, Ravandi-Kashani F, et al. Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults: current treatments and future perspectives. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol. 2018;16:216–23.
- Leoni V, Biondi A. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors in BCR-ABL positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2015;100:295–9. https://doi. org/10.3324/haematol.2015.124016.
- Stirewalt DL, Guthrie KA, Beppu L, et al. Predictors of relapse and overall survival in Philadelphia chromosome–positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia after transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2003;9:206–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1083-8791(03)70011-1.
- Ravandi F. How I treat Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2019;133:130–6. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2018-08-832105.
- Kang Z-J, Liu Y-F, Xu L-Z, et al. The Philadelphia chromosome in leukemogenesis. Chin J Cancer. 2016;35:48. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40880-016-0108-0.
- 7. Martinelli G, Iacobucci I, Storlazzi CT, et al. IKZF1 (Ikaros) deletions in BCR-ABL1-positive acute

lymphoblastic leukemia are associated with short disease-free survival and high rate of cumulative incidence of relapse: a GIMEMA AL WP report. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:5202–7. https://doi.org/10.1200/ jco.2008.21.6408.

- Ribera J, Morgades M, Zamora L, et al. Prognostic significance of copy number alterations in adolescent and adult patients with precursor B acute lymphoblastic leukemia enrolled in PETHEMA protocols. Cancer. 2015;121:3809–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.29579.
- Fedullo AL, Messina M, Elia L, et al. Prognostic implications of additional genomic lesions in adult Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2019;104:312–8. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2018.196055.
- Pfeifer H, Raum K, Markovic S, et al. Genomic CDKN2A/2B deletions in adult Ph(+) ALL are adverse despite allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2018;131:1464–75. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2017-07-796862.
- 11. Scheijen B, Boer JM, Marke R, et al. Tumor suppressors BTG1 and IKZF1 cooperate during mouse leukemia development and increase relapse risk in B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients. Haematologica. 2017;102:541–51. https:// doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2016.153023.
- Short NJ, Kantarjian H, Pui CH, et al. SOHO state of the art update and next questions: Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2018;18:439–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clml.2018.05.015.
- Short NJ, Kantarjian HM, Sasaki K, et al. Poor outcomes associated with +der(22)t(9;22) and -9/9p in patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia receiving chemotherapy plus a tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Am J Hematol. 2017;92:238–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.24625.
- 14. Hughes T, Deininger M, Hochhaus A, et al. Monitoring CML patients responding to treatment with tyrosine kinase inhibitors: review and recommendations for harmonizing current methodology for detecting BCR-ABL transcripts and kinase domain mutations and for expressing results. Blood. 2006;108:28–37. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-01-0092.
- Ravandi F. Managing Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: role of tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2011;11:198–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clml.2011.03.002.
- Zhou T, Commodore L, Huang W-S, et al. Structural mechanism of the Pan-BCR-ABL inhibitor ponatinib (AP24534): lessons for overcoming kinase inhibitor resistance. Chem Biol Drug Des. 2011;77:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-0285.2010.01054.x.
- Ravandi F, Othus M, O'Brien SM, et al. US intergroup study of chemotherapy plus Dasatinib and allogeneic stem cell transplant in Philadelphia chromosome positive ALL. Blood Adv. 2016;1:250–9. https://doi. org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2016001495.

- Rousselot P, Coudé MM, Gokbuget N, et al. Dasatinib and low-intensity chemotherapy in elderly patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive ALL. Blood. 2016;128:774–82. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2016-02-700153.
- Lee KH, Lee JH, Choi SJ, et al. Clinical effect of imatinib added to intensive combination chemotherapy for newly diagnosed Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2005;19:1509–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.leu.2403886.
- 20. Yanada M, Takeuchi J, Sugiura I, et al. High complete remission rate and promising outcome by combination of imatinib and chemotherapy for newly diagnosed BCR-ABL-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a phase II study by the Japan Adult Leukemia Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:460–6. https://doi. org/10.1200/jco.2005.03.2177.
- 21. de Labarthe A, Rousselot P, Huguet-Rigal F, et al. Imatinib combined with induction or consolidation chemotherapy in patients with de novo Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of the GRAAPH-2003 study. Blood. 2007;109:1408–13. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2006-03-011908.
- Bassan R, Rossi G, Pogliani EM, et al. Chemotherapyphased imatinib pulses improve long-term outcome of adult patients with Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Northern Italy Leukemia Group protocol 09/00. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:3644–52. https://doi.org/10.1200/ jco.2010.28.1287.
- 23. Tanguy-Schmidt A, Rousselot P, Chalandon Y, et al. Long-term follow-up of the imatinib GRAAPH-2003 study in newly diagnosed patients with de novo Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a GRAALL study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2013;19:150–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbmt.2012.08.021.
- Fielding AK, Rowe JM, Buck G, et al. UKALLXII/ ECOG2993: addition of imatinib to a standard treatment regimen enhances long-term outcomes in Philadelphia positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2014;123:843–50. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2013-09-529008.
- 25. Daver N, Thomas D, Ravandi F, et al. Final report of a phase II study of imatinib mesylate with hyper-CVAD for the front-line treatment of adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2015;100:653–61. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2014.118588.
- Chalandon Y, Thomas X, Hayette S, et al. Randomized study of reduced-intensity chemotherapy combined with imatinib in adults with Ph-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;125:3711–9. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2015-02-627935.
- Lim SN, Joo YD, Lee KH, et al. Long-term followup of imatinib plus combination chemotherapy in patients with newly diagnosed Philadelphia

chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Am J Hematol. 2015;90:1013–20. https://doi. org/10.1002/ajh.24137.

- Ravandi F, O'Brien SM, Cortes JE, et al. Long-term follow-up of a phase 2 study of chemotherapy plus dasatinib for the initial treatment of patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer. 2015;121:4158–64. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.29646.
- Kim D-Y, Joo Y-D, Lim S-N, et al. Nilotinib combined with multiagent chemotherapy for newly diagnosed Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;126:746–56. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2015-03-636548.
- 30. Liu B, Wang Y, Zhou C, et al. Nilotinib combined with multi-agent chemotherapy in newly diagnosed Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a single-center prospective study with long-term follow-up. Ann Hematol. 2019;98:633–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00277-019-03594-1.
- 31. Jabbour E, Kantarjian H, Ravandi F, et al. Combination of hyper-CVAD with ponatinib as first-line therapy for patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a single-centre, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:1547–55. https://doi. org/10.1016/s1470-2045(15)00207-7.
- 32. Jabbour E, Short NJ, Ravandi F, et al. Combination of hyper-CVAD with ponatinib as first-line therapy for patients with Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: long-term follow-up of a single-centre, phase 2 study. Lancet Haematol. 2018;5:e618–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s2352-3026(18)30176-5.
- 33. Chiaretti S, Vitale A, Elia L, et al. Multicenter total therapy GIMEMA LAL 1509 protocol for de novo adult Ph+ acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) patients. Updated results and refined genetic-based prognostic stratification. Blood. 2015;126:81. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood.V126.23.81.81.
- 34. Ottmann OG, Pfeifer H, Cayuela J-M, et al. Nilotinib (Tasigna®) and chemotherapy for first-line treatment in elderly patients with de novo Philadelphia chromosome/BCR-ABL1 positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL): a trial of the European Working Group for Adult ALL (EWALL-PH-02). Blood. 2014;124:798. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V124.21.798.798.
- Ottmann OG, Pfeifer H, Cayuela J-M, et al. Nilotinib (Tasigna[®]) and low intensity chemotherapy for firstline treatment of elderly patients with BCR-ABL1positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: final results of a prospective multicenter trial (EWALL-PH02). Blood. 2018;132:31. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2018-99-114552.
- 36. Chalandon Y, Rousselot P, Cayuela J-M, Thomas X, Clappier E, Havelange V, et al. Nilotinib combined with lower-intensity chemotherapy for front-line treatment of younger adults with Ph-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: interim analysis of the GRAAPH-2014 trial. Eur Hematol Assoc. 2018;2(1)

- 37. Vignetti M, Fazi P, Cimino G, et al. Imatinib plus steroids induces complete remissions and prolonged survival in elderly Philadelphia chromosome-positive patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia without additional chemotherapy: results of the Gruppo Italiano Malattie Ematologiche dell'Adulto (GIMEMA) LAL0201-B protocol. Blood. 2007;109:3676-8. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2006-10-052746.
- Foà R, Vitale A, Vignetti M, et al. Dasatinib as firstline treatment for adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome–positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2011;118:6521–8. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2011-05-351403.
- 39. Martinelli G, Piciocchi A, Papayannidis C, et al. First report of the GIMEMA LAL1811 phase II prospective study of the combination of steroids with ponatinib as frontline therapy of elderly or unfit patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2017;130:99. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood.V130.Suppl_1.99.99.
- 40. Ottmann OG, Druker BJ, Sawyers CL, et al. A phase 2 study of imatinib in patients with relapsed or refractory Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoid leukemias. Blood. 2002;100:1965–71. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2001-12-0181.
- 41. Porkka K, Simonsson B, Dombret H, et al. Efficacy of dasatinib in patients with Philadelphia-chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia who are resistant or intolerant to imatinib: 2-year follow-up data from START-L (CA180-015). Blood. 2007;110:2810. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V110.11.2810.2810.
- 42. Ottmann O, Dombret H, Martinelli G, et al. Dasatinib induces rapid hematologic and cytogenetic responses in adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia with resistance or intolerance to imatinib: interim results of a phase 2 study. Blood. 2007;110:2309–15. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2007-02-073528.
- 43. Lilly MB, Ottmann OG, Shah NP, et al. Dasatinib 140 mg once daily versus 70 mg twice daily in patients with Ph-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia who failed imatinib: results from a phase 3 study. Am J Hematol. 2010;85:164–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajh.21615.
- 44. Ottmann OG, Larson RA, Kantarjian HM, et al. Phase II study of nilotinib in patients with relapsed or refractory Philadelphia chromosome—positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2013;27:1411–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.324.
- 45. Cortes JE, Kim D-W, Pinilla-Ibarz J, et al. Initial findings from the PACE trial: a pivotal phase 2 study of ponatinib in patients with CML and Ph+ ALL resistant or intolerant to dasatinib or nilotinib, or with the T315I mutation. Blood. 2011;118:109. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood.V118.21.109.109.
- 46. Cortes JE, Kim D-W, Pinilla-Ibarz J, et al. Ponatinib efficacy and safety in Philadelphia chromosomepositive leukemia: final 5-year results of the phase

2 PACE trial. Blood. 2018;132:393-404. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2016-09-739086.

- 47. Benjamini O, Dumlao TL, Kantarjian H, et al. Phase II trial of hyper CVAD and dasatinib in patients with relapsed Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia or blast phase chronic myeloid leukemia. Am J Hematol. 2014;89:282–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.23624.
- 48. Ravandi F, Kantarjian HM, Cortes J, et al. Combination of the hypercvad regimen with dasatinib is effective in patients with relapsed Philadelphia chromosome (Ph) positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and lymphoid blast phase chronic myeloid leukemia (CML-LB). Blood. 2009;114:2043. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood.V114.22.2043.2043.
- 49. Jain N, Cortes JE, Ravandi F, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin in combination with bosutinib for patients with relapsed or refractory Ph+ ALL or CML in lymphoid blast phase. Blood. 2017;130:143. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood.V130.Suppl_1.143.143.
- 50. Assi R, Kantarjian H, Short NJ, et al. Safety and efficacy of blinatumomab in combination with a tyrosine kinase inhibitor for the treatment of relapsed Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2017;17:897–901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clml.2017.08.101.
- Wassmann B, Pfeifer H, Goekbuget N, et al. Alternating versus concurrent schedules of imatinib and chemotherapy as front-line therapy for Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph+ ALL). Blood. 2006;108:1469–77. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2005-11-4386.
- 52. Laurini E, Posocco P, Fermeglia M, et al. Through the open door: Preferential binding of dasatinib to the active form of BCR-ABL unveiled by in silico experiments. Mol Oncol. 2013;7:968–75. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.molonc.2013.06.001.
- 53. Short NJ, Kantarjian HM, Kanagal-Shamanna R, et al. Ultra-accurate assessment of pretreatment ABL1 kinase domain (KD) mutations in patients (pts) with newly diagnosed Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph+ ALL) using duplex sequencing (DS). Blood. 2019;134:2578. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2019-125131.
- 54. Jabbour E, DerSarkissian M, Duh MS, et al. Efficacy of ponatinib versus earlier generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors for front-line treatment of newly diagnosed Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2018;18:257–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clml.2018.02.010.
- 55. Sasaki K, Jabbour EJ, Ravandi F, et al. Hyper-CVAD plus ponatinib versus hyper-CVAD plus dasatinib as frontline therapy for patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a propensity score analysis. Cancer. 2016;122:3650– 6. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30231.
- 56. Sanchez R, Ayala R, Alonso RA, et al. Clinical characteristics of patients with central nervous system relapse in BCR-ABL1-positive acute lym-

phoblastic leukemia: the importance of characterizing ABL1 mutations in cerebrospinal fluid. Ann Hematol. 2017;96:1069–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00277-017-3002-1.

- 57. Paul S, Sasaki K, Savoy JM, et al. Title: 12 versus 8 prophylactic intrathecal (IT) chemotherapy administration decrease incidence of central nervous system (CNS) relapse in patients (pts) with newly diagnosed Philadelphia (Ph)-positive acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL). Blood. 2019;134:3810. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2019-130284.
- Lee KJ, Chow V, Weissman A, et al. Clinical use of blinatumomab for B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2016;12:1301– 10. https://doi.org/10.2147/TCRM.S84261.
- 59. King AC, Pappacena JJ, Tallman MS, et al. Blinatumomab administered concurrently with oral tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy is a well-tolerated consolidation strategy and eradicates measurable residual disease in adults with Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leuk. Res. 2019;79:27–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. leukres.2019.02.009.
- Chiaretti S, Bassan R, Vitale A, et al. Dasatinibblinatumomab combination for the front-line treatment of adult Ph+ ALL patients. updated results of the GIMEMA LAL2116 D-Alba trial. Blood. 2019;134:740. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2019-128759.
- 61. Stock W, Martinelli G, Stelljes M, et al. Outcomes with inotuzumab ozogamicin (InO) in patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive (Ph+) relapsed/ refractory (R/R) acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:7030. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2018.36.15_suppl.7030.
- 62. Kantarjian HM, DeAngelo DJ, Stelljes M, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin versus standard of care in relapsed or refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia: final report and long-term survival follow-up from the randomized, phase 3 INO-VATE study. Cancer. 2019;125:2474–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.32116.
- Zhu Y-M, Wu Z, Tan Y-P, et al. Anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for adult Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: two case reports. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95:–e5676. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MD.0000000000005676.
- 64. Leonard JT, Tyner JW, Rowley J, et al. Venetoclax resistant Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells are also resistant to ABL inhibitors, which can be overcome by targeting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway. Blood. 2016;128:1583. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V128.22.1583.1583.
- Ph+ALL cells are susceptible to dual targeting of BCL2 and ABL/LYN. Cancer Discov. 2016;6:1081. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-RW2016-168.
- 66. Leonard JT, Rowley JS, Eide CA, et al. Targeting BCL-2 and ABL/LYN in Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Sci Transl

Med. 2016;8:354ra114. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf5309.

- 67. Candoni A, Rambaldi A, Fanin R, et al. Outcome of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia in the era of tyrosine kinase inhibitors: a registry-based study of the Italian Blood and Marrow Transplantation Society (GITMO). Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2019;25:2388–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2019.07.037.
- 68. Short NJ, Jabbour E, Sasaki K, et al. Impact of complete molecular response on survival in patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2016;128:504–7. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2016-03-707562.
- Gokbuget N, Dombret H, Bonifacio M, et al. Blinatumomab for minimal residual disease in adults with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2018;131:1522–31. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2017-08-798322.

- Bachanova V, Marks DI, Zhang MJ, et al. Ph+ ALL patients in first complete remission have similar survival after reduced intensity and myeloablative allogeneic transplantation: impact of tyrosine kinase inhibitor and minimal residual disease. Leukemia. 2014;28:658–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/ leu.2013.253.
- 71. Pfeifer H, Wassmann B, Bethge W, et al. Randomized comparison of prophylactic and minimal residual disease-triggered imatinib after allogeneic stem cell transplantation for BCR-ABL1-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2013;27:1254–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.352.
- Wassmann B, Pfeifer H, Stadler M, et al. Early molecular response to posttransplantation imatinib determines outcome in MRD+ Philadelphiapositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph+ ALL). Blood. 2005;106:458–63. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2004-05-1746.

Ph-Like ALL: Diagnosis and Management

Emily K. Curran and Sarah K. Tasian

16.1 Clinical Characteristics

Ph-like ALL is now known to be a common subset of B-ALL across the age spectrum [1, 2], occurring in approximately 8% of children with National Cancer Institute (NCI) standard risk (SR) [3-7] and 15% of children with NCI high-risk (HR) B-ALL [8–10]. Ph-like ALL is even more prevalent with increasing age, occurring in up to 30% of adolescents and young adults (AYAs) 16-39 years old and in 20–40% of adults 40 years and older [8, 11-16]. Patients with Ph-like ALL often present with hyperleukocytosis at diagnosis with white blood cell (WBC) counts >50,000 cells/mL [8, 9, 14] and are twice as likely to be male than female [8, 13, 14]. The Ph-like subgroup has also been strongly associated with Hispanic/Latino and Native American ancestry [13, 17], likely in part

related to the inherited susceptibility locus in *GATA3* that is more prevalent in this population [18–20]. Ph-like ALL-associated *cytokine receptor-like factor 2 (CRLF2)* rearrangements (described in detail below) are also particularly common in patients of Hispanic/Latino and Native American ethnicity.

Ph-like ALL is associated with inferior clinical outcomes in both children and adults with >60% relapse risk identified in numerous retrospective analyses [8, 9, 13-15, 17, 21]. Most patients with Ph-like ALL have minimal residual disease (MRD) after induction therapy [9, 12–15, 21], but their ability to achieve MRD negativity by end of consolidation therapy, a now-known extremely important prognostic time point [22], has not been systematically studied. While one study reported that risk-directed treatment based upon end-ofinduction (EOI) MRD status could abrogate the adverse prognosis of Ph-like ALL [23], other larger cooperative group studies have not confirmed this observation [21]. Current and planned clinical trials of targeted treatment strategies aimed to reduce relapse risk and improve longterm survival are discussed later in this chapter.

16.2 Genetics and Biology

To date, more than 70 discrete Ph-like ALLassociated kinase fusions and mutations have been identified with incidence that varies

Check for updates

Author contributions: E.K.C. and S.K.T. wrote and edited the manuscript. Both the authors reviewed and approved the final version.

E. K. Curran · S. K. Tasian (⊠) Department of Medicine, Section of Hematology and Oncology, University of Cincinnati School of Medicine, Cincinnati, OH, USA

Division of Oncology and Center for Childhood Cancer Research, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Department of Pediatrics and Abramson Cancer Center, University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: tasians@email.chop.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_16



Fig. 16.1 Incidence of Ph-like genetic alterations in children, adolescents/young adults, and older adults with B-ALL. (*Data are summarized from Reshmi et al. Blood*

2017 (n = 284 patients) [9] and Roberts et al. JCO 2017 (n = 194 patients) [14])

slightly among younger versus older patients (Fig. 16.1) [1]. Despite this genetic heterogeneity, all Ph-like ALL cases are characterized by constitutive cytokine receptor and kinase signaling [24-26], the majority of which can be "binned" into (1) JAK/STAT pathway-activated or (2) ABL/PDGFR pathway-activated subtypes [8, 11, 27, 28]. JAK-STAT signaling activation in Ph-like ALL is driven by CRLF2 (cytokine receptor-like factor 2) rearrangements, JAK2 (Janus kinase 2) or EPOR (erythtranslocations, ropoietin receptor) and mutations in JAK-STAT pathway-associated genes, including SH2B3 deletions and IL7R insertions/deletions (indels) and other rare point mutations. ABL/PDGFR pathway activation occurs in "ABL class" Ph-like ALL harboring rearrangements of ABL1 (Abelson kinase 1), ABL2 (Abelson kinase 2), CSF1R (colonystimulating factor-1 receptor), or PDGFRB (platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta). These Ph-like ALL-associated alterations are described in greater detail below.

16.2.1 CRLF2 Rearrangements and Overexpression

Rearrangements of *CRLF2* resulting in its overexpression and constitutive signaling activation are the most common genetic lesions and occur in approximately 50-60% of children and adults with Ph-like ALL [8, 14, 29, 30]. In normal B-cell development, CRLF2 and interleukin receptor alpha (IL7R α) proteins form the heterodimeric thymic stromal lymphopoietin receptor (TSLPR) complex that induces B-cell proliferation and differentiation and STAT5 phosphorylation upon binding to its ligand, thymic stromal lymphopoeitin (TSLP) [31-33]. In Ph-like ALL, CRLF2 alterations result in TSLPR surface antigen overexpression readily detectable by flow cytometry and activation of JAK2/STAT5 and PI3K/mTOR intracellular signaling [11, 27, 34]. Numerous preclinical studies have demonstrated the in vitro and in vivo therapeutic potential of JAK and PI3K pathway inhibitors in CRLF2-rearranged ALL [11, 27, 34–38].

There are two major mechanisms of *CRLF2* rearrangement that result in *CRLF2* overexpression. One involves translocation of *CRLF2* (located on the pseudoautosomal region [PAR1] of chromosome X or Y) to the immunoglobulin heavy chain transcriptional enhancer on chromosome 14 (*IGH-CRLF2*), which is the more common rearrangement in AYA patients and is more frequent in Hispanic patients [13, 17, 29, 30]. The second alteration involves fusion of *P2RY8* to *CRLF2* via focal interstitial deletion of PAR1 located at chromosome Xp22/Yp11 [24,

29]. P2YR8-CRLF2 fusions are two- to fivefold more common than IGH-CRLF2 rearrangements in younger children [9, 29, 39] and also occur in 60% of children with trisomy 21-associated ALL [4, 29, 40]. While virtually all Ph-like cases harboring *IGH-CRLF2* translocations have the classic kinase-activated gene expression signature detectable by a Ph-like low-density microarray assay [41] (LDA; described in detail below), not all cases with P2RY8-CRLF2 fusions have the LDA signature and are thus not considered Ph-like, particularly in children with SR B-ALL [7] or trisomy 21/Down syndrome-associated B-ALL [17, 29, 40, 42]. Rare activating point mutations in CRLF2 (usually F232C) that also result in TSLPR surface overexpression have also been described in patients with Ph-like ALL [5, 11, 27], but these are significantly less common than the IGH-CRLF2 and *P2YR8-CRLF2* rearrangements.

Approximately half of patients with CRLF2rearranged Ph-like ALL have concomitant Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) or JAK1 mutations, with the most common being R683G in the JAK2 pseudokinase domain [9, 11, 14, 17, 29, 40, 43, 44]. These JAK mutations appear to cooperate with CRLF2 rearrangements to promote leukemogenesis and induce constitutive kinase signaling that is sensitive in vitro and in vivo to JAK inhibitors, such as ruxolitinib and CHZ868 [27, 29, 35–38]. Patients with CRLF2-rearranged Ph-like ALL may also have mutations in other components of the JAK-STAT pathway, such as *IL7R* indels [8, 9, 45], leading to similarly activated signaling that is also sensitive to JAK inhibition [37, 46, 47].

16.2.2 JAK2 and EPOR Rearrangements and Other JAK Pathway Alterations

Often cytogenetically cryptic *JAK2* and *EPOR* rearrangements are also relatively common, each occurring in approximately 8–10% of NCI highrisk children and AYAs with Ph-like ALL, but virtually never in younger children with SR B-ALL [7]. *JAK2* fusions appear to increase in

frequency with increasing age with a peak incidence in young adults [8, 9, 14]. As with CRLF2 rearrangements, JAK2 and EPOR fusions also result in constitutive activation of JAK/STAT signaling and are quite sensitive to JAK inhibitors in vitro and in vivo [8, 15, 28, 34, 37, 48]. More than ten unique JAK2 fusion partners have been reported to date [1]. At least four EPOR fusion partners have been described, all of which result in a truncation of the cytoplasmic tail of EPOR and lead to deregulated expression [28]. Finally, rare alterations in other JAK/STAT pathway genes occur in approximately 6-7% of patients with Ph-like ALL, including activating mutations in IL7R α , JAK1, JAK3, TYK2, and TSLP and deletions of JAK/STAT-negative regulatory genes, such as SH2B3 (Table 16.1) [9, 14].

Table 16.1 Currently identified JAK/STAT and ABL class lesions and fusion partners in Ph-like ALL

	3' kinase		# Fusion
Subtype	gene	5' fusion partners	partners
JAK/	CRLF2	CSF2RA, IGH, P2RY8	3
STAT	JAK2	ATF7IP, BCR, EBF1,	21
		ETV6, GOLGA5,	
		HMBOX1, OFD1,	
		PAX5, PCM1,	
		PPFIBP1, RFX3,	
		SMU1, SNX29, SSBP2,	
		STRN3, TERF2, TPR,	
		USP25, ZBTB46,	
		ZNF274, ZNF340	
	EPOR	IGH, IGK, LAIR1,	4
		THADA	
	TSLP	IQGAP2	1
ABL	ABL1	CENPC, ETV6,	13
class		FOXP1, LSM14A,	
		NUP153, NUP214,	
		RANBP2, RCSD1,	
		SFPQ, SNX1, SNX2,	
		SPTNA1, ZMIZ1	
	ABL2	PAG1, RCSD1,	3
		ZC3HAV1	
	CSF1R	MEF2D, SSBP2,	3
		TBL1XR1	
	PDGFRA	FIP1L1	1
	PDGFRB	ATF7IP, EBF1, ETV6,	8
		SNX29, SSBP2,	
		TNIP1, ZEB2,	
		ZMYND8	
	LYN	GATAD2A, NCOR1	2

16.2.3 ABL Class Rearrangements

Rearrangements of ABL class genes (ABL1, ABL2, CSF1R, PDGFRA, PDGFRB) occur in 10-15% of children and adults with Ph-like ALL and are mutually exclusive from CRLF2 rearrangements and other JAK pathway alterations [8, 9, 14]. Similarly to JAK2 and EPOR rearrangements, ABL class alterations are extremely uncommon in children with SR B-ALL [7]. Numerous 3' fusion partners with the 5' ABL class genes have also been reported (Table 16.1). Of note, patients with PDGFRB fusions (most commonly EBF1-PDGFRB) frequently present with WBC > 100,000 cells/mL and fail induction therapy [49–51]. Preclinical studies demonstrate appreciable sensitivity of Ph-like leukemias with ABL class alterations to SRC/ABL inhibitors [15, 44]. Anecdotal clinical reports have also noted excellent responses of patients with therapy-resistant ABL class-mutant Ph-like ALL when imatinib or dasatinib was added to chemotherapy [8, 49, 50, 52].

16.2.4 Other Kinase Alterations

Rare fusions involving other kinases have also been reported in patients with Ph-like ALL, some occurring as n = 1 cases. Involved fusion genes include *NTRK3*, *BLNK*, *DGKH*, *FGFR1*, *IL2RB*, *LYN*, *PTK2B*, *TYK2* [6, 8, 9, 14, 53–55]. Ras pathway mutations (e.g., in *KRAS*, *PTPN11*, *NF1*, and *NRAS* genes) also occur in approximately 3–6% of patients with Ph-like ALL but are often subclonal and typically occur in association with *CRLF2* overexpression [8, 13]. Preclinical studies in Ph-like ALL and other malignancies suggest that some of these fusions and mutations may be therapeutically targetable with kinase inhibitors or other small molecule inhibitors [56].

16.3 Diagnosis of Ph-Like ALL

Identification of Ph-like ALL-associated alterations has been challenging given the tremendous genetic heterogeneity of the disease and contin-

ued discovery of new fusion partners or mutations. While unbiased RNA sequencing (RNAseq) of every patient with B-ALL provides the most comprehensive genetic characterization and allows identification of previously unidentified genetic lesions, this approach is expensive and labor intensive (particularly for downstream informatics analyses), making this modality costprohibitive for many large clinical trials and clinical testing. Instead, targeted genetic testing algorithms have been developed that are capable of identifying the most common Ph-like ALL kinase fusions and mutations and are most costeffective. In addition, routine clinical immunophenotyping and cytogenetics/fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) analyses can be adapted for rapid initial identification of Ph-like ALL cases to allocate for subsequent specific genetic testing and are discussed below in more detail.

16.3.1 Targeted Screening Approaches

To minimize cost and time needed to identify patients with Ph-like ALL who require detailed molecular characterization, several clinical screening assays and rapid diagnostic testing have been developed. One of the most widely used screening tests involves the optimized LDA analysis to quantify expression of an 8- or 15-gene signature (IGJ, SPATS2L, MUC4, CRLF2, CA6, NRXN3, BMPR1B, GPR110, CHN2, SEMA6A, PON2, SLC2A5, S100Z, TP53INP1, IFITM1) that is highly predictive of Ph-like ALL [57]. The LDA card also includes BCR-ABL1 and ETV6-RUNX1 detection, as patients with these lesions also have activated kinase expression signatures, but are not Ph-like and thus excluded from further Ph-like ALL testing. Leukemia samples with LDA scores of ≥ 0.5 (range 0-1) are considered positive for the Ph-like ALL gene expression signature and subjected to additional genetic analysis for complete molecular characterization based upon level of CRLF2 expression (high versus low) that is also included on the LDA. Leukemia samples with high CRLF2 expression by LDA are assessed for

P2RY8-CRLF2 fusions on the LDA itself or via reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Ph-like samples with high *CRLF2* expression, but without *P2RY8-CRLF2*, are then tested by FISH for *IGH-CRLF2* translocations. *CRLF2*-rearranged samples are further assessed for *JAK1*, *JAK2*, and *IL7RA* mutations via PCR. Those with the Ph-like signature and normal *CRLF2* expression are subjected to kinase fusion testing to assess for *JAK2*, *EPOR*, and ABL class alterations [1].

Flow cytometric detection of increased TSLPR surface antigen staining of diagnostic bone marrow or peripheral blood Ph-like ALL samples is extremely predictive of CRLF2 rearrangements [27]. TSLPR staining is now being incorporated into routine clinical immunophenotyping by several groups given its cost efficacy and results return within 24–48 h [13]. Leukemia specimens with increased TSLPR staining can then be sent for specific genetic testing for P2RY8-CRLF2 fusions or IGH-CRLF2 translocations and for JAK1/2 and IL7RA mutation analyses. These and other Ph-like ALL-associated point mutations and insertions/deletions (indels) can also be identified by DNA-based nextgeneration sequencing platforms.

Routine clinical FISH analysis can identify some of the more common Ph-like ALL fusions and is also an advantageous modality given usual rapidity of test resulting. Clinically available break-apart probes can assess for rearrangement of known kinases frequently involved in Ph-like ALL (e.g., 3' ABL1, ABL2, CRLF2, CSF1R, JAK2, PDGFRB). While FISH testing can quickly identify potential Ph-like ALL cases with aberrant signals at these genes, this modality may not provide information regarding the specific 5'fusion partner for which further genetic analysis will likely be necessary for complete genetic characterization. However, FISH testing may be adequate to identify Ph-like ALL cases as either CRLF2/JAK pathway- or ABL class-mutant for the addition of relevant TKI therapy. Targeted RT-PCR analysis for known Ph-like kinase fusions with confirmatory sequencing (initially implemented by the Children's Oncology Group [COG]) has been a valuable testing resource to date but has the disadvantage of potential inability to identify fusions with previously unknown 5' partners [48].

16.3.2 Unbiased Testing Approaches

As RNA-based testing platforms capable of new fusion discovery have become more costeffective and clinically available, many cooperative groups and academic institutions are currently using these more comprehensive diagnostic modalities to streamline the identification of patients with Ph-like ALL. Digital molecular barcoding platforms such as targeted NanoString analysis can identify over 200 different genetic alterations, but currently is capable of identifying only known oncogenic fusions. Capture-based RNA sequencing such as the ArcherDX FusionPlex panel with anchored multiplex PCR chemistry is agnostic of the 5' fusion partner, thus allowing for potential identification of novel fusions. Finally, FoundationOne Heme Panel is a targeted DNA and RNA sequencing method that is able to detect translocations and fusions in over 400 cancer-related genes [58]. These diagnostic approaches are being increasingly integrated into clinical practice and for identification of appropriate subjects for clinical trials.

16.3.3 Tiered Testing Approaches Used for Current Clinical Trials

In practice, many groups utilize a step-wise testing approach by which patients first undergo cost-effective, rapid screening by LDA to identify those with the Ph-like signature (and to exclude the majority of patients with B-ALL who have a negative Ph-like signature who do not require additional molecular testing). Patients with positive Ph-like screening results are then allocated for appropriate downstream genetic testing. An example of this approach is the diagnostic algorithm currently being used by COG to identify patients with Ph-like ALL or potential participation in the AALL1131 (NCT02883049) and AALL1521

E. K. Curran and S. K. Tasian

(NCT02723994) [59] clinical trials testing chemotherapy with the ABL/PDGFRB inhibitor dasatinib or the JAK inhibitor ruxolitinib (Fig. 16.2) [1]. In this approach, diagnostic leukemia specimens from children and AYAs with HR B-ALL are analysed by LDA to identify patients with the Ph-like signature. Those with evidence of *CRLF2* overexpression on the LDA assay, but without detected *P2RY8-CRLF2* fusions, are then allocated to FISH testing for *IGH-CRLF2* translocations. Patients with identified *CRLF2* rearrangements are also assessed for *JAK1* and *JAK2* point mutations and IL7R indels in known exons by PCR. Specimens identified as Ph-like with normal *CRLF2* expression are allocated for capture-based kinase fusion analysis (via customized ArcherDX FusionPlex methodologies) to assess for ABL class and JAK pathway-associated kinase fusions. Research-level RNA sequencing can be performed on specimens from remaining patients with evidence of the Ph-like signature on LDA testing who do not have an identifiable kinase alteration via current testing modalities.



Fig. 16.2 Tiered genetic screening approach to diagnose Ph-like ALL utilized in Children's Oncology Group trials (NCT02883049) and AALL1521 AALL1131 (NCT02723994). Diagnostic leukemia samples from children, adolescents, and young adults with HR B-ALL are analyzed by the low-density microarray (LDA) assay, and those with a score of 0.5-1 are considered positive for the Ph-like signature. Patients with Ph+ ALL are also identifiable by LDA and are allocated to AALL1631 (NCT03007147). As part of the LDA assay, CRLF2 overexpression that is suggestive of CRLF2 rearrangements can be assessed and with direct detection of the P2RY8-CRLF2 fusion. Ph-like specimens with CRLF2 overexpression, but no evidence of *P2RY8-CRLF2*, are then allocated to FISH testing to identify *IGH-CRLF2* translocations. Patients with identified *CRLF2* rearrangements are also assessed for *JAK1* and *JAK2* mutations and *IL7RA* insertions/deletions by PCR testing. Specimens identified as Ph-like with normal *CRLF2* expression are allocated for capture-based kinase fusion analysis (via customized ArcherDX FusionPlex methodologies) to assess for ABL class and JAK pathway-associated alterations. RNA sequencing can be performed for remaining cases with evidence of the Ph-like signature by LDA, but without an identifiable kinase alteration

Ph-like alterations	TKI	Disease status	Ages	Clinical trial
ABL class	Dasatinib	Newly diagnosed	1-30 years	NCT01406756 (COG AALL1131)
ABL class	Dasatinib	Newly diagnosed	1-18 years	NCT03117751 (SJCRH Total XVII)
ABL class	Dasatinib	Relapsed	≥10 years	NCT02420717 (MDACC)
CRLF2/JAK pathway	Ruxolitinib	Newly diagnosed	1-21 years	NCT02723994 (COG AALL1521)
CRLF2/JAK pathway	Ruxolitinib	Newly diagnosed	1–18 years	NCT03117751 (SJCRH Total XVII)
CRLF2/JAK pathway	Ruxolitinib	Newly diagnosed	18-39 years	NCT03571321
CRLF2/JAK pathway	Ruxolitinib	Relapsed	≥10 years	NCT02420717 (MDACC)

Table 16.2 Current clinical trials of TKI-based therapy in patients with Ph-like ALL

16.4 Management

As aforementioned, most Ph-like ALL cases can be broadly categorized as JAK inhibitortargetable (including *CRLF2*, *JAK2*, or *EPOR* rearrangements, *SH2B3* deletions, and *IL7R* indels) or ABL/PDGFR inhibitor-targetable kinase fusions (*ABL1*, *ABL2*, *CSF1R*, and *PDGFRB*). Although TKI-based therapies are not yet the standard of care for patients with Ph-like ALL, several ongoing clinical trials are investigating whether addition of ruxolitinib or dasatinib to multi-agent backbone chemotherapy can improve the known poor clinical outcomes of this population (Table 16.2).

16.4.1 Targeting JAK Pathway Alterations in Ph-Like ALL

Preclinical studies have demonstrated in vitro and in vivo activities of several JAK inhibitors in Ph-like ALL with *CRLF2* and other JAK pathway alterations [28, 34, 37, 38, 60]. While several JAK inhibitors have been developed, the most widely used in both preclinical and ongoing clinical trials for Ph-like ALL is the selective JAK1/ JAK2 inhibitor ruxolitinib [61], which is approved by the US Food and Drug Administration and by the European Medicines Agency for the treatment of adult patients with myelofibrosis and polycythemia vera (usually harboring somatic *JAK2* V617F mutations). The recent COG ADVL1011 phase 1 trial of ruxolitinib in children and AYAs aged 1–21 years with relapsed or refractory cancers demonstrated safety and tolerability in the pediatric population and identified the recommended phase 2 dose of ruxolitinib (RP2D) without identification of a maximally tolerated dose for further evaluation [62]. An ongoing phase 1/2 trial conducted at the MD Anderson Cancer Center (MDACC) is currently assessing the safety and potential efficacy of ruxolitinib in addition to hyper-CVAD backbone chemotherapy for AYA and older adult patients with relapsed/refractory CRLF2-rearranged/JAK pathway-mutant ALL (NCT02420717). Combination therapy to date has been well tolerated with no dose-limiting toxicities (DLTs) identified, but the potential efficacy of this approach in the relapsed setting has not yet been determined [63].

Based on ruxolitinib safety from the ADVL1011 trial and improved efficacy in the AALL0031 and AALL0622 trials with imatinib or dasatinib in addition to chemotherapy for pediatric patients with Ph+ ALL [62, 64-66], the COG is now non-randomly integrating TKIs into chemotherapy for children and AYAs with newly diagnosed Ph-like ALL. These approaches aim to target critical oncogenic kinase pathways with goals of improving MRD-negative remission rates and decreasing relapse risk in these highrisk patients, which may thereby ultimately improve disease-free and overall survival. The AALL1521 phase 1/2 trial is currently testing the safety and efficacy of ruxolitinib in combination with augmented Berlin-Frankfurt-Munster (BFM)-based post-induction chemotherapy (NCT02723994). Patients aged 1-21 years with CRLF2-rearranged or other JAK pathway-mutant Ph-like ALL are identified during induction therapy using the tiered approach described above and shown in Fig. 16.2. Eligible patients are stratified into four cohorts based upon underlying Ph-like genetic alterations and end-of-induction MRD status to elucidate potential differences in therapeutic efficacy by subgroup. Results of the trial's Part 1 safety phase demonstrated tolerability of ruxolitinib in combination with intensive multi-agent chemotherapy without dose-limiting toxicities and identified the RP2D [59]. Part 2 of the trial is currently assessing the efficacy of combination therapy in patients with CRLF2rearranged Ph-like ALL with and without concomitant JAK point mutations with a primary endpoint of 3-year event-free survival (EFS) in comparison to historic control patients treated with chemotherapy alone. An arm of the St. Jude Children's Research Hospital (SJCRH) Total XVII trial is also piloting the safety and potential efficacy of ruxolitinib in addition to chemotherapy in children with JAK pathway-mutant Ph-like ALL (NCT03117751). A recently opened multiinstitutional phase 1 trial (NCT03571321) will also establish the safety of ruxolitinib in combination with the pediatric-based CALGB10403 chemotherapy regimen (NCT00558519) [16, 67] in AYAs 18-39 years of age. The study will expand to a larger phase 2 trial if initial safety of the combination therapy is demonstrated in this population.

16.4.2 Targeting ABL Class Alterations in Ph-Like ALL

Preclinical studies have also demonstrated potent in vitro and in vivo activities of ABL/PDGFR TKIs in Ph-like ALL harboring ABL class alterations [8, 15, 44]. In addition, anecdotal case reports have demonstrated potential clinical efficacy of imatinib and dasatinib with chemotherapy in patients with relapsed or chemotherapy-refractory Ph-like ALL [8, 49, 50, 52]. As aforementioned, numerous trials have now demonstrated the safety and remarkable efficacy of TKI in addition to intensive chemotherapy in children and adults with Ph+ ALL [64, 65, 68–70]. Ongoing studies are now investigating similar use of combination TKI approaches for patients with Ph-like ALL and ABL class fusions.

The MDACC trial described above (NCT02420717) is also testing the safety and potential efficacy of dasatinib in combination with hyper-CVAD chemotherapy in AYAs and older adults with relapsed/refractory Ph-like ALL and ABL class kinase fusions [63]. Arms of the COG AALL1131 (NCT01406756) and SJCRH Total XVII (NCT03117751) trials are also investigating the potential efficacy of dasatinib in addition to chemotherapy in children and AYAs ABL class-mutant with HR Ph-like ALL. Definitive results from these studies have not yet been reported.

16.4.3 Remaining Questions in Ph-Like ALL

Whether patients with Ph-like ALL should undergo consolidative hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) in first remission is still unknown. The majority of children and adults with Ph-like ALL have EOI MRD positivity, which adds incrementally to the inferior prognosis already conferred from the Ph-like signature and associated kinase fusions. While patients with Ph-like ALL who achieve EOI MRD negativity have improved disease-free survival compared to those with MRD positivity, outcomes remain inferior to those of patients with EOI MRD-negative non-Ph-like ALL [13, 21]. It is plausible that up-front intervention with the addition of TKI to chemotherapy for patients with newly diagnosed Ph-like ALL could decrease the rates of end-of-consolidation MRD positivity and indication for HSCT. Data from the aforementioned ongoing clinical trials may help to answer this question.

Over the past several years, new antibodybased immunotherapies such as the CD19×CD3 bispecific T-cell-engager blinatumomab and the CD22 antibody–drug conjugate inotuzumab ozogamicin have demonstrated impressive responses in patients with relapsed/refractory B-ALL with >70% remission reinduction rates [71–75]. A recent study also reported particular success of blinatumomab in converting adult patients with MRD-positive level disease to MRD negativity as a bridge to HSCT, leading to FDA approval for both multiply relapsed and primary chemotherapy-refractory MRD+ indications [76]. A randomized clinical trial by the Alliance cooperative group is currently investigating whether incorporation of inotuzumab ozogamicin followed by blinatumomab into frontline treatment can improve outcomes for AYAs with CD22+ B-ALL versus standard-of-care chemotherapy (NCT03739814). In addition, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-redirected T-cell immunotherapies targeting CD19 or CD22 have reported initial remission reinduction rates of 80-95% in patients with multiply relapsed/ refractory B-ALL, although immunotherapeutic resistance has emerged as a major source of treatment failure with approximately 50% of patients remaining in remission at 1–2 years after CAR T cells [77–81]. While blinatumomab, inotuzumab, and CAR T-cell therapies are broadly applicable to all subtypes of B-ALL expressing surface CD19 and/or CD22, it is likely that these immunotherapies can also specifically benefit patients with Ph-like ALL and relapsed or residual disease.

16.5 Conclusions

Ph-like ALL is a common and high-risk B-ALL subtype associated with chemotherapy resistance and high rates of relapse across the age spectrum. It is hoped that addition of TKIs to chemotherapy will decrease relapse and improve survival in patients with newly diagnosed Ph-like ALL similarly to the remarkable outcomes now achievable with combined TKI and chemotherapy for patients with Ph+ ALL. Clinical trials of ruxolitinib and dasatinib addition for patients with *CRLF2*-rearranged/JAK pathway-mutant and ABL class-mutant Ph-like ALL, respectively, are underway. However, the potential rates of

response and long-term efficacy of these approaches are not yet known. Recent preclinical studies have also demonstrated improved antileukemia activity of dual TKI therapy specifically in Ph-like ALL [34], although the potential clinical tolerability or toxicity of multi-kinase inhibition in combination with chemotherapy has not been well-explored in patients with acute leukemia. Finally, given the remarkable recent success of CD19- and CD22-targeted antibody-based and cellular immunotherapies in patients with relapsed/refractory B-ALL, integration of TKIs with immunotherapy for patients with Ph-like ALL may be an attractive future strategy for further augmentation of outcomes.

Acknowledgments E.K.C. was supported by NIH/NCI K12CA139160. S.K.T. was supported by NCI K08CA184418.

Conflicts of interest: E.K.C. receives research funding from Incyte Corporation, Merck Sharp & Dohme, and Gilead Sciences. S.K.T. receives research funding from Incyte Corporation and Gilead Sciences.

References

- Tasian SK, Loh ML, Hunger SP. Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2017;130(19):2064–72.
- 2. Roberts KG. Why and how to treat Ph-like ALL? Best Pract Res Clin Haematol. 2018;31(4):351–6.
- Smith M, Arthur D, Camitta B, Carroll AJ, Crist W, Gaynon P, et al. Uniform approach to risk classification and treatment assignment for children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14(1):18–24.
- Ensor HM, Schwab C, Russell LJ, Richards SM, Morrison H, Masic D, et al. Demographic, clinical, and outcome features of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and CRLF2 deregulation: results from the MRC ALL97 clinical trial. Blood. 2011;117(7):2129–36.
- Chen IM, Harvey RC, Mullighan CG, Gastier-Foster J, Wharton W, Kang H, et al. Outcome modeling with CRLF2, IKZF1, JAK, and minimal residual disease in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a Children's Oncology Group study. Blood. 2012;119(15):3512–22.
- Imamura T, Kiyokawa N, Kato M, Imai C, Okamoto Y, Yano M, et al. Characterization of pediatric Philadelphia-negative B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia with kinase fusions in Japan. Blood Cancer J. 2016;6:e419.

- Roberts KG, Reshmi SC, Harvey RC, Chen I-M, Patel K, Stonerock E, et al. Genomic and outcome analyses of Ph-like ALL in NCI standard-risk patients: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Blood. 2018;132(8):815–24.
- Roberts KG, Li Y, Payne-Turner D, Harvey RC, Yang YL, Pei D, et al. Targetable kinase-activating lesions in Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(11):1005–15.
- Reshmi SC, Harvey RC, Roberts KG, Stonerock E, Smith A, Jenkins H, et al. Targetable kinase gene fusions in high-risk B-ALL: a study from the Children's Oncology Group. Blood. 2017;129(25):3352–61.
- Russell LJ, Jones L, Enshaei A, Tonin S, Ryan SL, Eswaran J, et al. Characterisation of the genomic landscape of CRLF2-rearranged acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2017;56(5):363–72.
- Yoda A, Yoda Y, Chiaretti S, Bar-Natan M, Mani K, Rodig SJ, et al. Functional screening identifies CRLF2 in precursor B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(1):252–7.
- Herold T, Schneider S, Metzeler KH, Neumann M, Hartmann L, Roberts KG, et al. Adults with Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia frequently have IGH-CRLF2 and JAK2 mutations, persistence of minimal residual disease and poor prognosis. Haematologica. 2017;102(1):130–8.
- Jain N, Roberts KG, Jabbour E, Patel K, Eterovic AK, Chen K, et al. Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a high-risk subtype in adults. Blood. 2017;129(5):572–81.
- Roberts KG, Gu Z, Payne-Turner D, McCastlain K, Harvey RC, Chen IM, et al. High frequency and poor outcome of Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(4):394–401.
- Tasian SK, Hurtz C, Wertheim GB, Bailey NG, Lim MS, Harvey RC, et al. High incidence of Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia in older adults with B-ALL. Leukemia. 2017;31(4):981–4.
- Stock W, Luger SM, Advani AS, Yin J, Harvey RC, Mullighan CG, et al. A pediatric regimen for older adolescents and young adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of CALGB 10403. Blood. 2019;133(14):1548–59.
- Harvey RC, Mullighan CG, Chen IM, Wharton W, Mikhail FM, Carroll AJ, et al. Rearrangement of CRLF2 is associated with mutation of JAK kinases, alteration of IKZF1, Hispanic/Latino ethnicity, and a poor outcome in pediatric B-progenitor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2010;115(26):5312–21.
- Perez-Andreu V, Roberts KG, Harvey RC, Yang W, Cheng C, Pei D, et al. Inherited GATA3 variants are associated with Ph-like childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia and risk of relapse. Nat Genet. 2013;45(12):1494–8.
- Perez-Andreu V, Roberts KG, Xu H, Smith C, Zhang H, Yang W, et al. A genome-wide association study of

susceptibility to acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adolescents and young adults. Blood. 2015;125(4):680–6.

- 20. Jain N, Zhang H, Roberts KG, Qian M, Yang W, Jabbour EJ, et al. GATA3 rs3824662A allele is overrepresented in adult patients with Ph-like ALL, especially in patients with CRLF2 abnormalities. Blood. 2017;130(Suppl 1):1430.
- 21. Loh ML, Zhang J, Harvey RC, Roberts K, Payne-Turner D, Kang H, et al. Tyrosine kinome sequencing of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from the Children's Oncology Group TARGET Project. Blood. 2013;121(3):485–8.
- Borowitz MJ, Wood BL, Devidas M, Loh ML, Raetz EA, Salzer WL, et al. Prognostic significance of minimal residual disease in high risk B-ALL: a report from Children's Oncology Group study AALL0232. Blood. 2015;126(8):964–71.
- Roberts KG, Pei D, Campana D, Payne-Turner D, Li Y, Cheng C, et al. Outcomes of children with BCR-ABL1-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated with risk-directed therapy based on the levels of minimal residual disease. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(27): 3012–20.
- 24. Den Boer ML, van Slegtenhorst M, De Menezes RX, Cheok MH, Buijs-Gladdines JG, Peters ST, et al. A subtype of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia with poor treatment outcome: a genome-wide classification study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(2): 125–34.
- Mullighan CG, Su X, Zhang J, Radtke I, Phillips LA, Miller CB, et al. Deletion of IKZF1 and prognosis in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(5):470–80.
- 26. Harvey RC, Mullighan CG, Wang X, Dobbin KK, Davidson GS, Bedrick EJ, et al. Identification of novel cluster groups in pediatric high-risk B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia with gene expression profiling: correlation with genome-wide DNA copy number alterations, clinical characteristics, and outcome. Blood. 2010;116(23):4874–84.
- Tasian SK, Doral MY, Borowitz MJ, Wood BL, Chen IM, Harvey RC, et al. Aberrant STAT5 and PI3K/ mTOR pathway signaling occurs in human CRLF2rearranged B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2012;120(4):833–42.
- Iacobucci I, Li Y, Roberts KG, Dobson SM, Kim JC, Payne-Turner D, et al. Truncating erythropoietin receptor rearrangements in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer Cell. 2016;29(2):186–200.
- Mullighan CG, Collins-Underwood JR, Phillips LA, Loudin MG, Liu W, Zhang J, et al. Rearrangement of CRLF2 in B-progenitor- and Down syndromeassociated acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Nat Genet. 2009;41(11):1243–6.
- Russell LJ, Capasso M, Vater I, Akasaka T, Bernard OA, Calasanz MJ, et al. Deregulated expression of cytokine receptor gene, CRLF2, is involved in lymphoid transformation in B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2009;114(13):2688–98.

- Isaksen DE, Baumann H, Trobridge PA, Farr AG, Levin SD, Ziegler SF. Requirement for stat5 in thymic stromal lymphopoietin-mediated signal transduction. J Immunol. 1999;163(11):5971–7.
- 32. Isaksen DE, Baumann H, Zhou B, Nivollet S, Farr AG, Levin SD, et al. Uncoupling of proliferation and Stat5 activation in thymic stromal lymphopoietin-mediated signal transduction. J Immunol. 2002;168(7):3288–94.
- Scheeren FA, van Lent AU, Nagasawa M, Weijer K, Spits H, Legrand N, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin induces early human B-cell proliferation and differentiation. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(4):955–65.
- 34. Tasian SK, Teachey DT, Li Y, Shen F, Harvey RC, Chen IM, et al. Potent efficacy of combined PI3K/ mTOR and JAK or ABL inhibition in murine xenograft models of Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2017;129(2):177–87.
- 35. van Bodegom D, Zhong J, Kopp N, Dutta C, Kim MS, Bird L, et al. Differences in signaling through the B-cell leukemia oncoprotein CRLF2 in response to TSLP and through mutant JAK2. Blood. 2012;120(14):2853–63.
- Weigert O, Lane AA, Bird L, Kopp N, Chapuy B, van Bodegom D, et al. Genetic resistance to JAK2 enzymatic inhibitors is overcome by HSP90 inhibition. J Exp Med. 2012;209(2):259–73.
- Maude SL, Tasian SK, Vincent T, Hall JW, Sheen C, Roberts KG, et al. Targeting JAK1/2 and mTOR in murine xenograft models of Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2012;120(17):3510–8.
- Wu SC, Li LS, Kopp N, Montero J, Chapuy B, Yoda A, et al. Activity of the type II JAK2 inhibitor CHZ868 in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer Cell. 2015;28(1):29–41.
- 39. Schmah J, Fedders B, Panzer-Grumayer R, Fischer S, Zimmermann M, Dagdan E, et al. Molecular characterization of acute lymphoblastic leukemia with high CRLF2 gene expression in childhood. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2017;64(10) https://doi.org/10.1002/ pbc.26539.
- 40. Hertzberg L, Vendramini E, Ganmore I, Cazzaniga G, Schmitz M, Chalker J, et al. Down syndrome acute lymphoblastic leukemia, a highly heterogeneous disease in which aberrant expression of CRLF2 is associated with mutated JAK2: a report from the International BFM Study Group. Blood. 2010;115(5):1006–17.
- 41. Harvey RC, Kang H, Roberts KG, Chen IM, Atlas SR, Bedrick EJ, et al. Development and validation of a highly sensitive and specific gene expression classifier to prospectively screen and identify B-precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL) patients with a Phialdelphia chromosome-like signature ("Ph-like" or "BCR-ABL1-Like") for therapeutic targeting and clinical intervention. Blood. 2013;123(21):826.
- 42. Schwartzman O, Savino AM, Gombert M, Palmi C, Cario G, Schrappe M, et al. Suppressors and activators of JAK-STAT signaling at diagnosis and relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in Down syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(20):E4030–e9.

- 43. Mullighan CG, Zhang J, Harvey RC, Collins-Underwood JR, Schulman BA, Phillips LA, et al. JAK mutations in high-risk childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(23):9414–8.
- 44. Roberts KG, Morin RD, Zhang J, Hirst M, Zhao Y, Su X, et al. Genetic alterations activating kinase and cytokine receptor signaling in high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer Cell. 2012;22(2):153–66.
- 45. Vesely C, Frech C, Eckert C, Cario G, Mecklenbrauker A, Zur Stadt U, et al. Genomic and transcriptional landscape of P2RY8-CRLF2-positive childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2017;31(7):1491–501.
- 46. Shochat C, Tal N, Bandapalli OR, Palmi C, Ganmore I, te Kronnie G, et al. Gain-of-function mutations in interleukin-7 receptor-alpha (IL7R) in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemias. J Exp Med. 2011;208(5):901–8.
- 47. Cheng Y, Chikwava K, Wu C, Zhang H, Bhagat A, Pei D, et al. LNK/SH2B3 regulates IL-7 receptor signaling in normal and malignant B-progenitors. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(4):1267–81.
- 48. Ding YY, Stern JW, Jubelirer TF, Wertheim GB, Lin F, Chang F, et al. Clinical efficacy of ruxolitinib and chemotherapy in a child with Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia with GOLGA5-JAK2 fusion and induction failure. Haematologica. 2018;103(9):e427–e31.
- 49. Lengline E, Beldjord K, Dombret H, Soulier J, Boissel N, Clappier E. Successful tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy in a refractory B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia with EBF1-PDGFRB fusion. Haematologica. 2013;98(11):e146–8.
- Weston BW, Hayden MA, Roberts KG, Bowyer S, Hsu J, Fedoriw G, et al. Tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy induces remission in a patient with refractory EBF1-PDGFRB-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(25): e413–6.
- Schwab C, Ryan SL, Chilton L, Elliott A, Murray J, Richardson S, et al. EBF1-PDGFRB fusion in pediatric B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia (BCP-ALL): genetic profile and clinical implications. Blood. 2016;127(18):2214–8.
- 52. Kobayashi K, Miyagawa N, Mitsui K, Matsuoka M, Kojima Y, Takahashi H, et al. TKI dasatinib monotherapy for a patient with Ph-like ALL bearing ATF7IP/PDGFRB translocation. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2015;62(6):1058–60.
- 53. Yano M, Imamura T, Asai D, Kiyokawa N, Nakabayashi K, Matsumoto K, et al. Identification of novel kinase fusion transcripts in paediatric B cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia with IKZF1 deletion. Br J Haematol. 2015;171(5): 813–7.
- 54. Sakamoto K, Imamura T, Kanayama T, Yano M, Asai D, Deguchi T, et al. Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia with a novel PAX5-KIDINS220 fusion transcript. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2017;56(4):278–84.

- 55. Baldazzi C, Iacobucci I, Luatti S, Ottaviani E, Marzocchi G, Paolini S, et al. B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia as evolution of a 8p11 myeloproliferative syndrome with t(8;22)(p11;q11) and BCR-FGFR1 fusion gene. Leuk Res. 2010;34(10):e282–5.
- Roberts KG, Janke LJ, Zhao Y, Seth A, Ma J, Finkelstein D, et al. ETV6-NTRK3 induces aggressive acute lymphoblastic leukemia highly sensitive to selective TRK inhibition. Blood. 2018;132(8):861–5.
- 57. Harvey RC, Kang H, Roberts KG, Chen I-ML, Atlas SR, Bedrick EJ, et al. Development and validation of a highly sensitive and specific gene expression classifier to prospectively screen and identify B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) patients with a Philadelphia chromosome-like ("Ph-like" or "BCR-ABL1-like") signature for therapeutic targeting and clinical intervention. Blood. 2013;122:826.
- He J, Abdel-Wahab O, Nahas MK, Wang K, Rampal RK, Intlekofer AM, et al. Integrated genomic DNA/RNA profiling of hematologic malignancies in the clinical setting. Blood. 2016;127(24): 3004–14.
- 59. Tasian SK, Assad A, Hunter DS, Du Y, Loh ML. A phase 2 study of ruxolitinib with chemotherapy in children with Philadelphia chromosome-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia (INCB18424-269/ AALL1521): dose-finding results from the part 1 safety phase. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):555.
- 60. Suryani S, Bracken LS, Harvey RC, Sia KC, Carol H, Chen IM, et al. Evaluation of the in vitro and in vivo efficacy of the JAK inhibitor AZD1480 against JAKmutated acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Mol Cancer Ther. 2015;14(2):364–74.
- Quintas-Cardama A, Vaddi K, Liu P, Manshouri T, Li J, Scherle PA, et al. Preclinical characterization of the selective JAK1/2 inhibitor INCB018424: therapeutic implications for the treatment of myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2010;115(15):3109–17.
- 62. Loh ML, Tasian SK, Rabin KR, Brown P, Magoon D, Reid JM, et al. A phase 1 dosing study of ruxolitinib in children with relapsed or refractory solid tumors, leukemias, or myeloproliferative neoplasms: a Children's Oncology Group phase 1 consortium study (ADVL1011). Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2015;62(10):1717–24.
- 63. Jain N, Jabbour EJ, McKay PZ, Ravandi F, Takahashi K, Kadia T, et al. Ruxolitinib or dasatinib in combination with chemotherapy for patients with relapsed/refractory Philadelphia (Ph)-like Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a phase I–II trial. Blood. 2017;130(Suppl 1):1322.
- 64. Schultz KR, Bowman WP, Aledo A, Slayton WB, Sather H, Devidas M, et al. Improved early event-free survival with imatinib in Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a Children's Oncology Group study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(31):5175–81.
- 65. Schultz KR, Carroll A, Heerema NA, Bowman WP, Aledo A, Slayton WB, et al. Long-term follow-up of imatinib in pediatric Philadelphia chromosome-

positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Children's Oncology Group study AALL0031. Leukemia. 2014;28(7):1467–71.

- 66. Slayton WB, Schultz KR, Kairalla JA, Devidas M, Mi X, Pulsipher MA, et al. Dasatinib plus intensive chemotherapy in children, adolescents, and young adults with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: results of Children's Oncology Group Trial AALL0622. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(22):2306–14.
- 67. Curran E, Stock W. How I treat acute lymphoblastic leukemia in older adolescents and young adults. Blood. 2015;125(24):3702–10.
- 68. Thomas DA, Faderl S, Cortes J, O'Brien S, Giles FJ, Kornblau SM, et al. Treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphocytic leukemia with hyper-CVAD and imatinib mesylate. Blood. 2004;103(12):4396–407.
- 69. Ravandi F, O'Brien S, Thomas D, Faderl S, Jones D, Garris R, et al. First report of phase 2 study of dasatinib with hyper-CVAD for the frontline treatment of patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive (Ph+) acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2010;116(12):2070–7.
- 70. Foa R, Vitale A, Vignetti M, Meloni G, Guarini A, De Propris MS, et al. Dasatinib as first-line treatment for adult patients with Philadelphia chromosomepositive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2011;118(25):6521–8.
- 71. Topp MS, Gokbuget N, Stein AS, Zugmaier G, O'Brien S, Bargou RC, et al. Safety and activity of blinatumomab for adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(1):57–66.
- Kantarjian HM, DeAngelo DJ, Stelljes M, Martinelli G, Liedtke M, Stock W, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin versus standard therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(8):740–53.
- 73. von Stackelberg A, Locatelli F, Zugmaier G, Handgretinger R, Trippett TM, Rizzari C, et al. Phase I/phase II study of blinatumomab in pediatric patients with relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(36):4381–9.
- 74. Kantarjian H, Stein A, Gokbuget N, Fielding AK, Schuh AC, Ribera JM, et al. Blinatumomab versus chemotherapy for advanced acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(9):836–47.
- 75. Bhojwani D, Sposto R, Shah NN, Rodriguez V, Yuan C, Stetler-Stevenson M, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin in pediatric patients with relapsed/ refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2019;33(4):884–92.
- 76. Goekbuget N, Dombret H, Zugmaier G, Bonifacio M, Graux C, Faul C, et al. Blinatumomab for Minimal Residual Disease (MRD) in adults with B-Cell Precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (BCP-ALL): median Overall Survival (OS) is not reached in complete MRD responders at a median follow-up of 53.1 months. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):554.

- 77. Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, et al. T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet. 2015;385(9967):517–28.
- Davila ML, Riviere I, Wang X, Bartido S, Park J, Curran K, et al. Efficacy and toxicity management of 19-28z CAR T cell therapy in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(224): 224ra25.
- 79. Gardner RA, Finney O, Annesley C, Brakke H, Summers C, Leger K, et al. Intent-to-treat leukemia

remission by CD19 CAR T cells of defined formulation and dose in children and young adults. Blood. 2017;129(25):3322–31.

- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in children and young adults with B-cell lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(5):439–48.
- 81. Fry TJ, Shah NN, Orentas RJ, Stetler-Stevenson M, Yuan CM, Ramakrishna S, et al. CD22-targeted CAR T cells induce remission in B-ALL that is naive or resistant to CD19-targeted CAR immunotherapy. Nat Med. 2018;24(1):20–8.



17

Adult Burkitt Leukemia/ Lymphoma

Pamela Abdayem, Jean-Marie Michot, Valérie Camara-Clayette, Yegor Vassetsky, and Vincent Ribrag

17.1 Introduction

Initially described by Dennis Burkitt in 1958, Burkitt lymphoma (BL) is a highly aggressive B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL). Originating from mature, germinal, or postgerminal center B cells, it often manifests as extra nodal disease or as an acute leukemia. Being the first cancer described containing viral particles (Epstein–Barr virus) and pathologi-

P. Abdayem

J.-M. Michot DITEP, Institut de Cancérologie Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

V. Camara-Clayette Plateforme AMMICA, Recherche Translationnelle Hématologie, INSERM US23/CNRS UMS3655, Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

Institut de Cancérologie Gustave Roussy, Université Paris Sud, Villejuif, France

V. Ribrag (⊠) Département d'Hématologie, Institut de Cancérologie Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

DITEP, Institut de Cancérologie Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France e-mail: vincent.ribrag@gustaveroussy.fr cally driven by a genetic translocation, BL largely contributed to the field of tumor immunology and molecular genetics. Despite the recent improvement in disease outcomes with pediatric-inspired chemotherapy protocols, data about the optimal management of elderly or other specific patient groups and relapsed BL remain scarce.

According to the revised 2016 World Health Organization (WHO) classification of hematologic malignancies, BL and Burkitt cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (L3ALL) are a single entity, a mature B-cell neoplasm with c-MYC overexpression. The 2016 WHO classification also proposes three aggressive B cell neoplasms that resemble BL: "Burkitt-like lymphoma with 11q aberration"; "High-grade B cell lymphoma with *MYC* and *BCL2* and/or *BCL6* rearrangement," and "High-grade B cell lymphoma, not otherwise specified" [1].

Accounting for 1–3% of all cases of ALL, L3ALL rather than BL is usually considered when patients present with extensive marrow infiltration (greater than 25% blasts) and a low tumor burden disease. Central nervous system (CNS) involvement is equally prevalent in both forms of the disease. L3ALL predominates in children and adolescents and is less common in adults. Unlike the other types of ALL, it is treated similarly to BL with short and intensive chemotherapy protocols.

Département d'Hématologie, Institut de Cancérologie Gustave Roussy, Villejuif, France

Y. Vassetsky

Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS) UMR 8126, Institut de Cancérologie Gustave Roussy, Université Paris Sud, Villejuif, France

17.2 Forms: Endemic, Sporadic, and Immunodeficiency-Related

Three distinct clinical forms of BL/L3ALL have been individualized. With similar histological characteristics and comparable outcomes, each form has specific epidemiologic, genetic, and clinical features.

17.2.1 Endemic Form

In 1958, Dennis Burkitt reported 38 cases of "sarcomas" affecting the jaw and abdomen in children at Mulago hospital in Uganda. This endemic variant accounts for 30–50% of all childhood tumors in equatorial Africa with an estimated incidence of 3–6 cases per 100,000 children per year [2]. It occurs mainly in males (male to female ratio is approximately 2:1) aged 4–7 years.

The prevalence of this disease in tropical regions suggested the involvement of an infectious agent. Yellow fever was initially suspected; Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) was later identified and became the first example of an oncogenic pathogen. In addition, the geographic distribution of BL corresponded with areas holo- or hyperendemic for *Plasmodium* falciparum malaria in the "lymphoma belt of Africa" and in Papua New Guinea/Irianjaya in Asia, making it a polymicrobial disease [3]. The increased EBV load observed during acute malaria infection seems to result not only from an impairment of the EBV-specific T-cell response and polyclonal B-cell activation but also from viral reactivation directly driven by malarial antigens. Chene et al. [4] identified a cysteine-rich inter-domain region 1α (CIDR1 α) of the Plasmodium falciparum membrane protein 1 that increases B-cell survival and revives the memory compartment where EBV is known to persist, therefore triggering viral replication. Euphorbia tirucalli, a herbal remedy used in the "lymphoma belt," might reactivate EBV leading to c-MYC altered expression and increased occurrence of endemic BL, according to preliminary results by Manucci et al. [5]. Similarly, sub-Saharan populations are highly exposed to aflatoxin B1 which acts as a cofactor in EBV-mediated lymphomagenesis [6].

17.2.2 Sporadic Form

The sporadic form is observed in the United States (US) and Western Europe. In the US, it includes 30% of pediatric lymphomas and less than 1% of adult NHLs, with an estimated incidence of three cases per million persons per year in both children and adults [7]. In Europe, the incidence is approximately 2.2 cases per million persons per year [8]. Median age at diagnosis is 11 years and 30 years, among children and adults, respectively [9]. Sporadic BL is most common among Caucasian males with a 3 or 4:1 male to female ratio [7, 10, 11]. Contrary to the endemic form where EBV genome is ubiquitous, EBV infection is detected in approximately 20% of sporadic cases only.

17.2.3 Immunodeficiency-Related Form

This variant is mainly observed in patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection and CD4 count higher than 200 cells/ μ L [12]. The relative risk of developing BL in HIVpositive compared to HIV-negative individuals is 50. BLs represent 30% of HIV-associated lymphomas. Thus, the lifetime risk of developing BL in HIV-positive patients is between 10% and 20%. In contrast with most other HIV-related lymphomas that develop at a stage of profound immunodeficiency, its incidence has not decreased with the use of antiretroviral therapy (ART). Increased aggressiveness of the disease combined with poor health status of HIV-infected patients are responsible for the dismal prognosis of this variant compared to HIV-negative BL [13].

17.3 Pathogenesis

17.3.1 c-MYC

17.3.1.1 Functions of c-MYC

MYC is one of the first described oncogenes; its expression is associated with independent cell growth [14]. MYC acts both as a positive and as a negative regulator of gene transcription [15– 17]. It therefore regulates cell cycle transition, cell differentiation, growth, metabolism, protein synthesis, adhesion, migration, and angiogenesis. MYC contributes to genomic instability, triggers telomere aggregation, and controls the balance between stem cell selfrenewal and differentiation. It can also drive focus formation and anchorage-independent growth in vitro as well as full tumorigenesis in vivo. Deregulation of MYC expression can occur by many mechanisms: retroviral transduction, retroviral promoter or enhancer insertion. chromosomal translocation, gene amplification, and activation of hormones or growth factors, their receptors, second messengers, or transcriptional effectors that converge on MYC expression. Alterations in mechanisms that directly or indirectly stabilize MYC mRNA and/or protein can also deregulate expression of this potent oncogene [18].

17.3.1.2 c-MYC in BL

The development of BL relies on the constitutive expression of the MYC proto-oncogene located at chromosome 8q24, which encodes the MYC protein transcription factor. The dysregulation of c-MYC, a genetic hallmark of BL, is a consequence of a chromosomal translocation between chromosome 8 at the locus q24 and either chromosome 14 (t(8;14) (q24;q32), 70–80% of cases) or chromosome 22 (t(8;22)(q24;q11), 10-20% of cases), or chromosome 2 (t(2;8)(p12;q24), 2–5% of cases) [19]. MYC gene at 8q24 is therefore juxtaposed with one of the immunoglobulin (Ig) loci on chromosomes 14, 22, or 2. Transgenic mice that expressed the MYC gene under the control of the Ig heavy-chain intronic enhancer (Em), emulating the chromosomal translocation found in BL, developed B-cell lymphomas with a latency of 4–6 months [20]. BL cells express activationinduced cytidine deaminase (AID), which mediates both Ig somatic hypermutation and Ig class switch recombination (CSR). Thus, human BLs have somatically mutated Ig variable regions, and *IG/MYC* translocations typically involve Ig switch regions, suggesting that they arise by aberrant CSR [21].

DNA breaks in the involved Ig genes occur through processes that are normal for B cells, namely either attempted Ig V(D)J recombination or Ig class switch recombination. DNA breaks near MYC might result from the recruitment of activation-induced cytosine deaminase (AID) [22, 23]. DNA breaks in MYC may come to be spatially close to DNA breaks in the IG gene loci in the interphase nucleus, which is a prerequisite for these DNA ends to be joined to form MYC translocations. This was observed upon B-cell activation in mice or in HIV-infected individuals where HIV-1 Tat protein induced spatial proximity between the MYC and IGH loci [24]. Identification MYC of translocation by Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) is often impossible due to the variable DNA break sites although a method using the long-range PCR was proposed. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), standard cytogenetic techniques, and more recently immune-FISH are more accurate diagnostic tools.

DNA break sites on both chromosomes differ between endemic and sporadic BL [25]. In endemic cases, the breakpoint on chromosome 14 involves the heavy chain joining region, while in non-endemic cases, it involves the heavy chain switch region. In endemic cases, the break site on chromosome 8 is usually adjacent to MYC, while in sporadic cases, it often lies in intron 1 within the gene [26].

17.3.2 Beyond c-MYC

High-throughput sequencing approaches identified additional cytogenetic and molecular events cooperating with MYC to induce BL [27–29]. Overexpression of MYC likely triggers TP 53-dependent apoptotic pathways, thus increasing the selection for TP 53 inactivating mutations (35% of cases) [32, 33].

Mutations in the CCND3 gene encoding cyclin D3, a D-type cyclin that regulates the G1–S cell-cycle transition, explain the rapidly proliferative character of BL [34]. They are present in 38% and 2.6% of sporadic and endemic tumors, respectively.

All three variants of BL express highly recurrent mutations in the transcription factor TCF-3 gene (10–25%) and/or in its negative regulator ID3 (35–58%) [27–29]. Identification of these mutations, typically absent in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), might offer a diagnostic solution when DLBCL and BL are difficult to distinguish. TCF-3 has a central role in survival and proliferation [28, 29]. It directly transactivates CCND3, thereby promoting cellcycle progression. It also transactivates ID3 as well as the related family members ID1 and ID2, thus inducing expression of its own negative regulators.

As for signaling pathways, BL relies on BCR signaling which is mostly "tonic" and antigen-independent. PI3K is the main pathway in opposite to other antigen-dependent pathways such as NF-KB [35, 36]. PI3K activity in BL is also dependent on TCF-3, suggesting a connection between oncogenic activation of this transcription factor in BL and tonic BCR signaling. First, TCF-3 directly upregulates BCR expression. Second, TCF-3 increases BCR signaling by negatively regulating PTPN6, encoding the SHP-1 phosphatase. SHP-1 attenuates BCR signaling by dephosphorylating the ITAM motifs of the CD79A and CD79B signaling subunits of the BCR [29]. Other PI3K signaling triggers include inactivating mutations of PTEN.

17.3.3 EBV

Discovered in the 1960s, EBV is the first recognized human cancer virus. It is present in all cases of endemic BLs and in a minority of sporadic BLs. About 25-40% of BL occurring in HIV-positive patients are EBV-associated. EBVtransformed lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCLs) express several proteins involved in the modulation of oncogenesis pathways such as PI3K and NF-KB [37]. However, a significantly restricted pattern of viral gene products, primarily EBNA1, which is involved in the replication of the EBV genome, is expressed in the BL cells. This may be the result of vigorous selective pressure by T cells that are specific for latent antigens. In the absence of functional T cells, EBV-induced LCLs grow unimpeded, as in the case of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder [38].

The adepts of the "hit-and-run" hypothesis argue that EBV contributes to the pathogenesis of most BLs, but malignant cells are obliged to either repress most latent viral gene expression or lose the viral genome completely, because of the incompatibility between c-MYC and EBNA2/ LMP1 expression [39] and the immune-selection against EBV transformation-associated proteins [40, 41]. Nevertheless, available evidence suggests that EBV-negative BLs arise independently of EBV involvement. In addition, EBV-positive and EBV-negative cases of BL differ in the number of somatic mutations in their immunoglobulin heavy chain (V_H) genes, in the involvement of antigen selection, as well as in the translocation breakpoints in the MYC locus, suggesting distinct cell origins and pathogenesis [42, 43].

17.3.4 HIV

Although HIV does not infect B cells, the increased incidence of BL in HIV-positive individuals could result from both underlying immunodeficiency and direct viral-induced lymphomagenesis. HIV may trigger chronic B-cell activation and dysregulated monoclonal expansion [44]. As mentioned previously, overexpression of AID in activated B cells triggers DNA breaks leading to the *MYC-IgH* translocation. Another potential mechanism is that HIV-encoded Tat protein induces a sustained *MYC* relocalization next to *IGH* [24] and induces aberrant expression of AID in circulating B cells.

17.4 Clinical Features

17.4.1 Clinical Presentation

The disease is predominant in males, with a median age ranging between 25 and 35 years. Nearly 25% of patients are older than 50. BL often presents as a rapidly growing tumor, with a very short doubling time (24 h) and a quick dissemination to extranodal sites including the bone marrow and the central nervous system (CNS). Primary tumor sites vary between endemic and sporadic forms of the disease. Seventy percent of patients present with advanced stage III or IV disease [45]. Spontaneous tumor lysis syndrome (TLS), with high lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and uric acid levels, is frequent at diagnosis and often requires early admission into the intensive care unit and potential hemodialysis upon initiation of treatment. Mental neuropathy, resulting from infiltration of inferior dental nerves, is frequently found in BL and L3ALL and generally indicates CNS involvement [46]. Cervical lymphadenopathy might be associated with higher rates of CNS infiltration.

17.4.1.1 Endemic Forms

The facial skeleton, mainly the jaw, is affected in 50% of the cases of endemic BL. In a Ugandan case series, Orem et al. [47] showed a decrease in mandibular presentation and an increase in abdominal presentation with advancing age. At the time of initial presentation, CNS involvement is found in 30–40% of patients, whereas bone marrow involvement is seen in less than 10% of the cases [19].

17.4.1.2 Sporadic Forms

Patients typically present with a rapidly growing abdominal mass and symptoms related to bowel obstruction, gastrointestinal bleeding, or rarely bowel perforation. Bowel intussusception is more common in children. Involvement of the jaw or facial bones occurs in 25% of cases. Lymphadenopathy, if present (10–20% of cases), is generally localized. Bone marrow and CNS involvement is detected in approximately 30% and 15% of cases, respectively, at the time of initial presentation [19].

17.4.1.3 Immunodeficiency-Related Forms

Patients often have signs and symptoms related to the underlying immunodeficiency. Lymph node, bone marrow, and CNS involvement are more common.

17.4.1.4 Leukemic Forms

In L3ALL with CNS involvement, other cranial nerve palsies were described. Blasts are not always detectable in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). While anemia is less frequent, thrombocytopenia is present in most patients, and leukocytosis is found in two thirds of the cases but exceeds 50×10^{9} /l in only 10–20% of the patients. Myelocytes and metamyelocytes are usually found alongside blasts, a rather unusual finding in most other types of acute leukemias.

17.4.2 Diagnosis

Considering the aggressiveness and rapid doubling time of BL, rapid diagnosis is crucial. The latter is based on the pathologic evaluation of involved tissue. Immunophenotyping and cytogenetic identification of c-MYC rearrangement are mandatory. Molecular diagnosis is difficult due to the diverse DNA break sites.

17.4.2.1 Histology

Macroscopically, BL consists of a whitish tumor with necrotic and hemorrhagic foci, compressing and infiltrating adjacent structures. Lymph node involvement is less frequent and is mainly present in immunodeficiency-related forms.

Microscopically, sheets of cohesive, monomorphic, medium-sized atypical lymphoid cells with basophilic cytoplasm replace normal tissue architecture. Proliferation and apoptotic cell death rates are extremely high (Ki-67+ fraction approaching 100 percent). A classic "starry-sky" pattern is usually observed: the "sky" represented by the background of basophilic tumor cells and the "stars" being the numerous interspersed tangible body macrophages (histiocytes), with a large clear cytoplasm, that have ingested apoptotic cells. At higher power, BL cells have round nuclei with dark nucleoli and resemble the small non-cleaved cells within normal germinal centers of the secondary lymphoid follicle. Macrophages are irregularly shaped with pale nuclei and inconspicuous nucleoli.

Other morphologic variants exist. An important granulomatous reaction might mask the tumor cells in the background. A plasmacytoid appearance, with single centrally placed nucleoli and eccentric cytoplasm, is mostly described in immunodeficient individuals.

17.4.2.2 Immunophenotype

BL cells express surface immunoglobulin of the IgM type and immunoglobulin light chains (kappa more often than lambda), pan-B cellassociated antigens (CD19, CD20, CD22, CD79a), germinal center-associated markers (CD10 and BCL6), as well as HLA-DR and CD43. They lack expression of CD5, B-cell leukemia/lymphoma 2 (BCL2), TdT, and CD23. BCL6 protein staining is in a nuclear pattern and independent of BCL6 gene rearrangement [48].

CD21, the EBV/C3d receptor, is expressed in EBV-positive disease. Adhesion molecules LFA-1 (CD11a/CD18), p150/95 (CD11c), and CD44 are usually absent.

CD5-positive, CD10-negative, and BCL2positive variants were reported. MYC and BCL6 rearrangements should be sought out in tumors with high BCL2 expression, to rule out diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). Moreover, DLBCLs often lack the expression of CD 10 and have a lower proliferative index (Ki-67 less than 90%). In regard to the leukemic form, a high correlation was found between L3 morphology and the presence of surface Ig although cases of morphologically L1 or L2 ALL with surface Ig, and cases of morphologically L3ALL without surface Ig have been described, both in children and adults [49–52]. Hoelzer et al. [50] reported poor outcomes in patients with surface Ig and L1 or L2 morphology; this form is probably a subtype of ALL different from L3ALL that requires other therapeutic approaches. Kantarjian et al. [53] also described L3 morphology in only 11 of their 18 cases of mature B-cell ALL.

17.4.2.3 Cytogenetics

Translocation (8;14), between the long arm of chromosome 8, the site of the MYC oncogene (8q24), and the immunoglobulin heavy chain gene on chromosome 14 is the most frequent translocation observed in 80% of BLs. Translocation t(2;8) and translocation t(8;22)between 8q24 and kappa light chain on chromosome 2 and lambda light chain on chromosome 22, respectively, are much less frequent. Rearrangements involving MYC can be detected both by routine cytogenetics and by FISH using a MYC break apart probe that employs two different fluorescent colors which hybridize to both ends of the gene [35]. A few studies reported lack of MYC rearrangements in up to 5% of tumors with features typical of BL [54, 55]. Diagnosis of BL in the absence of MYC rearrangement is not recommended in the 2016 World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms [1]. Many of the cases that were previously categorized as BL in the absence of a MYC rearrangement are better classified as the new provisional entity "Burkitt-like lymphoma with 11q aberration."

Conventional cytogenetic analysis also revealed additional chromosomal abnormalities that lack prognostic values in 30–40% of patients [56]. Onciu et al. reported additional abnormalities in 81 and 73% of the children and adults, respectively. Of the most commonly observed abnormalities involving chromosomes 1, 6, 13, 17, and 22, only those of chromosome 17 were associated with a poor prognosis in adults [57]. Comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) analysis also showed that L3ALL had higher numbers of cytogenetic changes than BLs, including a high level of genetic amplification [58].

17.4.2.4 Molecular Biology

Two large studies using gene expression profiling (GEP) described a characteristic molecular signature discerning between BL and DLBCL [35, 55]. New approaches such as Nanostring analysis that facilitate the detection of RNA signature might render the use of GEP more attractive in the future for the diagnosis of BL [59].

Next-generation sequencing studies of BL identified mutations in the transcription factor TCF3 (10–25% of cases) or a negative regulator of TCF3, ID3 (35–58% of cases) [38]. Most TCF3 mutations are gain-of-function mutations that block ID3 binding to TCF3. They are rarely found in DLBCL and other B-cell lymphomas, suggesting that TCF3 gain of function is a defining lesion that could be used to diagnose BL in the coming years.

17.4.3 Staging and Pretreatment Evaluation

Zeigler and Magrath developed the earliest staging system for BL in 1974. Nowadays, staging is performed according to the Ann Arbor, or more often the St. Jude (Murphy) systems [19]. As per 100% the Lugano criteria, being a fluorodeoxyglucose-avid lymphoma, current staging of BL must be based on fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) scans [60]. CT scans of the neck, chest, abdomen, and pelvis are an acceptable alternative. Unilateral bone marrow aspiration and biopsy are recommended. Lumbar puncture with assessment of CSF by cytology and flow cytometry is also advised.

Pretreatment evaluation should include:

- Complete blood count with differential, renal function, electrolytes, uric acid, and LDH levels.
- Hepatitis B, hepatitis C, and HIV serologies.

- Assessment of cardiac function with echocardiogram or MUGA before the administration of anthracyclines.
- Fertility counselling: while sperm banking for men is performed rapidly, options for women are limited given the urgent need to start treatment.

In case of spontaneous tumor lysis with renal failure at diagnosis, ICU admission and initiation of hemodialysis should be considered before starting treatment, to prevent the high mortality risk associated with worsening of TLS upon initiation of chemotherapy.

17.4.4 Prognosis

Two-year survival rates of 80–90% are reported in prospective trials using modern regimens. However, these excellent rates likely overestimate those achieved in clinical practice, where patients are less "fit."

In 2013, Costa et al. published survival data from the Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database that included 3691 cases of BL diagnosed between 1973 and 2008. The estimated 5-year survival rate improved from 41% to 54% in patients diagnosed from 1973 to 2001, and from to 2002 to 2008, respectively. Survival decreased with age (87%, 60%, 48%, and 33% for patients aged ≤19 years, 20–39 years, 40–59 years, and ≥60 years, respectively), and advanced stage (hazard ratio 1.90; 95% CI 1.65– 2.19) [61].

Other negative prognostic factors include CNS involvement, bone marrow infiltration, presence of t(14;18), del 13q, abnormalities in 1q and 7q, lack of early response to chemotherapy and absence of complete remission (CR) at the end of the treatment [58, 62–65].

HIV-infected patients carry a poorer prognosis that mostly results from their underlying fragility as well as the use of non-optimal doses of chemotherapy [66]. Several studies showed that relapse-free survival (RFS) is identical in HIVnegative and HIV-positive patients after achieving complete remission. Recent antiretroviral therapies might improve outcomes in this population.

A fairly large number of small series of L3ALL (with 3-10 patients) treated with conventional ALL regimens have been reported, and their results have been uniformly poor with CR rates of only 30-50% and most patients subsequently relapsing in the CNS [56]. Early death from TLS was common. Outcomes in children dramatically improved with the new regimens developed by several groups, especially the St. Jude's group, the German Berlin, Frankfurt, Munster (BFM) group, and the French Société Française d'Oncologie Pédiatrique (SFOP). In L3ALL patients treated "optimally," poor prognostic factors include poor performance status at diagnosis [67], older age, high white blood cell (WBC) counts (>50 \times 10⁹/l) and hemoglobin <8 g/dl [50]. Elevated LDH levels had borderline significance [50]. CNS infiltration was not associated with poorer prognosis in the SFOP 86 trial, which incorporated higher dose methotrexate (MTX) (8 g/m²), high-dose cytarabine (Ara C) 3 g/m^2 , and cranial irradiation at 24 Gy [68]. In opposite to most other hematological malignancies, p53 mutations have no prognostic value in BL or L3ALL [69].

17.5 Treatment

17.5.1 BL/L3ALL in Children

Initially used in children with BL/L3ALL, classical ALL or lymphoma regimens combining moderate doses of cyclophosphamide (CPM), anthracyclines, vincristine (VCR), and prednisone with CNS prophylaxis failed to achieve CR in advanced disease [68, 70].

The St. Jude's group, French SFOP, and German BFM group succeeded in improving survival rates in children with BL. They initiated treatment with a "pre phase" combining low doses of steroids and chemotherapy (CPM, VCR) to prevent the onset of potentially lethal tumor lysis syndrome. Urate oxidase was given concomitantly. High-dose chemotherapy was started a week later. Treatment protocols consisted of fractionated high doses of CPM (or ifosfamide), intermediate or high dose (HD) MTX and Ara C, and teniposide or etoposide in addition to doxorubicin and VCR. CNS treatment was gradually intensified with HD MTX (at 5 g/m² in BFM trials and 8 g/m² in SFOP trials), a greater number of triple intrathecal injections (with Ara C, MTX, hydrocortisone), consolidation with etoposide and HD Ara C, and cranial irradiation [64, 70, 71]. These new protocols resulted in 70-75% cure rates in children with advanced disease, regardless of CNS infiltration. For instance, the overall event-free survival (EFS) was 89% at 6 years in 266 pediatric patients with BL treated per BFM protocol [71]. Cure rates exceeded 80% when CNS prophylaxis with HD intravenous MTX (8 g/m²) and intrathecal chemotherapy was used in the LMB89 protocol [64] (Figs. 17.1, 17.2, 17.3, and 17.4).

17.5.2 General Therapeutic Strategy in Adults

BL/L3ALL is an aggressive disease requiring chemotherapy in all disease stages. Radiotherapy has a very limited role, limited mainly to cases of spinal cord compression or testicular involvement. Similarly, as response to chemotherapy is rapid and disease is inevitably disseminated, there is no role for surgery even in localized disease. Surgical resection of residual masses is not beneficial.

The approaches that showed improved results in children were rapidly proposed to adults. For instance, the SFOP and BFM protocols were applied to adults, with no or minor modifications. The standard of care in BL remains undefined; however, all groups share the same following principles:

Fig. 17.1 Low-power magnification with the characteristic "starry sky" pattern. (Reproduced with permission from Ioachim HL, Medeiros LJ. Burkitt lymphoma. In: Ioachim's lymph node pathology, 4th edition, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia 2009)



with basophilic cytoplasm, round nuclei with coarse chromatin, multiple nucleoli, and several cytoplasmic vacuoles. (Reproduced with permission from Ioachim HL, Medeiros LJ. Burkitt lymphoma. In: Ioachim's lymph node pathology, 4th edition, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia 2009)

Fig. 17.2 BL cells,

- Referral to expert centers increases remission rates and limits complications.
- Patients should be enrolled in clinical trials whenever possible.
- In case of high tumor burden at diagnosis, a "pre phase" induction therapy with low doses of steroids and chemotherapy reduces the risk of fatal TLS.
- Aggressive CNS-oriented treatment using intravenous (high-dose) as well as regular intrathecal MTX and cytarabine is recom-

mended. With the incorporation of CNS prophylaxis, CNS relapse rates drop from 30–50% to approximately 6–11% [72–74]. Prophylactic whole-brain radiation is no longer used due to its long-term toxicity.

- Systemic treatment must be initiated rapidly and consists of a short intensive course of high-dose, multi-agent cytotoxic chemotherapy. Dose reductions should be avoided.
- Given the high proliferative rate of these tumors, chemotherapy must be re-


Fig. 17.3 Fluorescence in situ hybridization showing t(8;14), a hallmark of BL

administrated upon hematologic recovery rather than at a predefined schedule.

- TLS should be anticipated with ICU admission and "preventive" hemodialysis of patients presenting with renal failure and high uric acid levels. Rasburicase administration and aggressive hydration are mandatory.
- Rituximab is a standard of care and should be added to all treatment regimens [65].
- As most relapses occur within 1 year of diagnosis, prolonged maintenance treatment is not needed.

Toxicity remains one the major challenges in the treatment of BL. Unlike children and young adults who generally tolerate intensive therapy, older and/or immunosuppressed patients develop



Fig. 17.4 Recurrent oncogenic pathways in BL. Gainof-function mutations are indicated by + signs and lossof-function mutations by X signs. Potential drugs to block

these pathways are highlighted in gray. (From Schmitz et al. [29])

more treatment-related side effects. Dose reductions are often necessary and affect response rates. These patients, who are usually excluded from clinical trials, have reduced quality of life and shortened survival (Tables 17.1, 17.2, 17.3, and 17.4).

	Endemic	Sporadic	Immunodeficiency-related
Incidence	3-6 per 10 ⁵ children/year	2–3 per 10 ⁶ subjects/year	30 % of HIV associated
		30% of pediatric NHLs	NHL, CD4+ > $0.2 \times 10^{9/1}$
		1% of adult NHLs	
Age	Children > adults	Children > adults	Adults
	Mainly males 4–7 years		
Localization	Extranodal	Extranodal	Frequently extranodal (gut,
			bone marrow)
	Jaw (50%)	Mainly the gut	
		Jaw (25%)	
Bone marrow infiltration	<10 %	30%	20-60%
CNS involvement	30–40%	15%	20–30%
EBV	>90%	20%	20–40%
c-Myc	Identical in all types	80% t(8;14),	15% t(2;8), 5% t(8;22)

Table 17.1 Clinical presentations of BL/L3ALL

Table 17.2	Diagnosis and	management of laborator	y and clinical	tumor lysis syndrome

Metabolic					
abnormality	Laboratory TLS ^a	Clinical TLS ^b	Prevention	Management	
Hyperuricemia	Uric acid >8.0 mg/dl (475.8 µmol/l) in adults or above the upper limit of the normal range for age in children	Acute kidney injury	 Intravenous hyperhydration (2500– 3000 ml/m² per day in the 	 Hyperhydration Rasburicase Hemodialysis 	
Hyperkalemia	Potassium >6.0 mmol/l	Cardiac dysrhythmia or death	 a and a second second	 Oral sodium polystyrene sulfonate, insulin and glucose, beta-agonists Calcium gluconate and cardiac monitoring Low potassium intake Frequent monitoring Hemodialysis 	
Hyper- phosphatemia	Phosphorus >4.5 mg/dl (1.5 mmol/l) in adults or >6.5 mg/dl (2.1 mmol/l) in children	Cardiac dysrhythmia or death		achieve a target urine output of at least 2 ml/ kg/h	 Phosphate binders Limit phosphorus intake Hemodialysis^e
Hypocalcemia	Corrected calcium <7.0 mg/dl (1.75 mmol/l) or ionized calcium <1.12 mg/dl (0.3 mmol/l)	Cardiac dysrhythmia or death, seizure, neuromuscular irritability		 Avoid hyperphosphatemia If symptomatic, calcium supplementation at the lowest dose required to relieve symptoms^d 	

Adapted from Cairo and Bishop [75]

^aLaboratory TLS requires the simultaneous presence of two or more metabolic abnormalities within 3 days before initiation of therapy or up to 7 days afterward

^bClinical TLS is defined by the presence of laboratory TLS with clinical manifestations, increased creatinine level, seizures, cardiac dysrhythmia, or death

^cContinuous venovenous hemodiafiltration more effectively reduces phosphate levels compared with conventional hemodialysis [76]

^dExcessive calcium supplementation increases the calcium–phosphate product and the rate of calcium phosphate crystallization, particularly if the product is greater than 60 mg² per square deciliter

^eUric acid may take 2 days or more to decrease with allopurinol. Rasburicase is more effective than allopurinol ^fDecreases calcium phosphate solubility

		Number			Median age,			
	Author	of		Older	years	Stage III/IV	Risk	
Regimen	(year)	patients	HIV status	patients	(range)	(%)	category	Rituximab
LMBA-02	Ribrag ^a (2016)	260 ^b	Negative	Age ≥ 60 years: 23%	47	62% CNS(+): 25%	Group B ^c : 48% Group C ^c : 52%	Yes
GMALL-B- ALL/ NHL2002	Hoelzer ^d (2014)	363	Unknown	Age > 55 years: 27%	42 (16–85)	71% CNS(+): 10% BM(+): 42%	CNS(+) ^e	No
CODOX-M/ IVAC UKLG LY06 Trial	Mead ^f (2002)	52	Negative	Age ≥ 60 years: 0%	35 (16–60)	61%	LR ^g : 23% HR ^g : 77%	No
CODOX-M/ IVAC MRC/NCRI LY10 Trial	Mead ^h (2008)	128 58 BL 70 DLBCL	Negative	Age ≥ 60 years: 10%	37 (17–76)	73% CNS (+): 12% BM(+): 44%	LR ^g 24% HR ^g 76%	No
R-CODOX M/ IVAC AMC 048 Trial	Noy ⁱ (2015)	34	Positive (100%)	-	42 (19–55)	74% CNS(+): 0%	LR ^j : 6% HR ^j : 94%	Yes
CALGB 9251	Rizzieri ^k (2004)	921	Negative	Age ≥ 60 years: 21%	47 (17–78)	99% CNS(+): 5% BM(+): 63%	Cohort 1 ¹ : 57% Cohort 2 ¹ : 43% CNS(+)	No
CALGB 10 002	Rizzieri ^m (2014)	105	Negative	Age ≥ 60 years: 27%	43 (19–79)	49% CNS(+): 14%	CNS(+) ⁿ	Yes
Hyper-CVAD	Thomas ^o (1999)	26	?	Age ≥ 60 years: 46%	58 (17–79)	CNS(+): 21%	CNS(+) ^p	No
R-Hyper- CVAD	Thomas ^q (2006)	31	Negative ^r	Age ≥ 60 years: 29%	46 (17–77)	CNS(+):7%	CNS(+) ^p	Yes
(R)-Hyper- CVAD	Cortes ^s (2002)	13	Positive (100%)	Age ≥ 35 years: 77%	43 (32–55)	CNS(+):23%	CNS(+) ^p	Yes ^s
DA-EPOCH-R	Dunleavy ^t (2013)	30 ^u	Positive (37%)	Age ≥ 40 years: 40%	33 (15–88)	67% CNS(+): 3% BM(+): 13%	LR ^v 17% IR ^v 73% HR ^v 10%	Yes

 Table 17.3
 Patients characteristics in selected regimens for adult Burkitt lymphoma/leukemia

Regimen	Author (year)	Number of patients	HIV status	Older patients	Median age, years (range)	Stage III/IV (%)	Risk category	Rituximab
RA-DA- EPOCH-R	Dunleavy ^w (2015– ongoing)	77	Positive (26%)	Age ≥ 40 years: 55%	45 (19–78)	64% CNS(+): 10%	LR ^x 14% HR ^x 86%	Yes

Table 17.3 (continued)

^aRibrag et al. [65].

^bRandomized phase 3 study. Patients assigned to two groups: group 1 receiving chemotherapy alone and group 2 receiving chemotherapy with rituximab

^cGroup B: absence of BM or CNS involvement. Group C: Presence of BM or CNS involvement; patients further stratified into five groups according to age and CNS status. Group C patients received MTX 8000 mg/m², triple IT injections and enforced consolidation with HD Ara-C and VP-16. Cranial RT was delivered to patients with CNS (+) disease ^dHoelzer et al. [77]

^eCNS(+) patients received more IT injections as well as cranial irradiation. Mediastinal irradiation was recommended in patients with mediastinal tumor (<7.5 cm) at diagnosis

^fMead et al. [78]

^gLow-risk patients had normal LDH, WHO performance status 0–1, Ann Arbor stage I–II and ≤ 1 extranodal site. All other patients were high risk. LR patients received three cycles of modified CODOX-M while HR patients were given four cycles of alternating modified CODOX-M and IVAC. In LY06 trial, CNS prophylaxis in LR patients included HD IV MTX (6.7 g/m²) along with IT injections of MTX and Ara-C. HR patients were additionally given HD intravenous Ara-C. In LY-10 trial, MTX dose was reduced to 3 g/m² in all patients and 1 g/m² in those older than 65 years ^hMead et al. [79]

Nov et al. [80]

^JLR patients were those with stage I disease, <10 cm and normal LDH or intra-abdominal disease only and total resection and normal LDH after surgery. They received three cycles of rituximab and CODOX-M. All other patients were considered HR and received R-CODOX-M/IVAC in an R-CODOX-M/IVAC/R-CODOX-M/IVAC sequence for a total of four cycles

^kRizzieri et al. [81]

Patients divided into two cohorts. Cohort 1 included 52 patients receiving IT chemotherapy and cranial irradiation. Cohort 2 included 40 patients who received less IT injections. Cranial irradiation was performed exclusively in HR cohort 2 patients. CNS(+) patients received weekly triple IT injections until CSF clearance then 4 weekly doses followed by cranial RT

^mRizzieri et al. [82]

ⁿCNS (+) patients received additional triple IT injections twice weekly until CSF clearance then monthly for four treatments, followed by cranial radiation. Those with gonadal disease received RT to the testes during systemic therapy ^oThomas et al. [83]

^pAll patients received alternated IT MTX and Ara-C on days 2 and 7 of each course of HD MTX and Ara-C. If there was CNS involvement, IT therapy was increased to twice weekly until CSF clearance. The IT therapy then alternated MTX and Ara-C weekly for four doses (including planned IT days 2 and 7 if course given). The program was then resumed for prophylaxis until completion of chemotherapy. No prophylactic cranial irradiation was administered. Therapeutic RT was given if indicated, e.g., for cranial nerve palsies or intracranial mass

^qThomas et al. [84]

"Ten patients with HIV-related BL were reported separately

^sThe protocol was modified to include rituximab [85].

^tDunleavy et al. [86]

^uOf the 30 patients, 19 were HIV-negative and were treated with DA-EPOCH-R. Eleven were HIV-positive and received SC-EPOCH-RR (lower-dose short-course combination with a double dose of rituximab)

^vLR: resected stage I or abdominal stage II cancer. HR: central nervous system involvement, at least 25% blasts in bone marrow, or both characteristics. IR: not in either of the other risk groups

^wDunleavy et al. [87]

*LR: Normal LDH, ECOG P.S. 0–1, stage I or II disease and maximum tumor size <7 cm. These patients received three cycles without IT prophylaxis. HR patients received six cycles with IT prophylaxis days 1 and 5 on cycles 3–6

					Grade 3–5 toxicities
Regimen	Author (year)	ORR (%), CR (%)	EFS or PFS (%)	OS (%)	(%)
LMBA-02	Ribrag ^a (2016)	_	75% in the rituximab arm vs. 62% in the control arm at 3 years p = 0.024	83% vs. 70% at 3 years <i>p</i> = 0.011	Infections: 17% vs. 15% Non-hematologic toxicity: 17% Neurotoxicity: <1% Mucositis: 9%
GMALL-B- ALL/NHL2002	Hoelzer ^b (2014)	CR: 88% 84% in patients older than 55 years	75% 60% in patients older than 55 years	80% 62% in patients older than 55 years	Neutropenia: 58% at cycle A1 ^c Infections: 38% at cycle A1 ^c Mucositis: 29%
CODOX-M/ IVAC UKLG LY06 Trial	Mead ^d (2002)	ORR: 86.5% CR: 76.5% CR in LR: 83% CR in HR: 74%	64.6% at 2 years HR: 59.5% at 2 years	72.8% at 2 years HR: 69.9% at 2 years	Myelosuppression: 100% Mucositis: 42% Thrombocytopenia: 66% Diarrhea: 8%
CODOX-M/ IVAC MRC/NCRI LY10 trial	Mead ^e (2008)	_	64% at 2 years 85% LR 49% HR	67% at 2 years 88% LR 52% HR	Neutropenia: 99% Febrile neutropenia: 80% Thrombocytopenia: 86% Mucositis: 45% Neuropathy: 8% Toxic deaths: 8%
R-CODOX-M/ IVAC AMC 048	Noy ^f (2015)	_	69% at 1 year	69% at 2 years	All toxicities: 79% Hematologic: 59% Infectious: 41% Metabolic: 18% Mucositis: 0% Toxic deaths: 3%
CALGB 9251	Rizzieri ^g (2004)	ORR 85% CR 74% No significant differences between the two cohorts	52% CH1 vs. 45% CH2 at 3 years	54% vs. 50%	Myelosuppression: 100% Infection: 55% Mucositis: 51% Neuropathy Sensory neuropathy: 9% Motor neuropathy: 18% Toxic deaths: 8%
CALGB 10 002	Rizzieri ^h (2014)	CR 83% Compared to CALGB 9251 improvement in CR EFS OS with addition of Ritux and filgrastim	78% at 2 years	80% at 2 years	Febrile neutropenia or infection: 93% Mucositis: 69% Renal insufficiency: 10% Neurologic: 25% Pulmonary toxicity: 18% Toxic deaths: 7%

 Table 17.4
 Patient outcomes in selected regimens for adult Burkitt lymphoma/leukemia

					Grade 3–5 toxicities
Regimen	Author (year)	ORR (%), CR (%)	EFS or PFS (%)	OS (%)	(%)
Hyper-CVAD	Thomas ⁱ (1999)	CR 81%	_	49% at 3 years	Myelosuppression: 100% Febrile neutropenia: 86% Induction deaths: 19%
R-Hyper- CVAD	Thomas ⁱ (2006)	CR 86%	80% at 3 years	89% at 3 years	Myelosuppression: 100% No induction deaths
(R)-Hyper- CVAD	Cortes ^k (2002)	CR 92%	_	mOS: 12 m 48% at 2 years	Myelosuppression: 100% Fever/infections: 35% of cycles
DA-EPOCH-R	Dunleavy ¹ (2013)	_	95% at 86 months for DA-EPOCH-R 100% at 73 months for SC-EPOCH-RR	100% at 86 months for DA-EPOCH-R 90% at 73 months for SC-EPOCH-RR	Grade 4 neutropenia: 46% of cycles Fever and neutropenia: 19% of cycles Mucositis 5% of cycles No toxic deaths Toxicity lower in the SC-EPOCH-RR group
RA-DA- EPOCH-R	Dunleavy ^m (2015-ongoing)	-	87% at 25 months 84% over 40 No significant difference according to risk, age, and HIV status	88% at 25 months 83% over 40 No significant difference according to risk, age, and HIV status	Same as above Toxic deaths: 7% (infection)

Table 17.4 (continued)

^aRibrag et al. [65]

^bRates decrease in the following cycles

^cHoelzer et al. [77] ^dMead et al. [78] ^eMead et al. [79] ^fNoy et al. [80] ^gRizzieri et al. [81] ^hRizzieri et al. [82] ⁱThomas et al. [83] ^jThomas et al. [84] ^kCortes et al. [85] ^lDunleavy et al. [86] ^mDunleavy et al. [87]

17.5.3 Chemotherapy Protocols

In 2016, Ribrag et al. [65] published the results of a randomized, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial, of rituximab and chemotherapy (LMB regimen) versus chemotherapy alone in 260 adult patients with BL/L3ALL. With a median follow-up of 38 months, 3-year EFS and overall survival (OS) were significantly improved in the rituximab group without added toxicities.

Apart from rituximab, there is no current standard of care in BL/L3ALL due to the lack of randomized clinical trials and the heterogeneity of single-arm trials. Three main treatment approaches are available.

17.5.3.1 Intensive Short Duration Combination Chemotherapy

Magrath Regimen CODOX-M/IVAC

CODOX-M (CPM, VCR, doxorubicin, and HD-MTX) with IVAC (ifosfamide, Ara C, etoposide, and intrathecal MTX), also called the Magrath regimen, is one of the most widely used chemotherapy protocols outside of a clinical trial [78, 79, 88]. Developed in the 1980s, this regimen uses a risk-adapted approach based on disease bulk of 10 cm or greater, elevated LDH, poor performance status, and advanced stage. One case series and three prospective trials have been reported on the use of CODOX-M/IVAC in patients with newly diagnosed BL [78, 79, 88, 89]. Chemotherapy doses were slightly different between the studies. CNS prophylaxis consisted of intrathecal cytarabine and methotrexate. Patients experienced severe toxicities that required prolonged hospitalization, antibiotics and transfusion support. Two-year OS ranged from 67% to 92%, although among adults, the rate was approximately 75%. In a retrospective analysis, addition of rituximab to CODOX-M/ IVAC in 40 adult patients, most of them having high-risk disease, resulted in an overall response rate (ORR) of 90% compared to 88% in patients without rituximab (no statistically significant difference). In all patients, progression-free survival

(PFS) and OS were 68% and 71%, respectively. Furthermore, significantly fewer relapses were reported among patients receiving rituximab compared with those receiving chemotherapy alone [90].

Lymphome Malin B (LMB) Protocol

The SFOP adopted the already successful riskadapted LMB89 pediatric regimen in adults with a median age of 33 years and mostly advanced disease. EFS and OS at 2 years were 65% and 70%, respectively [91]. Toxicity was important and treatment-related mortality was significant. As mentioned previously in the only randomized trial by Ribrag et al. [65], addition of rituximab to this regimen significantly improved EFS and OS. Patients were stratified according to severity of disease into group B (no CNS or BM involvement) or group C (all other patients).

The German Adult ALL Group Experience

GMALL-B-ALL/NHL2002 remains the largest published multicenter prospective international trial for BL. Three hundred sixty three patients in 98 centers received six cycles of HD MTX, HD Ara C, CPM, etoposide, ifosfamide, steroids, and intrathecal therapy along with eight doses of rituximab [77]. Doses were reduced in patients older than 55 years. CR rates were excellent at 88%, OS and PFS were 80% and 71% at 5 years, respectively. Patients with CNS involvement received 24 Gy of radiation and those with bulky mediastinal disease received 36 Gy of mediastinal radiation. In patients older than 55 years (27%), OS and PFS were 62% and 60%, respectively.

The Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALGB) Experience

The CALGB (study 9251) adapted the German adult ALL protocol by replacing teniposide with etoposide [81]. Subsequent studies (CALGB 10002) have evaluated this regimen in combination with rituximab and filgrastim support in 105 adults [82]. CR rates, 4-year EFS and OS were 83%, 74%, and 78%, respectively.

17.5.3.2 ALL-Like Therapy with a Stepwise Induction, Consolidation, and Maintenance Therapy Lasting at Least 2 Years from Diagnosis

Hyper CVAD

Hyper-CVAD is a regimen developed by the MD Anderson Cancer Center for ALL using fractionated CPM, VCR, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone alternating with HD MTX and HD Ara C [53]. Following successful outcomes in ALL, this protocol was tested in BL. In combination with rituximab, R-hyper-CVAD induced CR in 86% of patients. OS at 3 years was 89%, and EFS 80% [84]. No treatment-related deaths were observed despite significant toxicity.

17.5.3.3 Infusional Chemotherapy with Dose-Adjusted EPOCH Plus Rituximab

Dose-adjusted etoposide, VCR, and doxorubicin administered as a 96-h continuous infusion with oral prednisone and bolus dose-escalated CPM is mostly used in AIDS-related BL. Dose adjustments are based on nadir neutrophil counts during the previous cycle. Dunleavy et al. treated 17 patients (median age 25 years) with sporadic BL with DA EPOCH, rituximab and intrathecal chemotherapy for 6-8 cycles. After a median followup of 86 months, freedom from progression and OS were 95% (95% CI 75-99%) and 100% (95% CI 82–100%), respectively [86]. These results might be the consequence of prolonged exposure to anthracyclines etoposide and VCR which may inhibit DNA repair and favor apoptosis by enhancing genotoxic stress and impeding microtubule-dependent protein transport. Conversely, the small sample of adults, the small number of patients with central nervous system involvement, and the wide confidence intervals are major limitations. This regimen could be a valid option in older or less fit patients given its good toxicity profile. Nevertheless, larger studies are needed before recommending its use in all patients with sporadic BL. Indeed, the Hemato Oncology Foundation for Adults in the Netherlands (HOVON) group, the United Kingdom Cancer Research group, and the Swiss Group for Clinical Cancer Research (SAKK) are currently conducting a randomized phase 3 study (HOVON 127) comparing R-CODOX-M/IVAC to dose-adjusted R-EPOCH in high-risk BL patients.

17.5.4 Evaluation of Response

Assessment of response should be done 1 month after the completion of planned therapy (or sooner, if refractory disease is suspected). History, physical examination, laboratory studies (CBC, LDH levels, biochemical profile), and post-treatment CT scan are recommended.

17.5.5 Disease Surveillance

There are no randomized data comparing schedules of follow-up. History, physical examination, CBC, serum chemistries, and LDH are recommended every 3–4 months during the first year, every 6 months during the second year, and then annually.

Most relapses occur during the first year after treatment and are usually symptomatic. The benefit of imaging in routine surveillance is therefore uncertain. Younger patients may be at risk for second malignancies; care should be taken to limit exposure to radiation.

17.5.6 Relapsed and Refractory BL

Relapsed disease should be confirmed by biopsy. Patients have an extremely poor prognosis and must be enrolled in clinical trials whenever possible. Best supportive care is a valid option.

In pediatric series, second-line chemotherapy followed by intensification with autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) was effective in 40% of the cases. The former series are biased, since they mostly include "fit" patients who received sub-optimal first-line treatment. Drugs used for salvage chemotherapy include HD MTX and HD Ara C, and/or etoposide and cisplatin.

Outcome of adult BL/L3ALL patients who had PR or relapsed after first-line intensive protocols (SFOP, BFM, or German ALL trials) is dismal [67, 77].

Fit patients who received suboptimal regimens in first-line may respond to dose-intensive regimens.

17.5.7 Role of Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (HSCT)

In opposite to other aggressive lymphomas with high-risk features at presentation, there is lack of solid data regarding the efficacy of high-dose chemotherapy followed by HSCT both at first CR [67] and relapse. An observational study conducted by the Center for International Blood and Marrow Research (CIBMTR), reported decreased rates of ASCT during 1985 and 2007. At the time, rituximab was not a standard of care; however, a subset of patients achieved long-term disease control with a 5-year OS of 83% and 53% for ASCT at first and second remission, respectively [92].

In patients with relapsed disease, 2-year PFS after autologous SCT is around 30–40%. These relatively good results, however, were mostly reported in selected series of patients that had received sub-optimal first-line therapy, and who were able to reach ASCT. In fact, Cremer et al. [93] showed in a single-center retrospective study that aggressive salvage therapy is ineffective in patients who relapse after induction with a short-intensive chemo-immunotherapy protocol.

Allogeneic SCT may be considered in relapsing patients with a sibling or matched related donor who may not be eligible for or may have previously received an autologous SCT. Fiveyear PFS is around 27% and treatment-related morbidity is high [92]. Disease status at transplant and chemosensitivity is the most significant prognostic factors [94].

17.6 Treatment for Specific Demographics

17.6.1 HIV-Infected Patients

During an 8-year period, the National Cancer Institute of Italy declared 46 (35%) cases of BL among 131 cases of HIV-associated NHL [13]. As mentioned previously, unlike other types of HIVassociated lymphomas, BL usually develops at a stage when immune functions are still preserved. It is considered an AIDS-defining malignancy. Bone marrow infiltration is found in 20-60% of cases. HIV-infected patients are often excluded from clinical trials; data regarding treatment efficacy and survival are scarce. In HIV-associated BL, chemotherapy results in CR rates of 20–45% and median survival of 3-6 months, approximately [95, 96]. Outcomes are less favorable than in HIVnegative BL, with a CR rate of 40% vs. 65% (p = 0.03) [13]. The difference may result from the higher incidence of deaths from opportunistic infections as well as the use of less dose-intensive regimens in immunocompromised individuals.

With the concurrent use of active antiretroviral therapy, HIV-associated BL and sporadic BL treated with dose-intensive protocols have comparable outcomes. In a retrospective study by Wang et al., 14 HIV-positive adults were treated with different protocols. Outcomes were compared with those of 24 HIV-negative patients with BL who had similar characteristics and were treated concomitantly (13 with CODOX-M/ IVAC; 11 with other regimens). Of the 8 patients who received CODOX-M/IVAC (Magrath regimen), 5 achieved a CR (63%). The 2-year EFS rate was 60%. Long-term EFS was not adversely affected by HIV status (p = 0.88). CODOX-M/IVAC was associated with improved EFS (p = 0.05), in all patients, regardless of HIV status. Treatment-related adverse events were equally prevalent in HIV-positive and -negative patients [97]. These results suggest that HIVinfected patients with BL have better outcomes when treated with dose-intensive regimens. Furthermore, the addition of rituximab to modified CODOX-M/IVAC (intensified treatment of CNS disease if present at diagnosis along with preventive measures against mucositis, hematologic and neurologic toxicities) did not increase toxicity in a population of 34 HIV-positive adults with BL. Estimated PFS at 1 year was 69% and OS at 1 and 2 years was 72% and 69%, respectively [80]. Similarly, HIV-infected patients who received DA-EPOCH-R had favorable outcomes with CR, 2-year PFS and OS rates of 82%, 66%, and 70%, respectively. Treatment-associated deaths occurred in 10% of patients and may be minimized by sequential rather than concurrent administration of rituximab in those with a CD4 count less than 50/µL [98].

As in HIV-negative patient, CNS prophylaxis is mandatory. There are possible interactions between chemotherapy agents and anti-retroviral therapy, particularly with HD methotrexate. Temporary interruption of ART is recommended in this case.

In conclusion, HIV-infected patients with acceptable CD4 counts and without advanced AIDS symptoms should be treated similarly to HIV-negative patients with dose-intensive short chemoimmunotherapy protocols.

17.6.2 The Elderly

Most clinical trials excluded older adults. Of 25 patients over the age of 60 years who received hyper CVAD with or without rituximab, those who tolerated the treatment had a survival benefit comparable to younger patients [84]. Nevertheless, most studies showed a poor tolerance of hyper CVAD in older adults [99].

A comprehensive geriatric assessment is important to assess comorbidities and functional status in the elderly patient. It leads to the elaboration of a "customized" treatment plan.

Treatment options include:

- EPOCH: Less toxic than conventional therapy with promising results in a younger population [86].
- Standard CHOP chemotherapy with rituximab and intrathecal therapy. Two-year progressionfree survival is likely less than 30% with this approach [100].

17.6.3 Patients with Cardiac Dysfunction

Anthracyclines are contraindicated in patients with a baseline left ventricular ejection fraction below 30%. Non-anthracycline-containing regimens should be used in this setting. Chemotherapy protocols requiring intravenous fluid hydration may also be difficult to administer. Pegylated liposomal doxorubicin allows higher cumulative doses with equivalent efficacy and less cardiac toxicity.

17.7 Future Perspectives

Despite the improvement in CR and survival rates with the use of intensive chemotherapy, the treatment of BL remains challenging, particularly in special "vulnerable" populations (elderly, immunocompromised patients, etc.) as well as in resource-poor environments where the disease is endemic and access to adequate chemotherapy and supportive care is difficult [47]. Therefore, the development of new treatment protocols that are more affordable and better tolerated is crucial. These new protocols may target the following pathways:

17.7.1 TCF3 Pathway Activation

In opposite to other lymphoma types, mutations in TCF3/ID3 genes are detected in more than two thirds of sporadic and HIV-related BLs and in 40% of EBV-positive cases and may be used for diagnostic purposes in difficult situations. Moreover, TCF3 acts as a lineage-survival oncogene and activates the pro-survival PI3-K pathway in BL. Agents that block this transcription factor are yet to be developed [29].

17.7.2 PI3K Pathway

Preclinical studies showed a potential benefit of blocking the PI3K pathway, an essential pervasive pro-survival mechanism in BL cell lines. The PI3K-targeting agents used in these studies have proven their efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of other neoplasms. Potential candidates for future clinical trials include:

- BKM-120 that targets all of the catalytic isoforms of PI3K [29].
- Rapamycin or its analogs that may be used to block the mTORC1 kinase complex, activated by PI3K signaling [29].
- Inhibitors of SYC (e.g., fostamatinib) or SRCfamily kinases (e.g., dasatinib) that target BCR-proximal kinases and thus bloc PI3K in an important fraction of BL lines [29].

17.7.3 Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitors

In BL, pairing of cyclin D3 with CDK-6 results in an active kinase. Knockdown of either subunit is toxic for these cells [29]. PD 0332991, a CDK-4/6 inhibitor initially blocks BL cell-cycle progression at the G1-S phase transition, as expected. However, unexpectedly, significant apoptosis is induced by the continuous exposure of BL cells to this agent. The association of increased MYC expression by the t(8;14) translocation with a complete G1 block likely triggers a checkpoint response that results in apoptosis. In BL xenografts, response to PD 0332991 is spectacular with virtual disappearance of tumor cells by day 10 of treatment [29]. Targeting the cyclin D3-CDK-6 appears to be beneficial and should be evaluated in clinical trials.

17.7.4 Targeting MYC Expression

Suppression of MYC remains challenging because of both the diverse mechanisms driving its aberrant expression and the challenge of disrupting protein-DNA interactions.

Bromo and extra-terminal (BET) family inhibitors are small molecules that prevent the binding of the BET family of chromatin adaptors to chromatin, a process usually required for MYC expression. Thus, BL cell lines are killed following the downregulation of MYC expression. Significant antitumor activity of BET inhibitors was observed in xenograft models of BL and acute myeloid leukemia. These preclinical studies support further clinical investigation of BET inhibition in relapsed BL.

Antisense oligonucleotides directed at several different sites of human c-Myc mRNA reduced proliferation of HL-60 and Raji cells in vitro [101]. In a murine model of BL, antisense oligonucleotides delayed tumor onset by 3–6 days and reduced total tumor mass by 40–65%, compared with controls [102].

Human mitochondrial peptide deformylase (HsPDF) and mitochondrial sirtuin SIRT 4 are additional candidates that could be targeted in MYC-overexpressing cancers.

17.7.5 Other Potential Candidates

Additional novel therapeutic agents include:

- Monoclonal antibodies directed at common B-cell antigens such as CD22 and HLA-DR.
- Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy against B-cell antigens is particularly effective in childhood ALL and might therefore be beneficial in relapsed/refractory BL.
- Selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors (SSRIs) cause apoptosis of lymphoma cells without affecting normal germinal center B cells. The underlying mechanism is still unclear but is probably independent of the serotonin transporter [103, 104].
- Proteasome inhibitors may result in apoptosis of BL cell lines [105].
- Blockade of EBV-related viral proteins EBNA-1 and EBNA-2, detected in 20–50% of sporadic and HIV-related BL, limits cell growth and increases apoptosis of EBVimmortalized cells in vitro [106, 107].
- Targeting epigenetic modifications with DNA methyltransferase inhibitors (decitabine or 5-azacytidine) or histone deacetylase inhibitors (depsipeptide, MS-275, or suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid) [108].

17.8 Conclusion

BL is a highly aggressive, chemo-sensitive NHL that requires diagnosis and treatment in expert centers. Nowadays, rapid establishment of a short intensive course of chemoimmunotherapy, with CNS-oriented therapy and aggressive prevention and treatment of tumor lysis syndrome yields excellent outcomes in young "fit" patients. Despite the improvement in CR and survival rates, many challenges remain, particularly in the treatment of certain patient groups such as immunocompromised and elderly individuals as well as the treatment of relapsed/refractory disease. Targeting PI3K pathway, MYC and TCF3 expression, and cell cycle kinases are among many therapeutic options to be tested in future clinical trials.

References

- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Pileri SA, Harris NL, Stein H, Siebert R, Advani R, Ghielmini M, Salles GA, Zelenetz AD, Jaffe ES. The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2016;127:2375–90. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-01-643569.
- Magrath I. Epidemiology: clues to the pathogenesis of Burkitt lymphoma. Br J Haematol. 2012;156:744–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2011.09013.x.
- Rochford R, Cannon MJ, Moormann AM. Endemic Burkitt's lymphoma: a polymicrobial disease? Nat Rev Microbiol. 2005;3:182–7. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrmicro1089.
- Chene A, Donati D, Orem J, Mbidde ER, Kironde F, Wahlgren M, Bejarano MT. Endemic Burkitt's lymphoma as a polymicrobial disease: new insights on the interaction between *Plasmodium falciparum* and Epstein-Barr virus. Semin Cancer Biol. 2009;19:411–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. semcancer.2009.10.002.
- Mannucci S, Luzzi A, Carugi A, Gozzetti A, Lazzi S, Malagnino V, Simmonds M, Cusi MG, Leoncini L, van den Bosch CA, De Falco G. EBV reactivation and chromosomal polysomies: *Euphorbia tirucalli* as a possible cofactor in endemic Burkitt lymphoma. Adv Hematol. 2012;2012:149780. https://doi. org/10.1155/2012/149780.
- Accardi R, Gruffat H, Sirand C, Fusil F, Gheit T, Hernandez-Vargas H, Le Calvez-Kelm F, Traverse-Glehen A, Cosset F-L, Manet E, Wild CP, Tommasino M. The mycotoxin aflatoxin B1 stimulates Epstein-Barr virus-induced B-cell

transformation in vitro and in vivo experimental models. Carcinogenesis. 2015;36:1440–51. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgv142.

- Morton LM, Wang SS, Devesa SS, Hartge P, Weisenburger DD, Linet MS. Lymphoma incidence patterns by WHO subtype in the United States, 1992–2001. Blood. 2006;107:265–76. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2005-06-2508.
- Sant M, Allemani C, Tereanu C, De Angelis R, Capocaccia R, Visser O, Marcos-Gragera R, Maynadié M, Simonetti A, Lutz J-M, Berrino F, HAEMACARE Working Group. Incidence of hematologic malignancies in Europe by morphologic subtype: results of the HAEMACARE project. Blood. 2010;116:3724–34. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2010-05-282632.
- Armitage JO, Weisenburger DD. New approach to classifying non-Hodgkin's lymphomas: clinical features of the major histologic subtypes. Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Classification Project. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16:2780–95. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.1998.16.8.2780.
- Boerma EG, van Imhoff GW, Appel IM, Veeger NJGM, Kluin PM, Kluin-Nelemans JC. Gender and age-related differences in Burkitt lymphoma—epidemiological and clinical data from The Netherlands. Eur J Cancer. 2004;1990(40):2781–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejca.2004.09.004.
- 11. Smith A, Howell D, Patmore R, Jack A, Roman E. Incidence of haematological malignancy by sub-type: a report from the Haematological Malignancy Research Network. Br J Cancer. 2011;105:1684–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2011.450.
- 12. Guech-Ongey M, Simard EP, Anderson WF, Engels EA, Bhatia K, Devesa SS, Mbulaiteye SM. AIDS-related Burkitt lymphoma in the United States: what do age and CD4 lymphocyte patterns tell us about etiology and/or biology? Blood. 2010;116:5600–4. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-03-275917.
- 13. Spina M, Tirelli U, Zagonel V, Gloghini A, Volpe R, Babare R, Abbruzzese L, Talamini R, Vaccher E, Carbone A. Burkitt's lymphoma in adults with and without human immunodeficiency virus infection: a single-institution clinicopathologic study of 75 patients. Cancer. 1998;82:766–74.
- Armelin HA, Armelin MC, Kelly K, Stewart T, Leder P, Cochran BH, Stiles CD. Functional role for c-myc in mitogenic response to platelet-derived growth factor. Nature. 1984;310:655–60.
- Cowling VH, Cole MD. Mechanism of transcriptional activation by the Myc oncoproteins. Semin Cancer Biol. 2006;16:242–52. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2006.08.001.
- Lee LA, Dolde C, Barrett J, Wu CS, Dang CV. A link between c-Myc-mediated transcriptional repression and neoplastic transformation. J Clin Invest. 1996;97:1687–95. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI118595.
- Li LH, Nerlov C, Prendergast G, MacGregor D, Ziff EB. c-Myc represses transcription in vivo by a novel

mechanism dependent on the initiator element and Myc box II. EMBO J. 1994;13:4070–9.

- Meyer N, Penn LZ. Reflecting on 25 years with MYC. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8:976–90. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrc2231.
- Blum KA, Lozanski G, Byrd JC. Adult Burkitt leukemia and lymphoma. Blood. 2004;104:3009–20. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-02-0405.
- Adams JM, Cory S. Myc oncogene activation in B and T lymphoid tumours. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 1985;226:59–72. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rspb.1985.0079.
- Sander S, Rajewsky K. Burkitt lymphomagenesis linked to MYC plus PI3K in germinal center B cells. Oncotarget. 2012;3:1066–7. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.726.
- 22. Qian J, Wang Q, Dose M, Pruett N, Kieffer-Kwon K-R, Resch W, Liang G, Tang Z, Mathé E, Benner C, Dubois W, Nelson S, Vian L, Oliveira TY, Jankovic M, Hakim O, Gazumyan A, Pavri R, Awasthi P, Song B, Liu G, Chen L, Zhu S, Feigenbaum L, Staudt L, Murre C, Ruan Y, Robbiani DF, Pan-Hammarström Q, Nussenzweig MC, Casellas R. B cell super-enhancers and regulatory clusters recruit AID tumor-igenic activity. Cell. 2014;159:1524–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.11.013.
- Meng F-L, Du Z, Federation A, Hu J, Wang Q, Kieffer-Kwon K-R, Meyers RM, Amor C, Wasserman CR, Neuberg D, Casellas R, Nussenzweig MC, Bradner JE, Liu XS, Alt FW. Convergent transcription at intragenic super-enhancers targets AID-initiated genomic instability. Cell. 2014;159:1538–48. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.11.014.
- 24. Germini D, Tsfasman T, Klibi M, El-Amine R, Pichugin A, Iarovaia OV, Bilhou-Nabera C, Subra F, Bou Saada Y, Sukhanova A, Boutboul D, Raphaël M, Wiels J, Razin SV, Bury-Moné S, Oksenhendler E, Lipinski M, Vassetzky YS. HIV Tat induces a prolonged MYC relocalization next to IGH in circulating B-cells. Leukemia. 2017;31:2515–22. https:// doi.org/10.1038/leu.2017.106.
- Hecht JL, Aster JC. Molecular biology of Burkitt's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:3707–21. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2000.18.21.3707.
- 26. Neri A, Barriga F, Knowles DM, Magrath IT, Dalla-Favera R. Different regions of the immunoglobulin heavy-chain locus are involved in chromosomal translocations in distinct pathogenetic forms of Burkitt lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1988;85:2748–52.
- 27. Love C, Sun Z, Jima D, Li G, Zhang J, Miles R, Richards KL, Dunphy CH, Choi WWL, Srivastava G, Lugar PL, Rizzieri DA, Lagoo AS, Bernal-Mizrachi L, Mann KP, Flowers CR, Naresh KN, Evens AM, Chadburn A, Gordon LI, Czader MB, Gill JI, Hsi ED, Greenough A, Moffitt AB, McKinney M, Banerjee A, Grubor V, Levy S, Dunson DB, Dave SS. The genetic landscape of mutations in Burkitt lymphoma. Nat Genet. 2012;44:1321–5. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng.2468.

- 28. Richter J, Schlesner M, Hoffmann S, Kreuz M, Leich E, Burkhardt B, Rosolowski M, Ammerpohl O, Wagener R, Bernhart SH, Lenze D, Szczepanowski M, Paulsen M, Lipinski S, Russell RB, Adam-Klages S, Apic G, Claviez A, Hasenclever D, Hovestadt V, Hornig N, Korbel JO, Kube D, Langenberger D, Lawerenz C, Lisfeld J, Meyer K, Picelli S, Pischimarov J, Radlwimmer B, Rausch T, Rohde M, Schilhabel M, Scholtysik R, Spang R, Trautmann H, Zenz T, Borkhardt A, Drexler HG, Möller P, MacLeod RAF, Pott C, Schreiber S, Trümper L, Loeffler M, Stadler PF, Lichter P, Eils R, Küppers R, Hummel M, Klapper W, Rosenstiel P, Rosenwald A, Brors B, Siebert R, ICGC MMML-Seq Project. Recurrent mutation of the ID3 gene in Burkitt lymphoma identified by integrated genome, exome and transcriptome sequencing. Nat Genet. 2012;44:1316. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2469.
- 29. Schmitz R, Young RM, Ceribelli M, Jhavar S, Xiao W, Zhang M, Wright G, Shaffer AL, Hodson DJ, Buras E, Liu X, Powell J, Yang Y, Xu W, Zhao H, Kohlhammer H, Rosenwald A, Kluin P, Müller-Hermelink HK, Ott G, Gascoyne RD, Connors JM, Rimsza LM, Campo E, Jaffe ES, Delabie J, Smeland EB, Ogwang MD, Reynolds SJ, Fisher RI, Braziel RM, Tubbs RR, Cook JR, Weisenburger DD, Chan WC, Pittaluga S, Wilson W, Waldmann TA, Rowe M, Mbulaiteye SM, Rickinson AB, Staudt LM. Burkitt lymphoma pathogenesis and therapeutic targets from structural and functional genomics. Nature. 2012;490:116. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11378.
- Toujani S, Dessen P, Ithzar N, Danglot G, Richon C, Vassetzky Y, Robert T, Lazar V, Bosq J, Da Costa L, Pérot C, Ribrag V, Patte C, Wiels J, Bernheim A. High resolution genome-wide analysis of chromosomal alterations in Burkitt's lymphoma. PLoS One. 2009;4:e7089. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0007089.
- 31. Poirel HA, Cairo MS, Heerema NA, Swansbury J, Aupérin A, Launay E, Sanger WG, Talley P, Perkins SL, Raphaël M, McCarthy K, Sposto R, Gerrard M, Bernheim A, Patte C, FAB/LMB 96 International Study Committee. Specific cytogenetic abnormalities are associated with a significantly inferior outcome in children and adolescents with mature B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: results of the FAB/LMB 96 international study. Leukemia. 2009;23:323–31. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2008.312.
- Evan GI, Wyllie AH, Gilbert CS, Littlewood TD, Land H, Brooks M, Waters CM, Penn LZ, Hancock DC. Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by c-myc protein. Cell. 1992;69:119–28.
- Meyer N, Kim SS, Penn LZ. The Oscar-worthy role of Myc in apoptosis. Semin Cancer Biol. 2006;16:275–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. semcancer.2006.07.011.
- 34. Peled JU, Yu JJ, Venkatesh J, Bi E, Ding BB, Krupski-Downs M, Shaknovich R, Sicinski P, Diamond B, Scharff MD, Ye BH. Requirement for cyclin D3 in germinal center formation and func-

tion. Cell Res. 2010;20:631. https://doi.org/10.1038/ cr.2010.55.

- 35. Dave SS, Fu K, Wright GW, Lam LT, Kluin P, Boerma E-J, Greiner TC, Weisenburger DD, Rosenwald A, Ott G, Müller-Hermelink H-K, Gascoyne RD, Delabie J, Rimsza LM, Braziel RM, Grogan TM, Campo E, Jaffe ES, Dave BJ, Sanger W, Bast M, Vose JM, Armitage JO, Connors JM, Smeland EB, Kvaloy S, Holte H, Fisher RI, Miller TP, Montserrat E, Wilson WH, Bahl M, Zhao H, Yang L, Powell J, Simon R, Chan WC, Staudt LM, Lymphoma/Leukemia Molecular Profiling Project. Molecular diagnosis of Burkitt's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:2431–42. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa055759.
- Young RM, Staudt LM. Targeting pathological B cell receptor signalling in lymphoid malignancies. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2013;12:229–43. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrd3937.
- Thorley-Lawson DA. Epstein-Barr virus: exploiting the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2001;1:75– 82. https://doi.org/10.1038/35095584.
- Schmitz R, Ceribelli M, Pittaluga S, Wright G, Staudt LM. Oncogenic mechanisms in Burkitt lymphoma. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2014;4 https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a014282.
- 39. Pajic A, Staege MS, Dudziak D, Schuhmacher M, Spitkovsky D, Eissner G, Brielmeier M, Polack A, Bornkamm GW. Antagonistic effects of c-myc and Epstein-Barr virus latent genes on the phenotype of human B cells. Int J Cancer. 2001;93:810–6.
- 40. Rowe DT, Rowe M, Evan GI, Wallace LE, Farrell PJ, Rickinson AB. Restricted expression of EBV latent genes and T-lymphocyte-detected membrane antigen in Burkitt's lymphoma cells. EMBO J. 1986;5:2599–607.
- 41. Rowe M, Khanna R, Jacob CA, Argaet V, Kelly A, Powis S, Belich M, Croom-Carter D, Lee S, Burrows SR. Restoration of endogenous antigen processing in Burkitt's lymphoma cells by Epstein-Barr virus latent membrane protein-1: coordinate up-regulation of peptide transporters and HLA-class I antigen expression. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25:1374–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830250536.
- 42. Bellan C, Lazzi S, Hummel M, Palummo N, de Santi M, Amato T, Nyagol J, Sabattini E, Lazure T, Pileri SA, Raphael M, Stein H, Tosi P, Leoncini L. Immunoglobulin gene analysis reveals 2 distinct cells of origin for EBV-positive and EBV-negative Burkitt lymphomas. Blood. 2005;106:1031–6. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-01-0168.
- 43. Pelicci PG, Knowles DM, Magrath I, Dalla-Favera R. Chromosomal breakpoints and structural alterations of the c-myc locus differ in endemic and sporadic forms of Burkitt lymphoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1986;83:2984–8.
- Dolcetti R, Gloghini A, Caruso A, Carbone A. A lymphomagenic role for HIV beyond immune suppression? Blood. 2016;127:1403–9. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2015-11-681411.

- 45. Jaffe ES. The 2008 WHO classification of lymphomas: implications for clinical practice and translational research. Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2009:523–31. https://doi.org/10.1182/ asheducation-2009.1.523.
- Massey EW, Moore J, Schold SC. Mental neuropathy from systemic cancer. Neurology. 1981;31:1277–81.
- 47. Orem J, Mbidde EK, Lambert B, de Sanjose S, Weiderpass E. Burkitt's lymphoma in Africa, a review of the epidemiology and etiology. Afr Health Sci. 2007;7:166–75. https://doi.org/10.5555/ afhs.2007.7.3.166.
- Falini B, Fizzotti M, Pileri S, Liso A, Pasqualucci L, Flenghi L. Bcl-6 protein expression in normal and neoplastic lymphoid tissues. Ann Oncol. 1997;8(Suppl 2):101–4.
- Hammami A, Chan WC, Michels SD, Nassar VH. Mature B-cell acute leukemia: a clinical, morphological, immunological, and cytogenetic study of nine cases. Hematol Pathol. 1991;5:109–18.
- 50. Hoelzer D, Ludwig WD, Thiel E, Gassmann W, Löffler H, Fonatsch C, Rieder H, Heil G, Heinze B, Arnold R, Hossfeld D, Büchner T, Koch P, Freund M, Hiddemann W, Maschmeyer G, Heyll A, Aul C, Faak T, Kuse R, Ittel TH, Gramatzki M, Diedrich H, Kolbe K, Fuhr HG, Fischer K, Schadeck-Gressel C, Weiss A, Strohscheer I, Metzner B, Fabry U, Gökbuget N, Völkers B, Messerer D, Uberla K. Improved outcome in adult B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 1996;87:495–508.
- 51. Navid F, Mosijczuk AD, Head DR, Borowitz MJ, Carroll AJ, Brandt JM, Link MP, Rozans MK, Thomas GA, Schwenn MR, Shields DJ, Vietti TJ, Pullen DJ. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia with the (8;14)(q24;q32) translocation and FAB L3 morphology associated with a B-precursor immunophenotype: the Pediatric Oncology Group experience. Leukemia. 1999;13:135–41.
- 52. Sullivan MP, Pullen DJ, Crist WM, Brecher M, Ramirez I, Sabio H, Borowitz MJ, Head DR, Cerezo L, Shuster JJ. Clinical and biological heterogeneity of childhood B cell acute lymphocytic leukemia: implications for clinical trials. Leukemia. 1990;4:6–11.
- 53. Kantarjian HM, O'Brien S, Smith TL, Cortes J, Giles FJ, Beran M, Pierce S, Huh Y, Andreeff M, Koller C, Ha CS, Keating MJ, Murphy S, Freireich EJ. Results of treatment with hyper-CVAD, a doseintensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:547–61. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2000.18.3.547.
- 54. Haralambieva E, Schuuring E, Rosati S, van Noesel C, Jansen P, Appel I, Guikema J, Wabinga H, Bleggi-Torres LF, Lam K, van den Berg E, Mellink C, van Zelderen-Bhola S, Kluin P. Interphase fluorescence in situ hybridization for detection of 8q24/MYC breakpoints on routine histologic sections: validation in Burkitt lymphomas from three geographic regions. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2004;40:10– 8. https://doi.org/10.1002/gcc.20009.

- 55. Hummel M, Bentink S, Berger H, Klapper W, Wessendorf S, Barth TFE, Bernd H-W, Cogliatti SB, Dierlamm J, Feller AC, Hansmann M-L, Haralambieva E, Harder L, Hasenclever D, Kühn M, Lenze D, Lichter P, Martin-Subero JI, Möller P, Müller-Hermelink H-K, Ott G, Parwaresch RM, Pott C, Rosenwald A, Rosolowski M, Schwaenen C, Stürzenhofecker B, Szczepanowski M, Trautmann H, Wacker H-H, Spang R, Loeffler M, Trümper L, Stein H, Siebert R, Molecular Mechanisms in Malignant Lymphomas Network Project of the Deutsche Krebshilfe. A biologic definition of Burkitt's lymphoma from transcriptional and genomic profiling. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:2419–30. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa055351.
- 56. Bernasconi C, Brusamolino E, Pagnucco G, Bernasconi P, Orlandi E, Lazzarino M. Burkitt's lymphoma/leukemia: a clinicopathologic study on 24 adult patients. Leukemia. 1991;5(Suppl 1):90–4.
- 57. Onciu M, Schlette E, Zhou Y, Raimondi SC, Giles FJ, Kantarjian HM, Medeiros LJ, Ribeiro RC, Pui C-H, Sandlund JT. Secondary chromosomal abnormalities predict outcome in pediatric and adult high-stage Burkitt lymphoma. Cancer. 2006;107:1084–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.22089.
- 58. García JL, Hernandez JM, Gutiérrez NC, Flores T, González D, Calasanz MJ, Martínez-Climent JA, Piris MA, Lopéz-Capitán C, González MB, Odero MD, San Miguel JF. Abnormalities on 1q and 7q are associated with poor outcome in sporadic Burkitt's lymphoma. A cytogenetic and comparative genomic hybridization study. Leukemia. 2003;17:2016–24. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2403080.
- 59. Scott DW, Wright GW, Williams PM, Lih C-J, Walsh W, Jaffe ES, Rosenwald A, Campo E, Chan WC, Connors JM, Smeland EB, Mottok A, Braziel RM, Ott G, Delabie J, Tubbs RR, Cook JR, Weisenburger DD, Greiner TC, Glinsmann-Gibson BJ, Fu K, Staudt LM, Gascoyne RD, Rimsza LM. Determining cell-of-origin subtypes of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma using gene expression in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue. Blood. 2014;123:1214–7. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-11-536433.
- 60. Cheson BD, Fisher RI, Barrington SF, Cavalli F, Schwartz LH, Zucca E, Lister TA, Alliance, Australasian Leukaemia and Lymphoma Group, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group, European Mantle Cell Lymphoma Consortium, Italian Lymphoma Foundation, European Organisation for Research, Treatment of Cancer/Dutch Hemato-Oncology Group, Grupo Español de Médula Ósea, German High-Grade Lymphoma Study Group, German Hodgkin's Study Group, Japanese Lymphorra Study Group, Lymphoma Study Association, NCIC Clinical Trials Group, Nordic Lymphoma Study Group, Southwest Oncology Group, United Kingdom National Cancer Research Institute. Recommendations for initial evaluation, staging, and response assessment of Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma: the Lugano classifica-

tion. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:3059–68. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2013.54.8800.

- Costa LJ, Xavier AC, Wahlquist AE, Hill EG. Trends in survival of patients with Burkitt lymphoma/ leukemia in the USA: an analysis of 3691 cases. Blood. 2013;121:4861–6. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2012-12-475558.
- 62. Cairo MS, Sposto R, Gerrard M, Auperin A, Goldman SC, Harrison L, Pinkerton R, Raphael M, McCarthy K, Perkins SL, Patte C. Advanced stage, increased lactate dehydrogenase, and primary site, but not adolescent age (≥15 years), are associated with an increased risk of treatment failure in children and adolescents with mature B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: results of the FAB LMB 96 study. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:387–93. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2010.33.3369.
- 63. Nelson M, Perkins SL, Dave BJ, Coccia PF, Bridge JA, Lyden ER, Heerema NA, Lones MA, Harrison L, Cairo MS, Sanger WG. An increased frequency of 13q deletions detected by fluorescence in situ hybridization and its impact on survival in children and adolescents with Burkitt lymphoma: results from the Children's Oncology Group study CCG-5961. Br J Haematol. 2010;148:600–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009.07967.x.
- 64. Patte C, Auperin A, Michon J, Behrendt H, Leverger G, Frappaz D, Lutz P, Coze C, Perel Y, Raphaël M, Terrier-Lacombe MJ, Société Française d'Oncologie Pédiatrique. The Société Française d'Oncologie Pédiatrique LMB89 protocol: highly effective multiagent chemotherapy tailored to the tumor burden and initial response in 561 unselected children with B-cell lymphomas and L3 leukemia. Blood. 2001;97:3370–9.
- 65. Ribrag V, Koscielny S, Bosq J, Leguay T, Casasnovas O, Fornecker L-M, Recher C, Ghesquieres H, Morschhauser F, Girault S, Le Gouill S, Ojeda-Uribe M, Mariette C, Cornillon J, Cartron G, Verge V, Chassagne-Clément C, Dombret H, Coiffier B, Lamy T, Tilly H, Salles G. Rituximab and dose-dense chemotherapy for adults with Burkitt's lymphoma: a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2016;387:2402–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01317-3.
- 66. Godot C, Patte C, Blanche S, Rohrlich P, Dollfus C, Tabone M-D. Characteristics and prognosis of B-cell lymphoma in HIV-infected children in the HAART era. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2012;34:e282–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/MPH.0b013e3182667bc7.
- 67. Soussain C, Patte C, Ostronoff M, Delmer A, Rigal-Huguet F, Cambier N, Leprisé PY, François S, Cony-Makhoul P, Harousseau JL. Small noncleaved cell lymphoma and leukemia in adults. A retrospective study of 65 adults treated with the LMB pediatric protocols. Blood. 1995;85:664–74.
- 68. Patte C, Philip T, Rodary C, Bernard A, Zucker JM, Bernard JL, Robert A, Rialland X, Benz-Lemoine E, Demeocq F. Improved survival rate in children with stage III and IV B cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and

leukemia using multi-agent chemotherapy: results of a study of 114 children from the French Pediatric Oncology Society. J Clin Oncol. 1986;4:1219–26. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.1986.4.8.1219.

- 69. Preudhomme C, Dervite I, Wattel E, Vanrumbeke M, Flactif M, Lai JL, Hecquet B, Coppin MC, Nelken B, Gosselin B. Clinical significance of p53 mutations in newly diagnosed Burkitt's lymphoma and acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report of 48 cases. J Clin Oncol. 1995;13:812–20. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.1995.13.4.812.
- 70. Patte C, Michon J, Frappaz D, Leverger G, Rubie H, Soussain C, Pico JL. Therapy of Burkitt and other B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia and lymphoma: experience with the LMB protocols of the SFOP (French Paediatric Oncology Society) in children and adults. Baillieres Clin Haematol. 1994;7:339–48.
- Reiter A, Schrappe M, Tiemann M, Ludwig WD, Yakisan E, Zimmermann M, Mann G, Chott A, Ebell W, Klingebiel T, Graf N, Kremens B, Müller-Weihrich S, Plüss HJ, Zintl F, Henze G, Riehm H. Improved treatment results in childhood B-cell neoplasms with tailored intensification of therapy: A report of the Berlin-Frankfurt-Münster Group Trial NHL-BFM 90. Blood. 1999;94:3294–306.
- Bernstein JI, Coleman CN, Strickler JG, Dorfman RF, Rosenberg SA. Combined modality therapy for adults with small noncleaved cell lymphoma (Burkitt's and non-Burkitt's types). J Clin Oncol. 1986;4:847–58. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.1986.4.6.847.
- Hill QA, Owen RG. CNS prophylaxis in lymphoma: who to target and what therapy to use. Blood Rev. 2006;20:319–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. blre.2006.02.001.
- 74. Sariban E, Edwards B, Janus C, Magrath I. Central nervous system involvement in American Burkitt's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 1983;1:677–81. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.1983.1.11.677.
- 75. Cairo MS, Bishop M. Tumour lysis syndrome: new therapeutic strategies and classification. Br J Haematol. 2004;127:3–11. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2004.05094.x.
- Tan HK, Bellomo R, M'Pis DA, Ronco C. Phosphatemic control during acute renal failure: intermittent hemodialysis versus continuous hemodiafiltration. Int J Artif Organs. 2001;24:186–91.
- 77. Hoelzer D, Walewski J, Döhner H, Viardot A, Hiddemann W, Spiekermann K, Serve H, Dührsen U, Hüttmann A, Thiel E, Dengler J, Kneba M, Schaich M, Schmidt-Wolf IGH, Beck J, Hertenstein B, Reichle A, Domanska-Czyz K, Fietkau R, Horst H-A, Rieder H, Schwartz S, Burmeister T, Gökbuget N, German Multicenter Study Group for Adult Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Improved outcome of adult Burkitt lymphoma/leukemia with rituximab and chemotherapy: report of a large prospective multicenter trial. Blood. 2014;124:3870–9. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-03-563627.

- 78. Mead GM, Sydes MR, Walewski J, Grigg A, Hatton CS, Pescosta N, Guarnaccia C, Lewis MS, McKendrick J, Stenning SP, Wright D, Norbert P, UKLG LY06 Collaborators. An international evaluation of CODOX-M and CODOX-M alternating with IVAC in adult Burkitt's lymphoma: results of United Kingdom Lymphoma Group LY06 study. Ann Oncol. 2002;13:1264–74.
- 79. Mead GM, Barrans SL, Qian W, Walewski J, Radford JA, Wolf M, Clawson SM, Stenning SP, Yule CL, Jack AS, UK National Cancer Research Institute Lymphoma Clinical Studies Group, Australasian Leukaemia and Lymphoma Group. A prospective clinicopathologic study of dose-modified CODOX-M/IVAC in patients with sporadic Burkitt lymphoma defined using cytogenetic and immunophenotypic criteria (MRC/NCRI LY10 trial). Blood. 2008;112:2248–60. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-03-145128.
- Noy A, Lee JY, Cesarman E, Ambinder R, Baiocchi R, Reid E, Ratner L, Wagner-Johnston N, Kaplan L, AIDS Malignancy Consortium. AMC 048: modified CODOX-M/IVAC-rituximab is safe and effective for HIV-associated Burkitt lymphoma. Blood. 2015;126:160–6. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2015-01-623900.
- 81. Rizzieri DA, Johnson JL, Niedzwiecki D, Lee EJ, Vardiman JW, Powell BL, Barcos M, Bloomfield CD, Schiffer CA, Peterson BA, Canellos GP, Larson RA. Intensive chemotherapy with and without cranial radiation for Burkitt leukemia and lymphoma: final results of Cancer and Leukemia Group B Study 9251. Cancer. 2004;100:1438–48. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cncr.20143.
- 82. Rizzieri DA, Johnson JL, Byrd JC, Lozanski G, Blum KA, Powell BL, Shea TC, Nattam S, Hoke E, Cheson BD, Larson RA, Alliance for Clinical Trials In Oncology (ACTION). Improved efficacy using rituximab and brief duration, high intensity chemotherapy with filgrastim support for Burkitt or aggressive lymphomas: cancer and Leukemia Group B study 10 002. Br J Haematol. 2014;165:102–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.12736.
- Thomas DA, Cortes J, O'Brien S, Pierce S, Faderl S, Albitar M, Hagemeister FB, Cabanillas FF, Murphy S, Keating MJ, Kantarjian H. Hyper-CVAD program in Burkitt's-type adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:2461–70. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.1999.17.8.2461.
- 84. Thomas DA, Faderl S, O'Brien S, Bueso-Ramos C, Cortes J, Garcia-Manero G, Giles FJ, Verstovsek S, Wierda WG, Pierce SA, Shan J, Brandt M, Hagemeister FB, Keating MJ, Cabanillas F, Kantarjian H. Chemoimmunotherapy with hyper-CVAD plus rituximab for the treatment of adult Burkitt and Burkitt-type lymphoma or acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Cancer. 2006;106:1569–80. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.21776.
- Cortes J, Thomas D, Rios A, Koller C, O'Brien S, Jeha S, Faderl S, Kantarjian H. Hyperfractionated

cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone and highly active antiretroviral therapy for patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-related Burkitt lymphoma/leukemia. Cancer. 2002;94:1492–9.

- 86. Dunleavy K, Pittaluga S, Shovlin M, Steinberg SM, Cole D, Grant C, Widemann B, Staudt LM, Jaffe ES, Little RF, Wilson WH. Low-intensity therapy in adults with Burkitt's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:1915–25. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1308392.
- 87. Dunleavy K, Noy A, Abramson JS, LaCasce AS, Link BK, Parekh S, Jagadeesh D, Bierman PJ, Mitsuyasu RT, Battini R, Watson PR, Peace D, Averbrook BJ, Naina HV, Leach JW, Hanna WT, Powell BL, Nagpal S, Roschewski M, Lucas AN, Steinberg SM, Kahl BS, Friedberg JW, Little RF, Bartlett NL, Fanale MA, Wilson WH. Riskadapted therapy in adults with Burkitt lymphoma: preliminary report of a multicenter prospective phase II study of DA-EPOCH-R. Blood. 2015; 126:342.
- 88. Magrath I, Adde M, Shad A, Venzon D, Seibel N, Gootenberg J, Neely J, Arndt C, Nieder M, Jaffe E, Wittes RA, Horak ID. Adults and children with small non-cleaved-cell lymphoma have a similar excellent outcome when treated with the same chemotherapy regimen. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14:925–34. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.1996.14.3.925.
- 89. Lacasce A, Howard O, Lib S, Fisher D, Weng A, Neuberg D, Shipp M. Modified Magrath regimens for adults with Burkitt and Burkitt-like lymphomas: preserved efficacy with decreased toxicity. Leuk Lymphoma. 2004;45:761–7. https://doi.org/10.1080 /1042819031000141301.
- Barnes JA, Lacasce AS, Feng Y, Toomey CE, Neuberg D, Michaelson JS, Hochberg EP, Abramson JS. Evaluation of the addition of rituximab to CODOX-M/IVAC for Burkitt's lymphoma: a retrospective analysis. Ann Oncol. 2011;22:1859–64. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdq677.
- 91. Diviné M, Casassus P, Koscielny S, Bosq J, Sebban C, Le Maignan C, Stamattoulas A, Dupriez B, Raphaël M, Pico J-L, Ribrag V, GELA, GOELAMS. Burkitt lymphoma in adults: a prospective study of 72 patients treated with an adapted pediatric LMB protocol. Ann Oncol. 2005;16:1928–35. https://doi. org/10.1093/annonc/mdi403.
- 92. Maramattom LV, Hari PN, Burns LJ, Carreras J, Arcese W, Cairo MS, Costa LJ, Fenske TS, Lill M, Freytes CO, Gale RP, Gross TG, Hale GA, Hamadani M, Holmberg LA, Hsu JW, Inwards DJ, Lazarus HM, Marks DI, Maloney DG, Maziarz RT, Montoto S, Rizzieri DA, Wirk B, Gajewski JL. Autologous and allogeneic transplantation for burkitt lymphoma outcomes and changes in utilization: a report from the center for international blood and marrow transplant research. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2013;19:173–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2012.11.016.

- 93. Cremer M, Schwarzbich M-A, Schöning T, Lisenko K, Ho AD, Witzens-Harig M. In Burkitt lymphoma patients who relapse after induction with a short-intensive chemoimmunotherapy protocol, aggressive salvage chemotherapy therapy is ineffective: a single-center retrospective study. Ann Hematol. 2017;96:1573–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00277-017-3044-4.
- Ahmed SO, Sureda A, Aljurf M. The role of hematopoietic SCT in adult Burkitt lymphoma. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2013;48:617–29. https://doi. org/10.1038/bmt.2012.129.
- Gill PS, Meyer PR, Pavlova Z, Levine AM. B cell acute lymphocytic leukemia in adults. Clinical, morphologic, and immunologic findings. J Clin Oncol. 1986;4:737–43. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.1986.4.5.737.
- 96. Knowles DM, Chamulak GA, Subar M, Burke JS, Dugan M, Wernz J, Slywotzky C, Pelicci G, Dalla-Favera R, Raphael B. Lymphoid neoplasia associated with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). The New York University Medical Center experience with 105 patients (1981–1986). Ann Intern Med. 1988;108:744–53.
- 97. Wang ES, Straus DJ, Teruya-Feldstein J, Qin J, Portlock C, Moskowitz C, Goy A, Hedrick E, Zelenetz AD, Noy A. Intensive chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, high-dose methotrexate/ifosfamide, etoposide, and high-dose cytarabine (CODOX-M/IVAC) for human immunodeficiency virus-associated Burkitt lymphoma. Cancer. 2003;98:1196–205. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.11628.
- 98. Sparano JA, Lee JY, Kaplan LD, Levine AM, Ramos JC, Ambinder RF, Wachsman W, Aboulafia D, Noy A, Henry DH, Von Roenn J, Dezube BJ, Remick SC, Shah MH, Leichman L, Ratner L, Cesarman E, Chadburn A, Mitsuyasu R, AIDS Malignancy Consortium. Rituximab plus concurrent infusional EPOCH chemotherapy is highly effective in HIV-associated B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2010;115:3008–16. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-08-231613.
- 99. Romaguera JE, Fayad L, Rodriguez MA, Broglio KR, Hagemeister FB, Pro B, McLaughlin P, Younes A, Samaniego F, Goy A, Sarris AH, Dang NH, Wang M, Beasley V, Medeiros LJ, Katz RL, Gagneja H, Samuels BI, Smith TL, Cabanillas FF. High rate of durable remissions after treatment of newly diagnosed aggressive mantle-cell lymphoma with rituximab plus hyper-CVAD alternating with rituximab plus high-dose methotrexate and cytarabine. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:7013–23. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2005.01.1825.
- 100. Smeland S, Blystad AK, Kvaløy SO, Ikonomou IM, Delabie J, Kvalheim G, Hammerstrøm J, Lauritzsen GF, Holte H. Treatment of Burkitt's/Burkitt-like lymphoma in adolescents and adults: a 20-year experience from the Norwegian Radium Hospital with the use of three successive regimens. Ann Oncol.

2004;15:1072-8. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/ mdh262.

- 101. Williams SA, Gillan ER, Knoppel E, Buzby JS, Suen Y, Cairo MS. Effects of phosphodiester and phosphorothioate antisense oligodeoxynucleotides on cell lines which overexpress c-myc: implications for the treatment of Burkitt's lymphoma. Ann Oncol. 1997;8(Suppl 1):25–30.
- 102. Smith JB, Wickstrom E. Antisense c-myc and Immunostimulatory oligonucleotide inhibition of tumorigenesis in a murine B-cell lymphoma transplant model. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1998;90:1146–54. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/90.15.1146.
- 103. Serafeim A, Grafton G, Chamba A, Gregory CD, Blakely RD, Bowery NG, Barnes NM, Gordon J. 5-Hydroxytryptamine drives apoptosis in biopsylike Burkitt lymphoma cells: reversal by selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Blood. 2002;99:2545–53.
- 104. Serafeim A, Holder MJ, Grafton G, Chamba A, Drayson MT, Luong QT, Bunce CM, Gregory CD, Barnes NM, Gordon J. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors directly signal for apoptosis in biopsy-like

Burkitt lymphoma cells. Blood. 2003;101:3212–9. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-07-2044.

- 105. Orlowski RZ, Eswara JR, Lafond-Walker A, Grever MR, Orlowski M, Dang CV. Tumor growth inhibition induced in a murine model of human Burkitt's lymphoma by a proteasome inhibitor. Cancer Res. 1998;58:4342–8.
- 106. Farrell CJ, Lee JM, Shin E-C, Cebrat M, Cole PA, Hayward SD. Inhibition of Epstein-Barr virusinduced growth proliferation by a nuclear antigen EBNA2-TAT peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101:4625–30. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0306482101.
- 107. Kennedy G, Komano J, Sugden B. Epstein-Barr virus provides a survival factor to Burkitt's lymphomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:14269–74. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2336099100.
- McMahon SB, Wood MA, Cole MD. The essential cofactor TRRAP recruits the histone acetyltransferase hGCN5 to c-Myc. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20:556–62.

Management of Relapsed and Refractory ALL

Ashwin Kishtagari and Anjali S. Advani

18.1 Introduction

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is a malignant transformation and proliferation of lymphoid progenitor cells in the bone marblood, and extramedullary row, sites. Treatment of ALL in children is one of the great success stories of combination chemotherapy. Unfortunately, adults fare much worse. Most current induction regimens obtain complete responses (CR) in 65-90% of diagnosed adult patients with newly ALL. However, up to 10% of patients will have disease that is refractory to initial treatment, and 40-70% of patients who do achieve CR will ultimately relapse [1]. Relapsed/ refractory (R/R) ALL has been associated with a rather dismal prognosis, with 3- and 5-year overall survival (OS) historically reported to be 24% and 10%, respectively, in older studies [2–4]. The prognosis of patients with R/R ALL depends on several parameters, including duration of first remission, response to prior salvage therapy, disease burden at the time of relapse, and age of the patient [3].

Treatment of R/R ALL therefore represents a challenge. Treatment strategies such as variations

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

S. H. Faderl et al. (eds.), *Acute Leukemias*, Hematologic Malignancies, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-53633-6_18

of chemotherapy as a salvage therapy remain ineffective for many patients. The key therapeutic goal in treating R/R ALL is to induce a CR and for a patient to be able to proceed to hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT), which ultimately remains the only known cure. Multiple advances in our understanding of biology of ALL over the past decade have led to significant breakthroughs in the development of novel immunotherapeutic approaches that hold the promise in improving the outcomes of patients. Table 18.2 and Fig. 18.1 highlight selective novel drugs and targets of interest for R/R ALL, which will be discussed throughout the course of this chapter. We will not discuss Philadelphia chromosome positive (Ph+) ALL and Ph-like ALL in this chapter as they are being discussed in Chaps. 16 and 17 in this book.

18.2 Immunotherapy

In 2017, three groundbreaking immunotherapies (blinatumomab, inotuzumab, and chimeric antigen receptor T cells) targeting various surface antigens on ALL cells for R/R B-ALL were FDA approved based on impressive outcomes observed in clinical trials. These approvals have changed the treatment paradigm for R/R ALL.

Check for updates

A. Kishtagari · A. S. Advani (⊠)

Department of Hematology and Oncology, Taussig Cancer Institute, Cleveland Clinic, Cleveland, OH, USA e-mail: advania@ccf.org



Fig. 18.1 Therapeutic targets and drugs in ALL. Nodes to attack specific cell-surface antigens such as NOTCH, CD22, CD38 and CD19 on B-lymphoblasts. Nodes to modulate B-lymphoblasts epigenetics include chromatin post-translational modifications through DNA methyl-transferase (DNMT) inhibitors and histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACs) as well as transcription factor activation via BET bromodomain inhibitors and DOT1L inhibitors. Nodes to attack protein homeostasis by increasing unfolded protein stress include direct inhibition of the proteasome. Nodes to activate apoptosis at the mitochondrion

18.3 Blinatumomab

Blinatumomab is a bispecific antibody directed to CD19 (B-cell differentiation antigen) and CD3 (T-cell antigen) receptors. Bivalent binding of CD19 to B-lymphoblasts and CD3 to T cells induces a synapse which leads to release of inflammatory cytokines, production of cytolytic proteins, and proliferation of cytotoxic T cells, resulting in lysis of B-lymphoblasts. This CD19/ CD3-bispecific antibody construct is the first T-cell engaging and the first CD19-specific antibody approved by the FDA.

by inhibition of Bcl-2 and Mcl-1. Nodes to target signal transduction involved in the regulation of key cell proliferation and differentiation pathways such as mTOR, PI3K, JAK2, ERK/MAPK, and CDK4/6. *ALL* Acute lymphoblastic leukemia; *BET* Bromo- and extra-terminal domain; *DOT1L* Disruptor of telomeric silencing 1-like; *Bcl-2* B-cell lymphoma 2; *Mcl-1* Myeloid cell leukemia 1; *mTOR* Mechanistic target of rapamycin; *PI3K* Phosphoinositide 3-kinase; *JAK2* Janus kinase 2; *ERK* Extracellular-signal-regulated kinase; *MAPK* mitogenactivated protein kinase; *CDK* cyclin-dependent kinase

A phase II multicenter single-arm trial of R/R ALL treated 36 patients with blinatumomab in cycles of 4-week continuous infusion followed by a 2-week treatment-free interval with a dosefinding stage and an extension stage [5]. Within two cycles, CR or CR with partial hematologic recovery (CRh) was achieved in 69% (25/36) of patients, with the majority (88%) of responders achieving minimal residual disease (MRD) negative status (<0.001%). Median OS was 9.8 months, and median relapse-free survival (RFS) was 7.6 months [5]. This led to an international, multicenter, phase II single-arm study which enrolled 189 patients with R/R Ph-negative ALL. Eightyone patients (43%) achieved CR (n = 63, 33%) or CRh (n = 18, 10%) within two cycles of treatment, most did so after one cycle (n = 64) [6]. No difference in CR/CRh rates was observed based on prior salvage therapies, prior allogeneic HSCT, or age. Median OS was 6.1 months and median RFS was 5.9 months. Notably, there was a correlation between tumor burden and response rates: in patients with <50% bone marrow blasts, the rate of CR/CRh was 73% compared to 29% in patients with \geq 50% bone marrow blasts [6]. This study led to accelerated FDA approval of blinatumomab for R/R Ph-negative ALL.

Blinatumomab was compared to standard chemotherapy in patients with R/R Ph-negative ALL in a randomized, multicenter phase III TOWER trial [7]. Four hundred and five patients were randomized 2:1 to blinatumomab (n = 271) or standard salvage chemotherapy (n = 134). Blinatumomab was administered at the standard dose continuously over 4 weeks for up to five cycles, followed by up to 12 months of maintenance. Remission rates favored blinatumomab within 12 weeks after initiation of treatment: CR (34% vs. 16%, *p* < 0.001), CR plus CRh (44% vs. 25%, p < 0.001). Median OS significantly improved with blinatumomab (7.7 vs. 4.0 months; p = 0.01) at a median follow-up of approximately 12 months [7]. Adverse events (grade 3 or higher) were reported in 87% of patients in the blinatumomab arm and in 92% of the patients in the chemotherapy group. Unique to the blinatumomab arm was the occurrence of the cytokine release syndrome (CRS), reported in 14.2% (≥grade 3 in 5%) of patients receiving blinatumomab [7]. The mechanism of action of blinatumomab generates its unique side effect profile: Cytokine release syndrome and neurological toxicities are thought to be the result of T-cell stimulation, proliferation, and cytokine release.

A single-arm, multicenter, phase II BLAST study evaluated blinatumomab in patients with CR with MRD positivity after intensive chemotherapy. Seventy-eight percent (88/113) of patients achieved MRD negativity after the first cycle of blinatumomab treatment and 67% of patients subsequently proceeded to allogeneic HSCT [8]. This study demonstrated the ability of blinatumomab to eradicate MRD positivity and serve as a bridge to allogeneic HSCT, lead-FDA approval in this ing to setting. Blinatumomab was also evaluated in R/R Ph-positive ALL. A cohort of 45 patients, who were R/R to first- or later-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI), were treated in the phase II, single-arm, multicenter ALCANTARA trial [9]. Within two cycles of treatment, 36% (16/45) achieved CR/CRh, including 10 patients with T315I mutations. The majority of responders (14/16, 88%) achieved MRD negativity. Median OS was 7.1 months [9]. Phase II studies evaluating blinatumomab in combination with TKIs, including dasatinib (NCT02143414; NCT02744768) and ponatinib (NCT03263572), are ongoing. Preliminary data demonstrate that blocking PD-1, PD-L1, or CTLA-4 enhances effector T cells, thus improving blinatumomab's activity against B-lymphoblasts. Accordingly, trials of combination immunotherapy (pembrolizumab, nivolumab ± ipilimumab) and blinatumomab are currently ongoing (NCT03160079, NCT03512405, and NCT02879695).

Blinatumomab should be considered in patients with low disease burden (<50% blasts) R/R B-ALL. Suitable candidates should proceed to consolidation with allogeneic HSCT. Blinatumomab has not been well evaluated in R/R ALL patients with active CNS disease due to concerns of neurotoxicity with concurrent intrathecal therapy.

18.4 Inotuzumab Ozogamicin

Inotuzumab ozogamicin is a humanized monoclonal antibody–drug conjugate targeting CD22. It consists of a CD22-targeting immunoglobulin G4 humanized monoclonal antibody conjugated to calicheamicin, a cytotoxic agent that cleaves double-stranded DNA [10]. This drug was initially developed for the treatment of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), but further development was focused on CD22+ ALL. CD22 is an attractive targeting molecule for an antibody–drug conjugate in ALL: (1) CD22 is a B-cell restricted type I transmembrane protein expressed in >90% of B-ALL. (2) Following ligand binding or antibody crosslinking, CD22 is rapidly internalized, thus making it an ideal target for cytotoxic drug delivery by antibody–drug conjugates [10]. Inotuzumab is currently approved for the treatment of R/R B-ALL by the US FDA and the European Medicines Agency.

Based on the demonstration of inotuzumab's safety and efficacy in lymphoma, Phase I and II trials with single-agent inotuzumab were conducted in R/R ALL with overall remission rates of 58-68% (CR/CR with incomplete count recovery (CRi)) and MRD negative rates of 72-84% [11, 12]. A phase III multicenter, openlabel, randomized trial (INO-VATE study) compared inotuzumab to standard of care intensive chemotherapy for R/R CD22+ B-ALL in first or second salvage [13]. Inotuzumab was administered weekly for a total dose of 1.8 mg/m² per cycle (0.8 mg/m² on day 1 and 0.5 mg/m² on days 8 and 15 of a 21-day cycle), reduced to 1.5 mg/ m² once patients achieved CR or CRi. Patients were allowed to proceed to stem cell transplant at the investigator's discretion. Patients randomized to the inotuzumab treatment arm had a significantly higher CR rate compared to standard chemotherapy (80.7% vs. 29.4%, p < 0.001). Of the patients who achieved CR/CRi, inotuzumab had a significantly higher rate of MRD negativity (78.4% vs. 28.1%, *p* < 0.001), and more patients proceeded directly to HSCT (41% vs. 11%) [13]. Remission duration was longer in the inotuzumab arm (median, 4.6 vs. 3.1 months, p = 0.03). Median OS was 7.7 months in the inotuzumab group and 6.7 months in the standard chemotherapy group, although the hazards ratio suggested improved OS at 0.77 (p = 0.04), likely reflecting a separation of the two survival curves at later time-points (2-year OS, 23% vs. 10%). This difference is likely explained by the greater proportion of patients proceeding to stem cell transplant in the inotuzumab arm. Treatmentrelated neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, infusionrelated reactions, hepatic toxicities, including transaminitis and hyperbilirubinemia, and venoocclusive disease (VOD) are unique adverse events of inotuzumab. In the phase III trial, the rate of VOD, a potentially fatal condition, was higher in the inotuzumab arm (11% vs. 1%). This complication occurred mainly in patients who undergo or had received a prior stem cell transplant especially if a dual-alkylator conditioning regimen was given [13].

Inotuzumab was evaluated in combination with hyper-fractionated reduced-dose cyclophosphamide, vincristine, dexamethasone (minihyper-CVD) in patients with R/R ALL with a median age of 35 years (range, 18-78 years), and the combination produced a CR rate of 78% with a 1 year OS rate of 46% [14]. Multiple clinical trials are currently underway to improve our understanding of how and when to best use inotuzumab: safety and efficacy of using a TKI and inotuzumab concurrently for treatment of relapsed Ph+ ALL (NCT02311998), inotuzumab in combination with intensive chemotherapy in the frontline setting (NCT03150693, NCT03488225), and using inotuzumab to eliminate MRD (NCT03441061).

Inotuzumab is effective in patients with high disease burden (>50% blasts) and can be used in combination with intrathecal therapy for patients with CNS disease.

18.5 CAR-T-Cell Therapy

Genetically engineered T cells expressing a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR-T) targeting specific antigens (CD19) present on B-lymphoblasts have generated promising results in children and adults with R/R disease. Tisagenlecleucel (CTL019) by Novartis, an autologous anti-CD19 CAR-T cell therapy, was recently approved (2017) by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for patients up to the age of 25 years with B-ALL that is refractory or in second or greater relapse.

CARs are engineered molecules which consist of an extracellular binding domain (scFv), a transmembrane domain, a costimulatory domain (either 4-1BB or CD28), and intracellular CD3- ζ signaling domain. In this treatment strategy, a patient's own T cells (autologous) are transduced to express an anti-CD19 CAR that, when reintroduced into the patient, directs specific binding and killing of CD19+ B cells. Prior to CAR-Tcell infusion, patients typically receive chemotherapy in an effort to induce lymphodepletion to enhance CAR-T-cell expansion and persistence

	CAR design		Number	Prior Allo-			Allo- HSCT post CAR-T cell	
	(costimulatory	Median	of	HSCT	CR/CRi	MRD-CR	therapy	
Group/Reference	domain/vector)	age	patients	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	CRS
UPenn/CHOP Maude et al. [17]	4-1BB/ lentivirus	14 (5–60)	30	18 (60)	27 (90)	22 (73)	3 (10)	100% (27% severe)
UPenn/CHOP Global, multicenter Maude et al. [18]	4-1BB/ lentivirus	11 (3–23)	75	46 (61)	61 (81)	61 (81)	8 (11)	40% (13% severe)
MSKCC Park et al. [19]	CD28/ retrovirus	44 (23–74)	53	19 (36)	44 (83)	32 (60)	17 (32)	43% (42% severe)
NCI Lee et al. [20]	CD28/ retrovirus	13 (5–27)	21	8 (38)	14 (67)	12 (57)	10 (48)	43% (5% severe)
FHCRC Turtle et al. [21]	4-1BB/ lentivirus	40 (20–73)	30	11 (37)	29 (97)	25 (83)	13 (43)	50% (50% severe)
FHCRC Gardner et al. [22]	4-1BB/ lentivirus	12 (1–25)	43	28 (65)	41 (95)	41 (95)	11 (26)	93% (23% severe)

Table 18.1 Selected CAR-T-cell therapy studies in relapsed and/or refractory B-ALL

MRD– minimal residual disease negative by flow cytometry, *CR* complete remission, *CRi* complete remission with incomplete blood count recovery, *HSCT* hematopoietic stem cell transplant, *CRS* cytokine release syndrome, *MSKCC* Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, *UPenn* University of Pennsylvania, *CHOP* Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, *NCI* National Cancer Institute, *FHCRC* Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center

in vivo [15]. The major studies published on CAR-T-cell therapy in B-ALL are summarized in Table 18.1. Important differences between these studies include different transduction methods, costimulatory domains, and lymphodepleting chemotherapy regimens.

Initial CAR-T-cell clinical trials included a phase I trial in 16 adult patients with R/R B-ALL treated with a CD19 CAR-T with a CD28 costimulatory domain. The remission rate was impressive, at 88%. Some patients underwent a subsequent allogeneic HSCT after CAR-T therapy [16]. Another phase I trial of CD19 CAR-T cell with a 4-1BB costimulatory domain in 30 patients (25 pediatric and 5 adults) with R/R B-ALL reported a 90% CR rate by morphology (73% MRD-negative CR), and prolonged B-cell aplasia in some patients up to 2 years [17]. Durable remissions up to 24 months are correlated with persistence of CAR-T cells.

In a phase II, single-arm, multicenter, global ELIANA study of 75 pediatric and young adult patients with R/R B-cell ALL, tisagenlecleucel (4-1BB costimulatory domain) resulted in an overall response rate (ORR) of 81% (CR 60% and CRi 21%). MRD by flow cytometry was

negative in 95% of the responders by day 28 [18]. Most relapses were CD19 negative. With a median follow-up of 13.1 months, the OS at 12 months was 76%, and the median duration of CAR-T cell persistence was 168 days (range 20–617 days). This study illustrated the feasibility of utilizing centralized manufacturing of CAR-T cells to broaden access to CAR-T-cell therapies beyond a few specialized centers [18]. Encouraging results have been obtained with CAR-T cells developed and evaluated by investigators at the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC) with a CD28 costimulatory domain in a phase I single-center trial in adults with ALL (median age 44 years, range 23-74). Among the 53 adult patients with R/R B-ALL who received the CAR-T cell infusion, the CR rate was 83%, and with a median follow-up of 29 months, median EFS and OS were 6 and 13 months, respectively [19]. Better outcomes were observed in patients with low disease burden ($\leq 5\%$ bone marrow blasts) at the time of CAR-T-cell infusion. Most importantly, CAR-T-cell therapies are effective in treating relapsed B-ALL after allogeneic HSCT, an area of unmet need. It is feasible to collect and manufacture

donor-derived T cells from the recipient and safely infuse without induction of graft versus host disease (GVHD) [17–22].

The main unique adverse events with CAR-Tcell therapy are CRS, B-cell aplasia, and neurologic toxicity. The incidence of CRS across several different CAR-T-cell products for B-ALL are summarized in Table 18.1. The frequency of these side effects correlates with the disease burden and is less likely to occur in patients with \leq 5% bone marrow blasts. The assessment and management of toxicities in patient receiving CAR-T-cell therapy is reviewed in Ref. [23]. CRS can present with a variety of symptoms ranging from flu-like symptoms to high fevers which can progress to life-threatening manifestations of severe hypotension, hypoxia, and end-organ damage. Life-threatening manifestations require interventions with anti-IL6R (tocilizumab)-directed therapy; and many trials are now incorporating tocilizumab earlier in the treatment course. Neurologic toxicity associated with CAR-T-cell therapies can also vary from headache, dizziness, memory loss, impaired speech (dysarthria, aphasia), alterations in mental status, seizures, and encephalopathy to coma [24].

Despite impressive long-term data with CAR-T-cell therapies, relapses across all studies remain a limitation of this therapy. Relapse occurs because of poor persistence of CAR-T cells and loss of the targeted CD19 epitope (antigen escape). Minimizing CD19-positive relapses may result from a better understanding of the biology of persistence. To improve CAR-T-cell persistence, a number of methods are being investigated: (1) inclusion of a 4-1BB costimulatory domain as opposed to CD28, (2) selection and separate manufacturing of bulk CD4+ T cells and central memory CD8+ T cells upfront and then administered in a controlled 1:1 ratio to the patient. CARs equipped with 4-1BB costimulatory domains appear to be associated with longer persistence compared to CD28 costimulatory domain CARs [25]. However, 4-1BB containing CARs are also associated with higher rates of CD19-negative relapse. Currently, dual B-cell antigen targeting (e.g., CD19 and CD22), aimed at preventing or treating CD19 antigen escape, is being tested in

clinical trials and may result in the next generation of CAR-T-cell therapies [26].

The emergence of antigen loss and escape are frequent causes of resistance to CD19-targeted CAR-T-cell therapy. This has fueled the development of CARs directing alternative B-cell antigens. A first-in-human, phase I, intent-to-treat clinical trial using CD22 targeted CAR-T-cell therapy in 21 pediatric and adult patients with R/R B-ALL, 17 of whom had relapsed after prior anti-CD19-directed immunotherapy [26]. Twelve patients (12/21; 57%) achieved a CR. Dosedependent activity was observed with improved responses at higher doses. Eleven out of 15 (73%) patients achieved morphologic CR with a dose of $\geq 1 \times 10^{6}$ CD22 CAR-T cells per kg body weight [26]. The same group demonstrated important preclinical data showing efficacy of a bispecific CD19/CD22 CAR in a murine model that led to initiation of two ongoing phase 1 clinical trials (NCT03330691; NCT03233854) [26].

18.6 Other Therapies

18.6.1 Vincristine Sulfate Liposome Injection (VSLI)

Liposomal vincristine (VSLI) constitutes encapsulating vincristine in a sphingomyelin/ cholesterol envelope. This process enhances drug delivery to the target tissues and decreases neurotoxicity by reducing the percentage of free drug in the plasma leading to increased efficacy with acceptable toxicity. In a phase II single-arm, open-label trial of 65 patients with B- or T-ALL with second or greater relapse, who were previously treated with standard vincristine, the CR/CRh rate with VSLI was 20%, with an overall response rate of 35% [27]. Median OS was 4.6 months. VSLI was administered at a dose of 2.25 mg/m². It was well tolerated with a side effect profile similar to standard-formulation vincristine. VSLI received accelerated approval from the US FDA in 2012 for the treatment of adults with Ph-ALL in second or greater relapse or whose disease has progressed following at least two or more lines of treatment.

18.6.2 BCL-2 Inhibitors

Dysregulation of the B-cell leukemia/lymphoma-2 (BCL-2) family of proteins of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway can promote cancer and impair responses of malignant cells to therapies. ALL blast cells express higher levels of BCL-2 and BCL-xL than normal B and T cells [28], and therefore, dual inhibition may be beneficial. Venetoclax is a highly selective BCL-2 inhibitor, and navitoclax is an investigational, orally bioavailable small molecule inhibitor of BCL-2, BCL-xL, and BCL-w [29]. The addition of navitoclax to venetoclax has demonstrated synergistic effects in preclinical models and might mitigate the dose-limiting thrombocytopenia associated with navitoclax alone [30]. Trials have recently been launched to explore the activity of BCL-2 inhibitors in ALL. These include a phase 1, multicenter, open-label, dose escalation study of venetoclax plus navitoclax as a chemo-sensitizing agent in pediatric and adult patients (aged with R/R B-and T-ALL ≥ 4 years) (NCT03181126). Patients receive daily oral venetoclax on day 1 and received oral navitoclax on day 3. Treatment continued for two cycles. Investigators could administer chemotherapy (peg-asparaginase, vincristine, and dexamethasone) at their discretion. Preliminary data presented recently showed that of the nine patients treated, five patients achieved a response (CR/ CRi/CRp). Of the remaining four patients, one patient had a partial response and three patients had stable disease in this heavily pretreated group [31]. The combination treatment is relatively well tolerated with no grade 4 adverse events reported. Grade 3 or less adverse events include nausea and vomiting, back pain and muscle spasms. Other trials looking at BCL-2 inhibitors include: veneto $clax \pm chemotherapy$ in pediatric and young adult patients with R/R ALL (NCT03236857).

18.7 Relapsed and Refractory T-ALL

Survival of patients with newly diagnosed T-cell ALL has significantly improved but survival remains quite poor for those patients who relapse.

For adults with T-ALL treated on the E2993/ UKALL12 study who achieved a CR, the incidence of relapse at 5 years was 42% [32]. Most T-ALL disease recurrences occur within the first 2 years of diagnosis, and relapsed disease remains very difficult to salvage, with survival rates <7%at 5 years [2]. There is no single standard of care salvage chemotherapy regimen used in treatment of patients with relapsed and refractory T-ALL. Nelarabine and liposomal vincristine are both US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)approved drugs for the treatment of relapsed and/ or refractory T-ALL. The notably minimal armamentarium of molecularly targeted therapies for T-ALL stands in sharp contrast to the remarkable progress that has been made in B-ALL although other avenues are being explored, as mentioned above with BCL-2 inhibitors.

Nelarabine, a purine nucleoside analog, has single-agent activity in T-ALL. It was granted accelerated approval by the US FDA in 2005 for the treatment of patients with R/R T-ALL. Today, nelarabine remains the only therapy approved specifically for R/R T-ALL. In two phase II trials of adult patients with R/R T-ALL or lymphoblastic lymphoma treated with nelarabine monotherapy, the CR rate was 31-36%, with 1-year OS rate of 24-28% [33, 34]. Neurotoxicity, including neuropathy, mental status changes, and seizures, has been reported in up to 18% of patients, but is usually mild and reversible (grade 3 and 4 in $\leq 5\%$ of patients) [33, 34]. In two small retrospective series, nelarabine was studied in combination with etoposide and cyclophosphamide as a treatment in the salvage setting in R/R T-ALL [35, **36**]. Seven pediatric patients (2–19 years of age) with R/R T-ALL were treated sequentially with nelarabine and etoposide/cyclophosphamide, 71% (5/7) patients achieved a CR after receiving 1–2 cycles [35]. All patients in the study experienced neurotoxicity, grade 2-3 sensory and motor neuropathies. This was reversible in most cases. In a study of five adult patients (50-63 years of age) treated with the same regimen, 60% (3/5) achieved CR after 1-2 cycles, and two of these patients were successfully bridged to allogeneic HSCT [36].

Activating mutations in NOTCH1 were discovered in a majority (60%) of T-ALL cases

15 years ago [37, 38]. Notch signaling plays a crucial role in normal T-cell development, hematopoiesis, and cell growth and proliferation [38]. After ligand binding, Notch receptors undergo a series of cleavages, first by a metalloprotease and subsequently by the γ -secretase complex [39]. After cleavage, the intracellular domain of Notch protein translocates into the nucleus and activates transcription of a variety of genes. Given that Notch signaling is frequently activated in T-ALL, a large number of preclinical studies and clinical trials have investigated the efficacy of targeting Notch in T-ALL. γ -Secretase inhibitors (GSIs) prevent the ability of Notch signaling to activate transcription by blocking intramembrane proteolytic processing of Notch1 by the γ -secretase complex, thereby preventing translocation to the nucleus [40]. Encouraging preclinical data led to the early phase clinical trials of GSIs for R/R T-ALL. Unfortunately, this has not translated successfully into the clinic. These trials were disappointing due to limited anti-leukemic effects and systemic toxicity, namely gastrointestinal toxicity [41]. Current research aims to identify alternative approaches that prevent or overcome resistance to GSIs, inhibit downstream effectors of Notch signaling, and improve the specificity of agents targeting mutant Notch1 [42].

In a recent publication, samples collected from patients enrolled in the COG ALL1231 study of T-ALL were noted to have consistent expression of CD38 at the time of diagnosis, after completion of 1 month of induction chemotherapy, and most importantly at the time of relapse [43]. The study also reported efficacy of daratumumab (a monoclonal antibody which binds to an epitope of CD38) in 14 of 15 T-ALL patientderived xenografts studied. An international multicenter phase II study is currently evaluating daratumumab in combination with chemotherapy for children and young adults (\leq 30 years) with relapsed and/or refractory T- or B-cell ALL (NCT03384654).

One member C3 (AKR1C3) of aldo-keto reductase family belongs to a superfamily of oxidoreductases that are broadly expressed in human tissues. AKR1C3 is expressed at high levels in T-ALL [44]. OBI-3424 is a first-in-class novel highly selective small-molecule prodrug converted by AKRC13 to a DNA alkylating agent. This selective mode of activation distinguishes OBI-3424 from traditional alkylating agents. OBI-3424 exerted profound in vivo efficacy against a broad range of T-ALL patient-derived xenografts (PDXs) and significantly reduced leukemia infiltration in the bone marrow [45]. OBI-3424 is being studied in a phase I/II clinical trial in patients with solid tumors, such as hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC), which has begun enrollment. A clinical trial in T-ALL is scheduled to begin soon.

The dramatic and promising results of cellular and antibody-based immunotherapies in the B-ALL have generated much interest in the development of targeted immunotherapies for the treatment of T-ALL. It is challenging to target T-cell malignancies using CAR-T cells because of the shared expression of target antigens between CAR-T cells and T-lineage tumor cells [46–50]. In this regard, CAR-Ts against pan T-cell antigens have two major drawbacks: (1) CAR-T cells selftargeting/fratricide and (2) T-cell aplasia, leading to life-threating immunodeficiency. Numerous preclinical studies demonstrated that T cells transduced with CD3, CD5, CD7 or TCR CARs, the most expressed pan-T-cell antigens, efficiently eliminate T-ALL blasts in vitro and are able to control the disease in vivo [46-50], leading to phase I clinical trials with CAR T-cells for T-ALL (NCT03081910, NCT03690011, NCT03590574). Many creative approaches are being evaluated including CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing to prevent the antigen (CD7) expression on the surface of CAR-T cells to overcome the issue of fratricide/ self-targeting [48].

There are many other targets and therapies including proteasome inhibitors, CXCR4 inhibitors, CDK 4/6 inhibitors, signal transduction inhibitors, and epigenetic therapies which are currently in development for treatment of R/R B and/or T-ALL. They are not discussed in this chapter extensively given the limited space. They are outlined in Table 18.2 and illustrated in Fig. 18.1.

Drug class/mechanism			
(References)	Agent	Patient population and notes	Phase
Monoclonal antibodies			
CD19 [5–9]	Blinatumomab (bispecific T-cell engager)	FDA approved for R/R Ph-negative B-ALL and B-ALL in CR with MRD+ disease	
		R/R B-ALL (blinatumomab in combination with pembrolizumab)	I/II (NCT03160079, NCT03512405)
		R/R B-ALL (blinatumomab in combination with nivolumab ± ipilimumab)	I (NCT02879695)
		R/R B-ALL (blinatumomab in combination with ibrutinib)	II (NCT02997761)
		B-ALL (blinatumomab maintenance following allogenic-HSCT)	II (NCT02807883)
CD22 [11–14]	Inotuzumab	FDA approved for R/R Ph-negative B-ALL	
		R/R and newly diagnosed CD22+ B-ALL (inotuzumab followed by blinatumomab)	II (NCT03739814)
		R/R Ph+ B-ALL (safety and efficacy of combination of bosutinib and inotuzumab)	I/II (NCT02311998)
		B-ALL in CR with MRD+ (tolerability and efficacy if using inotuzumab to eliminate MRD+ disease)	II (NCT03441061)
CD38 [43]	Daratumumab	1–30 years old with R/R T- or B-ALL (daratumumab in combination with chemotherapy)	II (NCT03384654)
Chimeric antigen receptors T cells (CAR-T)			
CD3, CD5, CD7, and T-cell receptor beta (TCR B) [46–50]		≦75 years old with relapsed T-ALL or T-cell lymphoma	I (NCT03081910, NCT03690011, NCT03590574)
CD19 [16–22]	Tisagenlecleucel	(FDA) for patients under 25 years old with refractory or those with second or later relapsed B-ALL	
CD19/CD22 dual-targeted [26]		1–30 years old with R/R CD19+ B-ALL ≥18 years with R/R B-cell malignancies	I (NCT03241940, NCT03330691, NCT03233854)
CD38		12–70 years with relapsed B-ALL after CD19 CAR-T adoptive cellular immunotherapy with CAR-T cells targeting CD38	I/II (NCT03754764)
BH3-mimetics (targeting apoptosis)			
BCL-2 inhibitors [28, 30, 31]	Venetoclax	≥18 years old with R/R T-or B-ALL (venetoclax in combination with liposomal vincristine)	Ib/II (NCT03504644)

 Table 18.2
 Selected emerging and approved therapies for relapsed and/or refractory ALL

(continued)

Drug alage/machanism			
(References)	Agent	Patient population and notes	Phase
		≤25 years old with R/R malignancies, including T-or B-ALL	I (NCT03236857)
	Navitoclax	≥4 years old with R/R T-or B-ALL (navitoclax in combination with venetoclax and chemotherapy)	I (NCT03181126)
Proteasome			
Proteasome inhibitors	Bortezomib	≥18 years old with R/R B- or T-ALL (bortezomib in combination with chemotherapy)	II (NCT01769209)
	Carfilzomib	1–21 years old with R/R B-or T-ALL (carfilzomib in combination with induction chemotherapy)	Ib (NCT02303821)
Neddylation inhibitors	Pevonedistat	16–39 years old with R/R B-or T-ALL (pevonedistat in combination with induction chemotherapy)	I (NCT03349281)
Chemokine receptors			
CXCR4 inhibitors	BL-8040	\geq 18 years old with R/R T-ALL (BL-8040 in combination with nelarabine)	IIa (NCT02763384)
IL7-JAK-STAT-CRLF2			
JAK inhibitors	Ruxolitinib	≥10 years with R/R Ph-like ALL (combination of ruxolitinib or dasatinib with chemotherapy)	II (NCT02420717)
		13–75 years old with R/R early T-precursor ALL (ruxolitinib in combination with chemotherapy)	I/II (NCT03613428)
PI3K/AKT/mTOR			
PI3K inhibitors	Idelalisib	\geq 18 years old with R/R B-ALL or \geq 65 years old with newly diagnosed B-ALL for whom standard therapies are not recommended	I/II (NCT03742323)
mTOR inhibitors	Everolimus	18 months to 21 years old with relapsed B-or T-ALL (everolimus in combination with chemotherapy)	I (NCT01523977)
	Temsirolimus	1–21 years old with R/R B-or T-ALL (temsirolimus with etoposide and cyclophosphamide)	I (NCT01614197)
MAPK-RAS			
MEK inhibitors	Selumetinib	All ages with R/R B- or T-ALL with RAS pathway mutations (selumetinib in combination with dexamethasone)	I/II (NCT03705507)
Cell cycle regulation			
CDK4/CDK6 inhibitors	Palbociclib	≤ 21 years old with R/R B-or T-ALL (palbociclib in combination with chemotherapy)	I (NCT03515200)
		≥15 years with R/R B-or T-ALL (palbociclib in combination with dexamethasone)	I (NCT03132454)

Table 18.2 (continued)

Drug class/mechanism			
(References)	Agent	Patient population and notes	Phase
	Ribociclib	1–30 years old with R/R B-or T-ALL (ribociclib in combination with everolimus and dexamethasone)	I (NCT03740334)
Epigenetic drugs			
DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) inhibitors	Decitabine and 5-azacitidine		
Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors	Vorinostat and Romidepsin		
Bromodomain-containing protein 4 (BRD4) inhibitors	Birabresib	\geq 18 years old with R/R B- or T-ALL	I (NCT01713582)
DOT1-like histone lysine methyltransferase inhibitors	Pinometostat	≥18 years old with R/R B- or T-ALL with rearrangement of the MLL gene	I (NCT01684150)
Cytotoxic therapies			
Antimetabolites [33–36]	Nelarabine	FDA approved for treatment of R/R T-ALL	
Alkylators [44, 45]	OBI-3424 (AKR1C3 inhibitor)	A first-in-class novel highly selective small-molecule prodrug that is converted by AKRC13 enzyme to a DNA alkylating agent	
Vinca alkaloid	Liposomal vincristine (VSLI)	FDA approved for R/R Ph-negative B-ALL	

Table 18.2 (continued)

R/R relapsed and/or refractory, *CD* cluster of differentiation, *CAR* chimeric antigen receptor, *mTOR* mammalian target of rapamycin, *CDK* cyclin-dependent kinase, *AKR1C3* aldo-keto reductase 1c3

18.8 Conclusion

The treatment of ALL is evolving rapidly owing to the increased understanding of the genetic heterogeneity of ALL, which has contributed to the development of numerous novel therapies. Monoclonal antibodies, immunomodulators, CAR-T-cell therapies, and small molecule inhibitors targeting key molecular pathways are exciting additions to the therapeutic armamentarium of ALL. Some of the active agents in the salvage setting are currently being actively investigated for frontline use. Although the efficacy of these therapies is impressive, they are not without toxicity, both physical and financial. Current active and future clinical trials will hopefully guide us in determining how to best incorporate these novel therapies into the existing treatment algorithms to improve the cure rates of R/R ALL.

References

- Terwilliger T, Abdul-Hay M. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2017 update. Blood Cancer J. 2017;7(6):e577.
- Fielding AK, Richards SM, Chopra R, Lazarus HM, Litzow MR, Buck G, et al. Outcome of 609 adults after relapse of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL); an MRC UKALL12/ECOG 2993 study. Blood. 2007;109(3):944–50.
- Gokbuget N, Stanze D, Beck J, Diedrich H, Horst HA, Huttmann A, et al. Outcome of relapsed adult lymphoblastic leukemia depends on response to salvage chemotherapy, prognostic factors, and performance of stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2012;120(10):2032–41.
- Tavernier E, Boiron JM, Huguet F, Bradstock K, Vey N, Kovacsovics T, et al. Outcome of treatment after first relapse in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia initially treated by the LALA-94 trial. Leukemia. 2007;21(9):1907–14.
- Topp MS, Gokbuget N, Zugmaier G, Klappers P, Stelljes M, Neumann S, et al. Phase II trial of the anti-CD19 bispecific T cell-engager blinatumomab shows hematologic and molecular remissions in patients

with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(36):4134–40.

- Topp MS, Gokbuget N, Stein AS, Zugmaier G, O'Brien S, Bargou RC, et al. Safety and activity of blinatumomab for adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(1):57–66.
- Kantarjian H, Stein A, Gokbuget N, Fielding AK, Schuh AC, Ribera JM, et al. Blinatumomab versus chemotherapy for advanced acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(9):836–47.
- Gokbuget N, Dombret H, Bonifacio M, Reichle A, Graux C, Faul C, et al. Blinatumomab for minimal residual disease in adults with B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2018;131(14):1522–31.
- Martinelli G, Boissel N, Chevallier P, Ottmann O, Gokbuget N, Topp MS, et al. Complete hematologic and molecular response in adult patients with relapsed/refractory Philadelphia chromosomepositive B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia following treatment with blinatumomab: results from a phase II, single-arm, multicenter study. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(16):1795–802.
- Shor B, Gerber HP, Sapra P. Preclinical and clinical development of inotuzumab-ozogamicin in hematological malignancies. Mol Immunol. 2015;67(2 Pt A):107–16.
- Kantarjian H, Thomas D, Jorgensen J, Kebriaei P, Jabbour E, Rytting M, et al. Results of inotuzumab ozogamicin, a CD22 monoclonal antibody, in refractory and relapsed acute lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer. 2013;119(15):2728–36.
- DeAngelo DJ, Stock W, Stein AS, Shustov A, Liedtke M, Schiffer CA, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin in adults with relapsed or refractory CD22-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a phase 1/2 study. Blood Adv. 2017;1(15):1167–80.
- Kantarjian HM, DeAngelo DJ, Stelljes M, Martinelli G, Liedtke M, Stock W, et al. Inotuzumab ozogamicin versus standard therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(8):740–53.
- 14. Jabbour E, Ravandi F, Kebriaei P, Huang X, Short NJ, Thomas D, et al. Salvage chemoimmunotherapy with inotuzumab ozogamicin combined with minihyper-CVD for patients with relapsed or refractory Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a phase 2 clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(2):230–4.
- Klebanoff CA, Khong HT, Antony PA, Palmer DC, Restifo NP. Sinks, suppressors and antigen presenters: how lymphodepletion enhances T cell-mediated tumor immunotherapy. Trends Immunol. 2005;26(2):111–7.
- Davila ML, Riviere I, Wang X, Bartido S, Park J, Curran K, et al. Efficacy and toxicity management of 19-28z CAR T cell therapy in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(224):224ra25.
- Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells

for sustained remissions in leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(16):1507–17.

- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in children and young adults with B-cell lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(5):439–48.
- Park JH, Riviere I, Gonen M, Wang X, Senechal B, Curran KJ, et al. Long-term follow-up of CD19 CAR therapy in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(5):449–59.
- 20. Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, et al. T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet (London, England). 2015;385(9967):517–28.
- Turtle CJ, Hanafi LA, Berger C, Gooley TA, Cherian S, Hudecek M, et al. CD19 CAR-T cells of defined CD4+:CD8+ composition in adult B cell ALL patients. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(6):2123–38.
- 22. Gardner RA, Finney O, Annesley C, Brakke H, Summers C, Leger K, et al. Intent-to-treat leukemia remission by CD19 CAR T cells of defined formulation and dose in children and young adults. Blood. 2017;129(25):3322–31.
- 23. Neelapu SS, Tummala S, Kebriaei P, Wierda W, Locke FL, Lin Y, et al. Toxicity management after chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy: one size does not fit 'ALL'. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2018;15(4):218.
- Hirayama AV, Turtle CJ. Toxicities of CD19 CAR-T cell immunotherapy. Am J Hematol. 2019;94(S1):S42–s9.
- 25. Song DG, Ye Q, Carpenito C, Poussin M, Wang LP, Ji C, et al. In vivo persistence, tumor localization, and antitumor activity of CAR-engineered T cells is enhanced by costimulatory signaling through CD137 (4-1BB). Cancer Res. 2011;71(13):4617–27.
- 26. Fry TJ, Shah NN, Orentas RJ, Stetler-Stevenson M, Yuan CM, Ramakrishna S, et al. CD22-targeted CAR T cells induce remission in B-ALL that is naive or resistant to CD19-targeted CAR immunotherapy. Nat Med. 2018;24(1):20–8.
- 27. O'Brien S, Schiller G, Lister J, Damon L, Goldberg S, Aulitzky W, et al. High-dose vincristine sulfate liposome injection for advanced, relapsed, and refractory adult Philadelphia chromosome-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(6):676–83.
- Del Gaizo MV, Schlis KD, Sallan SE, Armstrong SA, Letai A. BCL-2 dependence and ABT-737 sensitivity in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2008;111(4):2300–9.
- 29. Valentin R, Grabow S, Davids MS. The rise of apoptosis: targeting apoptosis in hematologic malignancies. Blood. 2018;132(12):1248–64.
- 30. Khaw SL, Suryani S, Evans K, Richmond J, Robbins A, Kurmasheva RT, et al. Venetoclax responses of pediatric ALL xenografts reveal sensitivity of MLL-rearranged leukemia. Blood. 2016;128(10):1382–95.

- Alexander T, Lacayo NJ, Pullarkat VA, Jabbour EJ, Khaw SL, Mullighan CG, et al. Venetoclax and navitoclax in patients with relapsed or refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia and lymphoblastic lymphoma. Blood. 2018;132(Suppl 1):3966.
- 32. Marks DI, Paietta EM, Moorman AV, Richards SM, Buck G, DeWald G, et al. T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults: clinical features, immunophenotype, cytogenetics, and outcome from the large randomized prospective trial (UKALL XII/ECOG 2993). Blood. 2009;114(25):5136–45.
- 33. DeAngelo DJ, Yu D, Johnson JL, Coutre SE, Stone RM, Stopeck AT, et al. Nelarabine induces complete remissions in adults with relapsed or refractory T-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia or lymphoblastic lymphoma: Cancer and Leukemia Group B study 19801. Blood. 2007;109(12):5136–42.
- 34. Gokbuget N, Basara N, Baurmann H, Beck J, Bruggemann M, Diedrich H, et al. High single-drug activity of nelarabine in relapsed T-lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma offers curative option with subsequent stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2011;118(13):3504–11.
- 35. Commander LA, Seif AE, Insogna IG, Rheingold SR. Salvage therapy with nelarabine, etoposide, and cyclophosphamide in relapsed/refractory paediatric T-cell lymphoblastic leukaemia and lymphoma. Br J Haematol. 2010;150(3):345–51.
- 36. Luskin MR, Ganetsky A, Landsburg DJ, Loren AW, Porter DL, Nasta SD, et al. Nelarabine, cyclosphosphamide and etoposide for adults with relapsed T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia and lymphoma. Br J Haematol. 2016;174(2):332–4.
- Weng AP, Ferrando AA, Lee W, Morris JP, Silverman LB, Sanchez-Irizarry C, et al. Activating mutations of NOTCH1 in human T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Science. 2004;306(5694):269–71.
- Belver L, Ferrando A. The genetics and mechanisms of T cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(8):494–507.
- Hernandez Tejada FN, Galvez Silva JR, Zweidler-McKay PA. The challenge of targeting notch in hematologic malignancies. Front Pediatr. 2014;2:54.
- Sanchez-Martin M, Ferrando A. The NOTCH1-MYC highway toward T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2017;129(9):1124–33.

- 41. Papayannidis C, DeAngelo DJ, Stock W, Huang B, Shaik MN, Cesari R, et al. A Phase 1 study of the novel gamma-secretase inhibitor PF-03084014 in patients with T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia and T-cell lymphoblastic lymphoma. Blood Cancer J. 2015;5:e350.
- Bellavia D, Palermo R, Felli MP, Screpanti I, Checquolo S. Notch signaling as a therapeutic target for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2018;22(4):331–42.
- Bride KL, Vincent TL, Im SY, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Carroll WL, et al. Preclinical efficacy of daratumumab in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2018;131(9):995–9.
- 44. Moradi Manesh D, El-Hoss J, Evans K, Richmond J, Toscan CE, Bracken LS, et al. AKR1C3 is a biomarker of sensitivity to PR-104 in preclinical models of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015;126(10):1193–202.
- 45. Evans K, Duan J, Pritchard T, Jones CD, McDermott L, Gu Z, et al. OBI-3424, a novel AKR1C3-activated prodrug, exhibits potent efficacy against preclinical models of T-ALL. Clin Cancer Res. 2019;25(14):4493–503.
- Rasaiyaah J, Georgiadis C, Preece R, Mock U, Qasim W. TCRalphabeta/CD3 disruption enables CD3specific antileukemic T cell immunotherapy. JCI Insight. 2018;3(13):e99442.
- Mamonkin M, Rouce RH, Tashiro H, Brenner MK. A T-cell-directed chimeric antigen receptor for the selective treatment of T-cell malignancies. Blood. 2015;126(8):983–92.
- Gomes-Silva D, Srinivasan M, Sharma S, Lee CM, Wagner DL, Davis TH, et al. CD7-edited T cells expressing a CD7-specific CAR for the therapy of T-cell malignancies. Blood. 2017;130(3):285–96.
- Cooper ML, Choi J, Staser K, Ritchey JK, Devenport JM, Eckardt K, et al. An "off-the-shelf" fratricideresistant CAR-T for the treatment of T cell hematologic malignancies. Leukemia. 2018;32(9):1970–83.
- Maciocia PM, Wawrzyniecka PA, Philip B, Ricciardelli I, Akarca AU, Onuoha SC, et al. Targeting the T cell receptor beta-chain constant region for immunotherapy of T cell malignancies. Nat Med. 2017;23(12):1416–23.